Supergravity, black holes and holography

Memoria de Tesis Doctoral realizada por

Pablo Bueno Gómez

presentada ante el Departamento de Física Teórica de la Universidad Autónoma de Madrid para optar al Título de Doctor en Física Teórica

Tesis Doctoral dirigida por **Prof. D. Tomás Ortín,** Profesor de Investigación del Instituto de Física Teórica UAM/CSIC

> Departamento de Física Teórica Universidad Autónoma de Madrid

> > Instituto de Física Teórica UAM/CSIC



Madrid, marzo de 2015

¿Trampas para ratones cómo van a cazar lobos? SDJ Crew

Los guerreros vencedores ganan primero, y luego van a la guerra; mientras que los perdedores van a la guerra primero, y luego pretenden ganar. 孫子兵法 孫子

Esta tesis es el resultado de mis años como estudiante de doctorado en el Instituto de Física Teórica UAM/CSIC bajo la supervision del Profesor Tomás Ortín Miguel. Llegando a su fin como está esta etapa, y puesto que el *agradecimiento es la memoria del corazón*¹, es momento de mirar atrás y agradecer a todas aquellas personas que de una forma u otra han posibilitado que haya llegado hasta *aquí*.

Me gustaría comenzar por mi supervisor, Tomás Ortín. Ha sido un privilegio para mí aprender de Tomás durante estos años. Si después de este tiempo puedo decir que soy mucho mejor físico, pero también más sabio (en un sentido más amplio), y también mejor persona, ha sido en gran parte gracias a Tomás. No podría haber tenido un director de tesis mejor.

El segundo lugar en estos agradecimientos tiene que ser para mi gran amigo y colaborador Carlos S. Shahbazi, pues gran parte de mis modestas aportaciones a la física no habrían sido posibles sin él. Buenos tiempos hemos pasado (y algunos no tan buenos). Eso sí, siempre algunos años luz antes que todos ustedes...

Quisiera también tener un agradecimiento especial para Robert C. Myers, quien me introdujo en el mundo de la holografía durante mi estancia en el *Perimeter Institute For Theoretical Physics*, y con quien he tenido el gran honor de seguir colaborando hasta hoy día. Gracias, Rob.

Quiero dar las gracias también a todos los excelentes físicos con los que he tenido la oportunidad de colaborar en mayor o menor medida durante estos años, además de los ya mencionados: Antonio de Antonio, Wissam Chemissany, Dalit Engelhardt, Rhys Davies, Piermarco Fonda, Damián Galante, Pietro Galli, Óscar Lasso, Alessio Marrani, Patrick Meessen, Pedro F. Ramírez, Misha Smolkin, Thomas Van Riet, Erik Tonni o William Witczak-Krempa.

He de tener un recuerdo también para los profesores de la Universidad de Oviedo que ayudaron a forjar mi vocación por la física teórica. En particular: Yolanda Lozano, Miguel Ferrero y Andrés Viña, cuyas clases recuerdo con especial cariño.

Durante estos años en Madrid, he tenido la fortuna de hacer buenos amigos, y de ellos me acuerdo en este párrafo. Estoy hablando de: João Aparício, José Luis Crespo, Nacho Corroto, Castellar García, Amadeo Jiménez, Aitor Landete, Óscar Lasso, Nieves López, Xabier Marcano, Iván Jesús Martínez, Luis Melgar, Alberto Palomo, Pedro F. Ramírez, Diego Regalado, Ander Retolaza, Daniel Robaina y Carlos S. Shahbazi². Gracias por los momentos compartidos, y espero que muchos más nos queden por vivir.

¹Lao-Tsé.

 $^{^2\}mathrm{Seguramente}$ no están todos los que s
on, pero seguro que sí son todos los que están.

También estoy agradecido a la gente del Perimeter, que hicieron el invierno más mortal que se recuerda en Waterloo, un poco más llevadero para mí: Siavash Aslanbeigi, Lorenzo Bianchi, João Caetano, Yangang Chen, Frank Coronado, Dalit Engelhardt, Damián Galante, Lucía Gómez, Humberto Gómez, Farbod Kamiab, Gunjan Lakhlani, Mansour Karami, Ravi Kunjwal, Peter Lunts, Dalimil Mázač, Marco Meineri, Heidar Moradi, Anton Van Niekerk, Wilke van der Schee, Joël Lamy-Poirier, Fidel Schaposnik, Antony Speranza.

Me acuerdo también de Núria, que estuvo conmigo en mis comienzos en Madrid. Gracias por todo, Núria.

Es el turno de mis amigos viejos. Esos con los que, aunque 20 anõs pasaran, podría sentarme a hablar, o a callar, como si el tiempo no se hubiera escapado: Jesús Blanco, Jorge Cuerdo, Rubén Marcos, Juan Morís, Pablo Soto, Aitor López, Alberto Villa.

En lo que a mi familia respecta, quiero dar las gracias a mis padres, Manuel y María Gloria, y a mi hermana Noelia. Por la vida muy feliz que he tenido hasta ahora, y por inculcarme los valores que hacen de mí gran parte de lo que soy. También en esto han tenido mucho que ver mis tíos Pepe y Amalita, que son mis segundos padres. ¡Esta tesis va por todos vosotros!

El último párrafo de estos agradecimientos ha de ser para mi Ana. Gracias por quererme y cuidarme tanto, y por ser mi fuente esencial de felicidad. Espero que nuestra vida sea larga y buena. Buena y feliz.

Publications

The contents of this thesis are based on the following publications:

- 1. Pablo Bueno and Robert C. Myers, "Corner contributions to holographic entanglement entropy", in preparation.
- 2. Pablo Bueno, Robert C. Myers and William Witczak-Krempa, "Universality of corner entanglement in gapless quantum matter", in preparation.
- Pablo Bueno, Tomas Ortín and C. S. Shahbazi, "Non-extremal branes", Phys. Lett. B743 (2015), 301-305. [arXiv:1412.5547 [hep-th]].
- Pablo Bueno, Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortín and Pedro F. Ramírez, "*N* = 2 Einstein-Yang-Mills' static two-center solutions", JHEP **1412** (2014) 093. [arXiv:1410.4160 [hep-th]].
- Pablo Bueno and Pedro F. Ramírez, "Higher-curvature corrections to holographic entanglement entropy in geometries with hyperscaling violation", JHEP 1412 (2014) 078. [arXiv:1408.6380 [hep-th]].
- Pablo Bueno and C. S. Shahbazi, "The violation of the No-Hair Conjecture in fourdimensional ungauged Supergravity", Class. Quantum Grav. **31** (2014) 145005. [arXiv:1310.6379 [hep-th]].
- Pablo Bueno, Pietro Galli, Patrick Meessen and Tomas Ortín "Black holes and equivariant charge vectors in N=2,d=4 supergravity", JHEP 1309 (2013) 010. [arXiv:1305.5488 [hep-th]].
- Pablo Bueno and C. S. Shahbazi, "Non-perturbative black holes in Type-IIA String Theory vs. the No-Hair conjecture", Class. Quantum Grav. **31** (2013) 015023. [arXiv:1304.8079 [hep-th]].
- Pablo Bueno, Wissam Chemissany and C. S. Shahbazi, "On hvLif-like solutions in gauged Supergravity," Eur. Phys. J. C (2014) 74:2684. [arXiv:1212.4826 [hepth]].
- Pablo Bueno, Rhys Davies and C. S. Shahbazi, "Quantum black holes in Type-IIA String Theory", JHEP 1301 (2013) 089. [arXiv:1210.2817 [hep-th]].
- Pablo Bueno, Wissam Chemissany, Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortín and C. S. Shahbazi, "Lifshitz-like solutions with hyperscaling violation in ungauged supergravity", JHEP 1301 (2013) 189. [arXiv:1209.4047 [hep-th]].

Contents

1	Introduction	1		
	1.1 Supergravity	1		
	1.2 Black holes	13		
	1.3 Holography	24		
2	Black holes and equivariant vectors in $\mathcal{N} = 2$, $d = 4$ supergravity			
	2.1 Explicit solutions and equivariant vectors	37		
	2.2 Conventional and unconventional solutions	39		
	2.3 The general first-order flow equations	41		
	2.4 The axidilaton model	43		
	2.5 The $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ model	53		
	2.6 The t^3 model	60		
	2.7 Conclusions	70		
3	Stringy black holes in Type-IIA string theory	73		
	3.1 Type-IIA string theory on a Calabi–Yau manifold	74		
	3.2 New Calabi–Yau manifolds	77		
	3.3 Quantum black hole solutions with $h^{1,1} = 3$	82		
	3.4 Quantum corrected STU model	84		
	3.5 Non-perturbative α' -corrected solutions	85		
	3.6 The general supersymmetric solution	88		
	3.7 Multivalued functions and the no-hair conjecture	90		
4	The violation of the no-hair conjecture in $d = 4$ ungauged supegravity			
	4.1 A stringy motivation for the model	92		
	4.2 The supersymmetric solution	93		
	4.3 The violation of the no-hair conjecture	95		
	4.4 An explicit example	97		
5	$\mathcal{N} = 2$ Einstein-Yang-Mills' static two-center solutions	99		
	5.1 $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SEYM and its supersymmetric black-hole solutions (SBHSs) . 1	02		
	5.2 Static, single-SBHSs of SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2$, $d = 4$ SEYM and pure EYM 1	06		
	5.3 Multi-center SBHSs	18		
	5.4 Conclusions	27		
6	Non-extremal branes 12	29		
	6.1 Electromagnetic dual solutions	30		
	6.2 The (p,q) -black-string of Type-IIB Supergravity $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	32		
	6.3 Double-extremal black-branes	35		

7	Lifshitz-like solu	tions with hyperscaling violation in supergravity	139
	7.1 HvLf solution	is in ungauged supergravity	139
	7.2 The generalized	ed FGK formalism	141
	7.3 Solutions with	h Lifshitz-like asymptotics	144
	7.4 More hvLf me	etrics	147
	7.5 HvLf solution	is in gauged supergravity	153
	7.6 The general t	heory	153
	7.7 The Einstein-	Maxwell-Dilaton model	156
	7.8 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Superg	gravity with F.I. terms	158
	7.9 $hvLf$ solution	ıs	161
	7.10 Conclusions .		171
8	Holographic enta	anglement entropy in hvLf geometries	173
	8.1 HEE for hvLf	f geometries in higher-curvature gravities I: $\theta \leq 0$	176
	8.2 HEE for hvLf	f geometries in higher-curvature gravities II: $0 < \theta < d$.	188
	8.3 Discussion an	d perspectives	190
9	Corner contribut	tions to holographic entanglement entropy	195
	9.1 Corner term i	in holographic entanglement entropy	198
	9.2 Comparison v	with other charges	210
	9.3 Discussion		220
	9.4 Conventions a	and notation	229
Α	Generating solut	tions of cubic models	231
	A.1 Generating ne	ew solutions via duality	231
в	Special functions	S	237
	B.1 The Lambert	W function	237
	B.2 The Exponent	tial Integral function	238
С	SU(2) Yang-Mills	s solutions	239
	C.1 The $SU(2)$ Lo	prentzian meron	239
	C.2 The Wu-Yang	g SU(2) monopole $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	240
	C.3 The $SU(2)$ Sk	cyrme model	242
	C.4 Higher-charge	e Lorentzian merons and Wu-Yang monopoles	242
D	HEE for a doubl	ly-Wick-rotated hvLf geometry	245
\mathbf{E}	Some properties of the hvLf metrics 24		
\mathbf{F}	From the kink to the strip 25		

G	Central charges in $f(R)$ gravity	253
н	Free field calculation of σ	257
Ι	Resumen	259
J	Conclusiones	2 61
Bibliography		265

Introduction

In this section we introduce several concepts related to the three topics which give name to this thesis, namely: supergravity, black holes and holography. We have tried to include here the material which has played a more prominent rôle in the research carried out throughout these years, and that is essential for a good understanding of the results obtained in the papers which in this thesis have been compiled.

1.1 Supergravity

The first topic is supergravity (SUGRA), the framework in which essentially all my research has been developed. After a short reflection on string theory, and a small general introduction to supersymmetry and supergravity, we study in some detail certain aspects of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA theories, which are of most relevance for the results obtained in the next chapters.

1.1.1 Two words on string theory

For some time now, string theory (ST) [33,214,215,353,365,366] has established itself as the most prominent (if not the only) candidate for consistently describing the quantum nature of gravity, along with all the rest of known (and surely some unknown) interactions in a unified framework. Some of the highlights of ST, leaving mathematics aside, can be enumerated as follows

- Provides a(n arguably) quantum mechanically consistent UV completion for gravity.
- Not only unifies gauge interactions and gravity, but it makes them inseparable.
- Produces numerous candidates for grand unification gauge groups. It is even possible to get just the standard model at low energies from it [249].
- Incorporates (world-sheet and spacetime) supersymmetry, which in many cases provides natural candidates for dark matter as well as helping to make sense of other issues such as the hierarchy problem, the discrepancy in the anomalous magnetic moment of the muon, etc.
- It has no free parameters. Besides, as oppossed to QFTs, where you have the freedom to choose a particular gauge group, the fields you include in the theory, the representations under which they transform, etc., in some sense, there is a unique

string theory (there are five consistent superstring theories which are supposed to correspond to different limits of a single (M-)theory, and which are related to each other through different kinds of *dualities*).

- Satisfactorily accounts for the microscopic entropy of certain extremal and nearextremal black holes [403], producing results which match the macroscopic result obtained through the Bekenstein-Hawking formula.
- Provides a majestic realization of the holographic principle as well as a window into the strongly coupled regime of certain QFTs by means of the AdS/CFT correspondence [311].
- Predicts a wrong number of spacetime dimensions (10 or 11), which suggests that some of them might be compact and small (or something alternative, like in the *brane-worlds* avatar [376]).
- It seems to possess a huge amount of 4D vacua, the so-called *String landscape* (see, *e.g.*, [368]). This has raised some doubts on the capability of the theory to address certain fundamental issues in theoretical physics, such as the cosmological constant problem. Some people, however, consider that an anthropic view of the problem (according to which we just happen to live in a particular locus of the landscape which is suitable enough to support life so as to have us here wondering about what the reason for this *highly unlikely* suitability might be) can be acceptable, and even the best we can get.

From a down-top perspective, ST is very attractive. Indeed, physics beyond the standard model is crying out for solutions to several problems which could be nicely addressed by supersymmetry (some of them, such as the hierarchy problem, less nicely the higher the bounds for the masses of the SUSY partners are set at accelerators). Now, if SUSY is a fundamental symmetry of nature, some supergravity theory will be responsible for describing the massless modes of the corresponding theory (many of which will not be really massless because of broken symmetries at certain scales such as the vacuum expectation value of the Higgs, Λ_{GUT} , etc.). Actually, the consistent quantization of a spin 3/2massless field (a.k.a. Rarita-Schwinger field) imposes the theory under consideration to be symmetric under local supersymmetry transformations (*i.e.*, to be a SUGRA theory), just like similar arguments for spin 1 and 2 fields lead to gauge and diffeomorphism invariances. As it turns out, the low energy limits of the different String Theories (which are all related through *dualities* of different kinds) correspond to different SUGRA theories, and so do their corresponding compactified versions to 4 dimensions. Hence, it is extremely tempting to think that some of these effective theories might be adequate for describing nature¹.

In spite of these achievements and hints, our knowledge of ST is still rather limited, and a significantly deeper understanding of the theory will still probably require (in case such a goal is pursued) several generations of theorists. Such understanding could eventually lead us to know whether ST is the right framework for describing the physics of our

¹It is convenient to note that, as we will briefly comment, SUGRA theories contain solitonic SUSY solutions, which due to their supersymmetric properties are protected from receiving stringy corrections when we move from the effective SUGRA action, and which correspond to the long range fields produced by bound states of non-perturbative ST objects (like *D-branes* [367]). This means that SUGRA theories also contain non-perturbative information about the corresponding ST.

universe or not. In any event, it is fair to say that even if that a goal is never fully realized, ST has already provided us with numerous fascinating insights concerning the physics of gravity, quantum mechanics and spacetime (as well as mathematics). An example of this is, as we have already mentioned, the celebrated AdS/CFT correspondece, which not only unveils a deep connection between certain gravity (and string) theories and some quantum field theories, but also provides a realization of the holographic principle.

1.1.2 SUSY and SUGRA

Supersymmetry is one of the big ideas of the second half of twentieth-century theoretical physics. After the observation by Coleman and Mandula [142] that under very generic assumptions, any Lie group of symmetries of QFT S-matrices containing the Poincaré group P and some additional group of internal symmetries G must be a direct product of both in order to produce non-trivial physics, Golfand and Likhtman showed [212] that this no-go theorem could be circumvented by generalizing the concept of Lie algebra to that of a Z₂-graded Lie algebra, which included new anticommuting (fermionic) generators. Haag, Lopuszanski and Sohnius [223] proved that the most general non-trivial extension of the Poincaré group in 4-dimensions including this kind of generators could be obtained by considering $4\mathcal{N}$ (for some integer \mathcal{N}) of these: Q^{I}_{α} , $\hat{Q}^{I}_{\dot{\alpha}}$, $I = 1, ..., \mathcal{N}$, $\alpha, \dot{\alpha} = 1, 2$, transforming as left (right) Weyl spinors, and satisfying the following (anti)commutation relations

$$[Q^I_{\alpha}, J_{\mu\nu}] = (\sigma_{\mu\nu})^{\beta}_{\alpha} Q^I_{\beta} , \qquad (1.1)$$

$$[Q^{I}_{\alpha}, P_{\mu}] = [\bar{Q}^{I}_{\dot{\alpha}}, P_{\mu}] = 0$$
(1.2)

$$\{Q^I_{\alpha}, \bar{Q}_{\dot{\beta}J}\} = 2(\sigma^{\mu})_{\alpha\dot{\beta}} P_{\mu} \delta^I_J, \qquad (1.3)$$

$$\{Q^{I}_{\alpha}, Q^{J}_{\beta}\} = \epsilon_{\alpha\beta} Z^{IJ} , \qquad (1.4)$$

where $Z^{IJ} = -Z^{JI}$ are the so-called *central charges*, commuting with all the generators of the superalgebra, $J_{\mu\nu}$ are the generators of boosts and rotations of the Poincaré group, and P_{μ} those of translations (among them, they satisfy the usual commutation relations of the Poincaré algebra). The group H of automorphisms of the superalgebra is the so-called *R-symmetry group*. When $Z^{IJ} = 0$, $H=U(\mathcal{N})$, and when $Z^{IJ} \neq 0$, H is a subgroup of $U(\mathcal{N})$.

Studying the massless linear *irreps* of Poincaré's superalgebra [375], one finds that each multiplet is composed of $2^{\mathcal{N}}$ states of helicities $\lambda_0 + k/2$ ($k = 0, ..., \mathcal{N}$), $\binom{\mathcal{N}}{k}$ for each k) and with the same number of fermionic and bosonic states in each case. Let us consider for example the case $\lambda_0 = -2$, $\mathcal{N} = 8$, which in fact corresponds to the field content of $\mathcal{N} = 8$, d = 4 SUGRA: we have $\binom{8}{0} = 1$ states of helicities ± 2 , $\binom{8}{1} = \binom{8}{7} = 8$ states of helicities $\pm 3/2$, $\binom{8}{2} = \binom{8}{6} = 28$ states of helicities ± 1 , $\binom{8}{3} = \binom{8}{5} = 56$ states of helicities $\pm 1/2$ and $\binom{8}{4} = 70$ states of helicities 0. So the number of bosonic states $2 \times 1 + 2 \times 28 + 70 = 128$ equals the number of fermionic states $2 \times 8 + 2 \times 56 = 128$.

Assuming $|\lambda \leq 2|^2$, the maximum number of supersymmetries in 4-dimensional theories is given by $\mathcal{N} = 8$. In addition, renormalizability becomes problematic for $\mathcal{N} \geq 4$ [375], although some recent intriguing results [58,59,265] indicating the possible quantum

²Particles of helicities larger than 2 are usually problematic in standard QFTs. Higher-spin theories [416] are a different kettle of fish.

finiteness of $\mathcal{N} = 8$, d = 4 SUGRA might jeopardize the widespread belief that no field theory of quantum gravity in 4D can be quantum mechanically finite.

SUSY transformations in field space are given by $\delta_{\epsilon} \sim \epsilon_L^{\alpha} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}^L$, being ϵ_L the fermionic parameter of the transformations³, and they generically act on bosonic (B) and fermionic (F) fields as

$$\delta_{\epsilon} B \sim \bar{\epsilon} F \,, \tag{1.5}$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon} F \sim B\epsilon \,. \tag{1.6}$$

Now, a field theory is said to be supersymmetric if it is invariant under the action of the corresponding SUSY transformations. If we allow the transformation parameters to depend on the spacetime coordinates $\epsilon_L = \epsilon_L(x)$, all the fields will necessarily be coupled to the gravitational field, and the theories invariant under the action of such local transformations

$$\delta_{\epsilon} B \sim \bar{\epsilon} F \,, \tag{1.7}$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon} F \sim B\epsilon + \partial\epsilon \,, \tag{1.8}$$

will be called *supergravity theories*. The composition of two local SUSY transformations produces an infinitesimal general coordinate transformation, which immediatly makes us think about General Relativity (GR). The jump is, however, not completely straightforward since SUGRA theories contain fermions, whereas the original framework of GR does not allow for such a possibility. This is because only the group of diffeomorphisms of a given spacetime \mathcal{M} , Diff(\mathcal{M}), acts naturally on the fields of the theory, and this does not have finite-dimensional spinorial representations. Actually, SUGRA theories can be seen as particular cases of the Cartan-Sciama-Kibble theory (see [353,380] for reviews), which is precisely a generalization of GR suitable for the coupling of fermions to gravity. In classical field theories, bosonic fields B transform under tensorial representations of the Lorentz group SO(1,3), so in GR they correspond to spacetime tensors. However, fermionic fields F transform under spinorial representations, which correspond, e.g., to the fundamental of the universal cover of SO(1,3), Spin(1,3). These cannot be identified with any section of the tangent or cotangent budles of \mathcal{M} (as opposed to the bosonic fields), so some further structure must be added in order to incorporare them when gravity is present (a more detailed discussion of this issues can be found in [386]). Such a structure is known as *spin* bundle, of which fermions would be sections. In case \mathcal{M} admits this structure, one can apply the *first-order formalism* of Cartan-Sciama-Kibble. In this, we use the Vierbein \mathbf{e} instead of the spacetime metric \mathbf{g} as the dynamical field associated to gravity (being both related by $\mathbf{g} = \eta(\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{e})$ where η is the flat frame metric). Using a Vierbein we can make the theory manifestly invariant under local Spin(1,3) transformations, and allows for the definition of a *spin connection* ω , which enables one to define covariant derivatives $\mathcal{D} \sim \partial + \omega$ with respect to the action of that group. This is the needed machinery for including fermions into the theory. The kinetic terms of the spinors are constructed now using the covariant derivative associated to the spin connection, which is considered an auxiliary field (in the sense that its equation of motion will act as a constraint for the other fields).

³Remarkably, the commutator of two of these is related to the spacetime derivative (this reflects nothing but the fact that the commutator of two \mathcal{Q} is proportional to the translations generator in (1.3)) as $[\delta_1, \delta_2] \propto \gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}$.

Let us consider, for example, pure $\mathcal{N} = 1$, d = 4 SUGRA, whose field content is given by the Vierbein, and the gravitino, which is a vector of Majorana or Weyl spinors, so we have (we choose to show explicitly spacetime and frame indices, and omit the spinorial ones): $\{e^a_{\mu}, \psi_{\mu}\}$. The action reads [353]

$$I[e^a_\mu, \omega_\mu{}^{ab}, \psi_\mu] = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \, e \left[R(e,\omega) + 2e^{-1} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \bar{\psi}_\mu \gamma_5 \gamma_\nu \mathcal{D}_\rho \psi_\sigma \right] \,, \tag{1.9}$$

where $e \equiv \det(\mathbf{e})$, the Lorentz-covariant derivative of the Rarita-Schwinger field reads

$$\mathcal{D}_{\rho}\psi_{\sigma} \equiv \partial_{\rho}\psi_{\sigma} - \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}\gamma_{ab}\psi_{\sigma}, \qquad (1.10)$$

and

$$R(e,\omega) \equiv e_a^{\mu} e_b^{\nu} R_{\mu\nu} {}^{ab}(\omega) , \qquad (1.11)$$

where $R_{\mu\nu}{}^{ab}(\omega)$ is the curvature of the spin connection ω_{μ}^{ab} ,

$$R_{\mu\nu a}{}^{b}(\omega) \equiv 2\partial_{[\mu}\omega_{\nu]a}{}^{b} - 2\omega_{[\mu]a}{}^{c}\omega_{[\nu]c}{}^{b}.$$

$$(1.12)$$

The above action, which only contains first derivatives to the power of 1 (hence the name first-order formalism), is invariant under general coordinate transformations, local Lorentz transformations, as well as local $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SUSY transformations⁴

$$\delta_{\epsilon} e^a_{\mu} = -i\bar{\epsilon}\gamma^a \psi_{\mu} \,, \quad \delta_{\epsilon} \psi_{\mu} = \mathcal{D}_{\mu}\epsilon \,. \tag{1.13}$$

As a general fact, the invariance of SUSY and SUGRA theories under the corresponding supersymmetric transformations constrains the field content as well as the geometric structure of the different multiplets. We will review how this works for a particular theory, namely: $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 ungauged SUGRA, which is of particular interest for the results of this thesis. Before doing so, let us introduce the general structure of the theory.

1.1.3 $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SUGRA

A $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA is a field theory invariant under the action of two independent local supersymmetry transformations generated by two spinors (Weyl or Majorana). According to this definition, there are SUGRA theories which include terms of arbitrarily high order in derivatives in their action. However, we will restrict ourselves to secondorder Lagrangians. Let us also assume for the moment that none of the global symmetries of the theory has been gauged.

The field theory content of any ungauged $classical SUGRA^5$ is then the following

• A gravity multiplet: $(\mathbf{e}, \psi_I, A^0)$, where \mathbf{e} is the Vierbein, ψ_I an SU(2) (which is the R-symmetry group of the theory) doublet of gravitini and A^0 is the graviphoton 1-form.

⁴All this is a bit more subtle, because ω is an independent field here. It is often convenient to work in the so-called 1,5 formalism, according to which we mantain the first-order form of the action, but impose the relations satisfied by ω (which come from its equation of motion) on its variations. We will not mess up with this here.

⁵Classical in the sense that it does not include higher-order terms in derivatives, which arise from stringy and quantum corrections, so that the bosonic sector is a particular case of GR

- n_v vector multiplets: (A^i, λ^{iI}, z^i) , where A^i , $i = 1, ..., n_v$ are 1-forms, λ_I^i are spinors and the Z^i are complex scalars. These parametrize a n_v -dimensional Special Kähler manifold [145] (see below).
- n_h hypermultiplets: $(\chi_{\alpha}, \chi^{\alpha}, q^u)$ where the $\chi_{\alpha}, \alpha = 1, ..., 2n_h$ are spinors, and the $q^u, u = 1, ..., 4n_h$ real scalars parametrizing a $4n_h$ -dimensional quaternionic Kähler manifold [63].

Every supersymmetric Lagrangian, and the $\mathcal{N} = 2 d = 4$ SUGRA in particular, is invariant under a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry which makes $B \to B$, $F \to -F$. As a consequence, truncating all fermions is always consistent⁶. Since we will be interested in purely bosonic configurations, let us truncate all fermions from now on. The action corresponding to the bosonic sector of ungauged $\mathcal{N} = 2 d = 4$ SUGRA is given by

$$I = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{|g|} \left\{ R + h_{uv}(q)\partial_\mu q^u \partial^\mu q^v + \mathcal{G}_{i\bar{j}}(Z,\bar{Z})\partial_\mu Z^i \partial^\mu \bar{Z}^{\bar{j}} + 2\Im_{\Lambda\Sigma}(Z,\bar{Z})F^\Lambda_{\mu\nu}F^{\Sigma\,\mu\nu} - 2\Re_{\Lambda\Sigma}(Z,\bar{Z})F^\Lambda_{\mu\nu}\star F^{\Sigma\,\mu\nu} \right\},$$
(1.14)

where we used the symplectic index $\Lambda = (0, i)$ for all vector fields A^{Λ} , $\Lambda = 0, ..., n_v$. The first term is the usual Ricci scalar⁷. The second is the kinetic term of the hyperscalars, which parametrize a quaternionic manifold of metric $h_{uv}(q)$. It is easy to show that these fields can be fixed to a constant value $q_u = q_u^0$ in a consistent manner, and this we assume henceforth: their equations of motion do not involve more fields than themselves, and in their SUSY transformation all terms contain some dependence on them. The third term is a *non-linear sigma model* corresponding to the kinetic term of the vector multiplets' complex scalars, which parametrize a (complex) n_v -dimensional Special Kähler manifold with metric $\mathcal{G}_{i\bar{j}}(Z,\bar{Z})$. The two remaining terms correspond to the kinetic and *CP-violating like* terms corresponding to the $n_v + 1$ 1-forms. $\Im_{\Lambda\Sigma} \equiv \Im m \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ (which is negative-definite) and $\Re_{\Lambda\Sigma} \equiv \Re e \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ are the imaginary and real parts of some symplectic matrix depending on the scalars Z^i , $\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(Z,\bar{Z})$.

We will study different models of ungauged $\mathcal{N} = 2 \ d = 4$ SUGRA in the forthcoming chapters. Our interest on them will be in all cases related to the search for new solutions. In chapters 2, 3 and 4, we will focus on black holes, whereas in the first part of 7 we will look for a different kind of solutions, namely, hvLf-like (see below).

Let us now explain the rôle played by symplectic and Special Kähler geometries on the structure of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ d = 4 SUGRA theories.

Electric-magnetic duality and symplectic covariance

Consider the action (1.14) without hypermultiplets. If we define a tensor dual to F^{Λ} , as⁸

$$\tilde{F}_{\Lambda\mu\nu} \equiv -\frac{1}{4\sqrt{|g|}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \star F^{\Lambda_{\mu\nu}}} = \Re e \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Sigma}_{\mu\nu} + \Im m \mathcal{N}^*_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Sigma}_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (1.15)$$

the equations of motion for the $n_v + 1$ 1-forms can be written as $\mathcal{E}^{\mu}_{\Lambda} \equiv \nabla_{\nu} \star \tilde{F}^{\nu\mu}_{\Lambda} = 0$, which clearly resembles the Bianchi identity for the F^{Λ} : $\mathcal{B}^{\Lambda\mu} \equiv \nabla_{\nu} \star F^{\Lambda\nu\mu} = 0$. If we define the

⁶This means that any solution of the truncated theory is a solution of the complete theory.

⁷Once we truncate the fermions, the first-order formalism looses a great part of it usefulness. From now on, we come back to the usual second-order formulation.

⁸The results of this subsections are based on [129, 186, 206].

doublet

$$\mathcal{E}^{M}_{\mu} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{B}^{\Lambda}_{\mu} \\ \mathcal{E}_{\Lambda\mu}, \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (1.16)$$

Maxwell equations and Bianchi identities can be simply written as $\mathcal{E}^M = 0$, so they admit as a symmetry, an arbitrary $\operatorname{GL}(2n_v + 2, \mathbb{R})$ rotation on the M index: $\mathcal{E}^M_\mu = 0 \rightarrow m^M {}_N \mathcal{E}^N_\mu = 0, \ m^M {}_N \in \operatorname{GL}(2n_v + 2, \mathbb{R})$. These transformations act analogously on the 2-forms F^{Λ} and \tilde{F}_{Λ} as

$$F^{M}_{\mu} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} F^{\Lambda} \\ \tilde{F}_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix}, F'^{M} = m^{M}{}_{N}F^{N}.$$
(1.17)

However, F^{Λ} and \tilde{F}_{Λ} are not independent, as it can be seen from (1.15). Imposing (1.15) to be valid after the rotation clearly imposes that the matrix $\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(Z,\bar{Z})$ must be transformed under $\operatorname{GL}(2n_v + 2, \mathbb{R})$ as well. Then, one needs to impose an action of this group on the scalars in a way such that $\mathcal{N}'_{\Lambda\Sigma}(Z,\bar{Z})$ has the desired structure. In order to do this, we consider a diffeomorphism $\xi \in \operatorname{Diff}(\mathcal{M}_{\operatorname{escalar}})$ on the scalar manifold $\mathcal{M}_{\operatorname{escalar}}$, as well as the existence of a group homomorphism as

$$i : \text{Diff}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{scalar}}) \to \text{GL}(2n_v + 2, \mathbb{R}),$$
 (1.18)

such that, for every $\xi \in \text{Diff}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{scalar}})$ it assigns a transformation $\mathfrak{i}(\xi) \in \text{GL}(2n_v + 2)$. This construction allows us to define the simultaneous action of ξ on all the fields of the theory $\{Z, F^M, \mathcal{N}_{\Sigma\Lambda}(Z)\} \xrightarrow{\xi} \{\xi(Z), (\mathfrak{i}(\xi))^M{}_N F^N, \mathcal{N}'_{\Sigma\Lambda}(\xi(Z))\}$. The consistency condition on $\mathcal{N}'_{\Lambda\Sigma}(Z, \overline{Z})$, which can be written as

$$\tilde{F}'_{\Lambda\mu\nu} \equiv -\frac{1}{4\sqrt{|g|}} \frac{\delta S'}{\delta \star F'^{\Lambda_{\mu\nu}}}, \qquad (1.19)$$

translates into the fact that the transformations $m^M{}_N$ must belong to the subgroup $\operatorname{Sp}(2n_v+2,\mathbb{R})$, so the homomorphism \mathfrak{i} reduces to \mathfrak{i} : $\operatorname{Diff}(\mathcal{M}_{\operatorname{escalar}}) \to \operatorname{Sp}(2n_v+2,\mathbb{R})$, and that the period matrix $\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(Z,\bar{Z})$ transforms as

$$\mathcal{N}' = (A\mathcal{N} + B)(C\mathcal{N} + D)^{-1},$$
 (1.20)

where A, B, C y D are $(n_v + 1) \times (n_v + 1)$ matrices such that

$$m \equiv \begin{pmatrix} D & C \\ B & A \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{Sp}(2n_v + 2, \mathbb{R}).$$
(1.21)

Thus, whenever the period matrix satisfies (1.20), we can define these symplectic electricmagnetic duality transformations acting as symmetries of the Maxwell and Bianchi equations. On the other hand, it is convenient to stress that not all these transformations are symmetries of the action (1.14) (not even of the sector corresponding to the 1-forms). However, we can make of these transformations symmetries of all the equations of motion of (1.14) by restricting the diffeomorphisms $\xi \in \text{Diff}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{scalar}})$ associated to the duality transformations to be isometries of the scalar manifold metric $\mathcal{G}_{i\bar{j}}$. This means that the homomorphism reduces even more to

$$i : \text{Isometries}(\mathcal{M}_{\text{scalar}}, \mathcal{G}_{ij}) \to \text{Sp}(2n_v + 2, \mathbb{R}).$$
 (1.22)

Summing up, the symplectic duality transformations which are global symmetries of the equations of motion correspond to isometries of the scalar manifold which act on the scalars

as diffeomorphisms, and on the 1-forms through (1.22), provided the period matrix satisfies (1.20).

Finally, it actually happens that these transformations correspond to symmetries of the action (1.14) in some cases. The condition for this to be so reads: B = C = 0.

A crash course in Special Kähler geometry

As we have mentioned already, the geometry underlying the vector multiplets of any $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SUGRA is called *Special Kähler* [155, 402]. Let us now review what it is about⁹.

Let $(\mathcal{M}, J, \mathcal{G})$ be a *d*-dimensional Hermitean manifold with complex structure J and Hermitean metric \mathcal{G} . By definition, they satisfy

$$\mathcal{J} \equiv \frac{1}{2} J_{mn} dX^m \wedge dX^n = J_{i\bar{j}} dZ^i \wedge d\bar{Z}^{\bar{j}} = 2i \mathcal{G}_{i\bar{j}} dZ^i \wedge d\bar{Z}^{\bar{j}} , \qquad (1.23)$$

where we have introduced the Kähler 2-form, \mathcal{J} , and we have used real, X^m , m = 1, ..., 2d, and (anti-) holomorphic complex coordinates $(\bar{Z}^i) Z^i$, i = 1, ..., d. $(\mathcal{M}, J, \mathcal{G})$ is a Kähler manifold iff its Kähler form is closed

$$d\mathcal{J} = 0. \tag{1.24}$$

Therefore, a Kähler manifold is a Riemannian (\mathcal{G}), complex (J) and symplectic (\mathcal{J}) manifold which nicely incorporates in a compatible way the three basic structures of differential geometry ($\mathcal{J}(.,.) = \mathcal{G}(J,.)$).

The defining property of a Kähler manifold immediatly leads to the conditions $\partial_{[k}\mathcal{G}_{i]\bar{j}} = \partial_{[\bar{k}|}\mathcal{G}_{i|\bar{j}]} = 0$, which in turn imply the vanishing of the torsion and the identification of the Hermitean and Levi-Civita connections. These equations are solved in a local patch $U_{(x)}$ by

$$\mathcal{G}_{i\bar{j}} = \partial_i \partial_{\bar{j}} \mathcal{K}_{(x)} \,, \tag{1.25}$$

or $\mathcal{J} = 2i\partial\bar{\partial}\mathcal{K}_{(x)}$, for some function $\mathcal{K}_{(x)}(Z,\bar{Z})$, called *Kähler potential*. This is not uniquely defined. Indeed, if we construct a new Kähler potential as

$$\mathcal{K}'_{(x)}(Z,\bar{Z}) = \mathcal{K}_{(x)}(Z,\bar{Z}) + \lambda(Z) + \bar{\lambda}(\bar{Z}), \qquad (1.26)$$

it is trivial to see that the metric constructed from it equals the one constructed from the original one. Similarly, in compact manifolds, Kähler potentials defined on two different patches $U_{(x)}$, $U_{(y)}$ are related through

$$\mathcal{K}_{(x)} = \mathcal{K}_{(y)} + \lambda_{xy}(Z) + \bar{\lambda}_{xy}(\bar{Z}), \qquad (1.27)$$

in the overlap $U_{(x)} \cap U_{(y)}$.

In a Kähler manifold it is possible to define objects transforming under the Kähler transformations (1.26). Such an object $\Psi(Z, \overline{Z})$ is said to have Kähler weight (q, \overline{q}) if, under (1.26), it transforms as

$$\Psi' = e^{-(q\lambda + \bar{q}\bar{\lambda})/2}\Psi.$$
(1.28)

⁹We follow the conventions of [320, 353].

One can define a Kähler-covariant derivative acting on these objects as

$$\mathcal{D}_i \equiv \nabla_i + iq\mathcal{Q}_i \,, \qquad \mathcal{D}_{\bar{i}} \equiv \nabla_{\bar{i}} - i\bar{q}\mathcal{Q}_{\bar{i}} \,, \tag{1.29}$$

where ∇ is the Levi-Civita (Hermitean) connection and Q is the so-called Kähler 1-form, which is defined as

$$\mathcal{Q}_{(x)} \equiv \frac{1}{2i} \left(\partial - \bar{\partial} \right) \mathcal{K}_{(x)} , \qquad (1.30)$$

so in each patch $\mathcal{J} = 2d\mathcal{Q}_{(x)}$. Under a Kähler transformation (1.26), this object transforms as

$$\mathcal{Q}'_i = \mathcal{Q}_i + \frac{1}{2i}\partial_i\lambda.$$
(1.31)

A situation of particular interest for our purposes is that of fields with $\bar{q} = -q$, whose Kähler transformations are Z-dependent U(1) transformations:

$$\Psi' = e^{-iq\Im\mathfrak{m}\lambda(z)}\Psi.$$
(1.32)

In particular, for q = 1, the structure that supports these fields is that of a U(1) bundle associated to an holomorphic line bundle (*i.e.*, a complex line bundle whose projection is holomorphic) $\mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{M}$ over the Kähler manifold, being the consistency condition of this construction that the first Chern class of the line bundle (which can be obtained from the Ricci 2-form \mathfrak{R} of the fiber's Hermitean metric) equals the Kähler 2-form \mathcal{J} . Manifolds with this additional structure are called *Kähler-Hodge manifolds*, and they play an important rôle in SUGRA theories. In particular, the manifolds parametrized by the complex scalars of the chiral multiplets of $\mathcal{N} = 1$, d = 4 SUGRA must be of this kind. The same occurs for the manifolds parametrized by the complex scalars of the vector multiplets of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA (because of which we are talking about this), although these must satisfy further constraints defining what is called Special Kähler geometry, which we are finally able to review now.

Let us consider a Kähler-Hodge manifold of complex dimension n_v (this is a suitable name as n_v will indeed correspond to the number of vector multiplets of a $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4SUGRA) and a flat $2(n_v + 1)$ -dimensional vector bundle $E \to \mathcal{M}$ with structure group $\operatorname{Sp}(2(n_v + 1); \mathbb{R})$. The product bundle $E \otimes \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{M}$ will be a special Kähler manifold if there is a section \mathcal{V} of it, called covariantly-holomorphic canonical symplectic section, which satisfies the following properties

$$-\langle \mathcal{V} | \mathcal{V} \rangle = i, \qquad (1.33)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{\bar{i}}\mathcal{V} = 0, \qquad (1.34)$$

$$\langle \mathcal{U}_i | \mathcal{V} \rangle = 0, \qquad (1.35)$$

where

$$\mathcal{U}_{i} \equiv \mathcal{D}_{i}\mathcal{V} = \left(\partial_{i} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{i}\mathcal{K}\right)\mathcal{V}, \quad \mathcal{D}_{\bar{i}}\mathcal{V} = \left(\partial_{\bar{i}} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\bar{i}}\mathcal{K}\right)\mathcal{V}, \quad (1.36)$$

and the symplectic product $\langle . | . \rangle$ is defined as

$$\langle \mathcal{A} | \mathcal{B} \rangle \equiv \mathcal{A}_M \mathcal{B}^M = -\mathcal{A}^N \Omega_{NM} \mathcal{B}^M = \mathcal{B}^\Lambda \mathcal{A}_\Lambda - \mathcal{B}_\Lambda \mathcal{A}^\Lambda, \qquad (1.37)$$

where we have used symplectic indices $M, N = 1, ..., 2(n_v + 1)$ or, equivalently, pairs of one upper and one lower index $\Lambda, \Sigma = 1, ..., n_v + 1$ and $\Omega_{MN} = \text{antidiag}[\mathbb{I}, -\mathbb{I}]$ is the symplectic metric. The canonical section \mathcal{V} , which is usually written in components as $\mathcal{V} = (\mathcal{L}^{\Lambda}, \mathcal{M}_{\Sigma})^T$, completely defines a $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA model in the absence of hypermultiplets, as we will see. An important object we can define is the period matrix

$$\mathcal{M}_{\Lambda} = \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} \mathcal{L}^{\Sigma} , \quad h_{\Lambda i} = \bar{\mathcal{N}}_{\Lambda\Sigma} f_i^{\Sigma} , \qquad (1.38)$$

where $h_{\Lambda i}$, f_i^{Λ} are the components of \mathcal{U}_i : $\mathcal{U}_i = (f_i^{\Lambda}, h_{\Sigma i})^T$. It can be seen that the defining properties of the Special Kähler manifold (1.33), (1.34), (1.35) imply $\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ to be symmetric and its imaginary part $\Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ to be negative-definite (which is exactly what we want for the matrix appearing in (1.14)!).

There are many other useful objects one can construct in a Special Kähler manifold. In particular, it is convenient to consider another holomorphic section, Ω , which is defined as

$$\Omega \equiv e^{-\mathcal{K}/2} \mathcal{V} \equiv \left(\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}, \mathcal{F}_{\Sigma}\right)^{T} .$$
(1.39)

Since $e^{-\mathcal{K}/2}$ and \mathcal{V} have Kähler weights (1,1) and (1,-1) respectively, this is a weight (2,0) section. The following expression for the Kähler potential can be now obtained

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} = -2\Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda \Sigma} \mathcal{X}^{\Lambda} \bar{\mathcal{X}}^{\Sigma} \,. \tag{1.40}$$

Now, assuming that the lower components of Ω , \mathcal{F}_{Λ} , depend on the complex coordinates Z^i only through the upper components \mathcal{X} , it can be seen [353] that (1.40) implies the following relation,

$$\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{F}}{\partial \mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}}, \qquad (1.41)$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{X}) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{X}^{\Sigma} \mathcal{F}_{\Sigma}(\mathcal{X}) , \qquad (1.42)$$

is the so-called *prepotential*, which is a homogeneous function of second degree in the \mathcal{X}^{Λ} s, as is clear from (1.41) and (1.42). It might be that the prepotential does not exist for a given holomorphic section Ω . However, it can be shown that there always exists a symplectic transformation of Ω such that the prepotential exists. From the SUGRA perspective, this transformation will correspond to a change of coordinates in the scalar manifold so, for practical purposes, the existence of a prepotential can in general be assumed. From the prepotential, one can reconstruct the metric of the Special Kähler manifold and the period matrix as

$$\mathcal{G}_{i\bar{j}} = -\partial_i \partial_{\bar{j}} \ln \left[i \left[\bar{\mathcal{X}}^{\Lambda} \partial_{\Lambda} \mathcal{F} - \mathcal{X}^{\Lambda} \partial_{\Lambda} \bar{\mathcal{F}} \right] \right] , \qquad (1.43)$$

$$\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} = \partial_{\Lambda}\partial_{\Sigma}\bar{\mathcal{F}} + 2i\frac{\Im m(\partial_{\Lambda}\partial_{\Lambda'}\mathcal{F})\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda'}\Im m(\partial_{\Sigma}\partial_{\Sigma'}\mathcal{F})\mathcal{X}^{\Sigma'}}{\mathcal{X}^{\Omega}\Im m(\partial_{\Omega}\partial_{\Omega'}\bar{\mathcal{F}})\mathcal{X}^{\Omega'}}.$$
(1.44)

At this point, it is not difficult to guess what the above objects correspond to in the bosonic action (1.14) of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA. Indeed, SUSY imposes $\mathcal{G}_{i\bar{j}}(Z,\bar{Z})$ and $\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}(Z,\bar{Z})$ to be identified with the Hermitean metric and the period matrix of a Special Kähler manifold parametrized by the complex scalars of the vector multiplets, and satisfying all the relations presented in this subsection. In particular, the period matrix satisfies (1.20), so the equations of motion of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 ungauged SUGRA can be invariant under the symplectic duality transformations explained in the previous subsection.

Therefore, after truncating hyperscalars and fermions, the theory gets completely determined by the election of some holomorphic symplectic section for the bundle SM

with structure group $\operatorname{Sp}(2n_v + 2, \mathbb{R})$ defined on the scalar manifold or, equivalently in the case it exists, by the election of an holomorphic and homogeneous function of second degree (the prepotential) \mathcal{F} , defined in (1.42), and from which the scalar metric and the period matrix can be constructed using (1.43), and (1.44). Examples of prepotentials we will study in the following chapters are

• The $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ model (see chapters 2 and 5), which contains n scalar fields given by $Z^i \equiv \mathcal{X}^i / \mathcal{X}^0$, which parametrize the symmetric space $\mathrm{U}(1, n) / (\mathrm{U}(1) \times \mathrm{U}(n))$

$$\mathcal{F} = -\frac{i}{4}\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}\mathcal{X}^{\Sigma}, \qquad (\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}) = \operatorname{diag}(+-\cdots-).$$
(1.45)

• The ST[2, n] model (see chapter 5), which is an example of a cubic model

$$\mathcal{F} = -\frac{1}{3!} d_{ijk} \frac{\mathcal{X}^i \mathcal{X}^j \mathcal{X}^k}{\mathcal{X}^0} , \qquad (1.46)$$

where d is completely symmetric in its indices, characterized by $d_{1\alpha\beta} = \eta_{\alpha\beta}$ where $(\eta_{\alpha\beta}) = \text{diag}(+ - \cdots -)$ and where the indices α, β take n values between 2 and n+1. In this model, the scalar $Z^1 = \mathcal{X}^1/\mathcal{X}^0$ plays a special role and parametrizes a $\text{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})/\text{SO}(2)$ coset space, whereas the other n scalars, $Z^{\alpha} = \mathcal{X}^{\alpha}/\mathcal{X}^0$ ($\alpha = 2, \cdots, n$), parametrize a $\text{SO}(2, n)/(\text{SO}(2) \times \text{SO}(n))$ coset space.

• Type-IIA string theory compactified to 4D on a Calabi-Yau manifold up to secondorder in derivatives (see chapters 3 and 4) [109–111]

$$\mathcal{F} = -\frac{1}{3!}\kappa^{0}_{ijk}z^{i}z^{j}z^{k} + \frac{ic}{2} + \frac{i}{(2\pi)^{3}}\sum_{d_{i}}n_{d_{i}}Li_{3}\left(e^{2\pi i d_{i}z^{i}}\right) \quad , \tag{1.47}$$

where z^i , $i = 1, ..., n_v = h^{1,1}$, are the scalars in the vector multiplets, $c = \frac{\chi\zeta(3)}{(2\pi)^3}$ with χ the Euler characteristic of the C.Y. three-fold, (given by $\chi = 2(h^{1,1} - h^{2,1}))$, κ_{ijk}^0 are the classical intersection numbers, $d_i \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ is a n_v -dimensional summation index and

$$Li_3(x) \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{x^j}{j^3}$$
 (1.48)

is the third polylogarithmic function.

$\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SEYM

In general (ungauged) $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SUGRA theories, the global symmetry group G can be written as [353]

$$G = G_V \times G_{hyper} \times SU(2)_R \times U(1)_R, \qquad (1.49)$$

where G_V and G_{hyper} stand for the isometry groups of the Special and quaternionic Kähler manifolds respectively. $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 gauged SUGRA theories are those in which some subgroup of G has been promoted to a local symmetry group through the corresponding gauging procedure while preserving the supersymmetric structure of the theory.

When a (necessarily non-Abelian) subgroup of G_V is gauged the scalar potential is positive semidefinite, which tipically allows for asymptotically de-Sitter and asymptotically flat solutions. This is in contradistinction to theories in which a subgroup of $SU(2)_R$ (or the complete $SU(2)_R$) is gauged via Fayet-Iliopoulos (FI) terms¹⁰ in whose case the scalar potential becomes negative definite, the solutions thus being typically asymptotically antide Sitter. This is the kind of theories we will deal with in the second part of chapter 7. In particular, a short review of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA theories with FI gaugings can be found in section 7.8.

 $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SEYM theories can be seen as the simplest $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetrization of the Einstein-Yang-Mills (EYM) or Einstein-Yang-Mills-Higgs (EYMH) theories. They are nothing but theories of $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SUGRA coupled to n_v vector multiplets in which a non-Abelian¹¹ subgroup of the isometry group of the (Special Kähler) scalar manifold has been gauged using some of the vector fields of the theory as gauge fields¹².

The bosonic sector of the theory, in the absence of hypers, has the following action

$$S[g_{\mu\nu}, A^{\Lambda}{}_{\mu}, Z^{i}] = \int d^{4}x \sqrt{|g|} \left[R + 2\mathcal{G}_{ij*} \mathfrak{D}_{\mu} Z^{i} \mathfrak{D}^{\mu} Z^{*j^{*}} + 2\mathfrak{Sm} \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Lambda \mu\nu} F^{\Sigma}{}_{\mu\nu} - 2\mathfrak{Re} \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Lambda \mu\nu} \star F^{\Sigma}{}_{\mu\nu} - V(Z, Z^{*}) \right] .$$

$$(1.50)$$

where $\mathfrak{D}_{\mu}Z^{i}$ is the gauge-covariant derivative

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\mu}Z^{i} = \partial_{\mu}Z^{i} + gA^{\Lambda}{}_{\mu}k_{\Lambda}{}^{i}, \qquad (1.51)$$

 $F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ is the vector field strength

$$F^{\Lambda}{}_{\mu\nu} = 2\partial_{[\mu}A^{\Lambda}{}_{\nu]} - gf_{\Sigma\Gamma}{}^{\Lambda}A^{\Sigma}{}_{\mu}A^{\Gamma}{}_{\nu} , \qquad (1.52)$$

and $V(Z, Z^*)$ is the scalar potential

$$V(Z, Z^*) = -\frac{1}{4}g^2 \Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}^{\Lambda \Sigma} \mathcal{P}_{\Lambda} \mathcal{P}_{\Sigma} , \qquad (1.53)$$

which is positive-semidefinite, since the imaginary part of the period matrix is negativedefinite. In the above equations, $k_{\Lambda}{}^{i}(Z)$ are the holomorphic Killing vectors of the isometries that have been gauged¹³ and $\mathcal{P}_{\Lambda}(Z, Z^{*})$ the corresponding momentum maps, which are related to the Killing vectors and to the Kähler potential \mathcal{K} by

$$i\mathcal{P}_{\Lambda} = k_{\Lambda}{}^{i}\partial_{i}\mathcal{K} - \lambda_{\Lambda},$$
 (1.54)

$$k_{\Lambda \, i^*} = i \partial_{i^*} \mathcal{P}_{\Lambda} \,, \tag{1.55}$$

for some holomorphic functions $\lambda_{\Lambda}(Z)$. Furthermore, the holomorphic Killing vectors and the generators T_{Λ} of the gauge group satisfy the Lie algebras

$$[k_{\Lambda}, k_{\Sigma}] = -f_{\Lambda\Sigma}{}^{\Gamma}k_{\Gamma}, \qquad [T_{\Lambda}, T_{\Sigma}] = +f_{\Lambda\Sigma}{}^{\Gamma}T_{\Gamma}. \qquad (1.56)$$

¹⁰The overall $U(1)_R$ group cannot be gauged in this way. The Abelian gaugings discussed in the literature deal with a subgroup $U(1) \in SU(2)_R$.

¹¹ The theory becomes identical to the ungauged one when the gauge group is Abelian.

 $^{^{12}}$ A global symmetry group can be gauged if it acts on the vector fields in the adjoint representation. Furthermore, it is required to be a symmetry of the prepotential; see e.g., [245] for more details.

¹³ The employed notation associates a Killing vector to each value of the index Λ in order to avoid the introduction of yet another class of indices and the embedding tensor (see e.g., the reviews [413]); it is understood that not all the k_{Λ} need to be non-vanishing.

For the gauge group SU(2), which is the only one we are going to consider, we use lowercase indices¹⁴ a, b, c = 1, 2, 3 and the structure constants are $f_{ab}{}^c = -\varepsilon_{abc}$, so

$$[k_a, k_b] = +\varepsilon_{abc}k_c, \qquad [T_a, T_b] = -\varepsilon_{abc}T_c. \tag{1.57}$$

We said before that these theories could be seen as the simplest SUSY version of Einstein-Yang-Mills (EYM) or Einstein-Yang-Mills-Higgs (EYMH) theories. The main differences of these w.r.t. the SUGRA theories we are dealing with are the complexification of the Higgs field and the presence of a non-trivial period matrix. A further difference is the possibility of having more general scalar manifolds, which is reflected in the expressions of the gauge-covariant derivatives of the scalar fields.

In chapter 2, we will consider several $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM models, for which we will be able to construct the first examples of regular multi-center black-hole-monopole solutions of any model of gravity coupled to non-Abelian Yang-Mills(-Higgs) fields as well as new global-monopole solutions.

More aspects of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA theories will be highlighted in some of the following chapters as they are needed for the results presented there. For the moment, let us close here our introduction to (certain aspects of) supergravity and start dealing with our second topic of interest, to wit: black holes.

1.2 Black holes

In this section we review some basics about black holes, their thermodynamic properties and their rôle as supersymmetric objects in SUGRA theories and string theory. We also introduce the H-FGK formalism, which facilitates the characterization and construction of static and spherically symmetric black holes of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA.

1.2.1 Asymptotically flat black holes in General Relativity

In the context of Newtonian mechanics, it was a British geologist, John Michell, who first conceived the idea of a massive object so dense that its escape velocity would exceed c, so light would not be able to scape from it. Such an observation was made by Michell in a letter sent to Cavendish in 1783 and although at this point the interaction between light and matter was very far from understood, so the comment can be regarded as not much more than a curiosity, the intuition brought up by Michell is certainly remarkable¹⁵. The issue of these *black* objects was broadly ignored until Einstein's formulation of GR [167]. A few months after his seminal papers appeared, Schwarzschild found the first exact solution to Einstein's vacuum equations, which described the gravitational field outside an spherical distribution of mass, and which would turn out to hide many surprises. In fact, many of the properties of the Schwarzschild solution were understood many years after, and those involving the regime in which \hbar cannot be neglected are still far from being understood. Schwarzschild's solution inaugurated the era of a new class of physical objects: the *black holes*.

¹⁴These will be a certain subset of those represented by Λ, Σ, \ldots

¹⁵Obviously, this Newtonian version of black holes hardly shares any of the properties of GR black holes.

The precise definition of black hole in GR is rather technical and requires the introduction of several concepts which we are about to review¹⁶. In particular, we will start focusing in the definition of *asymptotically flat* black holes, which have been of prominent importance throughout my Ph.D. studies¹⁷. So let us get started with the definitions, no need for anaesthesia.

Two metrics \mathbf{g} and $\tilde{\mathbf{g}}$ defined on some spacetime \mathcal{M} are conformally related if there exists an scalar function Ω on \mathcal{M} such that $\tilde{\mathbf{g}} = \Omega^2 \mathbf{g}$. A conformal compactification of $(\mathcal{M}, \mathbf{g})$ consists of an election of a metric $\tilde{\mathbf{g}}$ such that $(\mathcal{M}, \tilde{\mathbf{g}})$ can be isometrically embedded (*i.e.*, $\tilde{\mathbf{g}}$ is given by the pullback of \mathbf{g}') in a compact domain U' of a new spacetime $(\mathcal{M}', \mathbf{g}')$.

A spacetime \mathcal{M} is said to be asymptotically simple iff it admits a conformal compactification \mathcal{M}' and all null geodesics in \mathcal{M} have future and past endpoints in $\partial \mathcal{M}'$. Asymptotically simple spaces include Minkowski and the asymptotically flat spaces containing bounded objects such as stars which have not collapsed. They do not include, however, black holes, as in these there are null geodesics which do not have endpoints in $\partial \mathcal{M}'$ (esentially because of the presence of singularities). We need a more refined definition for them. A spacetime \mathcal{M} is said to be weakly asymptotically simple if there exists an asymptotically simple spacetime \mathcal{M}' and a neighbourhood U' of $\partial \mathcal{M}'$ in \mathcal{M}' such that $\mathcal{M}' \cap U'$ is isometric to a subset of \mathcal{M} .

Now, \mathcal{M} is said to be asymptotically flat if it is weakly asymptotically simple and its metric in the neighborhood of the boundary of the conformal compactification $\partial \mathcal{M}'$ satisfies Einstein's vacuum equations. Conceptually, a spacetime of this kind corresponds to the general relativistic version (in the absence of cosmological constant) of an isolated system. In a spacetime of this kind, there exists a region far away from any energy density in which curvature becomes arbitrarily small, and Minkowski geometry is recovered asymptotically.

Given an asymptotically flat spacetime \mathcal{M} , the *black hole* region $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{M}$ is defined as

$$\mathcal{B} \equiv \mathcal{M} - I^{-}(\mathcal{I}^{+}), \qquad (1.58)$$

where \mathcal{I}^+ stands for the future null infinity (the set of points asymptotically approached by null geodesics which can escape to spatial infinity) and I^- is the chronological past.

The event horizon \mathcal{H} of a black hole is defined as the boundary of \mathcal{B} . Hence, \mathcal{H} is the boundary of the past of \mathcal{I}^+ .

A black hole therefore consists of a set of points in \mathcal{M} from which null geodesics cannot escape to infinity. Thus, an observer in \mathcal{B} cannot have any causal influence on anything happening outside the horizon: no information sent from the interior of \mathcal{H} can escape from it. Similarly, all information sent into a black hole from the exterior is inevitably lost forever¹⁸. It is convenient to stress that \mathcal{H} has no local significance (in fact, the curvature can be arbitrarily small on \mathcal{H}): the whole history of spacetime's future must be known in order to determine the location of an even horizon.

If an asymptotically flat spacetime contains a black hole, this is said to be *stationary* if it admits a timelike Killing vector field. In such a spacetime, the components of the metric can be chosen locally so that they are all independent of the time coordinate. A

 $^{^{16}}$ Some of the contents in this section are based on [235, 419, 421]

¹⁷However, many of the general properties of black holes we will present afterwards will apply as well for other kinds of beasts, such as asymptotically AdS black holes.

 $^{^{18}}$ All these statements apply only in the framework of GR, and are modified when \hbar is at work.

static black hole is stationary, with the additional property that there exists a family of space-like hypersurfaces Σ orthogonal to the Killing field.

A null surface \mathcal{K} whose generators coincide with the orbits of a uniparametric group of isometries is called a *Killing horizon*. A result due to Hawking [235] establishes that for electrovacuum solutions of 4D Einstein's equations, the event horizon of any stationary black hole must be a Killing horizon. Now let \mathcal{K} be a Killing horizon (not necessarily an event horizon) with orthogonal Killing field ξ^{μ} . Given that $\nabla^{\mu}\xi^2$ is also orthogonal to \mathcal{K} , both vectors must be proportional in every point of the horizon. Hence, there must exist a function κ , on \mathcal{K} , known as *surface gravity* of \mathcal{K} , defined through $\nabla^{\mu}\xi^2 = -2\kappa\xi^{\mu}$. The surface gravity can be thought of as the force required at infinity to hold a unit mass particle at rest near the horizon.

A final definition useful for our purposes is the following: a 4-dimensional spacetime is *spherically symmetric* if its isometry group has an SO(3) subgroup.

1.2.2 Black hole thermodynamics

All we have said so far about black holes holds in the world of General Relativity. It is also in this framework where the results we are going to review now, known as the *laws of black hole mechanics*, are found. Remarkably, these laws strikingly resemble the laws of thermodynamics. When the machinery of quantum fields in curved spaces is introduced to analyze this issue, one finds that this apparently accidental analogy is not just that. Black holes turn out to be thermodynamic objects whose macroscopic thermodynamic information is encoded in their geometric stucture in a very nice way. Let us go by parts.

Bardeen, Carter and Hawking [27] showed that in case Einstein's equation is satisfied for some stress-energy tensor satisfying the *dominant energy condition* (which requires that all physical observers measure a speed of energy flow less than or equal to the speed of light), then κ must be constant on any Killing horizon. This result is usually known as the zeroth law of black hole mechanics, in an analogy with thermodynamics' zeroth law, which establishes that the temperature along a system in thermal equilibrium is constant.

The first law of black hole mechanics [27] is an identity which relates the variations of mass M (in analogy with energy E in the thermodynamic case), area of the horizon A (in analogy with the entropy S as we will see in a moment), angular momentum J, electric charge Q, and other magnitudes when a black hole is perturbed. At first order, this variations turn out to satisfy

$$\delta M = \frac{1}{8\pi} \kappa \delta A + \Omega \delta J + \Phi \delta Q + \dots, \qquad (1.59)$$

where Ω is the angular velocity, and Φ the electrostatic potential.

If Einstein's equation is satisfied for a matter content satisfying the null energy condition (which states that for every future-pointing null vector field V^{μ} , the stress tensor satisfies: $T_{\mu\nu}V^{\mu}V^{\nu} \geq 0$) and the black hole is *strongly future asymptotically predictable*, *i.e.*, if there exists a globally hyperbolic region (such that it contains a *Cauchy surface*, *i.e.*, one which is crossed by every inextensible null and time-like curve once, and only once) containing $I^{-}(\mathcal{I}^{+}) \cup \mathcal{H}$ (where \mathcal{H} is the horizon of a black hole in that spacetime), it can be shown that the expansion θ (which measures how much geodesics infinitesimally close to each other in a congruence expand in average) satisfies $\theta \geq 0$ in all points of \mathcal{H} . As a consequence, the area of the event horizon A corresponding to a black hole contained in a spacetime of this kind can never decrease with time, as discovered by Hawking [233].

$$\delta A \ge 0. \tag{1.60}$$

This is the *second law of black hole mechanics*, in analogy with the second law of thermodynamics, which establishes that the entropy of an isolated system cannot decrease.

The mathematical analogy between these and the laws of thermodynamics is broken with the Planck-Nernst form of the third law of thermodynamcis, which establishes that $S \to 0$ as $T \to 0$. Indeed, there are *extremal* black holes (*i.e.*, those with $\kappa = 0$) with finite area. In any case, the analogy seems to hold in the formulation according to which it is not possible for a thermodynamic system (black hole) to reach $T \to 0$ ($\kappa \to 0$) by means of a finite number of physical processes.

In spite of the suggesting analogy we have established between the laws satisfied by magnitudes characterizing black holes, and thermodynamics, the strict interpretation of M, A or κ as thermodynamic quantities does not make sense in GR. Although identifying the mass of the black hole M with the energy looks fine, the temperature of a black hole in GR is strictly zero, since it does not radiate anything. This of course difficults the identification of T and κ . As a consequence, identifying the conjugate variable of T, S with the area of the black hole looks also dubious.

Interestingly enough, when quantum effects are taken into account, the situation turns out to change dramatically. Indeed, as discovered by Hawking in 1974 [234], black holes emit radiation as perfect black bodies at a temperature

$$T = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} \,. \tag{1.61}$$

Thus, surface gravity is after all related to the physical temperature of the black hole. This is also supporting evindence for the proportionality between the area of the black hole and its physical entropy. Using the first law of black hole mechanics and (1.61) one can fix the proportionality constant to be 1/4, so $S_{\rm bh} = \frac{A}{4G}$.

Actually, some time before Hawking discovered the relationship between surface gravity and temperature, Bekenstein [39, 40] had already proposed a generalization of the second law of thermodynamics for systems including a black hole as a subsystem. The motivation for this arised, in addition to the formal analogies between black holes mechanics and thermodynamics, from the fact that the absortion of matter by a black hole would produce a decrease in the total entropy of the Universe. In order to overcome this problem, Bekenstein had proposed that black holes actually have an entropy proportional to its area, so the second law of thermodynamics would read now $\delta S' \geq 0$, where $S' \equiv$ $S + S_{\rm bh}$, with $S_{\rm bh}$ the entropy of the black hole, and S that of the rest of the Universe.

In summary, the laws of black hole mechanics can be regarded as particular cases of the laws of thermodynamics applied to systems which contain black holes. Now, just like the laws of statistical physics underlie the laws of thermodynamics, it is reasonable to expect that black hole mechanics is determined by the dynamics of certain microscopic degrees of freedom. In the context of string theory, the counting of microstates can be achieved for certain families of extremal and near-extremal black holes [34, 54, 80, 81, 239, 312, 403] as observed by Strominger and Vafa for the first time in [403] (see more at the end of section (3.4)).

1.2.3 Black holes and supersymmetry

In a SUGRA theory¹⁹, a configuration of fields is said to be supersymmetric or BPS (from Bogomol'ny-Prasad-Sommefield) if it preserves some supersymmetry, *i.e.*, if (see the previous section for notation) [354]

$$\delta_{\epsilon}B \sim \bar{\epsilon}F = 0, \qquad (1.62)$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon}F \sim \partial\epsilon + B\epsilon = 0, \qquad (1.63)$$

for at least one spinor ϵ . For purely bosonic configurations, the first equation is trivially satisfied, while the second is known as *Killing spinor equation* (KSE) and ϵ is a Killing spinor if there exists a solution for the corresponding equation. If a given configuration is invariant under the maximum number of independent Killing spinors, it is said to be *maximally supersymmetric*.

It is possible to couple a Rarita-Schwinger spin 3/2 field Ψ_{μ} to gravity [183, 353]. The resulting theory is pure $\mathcal{N} = 1$, d = 4 SUGRA. If we now truncate the gravitino, the bosonic solutions of the original theory (vacuum GR) will still be solutions of the SUGRA theory. In particular, Schwarzschild's metric

$$\mathbf{g} = \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r}\right) dt \otimes dt - \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r}\right)^{-1} dr \otimes dr - r^2 \mathbf{h}_{S^2}, \qquad (1.64)$$

$$\mathbf{h}_{S^2} = d\theta \otimes d\theta + \sin^2 \theta d\phi \otimes d\phi \,, \tag{1.65}$$

which is the unique static and spherically symmetric solution of the vacuum Einstein equation (Birkhoff's theorem) will also be a solution of $\mathcal{N} = 1$, d = 4 SUGRA. However, it is not supersymmetric, because the corresponding KSE

$$\delta_{\epsilon} \Psi_{\mu}|_{\text{Schw.}} = 0 \tag{1.66}$$

has no solutions. On the other hand, Minkowski spacetime is maximally supersymmetric, as it preserves *four supersymmetries*, corresponding to the components of a 4D Majorana spinor. Obviously, in the asymptotic region $r \to \infty$, the supersymmetries are recovered for Schwarzschild's solution, a characteristic which will be common to all asymptotically flat solutions.

Let us consider now the *Reissner-Nordström* (RN) solution, which is the only asymptotically flat, static and spherically symmetric solution of the Einstein-Maxwell system

$$\mathbf{g} = \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r} + \frac{q^2}{r^2}\right) dt \otimes dt - \left(1 - \frac{2M}{r} + \frac{q^2}{r^2}\right)^{-1} dr \otimes dr - r^2 \mathbf{h}_{S^2}, \qquad (1.67)$$

where q is the electric charge of the solution. In this case, the solution has two horizons at $r_{\pm} = M \pm \sqrt{M^2 - q^2}$: the inner horizon r_- , which is a *Cauchy horizon*, and the event horizon r_+ .

According to the *cosmic censorship hypothesis*, it is not possible that a *naked sin*gularity (*i.e.*, one which is not hidden behing an event horizon) is produced dynamically by means of any physical process with a physically reasonable matter content (such that

¹⁹A nice introduction to the relation between black holes and supersymmetry in SUGRA theories can be found in [47].

it satisfies certain energy conditions). In the case of the RN black hole, the condition $M^2 \ge q^2$ must be fulfilled in order to avoid the absence of event horizon. This relation is remarkably similar to the *BPS bound* relative to the stability of solitons in gauge theories [373]. When the bound is saturated, $M^2 = q^2$, both horizons coincide, and the black hole becomes extremal, because

$$T = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi} = \frac{r_+ - r_-}{4\pi r_+^2} = \frac{\sqrt{M^2 - q^2}}{2\pi^2 r_+^2} = 0.$$
(1.68)

From the point of view of SUSY, what happens is the following. The Einstein-Maxwell theory can be consistently embedded in pure $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA by introducing two gravitini Ψ^L_{μ} , L = 1, 2 (and nothing else). For generic values of M and q, RN's black hole does not preserve any of the 8 supercharges. However, the saturation of the bound $M^2 = q^2$ makes the KSE

$$\delta_{\epsilon} \Psi_{\mu}|_{\text{RN extr.}} = 0 \tag{1.69}$$

have four independent solutions, making a $\frac{1}{2}$ -BPS solution of it. In addition, the solution can be interpreted as a soliton, as it interpolates between two maximally supersymmetric vacua of the theory, namely: the near horizon solution $AdS_2 \times S^2$, and the asymptotic solution, Minkowski.

An interesting property of an extremal solution is that its entropy depends only on the quantized electric and magnetic charges of the solution, which is a key feature that allows for a comparison between the macroscopic (Bekenstein-Hawking) and the microscopic (string theory) entropy. In addition, in supersymmetric black holes all the information relative to the asymptotic values of the fields is lost in the horizon. In that case, if we understand the trip between spatial infinity and the horizon as a flow, the scalars lose all memory about the *initial configuration* and are *attracted* by certain configurations known as *attractors*. In non-supersymmetric extremal cases, the system also contains fixed points at the horizon, but these depend in general on the asymptotic values of the scalars. All these properties are a direct consequence of the so-called attractor mechanism [46, 48, 127, 173–177, 210, 384, 414] for extremal black holes, which establishes that the scalars of any extremal black-hole solution of a broad class of theories flow from arbitrary values at spatial infinity to others completely fixed in the horizon, and which in the supersymmetric cases are determined uniquely by the quantized charges of the black hole. This mechanism is rather general, and turns out to work for any theory whose action can be described by (1.14), particularly in SUGRA theories.

It can be seen that the most general form of a static and spherically symmetric black hole for an action of the form (1.14) is given by [173]

$$\mathbf{g} = e^{2U(\tau)}dt \otimes dt - e^{-2U(\tau)}\gamma_{\underline{mn}}dx^{\underline{m}} \otimes dx^{\underline{n}},$$

$$\gamma_{\underline{mn}}dx^{\underline{m}} \otimes dx^{\underline{n}} = \frac{r_0^2}{\sinh^2 r_0 \tau} \left[\frac{r_0^2}{\sinh^2 r_0 \tau}d\tau \otimes d\tau + h_{S^2}\right],$$
(1.70)

where τ is a (inverse) radial coordinate and r_0 is the *non-extremality parameter*, which vanishes for extremal configurations. In such a case, the outer horizon is covered by $\tau \in (-\infty, 0)$, with the horizon at $\tau \to -\infty$ and spatial infinity at $\tau \to 0^-$. The inner Cauchy horizon is covered by (τ_S, ∞) , with the horizon at $\tau \to \infty$, and the singularity at some positive and finite τ_S [190]. Under the assumption that the spacetime is static and spherically symmetric, all the fields of a theory given by an action of the form (1.14) depend only on τ . Maxwell equations can be explicitly integrated, so the vector fields can be obtained as functions of the radial coordinate and the electric q_{Λ} and magnetic charges of the solution p^{Λ} . Solving the equations of motion of the theory turns out to be equivalent to solving the one-dimensional equations of motion for $U(\tau)$ and $Z^{i}(\tau)$ corresponding to the so-called *FGK* effective action [173]

$$I_{\rm FGK}[U, z^{i}] = \int d\tau \left\{ (\dot{U})^{2} + \mathcal{G}_{i\bar{j}} \dot{Z}^{i} \dot{\bar{Z}}^{\bar{j}} - e^{2U} V_{\rm bh}(Z, \bar{Z}, \mathcal{Q}) \right\} , \qquad (1.71)$$

together with the Hamiltonian constraint

$$(\dot{U})^2 + \mathcal{G}_{i\bar{j}}\dot{Z}^i\dot{\bar{Z}}^{\bar{j}} + e^{2U}V_{\rm bh}(Z,\bar{Z},\mathcal{Q}) = r_0^2, \qquad (1.72)$$

where $V_{\rm bh}(Z, \overline{Z}, \mathcal{Q})$ is the so-called *black hole potential*, which is defined as

$$V_{\rm bh}(Z,\bar{Z},\mathcal{Q}) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{M}_{MN}(\mathcal{N}) \mathcal{Q}^M \mathcal{Q}^N, \qquad (1.73)$$

 \mathcal{Q}^M being the symplectic $(2n_V + 2)$ -dimensional vector of charges

$$\left(\mathcal{Q}^{M}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c}p^{\Lambda}\\q_{\Lambda}\end{array}\right),\qquad(1.74)$$

and $\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\mathcal{N})$ is a symplectic and symmetric matrix defined in terms of $I \equiv \mathfrak{M}(\mathcal{N})$ and $R \equiv \mathfrak{Re}(\mathcal{N})$ as

$$\left(\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\mathcal{N})\right) \equiv \left(\begin{array}{cc} I + RI^{-1}R & -RI^{-1} \\ & & \\ -I^{-1}R & I^{-1} \end{array}\right) \,. \tag{1.75}$$

Thus, this dimensional reduction allows to simplify the problem of finding black-hole solution of this kind to a mechanical problem for the $(2n_V + 1)$ variables corresponding to the complex scalars Z^i and the metric factor U.

Let us now see how the attractor mechanism works in this formalism. In the extremal limit, $r_0 \rightarrow 0$, (1.70) is given by

$$\mathbf{g} = e^{2U(\tau)} dt \otimes dt - e^{-2U(\tau)} [\delta_{ab} dx^a \otimes dx^b], \qquad (1.76)$$

where x^a (a = 1, 2, 3) are Euclidean coordinates. It can be seen that in this situation,

$$\lim_{\tau \to -\infty} e^{-2U} = \frac{A}{4\pi} \lim_{\tau \to -\infty} \tau^2, \quad \lim_{\tau \to -\infty} \tau \frac{d\phi^i}{d\tau} = 0, i = 1, ..., n_v,$$
(1.77)

where A is the area of the horizon. Using this equation and assuming that the scalars do not diverge at the horizon, it is easy to show from the 1-dimensional equation of motion corresponding to these fields that [386]

$$\lim_{\tau \to -\infty} \phi^i = \phi_h^i \,, \quad \mathcal{G}^{ij}(\phi_h) \partial_j V_{\rm bh}(\phi_h) = 0 \,, \tag{1.78}$$

thus, assuming the metric of the scalar manifold not to be degenerate, it follows that

$$\partial_j V_{\rm bh}(\phi_h) = 0, \qquad (1.79)$$

i.e., the possible values of the scalars at the horizon correspond to critical points of the black-hole potential. If $V_{\rm bh}$ has no flat directions (something untrue in general), then (1.79) is a compatible system of n_v independent equations, the value of all the scalars gets fixed in the horizon in terms of the black hole charges. Similarly, in the extremal case (supersymmetric or not), it can be seen [386] that the entropy of the solution is given by

$$S = \pi V_{\rm bh}(\phi_h(\mathcal{Q})) = 0. \qquad (1.80)$$

And not only that: regardless of whether the scalars at the horizon depend on their asymptotic values (if $V_{\rm bh}$ has flat directions) or not, the entropy of any extremal solution depends only on the quantized charges of the solution, without any dependence on these asymptotic moduli. An additional property of extremal black holes entropy is the fact that it turns out to equal the square-root of the products of the entropies of the inner and outer horizons, so this product remains moduli-independent for non-extremal solutions (see *e.g.*, [211] for details). Examples of all these properties can be found in chapters 2, 3 and 5.

We mentioned before that Schwarzschild's is the only static and spherically-symmetric solution of Einstein's equation in the vacuum. Similar uniqueness theorems exist for less symmetric spacetimes, such as Kerr-Newmann [318] as the only stationary, axisymmetric and electrovacuum solution, and possible extensions to systems with more fields have been studied intensively [38, 41, 143]. In the context of SUGRA theories, there is a common belief that given a black-hole solution with some degree of symmetry and all the charges and fields active, that must be the unique solution of the kind. In chapter 4 we show how this is not the case in general for $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA theories, by constructing a static and spherically symmetric black-hole solution (to a rather exotic, but otherwise well- and uniquely-defined model) whose physical fields depend on a function which is bivalued in the real numbers, something that allows one to choose one of the two branches (which are not symmetric in any sense) to construct two different solutions which share the same physical charges as well as asymptotic values of the scalar fields (as we will see, our construction seems to entail certain stability issues though).

1.2.4 The H-FGK formalism

In Refs. [324,331] it was shown that the problem of finding static, single-center, sphericallysymmetric black-hole solutions of any ungauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA theory coupled to n_v vector multiplets can be reduced to that of finding solutions to the effective action for the $2(n_v + 1)$ real variables $H^M(\tau)$

$$-I_{\text{H-FGK}}[H] = \int d\tau \left\{ \frac{1}{2} g_{MN} \dot{H}^M \dot{H}^N - V \right\} , \qquad (1.81)$$

subject to the Hamiltonian constraint

$$\frac{1}{2}g_{MN}\dot{H}^M\dot{H}^N + V + r_0^2 = 0, \qquad (1.82)$$

where r_0 is again the non-extremality parameter. The H-FGK action plus Hamiltonian constraint are equivalent to the FGK formulation (see the previous section), although now we have an extra variable which introduces a gauge freedom in the system [189]. The equations of motion that follow from the above action read [189,331]

$$g_{MN}\ddot{H}^N + (\partial_N g_{PM} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_M g_{NP})\dot{H}^N\dot{H}^P + \partial_M V = 0.$$
(1.83)

The metric $g_{MN}(H)$ and the potential V(H) of the H-FGK effective action are given in terms of the so-called *Hesse potential* W(H) by

$$g_{MN}(H) \equiv \partial_M \partial_N \log W - 2 \frac{H_M H_N}{W^2},$$
 (1.84)

$$V(H) \equiv \left\{ -\frac{1}{4} \partial_M \partial_N \log \mathsf{W} + \frac{H_M H_N}{\mathsf{W}^2} \right\} \mathcal{Q}^M \mathcal{Q}^N, \qquad (1.85)$$

where $\mathcal{Q}^M = (p^{\Lambda}, q_{\Lambda})^T$ is the symplectic vector of magnetic and electric charges. The Hesse potential contains all the information needed to characterize the $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SUGRA theory under consideration, and defines it (at least in this context) just like the canonically-normalized covariantly-holomorphic symplectic section \mathcal{V}^M does. The blackhole potential is related to the potential V appearing in the H-FGK action by

$$V_{\rm bh} = -\mathsf{W} \ V \,, \tag{1.86}$$

as a function of the variables H^M , and it is always extremized by the near-horizon value $B^M = \beta Q^M$ for any proportionality constant β .

W can be derived from \mathcal{V}^M as follows:

1. Introduce an auxiliary complex variable X with the same Kähler weight as \mathcal{V}^M . Then we can define the two Kähler-neutral real symplectic vectors \mathcal{R}^M and \mathcal{I}^M

$$\mathcal{V}^M / X \equiv \mathcal{R}^M + i\mathcal{I}^M \,. \tag{1.87}$$

The components of \mathcal{R}^M can be expressed in terms of those of \mathcal{I}^M by solving the stabilization equations a.k.a. Freudenthal duality equations [191]. The functions $\mathcal{R}^M(\mathcal{I})$ are characteristic of each theory, but they are always homogeneous of first degree in the \mathcal{I}^M .

It can be shown that

$$X = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{U + i\alpha}, \qquad (1.88)$$

where e^U is the metric function (see (1.70)) and α is an arbitrary τ -dependent phase which does not enter in the Lagrangian: different choices of α give different definitions of the variables H^M which, nevertheless, describe the same physical variables. This freedom gives rise to a local symmetry of the H-FGK action, known as *local Freudenthal duality* [189].

2. Given those functions, the Hesse potential $W(\mathcal{I})$ is just

$$W(\mathcal{I}) \equiv \mathcal{R}_M(\mathcal{I})\mathcal{I}^M, \qquad (1.89)$$

so it is, by construction, homogeneous of second degree in \mathcal{I}^M .

It is customary to relabel these variables

$$H^{M} \equiv \mathcal{I}^{M}, \qquad \tilde{H}^{M} \equiv \mathcal{R}^{M}, \longrightarrow \begin{cases} \mathcal{V}^{M}/X = \tilde{H}^{M} + iH^{M} \equiv \mathcal{H}^{M}. \\ W(H) = \tilde{H}_{M}(H)H^{M}. \end{cases}$$
(1.90)

The physical fields of the solution can be obtained from the H variables as

$$Z^{i} = \frac{\mathcal{V}^{i}/X}{\mathcal{V}^{0}/X} = \frac{H^{i}(H) + iH^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}(H) + iH^{0}}, \qquad e^{-2U} = \frac{1}{2|X|^{2}} = \tilde{H}_{M}(H)H^{M}.$$
(1.91)

The main advantages of this formalism can be enumerated as follows (for more details see chapter 2)

• The H variables transform linearly under the electric-magnetic duality group G of the theory:

$$H^{M'} = S^{M}{}_{N}H^{N}, \qquad (S^{M}{}_{N}) \in \mathcal{G} \subset Sp(2n_{v} + 2; \mathbb{R}), \qquad (1.92)$$

which implies that any solution must be of the form

$$H^M(\tau) = c^{\sigma}(\tau) \ U^M_{\sigma}, \qquad (1.93)$$

where the functions $c^{\sigma}(\tau)$ are duality invariant; the symplectic vectors U_{σ}^{M} are constant vectors that may depend on the physical parameters of the theory (mass M, electric and magnetic charges \mathcal{Q}^{M} and asymptotic values of the scalars Z_{∞}^{i}) and must be *equivariant* w.r.t. the duality group, i.e.

$$U^{M}_{\sigma}(M, Z'_{\infty}, Z^{*\prime}_{\infty}, \mathcal{Q}') = S^{M}{}_{N}U^{N}_{\sigma}(M, Z_{\infty}, Z^{*}_{\infty}, \mathcal{Q}), \qquad (1.94)$$

with

$$Z^{i\prime} \equiv F^i_S(Z) \,, \qquad \mathcal{Q}^{M\prime} = S^M{}_N \mathcal{Q}^N \,, \tag{1.95}$$

where $F_S^i(Z)$ is the non-linear realization of the duality transformation $S^M{}_N$ on the complex scalars. In the cases in which the number of equivariant vectors of the model is smaller than the number of H^M s, we will automatically be left with a small number of invariant functions to be determined. The identification of equivariant vectors U^M_{σ} in a given model allows to produce Ansätze of the form (1.93), which can be used to solve the H-FGK equations of motion and obtain the $c^{\sigma}(\tau)$, which would completely determine a solution to the full SUGRA equations of motion.

• Contracting (1.83) with H^M and using the homogeneity properties of the different terms and the Hamiltonian constraint Eq. (1.82) one finds

$$\tilde{H}_M \left(\ddot{H}^M - r_0^2 H^M \right) + \frac{(\dot{H}^M H_M)^2}{\mathsf{W}} = 0.$$
(1.96)

This allows to classify all SUGRA solutions of a given model in two categories: conventional, and non-conventional. In the extremal case $(r_0 = 0)$, conventional solutions (all supersymmetric solutions belong to this class) correspond to variables $H^M(\tau)$ that are harmonic functions, *i.e.*, they satisfy $\ddot{H}^M = 0$. The above equation implies that they also satisfy the constraint ²⁰

$$\dot{H}^M H_M = 0,$$
 (1.97)

 $^{^{20}}$ In the supersymmetric case this implies the absence of NUT charge [42].

the converse being untrue in general: the above constraint can be satisfied for blackhole solutions which are not given by harmonic H^M s and that we will call *unconventional*. In the non-extremal cases, conventional solutions are those satisfying

$$\ddot{H}^M = r_0^2 H^M \,, \tag{1.98}$$

which correspond to hyperbolic functions reducing to the appropriate harmonic ones in the extremal limit. Actually, it can be shown that one can impose (1.97) without loss of generality (it can be understood as a convenient gauge-fixing condition) [189], although that does not necessarily mean that (1.98) is implied by (1.96) (actually in (1.96) one has only one equation, whereas in (1.98) there are $2(n_v + 1)$ of them).

• It works: the H-FGK formalism has been indeed used to construct new extremal and non-extremal solutions of different SUGRA theories [89, 90, 95, 96, 188, 191]. In fact, the solutions presented in chapters 3 and 4 would have been extremely difficult to obtain, if not impossible, without the H-FGK formalism.

1.3 Holography

In this section²¹ we enter into the holographic world. After a more than brief introduction to the AdS/CFT correspondence, we review the rôle played by higher-order gravities in the holographic avatar, introduce the concept of entanglement entropy and its importance in holography, and review some general properties of Lifshitz geometries with hyperscaling violation (hvLf).

1.3.1 The AdS/CFT correspondence

In [311], Maldacena proposed his celebrated AdS/CFT correspondence. According to it, Type-IIB ST on $AdS_5 \times S^5$ is physically equivalent to $\mathcal{N} = 4$, d = 4 Super-Yang-Mills with gauge group SU(N). Although the conjecture has not been *proven*, the overwhelming evidence accumulated so far strongly supports it. This is especially so in the large-N (where N is the dimension of the SU(N) matrices) limit, in which the field theory becomes infinitely strongly coupled while the ST side reduces to classical 5-dimensional SO(6) gauged SUGRA.

Grosso modo, in the large-N limit of the correspondence asymptotically AdS_5 geometries correspond to states in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$, d = 4 SYM theory living in the asymptotic boundary of those (*e.g.*, the vacuum state corresponds to pure AdS_5 , whereas a thermal state is given by an asymptotically AdS_5 black hole), with the nice feature that the extra (spatial) dimension encodes the renormalization group flow of the field theory.

As anticipated before, the AdS/CFT correspondence [219, 311, 423] is the first realization of the holographic principle [404, 409]. This is nothing but the observation that, in gravity theories, the entropy contained in a certain volume cannot exceed the entropy of a black hole fitting inside such a volume (you could always create a black hole by throwing more matter into the volume, which would increase the entropy) and, as already commented, the entropy of the black hole is proportional to its horizon area. This seems to suggest that the degrees of freedom of any (d + 1)-dimensional gravity theory can be described in terms of certain degrees of freedom living in some d-dimensional surface. The reasoning is expected to hold for general gravity theories, something that, after Maldacena's discovery, motivates the broader name gauge/gravity duality (or holography), which makes reference to several more or less robustly established correspondences in the spirit of Maldacena's, between several gravity and gauge theories in various dimensions.

A particularly nice property of the gauge/gravity duality is the fact that it allows to study the strongly coupled regime of (certain) QFTs, which is inaccessible with the standard field theory techniques, using the tools of Riemannian geometry and GR. This approach has been used, for example, to study aspects of less symmetric field theories, whose dual is given by gravity theories living in non-maximally symmetric spacetimes. From the opposite perspective, the duality provides an unrivalled framework for studying the emergent quantum nature of spacetime and gravity.

²¹Please note that by the symbol d we are meaning different things depending on the chapter/section. In the previous sections, d stood for the number of spacetime dimensions. This is the notation used so far, and the one we use in chapters 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6. However, in this section as well as in chapter 9, d will stand for the number of spacetime dimensions of the dual QFT (so d + 1 is the spacetime dimensions of the gravity theory). Finally, in chapters 7 and 8, d will stand for the number of spatial dimensions of the dual QFT (so d + 2 is the spacetime dimension of the gravity theory).

In spite of the colossal effort and the tremendous success made so far in these directions, there are still multiple formidable challenges for holography. On the one hand, one would like to extend this duality to *realistic* QFTs, such as QCD, in which a first-principles description of the phenomena observed at the strongly coupled regime is lacking (how great would it be to explain *confinement* holographically? [424]). On the other, the holographic principle should work for gravity theories in general backgrounds and not only for AdS spacetimes. However, constructing asymptotically flat or de Sitter versions of the correspondence has proven to be strikingly difficult (the fact that the AdS case is simpler is intimately related to the fact that the near horizon limit of supersymmetric black objects, which play an special rôle in ST due to the privileges this symmetry confers on them within the theory, generically contains an AdS factor). In addition, our knowledge of the AdS/CFT correspondence is fairly limited if we slightly move away from the large-N limit, not to mention if we try to consider the full Type-IIB string theory.

1.3.2 Holography and higher-order gravities

A particular issue with holography we have already mentioned arises when we try to move from the large-N limit in the dual CFT. In that situation, α' corrections appear in the effective SUGRA equations of motion in the form of higher-order terms in the Riemann tensor (and the rest of fields). For example, the first stringy corrections to the 10-dimensional Type-IIB action [56]²² appear at third order in α'

$$I_{\rm IIB} = I_{\rm IIB}^{(0)} + \alpha'^3 I_{\rm IIB}^{(1)} + \dots$$
 (1.99)

where $I_{\text{IIB}}^{(0)}$ stands for the classical Type-IIB SUGRA action, and the dots refer to higherorder corrections. For gravity solutions of the form $\mathcal{A}_5 \times S^5$, where \mathcal{A}_5 is an Einstein manifold of negative curvature, the 10-dimensional gravity sector of the theory at this order is equivalent to the following 5-dimensional action [86]

$$I = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^5 x \sqrt{-g} \left[R + \frac{12}{L^2} + \frac{\zeta(3){\alpha'}^3}{8} W \right], \qquad (1.100)$$

where L is some length parameter which coincides with the AdS radius in the absence of the cubic term, and

$$W \equiv \left[C^{\rho\mu\nu\kappa} C_{\phi\mu\nu\eta} + \frac{1}{2} C^{\rho\kappa\mu\nu} C_{\phi\eta\mu\nu} \right] C_{\rho} {}^{\iota\psi\phi} C^{\eta} {}_{\iota\psi\kappa} , \qquad (1.101)$$

where

$$C_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \equiv R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} - \frac{2}{3} \left[g_{\mu[\rho} R_{\sigma]\nu} - g_{\nu[\rho} R_{\sigma]\mu} \right] + \frac{1}{6} R g_{\mu[\rho} g_{\sigma]\nu}$$
(1.102)

is the five-dimensional Weyl tensor.

As we can see, in this case the first correction to the Einstein-Hilbert action appears at fourth order in curvature. However, in generic situations in arbitrary dimensions one expects corrections already at second order (which would mean $\mathcal{O}(\alpha')$), *i.e.*, something

²²Strictly speaking, Type-IIB SUGRA has no action, because of the self-duality condition of the Ramond-Ramond 4-form field strength, but you know what I mean.

like

$$I = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^{(d+1)} x \sqrt{-g} \left[R + \frac{d(d-1)}{L^2} + L^2 \left\{ \alpha_1 R^2 + \alpha_2 R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + \alpha_3 R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \right\} + \dots \right]$$
(1.103)

where the α_i would be dimensionless constants, and the dots stand for higher-order terms.

The interest in considering higher-order corrections to the SUGRA action in the context of holography is not restricted to the obvious fact that it allows us to probe the CFT in a regime which is not infinitely strongly coupled. In some sense, the situation is similar to that found (for instance) when studying the Hydrogen atom energy states: when relativistic corrections are considered, several accidental degeneracies are broken, and the structure proves to be much richer than that suggested by the non-relativistic calculation. A neat example of this analogy was found in [84], where the authors showed that considering higher-order terms in the holographic game allowed for a violation of the previously [288] presumed universal bound for the ratio of shear viscosity to volume entropy density $(\eta/s = 1/4\pi)$ in natural units) obtained for AdS black hole horizons. In that case, the degeneracy is broken in the sense that the new higher-order terms produce corrections of the form $\eta/s = 1/4\pi (1 + c\alpha + ...)$, where α stands for a generic dimensionless higherorder coupling, and c is some constant, so depending on the theory, the value of the ratio will be larger or smaller than the previously claimed universal lower bound. In a similar fashion, including higher-order terms allows to study hidden connections between apparenty unrelated observables. Consider for example the thermal entropy density of an AdS black hole and the two-point function of the holographic stress tensor. In general, the first scales with the temperature through an expression of the form²³ $s \sim T^{(d-1)}$ (here d+1 is the number of dimensions of the bulk theory), whereas the second looks something like [169, 356] $\langle T_{ab}(x)T_{cd}(0)\rangle \sim \mathcal{I}_{ab,cd(x)}/x^{2d}$, where $\mathcal{I}_{ab,cd(x)}$ is some tensor irrelevant for our discussion here. The point is now the following: if we compute these quantities in gravity theories which do not include higher-order terms, the constants in front of these two expressions are certain dimensionless numbers which have nothing to do with each other (in particular, the second one turns out to equal the central charge of the dual CFT when d = 4 [85]). However, if we include a generic higher-order term with coupling constant α , the expressions will be modified to something like $s \sim (1 + c_1 \alpha) T^{(d-1)}$,

$$\langle T_{ab}(x)T_{cd}(0)\rangle \sim (1+c_2\alpha)\mathcal{I}_{ab,cd(x)}/x^{2d},$$
 (1.104)

so a structure of the same kind appears in both relations, which makes one wonder, for example, in which cases might $c_1 = c_2$? What would that tell us about the relation between these observables? Is there a finite number of constants c_i characterizing a higherorder theory which appear repeatedly as we compute different observables? And so on. This is the kind of questions we address in chapter 9. As a remarkable result, we will find that two well-defined and unambiguous charges κ and σ , which can be obtained from the holographic entanglement entropy corresponding to an entangling region with a geometric singularity in a CFT₃ (see below), turn out to be such that the ratios κ/C_T and σ/C_T (where C_T is the proportionality constant in the stress tensor two-point function, so $\langle T_{ab}(x)T_{cd}(0) \rangle = C_T \mathcal{I}_{ab,cd(x)}/x^{2d}$ in general) does not change when we introduce different higher-order terms. This leads us to wonder whether such ratios, which read

$$\frac{\kappa}{C_T} = \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \pi^2}{6}, \qquad (1.105)$$

 $^{^{23}}$ We will see that this behaviour is changed for geometries with hyperscaling violation.
$$\frac{\sigma}{C_T} = \frac{\pi^2}{24} \,, \tag{1.106}$$

are universal. By comparing these results with the free field results which we can compute using certain computations available in the literature, we find that κ/C_T is not universal for general theories. However, very remarkably, we find that σ/C_T is equal to the holographic result both for a free scalar and a free fermion, which suggests that this ratio is indeed a universal number which might well be the same for general conformal field theories. On the one hand, this universality strongly supports the validity of the holographic prescriptions for the computation of HEE. On the other, it explains why the results for σ corresponding to the fermion and the scalar are equal (up to a factor 2), a phenomenom which had been found (only within some accuracy range) withouth explanation in [119]. Finally, we use the universality of this ratio to improve the available free field results for σ . In particular, holography remarkably allows us to compute σ_{scalar} and σ_{fermion} exactly.

A final comment about higher-order gravities (applying not only in the context of holography) is the fact that they are usually not well behaved quantum mechanically, as they suffer from certain pathologies such as ghosts. In particular, in higher-order gravities the metric contains new degrees of freedom, something related to the fact that the linearized equations of motion are no longer of second order. In order to study their behaviour, one can consider an analogy [341] consisting of a massless scalar field whose equation of motion has been corrected with a fourth-order term, just like the equation of motion for a graviton would be in a curvature-squared gravity

$$\left(\Box + \frac{\lambda}{M^2} \Box^2\right) \phi = 0, \qquad (1.107)$$

 $M^2 \sim 1/L^2$ being some high energy scale. Then, the propagator for the field will read

$$\frac{1}{q^2 \left(1 - \lambda q^2 / M^2\right)} = \frac{1}{q^2} - \frac{1}{q^2 - M^2 / \lambda} \,. \tag{1.108}$$

Thus, the $q^2 = 0$ pole will be the usual massless mode, whereas that with $q^2 = M^2/\lambda$ will be related to new massive states. However, independently of the sign of λ , these extra degrees of freedom will contribute negatively to the propagator, so they are ghosts. Fortunately, not all higher-order gravities present this behaviour, and even if they do, the masses of these modes will generically be at the Planck scale, where the low energy field theory description is not valid anymore, making their physical interpretation obscure.

We will talk again about higher-derivative gravities in the next subsection, which is devoted to the subject of holographic entanglement entropy.

1.3.3 Holographic entanglement entropy

There are many observables one can wish to compute in a QFT (specially in the perturbative regime), such as correlation functions of local operators. Non-local quantities are also important, and usually encode valuable physical information. An example of such quantities is entanglement entropy (EE). For a particular QFT and a spatial region A, the EE between de degrees of freedom in A and those in the complement \overline{A} is defined as: $S = -\text{Tr} [\rho_A \log \rho_A]$, where ρ_A is the reduced density matrix obtained by integrating out the degrees of freedom in \overline{A} . Entanglement entropy has become an ubiquitous tool in fields as diverse as condensed matter [8,218,292,364], quantum information [345,425], string theory and quantum gravity [68,73,101,236,295,310,336,347,378,379,400,415], and QFTs [100,117,119,123,275,276,388].

As its name suggests, EE is a measure of the degree of entanglement between the degrees of freedoms living at A and \overline{A} , and has some nice properties which make it so popular. To begin with, it is computable for certain QFTs, which is already a non-trivial point. Also, as opposed to thermal entropy, EE is non-vanishing at zero temperature, so it can be used to probe the quantum properties of the ground state for a given quantum system. In addition, for two-dimensional CFTs it is proportional to the central charge [238], with similar relations occuring for higher-dimensional CFTs as well [85] (so it allows for a rough estimation of the number of degrees of freedom of the theory). In addition, it captures valuable information on renormalization group flows. In particular, it is possible to construct c-functions in various dimensions using EE [341]. Also, in holography, it seems to be a key observable to consider when trying to understand the emergent nature of spacetime or the physics of black holes (see, *e.g.*, [25, 68, 310, 348]).

The ultraviolet (UV) behaviour of EE for arbitrary (d + 1)-dimensional QFTs is expected to be [119]:

$$S = \frac{k_{d-1}}{\delta^{d-1}} + \dots + \frac{k_1}{\delta} + \gamma \log \frac{l}{\delta} + S_0, \qquad (1.109)$$

 δ being a short distance cutoff, S_0 , γ and k_{d-i} constants, and l a characteristic length of A. The coefficient in front of the leading term is proportional to the *area* of the boundary of $A(k_{d-1} \sim l^{d-1})$, a behaviour which is argued to be caused by the entanglement between degrees of freedom living at both sides of ∂A , and which is often referred to as the *area* law [73,400] of EE. Another interesting term is the one proportional to $\log l/\delta$: while the constants k_{d-i} are unphysical, since they are not related to well-defined quantities in the continum²⁴, the coefficient γ is expected to be independent of the regularization procedure. When d is even, γ is generically non-vanishing, whereas for odd-d QFTs the logarithmic divergence disappears, and S_0 is the universal term, unless the entangling region A contains a geometric singularity. Thus, when the boundary of the entangling region presents such kind of singularity (imagine for example a corner in d = 3), the EE contains a *universal* term of that form, where γ is a function of the opening angle of the singularity [118,120,180,237]. In chapter 9, we study how the introduction of higher-order gravities affects this universal contribution within the context of *holographic entanglement entropy*, which we are about to introduce.

As we have explained, holography allows us to study certain QFTs in the strongly coupled regime using GR tools, which tend to be computationally simpler by several orders of magnitude. In the case of entanglement entropy, this is especially true, as the QFT computation using standard methods is extremely challenging even in the weakly coupled or free regimes, while the holographic prescription we will present in a second is very simple and computationally powerful in lots of cases.

Holographic entanglement entropy (HEE) for theories dual to Einstein gravity can be computed using the Ryu-Takayanagi prescription $[379]^{25}$. According to it, the HEE for a certain region A living in the boundary of some asymptotically AdS_{d+1} spacetime is

²⁴Indeed, if we shift $\delta \to \delta \epsilon$, the coefficient k_{d-i} changes as $k_{d-i} \to k_{d-i} \epsilon^{i-d}$.

²⁵This prescription has been recently proven under certain conditions in [296].

given by

$$S = \underset{m \sim A}{\text{ext}} \left[\frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} \right] \,, \tag{1.110}$$

where m are codimension-2 bulk surfaces homologous to A with $\partial m = \partial A$, and $\mathcal{A}(m)$ is the (d-1)-dimensional volume (*area*) of m. Hence, HEE in theories with an Einstein gravity dual is obtained by extremizing the area functional over all possible bulk surfaces homologous to A whose boundary coincides with ∂A .

The Ryu-Takayanagi prescription is obviously reminiscent of the Bekenstein-Hawking formula for the entropy of black holes. Indeed, since the minimal surface tends to wrap the horizon when there is one [346], formula (1.110) can be regarded as a generalization of Bekenstein and Hawking's.

Besides reproducing all the known results available from CFTs in various dimensions, (1.110) can be used for numerous purposes. To name a few:

- The possibility of proving holographic c-theorems in various dimensions using the universal terms in the HEE along renormalization group flows [341].
- Establishing seemingly deep connections between AdS/CFT and renormalization group schemes, in which the geometry of AdS can be constructed as an emergent quantity [348].
- Providing supporting evidence for certain conjectures concerning the quantum nature of gravity [68], including the ER=EPR [310] one [405].

As we have said, (1.110) can be used for holographic theories dual to Einstein gravity. When higher-order gravities are considered, this needs to be somehow generalized. In view of the analogy between the Bekenstein-Hawking formula and the Ryu-Takayanagi one, it is tempting to guess that an analogous generalization of the Wald entropy formula for black holes in higher-order gravities [420]

$$S_{\text{Wald}} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_{\text{H}} d^{d-1}x \sqrt{h_{\text{H}}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}} \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \epsilon_{\rho\sigma} , \qquad (1.111)$$

(where h_H stands for the pull-back metric on the horizon H, \mathcal{L} is the gravity Lagrangian and $\epsilon_{\mu\nu}$ is the binormal to the horizon) should work as well for the entanglement entropy. However, in [247] this guess was proven to be incorrect, since this expression would produce wrong universal terms. Alternative expressions producing the right terms are known for certain higher-order gravities. In particular, for Lovelock [247, 256], curvature-squared [185, 336], and f(Lovelock) [92, 381]. Quite remarkably, a formula for general gravity theories involving arbitrary contractions of the Riemann tensor $\mathcal{L}(R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma})$, which satisfies several consistency checks, has been proposed by Dong [161] (see also [65, 103]). The key point which explains why Wald's formula is not suitable for HEE is that it does not involve extrinsic curvatures of the surface (horizon), something that makes sense in that case since Killing horizons have vanishing extrinsic curvatures. However, entangling surfaces will in general have non-vanishing extrinsic curvatures, appearing in the HEE formulas for higher-order gravities.

Computing the HEE for a simple enough entangling region A in a particular higherorder gravity (assuming we know what the right functional is) entails three steps. First, we need to parametrize the family of codimension-2 surfaces susceptible of extremizing the functional. Secondly, we need to extremize the functional by solving the corresponding Euler-Lagrange equations. Finally, we need to evaluate the on-shell functional including a short-distance cut-off δ so the final result is regularized. Step two is very involved in general, since the equations of motion one has to solve are usually of order higher than two in derivatives of the functions parametrizing the surface (as opposed to the case of Einstein gravity), and expansions for small values of the gravitational couplings are often the best one can do. Naturally, one finds that the surfaces extremizing the new functional are no longer minimal-area surfaces (see, *e.g.*, [85]), although remarkable exceptions occur (see chapters 8 and 9).

1.3.4 Lifshitz spacetimes with hyperscaling violation

As we explained in the introduction, the AdS/CFT correspondence has been lately *extended* in a variety of ways in the hope of accounting for the physics of more realistic quantum field theories, such as QCD and condensed matter systems (see, *e.g.*, [1,116,229,369]).

One possibility consists of considering systems in which, albeit scaling symmetry is respected, space and time do not scale in the same manner, so conformal (and Lorentz) invariance is broken. This is the case of the so-called Lifshitz fixed points. These are characterized by a *dynamical critical exponent z*, which determines the anisotropic scaling in the time direction t

$$t \to \lambda^z t \,, \, x_i \to \lambda x_i \,, \, i = 1, \dots, d-1 \,, \tag{1.112}$$

being x_i the d-1 spatial dimensions of the *d*-spacetime in which the field theory under consideration is defined. The class of (d+1)-dimensional dual spacetime geometries with the appropriate symmetries can be written as [261, 287, 410]

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{L^{2}}{r^{2z}}dt^{2} + \frac{L^{2}}{r^{2}}\left[dr^{2} + d\vec{x}_{(d-1)}^{2}\right], \qquad (1.113)$$

which clearly reduces to AdS_{d+1} in the Poincaré patch for z = 1.

A further generalization can be achieved by considering the following family of spacetime metrics [131]

$$ds^{2} = L^{2} r^{\frac{2(\theta - d + 1)}{d - 1}} \left[-r^{-2(z-1)} dt^{2} + dr^{2} + d\vec{x}_{(d-1)}^{2} \right].$$
(1.114)

These geometries (which are conformally Lifshitz) include, in addition to z, another exponent, customarily named θ , and are characterized by the following behavior under rescalings of the coordinates

$$t \to \lambda^z t, \ x_i \to \lambda x_i, \ r \to \lambda r, \ ds^2 \to \lambda^{\frac{2\theta}{d-1}} ds^2.$$
 (1.115)

A system whose thermal entropy density scales as $s \sim T^{d-1}$ is said to possess a hyperscaling behaviour. When the dynamical exponent is present, this scaling gets modified to $s \sim T^{\frac{d-1}{z}}$. In field theories with the kind of scaling defined by (7.4), the thermal entropy scales in turn as $s \sim T^{\frac{d-1-\theta}{z}}$ [213,246], and so, from the thermodynamic point of view, $d-1-\theta$ acts as the effective number of space-like dimensions of the system [246]. The fact that sdoes not scale with its naive power of the temperature is a violation of the hyperscaling behaviour [178,246] (the hyperscaling case being obviously $\theta = 0$)²⁶, and the above class

²⁶Holographically, this would correspond to the entropy of a black brane whose spacetime metric asymptotes to one of these solutions [250].

of metrics has been consequently named hyperscaling-violating Lifshitz metrics (hvLf in short). Although the $r^{\frac{2\theta}{d-1}}$ factor spoils dimensional analysis in (1.114), this can be easily restored by including an additional scale $r_F: r^{\frac{2\theta}{d-1}} \to (r/r_F)^{\frac{2\theta}{d-1}}$.

In order to have a clear interpretation of a constant-r slice (with $r \to 0$) of the geometry defined by (1.114) as the boundary of the metric, it is necessary to require $\theta < d-1$. From a different perspective, $\theta > d-1$ would correspond to a negative effective number of spatial dimensions according to the previous arguments. Also, when $\theta > 0$, hvLf metrics suffer from a curvature UV-singularity in the Einstein frame: indeed, the Kretschmann invariant scales as $R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \sim r^{-4\theta/(d-1)}$. In appearance, this means that hvLf metrics with $\theta < 0$ are completely reliable in the UV, whereas those with $0 < \theta < d-1$ need to be completed asymptotically, something which is usually performed through the assumption that spacetime is described by (1.114) only above some scale r_F , but asymptotes to some well-behaved solution, such as AdS_{d+1} , as $r \ll r_F$. As explained in [136], this statement is imprecise. The authors argue that hvLf geometries with $\theta \neq 0$ typically require a UV-divergent (linear) dilaton, which allows one to tune the curvature singularity (appearing in the cases in which $0 < \theta < d - 1$) by changing to an appropriate Weyl frame, and completely absorb it in such scalar field. The linear running character of the dilaton is a characteristic feature of general hvLf backgrounds (with $\theta \neq 0$) so one needs to be careful when interpreting the UV physics from the field theory perspective not only for $\theta > 0$, but also for $\theta < 0$. The situation is similar to that found for non-conformal branes, where the dual theory is known to be SYM (with $d \neq 4$). In that case, the dilaton, which is related to the YM coupling, also runs in the UV, which means that the theory is either asymptotically free or needs a UV completion (depending on the dimension). In order to determine what the case is, one needs the exact relation between the dilaton and the coupling. When the YM coupling blows up in the UV, SUGRA is not a valid description and S-duality needs to be used. For hvLf metrics, however, the dual theory is not known and the approach taken in the literature is more phenomenological/engineering-like since the SUGRA result is taken to define what is meant by the dual theory.

hvLf and asymptotically-hvLf solutions have been extensively (and intensively) studied in the context of holography in *e.g.*, [4,5,162,246,349,385]. The gravity models in which solutions of this kind have been found and studied include, for example, Einstein-Maxwell-Dilaton (EMD) [6,98,131,146,165,166,179,199,250,274,360], supergravity and string theory [9,87,88,162,220,343,361] and EMD plus curvature-squared terms [203,286,350]. The inclusion of higher-curvature terms in the gravitational action is motivated in the particular case of Lifshitz and hvLf geometries by, e.g., trying to change the (θ , z) parameter space allowed by the null energy conditions (NEC) or curing the characteristic infrared (IR) divergent behaviour of the dilaton [246] appearing in EMD theories (see [350] for details on these issues).

In the first part of chapter 8, we show that hvLf geometries are much more common than previously thought. In particular, in most of the previous papers devoted to the construction of solutions of this class (or others asymptoting to it in different regimes), hvLf metrics are obtained as solutions to Einstein-Maxwell-Dilaton models (although some of these are embedded in some SUGRA or ST). We find that hvLf geometries appear in the near-horizon and near-singularity limits of generic black-hole solutions of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA (in particular, these are theories without scalar potential, as oppossed to the previous known examples). We also show how solutions of this kind can be obtained from limiting procedures of standard solutions such as Schwarzschild's black hole, or by smearing of some other previously known solutions.

In the second part of chapter 8, on the other hand, we perform a systematic study of the existence of hvLf and asymptotically-hvLf geometries for a broad class of theories suitable for accommodating a general $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SUGRA gauged with Fayet-Iliopoulos terms, and we construct new solutions of that kind (both purely hvLf and asymptotically hvLf) for a particular model of gauged SUGRA which can be embedded in Type-IIB string theory.

Coming back to entanglement entropy, we saw before that the generic UV behaviour of that quantity for generic QFTs included a leading term scaling with the *area* of the entangling surface (8.1). When this term is absent, or there is a different leading term, the area law is *violated*. This is the case of 2D CFTs, where EE scales logarithmically with the length of A, l, and γ turns out to be proportional to the central charge of the theory [100, 238]

$$S = \frac{c}{3} \log \frac{l}{\delta}, \qquad (1.116)$$

as we said before. In higher dimensional theories, violations of the area law appear in QFTs with Fermi surfaces [326,407,426]. In such cases, S acquires a logarithmic dependence on the characteristic length of A

$$S \sim (lk_F)^{(d-2)} \log(lk_F),$$
 (1.117)

being k_F the Fermi momentum²⁷, and the area law is violated. It has been argued that certain QFTs with Fermi surfaces might be holographically engineered by considering the family of hvLf metrics in the case $\theta = d - 2$ [162, 246, 349]. Indeed, using holography, one can compute the HEE for a stripe of width l and infinite length $L_S \to +\infty$ (this length plays the role of an IR cut-off) [162]

$$S = \frac{L^{d-1}L_S^{(d-2)}}{2G(d-\theta-2)} \left[\delta^{-(d-\theta-2)} - (l/2)^{(\theta-d+2)} \left[\frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-\theta}{2(d-\theta-1)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(d-\theta-1)}\right)} \right]^{(d-\theta-1)} \right].$$
 (1.118)

When $\theta = 0$, we recover the usual AdS_{d+1} expression [378], and when $\theta = d - 2$, this expression gets modified to include a logarithmic leading term, and becomes [162]

$$S = \frac{L^{d-1} L_S^{(d-2)}}{2G} \log \frac{2l}{\delta} \,, \tag{1.119}$$

In [350] it was raised the question of whether new violations of the area law might be found for other values of θ when higher-order gravities were added to the Einstein gravity Lagrangian. We answer this question in chapter 8, where we show that the leading contribution to the HEE in this class of geometries always comes from the Einstein gravity term, although new logarithmic terms appear for generic higher-curvature gravities (of order *n* in curvature) for

$$\theta = \frac{(d-1)(d-2)}{(d-2n+1)} \,. \tag{1.120}$$

 $^{^{27}}$ This behaviour comes from the effective 2D CFT which governs the physics of modes at the Fermi surface [385,407].

These would always be subleading except for n = 1, which is the well-known case $\theta = d-2$. We also find the form of the universal term at first order in the coupling for a gravity Lagrangian with an R^2 correction, as well as the exact corrections to the area-law term for general curvature-squared gravities. This information allows us to conjecture the general form of holographic entanglement entropy for these geometries in arbitrary higher-order gravities. Chapter 1. Introduction

Black holes and equivariant vectors in $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 supergravity

This chapter is based on

Pablo Bueno, Pietro Galli, Patrick Meessen and Tomas Ortín "Black holes and equivariant charge vectors in N=2,d=4 supergravity", JHEP **1309** (2013) 010. [arXiv:1305.5488 [hep-th]] [90].

The intensive search for black-hole solutions of supergravity theories over the last 25 years has been a very rewarding one in respect to the supersymmetric (also known as BPS in the literature, even if this concept is not equivalent, but wider) ones. Even though the existence of extremal non-supersymmetric black holes was discovered long time ago [273, 352] and we know that they are subject to the same attractor mechanism as the supersymmetric ones [173], only a few general families of solutions have been constructed for some classes of theories [74] and we are still far from having a complete understanding of their structure and general properties. The situation w.r.t. non-extremal solutions, studied recently, e.g., in [89,190,191,321,323] is even worse: even if all extremal black-hole solutions may be deformed (*i.e.*, heated up) to a non-extremal one, then we do not know the non-extremal deformations of many of them; in general we don't know whether there are obstructions to such a deformation and what they are. We also don't know whether, in each theory, there is only one family of non-extremal black-hole solutions from which all the extremal ones can be obtained by taken the appropriate limits, such as it happens in the few models studied so far [190, 267, 305, 321, 323]. The (stringy) non-extremal black hole landscape is a largely uncharted territory.

It is clear that to answer these questions new tools are needed since the first-order equations associated to unbroken Supersymmetry are of no help here and the second-order equations of motion of the FGK effective action [173] are still very hard to solve. Several approaches have been proposed to this end. For instance, it has been shown that in general one can construct first-order flow equations for extremal non-supersymmetric and non-extremal black holes Refs. [15, 18, 127, 132, 187, 192, 258, 328, 362] and many such equations have been constructed. From them one can extract interesting information about the near-horizon and spacelike infinity limits (whence about the entropy and mass of the solutions), but in practice these equations are obtained when the solutions are already known, which somewhat diminishes their usefulness.

The most common approach to the search of stationary black-hole solutions, pioneered in Ref. [83], consists in the dimensional reduction over the time direction. For 4-dimensional theories, this results in a 3-dimensional theory consisting of a non-linear σ - model coupled to gravity (in 3 dimensions the vector fields can be dualized into scalars).¹ When the σ -model corresponds to a homogeneous space one can show that the system is integrable and use the standard techniques to classify and obtain explicit black-hole solutions, see *e.g.* [55,75–77,133,221]. This approach has been quite a successful one, but for the moment it has not provided complete answers to the above questions.

More recently, a new approach for the 4- and 5-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ supergravity theories coupled to n_v vector supermultiplets has been introduced in Ref. [324]². This is nothing but the H-FGK formalism, introduced in the previous section. The H variables arise naturally in the supersymmetric cases [200,320], but it has been shown that they can be used in more general (but always stationary) cases. As we stressed, the main virtue of the new variables, when compared to the scalar fields present in the FGK effective action, is that they transform linearly under the duality group (embedded in Sp $(2n_v + 2; \mathbb{R})$ in the d = 4 case and in SO $(n_v + 1)$ in d = 5 case).

In previous works [89,95,191,323], the description of the simplest families of solutions was investigated (that we will call *conventional* in Section 2.2) for which the *H*-variables are harmonic functions (in the extremal case) or linear combinations of hyperbolic sines and cosines (in the non-extremal case). Some general features of the formalism, like the invariance of the effective action under local Freudenthal duality rotations [189] have also been studied.

Our main goal in this chapter is to study the main aspect of the formalism, namely the linear equivariance under duality transformations of the charges and moduli that characterize a given solution, and show how to exploit the requirement of linear equivariance in order to find attractors and construct explicit extremal solutions in some already wellstudied models: the axidilaton and the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ models. We also want to make progress towards answering the questions posed at the beginning of this introduction using these new tools. In the *conventional* cases that we have studied so far, it is known how one can arrive at (extremal) solutions described by harmonic functions from (non-extremal) solutions described by hyperbolic sines and cosines: we will apply our new tools to a non-conventional (non-supersymmetric) extremal solution of the t^3 model not considered in the previous works Refs. [191, 323]. This solution, which has been known for some time [74, 187, 208, 300], is characterized by *H*-variables that contain anharmonic terms and its deformation into a non-supersymmetric (finite-temperature) solution has proven elusive [188]. We think that, in order to search for this non-extremal generalization (if it exists), it is necessary to know more about the structure of the extremal solution and we will show how the new tools can help us to this end.

The remainder of the chapter is organized as follows: in Section 2.1 we explain how equivariant charge vectors enter in black-hole solutions when we express them in the Hvariables of this formalism. In Section 2.2 we explain when the usual harmonic ansatz becomes insufficient to write the general family of solutions associated to some attractor (expressed through an equivariant charge vector). This insufficiency indicates the need of adding anharmonic terms to the H-variables giving rise to what we have called *unconventional* black-hole solutions. Then, in Section 2.3 we give a general form for the first-order flow equations of any static black-hole solution of these theories that applies, in particular, to the unconventional solutions. In Sections 2.4 and 2.5 we review the supersymmetric and

¹ Further assumptions (staticity plus an ansatz for the 3-dimensional metric) lead to the FGK effective action, presented in the introduction, with its characteristic effective *black-hole potential* [173].

²A closely-related approach has been proposed in Ref. [329, 331, 332].

non-supersymmetric extremal solutions (which are completely conventional) of two simple models, studying their duality symmetries and their equivariant vectors. In Section 2.6 we turn to the t^3 model, showing how its extremal, non-supersymmetric solutions are non-conventional. We, then, construct and study this unconventional family of solutions using a basis of equivariant vectors. Our conclusions and comments on further directions of work can be found in Section 5.4.

2.1 Explicit solutions and equivariant vectors

The main advantage of the H-FGK formalism (see section 1.2.4) is the linear behavior of the variables under transformations of the electric-magnetic duality group G of the theory:

$$H^{M\prime} = S^{M}{}_{N}H^{N}, \qquad (S^{M}{}_{N}) \in \mathcal{G} \subset \operatorname{Sp}(2n_{v} + 2; \mathbb{R}).$$

$$(2.1)$$

This linear behavior can dramatically simplify the construction of explicit solutions to theories with a non-trivial duality group as it implies that any solution must be of the form

$$H^M(\tau) = c^{\sigma}(\tau) \ U^M_{\sigma} , \qquad (2.2)$$

where the functions $c^{\sigma}(\tau)$ are duality invariant; the symplectic vectors U_{σ}^{M} are constant vectors that may depend on the physical parameters of the theory (mass M, electric and magnetic charges \mathcal{Q}^{M} and asymptotic values of the scalars Z_{∞}^{i}) and must be *equivariant* w.r.t. the duality group, *i.e.*,

$$U^M_{\sigma}(M, Z'_{\infty}, Z^{*\prime}_{\infty}, \mathcal{Q}') = S^M{}_N U^N_{\sigma}(M, Z_{\infty}, Z^*_{\infty}, \mathcal{Q}), \qquad (2.3)$$

with

$$Z^{i\prime} \equiv F_S^i(Z) , \qquad \mathcal{Q}^{M\prime} = S^M{}_N \mathcal{Q}^N , \qquad (2.4)$$

where $F_S^i(Z)$ is the non-linear realization of the duality transformation $S^M{}_N$ on the complex scalars.

In some cases, the number of equivariant vectors of the theory can be greater than³ or equal to the number of variables H^M . In that case, one does not win much by using the above ansatz. In other cases, however, the number can be much smaller and we will be left with a small number of invariant functions to be determined.

In the near-horizon limit of extremal black-hole solutions, the value of the variables H^M will be dominated by one equivariant vector that we denote by B^M and that can be defined, in our conventions, by⁴

$$B^M \equiv \lim_{\tau \to -\infty} -\frac{\sqrt{2}H^M}{\tau} \,. \tag{2.5}$$

The values of the scalars on the horizon, $Z_{\rm h}^i$, are completely determined by this equivariant vector upon use of the general expression of the scalars as functions of the variables

 $^{^{3}}$ If it is greater, we can eliminate some from the ansatz, since they will be linearly dependent on the rest.

⁴Observe that this definition is completely general: given the behavior of the 3-dimensional transverse metric in the near-horizon limit as a function of τ and the degree of homogeneity of $e^{-2U} = W(H)$ as a function of the *H*-variables, in regular black-hole solutions the functions $H^M(\tau)$ are dominated by these constant vectors in the near-horizon limit.

 H^{M} [324]

$$Z^{i}(H) = \frac{\tilde{H}^{i} + iH^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0} + iH^{0}}, \quad \Rightarrow \quad Z^{i}_{h} = Z^{i}(B), \qquad (2.6)$$

and also extremize the black-hole potential $V_{bh}(H, \mathcal{Q})$ as a function of the variables H^M :

$$\partial_M V_{\rm bh}(H,\mathcal{Q})|_{H=B} = 0.$$
(2.7)

The vectors B^M , which in this context can be called attractors, can also be written in the form

$$B^M = b^\sigma U^M_\sigma \,, \tag{2.8}$$

where the b^{σ} are duality-invariant constants such that the products bU^{M} have the same dimensions as electric and magnetic charges.

Clearly these vector attractors must contain more information than the values of the scalars on the horizon $Z_{\rm h}^i$ (the standard attractors). On the other hand, when the model has a high degree of symmetry the requirement of equivariance imposes strong constraints on the possibilities and it simplifies the task of finding the attractors B^M .

A similar discussion can be made for the values of the variables H^M at spatial infinity, which in the employed coordinate system lies at $\tau = 0$.

The amount of simplification introduced by the above observation that the variables H^M must always be of the form Eq. (2.2) depends on our ability to find a sufficient number of equivariant vectors; the Freudenthal dual of the charge vector \tilde{Q}^M is, by construction, a prime example of equivariant vector, but there are other systematic ways of finding them. Let us consider, first, equivariant vectors that only depend on the charges. They can be seen as an endomorphism of the $(2n_v + 2)$ -dimensional vector space of charges and their equivariance is equivalent to the fact that these endomorphisms commute with the duality transformations (which are also endomorphisms of charge space). Thus, linear (not necessarily symplectic) transformations that commute with G provide a second example of equivariant vectors.

To study non-linear cases, let us expand an equivariant vector and the duality transformations around the identity

$$U^M_{\sigma}(\mathcal{Q}) \sim \mathcal{Q}^M + \xi^M(\mathcal{Q}), \qquad (S\mathcal{Q})^M \sim \mathcal{Q}^M + \alpha^A \eta_A{}^M(\mathcal{Q}), \qquad (2.9)$$

where $S \in \mathbf{G} \subset \mathrm{Sp}(2n_v + 2; \mathbb{R})$ and, therefore,

$$\eta_A{}^M(\mathcal{Q}) = (T_A)^M{}_N \mathcal{Q}^N, \qquad (2.10)$$

where $T_A \in \text{Sp}(2n_v + 2; \mathbb{R})$ are the generators of the duality group; the condition of equivariance is equivalent to requiring that the Lie brackets of these two kinds of generators vanish⁵

$$[U,\eta_A] = 0, \quad \Rightarrow \quad (T_A)^M{}_N \mathcal{Q}^N \partial_M U^P = (T_A)^P{}_R U^R, \quad \text{where} \quad \partial_M U^P \equiv \frac{\partial U^P}{\partial \mathcal{Q}^M}. \quad (2.11)$$

On taking the derivative with respect to Q^P of both sides of this equation we find the integrability condition

$$(T_A)^M{}_N \mathcal{Q}^N \partial_M \mathsf{P} = 0, \qquad \mathsf{P} \equiv \partial_M U^M = \Omega^{MN} \partial_M U_N.$$
 (2.12)

⁵Obviously, also ξ must be an equivariant vector, whence we can replace ξ by U in what follows for the purpose of writing an equation characterizing equivariant vectors.

which implies that P is an invariant function of the charges. Thus, equivariant vectors are associated to invariants by the above equation. The simplest invariant is just P = 0and equivariant vectors such that $\partial_{[M}U_{N]} = 0$ are associated to it; clearly there may be more possibilities as locally they must be of the form $U_M = \partial_M h$ for some non-vanishing invariant h (possibly up to additive numerical constants) and one can check that the equivariance condition is automatically satisfied. For instance, if we take h = W/2, then $U_M = \tilde{Q}_M$.

For equivariant vectors that depend (non-holomorphically) on the moduli Z^i_{∞} , the equivariance condition takes the form

$$(T_A)^M {}_N \mathcal{Q}^N \partial_M U^P + k_A{}^i \partial_i U^P + k_A{}^{*i^*} \partial_{i^*} U^P = (T_A)^P {}_R U^R , \qquad (2.13)$$

where $K_A \equiv k_A{}^i(Z)\partial_i + c.c.$ are the Killing vectors that generate the action of the duality group G on the scalar manifold preserving the holomorphic and Kähler structures. Again, $\mathsf{P} \equiv \partial_M U^M$ must be an invariant and a particularly simple case is $\mathsf{P} = 0$ and $U_M = \partial_M h$ where, now, h is required to be invariant only up to additive functions of the moduli. A recurring example is

$$h = \log \left(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q}) \right), \qquad (2.14)$$

where $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q})$ is the central charge defined as

$$\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q}) \equiv \mathcal{V}_M \mathcal{Q}^M \,, \tag{2.15}$$

so using the definition of the H-variables it can be written as

$$\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q}) = \frac{e^{-i\alpha}}{\sqrt{2W}} \mathcal{H}_M \mathcal{Q}^M \,. \tag{2.16}$$

The associated (complex) equivariant vector is

$$U_M = \frac{\partial h}{\partial \mathcal{Q}^M} = \frac{\mathcal{V}_M}{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q})} \,. \tag{2.17}$$

The real and imaginary parts provide two real moduli-dependent equivariant vectors. It should be obvious that one can use, instead of the central charge any fake central charge, but the result may not be a new equivariant vector.

The Lie bracket of two equivariant vectors is also an equivariant vector, so that the equivariant vectors form a Lie algebra that commutes with that of the duality group G.

Finally, in the cases that we are going to study, we will show how one can construct equivariant vectors by using other methods like solution-generating techniques.

2.2 Conventional and unconventional solutions

As explained in Ref. [324], contracting the equations of motion derived from the H-FGK action Eq. (1.81) with H^M and using the homogeneity properties of the different terms and the Hamiltonian constraint Eq. (6.6) one finds, in the extremal case $r_0 = 0^6$, the equation

$$W\tilde{H}_M \,\ddot{H}^M + (\dot{H}^M H_M)^2 = 0\,. \tag{2.18}$$

⁶In this discussion we will only consider the extremal case because in the rest of the chapter we are going to restrict ourselves to it.

In what we are going to call from now on *conventional* extremal solutions (supersymmetric or not) the variables $H^M(\tau)$ are harmonic functions, *i.e.*, they satisfy $\ddot{H}^M = 0$. The above equation implies that they also satisfy the constraint⁷

$$\dot{H}^M H_M = 0.$$
 (2.19)

Conventional extremal solutions have been intensively studied in Ref. [191]. However, how general are these solutions? Can all the extremal black-hole solutions be written in a conventional form? (The answer in the supersymmetric case is yes.) If not, what are the limitations and how can they be overcome as to obtain the most general extremal black-hole solutions that depend on the maximal number of independent physical parameters?

To investigate these issues, it is convenient to review in detail the construction of conventional extremal black-hole solutions: extremal black-holes are associated to values of the scalar fields $Z_{\rm h}^i$ (attractors) that extremize the black-hole potential [173]. As explained in the previous section, in the H-FGK formulation attractors appear as symplectic vectors B^M that extremize the black-hole potential when written in terms of the *H*-variables. These attractors B^M are defined up to normalization because the black-hole potential is invariant under rescalings of the H^M s and also up to global Freudenthal rotations. Furthermore, as functions of the charges and moduli, the attractors B^M are equivariant under duality transformations. A family of extremal black holes closed under duality will be associated to a given equivariant vector expressed as a set of functions of the charge components and moduli $B^M(Q, Z_{\infty}, Z_{\infty}^*)$. We are going to focus on moduli-independent attractors, *i.e.*, the so-called *true attractors*.

The attractor B^M determines the near-horizon form of the solution. We can always construct a solution describing the $AdS^2 \times S_2$ solution that describes the near-horizon geometry by choosing the appropriate normalization of B^M : indeed, one can check that the harmonic functions

$$H^{M} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} B^{M} \tau \,, \tag{2.20}$$

always satisfy the equations of motion as long as the condition

$$V_{\rm bh}(B,\mathcal{Q}) = -\frac{1}{2}\mathsf{W}(B)\,,\tag{2.21}$$

determining the normalization of B^M is met.

To construct a solution with the same near-horizon behavior and with an asymptoticallyflat region we must add to the H^M above a constant vector A^M . The condition Eq. (2.19) and the normalization of the metric at infinity become two constraints for A^M

$$B^M A_M = 0, \qquad W(A) = 1,$$
 (2.22)

that leave $2n_v$ real constants, which is just the right amount to describe the asymptotic values of the n_v complex scalars Z^i_{∞} . Only if we cannot add a vector A^M satisfying these two constraints, then the most general solution associated to the attractor B^M cannot be conventional and we will have to add anharmonic terms to the H^M .

We can reformulate this question as follows: if we add to the H^M in Eq. (2.20) an infinitesimal vector ε^M satisfying $B^M \varepsilon_M = 0$, do we get another solution to the Hamiltonian constraint Eq. (1.82) and equations of motion Eq. (1.83)? To first order in ε^M , the

⁷The converse is not always true: the above constraint can be satisfied for extremal black-hole solutions which are not given by harmonic H^M s and that we will call *unconventional*.

Hamiltonian constraint will be solved by the perturbed solution

$$H'^{M} = H^{M} + \varepsilon^{M}, \qquad H^{M} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}B^{M}\tau, \qquad B^{M}\varepsilon_{M} = 0, \qquad (2.23)$$

if

$$\varepsilon^{M} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \partial_{M} g_{NP} \dot{H}^{N} \dot{H}^{P} + \partial_{M} V(H, \mathcal{Q}) \right\} = 0.$$
(2.24)

Evaluating this equation at the near-horizon solution H^M , using $V_{bh}(H, Q) = -W(B)V(H, Q)$, the homogeneity properties of the different terms, the fact that $\partial_M V_{bh}(B, Q) = 0$ and the condition (2.21), we arrive at

$$\varepsilon^M \left\{ \frac{1}{4} B^N B^P \partial_M \partial_N \partial_P \log \mathsf{W}(B) - \frac{1}{2} \partial_M \log \mathsf{W}(B) \right\} = 0, \qquad (2.25)$$

which is an equation in the variables B^M (including the partial ∂_M derivatives, which should be understood as partial derivatives with respect to B^M) and is identically satisfied on account of the scale invariance of log W(B).

The analogous condition on the equations of motion, Eqs. (1.83), reads

$$\varepsilon^{M} \left\{ \partial_{M} g_{NP} \ddot{H}^{P} + \partial_{M} (\partial_{P} g_{QN} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{N} g_{PQ}) \dot{H}^{P} \dot{H}^{Q} + \partial_{M} \partial_{N} V(H, \mathcal{Q}) \right\} = 0, \qquad (2.26)$$

and, after evaluation on the near-horizon solution we get a homogenous equation that, again, can be read as an equation on the variables B^M . Using the same properties we used with the Hamiltonian constraint plus $B^M \varepsilon_M = 0$ we get a non-trivial equation for ε^M

$$\mathfrak{M}_{MN}\varepsilon^{N} = 0, \quad \text{with} \quad \mathfrak{M}_{MN} \equiv \mathsf{W}(B)\partial_{M}\partial_{N}\log\mathsf{W}(B) + 2\frac{\tilde{B}_{M}\tilde{B}_{N}}{\mathsf{W}(B)} - \partial_{M}\partial_{N}V_{\mathrm{bh}}(B,\mathcal{Q}).$$
(2.27)

We are interested in the number of independent solutions to this equation that satisfy the constraint $B^M \varepsilon_M = 0$, *i.e.*, in the rank of \mathfrak{M}_{MN} . The rank should be at most 1 as this implies a single linear constraint on the components of ε^M , which should be equivalent to $B^M \varepsilon_M = 0$. If the rank of \mathfrak{M}_{MN} happens to be bigger than 1, then there are not enough unconstrained components of ε^M for the family of solutions to have arbitrary values of the moduli and the most general solution based on the chosen attractor, must necessarily contain anharmonic terms.

For cubic models, the need of anharmonic ansätze to construct the most general, generating, non-supersymmetric, extremal, black-hole solution of [300] and [208] was first observed in [187] and later confirmed in [74] and [188]. In the next sections we will see how the obstruction to the fully harmonic ansatz arises in the particular case of the t^3 model. For the non-extremal case of these theories, the situation is still unclear [188].

2.3 The general first-order flow equations

The central charge of an $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SUGRA theory is defined by Eq. (2.15) and, in terms of the *H*-variables it takes the form of Eq. (2.16) which we copy here for convenience

$$\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q}) = \frac{e^{-i\alpha}}{\sqrt{2W}} (\tilde{H}_M + iH_M) \mathcal{Q}^M \,. \tag{2.28}$$

Let us consider a generalization of the central charge, denoted by $\mathcal{Z}(\phi, \sqrt{2}\mathfrak{D}H)$, in which we replace the second argument (the charge vector) by the Freudenthal-covariant derivative of H^M introduced in Ref. [189], *i.e.*,

$$\mathfrak{D}H^M \equiv \dot{H}^M + A\tilde{H}^M, \qquad A \equiv \frac{\dot{H}^N H_N}{\mathsf{W}}. \tag{2.29}$$

Since $H_M \mathfrak{D} H^M = 0$ and $\tilde{H}_M \tilde{H}^M = 0$ identically, we immediately find that

$$|\mathcal{Z}(\phi,\sqrt{2}\mathfrak{D}H)| = \pm \frac{\tilde{H}_M \dot{H}^M}{\sqrt{W}} = \pm \frac{\partial_M W \dot{H}^M}{2\sqrt{W}} = \pm \frac{d\sqrt{W}}{d\tau} = \pm \frac{de^{-U}}{d\tau}, \qquad (2.30)$$

which is the first-order equation for the metric function⁸. Observe that $H_M \mathfrak{D} H^M = 0$ implies that the phase of $\mathcal{Z}(\phi, \sqrt{2}\mathfrak{D} H)$ is equal to the phase of $\pm X$. The sign must be chosen so as to make $\pm \tilde{H}_M \dot{H}^M > 0$ and, since the mass of the solution corresponding to $e^{-2U} = W(H)$ is given by

$$M = -\frac{1}{2} \left. \frac{de^{-2U}}{d\tau} \right|_{\tau=0} = -\frac{1}{2} \left. \dot{\mathsf{W}} \right|_{\tau=0} = - \left. \tilde{H}_M \dot{H}^M \right|_{\tau=0} \,, \tag{2.31}$$

we find that for regular solutions (with positive mass) we must choose the lower sign:

$$\frac{de^{-U}}{d\tau} = -|\mathcal{Z}(\phi, \sqrt{2}\mathfrak{D}H)|. \qquad (2.32)$$

From Eq. (2.8) of Ref. [355] we have that

$$\frac{dZ^i}{d\tau} = -2X\mathcal{G}^{ij^*}\mathcal{D}_{j^*}\mathcal{V}_M^*\dot{H}^M.$$
(2.33)

We can rewrite \dot{H}^M as

$$\dot{H}^{M} = \mathfrak{D}H^{M} - A\tilde{H}^{M} = \mathfrak{D}H^{M} - A\left(\frac{\mathcal{V}^{M}}{2X} + \text{c.c.}\right), \qquad (2.34)$$

and plug it into the previous equation to get

$$\frac{dZ^{i}}{d\tau} = -2X\mathcal{G}^{ij^{*}}\mathcal{D}_{j^{*}}\mathcal{Z}^{*}(\phi,\mathfrak{D}H) = 4Xe^{-i\alpha}\mathcal{G}^{ij^{*}}\partial_{j^{*}}|\mathcal{Z}^{*}(\phi,\mathfrak{D}H)|$$

$$= 2e^{U}\mathcal{G}^{ij^{*}}\partial_{j^{*}}|\mathcal{Z}^{*}(\phi,\sqrt{2}\mathfrak{D}H)|,$$
(2.35)

where we have used Eq. (1.88) and the equality of the phases of -X and $|\mathcal{Z}(\phi, \sqrt{2\mathfrak{D}H})|$. This is the second first-order equation⁹.

Some remarks are in order:

1. In these derivations we have assumed neither extremality or non-extremality of the solutions nor any explicit form of the variables H^M (harmonic or hyperbolic)¹⁰.

⁸This equation reduces to Eq. (5.9) of Ref. [187] in the extremal limit. Observe that the Freudenthalcovariant derivative corresponds to Eq. (5.6) of the same reference.

⁹Again, this equation reduces to Eq. (5.10) of Ref. [187] in the extremal limit.

¹⁰Actually, we have written *solutions* but we have not used at any moment the fact that the H^M solve the equations of motion. The first-order equations that we have derived are, therefore, valid for any configuration of the variables H^M , although their use is essentially limited to solutions.

Furthermore, we have not assumed the Freudenthal gauge-fixing condition $\dot{H}^N H_N = 0$. Only the properties of Special Geometry encoded in the H-FGK formalism have been used. Therefore, the first-order Eqs. (2.32) and (2.35) apply to any static black-hole solution of ungauged $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ supergravity coupled to vector multiplets.

2. These first-order equations reduce to those found in the literature starting from Ref. [173] in the extremal/harmonic (*i.e.*, $A = \dot{H}^N H_N = 0$) cases: if $H^M = A^M - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}B^M\tau$ for some constant symplectic vectors A^M (which encode the values of the scalars at spatial infinity) and the attractor B^M , then

$$\left|\mathcal{Z}(\phi, \sqrt{2\mathfrak{D}H})\right| = \left|\mathcal{Z}(\phi, B)\right|,\tag{2.36}$$

which is known as fake central charge when $B^M \neq Q^M$ and coincides with the central charge in the supersymmetric case $B^M = Q^M$.

3. In the general (non-supersymmetric) case $\mathfrak{D}H$ will be τ -dependent and its nearhorizon ($\tau \to -\infty$) and spatial infinity ($\tau \to 0^-$) limits, will not necessarily be equal: in the near-horizon limit $\lim_{\tau\to -\infty} \mathfrak{D}H^M \equiv -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}B^M$ and in the spacelike infinity limit $\lim_{\tau\to 0^-} \mathfrak{D}H^M \equiv -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}E^M$ and, generically, $B^M \neq E^M$.

$$M = -\lim_{\tau \to 0^{-}} \frac{de^{-U}}{d\tau} = |\mathcal{Z}(\phi_{\infty}, E)|, \qquad (2.37)$$

$$S = \pi \left[\lim_{\tau \to -\infty} \frac{de^{-U}}{d\tau} \right]^2 = \pi |\mathcal{Z}(\phi_{\rm h}, B)|^2, \qquad (2.38)$$

where ϕ_{∞} and $\phi_{\rm h}$ are the values of the scalars at spatial infinity and on the horizon, respectively. Different fake central charges $\mathcal{Z}(\phi, E)$ and $\mathcal{Z}(\phi, B)$ drive the metric function in the spatial-infinity and near-horizon regions, respectively. This behavior is present in the non-supersymmetric extremal solutions of the cubic models studied in Refs. [52, 74, 187, 207, 300] which have anharmonic $H^M \mathrm{s}^{11}$.

4. In Ref. [127] and subsequent literature the first-order flow equations were given in terms of superpotential functions $W(\phi, B)$ which depend only on a constant fake charge vector B^M and which has a structure similar, but not identical, to the central charge. Those first-order equations must be completely equivalent to Eqs. (2.32,2.35), because the same variables, for the same solution, cannot obey two different sets of first-order equations. We do not know how to prove this equivalence in general, and it will have to be checked case by case.

2.4 The axidilaton model

The axidilaton model is defined by the prepotential

$$\mathcal{F} = -i\mathcal{X}^0 \mathcal{X}^1, \qquad (2.39)$$

¹¹The H^M s of those solutions do not satisfy the constraint $\dot{H}^M H_M = 0$. A change of Freudenthal gauge can bring the solutions to the $\dot{H}^M H_M = 0$ gauge but cannot make the H^M harmonic [189].

and has only one complex scalar that we will denote by λ that is given by

$$\lambda \equiv i \mathcal{X}^1 / \mathcal{X}^0 \,. \tag{2.40}$$

In terms of λ and in the $\mathcal{X}^0 = i/2$ gauge, the Kähler potential and metric are

$$\mathcal{K} = -\ln \Im \mathfrak{m} \lambda, \qquad \mathcal{G}_{\lambda\lambda^*} = (2\Im \mathfrak{m} \lambda)^{-2}, \qquad (2.41)$$

and therefore λ , which must take values in the upper half complex plane, parametrizes the coset space $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})/SO(2)$.

The canonically-normalized covariantly-holomorphic symplectic section \mathcal{V} is, in the gauge in which the Kähler potential is given by Eq. (2.41),

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2(\Im m\lambda)^{1/2}} \begin{pmatrix} i \\ \lambda \\ -i\lambda \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.42)$$

and the central charge and its holomorphic covariant derivative are

$$\mathcal{Z}(Q) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\Im m\lambda}} \left[(p^{1} - iq_{0}) - (q_{1} + ip^{0})\lambda \right],$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{\lambda}\mathcal{Z} = \frac{i}{4(\Im m\lambda)^{3/2}} \left[(p^{1} - iq_{0}) - (q_{1} + ip^{0})\lambda^{*} \right].$$
(2.43)

It is useful to define the fake charge and associated fake central charge

$$\mathcal{P} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} p^0 \\ -p^1 \\ q_0 \\ -q_1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{P}) \equiv \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\Im m\lambda}} \left[(-p^1 - iq_0) - (-q_1 + ip^0)\lambda \right], \qquad (2.44)$$

in terms of which

$$\mathcal{G}^{ij^*} \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{Z} \mathcal{D}_{j^*} \mathcal{Z}^* = |\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{P})|^2, \qquad (2.45)$$

so that the black-hole potential takes the simple form

$$-V_{\rm bh} = |\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q})|^2 + |\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{P})|^2.$$
 (2.46)

The black-hole solutions of this model have been exhaustively studied in Refs. [23,57,141, 190,194,195,198,205,266,269,305,351,377,387]. Our goal here is to illustrate the general results and methods described in the previous sections using this well-known model. First, let us recall what are the symmetries of this model in its original formulation.

2.4.1 The global symmetries of the axidilaton model

The full axidilaton model (and not just the axidilaton kinetic term) is invariant under global $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ transformations. Let us start by describing the action of this group on the axidilaton field: parametrize a generic element of $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ as

$$\Lambda \equiv \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{with} \quad ad - bd = 1, \qquad (2.47)$$

then the axidilaton transforms as

$$\lambda' = \frac{a\lambda + b}{c\lambda + d}.$$
(2.48)

The scalar manifold metric admits 3 holomorphic Killing vectors which can be taken to be

$$K_1 = \lambda \partial_\lambda + \text{c.c.}, \qquad K_2 = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \lambda^2)\partial_\lambda + \text{c.c.}, \qquad K_3 = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \lambda^2)\partial_\lambda + \text{c.c.}, \qquad (2.49)$$

and satisfy the commutation relations of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sl}(2;\mathbb{R})$

$$[K_m, K_n] = \epsilon_{mnq} \eta^{qp} K_p , \quad \Rightarrow f_{mn}{}^p = -\epsilon_{mnq} \eta^{qp}, \quad (m, n, \dots = 1, 2, 3) , \qquad (2.50)$$

where $\epsilon_{123} = +1$ and $\eta = \text{diag}(++-)$; η is proportional to the Killing metric of $\mathfrak{so}(1,2) \simeq \mathfrak{sp}(2;\mathbb{R}) \simeq \mathfrak{sp}(2;\mathbb{R})$. The infinitesimal $\mathrm{Sl}(2;\mathbb{R})$ transformations of λ can be written using these Killing vectors as

$$\delta_{\alpha}\lambda = \alpha^{m}k_{m}^{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2}(\alpha^{2} + \alpha^{3}) + \alpha^{1}\lambda - \frac{1}{2}(\alpha^{2} - \alpha^{3})\lambda^{2}.$$

$$(2.51)$$

The infinitesimal linear transformations associated to the above choice of Killing vectors are, in terms of the Pauli matrices

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \sim \mathbb{1}_{2 \times 2} + \alpha^m T_m, \qquad T_1 = -\frac{1}{2}\sigma^3, \ T_2 = -\frac{1}{2}\sigma^1, \ T_3 = \frac{i}{2}\sigma^2, \qquad (2.52)$$

and satisfy the Lie algebra

$$[T_m, T_n] = -\epsilon_{mnq} \eta^{qp} T_p \,. \tag{2.53}$$

The action of the finite $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ transformations on the Kähler potential and on the canonical covariantly-holomorphic symplectic section \mathcal{V} given in Eq. (2.42) is

$$\mathcal{K}'(\lambda) \equiv \mathcal{K}(\lambda'(\lambda)) = \mathcal{K}(\lambda) + 2\Re \mathfrak{e} f(\lambda),$$
 (2.54)

$$\mathcal{V}'^{M}(\lambda) \equiv \mathcal{V}^{M}(\lambda'(\lambda)) = e^{-i\Im\mathfrak{m}f(\lambda)} S^{M}{}_{N}\mathcal{V}^{N}, \qquad (2.55)$$

where the holomorphic function $f(\lambda)$ of the Kähler transformation and the symplectic rotation $S^M{}_N$ are given by

$$f(\lambda) = \ln (c\lambda + d), \qquad (2.56)$$

$$(S^{M}{}_{N}) = \begin{pmatrix} d & -c \\ a & b \\ -b & a \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.57)

In this 4-dimensional representation the infinitesimal generators T_m are given by

$$(T_1{}^M{}_N) = -\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^3 \\ & -\sigma^3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (T_2{}^M{}_N) = -\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} & \sigma^3 \\ & \sigma^3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (T_3{}^M{}_N) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} & \mathbb{1} \\ & -\mathbb{1} \\ & (2.58) \end{pmatrix}$$

The same transformations act on all the symplectic vectors of the theory and, in particular, on the variables H^M and the charge vectors \mathcal{Q}^M . In this formulation of the axidilaton system there seem to be no further symmetries¹².

 $^{^{12}}$ We will see, however, that there is an additional U(1) factor in the symmetry group that only has

Equivariant vectors of the axidilaton model

In this model there is no need to solve any equation to find 4 linearly independent equivariant vectors: observe that the symplectic vector of charges is the direct sum of two real $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ doublets a^i and b_i (i, j = 1, 2), namely

$$(a^{i}) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} p^{1} \\ q_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (b_{i}) \equiv (p^{0}, q_{0}). \qquad (2.59)$$

These doublets transform respectively contravariantly and covariantly, that is

$$a'^{i} = \Lambda^{i}{}_{j} a^{j}, \qquad b'_{i} = b_{j} (\Lambda^{-1})^{j}{}_{i}, \qquad (2.60)$$

where (Λ^{i}_{j}) is the matrix given in Eq. (2.47), which furthermore satisfies

$$(\Lambda^{-1})^{i}{}_{j} = \Omega^{ki} \Lambda^{l}{}_{k} \Omega_{lj}, \qquad (\Omega_{ij}) = (\Omega^{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.61)$$

because $\operatorname{Sl}(2;\mathbb{R}) \simeq \operatorname{Sp}(2;\mathbb{R})$. We can use the symplectic metric Ω to raise and lower doublet indices such as *i* and *j*, so $a_i \equiv \Omega_{ij}a^j$ and $b^i = b_j\Omega^{ji}$. The only non-vanishing $\operatorname{Sl}(2;\mathbb{R})$ invariant that can be built out of these two doublets is

$$a^{i}b_{i} = p^{0}p^{1} + q_{0}q_{1} \equiv \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}).$$
 (2.62)

Let us denote by $\mathcal{Q}^M(a, b)$ the standard symplectic charge vector seen as the direct sum of the two doublets a and b. Using the two doublets we can construct three further, up to a global sign, inequivalent charge vectors that under $\mathrm{Sl}(2; \mathbb{R})$ transform in the same way as $\mathcal{Q}^M(a, b)$, *i.e.*, equivariantly; the four equivariant charge vectors are

$$\mathcal{Q}^{M}(a,b) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} p^{0} \\ p^{1} \\ q_{0} \\ q_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{Q}^{M}(b,-a) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} -q_{1} \\ -q_{0} \\ p^{1} \\ p^{0} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\mathcal{Q}^{M}(-a,b) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} p^{0} \\ -p^{1} \\ q_{0} \\ -q_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{Q}^{M}(-b,-a) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} -q_{1} \\ q_{0} \\ p^{1} \\ -p^{0} \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(2.63)$$

These equivariant vectors are generically linearly independent and provide a basis of equivariant vectors; any other equivariant vector, in particular the attractors B^M , can be expanded w.r.t. this base, *e.g.*

$$B^{M} = b^{\sigma} U^{M}_{\sigma}, \quad \text{with} \quad \{U_{\sigma}\} = \{\mathcal{Q}, \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}, \mathcal{P}, \tilde{\mathcal{P}}\}.$$
(2.64)

We will plug this general ansatz into the equation $\partial_M V_{bh}(H, Q)|_{H=B} = 0$ as to find the most general attractor of the theory in Section 2.4.4, but at this point we already know

a non-trivial action on objects with symplectic indices and that coincides with the continuous global Freudenthal duality transformation. The scalars do not transform under this symmetry. On the other hand, only this U(1) symmetry is also a local symmetry of the H-FGK formalism. We would like to thank Alessio Marrani for clarifying discussions on this point.

some general results: The standard charge vector $\mathcal{Q}^M(a, b)$ will be the supersymmetric attractor, as usual, and we are going to see, $\mathcal{Q}^M(b, -a)$ is its Freudenthal dual

$$\mathcal{Q}^M(b,-a) = \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}^M(a,b) = \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}^M.$$
(2.65)

On the other hand, $\mathcal{Q}^M(-a, b)$ is the non-supersymmetric attractor \mathcal{P}^M and $\mathcal{Q}^M(b, a)$ is its Freudenthal dual

$$Q^M(-a,b) = \mathcal{P}^M, \qquad Q^M(b,a) = \tilde{Q}^M(b,-a) = \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^M.$$
 (2.66)

It is easy to see that

$$W(\tilde{Q}) = W(Q) = -W(\mathcal{P}) = -W(\tilde{\mathcal{P}}).$$
(2.67)

These four vectors are related by $\text{Sp}(4; \mathbb{R})$ transformations that however do not belong to $\text{Sl}(2; \mathbb{R}) \subset \text{Sp}(4; \mathbb{R})$:

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{M} = \mathcal{A}^{M}{}_{N}\mathcal{Q}^{N}, \qquad (\mathcal{A}^{M}{}_{N}) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^{1} \\ -\sigma^{1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.68)$$

$$\mathcal{P}^{M} = \mathcal{B}^{M}{}_{N}\mathcal{Q}^{N}, \qquad (\mathcal{B}^{M}{}_{N}) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^{3} & 0\\ 0 & \sigma^{3} \end{pmatrix}. \qquad (2.69)$$

The only non-vanishing symplectic contractions between these four vectors are

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_M \mathcal{Q}^M = -\tilde{\mathcal{P}}_M \mathcal{P}^M = \mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}) \,. \tag{2.70}$$

Apart from these moduli-independent equivariant vectors we can construct the generic moduli-dependent ones by taking the real and imaginary parts of Eq. (2.17), in which we can replace Q by any of the other three equivariant vectors. Observe that when we use the Freudenthal dual charge, we obtain the same complex equivariant vector but multiplied by -i.

2.4.2 H-FGK formalism

The solution of the stabilization equations of this theory is

$$\mathcal{R}_M(\mathcal{I}) = \mathcal{A}_{MN} \mathcal{I}^N, \qquad (\mathcal{A}_{MN}) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^1 & 0\\ 0 & \sigma^1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.71)$$

where σ^1 is the standard Pauli matrix. $\mathcal{A} = (\mathcal{A}_{MN})$ is a symplectic matrix:

$$\mathcal{A}\Omega\mathcal{A} = \Omega \,, \tag{2.72}$$

which is not surprising since it is just $-\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\mathcal{F})$. It follows that $(\mathcal{A}^{M}{}_{N}) = (\Omega^{PM}\mathcal{A}_{PN}) = -\Omega\mathcal{A}$ is also a symplectic matrix.

By definition, the original and tilded, i.e., Freudenthal dual, $H\mbox{-}variables$ are related by 13

$$\tilde{H}_M(H) = \mathcal{A}_{MN} H^N, \qquad \tilde{H}^M(H) = \mathcal{A}^M{}_N H^N.$$
(2.74)

¹³Explicitly, we have

$$(\tilde{H}^{M}) = \begin{pmatrix} -\sigma^{1\,\Lambda\Sigma}H_{\Sigma} \\ \sigma^{1}_{\Lambda\Sigma}H^{\Sigma} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -H_{1} \\ -H_{0} \\ H^{1} \\ H^{0} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.73)

This vector should be compared with $Q^M(b, -a)$ in Eq. (2.63).

Therefore in this simple model the Freudenthal duality transformation is linear and is, furthermore, a symplectic transformation. It is clearly a transformation that does not belong to the global symmetries that act on the axidilaton $(i.e., Sl(2; \mathbb{R}))$ whose embedding into Sp(4; \mathbb{R}) is given in Eq. (2.57)), but it is a symmetry transformation that acts on objects with symplectic indices such as the vector fields and as such must be considered a part of the duality group of the model¹⁴.

As expected in Freudenthal duality

$$\mathcal{A}^{M}{}_{P} \mathcal{A}^{P}{}_{N} = -\delta^{M}{}_{N}. \tag{2.75}$$

We can extend the Freudenthal duality transformation to all symplectic vectors. The properties

$$\tilde{X}_M Y^M = \tilde{Y}_M X^M = -Y_M \tilde{X}^M, \quad \Rightarrow \quad \tilde{X}_M \tilde{Y}^M = X_M Y^M, \tag{2.76}$$

which hold in this particular model for any two symplectic vectors X^M and Y^M because Freudenthal duality is a symplectic transformation, will be used very often.

The Hesse potential is given by the $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ invariant discussed in earlier sections

$$W(H) \equiv \tilde{H}_M(H)H^M = \mathcal{A}_{MN}H^M H^N = 2(H^0H^1 + H_0H_1), \qquad (2.77)$$

and in accordance with the general formalism it determines the model completely: the effective action can be constructed entirely from it and the metric function e^{-2U} and the axidilaton λ are related to the Hesse potential by

$$e^{-2U} = \mathsf{W}(H), \qquad \lambda \equiv iZ = i\frac{\tilde{H}^1 + iH^1}{\tilde{H}^0 + iH^0} = \frac{H^1 + iH_0}{H_1 - iH^0}.$$
 (2.78)

The metric $g_{MN}(H)$ of this system can be written in the form

$$g_{MN} = 2 \,\mathfrak{N}_{MNPQ} \,\frac{H^P H^Q}{\mathsf{W}^2} \,, \tag{2.79}$$

where we have defined the constant matrix

$$\mathfrak{N}_{MNPQ} \equiv \mathcal{A}_{MN} \mathcal{A}_{PQ} - 2\mathcal{A}_{MP} \mathcal{A}_{NQ} - \Omega_{MP} \Omega_{NQ} \,. \tag{2.80}$$

Using this notation, the derivatives of the metric take the form

$$\partial_M g_{PQ} = -4 \frac{\tilde{H}_M}{\mathsf{W}} g_{PQ} + 4 \mathfrak{N}_{PQ(MR)} \frac{H^R}{\mathsf{W}^2}, \qquad (2.81)$$

and the Christoffel symbols of the first kind are given by¹⁵

$$[PQ, M] = 2 \frac{\tilde{H}_M g_{PQ} - \tilde{H}_P g_{QM} - \tilde{H}_Q g_{PM}}{\mathsf{W}}$$

$$- [6\mathcal{A}_{PQ} \mathcal{A}_{MR} - 4\mathcal{A}_{M(P} \mathcal{A}_{Q)R} + 4\Omega_{M(P} \Omega_{Q)R}] \frac{H^R}{\mathsf{W}^2}.$$

$$(2.82)$$

 $^{14}{\rm See}$ footnote 12.

¹⁵We remind the reader that the metric $g_{MN}(H)$ is not invertible, so we cannot use the standard Christoffel symbols $\Gamma_{PQ}{}^M \equiv g^{NM}[PQ, M]$.

It is easy to check that $\tilde{H}^M[PQ, M] = 0$, as required by Freudenthal duality invariance.

The potential V can be written in the convenient form

$$\mathsf{W}^2 V(H, \mathcal{Q}) = -\frac{1}{2} \mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}) \mathsf{W} + (H^M \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_M)^2 + (H^M \mathcal{Q}_M)^2, \qquad (2.83)$$

and its derivative reads

$$\partial_M V = -4 \frac{\tilde{H}_M}{\mathsf{W}} \left[V + \frac{1}{4} \frac{\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q})}{\mathsf{W}} \right] + 2(\mathcal{Q}_M \mathcal{Q}_N + \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_M \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_N) \frac{H^N}{\mathsf{W}^2}; \qquad (2.84)$$

using the properties Eq. (2.76) it is easy to see that $\tilde{H}^M \partial_M V = 0$, which is the last requirement for having local Freudenthal duality [189].

Observe that, in this model, a Freudenthal duality transformation of the charge vectors *only* (that is: not of the variables H^M), not only preserves $W(\mathcal{Q})$ but also the complete potential and black-hole potential, *i.e.*,

$$W(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}) = W(\mathcal{Q}) \Rightarrow V(H, \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}) = V(H, \mathcal{Q}), \text{ and } V_{bh}(H, \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}) = V_{bh}(H, \mathcal{Q}).$$
 (2.85)

On the other hand, using the definition of the fake charge Eq. (2.44) one can show that for any values of H^M

$$-V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{Q}) = -\frac{1}{2}\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}) + 2|\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q})|^2 = -\frac{1}{2}\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{P}) + 2|\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{P})|^2 = -V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{P}), \quad (2.86)$$

$$|\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{P})|^2 = |\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q})|^2 - \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}).$$
(2.87)

The first identity means that, if Q is an attractor, so will \mathcal{P} . The fact that it is an identity for arbitrary values of H^M means that replacing Q by \mathcal{P} in an extremal solution gives another extremal solution with the attractor \mathcal{P} . The second identity is a consequence of the first and implies that

$$W(\mathcal{Q}) < 0, \Rightarrow |\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{P})| > |\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q})|,$$

$$W(\mathcal{Q}) > 0, \Rightarrow |\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Q})| > |\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{P})|,$$
(2.88)

for all values of H^M . The second case should correspond to the supersymmetric attractor in which the evaporation process stops when the mass equals the largest central charge, which in this case is the true one.

Finally, observe that this black-hole potential satisfies the curious interchange property

$$V_{\rm bh}(H,\mathcal{Q}) = \frac{\mathsf{W}(H)}{\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q})} V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{Q},H) \,. \tag{2.89}$$

2.4.3 The symmetries in the H-FGK formalism

In Section 2.4.1 we discussed the global symmetries of the axidilaton model (more precisely, of its scalar manifold metric) when it is described in terms of the standard fields and have studied the embedding of these symmetries into $\text{Sp}(4; \mathbb{R})$. It is in this form that we expect these symmetries to be present in the H-FGK formalism. On the other hand, there may be additional non-obvious symmetries such as Freudenthal duality (which is in general non-linear) in the H-FGK formalism.

Let us consider first the kinetic term: if we consider only linear transformations of the ${\cal H}^M$

$$\delta H^M = T^M{}_N H^N \,, \tag{2.90}$$

it is evident that they will leave the kinetic term invariant if they are symplectic transformations, *i.e.*,

$$\Omega_{P(M}T^{P}{}_{N)} = 0, \qquad (2.91)$$

and are furthermore symmetries of the Hesse potential

$$\delta \mathsf{W} = 2\tilde{H}_M \delta H^M = 2\tilde{H}_M \ T^M{}_N \ H^N = 0 \quad \longrightarrow \quad [\Omega \mathcal{A}, T] = \beta \mathbb{1}_{4 \times 4} \,, \tag{2.92}$$

where β is a real constant that can vanish. It is not difficult to see that for infinitesimal symplectic transformations, β must indeed vanish, and the only independent generators that solve the above equation are the three $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ generators T_i given in Eq. (2.58) plus

$$T_4 = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{A}\Omega\,,\tag{2.93}$$

which generates the Freudenthal transformations and commutes with the generators of $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})^{16}$.

It can be checked that these symmetries leave invariant the metric g_{MN} . Actually, the metric is invariant under the constant rescalings of the H^M

$$T_5 \equiv \frac{1}{4} \mathbb{1}_{4 \times 4} \,, \tag{2.94}$$

which are not symplectic transformations and leave the Hesse potential invariant only up to a multiplicative constant, in the same way as the Kähler potential is invariant under isometries of the Kähler metric only up to Kähler transformations.

We can study now the invariance of the potential using the expression for $\partial_M V$ given in Eq. (2.84). The first term cancels for i = 1, 2, 3, 4 (we do not need to check i = 5: the potential is homogeneous of degree -2 and $\delta_5 V = -2V \neq 0$ in general) and the rest gives

$$\delta_i V = -2H^N T_i{}^M{}_N (\mathcal{Q}_M \mathcal{Q}_N + \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_M \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_N) \frac{H^N}{\mathsf{W}^2}, \qquad (2.95)$$

which vanishes only for the Freudenthal transformation i = 4 unless we also perform the same transformation on the charge vector: this means that $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ is only a *pseudosymmetry* of the system, since the constants that enter the action are rotated. The charges appear as integration constants of the solution of the equations of motion for the electrostatic and magnetostatic potentials in Ref. [173] and $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ is probably a (standard) symmetry of the effective theory before that.

There are no conserved quantities associated to pseudo-symmetries, whence there is only one conserved current: the one associated to the Freudenthal duality. This current vanishes, however, identically, which is a generic feature of the formalism.

¹⁶it is not difficult to see that the Hesse potential of the axidilaton model is not determined by $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ invariance alone: one must require invariance under Freudenthal duality.

2.4.4 Critical points

The critical points of this model are equivariant vectors B^M satisfying the equations

$$\partial_M V_{\rm bh}|_{H=B} = -2 \frac{\tilde{B}_M}{\mathsf{W}(B)} \left[V_{\rm bh}(B,\mathcal{Q}) - \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}) \right] - 2(\mathcal{Q}_M \mathcal{Q}_N + \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_M \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_N) \frac{B^N}{\mathsf{W}(B)} = 0.$$
(2.96)

Using the basis of equivariant vectors $\{U_{\sigma}\} = \{Q, \tilde{Q}, \mathcal{P}, \tilde{\mathcal{P}}\}$ constructed in Section 2.4.1, we can write any such solution as

$$B^M = a\mathcal{Q}^M + \tilde{a}\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}^M + b\mathcal{P}^M + \tilde{b}\tilde{\mathcal{P}}^M.$$
(2.97)

The only non-vanishing symplectic products of the four basis vectors are

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_M \mathcal{Q}^M = \mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}), \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{P}}_M \mathcal{P}^M = -\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}),$$
(2.98)

and a very simple calculation gives

$$\partial_{M} V_{\rm bh}|_{H=B} = \frac{-2}{(a^{2} + \tilde{a}^{2} - b^{2} - \tilde{b}^{2})} \left\{ \tilde{a}(b^{2} + \tilde{b}^{2})\mathcal{Q}_{M} - a(b^{2} + \tilde{b}^{2})\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{M} + \tilde{b}(a^{2} + \tilde{a}^{2})\mathcal{P}_{M} - b(a^{2} + \tilde{a}^{2})\tilde{\mathcal{P}}_{M} \right\} = 0, \qquad (2.99)$$

which only admits two non-trivial solutions: $b = \tilde{b} = 0$ and $a = \tilde{a} = 0$. The first solution, up to global normalization (which is undetermined in this formalism because the black-hole potential is scale-invariant), corresponds to a global Freudenthal rotation with arbitrary angle of the standard supersymmetric attractor $B^M = Q^M$ and the second corresponds to a global Freudenthal rotation of the standard non-supersymmetric attractor $B^M = \mathcal{P}^M$ [190].

We obtain the following relations

$$V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{P},\mathcal{P}) = -V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{Q},\mathcal{P}) = V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{P},\mathcal{Q}) = -V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{Q},\mathcal{Q}) = \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}), \qquad (2.100)$$

that are necessary to have the corresponding near-horizon solutions, see Eq. (2.21).

2.4.5 Conventional extremal solutions

As a first simple illustration of the methods proposed in the first section of this chapter, we are going to review the construction of the extremal solutions¹⁷ performed in Ref. [191].

From the results of that paper we know that all of them (including the extremal non-supersymmetric ones) are going to be conventional, but it is important for us to understand why. Thus, we start from the near-horizon solutions given by Eq. (2.20) where B^M takes the values of the attractors found in the previous section, normalized so that (see Eq. (2.21))

$$V_{\rm bh}(B, \mathcal{Q}) = V_{\rm bh}(B, B) = -\frac{1}{2} \mathsf{W}(B).$$
 (2.101)

¹⁷The axidilaton model is a particular case (n = 1) of the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ model. We will construct the most general non-extremal solutions of that model (and, hence, of the axidilaton model) later.

The attractors that satisfy these conditions are global Freudenthal rotations of the standard supersymmetric attractor \mathcal{Q}^M and of the non-supersymmetric one \mathcal{P}^M , *i.e.*,

either
$$B^M = \cos\theta Q^M + \sin\theta \tilde{Q}^M$$
,
or $B^M = \cos\theta \mathcal{P}^M + \sin\theta \tilde{\mathcal{P}}^M$. (2.102)

The results of Section (2.2) guarantee that Eq. (2.20) provides a near-horizon solution for these choices of B^M . Now, to see if we can extend these solutions to asymptotically flat solutions by adding an infinitesimal constant vector to these H^M as in Eq. (2.23), we have to compute the rank of \mathfrak{M}_{MN} in Eq. (2.27) to find how many independent solutions ε^M exist.

It is enough to consider a charge configuration whose orbit covers the complete charge space (see Appendix A.1) and, therefore, we set $p^0 = p^1 = 0$, getting, for the supersymmetric (+) and non-supersymmetric (-) cases, the matrix

$$(\mathfrak{M}_{MN}) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{q_1^2} & \pm \frac{1}{q_0 q_1} & 0 & 0\\ \pm \frac{1}{q_0 q_1} & \frac{1}{q_0^2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.103)

This matrix has rank 1 and, furthermore, the three independent solutions to Eq. (2.27) satisfy the constraint $B^M \varepsilon_M = 0$. This means that there is no obstruction to the addition of arbitrary (up to normalization W(A) = 1 and the condition $B^M A_M = 0$) constants A^M to the near-horizon harmonic functions, which now take the form

$$H^M = A^M - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} B^M \tau \,. \tag{2.104}$$

The two independent components of A^M describe the two real moduli of this theory $\Re \mathfrak{e}(\lambda_{\infty})$, $\Im \mathfrak{m}(\lambda_{\infty})$ and A^M is given by [191]

$$A^{M} = \sqrt{2} \operatorname{\mathfrak{Im}} \left(\frac{\mathcal{Z}^{*}(\phi_{\infty}, B)}{|\mathcal{Z}(\phi_{\infty}, B)|} \mathcal{V}_{\infty}^{M} \right) .$$
(2.105)

To show that the equations of motion are satisfied for finite constants A^M (which is only needed in the non-supersymmetric case) we can proceed as follows: from the linearity of the H^M it is possible to show that these configurations satisfy first-order flow equations [355]. These, in turn can be shown to imply the standard second-order equations of motion if and only if the identity

$$V_{\rm bh}(H,\mathcal{Q}) = V_{\rm bh}(H,B), \qquad (2.106)$$

is satisfied for arbitrary values of H. This is evident for $B^M = Q^M$ (the supersymmetric attractor) and has been shown for $B^M = \mathcal{P}^M$ (the non-supersymmetric attractor) in Eq. (2.46) and the invariance of the black-hole potential under Freudenthal transformations of the charges extends this result to the other two (physically indistinguishable) attractors and proves that these configurations are classical solutions of the model.

2.4.6 Unconventional solutions

We do not expect more extremal black-hole solutions to the axidilaton model since the solutions constructed in the previous section already have the maximal number of independent physical parameters (charges Q^M and moduli λ_{∞}) which are constrained only by the requirement that the horizon has a non-vanishing area, *i.e.*, W(B) > 0.

On the other hand, we can rewrite these solutions in an unconventional form (*i.e.*, so that $\dot{H}^M H_M \neq 0$) by using local Freudenthal duality transformations, but in this case doing so merely complicates the form of the solution in the H-FGK formalism.

2.5 The $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ model

The prepotential of the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ model is given by¹⁸

$$\mathcal{F} = -\frac{i}{4}\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}\mathcal{X}^{\Sigma}, \qquad (\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}) = \operatorname{diag}(+-\cdots-).$$
(2.107)

The $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ model contains n scalar fields given by

$$Z^i \equiv \mathcal{X}^i / \mathcal{X}^0 \,, \tag{2.108}$$

but it is convenient to add $Z^0 \equiv 1$ and we define

$$(Z^{\Lambda}) \equiv \left(\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}/\mathcal{X}^{0}\right) = (1, Z^{i}), \qquad (Z_{\Lambda}) \equiv (\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}Z^{\Sigma}) = (1, Z_{i}) = (1, -Z^{i}). \qquad (2.109)$$

The Kähler potential, the Kähler metric, the inverse Kähler metric and the covariantly holomorphic symplectic section read

$$\mathcal{K} = -\log \left(Z^{*\Lambda} Z_{\Lambda} \right),$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij^{*}} = -e^{\mathcal{K}} \left(\eta_{ij^{*}} - e^{\mathcal{K}} Z_{i}^{*} Z_{j^{*}} \right),$$

$$\mathcal{G}^{ij^{*}} = -e^{-\mathcal{K}} \left(\eta^{ij^{*}} + Z^{i} Z^{*j^{*}} \right),$$

$$\mathcal{V} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \begin{pmatrix} Z^{\Lambda} \\ -\frac{i}{2} Z_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.110)

It is also convenient to define the following complex charge combinations

$$\Gamma_{\Lambda} \equiv q_{\Lambda} + \frac{i}{2} \eta_{\Lambda \Sigma} p^{\Sigma} , \qquad (2.111)$$

in terms of which the central charge, its holomorphic Kähler-covariant derivative and the black-hole potential are

$$\mathcal{Z} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} Z^{\Lambda} \Gamma_{\Lambda} \equiv \mathcal{Z}(\Gamma) ,$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{i} \mathcal{Z} = e^{3\mathcal{K}/2} Z_{i}^{*} Z^{\Lambda} \Gamma_{\Lambda} - e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \Gamma_{i} ,$$

$$-V_{bh} = 2e^{\mathcal{K}} |Z^{\Lambda} \Gamma_{\Lambda}|^{2} - \Gamma^{*\Lambda} \Gamma_{\Lambda} .$$
(2.112)

¹⁸The black-hole solutions of this model have been studied in [190].

We can extend this complex notation to any symplectic vector:

if
$$(A^M) = \begin{pmatrix} a^{\Lambda} \\ b_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix}$$
 then
$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} \equiv b_{\Lambda} + \frac{i}{2}\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}a^{\Sigma}, \\ \mathcal{A}^{\Lambda} \equiv \eta^{\Lambda\Sigma}\mathcal{A}_{\Sigma} = \eta^{\Lambda\Sigma}b_{\Sigma} + \frac{i}{2}a^{\Lambda}, \end{cases}$$
 (2.113)

and the symplectic product of two vectors becomes

$$A_M B^M = -2\Im \mathfrak{m}(\mathcal{A}_\Lambda \mathcal{B}^{*\Lambda}), \qquad (2.114)$$

where of course $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}\mathcal{B}^{*\Lambda} = \mathcal{A}^{\Lambda}\mathcal{B}^{*}{}_{\Lambda}$. We will use both notations, based on convenience.

2.5.1 The global symmetries of the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ model

The *n* complex scalars of the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ model parametrize the symmetric coset space $\mathrm{SU}(1,n)/\mathrm{SU}(n)$, and the full theory is invariant under global $\mathrm{SU}(1,n)$ transformations¹⁹. If $\Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma}$ is a generic element in the fundamental representation of $\mathrm{SU}(1,n)$, *i.e.*, if it satisfies

$$\Lambda^{*\Gamma}{}_{\Lambda} \eta_{\Gamma\Delta} \Lambda^{\Delta}{}_{\Sigma} = \eta_{\Lambda\Sigma} , \quad (\text{or } \Lambda^{\dagger} \eta \Lambda = \eta) , \qquad \det \Lambda = 1 , \qquad (2.115)$$

then its action on the scalars is given by

$$Z'^{\Lambda} = \frac{\Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} Z^{\Sigma}}{\Lambda^{0}{}_{\Sigma} Z^{\Sigma}}, \qquad Z'_{\Lambda} = \frac{\Lambda_{\Lambda}{}^{\Sigma} Z_{\Sigma}}{\Lambda^{0}{}_{\Sigma} Z^{\Sigma}}, \qquad (2.116)$$

where we have raised and lowered the indices of the SU(1, n) matrix with the metric η . In the fundamental representation the n(n+2) infinitesimal generators of $\mathfrak{su}(1, n)$

$$\Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} \sim \delta^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} + \alpha^m T_m{}^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} , \qquad (2.117)$$

are matrices such that $T_{m\Lambda\Sigma} = \eta_{\Lambda\Gamma} T_m^{\Gamma}{}_{\Sigma}$ is anti-Hermitean. Substituting the infinitesimal linear transformations in the non-linear transformation rules of the scalars, Eq. (2.116), we find that they take the form

$$Z'^{\Lambda} = Z^{\Lambda} + \alpha^m k_m^{\Lambda}(Z) \,, \tag{2.118}$$

where $k_m^{\Lambda}(Z)$, the holomorphic part of the Killing vectors K_m , is given by²⁰

$$k_m{}^{\Lambda}(Z) = T_m{}^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} Z^{\Sigma} - T_m{}^{0}{}_{\Omega} Z^{\Omega} Z^{\Lambda} .$$
(2.119)

The commutation relations of the generators T_m and the Lie brackets of the Killing vectors are related as usual:

$$[T_m, T_n] = f_{mn}{}^p T_p, \qquad [K_m, K_n] = -f_{mn}{}^p K_p. \qquad (2.120)$$

¹⁹Actually, the coset space can also be described as U(1,n)/U(n), which would imply that the global symmetry group of the model is U(1,n). As in the axidilaton model (the n = 1 case), the extra U(1), that does not act on the scalars, is the Freudenthal duality group (see footnote 12). We thank Alessio Marrani for clarifying discussions on this point.

²⁰The $\Lambda = 0$ component vanishes, as it should, but it is useful to keep it.

The action of the finite SU(1, n) transformations on the Kähler potential and on the canonical covariantly-holomorphic symplectic section \mathcal{V} are given by the obvious generalization of Eqs. (2.54) and (2.55) where now

$$f(Z) = \log\left(\Lambda^0{}_{\Sigma}Z^{\Sigma}\right), \qquad (2.121)$$

$$(S^{M}{}_{N}) = \begin{pmatrix} \Re \mathfrak{e} \Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} & -2\Im \mathfrak{m} \Lambda^{\Lambda\Sigma} \\ \\ \frac{1}{2}\Im \mathfrak{m} \Lambda_{\Lambda\Sigma} & \Re \mathfrak{e} \Lambda_{\Lambda}{}^{\Sigma} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.122)$$

where once again we have raised and lowered the indices of $\Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma}$ with η . The condition $\Lambda^{\dagger}\eta\Lambda = \eta$ implies for the real and imaginary parts of Λ

$$\Re \mathfrak{e} \Lambda_{\Delta\Lambda} \ \Im \mathfrak{m} \Lambda^{\Delta}{}_{\Sigma} = \Im \mathfrak{m} \Lambda_{\Delta\Lambda} \ \Re \mathfrak{e} \Lambda^{\Delta}{}_{\Sigma} , \qquad \Re \mathfrak{e} \Lambda_{\Delta\Lambda} \ \Re \mathfrak{e} \Lambda^{\Delta}{}_{\Sigma} + \Im \mathfrak{m} \Lambda_{\Delta\Lambda} \ \Im \mathfrak{m} \Lambda^{\Delta}{}_{\Sigma} = \eta_{\Lambda\Sigma} ,$$

$$(2.123)$$

and implies that the matrix $(S^M{}_N)$ constructed above satisfies $S^T\Omega S = \Omega$ and therefore belongs to $\operatorname{Sp}(2n_v+2;\mathbb{R})$. The infinitesimal generators in this representation, *i.e.*, $(T_m{}^M{}_N)$, can be constructed in the same way, leading to

$$(T_m{}^M{}_N) = \begin{pmatrix} \Re \mathfrak{e} T_m{}^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} & -2\Im \mathfrak{m} T_m{}^{\Lambda\Sigma} \\ \\ \frac{1}{2}\Im \mathfrak{m} T_m{}_{\Lambda\Sigma} & \Re \mathfrak{e} T_m{}_{\Lambda}{}^{\Sigma} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.124)

Equivariant vectors

The search for equivariant vectors is simplified by using the complex combinations defined above: we look for vectors \mathcal{B}^{Λ} behaving as Γ^{Λ} under duality transformations, *i.e.*, such that its complex conjugate transforms in the fundamental representation of SU(1, n)

$$\Gamma^{*'\Lambda} = \Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} \Gamma^{*\Sigma}, \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mathcal{B}^{*'\Lambda} = \Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} \mathcal{B}^{*\Sigma}.$$
(2.125)

Observe that $\Gamma^*{}^{\Lambda}\Gamma_{\Lambda}$ and $\mathcal{B}^*{}^{\Lambda}\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$ are duality invariants.

The simplest equivariant vectors are, up to a complex constant, just equal to the charge vector Γ^{Λ} . This constant is relevant because, as we will see, the complex form of the Freudenthal dual of the charge vector

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{M} = \begin{pmatrix} -2\eta^{\Sigma\Lambda}q_{\Lambda} \\ \\ \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}p^{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.126)$$

is just $\tilde{\Gamma}^{\Lambda} = -i\Gamma^{\Lambda}$, whence the phase of the constant corresponds to a global Freudenthal duality rotation. This immediately implies that the SU(1, n) invariants $\Gamma^{*\Lambda}\Gamma_{\Lambda}$ and $\mathcal{B}^{*\Lambda}\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$ are also invariant under Freudenthal U(1) duality. There may be other equivariant vectors which are functions of the charges only, but we will not need them.

We can use the moduli Z_{∞}^{Λ} in order to construct more equivariant vectors. Again, up to normalization, the only one we will need is the generic vector given in Eq. (2.17). Multiplying it by the invariant $\Gamma^*{}^{\Lambda}\Gamma_{\Lambda}$ as to give it the right dimensions for later convenience, we have the equivariant vector

$$\Sigma^{\Lambda} \equiv \frac{Z_{\infty}^{*\Lambda}}{Z_{\infty}^{*\Sigma} \Gamma_{\Sigma}^{*}} \Gamma^{*\Sigma} \Gamma_{\Sigma} . \qquad (2.127)$$

We will see that in order to find the most general solutions of this model, it is enough to consider complex linear combinations of the two equivariant vectors constructed thus far:

$$\mathcal{B}^{\Lambda} = \alpha \Gamma^{\Lambda} + \beta \Sigma^{\Lambda} \,, \tag{2.128}$$

where α and β are complex duality invariants (including pure numbers).

Using this information we can see that in this model (for generic n), in distinction to the axidilaton model, we cannot define a fake charge \mathcal{B}^{Λ} and its associated fake central charge $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{B})$ such that

$$\mathcal{G}^{ij^*}\mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{Z}\mathcal{D}_{j^*} \mathcal{Z}^* = |\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{B})|^2 = e^{\mathcal{K}} |Z^{\Lambda} \Gamma_{\Lambda}|^2 - \Gamma^{*\Lambda} \Gamma_{\Lambda} , \qquad (2.129)$$

or such that

$$V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{Q}) = V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{B}), \qquad (2.130)$$

for arbitrary values of the scalars. This fact has important implications for the construction of extremal non-supersymmetric solutions as the first-order equations do not imply the second order ones, which therefore have to be solved explicitly. In this chapter we are going to construct directly the general non-extremal solutions from which all the extremal ones can be obtained in the appropriate limits.

2.5.2 H-FGK formalism

The stabilization equations of this model are solved by a linear relation between \mathcal{R}_M and \mathcal{I}^M , as in the axidilaton case:

$$\mathcal{R}_M(\mathcal{I}) = \mathcal{A}_{MN} \mathcal{I}^N, \qquad (\mathcal{A}_{MN}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\Lambda \Sigma} & 0\\ & & \\ 0 & 2\eta^{\Lambda \Sigma} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.131)$$

which implies that the Freudenthal dual can be expressed as

$$\tilde{H}^{M} = \mathcal{A}^{M}{}_{N}H^{N}, \qquad (\mathcal{A}^{M}{}_{N}) = (\Omega^{PM}\mathcal{A}_{PN}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -2\eta^{\Lambda\Sigma} \\ & & \\ \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.132)

As in the axidilaton case, \mathcal{A}_{MN} is a symplectic matrix, but, in contradistinction to that case, $\mathcal{A}^{M}{}_{N}$ is not. In terms of the complex *H*-variables²¹

$$\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda} \equiv H_{\Lambda} + \frac{i}{2} \eta_{\Lambda \Sigma} H^{\Sigma} \,, \tag{2.133}$$

discrete Freudenthal duality is equivalent to multiplication by a factor of -i.

The Hesse potential reads

$$W(H) = \mathcal{A}_{MN} H^M H^N = \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\Lambda \Sigma} H^\Lambda H^\Sigma + 2\eta^{\Lambda \Sigma} H_\Lambda H_\Sigma = 2\mathcal{H}^{*\Lambda} \mathcal{H}_\Lambda , \qquad (2.134)$$

and the metric function e^{-2U} and the scalars Z^i can be easily obtained from it as

$$e^{-2U} = \mathsf{W}(H), \qquad Z^{i} = \frac{\tilde{H}^{i} + iH^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0} + iH^{0}} = \frac{H_{i} + \frac{i}{2}H^{i}}{-H_{0} + \frac{i}{2}H^{0}} = \frac{\mathcal{H}_{i}^{*}}{\mathcal{H}_{0}^{*}}.$$
 (2.135)

²¹Observe that, in his notation, $\mathcal{H}^{\Lambda} \equiv \eta^{\Lambda\Sigma} \mathcal{H}_{\Sigma}$ but $H^{\Lambda} \neq \eta^{\Lambda\Sigma} H_{\Sigma}$.

The metric $g_{MN}(H)$ and the potential V(H) have the same structure as in the axidilaton case when we write them in terms of the matrix \mathcal{A}_{MN} (which, evidently, is different). Then, the expressions from Eq. (2.79) to Eq. (2.84) are also valid here upon use of the new matrix \mathcal{A}_{MN} .

The central charge of the model, Eq. (2.112), takes in the H-FGK formalism the form

$$\mathcal{Z}(H,Q) = -\frac{(H_0 + \frac{i}{2}H^0)}{|H_0 + \frac{i}{2}H^0|} \frac{(\dot{H}_M + iH_M)Q^M}{\sqrt{2W(H)}}.$$
(2.136)

It is easy to check that, like in the axidilaton case, this black-hole potential satisfies

$$V_{\rm bh}(H,\mathcal{Q}) = \frac{\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q})}{\mathsf{W}(H)} V_{\rm bh}(\mathcal{Q},H) \,. \tag{2.137}$$

2.5.3 Critical points

Using the complex notation we can write the equation for the critical points \mathcal{B}_{Λ} of the black-hole potential of this model in the form

$$\frac{i}{2}\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{B})\;\partial_{\Lambda}^{*}V_{\mathrm{bh}}|_{\mathcal{H}=\mathcal{B}} = \frac{\mathcal{B}^{\Sigma}\Gamma_{\Sigma}^{*}}{\mathsf{W}(B)}\left[\mathcal{B}^{*\,\Delta}\Gamma_{\Delta}\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda} - \mathcal{B}^{*\,\Delta}\mathcal{B}_{\Delta}\Gamma_{\Lambda}\right] = 0\,,\qquad(2.138)$$

and can be solved by

$$\mathcal{B}^{\Sigma}\Gamma_{\Sigma}^{*}=0, \text{ or } \mathcal{B}^{*\Delta}\Gamma_{\Delta}\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}-\mathcal{B}^{*\Delta}\mathcal{B}_{\Delta}\Gamma_{\Lambda}=0.$$
 (2.139)

Inserting the general ansatz (2.128) into the first condition we find that it is satisfied for

$$\alpha = -\beta, \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mathcal{B}^{\Lambda} = \alpha(\Gamma^{\Lambda} - \Sigma^{\Lambda}), \qquad (2.140)$$

which, up to normalization (which is not fixed in this approach), leaves us with one arbitrary global phase associated to Freudenthal duality: this is the moduli-dependent attractor found in Ref. [190].

Inserting our ansatz (2.128) into the second condition we get the equation

$$\beta(\alpha^* + \beta^*)\Gamma^*{}^{\Delta}\Gamma_{\Delta}\Sigma_{\Lambda} - \left[2\Re\mathfrak{e}(\alpha\beta^*) + \frac{|\beta|^2\Gamma^*{}^{\Sigma}\Gamma_{\Sigma}}{|\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)|^2}\right]\Gamma^*{}^{\Delta}\Gamma_{\Delta}\Gamma_{\Lambda} = 0.$$
(2.141)

The coefficients of the two equivariant vectors must vanish separately, which can only happen for $\beta = 0$, whence $\mathcal{B}^{\Lambda} = \alpha \Gamma^{\Lambda}$: up to normalization and the Freudenthal duality phase, this is the supersymmetric attractor.

2.5.4 Conventional non-extremal solutions

In this section we are going to show how the knowledge of the equivariant vectors of the model simplifies the construction of solutions in the H-FGK formalism. We are going to see that the most general solution can be written as

$$\mathcal{H}^{\Lambda}(\tau) = a(\tau)\Gamma^{\Lambda} + b(\tau)\Sigma^{\Lambda}, \qquad (2.142)$$

where $a(\tau)$ and $b(\tau)$ are two complex, duality-invariant functions of τ to be determined. Already, at this stage, we see that this ansatz reduces dramatically the number of real functions to be found, from $2n_v + 2$ to just 4, and all of this without any loss of generality.

First of all, we are going to impose the usual Freudenthal gauge-fixing condition $\dot{H}^M H_M = 0$ [189] which in complex notation takes the form

$$\Im \mathfrak{m}(\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*\Lambda}\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}) = 0.$$
(2.143)

As shown in Ref. [189], assuming this condition, the contraction of the equations of motion with H^M leads to the equation

$$\tilde{H}_M\left(\ddot{H}^M - r_0^2 H^M\right) = 0,$$
(2.144)

which can always be solved by

$$\ddot{H}^M = r_0^2 H^M, \quad \Rightarrow \quad \ddot{\mathcal{H}}^\Lambda = r_0^2 \mathcal{H}^\Lambda.$$
(2.145)

This is not necessarily the only solution of Eq. (2.144), but as we are going to see it allows us to solve the rest of the equations without imposing unnecessary constraints on the physical parameters of the solution. This equation combined with the equivariant ansatz leads to

$$\mathcal{H}^{\Lambda}(\tau) = \left[c_1 e^{r_0 \tau} + c_3 e^{-r_0 \tau}\right] \Gamma^{\Lambda} + \left[c_2 e^{r_0 \tau} + c_4 e^{-r_0 \tau}\right] \Sigma^{\Lambda}, \qquad (2.146)$$

so it only remains to determine the four complex invariants c_i $(i = 1, \dots, 4)$ in terms of the charges Γ_{Λ} , the moduli Z_{∞}^{Λ} and the mass M (or alternatively of the non-extremality parameter r_0).

These four constants can be constrained even further by requiring that the ansatz gives the right asymptotic behavior for the physical fields in Eq. (2.135): requiring that $Z_{\infty}^{\Lambda} = \mathcal{H}_{\infty}^{*\Lambda}/\mathcal{H}_{\infty}^{*0}$ we get²²

$$c_1 + c_3 = 0. (2.147)$$

Asymptotic flatness requires that $\mathcal{H}_{\infty}^{*\Lambda}\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda,\infty} = \frac{1}{2}$ which, upon use of the above condition, gives

$$|c_2 + c_4|^2 - \frac{|\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)|^2}{2(\Gamma^*{}^{\Lambda}\Gamma_{\Lambda})^2} = 0, \qquad (2.148)$$

where $\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)$ is the central charge at spatial infinity. The gauge-fixing condition (2.143) gives (again, upon use of Eq. (2.147))

$$\Im \mathfrak{m} \left[c_3^*(c_2 + c_4) \right] + \Im \mathfrak{m} \left[c_2^* c_4 \right] \frac{\Gamma^* \Lambda \Gamma_\Lambda}{|\mathcal{Z}_\infty(\Gamma)|^2} = 0.$$
(2.149)

Finally, we can still make global Freudenthal duality rotations, which are not fixed by Eq. (2.143): this freedom cannot be used to solve Eq. (2.149) but can be used to simplify it by fixing the phase of one of the constants to a convenient value.

Using the gauge-fixing condition (2.143), the Hamiltonian constraint takes the form

$$\left[\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*\Lambda}\dot{\mathcal{H}}_{\Lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\Gamma^{*\Lambda}\Gamma_{\Lambda}\right]\mathcal{H}^{*\Sigma}\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma} - 2(\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*\Lambda}\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda})^{2} + \left|\mathcal{H}^{*\Lambda}\Gamma_{\Lambda}\right|^{2} - r_{0}^{2}(\mathcal{H}^{*\Lambda}\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda})^{2} = 0, \quad (2.150)$$

²² In the (H-)FGK coordinate system, spatial infinity corresponds to the limit $\tau \to 0^-$.

and using the gauge-fixing condition plus Eq. (2.145) and the Hamiltonian constraint above, the equations of motion take the form

$$\mathcal{H}^{*}_{\Lambda} \left[2(\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*\Sigma}\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma})^{2} - \left| \mathcal{H}^{*\Sigma}\Gamma_{\Sigma} \right|^{2} \right] + \Gamma^{*}_{\Lambda} (\mathcal{H}^{*\Sigma}\Gamma_{\Sigma})(\mathcal{H}^{*\Delta}\mathcal{H}_{\Delta}) - 2\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*}_{\Lambda} (\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*\Sigma}\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma})(\mathcal{H}^{*\Delta}\mathcal{H}_{\Delta}) = 0.$$

$$(2.151)$$

The coefficients of the two equivariant vectors Γ_{Λ} and Σ_{Λ} must vanish independently, which implies that we must solve the following equations

$$a^{*}\left[2(\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*\Sigma}\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma})^{2}-\left|\mathcal{H}^{*\Sigma}\Gamma_{\Sigma}\right|^{2}\right]+(\mathcal{H}^{*\Sigma}\Gamma_{\Sigma})(\mathcal{H}^{*\Delta}\mathcal{H}_{\Delta})-2\dot{a}^{*}(\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*\Sigma}\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma})(\mathcal{H}^{*\Delta}\mathcal{H}_{\Delta})=0,$$
(2.152)

$$b^* \left[2(\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*\,\Sigma}\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma})^2 - \left| \mathcal{H}^{*\,\Sigma}\Gamma_{\Sigma} \right|^2 \right] - 2\dot{b}^*(\dot{\mathcal{H}}^{*\,\Sigma}\mathcal{H}_{\Sigma})(\mathcal{H}^{*\,\Delta}\mathcal{H}_{\Delta}) = 0.$$
(2.153)

The coefficients of b^* and \dot{b}^* in the last equation are real (on account of the gauge-fixing condition) and this implies that the phases of c_2 and c_4 must be the same up to π (the global sign) so that $\Im(c_2^*c_4) = 0$. Then, Eq. (2.149) states that the phase of c_3 must be the same as that of c_2 and c_4 , again up to π . We know that in the near-horizon limit (*i.e.*, $\tau \to -\infty$) of the extremal non-supersymmetric case the phases of c_3 and c_4 must differ by π and, since this difference is constant, this must always be the case. Furthermore, in the extremal non-supersymmetric case $\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma) = 0$ and Eq. (2.148) implies that c_2 and c_4 must also have opposite global signs. Therefore we find

$$\arg(c_3) = \arg(c_2) = \arg(c_4) + \pi \equiv \theta, \qquad (2.154)$$

and, by making use of the global Freudenthal duality freedom

$$|c_2| - |c_4| = -\frac{|\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)|}{\sqrt{2}\Gamma^* \Lambda \Gamma_{\Lambda}}.$$
(2.155)

To simplify the calculations further, we introduce the constant A

$$|c_2| + |c_4| = -\frac{|\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)|}{\sqrt{2}\Gamma^*{}^{\Lambda}\Gamma_{\Lambda}}A, \qquad (2.156)$$

which allows us to rewrite Eq. (2.146) as

$$\mathcal{H}^{\Lambda}(\tau) = e^{i\theta} \left\{ -2|c_3| \sinh r_0 \tau \Gamma^{\Lambda} + \frac{|\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)|}{\sqrt{2}\Gamma^*{}^{\Lambda}\Gamma_{\Lambda}} \left[(1+A)e^{-r_0\tau} + (1-A)e^{r_0\tau} \right] \Sigma^{\Lambda} \right\} .$$
(2.157)

It is now straightforward to solve the equations of motion for the three constants θ , A and $|c_3|$, for which it is convenient to express the final result using the mass M (defined in Eq. (2.31))

$$M = r_0 \left[A + 2\sqrt{2} |c_3| |\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)| \right] \,. \tag{2.158}$$

The final result is

$$|c_3| = \frac{|\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)|}{2\sqrt{2}Mr_0},$$
 (2.159)

$$A = \frac{M^2 - |\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)|^2}{Mr_0}, \qquad (2.160)$$

$$e^{i\theta} = \pm \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)}{|\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)|}, \qquad (2.161)$$

$$M^{2}r_{0}^{2} = \left[M^{2} - |\hat{\mathcal{Z}}_{\infty}|^{2}\right] \left[M^{2} - |\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\Gamma)|^{2}\right], \qquad (2.162)$$

which is precisely the result obtained in Ref. [190].

We do not expect any other Freudenthal-inequivalent solutions to this model since the solutions we just found have the maximal number of independent physical parameters.

2.6 The t^3 model

The t^3 -model is characterized by the prepotential

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{X}) = -\frac{5}{6} \frac{(\mathcal{X}^1)^3}{\mathcal{X}^0} \,. \tag{2.163}$$

In terms of the coordinate $t = \mathcal{X}^1/\mathcal{X}^0$, the Kähler potential and the scalar-manifold metric are given by

$$\mathcal{K} = -3\ln\Im\mathfrak{m}\,t - \ln\frac{20}{3}\,,\qquad \mathcal{G}_{tt^*} = \frac{3}{4}\,(\Im\mathfrak{m}\,t)^{-2}\,;\qquad(2.164)$$

the covariantly holomorphic symplectic section reads

$$\mathcal{V}(t,t^*) = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ t \\ \frac{5}{6}t^3 \\ -\frac{5}{2}t^2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.165)$$

and the central charge, its covariant derivative, the black-hole potential and its partial derivative read

$$\mathcal{Z} \equiv e^{\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{K}}\hat{\mathcal{Z}}, \qquad (2.166)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_t \mathcal{Z} \equiv \frac{i}{2} \frac{e^{\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{K}}}{\Im \mathfrak{m} t} \hat{\mathcal{W}}, \qquad (2.167)$$

$$-V_{\rm bh} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[|\hat{\mathcal{Z}}|^2 + \frac{1}{3} |\hat{\mathcal{W}}|^2 \right] , \qquad (2.168)$$

$$-\partial_t V_{\rm bh} = \frac{i}{20} (\Im \mathfrak{m} t)^{-4} \left[(\hat{\mathcal{W}}^*)^2 + 3\hat{\mathcal{W}}\hat{\mathcal{Z}}^* \right] , \qquad (2.169)$$

where we have defined

$$\hat{\mathcal{Z}} = \frac{5}{6}p^0 t^3 - \frac{5}{2}p^1 t^2 - q_1 t - q_0, \qquad (2.170)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{W}} = \frac{5}{2}p^0 t^2 t^* - \frac{5}{2}p^1 t(t+2t^*) - q^1(2t+t^*) - 3q^0.$$
(2.171)

Observe that all these objects are well defined only iff $\Im \mathfrak{m} t > 0$.

2.6.1 The global symmetries of the t^3 model

The t^3 model as a theory of $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ supergravity is invariant under global $\mathrm{Sl}(2; \mathbb{R})$ transformations, just like the axidilaton model, since their Kähler metrics are identical up to a numerical factor. The action of $\mathrm{Sl}(2; \mathbb{R})$ on t is identical to its action on λ , which was discussed in Section 2.4.1. The transformations of the Kähler potential and covariantly-holomorphic symplectic section Eqs. (2.54,2.55) are determined by the holomorphic function f(t) and the $\mathrm{Sp}(4; \mathbb{R})$ matrix $S^M{}_N$ given by

$$f(t) = 3\ln(ct+d), \qquad (2.172)$$

$$(S^{M}{}_{N}) = \begin{pmatrix} d^{3} & 3d^{2}c & \frac{6}{5}c^{3} & -\frac{6}{5}dc^{2} \\ bd^{2} & (ad+2bc)d & \frac{6}{5}ac^{2} & -\frac{2}{5}(2ad+bc)c \\ \\ \frac{5}{6}b^{3} & \frac{5}{2}ab^{2} & a^{3} & -a^{2}b \\ \\ -\frac{5}{2}b^{2}d & -\frac{5}{2}(2ad+bc)b & -3a^{2}c & (ad+2bc)a \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.173)

In this case the 4-dimensional representation of the generators T_m are given by

$$(T_1{}^M{}_N) = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & & & \\ & 1 & & \\ & & -3 & \\ & & & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (T_2{}^M{}_N) = \begin{pmatrix} & -3 & & \\ -1 & & 4/5 \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$(T_3{}^M{}_N) = \begin{pmatrix} & -3 & & \\ 1 & & 4/5 \\ & & -1 \\ & -5 & 3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.174)

As in the axidilaton model, the same transformations act on all the symplectic vectors of the theory and, in particular on H^M and Q^M . There are no more symmetries in this formulation of the model.

Equivariant vectors of the t^3 model

It is not difficult to see that, from the point of view of $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$, the symplectic vectors such as the charge vector \mathcal{Q}^M transform as a quadruplet, *i.e.*, a fully symmetric 3-index covariant tensor $\mathcal{Q}_{ijk} = \mathcal{Q}_{(ijk)}$ (in the notation used in Section 2.4.1). The relation between the components of this tensor and those of the charge vector is

$$Q_{111} = p^0$$
, $Q_{112} = -p^1$, $Q_{122} = -\frac{2}{5}q_1$, $Q_{222} = -\frac{6}{5}q_0$. (2.175)

It is useful to observe that the contraction of two quadruplets is related to the symplectic product by

$$A_{ijk}B^{ijk} = -\frac{6}{5}A^M B_M \,. \tag{2.176}$$

By definition, any new $\mathrm{Sl}(2;\mathbb{R})$ quadruplet that we construct out of t_{∞} and \mathcal{Q}_{ijk} can be transformed according to the above rules into an equivariant symplectic vector of the t^3 -model. The Sl(2; \mathbb{R}) index notation makes this construction easy, but, as we are going to see, insufficient.

In order to construct $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ invariants and other quadruplets it is useful to define the matrix

$$m^{i}{}_{j} \equiv \mathcal{Q}^{ikl} \mathcal{Q}_{jkl} \,, \tag{2.177}$$

whose components take the values

$$m^{1}{}_{1} = -m^{2}{}_{2} = -\frac{2}{5}(p^{1}q_{1} + 3p^{0}q_{0}), \qquad m^{1}{}_{2} = \frac{12}{5}p^{1}q_{0} - \frac{8}{25}(q_{1})^{2}, \qquad m^{2}{}_{1} = \frac{4}{5}p^{0}q_{1} + 2(p^{1})^{2}.$$
(2.178)

The square of this matrix is

$$m_k^i m_j^k = -\frac{36}{25} J_4(\mathcal{Q}) \,\delta_j^i,$$
 (2.179)

where, since $\delta^i{}_j$ is an invariant tensor, the coefficient $J_4(\mathcal{Q})$ must be an invariant of order four in the charges; this quartic invariant is explicitly given by

$$J_4(\mathcal{Q}) \equiv \frac{8}{45}p^0(q_1)^3 + \frac{1}{3}(p^1q_1)^2 - (p^0q_0)^2 - 2p^0q_0p^1q_1 - \frac{10}{3}(p^1)^3q_0.$$
(2.180)

This is the only independent invariant that can be constructed from the charge alone. We can construct invariants taking traces of powers of m and taking also the determinant: the traces of odd powers vanish and those of even powers are proportional to $J_4(Q)$. Furthermore, the determinant is also proportional to $J_4(Q)$, *i.e.*,

$$\det(m) = \frac{36}{25} J_4(\mathcal{Q}). \tag{2.181}$$

The simplest quadruplet that can be built out of the original one Q_{ijk} is

$$\mathcal{Q}_{(ij|l} \ m^l_{\ |k)} \,. \tag{2.182}$$

This tensor is necessarily proportional to the Freudenthal dual of Q_{ijk} since

$$\mathcal{Q}_{(ij|l}m^{l}_{|k)} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\partial \operatorname{Tr} m^{2}}{\partial \mathcal{Q}^{ijk}} = -\frac{18}{25} \frac{\partial J_{4}(\mathcal{Q})}{\partial \mathcal{Q}^{ijk}}.$$
(2.183)

Using higher powers of m does not give anything new as

$$\mathcal{Q}_{(i|lm}m^{l}{}_{|j}m^{m}{}_{k)} = \mathcal{Q}_{(ij|l}m^{l}{}_{m}m^{m}{}_{|k)} = -\frac{36}{25} J_{4}(\mathcal{Q}) \mathcal{Q}_{ijk}.$$
(2.184)

We must use, therefore, contractions of Q_{ijk} such that the free indices are not those of $m^i{}_j$. At cubic order in Q_{ijk} there is only one possibility, which vanishes identically

$$\mathcal{Q}_{(i|lm}\mathcal{Q}_{|j|n}{}^{l}\mathcal{Q}_{|k)}{}^{mn} = 0, \qquad (2.185)$$

due to the antisymmetry of the symplectic metric Ω_{ij} . At order five in \mathcal{Q}_{ijk} we can consider

$$\mathcal{Q}_{i,i_1,i_2} \mathcal{Q}_{j,j_1,j_2} \mathcal{Q}_{k,k_1,k_2} \mathcal{Q}^{i_1,j_1,k_1} \mathcal{Q}^{i_2,j_2,k_2} = -\frac{36}{25} J_4(\mathcal{Q}) \mathcal{Q}_{ijk}, \qquad (2.186)$$

$$\mathcal{Q}_{(i|mn}\mathcal{Q}_{|j|pq}\mathcal{Q}_{|k)}^{mp}m^{nq} = 0. \qquad (2.187)$$

Up to at least order 9 there are no quadruplets other than Q_{ijk} and its Freudenthal dual that can be constructed by these tensor methods.
To find more, we have to solve Eq. (2.11). Since this is a very complicated task, we are going to restrict ourselves to a generating charge configuration with $p^0 = q_1 = 0$, *i.e.*,

$$\left(\mathcal{Q}^{M}\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\p^{1}\\q_{0}\\0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.188)

This subspace is preserved by the $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ transformations with b = c = 0 and d = 1/a (or equivalently by the infinitesimal transformations generated by T_1), to which by analogy we shall refer to as the *small group*. It is not difficult to see that by acting on this charge vector with the transformations with appropriate charge-dependent parameters $b \neq 0$, $c \neq 0$ (or, equivalently, by the infinitesimal transformations generated by T_2 and T_3) we can generate the complete generic charge vector with four unrestricted charge components.

It should be clear that if we construct vectors in the subspace $p^0 = q_1 = 0$ that are equivariant under the small group, then by acting on these vectors with the same transformations that generate the complete charge vector, we will obtain vectors that are equivariant under the full duality group, *i.e.*, $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$, and which reduce to the former when we set $p^0 = q_1 = 0$. Since duality transformations preserve linear independence, a base for the small-group-equivariant vectors will be transformed into a base of the dualitygroup-equivariant vectors; seeing this reasoning we shall refer to a small-group-equivariant vector as an *equivariant-generating vector*.

The equation that these equivariant-generating vectors have to solve is the restriction of Eq. (2.11) to just T_1 and allow for no dependence on p^0 nor q_1 , *i.e.*,

$$p^{1}\frac{\partial U^{P}}{\partial p^{1}} - 3q_{0}\frac{\partial U^{P}}{\partial q_{0}} = \beta^{(P)}U^{(P)}, \qquad (\beta^{P}) = \begin{pmatrix} 3\\1\\-3\\-1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.189)$$

which is solved by

$$U^{P} = \sum_{i} a_{i}^{(P)}(p^{1})^{\alpha_{i}^{(P)}}(q_{0})^{\frac{\alpha_{i}^{(P)} - \beta^{(P)}}{3}}, \qquad (2.190)$$

for arbitrary constants a_i^P, α_i^P (the parenthesis enclosing the indices P indicate that they are not summed over and the index i runs over an arbitrary number of terms). For simplicity, we can choose them to depend only on p^1 ($\alpha^P = \beta^P$) or only on q_0 ($\alpha_i^P = 0$) and take them to have only one term:

$$U^P = a^{(P)}(p^1)^{\beta^{(P)}}, \qquad U^P = a^{(P)}(q_0)^{-\beta^{(P)}/3}.$$
 (2.191)

To avoid charges with fractional components, we choose the first option and get a basis of equivariant-generating vectors

$$U_{\sigma}^{P} \sim \delta_{\sigma}^{(P)}(p^{1})^{\beta^{(P)}}$$
. (2.192)

We have found it convenient to normalize these vectors and give them names $\{R, S, U, V\}$

$$R \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \frac{10}{3}(p^1)^3 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad S \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ (\frac{10}{3}(p^1)^3)^{-1} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad U \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ p^1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad V \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 1/p^1 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (2.193)$$

The only non-vanishing symplectic contractions of these four vectors are

$$R_M S^M = -1, \qquad U_M V^M = -1, \qquad (2.194)$$

and they satisfy the completeness relation

$$R^{M}S_{N} - S^{M}R_{N} + U^{M}V_{N} - V^{M}U_{N} = \delta^{M}{}_{N}.$$
(2.195)

We can decompose any equivariant-generating vector, such as \mathcal{Q}^M w.r.t. this basis and the expression will have the same form after acting with the duality group. For \mathcal{Q}^M we find

$$R_M \mathcal{Q}^M = -\frac{10}{3} (p_1)^3 q_0 = J_4(\mathcal{Q})|_{p^0 = q_1 = 0} , \qquad V_M \mathcal{Q}^M = 1 , \qquad (2.196)$$

from which we find that in general

$$\mathcal{Q}^M = U^M - J_4(\mathcal{Q})S^M. \qquad (2.197)$$

The Freudenthal dual charge vector is (using the results of the next section) given by

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}^M = \frac{1}{\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q})} R^M + \frac{3}{4} \mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}) V^M, \qquad \mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}) = 2\sqrt{J_4(\mathcal{Q})}.$$
(2.198)

As for the moduli-dependent equivariant vectors, we can use the generic construction in Eq. (2.17) replacing \mathcal{Q} with different equivariant vectors.

2.6.2 H-FGK formalism

The stabilization equations can be solved in a completely general way [389] and the result is summarized by the Hesse potential which, in terms of the quartic invariant

$$J_4(H) \equiv \frac{8}{45} H^0(H_1)^3 + \frac{1}{3} (H^1 H_1)^2 - (H^0 H_0)^2 - 2H^0 H_0 H^1 H_1 - \frac{10}{3} (H^1)^3 H_0, \quad (2.199)$$

can be expressed as

$$W(H) = 2\sqrt{J_4(H)}$$
. (2.200)

It is convenient to introduce the fully symmetric rank-4 K-tensor [17,315], implicitly defined by²³

$$\mathbb{K}_{MNPQ}H^MH^NH^PH^Q \equiv J_4(H).$$
(2.201)

Using this tensor, we can write

$$\tilde{H}_M = \frac{\partial_M J_4}{\mathsf{W}} = 4 \frac{\mathbb{K}_{MNPQ} H^N H^P H^Q}{\mathsf{W}}, \qquad (2.202)$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\mathcal{F}) = -\frac{\partial_M \partial_N J_4}{\mathsf{W}} + 2\frac{\partial_M J_4 \partial_N J_4}{\mathsf{W}^3} = -12\frac{\mathbb{K}_{MNPQ} H^P H^Q}{\mathsf{W}} + 2\frac{\tilde{H}_M \tilde{H}_N}{\mathsf{W}} (2.203)$$

$$g_{MN} = 24 \frac{\mathbb{K}_{MNPQ} H^P H^Q}{\mathsf{W}^2} - 8 \frac{\tilde{H}_M \tilde{H}_N}{\mathsf{W}^2} - 2 \frac{H_M H_N}{\mathsf{W}^2}, \qquad (2.204)$$

²³In most of what follows, the exact form of the K-tensor will be irrelevant. The formulae and results obtained will, therefore, be valid for any $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ theory with Hesse potential of the same generic form.

and one can check (e.g. using a symbolic manipulation program) the following properties:

$$J_4(\tilde{H}) = J_4(H), \qquad (2.205)$$

$$\mathbb{K}_{MNPQ}\tilde{H}^N\tilde{H}^P\tilde{H}^Q = -\frac{1}{4}\mathsf{W}H_M, \qquad (2.206)$$

$$\mathbb{K}_{MNPQ}\tilde{H}^{P}\tilde{H}^{Q} = \mathbb{K}_{MNPQ}H^{P}H^{Q} + \frac{1}{6}(H_{M}H_{N} - \tilde{H}_{M}\tilde{H}_{N}), \qquad (2.207)$$

$$\mathbb{K}_{MNPQ}H^{P}\tilde{H}^{Q} = -\frac{1}{6}H_{(M}\tilde{H}_{N)}. \qquad (2.208)$$

These properties (which hold for any symplectic vector with non-vanishing quartic invariant which implies the existence of the Freudenthal dual) imply the invariance under Freudenthal duality of W, $\mathcal{M}_{MN}(\mathcal{F})$ and the potential V(H); the latter can be rewritten in the manifestly Freudenthal-duality-invariant form

$$V(H) = -3\mathsf{W}^{-2}\left\{\mathbb{K}_{MNPQ}\left(H^{P}H^{Q} + \tilde{H}^{P}\tilde{H}^{Q}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\left(H_{M}H_{N} + \tilde{H}_{M}\tilde{H}_{N}\right)\right\}\mathcal{Q}^{M}\mathcal{Q}^{N}.$$
(2.209)

It is, however, not possible to express it in a form manifestly invariant under the Freudenthal duality transformation of the charge vector $\mathcal{Q}^M \to \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}^M$.

The physical fields are given in terms of the H-variables by the usual expressions

$$e^{-2U} = 2W = 2\sqrt{J_4(H)},$$
 (2.210)

$$t = \frac{\tilde{H}^1 + iH^1}{\tilde{H}^0 + iH^0} = -\frac{3H^0H_0 + H^1H_1}{5(H^1)^2 + 2H^0H_1} + i\frac{3W}{2\left[5(H^1)^2 + 2H^0H_1\right]}.$$
 (2.211)

Very small vectors

The vectors \mathbb{R}^M and \mathbb{S}^M turn out to be very small charge vectors of this model [74, 241], owing to the following properties:

$$\mathbb{K}_{MNPQ}R^{P}R^{Q} = -\frac{1}{6}R_{M}R_{N}, \qquad \mathbb{K}_{MNPQ}S^{P}S^{Q} = -\frac{1}{6}S_{M}S_{N}, \qquad (2.212)$$

that leads to (in obvious shorthand notation)

$$\mathbb{K}_M R^3 = \mathbb{K}_M S^3 = 0, \qquad J_4(R) = J_4(S) = 0.$$
 (2.213)

On the other hand, the vectors U^M and V^M are both small vectors

$$J_4(U) = J_4(V) = 0. (2.214)$$

2.6.3 Critical points

The complexity of this model forces us to use a symbolic manipulation program and, further, impose the restriction $p^0 = q_1 = 0$ on the charges to search for the critical points

of the black-hole potential. Apart from the standard supersymmetric attractor $B^M = Q^M$ we find only one physically acceptable attractor given by

$$(B^M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ p^1\\ -q_0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.215)

It is an equivariant vector and we can write it in the form

$$B^{M} = U^{M} + J_{4}(\mathcal{Q})S^{M} = \mathcal{Q}^{M} + 2J_{4}(\mathcal{Q})S^{M}.$$
(2.216)

The quartic invariant for this vector can be computed readily using Eqs. (2.212-2.214), and

$$S_M \mathcal{Q}^M = 0, \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_M S^M = -1/\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{Q}), \qquad (2.217)$$

and, by Eq. (2.198), it reads

$$J_4(B) = \mathbb{K}B^4 = \mathbb{K}[\mathcal{Q} + 2J_4(\mathcal{Q})S]^4 = \mathbb{K}\mathcal{Q}^4 + 8J_4(\mathcal{Q})\mathbb{K}\mathcal{Q}^3S$$
$$= J_4(\mathcal{Q}) + 2J_4(\mathcal{Q})\mathbb{W}(\mathcal{Q})\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_MS^M$$
$$= -J_4(\mathcal{Q}).$$
(2.218)

2.6.4 Conventional extremal solutions

The supersymmetric solutions of this model are constructed as usual, and we will focus on the extremal non-supersymmetric ones which are associated to the attractor $B^M = U^M + J_4(\mathcal{Q})S^M$. For the near-horizon solutions, the H^M take the standard form Eq. (2.20) since Eq. (2.21) is satisfied. Now we must investigate whether we can add constant terms A^M to these harmonic functions satisfying only the normalization condition W(A) = 1 and the constraint $B^M A_M = 0$, which is equivalent, at the infinitesimal level, to investigating the space of solutions to Eq. (2.27). For simplicity, we work with a generating charge configuration with $p^0 = q_1 = 0$. We find for the non-supersymmetric attractor

$$(\mathfrak{M}_{MN}) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{21}{20} \frac{q_0}{(p^1)^3} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{3}{20} \frac{1}{(p^1)^2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{3}{20} \frac{1}{(p^1)^2} & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{4} \frac{1}{p^1 q_0} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.219)$$

whose rank is 2. The solutions to Eq. (2.27) have the form $(\varepsilon^M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \varepsilon^1\\ \varepsilon_0 \end{pmatrix}$ and satisfy $B^M \varepsilon_M = 0$ but we still have to impose the normalization condition W(A) = 1 on the two non-vanishing components, which leaves us with only one independent solution that can only describe one independent real moduli; this modulus turns out to be $\mathfrak{Sm}(t_\infty)$. It can

be shown that the solution takes the form [188]

$$(H^{M}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ s^{1} \left\{ \sqrt{\frac{3}{10\Im \mathfrak{m} t_{\infty}}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |p^{1}|\tau \right\} \\ -s_{0} \left\{ \sqrt{\frac{5(\Im \mathfrak{m} t_{\infty})^{3}}{24}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |q_{0}|\tau \right\} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.220)$$

where we have defined

$$s^M \equiv \operatorname{sgn}(\mathcal{Q}^M),$$
 (2.221)

and where we have to require $s^1 = s_0$ for the solution to be regular.

Having $\Re \mathfrak{e} t_{\infty} = 0$ poses a very important problem because even though the charge vector with $p^0 = q_1$ can generate via $\mathrm{Sl}(2;\mathbb{R})$ duality transformations a complete charge vector with four independent charges, it cannot at the same time generate an independent $\Re \mathfrak{e} t_{\infty} \neq 0$. In other words, this solution is not a generating solution; its orbit under $\mathrm{Sl}(2;\mathbb{R})$ rotations will not fully cover the space of parameters. A necessary and sufficient condition for a solution to be generating is that all the $\mathrm{Sl}(2;\mathbb{R})$ invariants of the theory are independent when evaluated on the charges and moduli of that solution [61, 62]. As we show in detail in Appendix A.1.2, the solution (2.220) does not satisfy this condition.

In order to have a generating solution for the class of extremal non-supersymmetric black-hole solutions associated to the attractor $B^M = U^M + J_4(\mathcal{Q})S^M$, we need to add $\Re \mathfrak{e} t_{\infty} \neq 0$ to the solution and it should be clear that this cannot be done if we make a conventional, *i.e.*, harmonic, ansatz: the H^M must contain anharmonic terms.

For future use, it is useful to have symplectic-covariant expressions for the constraints on A^M imposed by the equations of motion for a harmonic ansatz:

$$A_M U^M = 0, \qquad A_M S^M = 0.$$
 (2.222)

 $A_M B^M = 0$ only imposes the weaker condition $A_M (U^M + J_4(\mathcal{Q})S^M) = 0$. The above constraints imply that A^M has to take the form

$$A^M = aU^M + bS^M, (2.223)$$

for some invariant coefficients a and b, and it cannot contain terms proportional to the vectors \mathbb{R}^M and \mathbb{V}^M .

2.6.5 Unconventional extremal solutions

The missing free parameter must be added to the above solution by adding anharmonic terms to the harmonic ansatz: let us don the harmonic functions of the undeformed solution with hats, so that

$$\hat{H}^M = A^M - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} B^M \tau \,, \tag{2.224}$$

where B^M is given by the attractor (2.216) and A^M satisfies the constraints Eqs. (2.222) but is otherwise arbitrary (up to asymptotic flatness normalization). Observe that this implies that

$$\hat{H}_M U^M = \hat{H}_M S^M = 0, \quad \Rightarrow \quad \hat{H} = a(\tau) U^M + b(\tau) S^M, \quad (2.225)$$

where $a(\tau)$ and $b(\tau)$ are duality-invariant harmonic functions of τ . Terms proportional to R^M and V^M are excluded if the coefficients are harmonic functions; a term proportional to V^M can always be eliminated by a local Freudenthal duality transformation, whence we expect that it is enough to add a (necessarily anharmonic) term proportional to R^M . It turns out that such a solution [188]²⁴ has the form²⁵

$$H^{M} = \hat{H}^{M} - \frac{\chi R^{M}}{R_{N} H^{N}}, \qquad (2.226)$$

where χ is another independent parameter, like A^M . The values of χ and A^M are determined by requiring that the physical fields have the right asymptotic behavior at spatial infinity $(e^{-2U} \to 1, t \to t_{\infty} \text{ when } \tau \to 0^-)$ as follows: first of all, observe that as a consequence of Eq. (2.225) the property

$$H_M U^M = 0,$$
 (2.227)

is satisfied everywhere and in particular at spatial infinity where

$$H^M \xrightarrow{\tau \to 0^-} H^M_{\infty} = A^M - \frac{\chi R^M}{R_N A^N}.$$
(2.228)

Then, using the definition of $H^M = \mathcal{I}^M$, Eq. (1.87), in Eq. (2.227) plus Eq. (1.88) at spatial infinity we find

$$0 = H_{M\infty}U^M = \Im \mathfrak{m}\left(\frac{\mathcal{V}_{M\infty}}{X_{\infty}}\right)U^M = \Im \mathfrak{m}\left(\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)}{X_{\infty}}\right) = \sqrt{2}\Im \mathfrak{m}\left(\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)}{e^{i\alpha_{\infty}}}\right).$$
(2.229)

This implies that

$$e^{i\alpha_{\infty}} = \pm \frac{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)}{|\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)|}, \qquad (2.230)$$

which can be used again in the definition of $H^M = \mathcal{I}^M$ to give

$$H_{\infty}^{M} = \pm \sqrt{2} \Im \mathfrak{m} \left(\frac{\mathcal{V}_{\infty}^{M}}{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)} \right) \left| \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U) \right|.$$
(2.231)

To determine the overall sign we will demand that the functions $H^M(\tau)$ never vanish for $\tau \in [-\infty, 0)$, a condition that is usually related to the positivity of the mass. Contracting the above result with S^M and using Eq. (2.225) we get

$$\frac{\chi}{R_N A^N} = \pm \sqrt{2} \Im \mathfrak{m} \left(\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(S)}{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)} \right) \left| \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U) \right|, \qquad (2.232)$$

which, after substitution in Eq. (2.228) gives the value of the constants A^M , satisfying Eqs. (2.222), as an equivariant symplectic vector, function of the physical parameters of the solution

$$A^{M} = \pm \sqrt{2} (\delta^{M}{}_{N} - R^{M}S_{N}) \Im \mathfrak{m} \left(\frac{\mathcal{V}_{\infty}^{M}}{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)}\right) |\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)|.$$

$$(2.233)$$

²⁴This solution can be obtained by truncation from the STU-model solution in Ref. [208] and is also a particular case of the general extremal non-supersymmetric solutions of cubic models of Ref. [74]. It has also been obtained by using integrability methods in the action that one obtains in the approach of Ref. [83] (see also [132]): its derivation can be found in Section 9.4 (page 76) of Ref. [182]. The solution belongs to the orbit \mathcal{O}_{22}^3 in the classification of Ref. [181] (see Table 2 of that reference).

²⁵This definition is not recursive because $R_N H^N = R_N \hat{H}^N$.

With this information we can compute $R_N A^N$ to find, from Eq. (2.232) the value of the invariant parameter χ as a function of the physical parameters of the solution²⁶

$$\chi = -2\Im \mathfrak{m}\left(\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(R)}{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)}\right)\Im \mathfrak{m}\left(\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(S)}{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)}\right)|\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)|^{2}.$$
(2.235)

For $p^0 = q_1 = 0$, the solution takes the explicit (but not manifestly equivariant) form

$$(H^{M}) = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\Re t_{\infty}}{\Im m t_{\infty}} \frac{1}{H_{0}}, \\ s^{1} \left\{ \sqrt{\frac{3}{10\Im m t_{\infty}}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |p^{1}|\tau \right\} \\ -s_{0} \left(\frac{|t_{\infty}|}{\Im m t_{\infty}} \right)^{2} \left\{ \sqrt{\frac{5\Im m t_{\infty}}{24}} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |q_{0}|\tau \right\} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.236)

The mass of this solution can be computed using the general formula Eq. (2.31). From the definition of \tilde{H}_M we have

$$\tilde{H}_M(0) = \pm \sqrt{2} \Re \mathfrak{e} \left(\frac{\mathcal{V}_{\infty M}}{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)} \right) \left| \mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U) \right|, \qquad (2.237)$$

and

$$\dot{H}^{M}(0) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[B^{M} - \frac{\chi J_{4}(\mathcal{Q})}{(RA)^{2}} R^{M} \right], \qquad (2.238)$$

from which we get the covariant expression

$$M = \pm |\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)| \left\{ 1 - \frac{1}{3} J_4(\mathcal{Q}) \Im \left(\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(V)}{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)} \right) \left[\Im \left(\frac{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(R)}{\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(U)} \right) \right]^{-1} \right\}.$$
 (2.239)

This last expression reduces for $p^0 = q_1 = 0$ (selecting the upper sign in Eq. (2.231)) to

$$M = e^{\mathcal{K}_{\infty}/2} \left(|q_0| + \frac{5}{2} |t_{\infty}|^2 |p^1| \right) \,. \tag{2.240}$$

Observe that the value of the mass differs from the absolute value of the associated fake central charge B^M :

$$M \neq |\mathcal{Z}(\phi_{\infty}, B)|. \tag{2.241}$$

The above result should be compared to the mass of the supersymmetric black hole which is given by the standard formula $M = |\mathcal{Z}_{\infty}(\mathcal{Q})|$ and reduces for $p^0 = q_1 = 0$ to²⁷ the following expression,

$$M = e^{\mathcal{K}_{\infty}/2} \sqrt{\left[|q_0| - \frac{5}{2}(\Re \mathfrak{e}t_{\infty})^2 |p^1|\right]^2 + \frac{25}{4}(\Im \mathfrak{m}t_{\infty})^4 |p^1|^2 + 5(\Im \mathfrak{m}t_{\infty})^2 |q_0 p^1|}, \qquad (2.242)$$

²⁶In terms of the invariants i_1, \dots, i_5 of the theory given in Eqs. (A.1)-(A.5)

$$\chi = \frac{1}{4} (-J_4(\mathcal{Q}))^{-1/6} \left\{ \left(i_1 + i_2 - \frac{(i_1 - i_2/3)^3}{J_4(\mathcal{Q})} - \frac{4i_3}{\sqrt{-J_4(\mathcal{Q})}} \right)^{1/3} - \left(i_1 + i_2 - \frac{(i_1 - i_2/3)^3}{J_4(\mathcal{Q})} + \frac{4i_3}{\sqrt{-J_4(\mathcal{Q})}} \right)^{1/3} \right\}.$$
(2.234)

 $^{27}\mathrm{We}$ have used that $p^1q_0>0$ for the non-supersymmetric case and $p^1q_0<0$ for the supersymmetric one.

which can be rewritten in the equivalent form

$$M = e^{\mathcal{K}_{\infty}/2} \sqrt{\left[|q_0| + \frac{5}{2}|t_{\infty}|^2|p^1|\right]^2 - 10(\Re \mathfrak{e} t_{\infty})^2 |q_0 p^1|}, \qquad (2.243)$$

which shows that the mass of the supersymmetric black hole is always smaller than the mass of the non-supersymmetric one with charges of equal absolute value.

The entropy is given by the square of the fake central charge at the horizon

$$S = \pi |\mathcal{Z}(\phi_h, B)|^2 = \pi W(B)/2 = \pi \sqrt{-J_4(\mathcal{Q})}.$$
 (2.244)

As discussed in Section 2.3, an interesting characteristic of the unconventional solutions is that, in distinction to what happens for the conventional ones, the flow of the black-hole metric function e^{-U} from infinity to the horizon is not governed by a simple fake central charge $\mathcal{Z}(\phi, B)$ since the near-horizon limit of the metric is related to $\mathcal{Z}(\phi_h, B)$ but the spacelike infinity limit is not related to $\mathcal{Z}(\phi_{\infty}, B)$. The first-order flow equations for these black holes can be written in terms of a superpotential $W(\phi, B)$ or, equivalently, in terms of the "fake central charge" $\mathcal{Z}(\phi, \sqrt{2\mathfrak{D}H})$ defined in Section 2.3.

It is possible to prove analytically that the general configuration Eq. (2.226) solves the equations of motion by using the duality-invariant properties of the equivariant vectors A^M , B^M and R^M that appear in its definition (that is: not reducing the equations to the $p^0 = q_1$ case) and the properties of the K-tensor of this model, see Eqs. (2.218). As an intermediate step, we derive the following relations, which are valid only for the H^Ms of our ansatz:

$$\mathbb{K}_{MN}\hat{H}^{2} = \frac{1}{2}(VH)^{2}R_{(M}V_{N)} + \frac{1}{2}(VH)(RH)V_{M}V_{N} + \frac{1}{18}(VH)^{2}U_{M}U_{N} - \frac{1}{3}(VH)(RH)U_{(M}S_{N)} - \frac{1}{6}(RH)^{2}S_{M}S_{N}, \qquad (2.245)$$

$$\mathbb{K}_{MN}\hat{H}\mathcal{Q} = \frac{1}{2}(VH)R_{(M}V_{N)} + \frac{1}{4}[J_4(\mathcal{Q})(VH) + (RH)]V_MV_N + \frac{1}{18}(VH)U_MU_N$$

$$-\frac{1}{6}[J_4(\mathcal{Q})(VH) + (RH)]U_{(M}S_{N)} - \frac{1}{6}J_4(\mathcal{Q})(RH)S_MS_N, \qquad (2.246)$$

$$\mathbb{K}_{MN}\hat{H}R = -\frac{1}{3}(RH)R_{(M}S_{N)} - \frac{1}{6}(RH)U_{(M}V_{N)} - \frac{1}{6}(VH)R_{(M}U_{N)}. \qquad (2.247)$$

Using these identities it is easy to show, for instance, that

$$J_4(H) = J_4(\hat{H}) - \chi^2, \qquad J_4(\hat{H}) = (VH)^3 (RH). \qquad (2.248)$$

2.7 Conclusions

In this chapter we have shown how the equivariance of the H variables under duality transformations translates into equivariance of the constant symplectic vectors that occur in their explicit expressions. Using the H-FGK formalism we have studied under what conditions the extremal solutions associated to a given attractor can be described, for all values of the charges and moduli, by harmonic Hs alone and when it is necessary to add anharmonic terms to them. We have called these two kinds of solutions conventional, respectively unconventional.

As mentioned in the introduction, it is not known how unconventional extremal solutions (which are necessarily non-supersymmetric, since we know that all the supersymmetric ones are conventional) can be deformed into non-extremal solutions, with non-zero temperature but the same values of the charges and moduli. The H-FGK formalism and the use of equivariant vectors can help us to solve this problem and, as a first step, we have shown how to apply these methods to well-known examples of theories with conventional and unconventional solutions.

In the case of the unconventional extremal solutions of the t^3 -model we have shown, first of all, how the criterion found in Section 2.2 indicates the need for anharmonic terms and which equivariant vectors these terms should depend on. We have then described the solution entirely in terms of these objects and we have computed the general form of the mass and the entropy. The second has a well-known form in terms of the near-horizon limit $\mathcal{Z}(\phi_h, B)$ of a fake central charge, $\mathcal{Z}(\phi, B)$, constructed from what we have called (in the context of the H-FGK formalism) attractor B^M . The mass instead is not given by the spacelike infinity limit of this fake central charge $M = |\mathcal{Z}(\phi_{\infty}, B)|$ but rather by the spacelike infinity of a different one $\mathcal{Z}(\phi, E)$ with $E^M \neq B^M$. The first-order flow equations that govern the system (which have been given in Refs. [74, 187]) are written in term of non-standard fake central charge $\mathcal{Z}(\phi, \sqrt{2}\mathcal{D}H)$ whose second argument is τ -dependent and correctly interpolates between B^M (on the horizon) and E^M (at spacelike infinity).

The behavior of the metric function in the unconventional solutions gets modified in the asymptotic region but remains unchanged in the near-horizon region, where it is still governed by the attractor mechanism. This behavior is reminiscent, but opposite, to that of the colored non-Abelian supersymmetric black holes of Refs. [319] in which the near-horizon geometry is modified by the non-Abelian effects while the asymptotic one is unchanged by them.

The formalism and the methods presented in this chapter can be applied to the problem of finding the non-extremal generalization of the unconventional solutions studied in this chapter. Chapter 2. Black holes and equivariant vectors in $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 supergravity

3

Stringy black holes in Type-IIA string theory

This chapter is based on

Pablo Bueno, Rhys Davies and C. S. Shahbazi, "Quantum black holes in Type-IIA string theory", JHEP **1301** (2013) 089. [arXiv:1210.2817 [hep-th]] [89].

Pablo Bueno and C. S. Shahbazi,

"Non-perturbative black holes in Type-IIA string theory vs. the no-hair conjecture", Class. Quantum Grav. 31 (2013) 015023. [arXiv:1304.8079 [hep-th]] [95].

Supergravity solutions have played, and continue to play, a prominent rôle in the new developments of string theory. The body of literature about black hole solutions (and *p*-branes) that has been accumulated during the past thirty years is enormous, but only recently the issue of non-extremality was systematically investigated, and by now, it could be said that we have at our disposal more or less well-established methods to deal with non-extremal solutions [132, 137, 153, 190, 284, 323, 324, 329, 331] in SUGRA. However, explicit non-extremal solutions to supergravity models with perturbative quantum (stringy) corrections (see below for further explanation) are yet to be constructed. These kind of solutions may be relevant in order to understand how the deformation of the scalar geometry modifies the solutions of the theory, and also in order to relate the macroscopic computation of the entropy with the microscopic calculation in a string theory set-up, once sub-leading corrections to the prepotential are taken into account [34, 36]. These kinds of corrections differ from the higher-order corrections, which, together with the corresponding microscopic string theory computation, have been already studied in the literature [302] (for a very nice review about this and related topics, as well as for further references, see [330]).

In the first part of this chapter we are going to use the H-FGK formalism [190, 323, 324] in order to take a small step in the study of non-extremal black holes in supergravity in the presence of quantum corrections. Through a consistent truncation, we are going to define a particular class of black holes, which is characterized by existing only when the quantum perturbative corrections are included in the action. These kinds of solutions, which we have chosen to call quantum black holes¹, display a remarkable behavior: the so called large-volume limit $\Im z^i \to \infty$ is in fact not a large volume limit of the Calabi-Yau (C.Y.) manifold, whose volume remains constant and fixed by topological data. In addition, the regularity conditions of the black hole solutions impose the topological restriction

¹It is worth pointing out again that the term *quantum* does not refer to space-time but to world-sheet properties in this context [330]. In this respect, although such denomination is widely spread in the literature, the adjective *stringy* is probably more acquirate.

 $h^{1,1} > h^{2,1}$ in the compactification C.Y. For small $h^{1,1}$ the condition is particularly restrictive, and since this case is the most manageable one from the point of view of black hole solutions, we prove the existence of C.Y. manifolds obeying $h^{1,1} > h^{2,1}$ by explicit construction for the $h^{1,1} = 3$ case. These C.Y. manifolds are new in the literature.

The perturbative corrections, encoded in a single term $i\frac{c}{2}$ in the prepotential, introduce a highly non-trivial difficulty in the model, which makes almost hopeless the resolution of the equations of the theory. Surprisingly enough, we are able to find a black hole solution with non-constant scalars, similar to the D0 - D4 - D4 - D4 black hole solution of the STU model, and which can be used as a toy model to study the microscopic description of black holes in the presence of quantum perturbative corrections and away from extremality.

3.1 Type-IIA string theory on a Calabi–Yau manifold

Type-IIA string theory compactified to 4D on a C.Y. three-fold, with Hodge numbers $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1})$, is described, up to two derivatives, by a $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ supergravity whose prepotential is given in terms of an infinite series around $\Im z^i \to \infty$ [109–111]

$$\mathcal{F} = -\frac{1}{3!} \kappa_{ijk}^0 z^i z^j z^k + \frac{ic}{2} + \frac{i}{(2\pi)^3} \sum_{\{d_i\}} n_{\{d_i\}} Li_3\left(e^{2\pi i d_i z^i}\right) \quad , \tag{3.1}$$

where z^i , $i = 1, ..., n_v + 1 = h^{1,1}$, are the scalars in the vector multiplets. There are also $h^{2,1} + 1$ hypermultiplets in the theory. However, they can be consistently set to a constant value [386]. $c = \frac{\chi\zeta(3)}{(2\pi)^3}$ is a model-dependent number, being χ the Euler characteristic, which for C.Y. three-folds is given by $\chi = 2(h^{1,1} - h^{2,1})$. κ_{ijk}^0 are the classical intersection numbers, $d_i \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ is a $h^{1,1}$ -dimensional summation index and $Li_3(x)$ is the third polylogarithmic function. The first two terms in the prepotential correspond to tree level and higher-order perturbative contributions in the α' -expansion, respectively

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rm P} = -\frac{1}{3!} \kappa^0_{ijk} z^i z^j z^k + \frac{ic}{2} \quad , \tag{3.2}$$

whereas the third term accounts for non-perturbative corrections produced by world-sheet instantons. These configurations get produced by (non-trivial) embeddings of the worldsheet into the C.Y. three-fold. The holomorphic mappings of the genus 0^2 string worldsheet onto the $h^{1,1}$ two-cycles of the C.Y. three-fold are classified by the nubers d_i , which count the number of wrappings of the world-sheet around the *i*-th generator of the integer homology group $H_2(C.Y.,\mathbb{Z})$. The number of different mappings for each set of $\{d_i\}$ $(\equiv \{d_1, ..., d_{h^{1,1}}\})$ or, in other words, the number of genus 0 instantons is denoted by $n_{\{d_i\}}^3$

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rm NP} = \frac{i}{(2\pi)^3} \sum_{\{d_i\}} n_{\{d_i\}} Li_3\left(e^{2\pi i d_i z^i}\right) \quad . \tag{3.3}$$

²Genus ≥ 1 instantons contribute with higher-derivative corrections.

³See, e.g. [330] for more details on the stringy origin of the prepotential.

The full prepotential can be rewritten in homogeneous coordinates \mathcal{X}^{Λ} , $\Lambda = (0, i)$ as

$$F(\mathcal{X}) = -\frac{1}{3!} \kappa_{ijk}^0 \frac{\mathcal{X}^i \mathcal{X}^j \mathcal{X}^k}{\mathcal{X}^0} + \frac{ic(\mathcal{X}^0)^2}{2} + \frac{i(\mathcal{X}^0)^2}{(2\pi)^3} \sum_{\{d_i\}} n_{\{d_i\}} Li_3\left(e^{2\pi i d_i \frac{\mathcal{X}^i}{\mathcal{X}^0}}\right) \quad , \tag{3.4}$$

with the scalars z^i given by

$$z^{i} = \frac{\mathcal{X}^{i}}{\mathcal{X}^{0}} \quad . \tag{3.5}$$

Therefore, this coordinate system is only valid away from the locus $\mathcal{X}^0 = 0$.

The non-perturbative corrections (3.3) are exponentially suppressed and therefore can be safely ignored going to the large volume limit. Therefore our starting point is going to be Eq. (3.2), which in homogeneous coordinates \mathcal{X}^{Λ} , $\Lambda = (0, i)$, can be written as

$$F(\mathcal{X}) = -\frac{1}{3!} \kappa_{ijk}^0 \frac{\mathcal{X}^i \mathcal{X}^j \mathcal{X}^k}{\mathcal{X}^0} + \frac{ic}{2} \left(\mathcal{X}^0\right)^2 \quad . \tag{3.6}$$

The scalar geometry defined by (3.6) is the so called *quantum corrected d*-SK geometry⁴ [156], [157]. In this scenario, the classical case is modified and the scalar manifold, due to the correction encoded in c, is no longer homogeneous, and therefore, the geometry has been *corrected* by stringy effects.

We are interested in constructing spherically symmetric, static, black hole solutions of the theory defined by Eq. (3.6). This is the subject of the next section.

3.1.1 A quantum class of black holes

For (3.2), the general form of the Hesse potential W(H) in the H-FGK formalism (see 1.2.4) is an extremely involved function, and one cannot expect to solve in full generality the corresponding differential equations of motion, or even the associated algebraic equations of motion obtained by making use of the hyperbolic Ansatz for the H^M . Therefore, we are going to consider a particular truncation, which will give us the desired quantum black holes

$$H^0 = H_0 = H_i = 0, \quad p^0 = p_0 = q_i = 0.$$
 (3.7)

Eq. (3.7) implies

$$\mathsf{W}(H) = \alpha \left| \kappa_{ijk}^0 H^i H^j H^k \right|^{2/3}, \qquad (3.8)$$

where $\alpha = \frac{(3|c|)^{1/3}}{2}$ must be positive in order to have a non-singular metric. Hence c > 0 is a necessary condition in order to obtain a regular solution and a consistent truncation. The corresponding *black hole potential* reads

$$V_{\rm bh} = \frac{\mathsf{W}(H)}{4} \partial_{ij} \log \mathsf{W}(H) \mathcal{Q}^i \mathcal{Q}^j \,. \tag{3.9}$$

The scalar fields, purely imaginary, are given by

$$z^{i} = i \left(3!c\right)^{1/3} \frac{H^{i}}{\left(\kappa_{ijk}^{0} H^{i} H^{j} H^{k}\right)^{1/3}},$$
(3.10)

⁴The attractor points of this model have been extensively studied in [50]. Related works can be found in [44] [45].

and are subject to the following constraint, which ensures the regularity of the Kähler potential ($\mathcal{X}^0 = 1$ gauge)

$$\kappa_{ijk}^0 \Im m z^i \Im m z^j \Im m z^k > \frac{3c}{2}.$$
(3.11)

Substituting Eq. (3.10) into Eq. (3.11), we obtain

$$c > \frac{c}{4} \quad , \tag{3.12}$$

which is an identity (assuming c > 0) and therefore imposes no constraints on the scalars. This phenomenon can be traced back to the fact that the the Kähler potential is constant when evaluated on the solution, and given by

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} = 6c \quad , \tag{3.13}$$

which is well defined, again, if c > 0. Since the volume of the C.Y. manifold is proportional to $e^{-\mathcal{K}}$, Eq. (3.13) implies that such volume remains constant and, in particular, that the limit $\Im z^i \to \infty$ does not imply a large volume limit of the compactification C.Y. manifold, a remarkable fact that can be seen as a purely stringy characteristic of our solution⁵. Notice that it is also possible to obtain the classical limit $\Im z^i \gg 1$ taking $c \gg 1$, that is, choosing a Calabi-Yau manifold with large enough c. In this case we would have also a truly large volume limit.

We have seen that, in order to obtain a consistent truncation, a necessary condition is c > 0, which implies that W(H) is well defined. We can go even further and argue that this is a sufficient condition by studying the equations of motion of the H-FGK formalism.

A consistent truncation requires that the equation of motion of the truncated field is identically solved for the *truncation value* of the field. First, notice that the set of solutions of Eqs. (1.83) and (1.82), taking into account (4.1), is non-empty, since there is a *model-independent* solution, given by

$$H^{i} = a^{i} - \frac{p^{i}}{\sqrt{2}}\tau, \quad r_{0} = 0,$$
 (3.14)

which corresponds to a supersymmetric black hole. However, the equations of motion don't know about supersymmetry: it is system of differential equations whose solution can be written as

$$H^M = H^M(a,b) , \qquad (3.15)$$

where we have made explicit the dependence in $2n_v + 2$ integration constants. When the solution (3.15) is plugged into (1.82) is when we impose, through r_0 , a particular condition about the extremality of the black hole. If $r_0 = 0$ the integration constants are fixed such as the solution is extremal. In general there is not a unique way of doing it, one of the possibilities being always the supersymmetric one. Therefore, given that for our particular truncation the supersymmetric solution always exists, we can expect the existence also of the corresponding solution (3.15) of the equations of motion, from which the supersymmetric solution may be obtained through a particular choice of the integration constants that make (3.15) fulfilling (1.82) for $r_0 = 0$. We conclude, hence, that

$$\left\{H^P = 0, \mathcal{Q}^P = 0\right\} \quad \Rightarrow \mathcal{E}_P = 0, \qquad (3.16)$$

⁵Notice that in order to consistently discard the non-perturbative terms in Eq. (3.1) we only need to take the limit $\Im m z^i \to \infty$. Therefore, the behavior of the C.Y. volume in such limit plays no role.

(where \mathcal{E}_P stands for the corresponding equation of motion) and therefore the truncation of as many *H*'s as we want, together with the correspondet \mathcal{Q} 's, is consistent as long as W(H) remains well defined, something that in our case is assured if c > 0. From Eq. (3.1) it can be checked that the case c = 0, that is $h^{1,1} = h^{2,1}$, can in principle be cured by non-perturbative effects.

It is easy to see that the truncation is not consistent in the classical limit, and therefore, we can conclude that the corresponding solutions are *genuinely* quantum (stringy) solutions, which only exist when perturbative quantum effects are incorporated into the action.

Hence, we can conclude that if we require our theory to contain regular *quantum* black holes there is a topological restriction on the Calabi-Yau manifolds that we can choose to compactify Type-IIA string theory. The condition can be expressed as

$$c > 0 \Rightarrow h^{1,1} > h^{2,1}$$
. (3.17)

Eq. (3.17) is a stringent condition on the compactification C.Y. manifolds, in particular for small $h^{1,1}$. In fact, for small enough $h^{1,1}$ it could be even possible that no Calabi–Yau manifold existed such Eq. (3.17) is fulfilled. We will investigate this issue for $h^{1,1} =$ 3, explicitly constructing the corresponding C.Y. manifolds and finding also particular quantum black hole solutions, in the next section⁶.

3.2 New Calabi–Yau manifolds

In this section we will present the construction of new Calabi–Yau manifolds which satisfy $h^{1,1} = 3$ and $h^{2,1} < 3$, as required for the truncation presented in the previous section.

Calabi–Yau threefolds with both Hodge numbers small are relatively rare; two large and useful databases are the complete intersections in products of projective spaces (CICY's) [104], and hypersurfaces in toric fourfolds [32, 289], but the manifolds in these lists all satisfy the inequality $h^{1,1} + h^{2,1} > 21$. Smaller Hodge numbers can be found by taking quotients by groups which have a free holomorphic action on one of these manifolds (see, e.g., [78, 108, 152] and references therein), but none of the known spaces constructed this way satisfy our requirements.

Our technique here will be to begin with known manifolds with $h^{1,1} < 3$, $h^{2,1} < 4$, and a non-trivial fundamental group, and find hyperconifold transitions [150, 151] to new manifolds with the required Hodge numbers. Briefly, these transitions occur because a generically-free group action on a Calabi–Yau will develop fixed points on certain codimension-one loci in the moduli space. The fixed points are necessarily singular, and typically nodes [150], so the quotient space develops a point-like singularity which is a quotient of the conifold — a hyperconifold. These singularities can be resolved to give a new smooth Calabi–Yau. If the subgroup which develops a fixed point is \mathbb{Z}_N , then the change in Hodge numbers for one of these transitions is $\delta(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = (N - 1, -1)$.

Interestingly, there are examples which one might naïvely believe would lead to

⁶It is known in the literature the existence of the so called *rigid* C.Y. manifolds [105, 106, 401], which obey $h^{1,1} > 0, h^{2,1} = 0$, being therefore admissible compactification spaces. However, in order to have a tractable theory, we need a small enough $h^{1,1}$, yet not too small to yield a trivial theory. The choice $h^{1,1} = 3$ fulfills both conditions.

manifolds with $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = (3,0)$ and $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = (3,2)$, but none of these work out;⁷ instead, we have two examples with $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = (3,1)$, but with different intersection forms and Kähler cones.

3.2.1 $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = (3,1)$ and diagonal intersection form

For the first example, we start with a manifold $X^{1,3}$, where the superscripts are the Hodge numbers $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1})$, and fundamental group $\mathbb{Z}_5 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \cong \mathbb{Z}_{10} \times \mathbb{Z}_2$. It was first discovered in [108], and we briefly review the construction here. The manifold is obtained as a free quotient of a CICY $X^{5,45}$ that is given by the vanishing of two multilinear polynomials in a product of five \mathbb{P}^1 's; the configuration matrix [104] is

$$\begin{bmatrix}
 \mathbb{P}^{1} & 1 \\
 \mathbb{P}^{1} & 1
 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.18)

Let us call the two polynomials p_1, p_2 , and take homogeneous coordinates $t_{i,a}$ on the ambient space, where i = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 is understood mod 5, and a = 0, 1 is understood mod 2. Then the action of the quotient group is generated by

$$\begin{array}{rcl} g_{10} & : & t_{i,a} \to t_{i+1,a+1} & ; & p_1 \leftrightarrow p_2 \ , \\ g_2 & : & t_{i,a} \to (-1)^a t_{i,a} & ; & p_1 \to p_1 \ , \ p_2 \to -p_2 \end{array}$$

Note that these commute only up to projective equivalence, but this is sufficient. To define polynomials which transform appropriately, we start with the following quantities:

$$m_{abcde} = \sum_{i=0}^{4} t_{i,a} t_{i+1,b} t_{i+2,c} t_{i+3,d} t_{i+4,e} . \qquad (3.19)$$

Then it is easily checked that the following are the most general polynomials which transform correctly:

$$p_1 = \frac{A_0}{5}m_{00000} + A_1m_{00011} + A_2m_{00101} + A_3m_{01111} ,$$

$$p_2 = \frac{A_0}{5}m_{11111} + A_1m_{11100} + A_2m_{11010} + A_3m_{10000} ,$$

where the A_{α} are arbitrary complex constants. For generic values of the coefficients, these polynomials define a smooth manifold on which the group $\mathbb{Z}_{10} \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ acts freely; in this way we find a smooth quotient family $X^{1,3} = X^{5,45}/\mathbb{Z}_{10} \times \mathbb{Z}_2$.

We now need to specialise to a sub-family of $X^{5,45}$ which *does* have fixed points of the group generator g_2 . Specifically, consider the point given by

$$t_{0,1} = t_{1,1} = t_{2,1} = t_{3,0} = t_{4,0} = 0, (3.20)$$

⁷In each case, the spaces have unavoidable symmetries which make it impossible to create just a single hyperconifold singularity. Resolving the extra singularities pushes $h^{1,1}$ higher.

which is fixed by the action of g_2 . Substituting the above into the polynomials gives the values $p_1 = A_1$, $p_2 = 0$, so if we set $A_1 = 0$, $X^{5,45}$ will contain this point. The argument of [150] guarantees that it will be a singularity, and one can check that for general values of the other coefficients, it is a node, so the quotient space $X^{1,3}$ develops a \mathbb{Z}_2 -hyperconifold singularity. In fact, there are nine other points related to the above by the action of the other group generator g_{10} , so the covering space $X^{5,45}$ actually has ten nodes. Since these are all identified by the group action, $X^{1,3}$ develops only a single \mathbb{Z}_2 -hyperconifold. This can be resolved by a single blow-up, and we obtain a new manifold with Hodge numbers $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = (2, 2)$, and fundamental group \mathbb{Z}_{10} .

To get all the way to $X^{3,1}$, we need to go through another \mathbb{Z}_2 -hyperconifold transition. If we also set $A_2 = 0$, then $X^{5,45}$ also passes through another fixed point of g_2 , given by

$$t_{0,1} = t_{1,1} = t_{2,0} = t_{3,1} = t_{4,0} = 0 , \qquad (3.21)$$

as well as the nine points related to this by the action of g_{10} .

It can be checked that when $A_1 = A_2 = 0$, $X^{5,45}$ has exactly twenty nodes, at the points described above, and is smooth elsewhere. Therefore $X^{1,3}$ has precisely two \mathbb{Z}_2 -hyperconifold singularities, which we can resolve independently to obtain a new smooth Calabi–Yau manifold $X^{3,1}$.

The intersection form and Kähler cone

To find the supergravity theory coming from compactification on $X^{3,1}$, we need to calculate its triple intersection form, and for this we need a basis for $H^2(X^{3,1},\mathbb{Z})$ (throughout, we will implicitly talk about only the torsion-free part of the cohomology). There is a natural basis which consists of one divisor class inherited from $X^{1,3}$, and the two exceptional divisor classes coming from the two blow-ups.

First, let us find an integral generator of $H^2(X^{1,3},\mathbb{Z})$. On the covering space $X^{5,45}$, let H_i be the divisor class given by the pullback of the hyperplane class from the $i^{\text{th}} \mathbb{P}^1$. Then the invariant divisor classes are multiples of $H \equiv H_0 + H_1 + H_2 + H_3 + H_4$. However, H itself, although an invariant *class*, does not have an invariant *representative*. The class 2H does, however; an example of an invariant divisor in 2H is the surface given by the vanishing of

$$f = (m_{00011})^2 + (m_{11100})^2 + (m_{00101})^2 + (m_{11010})^2 .$$
(3.22)

This is a particularly convenient choice, as it gives a smooth divisor even on the singular family of threefolds given by $A_1 = A_2 = 0$, which misses the singular points.

Let D_1 be the divisor given by setting f = 0 and then taking the quotient, and let D_2 and D_3 be the two exceptional divisors. Then, since $f \neq 0$ on the fixed points of the group action, we immediately see that D_1, D_2 , and D_3 are all disjoint, and the only intersection numbers which might be non-zero are D_1^3, D_2^3 , and D_3^3 .

For D_2^3 and D_3^3 , we can use an easy general argument. For any smooth surface S in a Calabi–Yau threefold, the adjunction formula gives $S|_S \sim K_S$, where K_S is the canonical divisor class. The triple intersection number S^3 is therefore equal to K_S^2 . Each of D_2 and D_3 is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$, so we find $D_2^3 = D_3^3 = 8$.

To calculate D_1^3 , we note that D_1 descends from the divisor class 2H on $X^{5,45}$. Since this is embedded in a product of projective spaces, we can calculate intersection numbers purely from degrees; it is easy to check that on $X^{5,45}$, $(2H)^3 = 960$. We divide by a freely-acting group of order twenty, so on the quotient space we find $D_1^3 = \frac{960}{20} = 48$.

To summarise, the non-vanishing triple intersection numbers of $X^{3,1}$, in the basis D_1, D_2, D_3 , are

$$\kappa_{111}^0 = 48 , \quad \kappa_{222}^0 = \kappa_{333}^0 = 8 .$$
(3.23)

We can also say something about the Kähler cone. Certainly D_1 is positive everywhere except on the exceptional divisors, where it is trivial. On the other hand, each exceptional divisor D contains curves C for which $D \cdot C = -1$. From this information, we can glean that the Kähler cone is some sub-cone of $t_1 > 0, t_2 < 0, t_3 < 0$, and certainly includes the region where t_1 is much larger than $|t_2|$ and $|t_3|$.

3.2.2 $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = (3,1)$ and non-diagonal intersection form

For our second example, we will again start with a free quotient of a CICY manifold, with configuration matrix

\mathbb{P}^1	0	0	1	1]
\mathbb{P}^1	1	0	1	0
\mathbb{P}^1	1	0	1	0
\mathbb{P}^1	1	0	1	0
\mathbb{P}^1	0	1	0	1
\mathbb{P}^1	0	1	0	1
\mathbb{P}^1	0	1	0	1
	p	q	r_1	r_2

where the labels on the columns denote the respective polynomials. This manifold has Euler number zero, and a series of splittings and contractions (explained in [104,107,108]) establishes that it is in fact isomorphic to the 'split bicubic' or Schoen manifold, with Hodge numbers $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = (19, 19)$.

Let us take homogeneous coordinates σ_a on the first \mathbb{P}^1 , $s_{i,a}$ on the next three, and $t_{i,a}$ on the last three, where i = 0, 1, 2, and a = 0, 1 are understood mod 3 and mod 2 respectively. The quotient group of interest is the dicyclic group $\text{Dic}_3 \cong \mathbb{Z}_3 \rtimes \mathbb{Z}_4$, which is the only non-trivial semi-direct product of \mathbb{Z}_3 and \mathbb{Z}_4 . It is generated by two elements g_3 and g_4 , of orders given by their subscripts, with the relation $g_4g_3g_4^{-1} = g_3^2$, and acts on the ambient space and polynomials as follows:

$$g_3 : \sigma_a \to \sigma_a , \ s_{i,a} \to s_{i+1,a} , \ t_{i,a} \to t_{i+1,a} ; \text{ all polynomials invariant },$$

$$g_4 : \sigma_a \to (-1)^a \sigma_a , \ s_{i,a} \to (-1)^{a+1} t_{-i,a} , \ t_{i,a} \to s_{-i,a} ; \ p \to -q , \ q \to p , \ r_1 \leftrightarrow r_2 .$$

In order to write down polynomials which transform appropriately, let us first define the g_3 -invariant quantities

$$m_{abc} = \sum_{i} s_{i,a} s_{i+1,b} s_{i+2,c} , \ n_{abc} = \sum_{i} t_{i,a} t_{i+1,b} t_{i+2,c} .$$
(3.24)

Then by choice of coordinates (consistent with the above action), we can take the poly-

nomials to be

$$p = \frac{1}{3}m_{000} + m_{011} \quad , \quad q = \frac{1}{3}n_{000} + n_{011} \quad ,$$

$$r_1 = (a_0m_{001} + \frac{1}{3}a_1m_{111})\sigma_0 + (a_0m_{001} + \frac{1}{3}a_2m_{111})\sigma_1 \quad ,$$

$$r_2 = (a_0n_{001} + \frac{1}{3}a_1n_{111})\sigma_0 - (a_0n_{001} + \frac{1}{3}a_2n_{111})\sigma_1 \quad ,$$

where a_0, a_1, a_2 are arbitrary complex coefficients, defined only up to overall scale. It can be checked that for generic values of these coefficients, the corresponding manifold is smooth, and the group acts on it without fixed points. We therefore obtain a smooth quotient manifold $X^{2,2}$, where the value $h^{2,1} = 2$ corresponds to the two free coefficients (once we factor out overall scale) in the above polynomials.⁸

We will now show that there is a \mathbb{Z}_2 -hyperconifold transition from $X^{2,2}$ to a manifold with $(h^{1,1}, h^{2,1}) = (3, 1)$. To do this, we need to arrange for the unique order-two element, g_4^2 , to develop a fixed point. Consider the point in the ambient space given by

$$\frac{\sigma_1}{\sigma_0} = -1 , \ s_{0,1} = s_{1,1} = s_{2,0} = t_{0,0} = t_{1,0} = t_{2,0} = 0 .$$
(3.25)

This is fixed by g_4^2 , but the other elements of the group permute this and five other g_4^2 -fixed points. If we evaluate the polynomials at the point above, we find

$$p = q = r_1 = 0 , \ r_2 = a_1 + a_2 ,$$
 (3.26)

and their values at the other five fixed points are related by the group action to the ones above. So if $a_1 + a_2 = 0$, the Calabi–Yau will intersect these fixed points. By expanding the polynomials around any one of these points, we find that it has a node at each of them, so on the quotient space, we obtain a single \mathbb{Z}_2 -hyperconifold singularity. Resolving this takes us to a new smooth manifold $Y^{3,1}$ (we use the letter Y to distinguish this from the other (3,1) manifold we constructed). Its fundamental group is $\text{Dic}_3/\langle g_4^2 \rangle \cong$ S_3 , the symmetric group on three letters (the behaviour of fundamental groups under hyperconifold transitions such as this one is described in [152]).

The intersection form and Kähler cone

To calculate the intersection form of $Y^{3,1}$, we start with $X^{2,2}$ and its covering space $X^{19,19}$. Part of $H^{1,1}(X^{19,19},\mathbb{Z})$ is generated by the pullbacks of the hyperplane classes of the \mathbb{P}^1 spaces. We will denote these by⁹ H_0, H_1, \ldots, H_6 . Looking at the group action, we can see that there are exactly two invariant divisor classes constructed from these: H_0 and $H_1 + H_2 + \ldots + H_6$. In contrast to the last example, each of these actually contains an invariant representative, and we get a basis $\{D_1, D_2\}$ for $H^{1,1}(X^{2,2}, \mathbb{Z})$ by simply taking the two invariant classes above and quotienting.

On the covering space, we can calculate intersection numbers simply by counting degrees, and we find that

$$H_0(H_1 + H_2 + \ldots + H_6)^2 = 72$$
, $(H_1 + H_2 + \ldots + H_6)^3 = 216$, (3.27)

⁸Counting independent coefficients does not always give the value of $h^{2,1}$, but in this case it does; perhaps the most direct way to obtain this is to notice that the manifold is obtained via a conifold transition on a codimension two locus in the moduli space of a manifold $X^{1,4}$, which was described at length in [79].

 $^{^9\}mathrm{Do}$ not confuse these with the H variables of the H-FGK formalism.

and all others vanish. Dividing by the order of the group, we see that on the quotient space

$$D_1 D_2^2 = 6 , \ D_2^3 = 18 ,$$
 (3.28)

and the other triple intersections are zero.

Finally, we perform the transition to $Y^{3,1}$; denote the class of the exceptional divisor by D_3 . It is easy enough to check that D_1 and D_2 have representatives which miss the singularity, so their pullbacks to $Y^{3,1}$ are disjoint from the exceptional divisor, and we get $D_1 \cdot D_3 = D_2 \cdot D_3 = 0$. Once again, the exceptional divisor is isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$, so by the argument of the last section, $D_3^3 = 8$.

Summarising, the non-zero intersection numbers on $Y^{3,1}$ are

$$\kappa_{122}^0 = 6 , \ \kappa_{222}^0 = 18 , \ \kappa_{333}^0 = 8 .$$
 (3.29)

By similar reasoning to the last case, we can say that the Kähler cone is some sub-cone of $t_1 > 0, t_2 > 0, t_3 < 0$, and includes the region where $|t_3|$ is sufficiently small compared to t_1 and t_2 .

3.3 Quantum black hole solutions with $h^{1,1} = 3$

In section 3.1 we have presented a particular truncation of the equations of motion of $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ ungauged supergravity in a static, spherically symmetric background, which turned out to be consistent only for positive values of the quantum perturbative coefficient c (3.17). In the next two sections we are going to explicitly construct regular non-extremal (and therefore non-supersymmetric) black hole solutions to the truncated theory. In particular, we will start studying the cases where the C.Y. manifold is of the type constructed in section 3.2, to wit:

$$X^{3,1} \Rightarrow \kappa_{111}^0 = 48 , \ \kappa_{222}^0 = \kappa_{333}^0 = 8 , \tag{3.30}$$

$$Y^{3,1} \Rightarrow \kappa^0_{122} = 6 , \ \kappa^0_{222} = 18 , \ \kappa^0_{333} = 8 .$$
 (3.31)

For these two sets of intersection numbers, Eq. (3.8) becomes, respectively

$$W(H) = \alpha \left| 48 \left(H^1 \right)^3 + 8 \left[\left(H^2 \right)^3 + \left(H^3 \right)^3 \right] \right|^{2/3}, \qquad (3.32)$$

$$W(H) = \alpha \left| 18 \left(H^2 \right)^2 \left[H^1 + H^2 \right] + 8 \left(H^3 \right)^3 \right|^{2/3}.$$
 (3.33)

For simplicity we take $H^1 = s_2 H^2 = s_3 H^3 \equiv H$ $(s_{2,3} = \pm 1)$, $p^1 = p^2 = p^3 \equiv p$. For this particular configuration we find a non-extremal solution for each set of intersection numbers given by

$$H = a\cosh(r_0\tau) + \frac{b}{r_0}\sinh(r_0\tau), \quad b = s_b\sqrt{r_0^2a^2 + \frac{p^2}{2}}, \quad (3.34)$$

where, now and henceforth, $s_b = \pm 1$. The scalars, which turn out to be constant, read

$$z^{1} = i(3!c)^{1/3}\lambda^{-1/3} = s_{2,3}z^{2,3}, \qquad (3.35)$$

where

$$\lambda = [48 + 8(s_2 + s_3)] \text{ for } X^{3,1},$$

$$\lambda = [18 + 18s_2 + 8s_3] \text{ for } Y^{3,1}.$$
(3.36)

The explicit form of the metric reads, in turn,

$$ds^{2} = \left[\frac{1}{2}(3!c)^{1/3} \left[a\cosh(r_{0}\tau) + \frac{b}{r_{0}}\sinh(r_{0}\tau)\right]^{2}\right]^{-1} dt^{2}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}(3!c)^{1/3} \left[a\cosh(r_{0}\tau) + \frac{b}{r_{0}}\sinh(r_{0}\tau)\right]^{2} \left[\frac{r_{0}^{4}}{\sinh^{4}r_{0}\tau}d\tau^{2} + \frac{r_{0}^{2}}{\sinh^{2}r_{0}\tau}d\Omega_{(2)}^{2}\right].$$

$$(3.37)$$

$$(3.38)$$

Since the scalars are constant and don't depend on the charges, we cannot perform the $\Im m z^i \to \infty$ limit that fully suppress the non-perturbative corrections. Still, the exponent in Eq. (3.3) is, in both cases, of order

$$2\pi i d_i z^i \sim -\frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^3 d_i, \quad d_i \ge 1, \qquad (3.39)$$

and therefore we find small non-perturbative corrections, in particular one order smaller than the perturbative part of the prepotential $\mathcal{F}_{Pert} \sim 10 \cdot \mathcal{F}_{Non-Pert}$. The solution lies inside the Kähler cone when

$$s_2 = s_3 = -1, \text{ for } X^{3,1},$$
 (3.40)

$$s_2 = -s_3 = 1$$
, for $Y^{3,1}$. (3.41)

This can be verified by explicitly checking the positive-definiteness of the Kähler metric

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij^*} = \partial_i \partial_{j^*} \mathcal{K} \tag{3.42}$$

evaluated on the solution. It turns out that the only sets of $\{s_2, s_3\}$ which give rise to positive-definite Kähler metrics (and, as a consequence, to solutions lying inside the Kähler cone) are the ones shown above. These conditions on the signs of the scalar fields are in full agreement with those obtained in subsections (3.2.2) and (3.2.1), since $\Im mz^i = t^i$ [110].

Imposing asymptotic flatness, the constant a gets fixed to

$$a = -s_b \frac{\Im m z_\infty^1}{\sqrt{3c}} \,. \tag{3.43}$$

It is now easy to compute the mass and the entropy of the outer/inner horizon

$$M = r_0 \sqrt{1 + \frac{3cp^2}{2r_0^2(\Im m z_\infty^1)^2}},$$
(3.44)

$$S_{\pm} = r_0^2 \pi \left(\sqrt{1 + \frac{3cp^2}{2r_0^2(\Im m z_{\infty}^1)^2}} \pm 1 \right)^2 \,. \tag{3.45}$$

This implies that the product of both entropies only depends on the charge

$$S_{+}S_{-} = \frac{\pi^{2}\alpha^{2}}{4}p^{4}\lambda^{4/3}, \qquad (3.46)$$

so it does not depend on the asymptotic value of the moduli $\Im m z_{\infty}^1$.

It is worth stressing that the Ansatz $H^i = a^i + b^i \tau$ in the extremal $(r_0 = 0)$ case was successfully used to obtain solutions with constant scalars but different critical points, in some cases particularly involved. However, presumably due to the complexity of the calculations, we have not been able to find a solution with non-constant scalars for any of the two models analyzed in this section. This may suggest also a more stabilized behavior for the scalars in the presence of perturbative quantum corrections.

3.4 Quantum corrected *STU* model

In this section we consider a very special case, the so-called STU model, in the presence of perturbative quantum corrections, obtaining the first non-extremal solution of this kind with non-constant scalars. In order to do so, we set $n_v = 3$, $\kappa_{123}^0 = 1$. From (3.8) we obtain¹⁰

$$W(H) = \alpha \left| H^1 H^2 H^3 \right|^{2/3} , \qquad (3.47)$$

where $\alpha = 3c^{1/3}$. The scalar fields are given by

$$z^{i} = ic^{1/3} \frac{H^{i}}{\left(H^{1}H^{2}H^{3}\right)^{1/3}} \quad , \tag{3.48}$$

The τ -dependence of the H^M can be found by solving the equations of motion plus Hamiltonian constraint of the H-FGK formalism, Eqs. (1.83) and (1.82). We find the solution

$$H^{i} = a^{i} \cosh\left(r_{0}\tau\right) + \frac{b^{i}}{r_{0}} \sinh\left(r_{0}\tau\right), \quad b^{i} = s^{i}_{b} \sqrt{r_{0}^{2}(a^{i})^{2} + \frac{(p^{i})^{2}}{2}} \quad .$$
(3.49)

The three constants a^i can be fixed relating them to the value of the scalars at infinity and imposing asymptotic flatness. We have, hence, four conditions for three parameters and therefore one would expect a relation among the $\Im z_{\infty}^i$, leaving *c* undetermined. However, the explicit calculation shows that the fourth relation is compatible with the others, and therefore no extra constraint is necessary. The a^i are given by

$$a^{i} = -s^{i}_{b} \frac{\Im \mathrm{m} z^{i}_{\infty}}{\sqrt{3c}} \quad . \tag{3.50}$$

The mass and the entropy, in turn, read

$$M = \frac{r_0}{3} \sum_{i} \sqrt{1 + \frac{3c(p^i)^2}{2r_0^2(\Im m z_\infty^i)^2}} \quad , \tag{3.51}$$

$$S_{\pm} = r_0^2 \pi \prod_i \left(\sqrt{1 + \frac{3c(p^i)^2}{2r_0^2(\Im m z_{\infty}^i)^2}} \pm 1 \right)^{2/3} , \qquad (3.52)$$

¹⁰We have to stress that we haven't been able to construct an explicit C.Y. manifold with $\kappa_{123}^0 = 1$ and $h^{2,1} < 3$.

and therefore the product of the inner and outer entropy only depends on the charges again

$$S_{+}S_{-} = \frac{\pi^{2}\alpha^{2}}{4} \prod_{i} (p^{i})^{4/3} \quad . \tag{3.53}$$

In the extremal limit we obtain the supersymmetric as well as the non-supersymmetric extremal solutions, depending on the sign chosen for the charges.

It is important to point out that the black holes presented in this section have been succesfully uplifted to M-theory in the supersymmetric limit in [54]. There, the authors show that they can be interpreted as arising from three stacks of M2 branes on a conical singularity. This allows them to relate them to a system of D3 branes carrying momentum and to give a microscopic interpretation of their entropy. As we have seen (the macroscopic entropy of the supersymmetric black holes can be obtained by taking the square root of Eq. (3.53)), our solutions present the particularity that, in contradistinction to the previously studied cases [260, 312, 313, 403], their entropy does not scale with the square-root of the product of their charges (which microscopically comes from using Cardy's formula for the count of states in a certain 1+1 dimensional system of branes and strings), but with a power 2/3. The authors are able to microscopically reproduce the exact expression of the entropy

$$S_{\rm SUSY} = \frac{3c^{\frac{1}{3}}}{2}\pi \left| p^1 p^2 p^3 \right|^{2/3}, \qquad (3.54)$$

up to a global factor. The result is such that if the entropies match, some dependence of the entropy on trascendental numbers disappears, which is argued to be a nontrivial check for theirs to be the right microscopic description of our *quantum* black holes.

3.5 Non-perturbative α' -corrected solutions

In the previous sections, we have used the H-FGK formalism (see section 1.2.4), to defined a new class of black holes for Type-IIA C.Y. compactifications. These have the property that they exist only when the perturbative corrections to the prepotential are included and that no classical limit can be assigned to them (because the truncation itself becomes inconsistent in that limit). They were called, in consequence, *quantum* or *stringy* black holes. Therefore, for self-mirror C.Y. manifolds such black holes do not exist, since in that case the perturbative corrections to the prepotential. That is the case we are going to consider now. We will obtain the first explicit black hole solution of Type-IIA string theory compactified on a self-mirror Calabi-Yau threefold in the presence of nonperturbative corrections, proving at the same time that these non-perturbative corrections lift the singular behaviour of the quantum black holes to a regular one.

Somewhat surprisingly, we will obtain a class of solutions which involves Lambert's W function [291], which is multi-valued in a certain real domain. We will explain how this fact seems to provide an appropriate scenario for a potential new kind of violation of the (corresponding uniqueness conjecture, and as a consequence of the) no-hair conjecture in four dimensions. It turns out that, in our set-up, string theory forbids the use of the Lambert function to that end. However, the possibility remains open in an exclusive supergravity set-up (not necessarily embedded in string theory), and there does not seem

to be a reason to discard it right away. Actually, we will see in the next chapter how this can be actually achieved.

In order to tackle the construction of these new black hole solutions of (3.1), we are going to consider the same truncation as in Eq. (3.7), namely

$$H^0 = H_0 = H_i = 0, \quad p^0 = q_0 = q_i = 0.$$
 (3.55)

Under this assumption, the stabilization equations take the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} iH^i\\\tilde{H}_i \end{pmatrix} = \frac{e^{\mathcal{K}/2}}{X} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{X}^i\\\frac{\partial F(\mathcal{X})}{\partial \mathcal{X}^i} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{H}^0\\0 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{e^{\mathcal{K}/2}}{X} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{X}^0\\\frac{\partial F(\mathcal{X})}{\partial \mathcal{X}^0} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.56)

The physical fields can be obtained from the H^i as

$$e^{-2U} = \tilde{H}_i H^i, \quad z^i = i \frac{H^i}{\tilde{H}^0},$$
 (3.57)

as soon as \tilde{H}^0 and \tilde{H}^i are determined. In order to obtain \tilde{H}^0 as a function of H^i , we need to solve the highly involved equation

$$\frac{\partial F(H)}{\partial \tilde{H}^0} = 0, \qquad (3.58)$$

where F(H) stands for the prepotential expressed in terms of the H^i

$$F(H) = \frac{i}{3!} \kappa_{ijk}^0 \frac{H^i H^j H^k}{\tilde{H}^0} + \frac{ic(\tilde{H}^0)^2}{2} + \frac{i(\tilde{H}^0)^2}{(2\pi)^3} \sum_{\{d_i\}} n_{\{d_i\}} Li_3\left(e^{-2\pi d_i \frac{H^i}{\tilde{H}^0}}\right).$$
(3.59)

Once this is done, it is not difficult to express \tilde{H}^i in terms of H^i . Indeed, from (3.56) we simply have

$$\tilde{H}_i = -i \frac{\partial F(H)}{\partial H^i} \,. \tag{3.60}$$

If we expand (3.58), we find

$$-\frac{1}{3!}\kappa_{ijk}^{0}\frac{H^{i}H^{j}H^{k}}{(\tilde{H}^{0})^{3}} + c + \frac{1}{4\pi^{3}}\sum_{\{d_{i}\}}n_{\{d_{i}\}}\left[Li_{3}\left(e^{-2\pi d_{i}\frac{H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}}\right) + Li_{2}\left(e^{-2\pi d_{i}\frac{H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}}\right)\left[\frac{\pi d_{i}H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}\right]\right] = 0.$$
(3.61)

Solving (3.61) for \tilde{H}^0 in full generality seems to be an extremely difficult task. However, if we go to the large volume compactification limit ($\Im z^i >> 1$), we can make use of the following property of the polylogarithmic functions

$$\lim_{|w|\to 0} Li_s(w) = w, \forall s \in \mathbb{N}, \qquad (3.62)$$

since, in our case, $w = e^{-2\pi d_i \Im m z^i}, \forall \{d_i\} \in (\mathbb{Z}^+)^{h^{1,1}}$. Eq. (3.62) enables us to rewrite (3.61) as

$$-\frac{1}{3!}\kappa_{ijk}^{0}\frac{H^{i}H^{j}H^{k}}{(\tilde{H}^{0})^{3}} + c + \frac{1}{4\pi^{3}}\sum_{\{d_{i}\}}n_{\{d_{i}\}}\left[e^{-2\pi d_{i}\frac{H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}} + e^{-2\pi d_{i}\frac{H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}}\left[\frac{\pi d_{i}H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}\right]\right] = 0, \quad \Im mz^{i} >> 1.$$

$$(3.63)$$

The dominant contribution in this regime, aside from the cubic one, is given by c. In the previous subsections and [191], the first non-extremal black hole solutions (with constant and non-constant scalars) of (3.1) were obtained ignoring the non-perturbative corrections. In particular, the solutions of [89] turned out to be purely quantum, in the sense that not only the classical limit $c \to 0$ was ill-defined, but also the truncated theory became inconsistent and therefore no classical limit could be assigned to such solutions. An interesting question to ask now is whether the non-perturbative contributions could actually be able to cure or at least improve this behaviour. On the other hand, it is also interesting per se to explore the existence of black hole solutions when the subleading contribution to the prepotential is not given by c, but has a non-perturbative origin. In order to tackle these two questions, let us restrict ourselves to C.Y. three-folds with vanishing Euler characteristic (c = 0), the so-called self-mirror C.Y. three-folds. Under this assumption, and considering only the subleading contribution in (3.61), which is now given by the fourth term in (3.63), such equation becomes¹¹

$$-\frac{1}{3!}\kappa_{ijk}^{0}\frac{H^{i}H^{j}H^{k}}{(\tilde{H}^{0})^{3}} + \frac{1}{4\pi^{3}}\sum_{\{d_{i}\}}n_{\{d_{i}\}}e^{-2\pi d_{i}\frac{H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}}\left[\frac{\pi d_{i}H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}\right] = 0.$$
(3.64)

The sum over $\{d_i\}$ in (3.64) will be dominated in each case by a certain term corresponding to a particular vector $\{\hat{d}_i\}$ (and, as a consequence, to a particular $n_{\hat{d}_i} \equiv \hat{n}$), which, since we are assuming $\Im z^i >> 1$, is the only one that we need to consider. That is, $\{\hat{d}_i\}$ corresponds to the set of d_i that labels the most relevant term in the infinite sum present in (3.64). Hence, this equation becomes

$$-\frac{1}{3!}\kappa_{ijk}^{0}\frac{H^{i}H^{j}H^{k}}{(\tilde{H}^{0})^{3}} + \frac{\hat{n}}{4\pi^{3}}e^{-2\pi\hat{d}_{i}\frac{H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}}\left[\frac{\pi\hat{d}_{i}H^{i}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}\right] = 0, \quad \Im mz^{i} >> 1.$$
(3.65)

This is solved by¹²

$$\tilde{H}^{0} = \frac{\pi \hat{d}_{l} H^{l}}{W_{a} \left(s_{a} \sqrt{\frac{3\hat{n}(\hat{d}_{n} H^{n})^{3}}{2\kappa_{ijk}^{0} H^{i} H^{j} H^{k}}} \right)}, \qquad (3.66)$$

where $W_a(x)$, (a = 0, -1) stands for (any of the two real branches of) the Lambert W function¹³ (also known as product logarithm), and $s_a = \pm 1$. Using now Eq. (3.60) we can obtain \tilde{H}^i . The result is

$$\tilde{H}_{i} = \frac{1}{2} \kappa_{ijk}^{0} \frac{H^{j} H^{k}}{\pi \hat{d}_{l} H^{l}} W_{a} \left(s_{a} \sqrt{\frac{3\hat{n} (\hat{d}_{m} H^{m})^{3}}{2\kappa_{pqr}^{0} H^{p} H^{q} H^{r}}} \right) .$$
(3.67)

The physical fields can now be written as a function of the H^i as

$$e^{-2U} = \mathsf{W}(H) = \frac{\kappa_{ijk}^0 H^i H^j H^k}{2\pi \hat{d}_m H^m} W_a \left(s_a \sqrt{\frac{3\hat{n}(\hat{d}_l H^l)^3}{2\kappa_{pqr}^0 H^p H^q H^r}} \right) , \qquad (3.68)$$

 $^{^{11}}e^{2\pi i d_i z^i} << \pi d_i \Im m z^i e^{2\pi i d_i z^i}$ for $\Im m z^i >> 1$.

 $^{^{12}}$ Henceforth we will be using W for the Hessian potential, and W for the Lambert function. We hope this is not a source of confusion.

 $^{^{13}}$ See the Appendix B.1 for more details.

$$z^{i} = i \frac{H^{i}}{\pi \hat{d}_{m} H^{m}} W_{a} \left(s_{a} \sqrt{\frac{3\hat{n}(\hat{d}_{l} H^{l})^{3}}{2\kappa_{pqr}^{0} H^{p} H^{q} H^{r}}} \right) .$$
(3.69)

In order to have a regular solution, we need to have a positive definite metric warp factor e^{-2U} . Since, as explained in Appendix B.1, sign $[W_a(x)] = \text{sign}[x]$, $a = 0, -1, x \in D^a_{\mathbb{R}}$, we have to require that

$$s_0 \equiv sign\left[\kappa_{ijk}^0 \frac{H^i H^j H^k}{\hat{d}_m H^m}\right], \qquad (3.70)$$

$$s_{-1} \equiv -1$$
. (3.71)

On the other hand, since $W_0(x) = 0$ for x = 0 and $W_{-1}(x)$ is a real function only when $x \in \left[-\frac{1}{e}, 0\right)$, we have to impose that the argument x of W_a lies entirely either in $\left[-\frac{1}{e}, 0\right)$ or in $(0, \infty)$ for all $\tau \in (-\infty, 0)$, since e^{2U} cannot be zero in a regular black hole solution for any $\tau \in (-\infty, 0)$. This condition must be imposed in a case by case basis, since it depends on the specific form of the symplectic vector $H^M = H^M(\tau)$ as a function of τ . Notice that if $x \in \left[-\frac{1}{e}, 0\right) \quad \forall \tau \in (-\infty, 0)$ we can in principle¹⁴ choose either W_0 or W_{-1} to build the solution, whereas if $x \in (0, +\infty) \quad \forall \tau \in (-\infty, 0)$, only W_0 is available.

Needless to say, in order to construct actual solutions, we have to solve the H-FGK equations of motion (1.83) (plus hamiltonian constraint (1.82)) using the Hessian potential given by (3.68). Fortunately, such equations admit a *model-independent* solution which is obtained choosing the H^i to be harmonic functions in the flat transverse space, with one of the poles given in terms of the corresponding charge

$$H^{i} = a^{i} - \frac{p^{i}}{\sqrt{2}}\tau, \quad r_{0} = 0.$$
 (3.72)

In fact, it is a virtue of the H-FGK formalism to make explicit how every $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ supergravity theory admits a solution of the form

$$H^{M} = a^{M} - \frac{\mathcal{Q}^{M}}{\sqrt{2}}\tau, \quad r_{0} = 0, \quad a^{M}\mathcal{Q}_{M} = 0,$$
 (3.73)

where the last equation encodes the absence of Taub-NUT charge. It can be easily verified that Eq. (3.73) does indeed satisfy Eqs. (1.83) and (1.82) independently of the model. This corresponds to a supersymmetric black hole solution [37, 320, 411].

3.6 The general supersymmetric solution

As we have said, plugging (3.72) into (3.69) and (3.68) provides us with a supersymmetric solution without solving any further equation. The entropy of such a solution reads

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \kappa_{ijk}^{0} \frac{p^{i} p^{j} p^{k}}{\hat{d}_{m} p^{m}} W_{a} \left(s_{a} \beta\right) , \qquad (3.74)$$
$$\beta \equiv \sqrt{\frac{3\hat{n}(\hat{d}_{l} p^{l})^{3}}{2\kappa_{pqr}^{0} p^{p} p^{q} p^{r}}} ,$$

¹⁴As we will see in section 4.2, the possibility $s_0 = s_{-1} = -1$ will not be consistent with the large volume approximation we are considering.

and the mass is given by

$$M = \dot{U}(0) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left[\frac{3\kappa_{ijk}^0 p^i a^j a^k}{\kappa_{pqr}^0 a^p a^q a^r} \left[1 - \frac{1}{1 + W_a(s_a\alpha)} \right] - \frac{d_l p^l}{d_n a^n} \left[1 - \frac{3}{2\left(1 + W_a(s_a\alpha)\right)} \right] \right],$$
(3.75)

$$\alpha \equiv \sqrt{\frac{3\hat{n}(\hat{d}_l a^l)^3}{2\kappa_{pqr}^0 a^p a^q a^r}}.$$
(3.76)

In the approximation under consideration, we are neglecting terms $\sim e^{-2\pi d_i \Im m z^i}$ with respect to those going as $\sim \pi d_i \Im m z^i e^{-2\pi d_i \Im m z^i}$. Taking into account (3.69), this assumption is translated into the condition

$$W_a(x)e^{-2W_a(x)} >> e^{-2W_a(x)}$$
 (3.77)

It is clear that this condition is satisfied for a = 0 if $x \in [\alpha, \beta]$ for positive and sufficiently large values of α and β . Constructing a solution such that the values of p^i and a^i correspond to large enough α and β may or may not be possible depending on the compactification data. For example, if $\hat{d}_i = (1, 0, ..., 0)$ and $\kappa_{iii}^0 = 0 \forall i = 1, ..., n_v$, it is clear that taking $a^1 >> 1$ and $p^1 >> 1$ satisfies the corresponding condition.

It is also clear, however, that (3.77) is not satisfied at all for $x \in [-\frac{1}{e}, 0)$, which is the range for which both branches of the Lambert function are available.

If we assume $x \in [\alpha, \beta]$ for sufficiently large $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}^+$, a = 0 and W_0 is the only real branch of the Lambert function. In that case, $s = s_0 = 1$, and we have

$$e^{-2U} = \frac{\kappa_{ijk}^0 H^i H^j H^k}{2\pi \hat{d}_m H^m} W_0 \left(\sqrt{\frac{3\hat{n}(\hat{d}_l H^l)^3}{2\kappa_{pqr}^0 H^p H^q H^r}} \right) , \qquad (3.78)$$

$$z^{i} = i \frac{H^{i}}{\pi \hat{d}_{m} H^{m}} W_{0} \left(\sqrt{\frac{3\hat{n}(\hat{d}_{l} H^{l})^{3}}{2\kappa_{pqr}^{0} H^{p} H^{q} H^{r}}} \right) .$$
(3.79)

In the conformastatic coordinates we are working with, the metric warp factor e^{-2U} is expected to diverge at the event horizon $(\tau \to -\infty)$ as τ^2 . In addition, we have to require $e^{-2U} > 0 \ \forall \tau \in (-\infty, 0]$, and impose asymptotic flatness $e^{-2U(\tau=0)} = 1$. The last two conditions read

$$\frac{\kappa_{ijk}^0 H^i H^j H^k}{2\pi \hat{d}_n H^n} > 0 \quad \forall \tau \in (-\infty, 0], \qquad (3.80)$$

$$\frac{\kappa_{ijk}^{0}a^{i}a^{j}a^{k}}{2\pi\hat{d}_{m}a^{m}}W_{0}\left(\alpha\right) = 1\,,$$
(3.81)

whereas the first one turns out to hold, since

$$e^{-2U} \xrightarrow{\tau \to -\infty} \frac{\kappa_{ijk}^0 p^i p^j p^k}{8\pi \hat{d}_m p^m} W_0\left(\beta\right) \tau^2.$$
(3.82)

(3.80) and (3.81) can in general be safely imposed in any particular model we consider. Finally, the condition for a well-defined and positive mass M > 0 can be read off from (3.75).

3.7 Multivalued functions and the no-hair conjecture

As we explained in the previous section, our approximation is not consistent with a solution such that $x \in [-\frac{1}{e}, 0)$. This forbids the domain in which W(x) is a multivalued function (both W_0 and W_{-1} are real there). However, it seems legitimate to ask what the consequences of having two different branches would have been, had this constraint not been present. In principle, we could have tried to assign the asymptotic $(\tau \rightarrow 0)$ and near horizon $(\tau \to -\infty)$ limits to any particular pair of values of the arguments of W_0 and W_{-1} (x_0 and x_{-1} respectively) through a suitable election of the parameters available in the solution. In particular, had we chosen $x_0|_{\tau=0} = x_{-1}|_{\tau=0} = -1/e$ and $x_0|_{\tau\to-\infty} = x_{-1}|_{\tau\to-\infty} = \beta, \ \beta \in (-1/e, 0),$ both solutions would have had exactly the same asymptotic behavior (and therefore the scalars of both solutions would have coincided at spatial infinity), and we would have been dealing with two completely different regular solutions with the same mass¹⁵, charges and asymptotic values of the scalar fields, in contradiction¹⁶ with the corresponding black hole uniqueness conjecture (and, as a consequence, with the no-hair conjecture). At this point, and provided that our approximation is not consistent with such presumable two-branched solution, the feasibility of this reasoning in a different context can only be catalogued as *speculative* at the very least. However, a violation of the no-hair conjecture in four-dimensional supergravity would have interesting consequences independently of whether the solution is embedded in string theory or not. In this regard, the very possibility that the stabilization equations may admit (for certain more or less complicated prepotentials) solutions depending on multivalued functions seems to open up a window for possible violations of the no-hair conjecture in the context of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ d = 4 supergravity. The question (whose answer is widely assumed to be "no") is now: is it possible to find a four-dimensional (super)gravity theory admitting more than one stable black hole solution with the same mass, electric, magnetic and scalar charges? We devote the next chapter to prove the answer to this question to be ves.

¹⁵Although $W'_{0,-1}(x)$ are divergent at x = -1/e (as explained in the Appendix B.1), and the definition of M would involve derivatives of the Lambert function at that point, it would not be difficult to cure this $\tau \to 0$

behaviour and get a positive (and finite) mass by imposing $\dot{x}(\tau) \xrightarrow{\tau \to 0} 0$ faster than $|W'_{0,-1}(x)| \xrightarrow{x \to -1/e} \infty$.

¹⁶Up to possible stability issues, which should be carefully studied.

The violation of the no-hair conjecture in d = 4ungauged supegravity

This chapter is based on

Pablo Bueno and C. S. Shahbazi, "The violation of the no-hair Conjecture in four-dimensional ungauged Supergravity", Class. Quantum Grav. **31** (2014) 145005. [arXiv:1310.6379 [hep-th]] [96].

An interesting feature of black holes comes from their exclusiveness. Indeed, it has been known for a long time now that all the stationary, asymptotically flat, black hole solutions to the Einstein-Maxwell theory, in a sort of general relativistic version of the Gauss law, are uniquely determined by a few parameters: their mass, their angular momentum and their electric and magnetic charges $[69, 115, 253, 259, 317]^{-1}$.

The possible generalizations of these uniqueness (or *no-hair*) theorems to systems with more fields (such as scalars or non-Abelian vectors) has been an active area of research [38,41,143] since the proofs of the theorems for the simplest cases were carried out. On the other hand, the seek for counterexamples to the corresponding conjectured uniqueness theorems in such scenarios has also attracted a lot of attention, and produced some interesting results. In particular, it is now known that the no-hair conjecture can be violated or circumvented in certain Einstein-Yang-Mills-Higgs systems (See [10–13,196,216,282,422] and references therein) and in higher-curvature theories of gravity [271,316].

In this chapter we are going to construct a particular $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 ungauged Supergravity model admitting pairs of supersymmetric, static, spherically symmetric and asymptotically flat black hole solutions sharing the same mass, charges and asymptotic values of the scalar fields, providing, to the best of our knowledge, the first counterexample to the corresponding uniqueness conjecture in the context of an ungauged Supergravity theory, and one of the first (some previous examples can be found in [12]) for a system without scalar potential, non-Abelian vector fields or higher-order curvature corrections.

In the previous chapter, we obtained for the first time black hole solutions to a Type-IIA String Theory compactification on a Calabi-Yau manifold in the presence of non-perturbative corrections to the Special Kähler geometry of the vector multiplet sector. These black holes were given in terms of harmonic functions on euclidean \mathbb{R}^3 , as it must be for supersymmetric black hole solutions of ungauged four dimensional Supergravity

¹Thus, the only possible solution for a stationary, axisymmetric and electrovacuum black hole is given by the well-known Kerr-Newmann spacetime [318].

[243, 325], but they also contained a special function called the Lambert function². As we argued in [95], the fact that the Lambert function is multivalued opened up the possibility of using its different branches to build inequivalent black hole solutions with the same conserved charges at infinity. However, such possibility was forbidden by the large volume compactification limit we assumed to hold through all the calculations: that limit only allowed us to consider solutions such that the argument of the Lambert function lied into a set of values for which the function was uniquely valued.

Inspired by this result, we are going to construct a particular Supergravity model that can be analitically solved, and such that its supersymmetric black hole solutions share some of the characteristics of those found in the previous chapter, but without any approximation involved. In particular, we will be able to construct solutions whose metric and scalars will depend on the Lambert function. In this case both branches will be available, and we will show how to construct a family of pairs of inequivalent solutions, providing a violation of the conjecture.

In order to illustrate the result, we will show an explicit example for a model with two scalar fields. We will find that both solutions are regular, in the sense that the only physical singularity of the space-time will be hidden by an event horizon of non-zero positive area (for each solution in the pair). However, we will also see that the Special Kähler metric will not be positive definite (just like happens in other counterexamples to the conjecture [316]) when evaluated on the solutions we have constructed explicitly or, equivalently, that the energy-momentum tensor of at least one of the scalars will not satisfy in general the null energy condition (NEC). In this respect, and although the nohair conjecture does not make in principle reference to stability issues, it is fair to say that the spirit of the conjecture remains partially alive.

4.1 A stringy motivation for the model

The purpose of this chapter is to study the supersymmetric black hole solutions of a particular $\mathcal{N}=2$ four dimensional ungauged Supergravity coupled to vector multiplets, which we will find to *violate* the folk uniqueness theorems that are supposed to hold in unaguged four-dimensional Supergravity. Of course, such model did not appear out of the blue, but it has his seed and motivation in the results found in the previous chapter. In section 4.2 a new class of supersymmetric black hole solutions of type-IIA String Theory compactified to four dimensions on a Calabi-Yau manifold in the presence of non-perturbative stringy corrections was obtained. In order to solve the involved stabilization equations, we were forced to consider the large volume limit $\Im m z^i \to \infty$ of the compactification, where certain simplifications could be made. As a consequence, the approximation $\Im m z^i \to \infty$ had to be also imposed on the solution. As explained in section 3.7, only one of the two real branches of the W function (the one with a = 0) was consistent with such condition, which also implied the argument of $W_0(x(\tau))$ to be positive. We argued how, had not this condition been present, we could have tried to build two different solutions solving the same equations of motion, by choosing $W_0(x(\tau))$ or $W_{-1}(x(\tau))$. In fact, we could have assigned, through a suitable election of the parameters available in the solution, the near horizon $(\tau \to -\infty)$ and asymptotic $(\tau \to 0)$ limits of the argument $x(\tau)$ of $W_0(x(\tau))$ and $W_{-1}(x(\tau))$ to any pair of values chosen at will. In particular, we could have selected

²See appendix B.1.

 $x(\tau = 0) = -1/e$ and $\lim_{\tau \to -\infty} x(\tau) = \beta$, $\beta \in (-1/e, 0)$, and then the solution built with $W_0(x(\tau))$ and the one constructed with $W_{-1}(x(\tau))$ would have had exactly the same asymptotic behaviour, but different profiles away from infinity (note also (B.1) that W_0 and W_{-1} are not even symmetric, in contradistinction to the branches of other real multivalued functions such as the inverse trigonometric functions). That is, we would have been dealing with two completely different regular solutions with the same mass M, charges and asymptotic values of the scalar fields, in contradiction with the aforementioned conjecture. Let us state that when we write *regular*, we mean a black hole solution with positive mass M such that there is a unique physical singularity in the space-time and it is hidden by an event horizon with non-zero, positive area.

In order to accomplish the construction of our solutions, we are going to somewhat forget about String Theory and propose a prepotential which we can solve exactly, and such that the corresponding supersymmetric solutions enjoy the same desirable properties as the String-Theory-forbidden ones of [95]. In particular, we will use the same truncation in the H-variables, to wit

$$H^0 = H_0 = H_i = 0, \quad p^0 = q_0 = q_i = 0.$$
 (4.1)

In addition, we want the Lambert function to appear when solving the corresponding 0-electric component of the stabilization equations. We have found that the following prepotential fulfils the required conditions

$$F(\mathcal{X}) = n \left[d_n \mathcal{X}^n \right] \left[\mathcal{X}^0 e^{2id_l \frac{\mathcal{X}^l}{\mathcal{X}^0}} - 2i \left[d_m \mathcal{X}^m \right] Ei \left[2id_l \frac{\mathcal{X}^l}{\mathcal{X}^0} \right] \right] - d_{ijk} \frac{\mathcal{X}^i \mathcal{X}^j \mathcal{X}^k}{\mathcal{X}^0} , \qquad (4.2)$$

where Ei(z) is the exponential integral function³, and $d_{ijk} = d_{(ijk)}$, n and d_i^4 are now arbitrary constants not constrained by any String Theory requirement, since we are considering a purely Supergravity model.

In the next section we are going to obtain the supersymmetric black hole solutions corresponding to the four dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity theory defined by (4.2), assuming the truncation (4.1).

4.2 The supersymmetric solution

As we have already stressed, in the H-FGK formalism, it is trivial to see that any $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 Supergravity model admits a solution for the H^M variables given by

$$H^M = A^M - \frac{\mathcal{Q}^M}{\sqrt{2}}\tau, \qquad (4.3)$$

which turns out to correspond to a supersymmetric black hole [201, 243, 320, 411]. Using the truncation (4.1) we have

$$H^{i} = a^{i} - \frac{p^{i}}{\sqrt{2}}\tau, \qquad H^{M} = 0, \quad M \neq i.$$
 (4.4)

³See appendix B.2.

⁴The indices i, j, k, l... run from 1 to a fixed arbitrary positive integer n_v .

For the prepotential under consideration (4.2), and the truncation (4.1), it is easy to see that the corresponding stabilization equation for \tilde{H}^0 is solved by

$$\tilde{H}^{0} = \frac{d_{l}H^{l}}{W_{a}\left(s_{a}\sqrt{\frac{n(d_{n}H^{n})^{3}}{d_{ijk}H^{i}H^{j}H^{k}}}\right)}.$$
(4.5)

This is precisely the same result that we found for the \tilde{H}^0 of the solution in the String Theory case Eq. (3.66), and which incorporates the Lambert function, as we wanted. The remaining stabilization equation is solved by

$$\tilde{H}_{i} = \frac{3d_{ijk}H^{j}H^{k}}{\tilde{H}^{0}} + nd_{i}\left[e^{-\frac{2d_{l}H^{l}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}}\tilde{H}^{0} + [4d_{m}H^{m}]Ei\left[-\frac{2d_{q}H^{q}}{\tilde{H}^{0}}\right]\right].$$
(4.6)

 \tilde{H}_i becomes an explicit function of the H^i once we substitute (4.5) into (4.6). In any case the result is different from the corresponding one in the String Theory solution, which is to be expected since the model, although sharing some general characteristics, is different. The metric warp factor is hence given by

$$e^{-2U} = n \left[d_n H^n \right] \left[e^{-\frac{2d_l H^l}{\tilde{H}^0}} \tilde{H}^0 + \left[4d_m H^m \right] Ei \left[-\frac{2d_q H^q}{\tilde{H}^0} \right] \right] + \frac{3d_{ijk} H^i H^j H^k}{\tilde{H}^0} , \qquad (4.7)$$

whereas the scalars read

$$z^{i} = \frac{\mathcal{X}^{i}}{\mathcal{X}^{0}} = i \frac{H^{i}}{d_{l}H^{l}} W_{a} \left(s_{a} \sqrt{\frac{n(d_{n}H^{n})^{3}}{d_{ijk}H^{i}H^{j}H^{k}}} \right) .$$

$$(4.8)$$

This completes the general construction of the supersymmetric solution. Of course, now we have to require, in order to have a regular solution, several conditions which will now be studied.

4.2.1 Regularity conditions

In order to have a regular solution the following requirements have to be satisfied:

1. The warp factor must be non zero, namely

$$e^{2U} > 0, \qquad \forall \ \tau \in (-\infty, 0). \tag{4.9}$$

2. The mass M of the solution must be positive and finite

$$M \equiv U(\tau \to 0) > 0. \tag{4.10}$$

This requires a bit more explanation. Indeed, it turns out that the definition of the black hole mass involves derivatives of the Lambert function evaluated at $x(\tau = 0)$, which will appear multiplicatively in the different factors of $\dot{U}(\tau)$. As we have sketched already and will explain in the next section, in order to jeopardize the no-hair conjecture we want to fix the parameters of our solution in a way such that the argument of the Lambert function evaluated at spatial infinity ($\tau = 0$) takes the value -1/e, where the two branches of W make contact. However, it turns out that W'(x) diverges as $x \to -1/e$ (as explained in the appendix B.1). Fortunately,

it is not difficult to cure this behaviour and get a positive (and finite) mass by choosing the parameters of the solution to be such that $\dot{x}(\tau) \xrightarrow{\tau \to 0} 0$ faster than $|W'_{0,-1}(x)| \xrightarrow{x \to -1/e} \pm \infty$. For instance, we can impose that the coefficient of order τ^0 in the numerator of $\dot{x}(\tau)$ vanishes. As we will see in the explicit examples of section 4.4, this suffices to obtain a finite and positive mass for our pairs of inequivalent black holes.

3. The Kähler potential must be consistently defined. That is

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} = i\,\Omega_M \bar{\Omega}^M \tag{4.11}$$

must be positive. For the prepotential (4.2) the Kähler potential is given by

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} = id_{ijk}(z-\bar{z})^{i}(z-\bar{z})^{j}(z-\bar{z})^{k} + ind_{i}(z+\bar{z})^{i}\left(e^{2id_{l}z^{l}} - e^{-2id_{l}\bar{z}^{l}}\right) (4.12) + 4n|d_{i}z^{i}|^{2}\left(Ei\left[2id_{i}z^{i}\right] + Ei\left[-2id_{i}\bar{z}^{i}\right]\right).$$

Since the supersymmetric solution that we have constructed has purely imaginary scalars, we can use $\bar{z}^i = -z^i$ to simplify this expression

$$\frac{e^{-\mathcal{K}}}{8} = id_{ijk}z^{i}z^{j}z^{k} + n|d_{i}z^{i}|^{2}Ei\left[2id_{i}z^{i}\right].$$
(4.13)

To summarize, if we obtain a solution such that the metric factor, the Kähler potential, and the mass are definite positive, we will have a regular black hole solution with a physical singularity hidden by an event horizon, and no other space-time singularities.

4.3 The violation of the no-hair conjecture

The resolution of the stabilization equations given in section (4.2) gives us the opportunity to build the supersymmetric solution either using W_0 (solution which we will denote by S_0) or W_{-1} (solution which we will denote by S_{-1}). Therefore, in order to prepare the set up for the violation of the uniqueness conjecture, we need to construct a solution such that the argument of $W_a \left(s_a \sqrt{\frac{n(d_n H^n)^3}{d_{ijk} H^i H^j H^k}} \right)$, which we denote by $x(\tau)$, lies entirely in the interval (-1/e, 0), only touching the value -1/e when $\tau = 0$, that is, at spatial infinity. Notice that if we want the argument $x(\tau)$ to be negative we have to chose $s_0 = s_{-1} = -1$, which we will assume henceforth. This way, we will be able to construct two different black hole solutions that solve the same equations of motion, and have the same mass, charges and moduli at infinity, but however are different, since the profiles of W_0 and W_{-1} are different (and asymmetric) when evaluated in (-1/e, 0). Hence, we need to impose

$$x(0) = -\sqrt{\frac{n(d_n a^n)^3}{d_{ijk} a^i a^j a^k}} = -\frac{1}{e}, \qquad (4.14)$$

and

$$x(\tau) \in \left(\frac{-1}{e}, 0\right), \ \forall \ \tau \in (-\infty, 0).$$
 (4.15)

Of course, as explained in the previous section, in order to have a regular solution we need to impose M > 0 and $e^{-2U}, e^{-\mathcal{K}} > 0$ for $\tau \in (-\infty, 0)$. Assuming that (4.10), (and the discussion under it) and (4.14) hold, the value of the scalars at infinity as well as the mass, for both solutions S_0 and S_{-1} will be given by

$$M = \dot{U}(\tau \to 0), \qquad \Im z_{\infty}^{i} = -\frac{a^{i}}{d_{l}a^{l}}.$$

$$(4.16)$$

In order to show that it is indeed possible (and actually easy) to choose the parameters available in the model in a way such that we can obey all the conditions (regularity plus (4.14) and (4.15)), in the next section we will explicitly construct a pair of solutions satisfying the required properties for a particular model with two scalar fields.

Another issue, related to the stability of the solution, is the positive definiteness of the scalar metric $\mathcal{G}_{i\bar{i}}$ evaluated on the solution. Such a condition, which is related to the fulfilment of the NEC associated to the energy-momentum tensor of all the scalar fields in our solution, turns out to be difficult to satisfy. In particular, for the simple models in which we have worked out the explicit construction of pairs of solutions with the same masses, charges and asymptotic values of the moduli (like the one in section 4.4), the scalar metric turns out to have both positive and negative eigenvalues (for both solutions in each pair), meaning that some of the scalars in our solutions fail to satisfy the NEC (just like in other counterexamples to the no-hair conjecture [316]). At this point it is not clear to us whether this is a feature shared by all the possible solutions eluding the no-hair conjecture susceptible of being constructed in our model (for any number of scalar fields), or not. This is an open question which could be addressed from different approaches. On the one hand, one could always try to map (brute force-wise) the parameter space for models with different numbers of scalars, looking for a solution satisfying all the requirements but with a positive definite scalar metric. It would also be possible to consider other prepotentials giving rise to stabilization equations whose solutions involve multivalued functions, and study the situation therein. On the other hand, it might just be that our procedure of placing the spatial infinity at the branch point of the Lambert function necessarily implies some unstable behaviour for the corresponding solutions, not incompatible with their regularity. This could be related to the structure of the attractor flows associated to each pair of solutions. Let us see how this works.

4.3.1 Attractors

Although both solutions S_0 and S_{-1} have exactly the same asymptotic limit $\tau \to 0$, since the flow is different, one should expect that the corresponding attractors z_0 and z_{-1} are different. This is indeed the case; they are given by

$$z_{a}^{i} = \frac{p^{i}}{d_{l}p^{l}} W_{a} \left(-\sqrt{\frac{n(d_{l}p^{l})^{3}}{d_{ijk}p^{i}p^{j}p^{k}}} \right) .$$
(4.17)

This can be understood in the context of the basins of attractions [268]. Let us suppose that we impose

$$x(0) = \alpha, \qquad \alpha \in \left(-\frac{1}{e}, \beta\right),$$

$$(4.18)$$

instead of $x(0) = -\frac{1}{e}$. Then S_0 and S_{-1} have different asymptotic limits at spatial infinity. In particular, the asymptotic value of the scalars at infinity is different for S_0

and S_{-1} . Therefore, we have two basins of attraction B_0 and B_1 such that the solution S_0 corresponds to B_0 and S_{-1} corresponds to B_{-1} . What happens when we impose

$$x(0) = -\frac{1}{e}$$
(4.19)

is that we precisely choose a point which lies in B_0 and B_{-1} , that is, we choose a point in the common border of the two basins of attraction. As a result, we end up with two different solutions, with different attractors, which however have the same mass, charges and asymptotic values of the scalares at infinity.

This standpoint suggests that there could be, in fact, some instability associated to our election of the Lambert's function argument at the branch point. If this were the case, it would simply mean that, just like appears to happen in other counterexamples available in the literature (but those usually in theories with scalar potential, gaugings or higher order curvature corrections), the no-hair Conjecture remains robust when stability issues are considered.

4.4 An explicit example

Let us consider a model with two scalar fields z^1 and z^2 . The warp factor of the spacetime metric and the scalars can be read off directly from (4.7) and (4.8) with $H^1 = a^1 - \frac{p^1}{\sqrt{2}}\tau$, $H^2 = a^2 - \frac{p^2}{\sqrt{2}}\tau$. Imposing the regularity conditions, the correct asymptotic behaviour of the metric $(e^{2U} \xrightarrow{\tau \to 0} 1)$ and choosing the parameters in the argument of the two branches of the Lambert function in the way explained in the previous section (and such that (4.15) and (4.14) hold), it is not difficult to construct solutions with the required properties (and which, in all the examples constructed automatically satisfy the condition $e^{-\mathcal{K}} > 0 \ \forall \tau \in (-\infty, 0)$). Let us choose a particular model with $d_1 = d_2 = 1$, $d_{122} = 0$, $d_{222} \simeq -0,270, \ d_{211} \simeq 0,320, \ d_{111} \simeq -2,040, \ n \simeq -0,011$, and with the following constants for our solutions: $\Im m z_{\infty}^1 = -1/3, \ \Im m z_{\infty}^2 = -2/3, \ p^1 = p^2 = 1$. The explicit dependence on τ of the warp factor and the imaginary parts of our scalars for the examples at hand is in general very messy, so instead of reproducing it here, let us have a look at the corresponding plots for this particular example, for which the mass turns out to be M = 2/3



Figure 4.1: The profiles of the metric warp factors corresponding to the two solutions outside the event horizon $\tau \in (-\infty, 0)$. Both metrics asymptote to Minkowski spacetime at spatial infinity.



Figure 4.2: The profiles of the imaginary parts of the scalar fields outside the event horizon $\tau \in (-\infty, 0)$. As we can see, their asymptotic values $\Im m z_{\infty}^1$ and $\Im m z_{\infty}^2$ coincide for both solutions (recall that spatial infinity is at $\tau \to 0^-$).

As we can see, both solutions are completely regular, and share the same mass, charges, and asymptotic values of the scalars.
$\mathcal{N} = 2$ Einstein-Yang-Mills' static two-center solutions

This chapter is based on

Pablo Bueno, Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortín and Pedro F. Ramírez
"N = 2 Einstein-Yang-Mills' static two-center solutions", JHEP 1412 (2014) 093. [arXiv:1410.4160 [hep-th]] [91].

Contrary to what one might think, multi-black hole solutions need not be related to supersymmetry or, like in the case of Kastor and Traschen's solution in Ref. [272], fake-supersymmetry. Proof of this is given by various solutions e.g. the ones presented in Refs. [53] and [139]. The benefit of using supersymmetry, however, is that after a few decades' worth of investigations there are workable recipes for creating supersymmetric solutions, which greatly facilitates the construction and study of multi-black hole solutions.

The construction is particularly straightforward in ungauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 supergravity coupled to vector multiplets where there are clear-cut rules for a supersymmetric multi-object solution to give rise to a well-defined multi-black hole solution [42, 140, 159, 228, 252, 309, 358, 359]: i) positive mass of the constituents, ii) the near-horizon limit has to have definite entropy, iii) the 2^{nd} law of thermodynamics must hold in the coalescence of constituents, and iv) the Denef constraints [159] must be satisfied. Depending on the charges the latter may constrain the distance between the constituents but it always implies the absence of NUT charge.

The oft forgotten case of ungauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 supergravity coupled to non-Abelian vector multiplets, which we refer to as $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Einstein-Yang-Mills, is similar to the Abelian case in that there is a well-defined recipe for constructing supersymmetric solutions [244, 245]. However, the construction of supersymmetric solutions is greatly hindered not only by the fact that not every Abelian theory can be non-Abelianized, but doubly more so by the fact that the supersymmetric recipe requires the use of solutions of the (non-Abelian) Bogomol'nyi equation on \mathbb{R}^3 [72]. Our lack of knowledge of the space of all solutions to this equation is a serious limitation to the application of the supersymmetric recipe: there exists a vast literature on single monopole solutions, *i.e.* regular singlecenter solutions to the Bogomol'nyi equation (see *e.g.* Refs. [406]). Depending on the chosen $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 model, these can be used to construct globally regular supergravity solutions known as *global monopoles*. A lot less is known about the singular solutions to the Bogomol'nyi equation which are the ones which give rise to black holes with different degrees of non-Abelian hair [244, 245, 319]. Finally, even less is known about multi-center solutions to the Bogomol'nyi equation. These are the ones we need in order to to apply the supersymmetric recipe to the construction of multi-center supergravity solutions, with centers that correspond to global monopoles or black holes.

Luckily enough, some explicit solutions are known.¹ In this chapter we are going to use the solutions of the SU(2) Bogomol'nyi equation found by Cherkis and Durcan [138] and Blair and Cherkis [71] (which we will generalize by adding *Protogenov hair* [319]). These solutions describe an 't Hooft-Polyakov (-Protogenov) monopole in the presence of an arbitrary number of Dirac monopoles embedded in SU(2), all having charge opposite to the one carried by the former. These solutions can (in principle) give rise to supergravity solutions describing black holes in the presence of a global monopole. The construction of these solutions is, at the same time, our main goal and our main result.

Before we start constructing multi-black hole solutions, however, it is worth reviewing briefly some of the previous work on solutions of YM theories coupled to gravity². Most of the previous work on this topic was focused on pure Einstein-Yang-Mills (EYM) theories, (the minimal non-Abelian extension of the Einstein-Maxwell theory), ignoring the possible existence of unbroken supersymmetry which is, however, one of our main concerns here.

Soon after the discovery of the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole [370,408] several groups found solutions to the pure EYM theory [429] whose SU(2) gauge field is that of the Wu–Yang SU(2) monopole [428]. The metric of all these solutions is that of the (dS or AdS) non-extremal Reissner-Nordström black hole and the singularity in the gauge field (generically expected for static YM solutions [160]) is covered by an event horizon.

This coincidence of the metrics is due to the relation between the Wu–Yang SU(2) monopole and the non-Abelian embedding of the Dirac monopole Eq. (C.15): they are related by a singular gauge transformation and therefore give rise to exactly the same energy-momentum tensor as it is gauge invariant whether the gauge transformation is singular or not. For this reason, these solutions have been regarded as not truly non-Abelian, even though there are potentially measurable differences, see *e.g.* Refs. [113,232].

Finding less trivial ("genuinely or essentially non-Abelian") solutions proved much more difficult and a *non-Abelian baldness theorem* stating that the only black-hole solutions of the EYM SU(2) theory with a regular horizon and non-vanishing magnetic charge had to be non-Abelian embeddings of the Reissner–Nordström solution was proven in [193]. This theorem was subsequently generalized to prove the absence of regular monopole or dyon solutions to the EYM theory in Refs. [70, 171].

An "essentially non-Abelian" solution, globally regular [396] to EYM theory had already been found: the Bartnik-McKinnon particle [30]. The Bartnik-McKinnon particle and its black hole-type generalizations [418], are in fact families of unstable solutions indexed by a discrete parameter and evade the non-Abelian baldness theorem by being bald, *i.e.* they have no asymptotic charge. It is worth pointing out that even though these solutions are only known numerically, they have been proven to exist [394].

The classification of the possible EYM solutions for the gauge group SU(2) [395] suggests that one has to add more fields to the theory in order to get "essentially non-Abelian" black-hole or gravitating monopole solutions with non-vanishing charges. Investigations of solutions to the EYM theory coupled to a Higgs field in the adjoint representation [293]

¹Finite-energy, multi-center solutions of the Yang-Mills or Yang-Mills-Higgs system which do not satisfy the Bogomol'nyi equation like those in Refs. [278, 280, 283] are also known.

²For more comprehensive reviews see *e.g.* Refs. [417].

in the BPS-limit, a theory that is closer to the one we are going to study than EYM, shows that a globally well-defined 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole exists and furthermore the existence of other Bartnik-McKinnon-like solutions.

As far as 4-dimensional supergravity is concerned we have the (supersymmetric) Harvey-Liu [231] and the Chamseddine-Volkov [130] regular gravitating monopole solutions to gauged $\mathcal{N} = 4$, d = 4 supergravity; in $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 theories there are analytical solutions describing global monopole solutions and non-Abelian black hole solutions with and without asymptotic magnetic charge. Needless to say, all the solutions mentioned in this little historical *exposé* describe the fields corresponding to a single object. To our knowledge, there are no known, essentially non-Abelian multi-object analytic³ solutions and this article intends to fill this gap by constructing static solutions describing the interplay between an 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole and a Dirac monopole of opposite charge in two generic classes of gauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 models.

As we stressed in the introduction, in the theories we have called $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4SEYM the gauge group does not contain any part of the R-symmetry group. Indeed, in general (ungauged) $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 theories, the global symmetry group G can be written as

$$G = G_V \times G_{hyper} \times SU(2)_R \times U(1)_R, \qquad (5.1)$$

where G_V and G_{hyper} stand for the isometry groups of the special and quaternionic Kähler manifolds respectively. When a (necessarily non-Abelian) subgroup of G_V is gauged (as in $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SEYM theories) the scalar potential is positive semidefinite, which allows for asymptotically De-Sitter and asymptotically flat solutions (such as the ones we construct in this paper). This is in contradistinction to theories in which a subgroup of $SU(2)_R$ (or the complete $SU(2)_R$) is gauged via Fayet-Iliopoulos terms⁴ in whose case the scalar potential becomes negative definite, the solutions thus being asymptotically anti-De Sitter. Lately, an intense effort has been devoted to the construction of black-hole solutions of theories with Abelian gaugings (that is, theories in which a subgroup $U(1) \in SU(2)_R$ has been gauged); see, for instance, Refs. [97, 209, 224, 242, 285, 412] and references therein. The case in which the full $SU(2)_R$ has been gauged remains as unexplored as challenging, even though the general form of the timelike supersymmetric solutions of this theory has been given in Ref. [322].

This chapter is organized as follows: in section 5.1 we review the theories we are going to work with ($\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 Super-Einstein-Yang-Mills theories) and the recipe for constructing timelike supersymmetric solutions (black holes, in particular). In section 5.2 we apply that recipe to construct single, static supersymmetric black-hole and monopole solutions of two particular examples of SU(2)-gauged $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM: the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ model (quadratic) (5.2.2) and the ST[2,4] model (cubic) (5.2.3). We use as seeds for these solutions the single-center solutions of the Bogomol'nyi equations reviewed in section 5.2.1. In section 5.3 we construct multi-black-hole solutions for the same models using the multicenter solutions of the Bogomol'nyi equations reviewed in section 5.3.1. Our conclusions are contained in section 5.4. In the Appendices we review a particularly interesting single-

³Numerical, multi-center solutions have been found previously, though. See, *e.g.* Refs. [279,281]. Some of those solutions can be embedded in $\mathcal{N} = 1, d = 4$ supergravity. However, representing massive objects, they can never be supersymmetric in that theory. The embedding in higher- \mathcal{N} supergravities is much more difficult (if possible at all). We thank J. Kunz for pointing these works to us.

⁴The overall $U(1)_R$ group cannot be gauged in this way. The Abelian gaugings discussed in the literature deal with a subgroup $U(1) \in SU(2)_R$.

center solution of the SU(2) Bogomol'nyi equations which appears in different guises: as a "Lorentzian meron" (Appendix C.1), as the Wu-Yang monopole (Appendix C.2) or as a solution of the Skyrme model (Appendix C.3). A higher-charge generalization of this solution is reviewed in Appendix C.4.

5.1 $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SEYM and its supersymmetric black-hole solutions (SBHSs)

In this section we are going to introduce the class of theories that we have called $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM theories and we are going to review the recipe to construct all their timelike supersymmetric solutions, presented in Ref. [245]. We shall be extremely brief. The interested reader can find more details in Refs. [183, 244, 353]; our conventions are those of Refs. [244, 245, 353].

5.1.1 The theory

 $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM theories can be seen as the simplest $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetrization of the Einstein-Yang-Mills (EYM) theories. They are nothing but theories of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 supergravity coupled to *n* vector multiplets in which a (necessarily non-Abelian)⁵ subgroup of the isometry group of the (Special Kähler) scalar manifold has been gauged using some of the vector fields of the theory as gauge fields⁶.

We will only be concerned with the bosonic sector of the theory, which consists on the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$, the vector fields $A^{\Lambda}{}_{\mu}$ ($\Lambda = 0, 1, \dots, n$) and the complex scalars Z^{i} ($i = 1, \dots, n$). The action of the bosonic sector reads

$$S[g_{\mu\nu}, A^{\Lambda}{}_{\mu}, Z^{i}] = \int d^{4}x \sqrt{|g|} \left[R + 2\mathcal{G}_{ij^{*}} \mathfrak{D}_{\mu} Z^{i} \mathfrak{D}^{\mu} Z^{*j^{*}} + 2\mathfrak{Sm} \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Lambda \, \mu\nu} F^{\Sigma}{}_{\mu\nu} - 2\mathfrak{Re} \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Lambda \, \mu\nu} \star F^{\Sigma}{}_{\mu\nu} - V(Z, Z^{*}) \right].$$

$$(5.2)$$

In this expression, \mathcal{G}_{ij^*} is the Kähler metric, $\mathfrak{D}_{\mu}Z^i$ is the gauge-covariant derivative

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\mu}Z^{i} = \partial_{\mu}Z^{i} + gA^{\Lambda}{}_{\mu}k_{\Lambda}{}^{i}, \qquad (5.3)$$

 $F^{\Lambda}_{\mu\nu}$ is the vector field strength

$$F^{\Lambda}{}_{\mu\nu} = 2\partial_{[\mu}A^{\Lambda}{}_{\nu]} - gf_{\Sigma\Gamma}{}^{\Lambda}A^{\Sigma}{}_{\mu}A^{\Gamma}{}_{\nu}, \qquad (5.4)$$

 $\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ is the period matrix and, finally, $V(Z, Z^*)$ is the scalar potential

$$V(Z, Z^*) = -\frac{1}{4}g^2 \Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}^{\Lambda \Sigma} \mathcal{P}_{\Lambda} \mathcal{P}_{\Sigma} .$$
(5.5)

Since the imaginary part of the period matrix is negative definite, the scalar potential is positive semidefinite, which leads to asymptotically-flat or -De Sitter solutions.

 $^{^{5}}$ The theory becomes identical to the ungauged one when the gauge group is Abelian.

⁶ A global symmetry group can be gauged if it acts on the vector fields in the adjoint representation. Furthermore, it is required to be a symmetry of the prepotential; see *e.g.* ref. [245] for more details.

In the above equations, $k_{\Lambda}{}^{i}(Z)$ are the holomorphic Killing vectors of the isometries that have been gauged⁷ and $\mathcal{P}_{\Lambda}(Z, Z^{*})$ the corresponding momentum maps, which are related to the Killing vectors and to the Kähler potential \mathcal{K} by

$$i\mathcal{P}_{\Lambda} = k_{\Lambda}{}^{i}\partial_{i}\mathcal{K} - \lambda_{\Lambda},$$
 (5.6)

$$k_{\Lambda i^*} = i\partial_{i^*} \mathcal{P}_{\Lambda} , \qquad (5.7)$$

for some holomorphic functions $\lambda_{\Lambda}(Z)$. Furthermore, the holomorphic Killing vectors and the generators T_{Λ} of the gauge group satisfy the Lie algebras

$$[k_{\Lambda}, k_{\Sigma}] = -f_{\Lambda\Sigma}{}^{\Gamma}k_{\Gamma}, \qquad [T_{\Lambda}, T_{\Sigma}] = +f_{\Lambda\Sigma}{}^{\Gamma}T_{\Gamma}.$$
(5.8)

For the gauge group SU(2), which is the only one we are going to consider, we use lowercase indices⁸ a, b, c = 1, 2, 3 and the structure constants are $f_{ab}{}^c = -\varepsilon_{abc}$, so

$$[k_a, k_b] = +\varepsilon_{abc} k_c , \qquad [T_a, T_b] = -\varepsilon_{abc} T_c .$$
(5.9)

We will use the fundamental representation, in which the generators are proportional to the standard Pauli matrices⁹ σ^a

$$T_a \equiv +\frac{i}{2}\sigma^a, \quad \Rightarrow \quad \text{Tr}(T_a T_b) = -\frac{1}{2}\delta_{ab}.$$
 (5.11)

The equations of motion of the theory can be written in the following form:

$$G_{\mu\nu} + 2\mathcal{G}_{ij^*} [\mathfrak{D}_{(\mu} Z^i \mathfrak{D}_{\nu)} Z^{*j^*} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \mathfrak{D}_{\rho} Z^i \mathfrak{D}^{\rho} Z^{*j^*}]$$

+4 $\mathcal{M}_{MN} \mathcal{F}^M{}_{\mu}{}^{\rho} \mathcal{F}^N{}_{\nu\rho} + \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} V(Z, Z^*) = 0, \qquad (5.12)$

$$\mathfrak{D}^2 Z^i + \partial^i G_{\Lambda \mu\nu} \star F^{\Lambda \mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \partial^i V(Z, Z^*) = 0, \qquad (5.13)$$

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\nu} \star G_{\Lambda}{}^{\nu\mu} + \frac{1}{4}g\left(k_{\Lambda i^{*}}\mathfrak{D}_{\mu}Z^{*i^{*}} + k_{\Lambda i}^{*}\mathfrak{D}_{\mu}Z^{i}\right) = 0, \qquad (5.14)$$

where $G_{\Lambda \mu\nu}$ is the dual vector field strength

$$G_{\Lambda} \equiv \Re \mathfrak{e} \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda \Sigma} F^{\Sigma} + \Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda \Sigma} \star F^{\Sigma} , \qquad (5.15)$$

 $\mathcal{F}^{M}{}_{\mu\nu}$ is the symplectic vector of vector field strengths

$$\left(\mathcal{F}^{M}\right) \equiv \left(\begin{array}{c} F^{\Lambda} \\ G_{\Lambda} \end{array}\right) \,, \tag{5.16}$$

$$\sigma^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{a}\sigma^{b} = \delta^{ab} + i\varepsilon^{abc}\sigma^{c}.$$
(5.10)

⁷ The employed notation associates a Killing vector to each value of the index Λ in order to avoid the introduction of yet another class of indices and the embedding tensor (See *e.g.* the reviews [413]); it is understood that not all the k_{Λ} need to be non-vanishing.

⁸These will be a certain subset of those represented by Λ, Σ, \ldots

⁹These are

 \mathcal{M}_{MN} is the symmetric $2(n+1) \times 2(n+1)$ matrix defined by

$$(\mathcal{M}_{MN}) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} + R_{\Lambda\Gamma} \Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}^{-1|\Gamma\Omega} R_{\Omega\Sigma} & -R_{\Lambda\Gamma} \Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}^{-1|\Gamma\Sigma} \\ -\Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}^{-1|\Lambda\Omega} R_{\Omega\Sigma} & \Im \mathfrak{m} \mathcal{N}^{-1|\Lambda\Sigma} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.17)$$

and

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\nu} \star G_{\Lambda}{}^{\nu\mu} = \partial_{\nu} \star G_{\Lambda}{}^{\nu\mu} + g f_{\Lambda\Sigma}{}^{\Gamma} A^{\Sigma}{}_{\nu} \star G_{\Lambda}{}^{\nu\mu} \,. \tag{5.18}$$

Most of the literature and earlier work on non-Abelian black-hole and monopole solutions has been carried out in the context of the Einstein-Yang-Mills (EYM) and Einstein-Yang-Mills-Higgs (EYMH) theories. Before closing this introduction, it is worth discussing the relation between those and the theories we are considering here. The main differences of the latter w.r.t. the former are the complexification of the Higgs field and the presence of a non-trivial period matrix. A further difference is the possibility of having more general scalar manifolds, which is reflected in the expressions of the gauge-covariant derivatives of the scalar fields. Solutions to the $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM theory have a chance of being also solutions of the EYMH theory if they have covariantly-constant scalars with identical phases (*e.g.* all of them purely imaginary). Then, if the scalar potential vanishes on the solutions, they also have a chance of being solutions to the EYM system as well; as we are going to see, some of the solutions found in Refs. [244, 245] are also solutions of the EYM theory and have the same metric as the EYM solutions of Refs. [113, 429].

5.1.2 The recipe to construct SBHSs of $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$ SEYM

To construct timelike supersymmetric solutions of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM theory, it suffices to follow this recipe [244, 245] to find the elementary building blocks of the solutions, which are the 2(n+1) time-independent functions $(\mathcal{I}^M) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{I}^{\Lambda} \\ \mathcal{I}_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix}$:

1. Take a solution of the Bogomol'nyi equations

$$\tilde{F}^{\Lambda}\underline{mn} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\varepsilon_{mnp}\tilde{\mathfrak{D}}_{\underline{p}}\mathcal{I}^{\Lambda},\tag{5.19}$$

for a gauge field $\tilde{A}^{\Lambda}_{\underline{m}}$ ($\underline{m} = 1, 2, 3$ labels the 3 spatial coordinates) and a real "Higgs" field \mathcal{I}^{Λ} . $\tilde{\mathfrak{D}}_{\underline{p}}\mathcal{I}^{\Lambda}$ is the covariant derivative in the adjoint representation with gauge field $\tilde{A}^{\Lambda}_{\underline{m}}$. Observe that this equation has to be solved in the gauged (non-Abelian) and ungauged (Abelian) directions. The integrability condition in the Abelian directions is the familiar requirement that the \mathcal{I}^{Λ} be harmonic functions on \mathbb{R}^{3} .

2. Find the functions \mathcal{I}_{Λ} by solving these equations:

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{D}}_{\underline{m}}\tilde{\mathfrak{D}}_{\underline{m}}\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda} = \frac{1}{2}g^2 \left[f_{\Lambda(\Sigma}{}^{\Gamma}f_{\Delta)\Gamma}{}^{\Omega} \mathcal{I}^{\Sigma}\mathcal{I}^{\Delta} \right] \mathcal{I}_{\Omega} \,.$$
(5.20)

In the non-Abelian directions these equations can, in many cases, be solved by taking $\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda} \propto \mathcal{I}^{\Lambda}$, but currently we only know how to generate non-trivial solutions to them in the cases where the gauge doublet $(\tilde{A}^{\Lambda}, \mathcal{I}^{\Lambda})$ describes a non-Abelian Wu-Yang monopole; Observe that $\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda} = 0$ is always a solution, but the physical fields may be singular in some models.

In the Abelian directions, the \mathcal{I}_{Λ} are just independent harmonic functions on \mathbb{R}^3 .

3. Given the functions \mathcal{I}^M , we must find the 1-form on $\mathbb{R}^3 \omega_{\underline{m}}$ by solving the following equation:

$$\partial_{[\underline{m}}\omega_{\underline{n}]} = \varepsilon_{mnp} \mathcal{I}_M \tilde{\mathfrak{D}}_{\underline{p}} \mathcal{I}^M = \varepsilon_{mnp} \left(\mathcal{I}_\Lambda \tilde{\mathfrak{D}}_{\underline{p}} \mathcal{I}^\Lambda - \mathcal{I}^\Lambda \tilde{\mathfrak{D}}_{\underline{p}} \mathcal{I}_\Lambda \right) \,. \tag{5.21}$$

The integrability conditions of this equation impose constraints on the integration constants of the functions \mathcal{I}^M in exactly the same manner as in the ungauged case [31,159].

In the case of static solutions, *i.e.* when $\omega = 0$, the above equation becomes a constraint on the integration constants of the functions \mathcal{I}^M that will have to be solved. Observe, however, that this constraint is independent of the specific $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 model and only depends on the choice of gauge group; possible restrictions on the solution to said constraint can come from the desired behaviour of the physical fields in the full solution.

4. To reconstruct the physical fields from the functions \mathcal{I}^M we need to solve the stabilization equations, a.k.a. Freudenthal duality equations, which give the components of the Freudenthal dual¹⁰ $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}^M(\mathcal{I})$ in terms of the functions \mathcal{I}^M [189]; These relations completely characterize the model of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 supergravity.

Equivalently, the $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}$ can be derived from a homogeneous function of degree 2 $W(\mathcal{I})$ called the *Hesse potential* as [31, 324, 331]

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_M = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial W}{\partial \mathcal{I}^M} \longrightarrow W(\mathcal{I}) = \tilde{\mathcal{I}}_M \mathcal{I}^M.$$
(5.22)

5. The metric takes the form

$$ds^{2} = e^{2U}(dt + \omega)^{2} - e^{-2U}dx^{m}dx^{m}, \qquad (5.23)$$

where $\omega = \omega_{\underline{m}} dx^m$ is the above spatial 1-form and the metric function e^{-2U} is given by

$$e^{-2U} = \tilde{\mathcal{I}}_M(\mathcal{I})\mathcal{I}^M = W(\mathcal{I}).$$
(5.24)

6. The scalar fields are given by

$$Z^{i} = \frac{\tilde{\mathcal{I}}^{i} + i\mathcal{I}^{i}}{\tilde{\mathcal{I}}^{0} + i\mathcal{I}^{0}}.$$
(5.25)

7. The components of the vector fields are given by

$$A^{\Lambda}{}_{t} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}e^{2U}\tilde{\mathcal{I}}^{\Lambda}, \qquad (5.26)$$

$$A^{\Lambda}{}_{\underline{m}} = \tilde{A}^{\Lambda}{}_{\underline{m}} + \omega_{\underline{m}} A^{\Lambda}{}_{t} .$$
(5.27)

After having gone through the steps of the recipe, one ends up with a supersymmetric solution to a chosen $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 EYM theory and what remains to be done is to analyze the constraints coming from imposing appropriate regularity conditions such as the absence of naked singularities.

¹⁰ In Refs. [244, 245, 320] the components of the Freudenthal dual are denoted by \mathcal{R}^{M} .

5.2 Static, single-SBHSs of SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM and pure EYM

Following the recipe given in section 5.1.2, we are going to construct static, single-center SBHSs of SU(2) $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM. Some of the solutions will simultaneously solve the equations of motion of the EYM and EYMH theories.

The first step consists in finding a solution $\tilde{A}^{\Lambda}{\underline{m}}, \mathcal{I}^{\Lambda}$ of the SU(2) Bogomol'nyi equations in \mathbb{R}^3 Eqs. (5.19).

5.2.1 Single-center solutions of the SU(2) Bogomol'nyi equations in \mathbb{R}^3

Before we search for solutions of the Bogomol'nyi equations it is worth reviewing the origin and meaning of those equations in the context of the SU(2) Yang-Mills-Higgs theory (in the Bogomol'nyi-Prasad-Sommerfield (BPS) limit in which the Higgs potential vanishes).

The SU(2) Yang-Mills-Higgs system

With the normalization in Eq. (5.11) and writing $F \equiv F^a T_a$, $\Phi \equiv \Phi^a T_a$, the action of the YMH theory in our conventions reads

$$S_{\text{YMH}} = -2 \int d^4 x \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \mathfrak{D}_{\mu} \Phi \mathfrak{D}^{\mu} \Phi - \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} \right\} \,, \tag{5.28}$$

and the corresponding equations of motion are

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = g[\Phi, \mathfrak{D}^{\nu}\Phi], \qquad (5.29)$$

$$\mathfrak{D}^2 \Phi = 0. \tag{5.30}$$

For static configurations $F_{t\underline{m}} = \mathfrak{D}_t \Phi = 0$, the action can be written, up to a total derivative, in the manifestly positive form

$$S_{\text{YMH}} = -2 \int d^4 x \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ -\frac{1}{4} \left(F_{\underline{mn}} \mp \varepsilon_{mnp} \mathfrak{D}_{\underline{p}} \Phi \right) \left(F_{\underline{mn}} \mp \varepsilon_{mnp} \mathfrak{D}_{\underline{p}} \Phi \right) \right\}, \qquad (5.31)$$

which leads to the conclusion that static field configurations satisfying the first-order *Bogomol'nyi equations* [72]

$$F_{\underline{mn}} = \pm \varepsilon_{mnp} \mathfrak{D}_p \Phi \,, \tag{5.32}$$

extremize the action Eq. (5.28) and are solutions of the full Yang-Mills-Higgs equations. Indeed, if we act with $\mathfrak{D}_{\underline{m}}$ on both sides of the equation and use the Ricci identity and the Bogomol'nyi equation we get the Yang-Mills equation:

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\underline{m}}F_{\underline{m}\underline{n}} = \mp \varepsilon_{nmp}\mathfrak{D}_{\underline{m}}\mathfrak{D}_{\underline{p}}\Phi = \mp \frac{1}{2}g\varepsilon_{nmp}[F_{\underline{m}\underline{p}},\Phi] = -g[\mathfrak{D}_{\underline{n}}\Phi,\Phi].$$
(5.33)

If, instead, we act with $\varepsilon_{pmn}\mathfrak{D}_p$ and use the Bianchi identity, we get the Higgs equation:

$$0 = \varepsilon_{pmn} \mathfrak{D}_{\underline{p}} F_{\underline{mn}} = \pm \mathfrak{D}_{\underline{p}} \mathfrak{D}_{\underline{p}} \Phi \,. \tag{5.34}$$

Observe that the source of the Yang-Mills field, the *Higgs current* $g[\Phi, \mathfrak{D}\Phi]$, not only vanishes when the Higgs field is covariantly constant $\mathfrak{D}\Phi = 0$ but also when Φ and $\mathfrak{D}\Phi$ are parallel in $\mathfrak{su}(2)$.

Eqs. (5.32) are identical to the ones that arise in $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM theory, (5.19) upon the identification of the vector fields and

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\mathcal{I}^a = \mp \Phi^a \,. \tag{5.35}$$

The hedgehog ansatz

In order to construct static, single-center black-hole-type solutions, it is natural to look for spherically symmetric solutions of Eqs. (5.32). Substituting the *hedgehog ansatz*

$$\mp \Phi^a = \delta^a{}_m f(r) x^m , \qquad A^a{}_{\underline{m}} = -\varepsilon^a{}_{mn} x^n h(r)$$
(5.36)

in the Bogomol'nyi Eqs. (5.32) we get an equivalent system of differential equations for f(r) and h(r):

$$r\partial_r h + 2h - f(1 + gr^2 h) = 0,$$

$$r\partial_r (h + f) - gr^2 h(h + f) = 0.$$
(5.37)

After Prasad and Sommerfield [373] found the solution describing the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole in the BPS limit, Protogenov [374] classified all spherically symmetric solutions to the SU(2) Bogomol'nyi equations: the ones that can be used to generate BH-like spacetimes are a 2-parameter family $(f_{\mu,s}, h_{\mu,s})$ plus a 1-parameter family $(f_{\lambda}, h_{\lambda})$ given by

$$rf_{\mu,s} = \frac{1}{gr} \left[1 - \mu r \coth(\mu r + s) \right], \quad rh_{\mu,s} = \frac{1}{gr} \left[\frac{\mu r}{\sinh(\mu r + s)} - 1 \right],$$

$$rf_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{gr} \left[\frac{1}{1 + \lambda^2 r} \right], \quad rh_{\lambda} = -rf_{\lambda}.$$
(5.38)

The parameter s is known in the black-hole context as the *Protogenov hair* parameter [319]. The BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole [373] is the only globally regular solution of this family (which explains why it is the only one usually considered in the monopole literature¹¹) and corresponds to s = 0. In the $s \to \infty$ limit we get

$$-rf_{\mu,\infty} = \frac{\mu}{g} - \frac{1}{gr}, \qquad rh_{\mu,\infty} = -\frac{1}{gr}, \qquad (5.39)$$

which, for $\mu = 0$, coincides with the Wu-Yang monopole [428] given in Eq. (C.15), and is a solution of the pure Yang-Mills theory. This is possible because the Higgs current $g[\Phi, \mathfrak{D}\Phi]$ vanishes even though Φ is neither zero nor covariantly constant¹². With a nontrivial Higgs field, though, we can assign a well-defined monopole charge to it: for any μ and s

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{S^2_{\infty}} \operatorname{Tr}(\hat{\Phi}F) = \frac{1}{g}, \qquad \hat{\Phi} \equiv \frac{\Phi}{\sqrt{|\operatorname{Tr}(\Phi^2)|}}.$$
(5.40)

The same field configuration can be seen as a Lorentzian meron (see Appendix C.1) and as a solution to the Skyrme model (see Appendix C.3), and, crucially, it is related

¹¹ After coupling the system to gravity, the singularities of the other solutions may become "harmless" if they can be covered by regular event horizons.

 $^{^{12}}$ Actually, the only field configuration in this ansatz with a vanishing Higgs current is this one.

to the SU(2)-embedded Dirac monopole by a singular gauge transformation (see Appendix C.2). Since the metric is oblivious to gauge transformations, singular or not, the Wu-Yang monopole gives rise to solutions whose metric is identical to that of Abelian case.¹³ The same applies to the higher-charge generalizations of the Lorentzian meron/Wu-Yang monopole reviewed in Appendix C.4.

If fact, this mechanism can be used to generate Wu-Yang monopoles of higher charge from the well-known Dirac monopole solutions of charge higher than 1 embedded in SU(2), as reviewed in Appendix C.4. The metric cannot see the difference between the non-Abelian and the Abelian fields given in Eq. (5.39).

The 1-parameter family is singular for all values of the parameter λ , which also appears in black-hole solutions as hair. The magnetic charge measured at spatial infinity vanishes according to the above definition. However, it can be argued that these solutions do describe a magnetic monopole placed at the origin whose charge is screened: the entropy of black hole associated to this field has the same form as that of the black hole associated to the Wu-Yang monopole. Observe that, for $\lambda = 0$, the solution is identical to the Wu-Yang monopole with $\mu = 0$, Eqs. (5.39).

The Protogenov trick

As it turns out, many regular monopole solutions can be deformed by adding a parameter s to the argument μr , generating a family of solutions that contains the original one (s = 0) and, typically, a new and simpler solution in the $s \to \infty$ limit. We will refer to this procedure as the Protogenov trick and it can be justified as follows: let us consider, for instance, the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole. Since the Bogomol'nyi equation is polynomial, having elementary functions such as hyperbolic functions in the solution means that they must cancel amongst themselves and that only their derivatives contribute to the polynomial part of the solution. This means that one should be able to deform the dependency of the elementary functions introducing a shift s of the radial coordinate and still solve the Bogomol'nyi equations.

Of course, the cancellations necessary for having a regular solution will not work out anymore (assuming they did work for s = 0) and one will end up with a family of singular solutions. We will use this trick later.

5.2.2 Embedding in the SU(2)-gauged $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ model

The $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ model

As we already explained, the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^n$ models have *n* vector supermultiplets and are defined by the quadratic prepotentials

$$\mathcal{F} = -\frac{i}{4}\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}\mathcal{X}^{\Sigma}, \qquad (\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}) = \operatorname{diag}(+-\cdots-).$$
(5.41)

The n physical scalar fields can be defined as

$$Z^i \equiv \mathcal{X}^i / \mathcal{X}^0 \,, \tag{5.42}$$

¹³ Of course there are measurable differences between these two situations, see *e.g.* Refs. [113, 232].

and they parametrize the symmetric space $U(1, n)/(U(1) \times U(n))$. It is convenient to define $Z^0 \equiv 1$, $Z^{\Lambda} \equiv \mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}/\mathcal{X}^0$ and $Z_{\Lambda} \equiv \eta_{\Lambda\Sigma} Z^{\Sigma}$. In the $\mathcal{X}^0 = 1$ gauge, the Kähler potential and the Kähler metric are given by

$$\mathcal{K} = -\log\left(Z^{*\Lambda}Z_{\Lambda}\right), \quad \mathcal{G}_{ij^*} = -e^{\mathcal{K}}\left(\eta_{ij^*} - e^{\mathcal{K}}Z_i^*Z_{j^*}\right), \quad \Rightarrow \quad 0 \le \sum_i |Z^i|^2 < 1.$$
(5.43)

The above metric is the standard (Bergman) metric for the $U(1, n)/(U(1) \times U(n))$ symmetric spaces [63]. The covariantly holomorphic symplectic section \mathcal{V} and the period matrix $\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ are given by

$$\mathcal{V} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \begin{pmatrix} Z^{\Lambda} \\ \\ \\ -\frac{i}{2}Z_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma} = \frac{i}{2} \left[\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma} - 2\frac{Z_{\Lambda}Z_{\Sigma}}{Z^{\Gamma}Z_{\Gamma}} \right].$$
(5.44)

The isometry subgroup $\mathrm{SU}(1,n)$ acts linearly, in the fundamental representation, on the coordinates \mathcal{X}^Λ

$$\mathcal{X}^{\prime\Lambda} = \Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma}\mathcal{X}^{\Sigma}, \quad \text{with} \quad \Lambda^{\dagger}\eta\Lambda = \eta, \quad \text{and} \quad \det\Lambda = 1.$$
 (5.45)

This linear action induces a non-linear action on the special coordinates:

$$Z'^{\Lambda} = \frac{\Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} Z^{\Sigma}}{\Lambda^{0}{}_{\Sigma} Z^{\Sigma}} \,. \tag{5.46}$$

The Kähler potential is invariant under these transformations up to Kähler transformations $\mathcal{K}' = \mathcal{K} + f + f^*$ with

$$f(Z) = \log\left(\Lambda^0{}_{\Sigma}Z^{\Sigma}\right).$$
(5.47)

The n(n+2) infinitesimal generators T_m of $\mathfrak{su}(1,n)$ in the fundamental representation are defined by

$$\Lambda^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} \sim \delta^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} + \alpha^{m} T_{m}{}^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma}, \quad \text{with} \quad \eta T_{m}^{\dagger} \eta = -T_{m}, \quad \text{and} \quad T_{m}{}^{\Lambda}{}_{\Lambda} = 0.$$
 (5.48)

Substituting this definition into Eq. (5.46) we find an expression for the holomorphic Killing vectors¹⁴.

$$Z^{\prime\Lambda} = Z^{\Lambda} + \alpha^m k_m{}^{\Lambda}(Z) , \qquad k_m{}^{\Lambda}(Z) = T_m{}^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} Z^{\Sigma} - T_m{}^{0}{}_{\Omega} Z^{\Omega} Z^{\Lambda} , \qquad (5.49)$$

and, from this expression, we also find explicit expressions for the holomorphic functions $\lambda_m(Z)$ and the momentum maps

$$\lambda_m = T_m^{\ 0}{}_{\Sigma}Z^{\Sigma} , \qquad \mathcal{P}_m = ie^{\mathcal{K}}T_m^{\ \Lambda}{}_{\Sigma}Z^{\Sigma}Z^*_{\Lambda} = ie^{\mathcal{K}}\eta_{\Lambda\Omega}T_m^{\ \Lambda}{}_{\Sigma}Z^{\Sigma}Z^{*\Omega} .$$
(5.50)

Although the theory is invariant under the whole SU(1, n) group, the prepotential is invariant only under the subgroup of SU(1, n) with real matrices, SO(1, n), which is the largest group that we could eventually gauge. However, the requirements that the vectors must transform in the adjoint representation restricts the possibilities to either SO(1, 2) or SO(3) (if $n \ge 2$ or $n \ge 3$, respectively); we are going to consider the latter case embedded into the minimal model admitting this gauge group, namely $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$.

¹⁴The $k_m^0(Z)$ component vanishes identically, as it must, but it is convenient to keep it.

In this model, the adjoint indices a, b, c, \ldots and the fundamental indices i, j, k, \ldots take the same values 1, 2, 3 and we will only use the latter. The infinitesimal transformations of the scalars are

$$\delta_{\alpha} Z^{i} = \alpha^{j} T_{j}^{i}{}_{k} Z^{k} , \quad \text{where} T_{j}^{i}{}_{k} = f_{jk}^{i} = -\epsilon_{jki} , \qquad (5.51)$$

and the momentum maps, holomorphic Killing vectors etc. take the values

$$\mathcal{P}_{i} = -ie^{\mathcal{K}} \epsilon_{ijk} Z^{j} Z^{*k} , \qquad k_{i}^{j} = \epsilon_{ijk} Z^{k} , \qquad \lambda_{i} = 0 .$$
(5.52)

This means that the gauge-covariant derivative of the scalars is just that of a complex adjoint SO(3) scalar

$$\mathfrak{D}_{\mu}Z^{i} = \partial_{\mu}Z^{i} - g\epsilon_{ijk}A^{j}{}_{\mu}Z^{k}, \qquad (5.53)$$

and that the scalar potential takes the form

$$V(Z,Z^*) = -\frac{1}{2}g^2 e^{\mathcal{K}} \epsilon_{ijk} \epsilon_{imn} Z^j Z^{*k^*} Z^m Z^{*n^*} = \frac{1}{2}g^2 \left| \vec{Z} \times \vec{Z}^* \right|^2 .$$
(5.54)

The solutions

To construct the solutions of this model¹⁵ we just have to follow the recipe spelled out in section 5.1.2. We will only consider static solutions (so $\omega = 0$ and $\tilde{A}^{\Lambda}_{\underline{m}} = A^{\Lambda}_{\underline{m}}$). First of all, we need a solution of the Bogomol'nyi Eqs. (5.19). These equations split into an Abelian part (the 0th component) and the non-Abelian part (the i = 1, 2, 3 components):

$$F^{0}_{\underline{mn}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \epsilon_{mnp} \partial_{\underline{p}} \mathcal{I}^{0} , \qquad (5.55)$$

$$F^{i}_{\underline{mn}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \epsilon_{mnp} \mathfrak{D}_{\underline{p}} \mathcal{I}^{i} .$$
 (5.56)

The Abelian equation is solved by

$$\mathcal{I}^0 = A^0 + \frac{p^0/\sqrt{2}}{r}, \qquad (5.57)$$

where A^0 is an integration constant and p^0 is the normalized Abelian magnetic charge. The non-Abelian set of equations can be solved making the identification Eq. (5.35) and using Protogenov's solutions Eqs. (5.38).

The second step in the recipe (finding solutions \mathcal{I}_{Λ} to Eqs. (5.20)) will be solved, for the sake of simplicity, by choosing another harmonic function in the Abelian direction and vanishing functions in the rest:

$$\mathcal{I}_0 = A_0 + \frac{q_0/\sqrt{2}}{r}, \qquad \mathcal{I}_i = 0.$$
(5.58)

The third point in the recipe, combined with the staticity of the solutions implies the following constraint on the integration constants:

$$A^0 q_0 - A_0 p^0 = 0. (5.59)$$

¹⁵All these solutions have already been presented in Refs. [244, 245, 319]. We review them here for pedagogical reasons and also for the sake of making easier the comparison with the solutions of other models.

Another constraint will arise from the normalization of the metric at infinity. The solution is completely determined and, now, we only have to write the physical fields and make, if necessary, sensible choices of the values of the physical parameters to make the solutions regular.

In order to write the physical fields we need the solutions of the Freudenthal duality equations of this model. These are given by (see, *e.g.* Ref. [90])

$$(\tilde{\mathcal{I}}^{M}) = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\mathcal{I}}^{\Lambda} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\Lambda} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -2\eta^{\Lambda\Sigma}\mathcal{I}_{\Sigma} \\ \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}\mathcal{I}^{\Sigma} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Rightarrow \quad e^{-2U} = \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\Lambda\Sigma}\mathcal{I}^{\Lambda}\mathcal{I}^{\Sigma} + 2\eta^{\Lambda\Sigma}\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda}\mathcal{I}_{\Sigma}, \quad (5.60)$$

and the metric function and the physical scalars are given by

$$e^{-2U} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{I}^0)^2 + 2(\mathcal{I}_0)^2 - (rf)^2,$$
 (5.61)

$$Z^{i} = \frac{\sqrt{2}rf}{\mathcal{I}^{0} + 2i\mathcal{I}_{0}}\delta^{i}{}_{m}\frac{x^{m}}{r}.$$
(5.62)

At least one of the two functions $\mathcal{I}^0, \mathcal{I}_0$ must be different from zero for the metric function to be positive. Then, there are two possible cases, depending on the vanishing of the Abelian charges p^0, q_0 :

I. $p^0 = q_0 = 0$ The only regular solution is the one with s = 0 (the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole). In this solution, the integration constants satisfy the normalization condition

$$\frac{1}{2}(A^0)^2 + 2(A_0)^2 = 1 + (\mu/g)^2.$$
(5.63)

They are also related to the asymptotic values of the scalars. These cannot be constant, in general, because the scalars transform under local SU(2) transformations, but they are covariantly constant and their asymptotic values are determined by a single gauge-invariant complex parameter that we call Z_{∞} :¹⁶

$$Z^{i} \sim Z_{\infty} \delta^{i}_{m} \frac{x^{m}}{r} , \qquad Z_{\infty} \equiv \frac{\mu/g}{1 + (\mu/g)^{2}} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}A^{0} - \sqrt{2}iA_{0}\right) , \qquad 0 \le |Z_{\infty}|^{2} < 1.$$
(5.64)

These expressions lead to the following identification of the integration constant μ in terms of the physical parameters:

$$\mu^2 = \frac{|Z_{\infty}|^2}{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2} g^2 \,, \tag{5.65}$$

and to the following expression for the mass of the solution

$$M_{\rm monopole} = \sqrt{\frac{|Z_{\infty}|^2}{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2}} \frac{1}{g} \,. \tag{5.66}$$

This asymptotically flat solution has no singularities nor horizons (one finds a Minkowski spacetime in the $r \rightarrow 0$ limit, hence zero entropy and temperature). Globally-regular solutions of this kind [130,231] are sometimes called *global monopoles*.

¹⁶Observe that the scalar potential of this theory, Eq. (5.54), vanishes at infinity for those solutions, which is why they are asymptotically flat.

Observe that a solution of the ungauged theory with

$$H^0 = A^0, \quad H_0 = A_0, \quad H^1 = A^1 + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{gr}, \qquad (5.67)$$

in which the non-Abelian monopole is replaced by an Abelian monopole with the same charge, would have the same asymptotic behavior but it would mean having a naked singularity at some value of r > 0.

II. $p^0q_0 \neq 0$ ¹⁷ Solving Eq. (5.59) the metric can be written in the form

$$e^{-2U} = \frac{1}{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2} H^2 - (rf)^2,$$
 (5.68)

$$Z^{i} = \frac{2\beta}{p^{0} + 2iq_{0}} \frac{rf}{H} \delta^{i}_{m} \frac{x^{m}}{r}, \qquad (5.69)$$

where H is the harmonic function

$$H \equiv 1 + \frac{\beta}{r}, \qquad \beta^2 = (1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2) W_{\rm RN}(\mathcal{Q})/2, \qquad W_{\rm RN}(\mathcal{Q}) \equiv \frac{1}{2} (p^0)^2 + 2(q_0)^2, \qquad (5.70)$$

and the integration constant μ is still given by Eq. (5.65). We have expressed all the constants (except for Protogenov's hair parameter s and λ) in terms of physical constants. Observe that the isolated solution f_* has $\mu = 0$ and corresponds to $Z_{\infty} = 0$. These identifications allow us to compute the mass and entropy of all the possible solutions in terms of the physical parameters. We get a completely general mass formula and two formulae for the entropy, one for the $s \neq 0$ solutions and another one for the s = 0 and the isolated solutions (which corresponds to $Z_{\infty} = 0$):

$$M = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \frac{W_{RN}(Q)}{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2}} + M_{\text{monopole}}, \qquad (5.71)$$

$$S/\pi = \frac{1}{2}W_{\rm RN}(\mathcal{Q}) - \frac{1}{g^2}, \quad \text{for} \quad s \neq 0 \text{ and } Z_{\infty} = 0,$$
 (5.72)

$$S/\pi = \frac{1}{2}W_{\rm RN}(Q), \quad \text{for} \quad s = 0,$$
 (5.73)

where M_{monopole} is given by Eq. (5.66).

The entropy is moduli-independent as in the ungauged case and both the entropy and the mass are independent of the hair parameters s and λ .

Observe that the charge of the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole s = 0 does not contribute to the entropy which suggests that it must be associated to a pure state in the quantum theory. The non-Abelian field of the isolated solution does not contribute to the mass at infinity ($M_{\text{monopole}} = 0$ for $Z_{\infty} = 0$) but there is a magneticcharge contribution to the entropy, which suggests that there really is a magnetic charge but it is screened at infinity. Further support for this interpretation comes

 $^{^{17}}$ It is easier to work with both charges non-vanishing. The results will still be valid when we set one of them to zero.

from the near-horizon limit of the scalars, which is the covariantly-constant function of the charges

$$Z_{\rm h}^{i} = \frac{1/g}{\frac{1}{2}p^{0} + iq_{0}} \,\delta^{i}{}_{m}\frac{x^{m}}{r}.$$
(5.74)

even for the isolated case, when no magnetic charge is observed at infinity.

In the case of the 1-parameter (λ) family, neither the mass nor the entropy depend on λ .

Some of the solutions in this family can also be seen as solutions of the pure EYM theory. They are identical to those obtained in Refs. [113,429]. As discussed at the end of section 5.1.1, we need to tune the parameters of the solutions so as to get covariantly constant scalars which do not contribute to the energy-momentum tensor This is only possible for the $s \to \infty$ solutions (Wu–Yang monopoles) for which rf is a harmonic function. In that case

$$Z^{i} = Z \,\,\delta^{i}_{\ m} \frac{x^{m}}{r} \,, \qquad Z = \frac{1/g}{\frac{1}{2}p^{0} + iq_{0}} = Z_{\infty} \,. \tag{5.75}$$

The metric is identical to that of a Reissner-Nordström black hole. These solutions were called *black hedgehogs* in Ref. [245] and *black merons* in Ref. [113] because the gauge field of the Wu–Yang monopole can also be understood as Lorentzian meron solution.

A closely related solution with non-covariantly constant scalars was obtained in a different context in Ref. [270].

5.2.3 Embedding in SU(2)-gauged ST[2, n] models

The ST[2, n] models

The ST[2, n] models are cubic models with $n_V = n+1$ vector supermultiplets and as many complex scalars and, as all other cubic models, they can be embedded in type II String Theory compactified Calabi-Yau 3-folds and then uplifted to M-theory. They can also be obtained from corresponding models of N = 1, d = 5 supergravity compactified on S^1 .

A generic cubic model is defined by the prepotential

$$\mathcal{F} = -\frac{1}{3!} d_{ijk} \frac{\mathcal{X}^i \mathcal{X}^j \mathcal{X}^k}{\mathcal{X}^0} , \qquad (5.76)$$

where d is completely symmetric in its indices; the ST[2, n] models are characterized by d-tensors with non-vanishing components $d_{1\alpha\beta} = \eta_{\alpha\beta}$ where $(\eta_{\alpha\beta}) = \text{diag}(+ - \cdots -)$ and where the indices α, β take n values between 2 and n + 1.

The scalar $Z^1 = \mathcal{X}^1/\mathcal{X}^0$ plays a special role and parametrizes a $\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{R})/\mathrm{SO}(2)$ coset space. For this and other reasons, it is called axidilaton and we will denote it by τ . The other *n* scalars parametrize a $\mathrm{SO}(2,n)/(\mathrm{SO}(2)\times\mathrm{SO}(n))$ coset space and will be denoted by $Z^{\alpha} = \mathcal{X}^{\alpha}/\mathcal{X}^0$ ($\alpha = 2, \dots, n$). The Kähler metric and 1-form connection are the products of those of the two spaces.

Using this notation and using the gauge $\mathcal{X}^0 = 1$, the canonical symplectic section Ω , the Kähler potential \mathcal{K} and the components of Kähler 1-form \mathcal{Q}_i and of the Kähler metric

 \mathcal{G}_{ij^*} are given by

$$\Omega = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ \tau \\ Z^{\alpha} \\ \frac{1}{2}\tau\eta_{\alpha\beta}Z^{\alpha}Z^{\beta} \\ -\frac{1}{2}\eta_{\alpha\beta}Z^{\alpha}Z^{\beta} \\ -\tau\eta_{\alpha\beta}Z^{\beta} \end{pmatrix}, \quad e^{-\mathcal{K}} = 4\Im\mathfrak{m}\,\tau\,\eta_{\alpha\beta}\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^{\alpha}\,\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^{\beta},$$

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\tau} = \frac{1}{4\Im\mathfrak{m}\,\tau}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha} = \frac{\eta_{\alpha\beta}\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^{\beta}}{2\eta_{\gamma\delta}\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^{\gamma}\,\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^{\delta}},$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{\tau\tau^*} = \frac{1}{4(\Im\mathfrak{m}\,\tau)^2}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta^*} = \frac{\eta_{\alpha\gamma}\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^\gamma \,\eta_{\beta\delta}\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^\delta}{\left[\eta_{\epsilon\varphi}\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^\epsilon\,\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^\varphi\right]^2} - \frac{\eta_{\alpha\beta}}{2\eta_{\epsilon\varphi}\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^\epsilon\,\Im\mathfrak{m}\,Z^\varphi}.$$
(5.77)

The reality of the Kähler potential constrains the values of the scalars. The model has two branches characterized by

$$\Im \mathfrak{m} \tau > 0, \qquad \eta_{\alpha\beta} \Im \mathfrak{m} Z^{\alpha} \ \Im \mathfrak{m} Z^{\beta} > 0, \qquad (5.78)$$

and

$$\Im \mathfrak{m} \tau < 0, \qquad \eta_{\alpha\beta} \Im \mathfrak{m} Z^{\alpha} \ \Im \mathfrak{m} Z^{\beta} < 0, \qquad (5.79)$$

that will be distinguished where required by + and - indices, respectively.

Only the subgroup $SO(1, n) \subset SO(2, n)$ acts linearly (in the fundamental representation) on the special coordinates Z^{α} and the group SO(3) acts in the adjoint (for instance) on the coordinates $\alpha = 3, 4, 5$ if $n \ge 4$. We take n = 4 for simplicity and denote the $\alpha = 3, 4, 5$ indices by $a, b, \dots = 1, 2, 3$. For the sake of simplicity we will write Z^a instead of Z^{a+2} for Z^3, Z^4, Z^5 etc. The generators and structure constants of $\mathfrak{so}(3)$ and their action on the scalars are the same as in the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ model with obvious changes of notation:

$$(T_a)^b{}_c = f_{ac}{}^b = -\varepsilon_{acb}, \qquad \delta_\alpha Z^a = \alpha^b (T_b)^a{}_c Z^c = -\epsilon_{abc} \alpha^b Z^c = \alpha^b k_b{}^a(Z), \qquad (5.80)$$

 $(\tau \text{ and } Z^2 \text{ are inert})$ so the holomorphic Killing vectors and the momentum maps are

$$k_a^{\ b}(Z) = \epsilon_{abc} Z^c , \qquad \mathcal{P}_a = -\frac{i}{2} \frac{\epsilon_{abc} Z^b Z^{*c^*}}{\eta_{\alpha\beta} \Im \mathfrak{m} Z^{\alpha} \Im \mathfrak{m} Z^{\beta}} . \tag{5.81}$$

The scalar potential has a structure similar to that of the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ model, but more complicated. We will not give it here since it is not needed anyway.

The solutions

To find solutions to this non-Abelian model we just need to follow the recipe. First, we find the functions \mathcal{I}^{Λ} and the spatial components of the vector fields $A^{\Lambda}\underline{m}$ by solving the Bogomol'nyi equations

$$F^{\Lambda}{}_{\underline{mn}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \epsilon_{mnp} \partial_{\underline{p}} \mathcal{I}^{\Lambda}, \quad I = 0, 1, 2, \qquad (5.82)$$

$$F^{a+2}{\underline{mn}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \epsilon_{mnp} \mathfrak{D}_{\underline{p}} \mathcal{I}^{a+2}, \quad a = 1, 2, 3,$$
(5.83)

(we will suppress the +2 in the non-Abelian indices in most places). The Abelian equations are solved by harmonic functions and the non-Abelian ones by making the identification Eq. (5.35) with the Higgs field and using Protogenov's solutions Eqs. (5.38), as we did in the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ model.

Next, we have to find the functions \mathcal{I}_{Λ} by solving Eqs. (5.20). In the Abelian directions $\Lambda = 0, 1, 2$ we can simply choose harmonic functions and in the non-Abelian ones we take $\mathcal{I}_a = 0$. This choice gives non-singular solutions, as we are going to see. We will also set some of the harmonic functions to zero for simplicity.

The Hesse potential defined in Eq. (5.22) can be found from Shmakova's solution of the stabilization (or Freudenthal duality) equations for cubic models [389]; it can be written as

$$W(\mathcal{I}) = 2\sqrt{J_4(\mathcal{I})}, \qquad (5.84)$$

with the quartic invariant $J_4(\mathcal{I})$ given by

$$J_4(\mathcal{I}) \equiv (\mathcal{I}^{\alpha} \mathcal{I}^{\beta} \eta_{\alpha\beta} + 2\mathcal{I}^0 \mathcal{I}_1) (\mathcal{I}_{\alpha} \mathcal{I}_{\beta} \eta^{\alpha\beta} - 2\mathcal{I}^1 \mathcal{I}_0) - (\mathcal{I}^0 \mathcal{I}_0 - \mathcal{I}^1 \mathcal{I}_1 + \mathcal{I}^{\alpha} \mathcal{I}_{\alpha})^2 \,.$$
(5.85)

This potential does not vanish for the choice $\mathcal{I}_a = 0$, as we advanced and it will remain non-singular if we set $\mathcal{I}^0 = \mathcal{I}_1 = \mathcal{I}_2 = 0$. In other words: the only non-trivial components of \mathcal{I}^M are $\mathcal{I}^1, \mathcal{I}^2, \mathcal{I}^{a+2}, \mathcal{I}_0$. With this choice the metric function is given by

$$e^{-2U} = \mathsf{W}(\mathcal{I}) = 2\sqrt{-2\mathcal{I}^{1}\mathcal{I}_{0}\eta_{\alpha\beta}\mathcal{I}^{\alpha}\mathcal{I}^{\beta}} = 2\sqrt{-2\mathcal{I}^{1}\mathcal{I}_{0}[(\mathcal{I}^{2})^{2} - \mathcal{I}^{a}\mathcal{I}^{a}]}.$$
 (5.86)

As instructed by the recipe in section (5.1.2), we can calculate the $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}$ from Eq. (5.22), which for our choice of non-trivial components of \mathcal{I}^M means that $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}^i = 0$ $(i = 1, \dots, 5)$; this implies that all the scalars are purely imaginary and given by

$$Z^{i} = i \frac{\mathcal{I}^{i}}{\tilde{\mathcal{I}}^{0}}, \quad \text{where} \quad \tilde{\mathcal{I}}^{0} = \frac{2\mathcal{I}^{1}\eta_{\alpha\beta}\mathcal{I}^{\alpha}\mathcal{I}^{\beta}}{\mathsf{W}(\mathcal{I})}.$$
(5.87)

It is convenient to write all of them in terms of $\tau = Z^1$

$$Z^{\alpha} = \frac{\mathcal{I}^{\alpha}}{\mathcal{I}^{1}}\tau, \qquad \tau = i\frac{e^{-2U}}{2\eta_{\alpha\beta}\mathcal{I}^{\alpha}\mathcal{I}^{\beta}}.$$
(5.88)

In the two (+ and -) branches of the model corresponding, respectively, to the upper and lower signs $\pm \Im \mathfrak{m} \tau_{(\pm)} > 0$ and, since $e^{-2U} > 0$, we must choose the functions $\mathcal{I}^{\alpha}_{(\pm)}$ so that

$$\pm \eta_{\alpha\beta} \mathcal{I}^{\alpha}_{(\pm)} \mathcal{I}^{\beta}_{(\pm)} = \pm \left[(\mathcal{I}^2_{(\pm)})^2 - \mathcal{I}^a_{(\pm)} \mathcal{I}^a_{(\pm)} \right] > 0.$$
(5.89)

In order for $W(\mathcal{I})$ to be real the $\mathcal{I}_{(\pm)0}$ and $\mathcal{I}^{1}_{(\pm)}$ must be chosen so as to satisfy

$$\pm \mathcal{I}^{1}_{(\pm)} \mathcal{I}_{(\pm)\,0} < 0\,. \tag{5.90}$$

(We will suppress the \pm subindices in what follows, to simplify the notation, except where this may lead to confusion.)

Observe that with our choice of non-vanishing components of \mathcal{I}^M the r.h.s. of Eq. (5.21) vanishes automatically, whence the staticity condition $\omega = 0$ does not impose any constraint.

According to the preceding discussions, the non-vanishing components of \mathcal{I}^M will be assumed to take the form

$$\mathcal{I}^{1} = A^{1} + \frac{p^{1}/\sqrt{2}}{r}, \quad \mathcal{I}^{2} = A^{2} + \frac{p^{2}/\sqrt{2}}{r}, \quad \mathcal{I}^{a} = \sqrt{2}\,\delta^{a}{}_{m}x^{m}f(r),$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{0} = A_{0} + \frac{q_{0}/\sqrt{2}}{r},$$
(5.91)

where f(r) is $f_{\mu,s}$ or f_{λ} in Eqs. (5.38), p^1, p^2, q_0 are magnetic and electric charges and A^1, A^2, A_0 are integration constants to be determined in terms of the asymptotic values of the scalars and the metric. These constants must have the same sign as the corresponding charges

$$\operatorname{sign}(A^{1,2}) = \operatorname{sign}(p^{1,2}), \qquad \operatorname{sign}(A_0) = \operatorname{sign}(q_0), \qquad (5.92)$$

as the functions \mathcal{I}^1 , \mathcal{I}^2 and \mathcal{I}_0 are required to have no zeroes on the interval $r \in (0, +\infty)$ in order to avoid naked singularities there. Then, the above constraint on the signs of \mathcal{I}^1 and \mathcal{I}_0 translates into the following constraints on the signs of the charges in the two branches:

$$\operatorname{sign}(p^1)\operatorname{sign}(q_0) = \mp 1.$$
(5.93)

Defining as in the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ case the asymptotic value Z_∞ of the adjoint scalars by

$$Z^a_{\infty} \equiv Z_{\infty} \,\,\delta^a{}_m \frac{x^m}{r}\,,\tag{5.94}$$

and imposing the normalization of the metric at infinity it is not hard to express the integration constants μ , A^1 , A^2 , A_0 in terms of the moduli (the asymptotic values of the scalars $\Im \mathfrak{m}_{\infty}$, $\Im \mathfrak{m}_{\infty}^2$ and $\Im \mathfrak{m}_{\infty}$) and the coupling constant g

$$A^{1} = \frac{\operatorname{sign}(p^{1})|\Im \mathfrak{m}\tau_{\infty}|}{\sqrt{2}\chi_{\infty}},$$

$$A^{2} = \frac{\operatorname{sign}(p^{2})|\Im \mathfrak{m} Z_{\infty}^{2}|}{\sqrt{2}\chi_{\infty}},$$

$$\mu = \frac{g|\Im \mathfrak{m} Z_{\infty}|}{2\chi_{\infty}},$$

$$A_{0} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}}\operatorname{sign}(q_{0})\chi_{\infty},$$
(5.95)

where we have defined the combination (real in both branches of the theory)

$$\chi_{\infty} \equiv \sqrt{\Im \mathfrak{m} \tau_{\infty} \left[(\Im \mathfrak{m} Z_{\infty}^2)^2 - (\Im \mathfrak{m} Z_{\infty})^2 \right]}.$$
(5.96)

The mass of the solutions in terms of the moduli and the charges is

$$M = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\chi_{\infty}}{|\Im \mathfrak{m}\tau_{\infty}|} |p^{1}| + \frac{1}{2\chi_{\infty}} |q_{0}| \pm \frac{1}{2} \frac{|\Im \mathfrak{m}\tau_{\infty}\Im \mathfrak{m} Z_{\infty}^{2}|}{\chi_{\infty}} |p^{2}| \pm \frac{|\Im \mathfrak{m}\tau_{\infty}\Im \mathfrak{m} Z_{\infty}|}{\chi_{\infty}} \frac{1}{g}.$$
 (5.97)

In the above expressions we have used two consistency conditions:

$$\operatorname{sign}(\mathfrak{Sm} Z_{\infty}) = \operatorname{\mp sign}(p^1), \qquad \operatorname{sign}(\mathfrak{Sm} Z_{\infty}^2) = \pm \operatorname{sign}(p^1) \operatorname{sign}(p^2). \tag{5.98}$$

These expressions for the integration constants and the mass are valid both for the 2- and 1-parameter families, the latter being recovered by setting $\Im m Z_{\infty} = 0$ everywhere. The contribution of the monopole charge 1/g to the mass disappears because it is screened.

Observe that the positivity of the mass is not guaranteed in the - branch for arbitrary values of the charges and moduli: it has to be imposed by hand.

Let us now study the behavior of the solution in the near-horizon limit $r \to 0$. For $f_{\mu,s\neq 0}$ and f_{λ} the metric function behaves as

$$e^{-2U} \sim \sqrt{-2p^1 q_0 \left[(p^2)^2 - (2/g)^2\right]} \frac{1}{r^2},$$
 (5.99)

which corresponds to a regular horizon in both branches. The solutions will describe regular black holes if the charges and moduli are such that M > 0. Observe that in the – branch it is possible to chose those such that M = 0 with a non-vanishing entropy.

In the $f_{\mu,s=0}$ case with $p^2 \neq 0$ the solution is only well defined in the + branch because there is no 1/r contribution from the monopole in the $r \to 0$ limit and it is impossible to satisfy the inequality $-\eta_{\alpha\beta}\mathcal{I}^{\alpha}\mathcal{I}^{\beta} > 0$ in that limit. In this case (the + branch with $p^2 \neq 0$) we have

$$e^{-2U} \sim \sqrt{-2p^1 q_0 (p^2)^2} \frac{1}{r^2},$$
 (5.100)

which corresponds to a regular horizon.

In the $f_{\mu,s=0}$ case with $p^2 = 0$ there are two possibilities:

- 1. We can set $p^1 = q_0 = 0$. Then, in the $r \to 0$ limit, e^{-2U} is the moduli-dependent constant $2\sqrt{-2A^1A_0(A^2)^2}$. There is neither horizon nor singularity and the solution, which is a global monopole, belongs to the + branch (this also guarantees that the mass is positive).
- 2. We can keep both $p^1 \neq 0$ and $q_0 \neq 0$, setting $A^2 = 0$ and profit from the fact that, in this limit $\Phi^a \Phi^a$ goes to zero as r^2 . The solution is only well defined in the branch. The metric function takes the constant value

$$e^{-2U} \sim \sqrt{+p^1 q_0 \frac{\mu^4}{g^2}},$$
 (5.101)

We have, as far as the metric is concerned, a global monopole solution (as long as M > 0), but since we need two Abelian charges switched on, namely p^1 and q_0 , the scalar fields and the gauge fields are singular at r = 0. As before, it is possible to tune the moduli and charges so that M = 0.

The near-horizon limits of the scalars are, in the $f_{\mu,s\neq 0}$ and f_{λ} cases

$$\Im \mathfrak{m} \tau_{h} = \frac{\sqrt{-2p^{1}q_{0}\left[(p^{2})^{2} - (2/g)^{2}\right]}}{2\left[(p^{2})^{2} - (2/g)^{2}\right]},$$

$$\Im \mathfrak{m} Z_{h}^{2} = \frac{p^{2}}{p^{1}}\Im \mathfrak{m} \tau_{h},$$

$$\Im \mathfrak{m} Z_{h}^{a} = \frac{2\Im \mathfrak{m} \tau_{h}}{gp^{1}}\delta^{a}{}_{m}\frac{x^{m}}{r},$$

(5.102)

and, in the $f_{\mu,s=0}$ case with $p^2 \neq 0$, we get the same results up to the contribution of the monopole which disappears (formally, 1/g = 0).

5.2.4 Embedding in pure SU(2) EYM

The scalars can only be trivialized for the Wu-Yang monopole $s = \infty$. In that case, it is easy to construct a double-extremal black hole with constant scalars and the metric is, as usual, Reissner-Nordström's.

5.3 Multi-center SBHSs

To construct multi-center SBHSs we can use the same recipe as in the single-center case but we need multi-center solutions of the Bogomol'nyi equations. We start by discussing these.

5.3.1 Multi-center solutions of the SU(2) Bogomol'nyi equations on \mathbb{R}^3

In the Abelian case, the multicenter solutions of the Bogomol'nyi equations are associated to harmonic functions with isolated point-like singularities. They are the seed solutions of the multi-black-hole solutions of the Einstein-Maxwell theory [140, 228, 252, 309, 358, 359] and $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 supergravities [31, 37, 42, 159]. In the non-Abelian case, the hedgehog ansatz is clearly inappropriate and more sophisticated methods need to be used. Only a few explicit solutions are known, even though solutions describing several BPS objects in equilibrium are, on general grounds, expected to exist. For instance, there is no explicit solution describing two BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles in equilibrium (see however Ref. [357]).

Perhaps not surprisingly, the only general families of explicit solutions available involve an arbitrary number of Wu-Yang or Dirac monopoles embedded in SU(2). The simplest of these only involve Wu-Yang monopoles and formally, it can be obtained from solutions describing Dirac monopoles embedded in SU(2) via singular gauge transformations [371], generalizing the constructions reviewed in Appendices C.2 (minimal charge) and C.4 (higher charge). As we have explained at length in the preceding sections, the metric is completely oblivious to these gauge transformations and takes the same form as in the Abelian cases. We will not study such solutions in this section.

In Refs. [138], using the Nahm equations [342], Cherkis and Durcan found new solutions describing one or two, charge 1, Wu-Yang monopoles embedded in SU(2) in the background of a single BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole.¹⁸ We are going to use the first of them to construct multi-center solutions of the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ and ST[2, 4] models of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM. Let us review the Cherkis-Durcan solution first: take the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole to be located at $x^n = x_0^n$ and the Wu-Yang monopole at $x^m = x_1^m$. We define

¹⁸ In Ref. [71] Blair and Cherkis generated a solution describing an arbitrary number of charge 1 Wu-Yang monopoles in the presence of an 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole; one can easily generalize this solution to one describing an arbitrary number of charge n(> 0) Wu-Yang monopoles in the background of an 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole, by coalescing n charge 1 Wu-Yang monopoles. Needless to say, the Protogenov trick works as expected. For the sake of simplicity of exposition, we will not consider this more general solution in this article.

the coordinates relative to each of those centers and the relative position by

$$r^m \equiv x^m - x_0^m$$
, $u^m \equiv x^m - x_1^m$, $d^m \equiv u^m - r^m = x_0^m - x_1^m$, (5.103)

and their norms by respectively, r, u and d. The Higgs field and gauge potential of this solution (adapted to our conventions) are given by [138]

$$\pm \Phi^{a} = \frac{1}{g} \delta^{a}_{m} \left\{ \left[\frac{1}{r} - \left(\mu + \frac{1}{u} \right) \frac{K}{L} \right] \frac{r^{m}}{r} + \frac{2r}{uL} \left(\delta^{mn} - \frac{r^{m}r^{n}}{r^{2}} \right) d^{n} \right\}, \qquad (5.104)$$

$$A^{a} = -\frac{1}{g} \left[\frac{1}{r} - \frac{\mu D + 2d + 2u}{L} \right] \frac{\varepsilon^{a}_{mn}r^{m}dx^{n}}{r} + 2\frac{K}{L} \frac{\varepsilon_{npq}d^{n}u^{p}dx^{q}}{uD} \delta^{a}_{m} \frac{r^{m}}{r}$$

$$- \frac{2r}{uL} \delta^{a}_{m} \left(\delta^{mn} - \frac{r^{m}r^{n}}{r^{2}} \right) \varepsilon_{npq}u^{p}dx^{q}, \qquad (5.105)$$

where the functions K, L, D of u and r are defined by

$$K \equiv \left[(u+d)^2 + r^2 \right] \cosh \mu r + 2r(u+d) \sinh \mu r , \qquad (5.106)$$

$$L \equiv [(u+d)^2 + r^2] \sinh \mu r + 2r(u+d) \cosh \mu r, \qquad (5.107)$$

D =
$$2(ud + u^m d^m) = (d + u)^2 - r^2$$
. (5.108)

The function D is clearly zero along the direction¹⁹ $u^m/u = -d^m/d$ signaling the possible presence of a Dirac string in Eq. (5.105); that this is however not the case is demonstrated in Ref. [71].

In the models that we are going to study, the Higgs field enters the metric in the combination $\Phi^a \Phi^a$, which takes the value

$$\Phi^{a}\Phi^{a} = \frac{1}{g^{2}} \left\{ \left[\frac{1}{r} - \left(\mu + \frac{1}{u} \right) \frac{K}{L} \right]^{2} + \frac{4|\vec{r} \times \vec{d}|^{2}}{u^{2}L^{2}} \right\}.$$
(5.109)

To better understand this solution one will consider several limits:

1. The limit in which we take the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov anti-monopole infinitely far away, keeping the Dirac monopole at x_1^m : in this limit $d \to \infty$, $r^m \sim -d^m$ while *u* remains finite. The Higgs and gauge fields take the form

$$\pm \Phi^a \sim -\frac{1}{g} \delta^a{}_m \left(\mu + \frac{1}{u}\right) \frac{d^m}{d}, \qquad (5.110)$$

$$A^{a} \sim -\frac{1}{g} \left(1 + \frac{d^{m}}{d} \frac{u^{m}}{u} \right)^{-1} \varepsilon_{mnp} \frac{d^{m}}{d} \frac{u^{m}}{u} d\frac{u^{p}}{u}.$$
 (5.111)

The gauge field should be compared with the embedding of a Dirac monopole with a string in the direction $-d^m$ into the direction $\delta^a{}_m d^m T^a$ of the gauge group, Eqs. (C.11) and (C.17) with $s^m = -d^m$.

¹⁹ This is the half of the line that joins r = 0 to u = 0 that stretches from the Dirac monopole u = 0 to infinity in the direction opposite to the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole at r = 0

- 2. The limit in which we take the Dirac monopole infinitely away, keeping the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov anti-monopole at x_0^m : In this limit $d \to \infty$, $u^m \sim d^m$ while r remains finite. The Higgs and gauge fields become those of a single BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov anti-monopole at x_0^m .
- 3. In the limit in which we are infinitely far away from both monopoles $(r \to \infty, u \to \infty)$, which remain at a finite relative distance, the Higgs and gauge fields take the form

$$\pm \Phi^{a} = -\left[\frac{\mu}{g} + \mathcal{O}(|x|^{-2})\right] \delta^{a}{}_{m} \frac{x^{m}}{|x|}, \qquad (5.112)$$

$$A^{a} = -\frac{1}{g} \varepsilon^{a}{}_{mn} \frac{x^{m} dx^{n}}{|x|^{2}} + \frac{1}{2g} \delta^{a}{}_{m} \frac{x^{m}}{|x|} \left(\frac{\varepsilon_{npq} d^{n} x^{p} dx^{q}}{|x|^{2}}\right).$$
(5.113)

The first term in the gauge potential is identical to that of a Wu-Yang anti-monopole (compare with Eq. (C.2)). This is also the asymptotic behavior of the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole. The Higgs field is asymptotically covariantly constant and, in particular

$$\Phi^a \Phi^a \sim \frac{\mu^2}{g^2} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{|x|^2}).$$
(5.114)

4. The limit in which we approach the center of the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov antimonopole $r^m \to 0, u^m \to d^m$

$$\Phi^a \Phi^a \sim \frac{1}{4g^2 d^2 (1+\mu d)^2} + \mathcal{O}(r) \,. \tag{5.115}$$

This limit is finite and only vanishes when the Dirac monopole is taken to infinity $d \to \infty$.

For finite values of d, Eq. (5.109) says that $\Phi^a \Phi^a$ can only vanish along the line that stretches from r = 0 to u = 0 so $\vec{r} \times \vec{d} = 0$. Substituting $r^m = \alpha d^m$ in $\Phi^a \Phi^a$ we get a function of α and of the parameter μd . Plotting the functions of α for different values of μd we find that they have a single zero, which is also a local minimum. At this minimum the second derivative does not vanish, and therefore, there, $\Phi^a \Phi^a \sim \mathcal{O}(r^2)$, as in the single-monopole case. However, the value of this second derivative depends on the direction.

5. The limit in which we approach the singularity of the Dirac monopole $u^m \to 0$, $r^m \to -d^m$

$$\Phi^a \Phi^a \to \frac{1}{g^2} \left\{ \frac{1}{u^2} + \left(\frac{1}{d} - \mu\right) \frac{1}{u} \right\} + \mathcal{O}(1) \,. \tag{5.116}$$

Growing Protogenov hair

As we have argued in section (5.2.1) we can add a Protogenov hair parameter s to the Cherkis & Durcan solution by simply replacing the argument μr of the hyperbolic sines and cosines in the functions K and L by the shifted on $\mu r + s$. We do not need to write explicitly the solution, but we do need to reconsider the different limits studied for the s = 0 case:



Figure 5.1: The zeros of the Higgs density as measured by r as a function of the dimensionless separation μd .

- 1. In the limit in which we take the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov-Protogenov anti-monopole infinitely away, keeping the Dirac monopole at x_1^m the Higgs and gauge fields become, to leading order, those of the Dirac monopole with the Dirac string in the direction $-d^m$, as in the s = 0 case (See Eqs. (5.110) and (5.105)).
- 2. In the limit in which we take the Dirac monopole infinitely away, keeping the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov-Protogenov anti-monopole at x_0^m the Higgs and gauge fields become those of a single BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov-Protogenov anti-monopole at $x^m = x_0^m$ (the first two equations (5.38)).
- 3. In the limit in which we are infinitely far away from both monopoles $(r \to \infty, u \to \infty)$, which remain at a finite relative distance, the Higgs and gauge fields take the same form as in the s = 0 case, Eqs. (5.112-5.114).
- 4. The limit in which we approach the singularity of the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov-Protogenov anti-monopole $r^m \to 0$, $u^m \to d^m$ (for $s \neq 0$)

$$\pm \Phi^a \sim \frac{1}{g} \delta^a{}_m \left[\frac{1}{r} - \left(\mu + \frac{1}{d} \right) \coth s + \mathcal{O}(r) \right] \frac{r^m}{r}, \qquad (5.117)$$

$$\Rightarrow \Phi^a \Phi^a \sim \frac{1}{g^2 r^2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{r}\right), \qquad (5.118)$$

which is similar to the behaviour near the Dirac monopole as in Eq. (5.116) (with u replaced by r).

5. The limit in which we approach the singularity of the Dirac monopole $u^m \to 0$, $r^m \to -d^m$ we have the same behavior as in the s = 0 case Eq. (5.116).

The solutions with Protogenov hair have another limit, namely the one in which $s \to \infty$; this case will be studied separately.

The $s \to \infty$ limit solution

In this limit we get a solution that describes the same Dirac monopole together with a $(\mu \neq 0)$ Wu-Yang anti-monopole:²⁰

$$\pm \Phi^{a} = \frac{1}{g} \delta^{a}{}_{m} \left[-\mu + \frac{1}{r} - \frac{1}{u} \right] \frac{r^{m}}{r}, \qquad (5.119)$$

$$A^a = \frac{1}{g} \frac{\varepsilon^a{}_{mn} r^m dx^n}{r^2} + \frac{1}{g} \frac{\varepsilon_{npq} d^n u^p du^q}{u(ud+u^r d^r)} \delta^a{}_m \frac{r^m}{r} \,.$$
(5.120)

This solution is a particular example of a more general family describing an arbitrary number of Dirac monopoles in the background of a Wu-Yang anti-monopole. These solutions can be obtained from a solution describing only Dirac monopoles embedded in SU(2) via a singular gauge transformation that only removes the Dirac string of one of them, which becomes the Wu-Yang anti-monopole. The general family of solutions can be written in the form:

$$\Phi = \Phi_{WY} + HU, \qquad A = A_{WY} + CU, \qquad (5.121)$$

where U is the SU(2) (and $\mathfrak{su}(2)$) matrix defined in Eq. (C.1) and where Φ_{WY} and A_{WY} are the Higgs and Yang-Mills fields of a Wu-Yang monopole, given, respectively, by

$$\mp \Phi_{\rm WY} = \frac{1}{2g} \left[-\mu + \frac{1}{r} \right] U, \qquad (5.122)$$

and by Eq. (C.2) and where H is a function and C a 1-form on \mathbb{R}^3 . If we substitute into the Bogomol'nyi equations (5.32) and use, on the one hand, that they are satisfied by the pair A_{WY}, Φ_{WY} , and, on the other hand, that U is covariantly constant with the connection A_{WY} we arrive at the Dirac monopole equation

$$dC = \star_{(3)} dH \,. \tag{5.123}$$

The integrability condition of this equation is $d \star_{(3)} dH = 0$ so H is any harmonic function. We can choose it to have isolated poles at the points $x^m = x_i^m \ i = 1, \dots, N$

$$H = \sum_{i} \frac{p_i}{2u_i}, \qquad u_i^m \equiv x^m - x_i^m, \qquad (5.124)$$

in which case C is the 1-form potential of N Dirac monopoles with charges p_i which can be constructed by summing over the potentials of each individual monopole:

$$C = \sum C_i, \qquad dC_i = \star_{(3)} d\frac{p_i}{2u_i}.$$
 (5.125)

The expression for each of the C_i is of the form Eq. (C.11) where we can, in principle, choose the direction s_i^m of each Dirac string independently:

²⁰ One can see fairly easily that in the limiting solution one can, as far as the Bogomol'nyi equations are concerned, allow for μ to be negative; for finite values of s this is impossible.

$$C_i = \frac{p_i}{2} \left(1 - \frac{s_i^m}{s_i} \frac{u_i^m}{u_i} \right)^{-1} \varepsilon_{mnp} \frac{s_i^m}{s_i} \frac{u_i^m}{u_i} d\frac{u_i^p}{u_i}, \quad \text{(no sum over } i\text{)}. \tag{5.126}$$

This solution of the Yang-Mills-Higgs system shares two important properties with the original Wu-Yang monopole and which are related to the fact that they are related to Abelian embeddings by singular gauge transformations:

1. Both Φ and $D\Phi$ are proportional to U:

$$\Phi = \left(-\frac{\mu}{2g} + \frac{1}{2gr} + H\right)U, \qquad D\Phi = d\left(-\frac{\mu}{2g} + \frac{1}{2gr} + H\right)U, \qquad (5.127)$$

and, therefore, commute with each other, so the Higgs current vanishes and the gauge field is, by itself, a solution of the pure Yang-Mills theory.

2. The gauge field strength is also proportional to U, the coefficient being the field strength of an Abelian gauge field:

$$F(A) = d(B+C)U,$$
 (5.128)

which implies that the energy-momentum tensors are related as in the single-center case.

These solutions can be generalized even further, by allowing the charge of the "original" Wu-Yang monopole at r = 0 to be n/g (that is: using the generalization of the Wu-Yang monopole due to Bais [22] which is studied in Appendix C.4). If we now substitute into the Bogomol'nyi equations (5.32) the ansatz

$$\Phi = \Phi_{(n)} + HU_{(n)}, \qquad A = A_{(n)} + CU_{(n)}, \qquad (5.129)$$

where $U_{(n)}$, $A_{(n)}$ and $\Phi_{(n)}$ are given, respectively, in Eqs. (C.28), (C.29) and (C.34), H is a function and C a 1-form on \mathbb{R}^3 , and use that they are satisfied by the pair $A_{(n)}$, $\Phi_{(n)}$ and that $U_{(n)}$ is covariantly constant with the connection $A_{(n)}$, we arrive again at the Dirac monopole equation (5.123).

Since all these solutions are related to Abelian embeddings, they contribute to the black-hole solutions as the Abelian solutions. We will not consider them in what follows.

5.3.2 Embedding in the SU(2)-gauged $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ model

We can use the Cherkis & Durcan solution of the SU(2) Bogomol'nyi equations reviewed in the previous section as a seed solution for a multicenter solution of $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 SEYM, adding the same harmonic functions as in the single-center case $(\mathcal{I}^0, \mathcal{I}_0)$ or a generalization with poles at the locations of the monopoles $r = 0^{21}$ and u = 0. More explicitly, we take

$$\mathcal{I}^{0} = A^{0} + \frac{p_{r}^{0}/\sqrt{2}}{r} + \frac{p_{u}^{0}/\sqrt{2}}{u},$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{0} = A_{0} + \frac{q_{r,0}/\sqrt{2}}{r} + \frac{q_{u,0}/\sqrt{2}}{u},$$

$$\mathcal{I}^{i} = \mp \sqrt{2} \Phi^{i}(r, u),$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{i} = 0,$$
(5.130)

where $\Phi^i(r, u)$ is the Higgs field of the Cherkis & Durcan solution. The metric and scalar fields take the form

$$e^{-2U} = \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{I}^0)^2 + 2(\mathcal{I}_0)^2 - \Phi^i \Phi^i,$$
 (5.131)

$$Z^{i} = \frac{\mp \sqrt{2\Phi^{i}}}{\mathcal{I}^{0} + 2i\mathcal{I}_{0}}.$$
(5.132)

The normalization of the metric and scalars at infinity leads to the same relations between the integration constants A^0, A_0, μ and the physical constants Z_{∞}, g as in the single-center case, namely

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}A^0 + \sqrt{2}iA_0 = \frac{Z_{\infty}^*}{|Z_{\infty}|} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2}}, \qquad \mu = \frac{|Z_{\infty}|}{\sqrt{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2}}g.$$
(5.133)

The integrability conditions of Eq. (5.21) are, in this case,

$$\mathcal{I}_0 \partial_{\underline{m}} \partial_{\underline{m}} \mathcal{I}^0 - \mathcal{I}^0 \partial_{\underline{m}} \partial_{\underline{m}} \mathcal{I}_0 = 0, \qquad (5.134)$$

and lead to the following relations between the integration constants:

$$A^{0}(q_{r,0} + q_{u,0}) - A_{0}(p_{r}^{0} + p_{u}^{0}) = 0, \qquad (5.135)$$

$$J - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}d(A^0 q_{u,0} - A_0 p_u^0) = 0, \qquad (5.136)$$

where we have defined the constant

$$J \equiv p_r^0 q_{u,0} - q_{r,0} p_u^0 \,. \tag{5.137}$$

The first equation is equivalent to Eq. (5.59) for the total charges and the second equation determines the relative distance d in terms of J and $A^0q_{u,0} - A_0p_u^0$ provided that $J \neq 0$. When that is the case, the solution is not static and has an angular momentum Jdirected along the line that joins the monopoles $J^m = Jd^m/d$. The corresponding 1-form

²¹The location of the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov anti-monopole is not completely clear: it is sometimes argued that the center of the monopole is the point at which the Higgs vanishes and the full gauge symmetry is restored. As we have discussed, that point is not r = 0. We could try to place the poles of the harmonic functions at that point, but, given that its location is not known analytically and the expansion of $\Phi^a \Phi^a$ around it is difficult to compute, we will not try to do that here.

 ω can be constructed by the standard procedure of the Abelian case. However, since this complicates the analysis of the regularity of the solutions, we will stick to the static case and require J = 0.

In order to have regular solutions, the charges at each center must be chosen as in the corresponding single-center case: since there is an Abelian monopole at u = 0, we must switch on either p_u^0 or $q_{u,0}$ to have a regular horizon there. We can treat them both as non-vanishing with no loss of generality. Then, there are two possibilities:

I. $p_r^0 = q_{r,0} = 0$: Only for s = 0 ('t Hooft-Polyakov anti-monopole at r = 0) has the solution a chance of being regular at r = 0. Solving Eq. (5.135) the solution can be written in the form

$$e^{-2U} = \frac{1}{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2} H^2 - \Phi^i \Phi^i, \qquad (5.138)$$

$$Z^{i} = \frac{2\beta}{p^{0} + 2iq_{0}} \frac{\Phi^{i}}{H}, \qquad (5.139)$$

where H is the harmonic function

$$H \equiv 1 + \frac{\beta}{u}, \qquad \beta^2 = (1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2) W_{\rm RN}(\mathcal{Q}_u)/2, \qquad W_{\rm RN}(\mathcal{Q}_u) \equiv \frac{1}{2} (p_u^0)^2 + 2(q_{u,0})^2.$$
(5.140)

The free parameters of this solution are the charges p_u^0 , $q_{u,0}$ and the single modulus $|Z_{\infty}|$.

Studying the $u \to 0$ limit we find a black hole with entropy

$$S_u/\pi = \frac{1}{2}W_{\rm RN}(\mathcal{Q}_u) - \frac{1}{g^2},$$
 (5.141)

as in the corresponding single-center case.

In the $r \to 0$ limit e^{-2U} is constant. The positivity of the constant is guaranteed if S_u is positive. The total entropy of the solution is just the entropy of the black hole at u = 0 and the Dirac monopole does contribute to it.

The mass of the solution, expressed in terms of the independent parameters of the solution, p_u^0 , $q_{u,0}$ and $|Z_{\infty}|$ takes the form

$$M = M_r + M_u \,, \tag{5.142}$$

$$M_r = -M_{\text{monopole}}, \qquad (5.143)$$

$$M_u = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \frac{W_{RN}(Q_u)}{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2}} + M_{\text{monopole}}, \qquad (5.144)$$

where M_{monopole} is given by Eq. (5.66). The contributions of the monopole and the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole to the mass cancel each other.

II. p_r^0 or $q_{r,0} \neq 0$ We can treat both charges as non-vanishing with no loss of generality. Solving Eqs. (5.135) and (5.137), we can write the solution as in Eqs. (5.138) and (5.139) where, now,

$$H \equiv 1 + \frac{\beta_r}{r} + \frac{\beta_u}{u}, \qquad \beta_{r,u}^2 = (1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2) W_{\rm RN}(\mathcal{Q}_{r,u})/2,$$

$$W_{\rm RN}(\mathcal{Q}_{r,u}) \equiv \frac{1}{2} (p_{r,u}^0)^2 + 2(q_{r,u,0})^2.$$
(5.145)

The free parameters of this solution are the charges p_u^0 , $q_{u,0}$ and $|Z_{\infty}|$ and either p_r^0 or $q_{r,0}$, since they must be proportional to those of the other center. The areas of each of the horizons are as in the single-center case. In particular, the BPS 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole (s = 0) does not contribute to the entropy of the r = 0 center. The mass is given by

$$M = M_r + M_u , (5.146)$$

$$M_r = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \frac{W_{RN}(Q_r)}{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2}} - M_{\text{monopole}}, \qquad (5.147)$$

$$M_u = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \frac{W_{RN}(Q_u)}{1 - |Z_{\infty}|^2}} + M_{\text{monopole}}, \qquad (5.148)$$

and the contributions of the monopole and anti-monopole cancel each other. In the $s \to \infty$ limit it can be easily seen that the solution is completely regular everywhere $(e^{-2U}$ only vanishes at r = 0 and u = 0) if the Abelian charges as chosen so that the horizons are regular. This guarantees that all the terms in e^{-2U} are positive. For finite s this is more difficult to proof analytically, but, since the Higgs field has a better behavior than in the $s \to \infty$ case, it is reasonable to expect that it will also be true. We have checked numerically that this is so in several examples.

5.3.3 Embedding in the SU(2)-gauged ST[2, 4] model

The metric and scalar fields of the solution are now given by

$$e^{-2U} = 2\sqrt{-2\mathcal{I}^{1}\mathcal{I}_{0}[(\mathcal{I}^{2})^{2} - 2\Phi^{a}\Phi^{a}]}, \qquad (5.149)$$

$$Z^{1} \equiv \tau = i \frac{e^{-2U}}{2[(\mathcal{I}^{2})^{2} - 2\Phi^{a}\Phi^{a}]}, \qquad Z^{2} = \frac{\mathcal{I}^{2}}{\mathcal{I}^{1}}\tau, \qquad Z^{a} = \frac{\sqrt{2}\Phi^{a}}{\mathcal{I}^{1}}\tau, \quad (5.150)$$

where Φ^a is the Higgs field of the Cherkis & Durcan solution (deformed with the Protogenov hair parameter s) and where the harmonic functions \mathcal{I}^1 , \mathcal{I}^2 and \mathcal{I}_0 are allowed to have poles at r = 0 and u = 0:

$$\mathcal{I}^{1} = A^{1} + \frac{p_{r}^{1}/\sqrt{2}}{r} + \frac{p_{u}^{1}/\sqrt{2}}{u}, \qquad \mathcal{I}^{2} = A^{2} + \frac{p_{r}^{2}/\sqrt{2}}{r} + \frac{p_{u}^{2}/\sqrt{2}}{u},$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{0} = A_{0} + \frac{q_{r,0}/\sqrt{2}}{r} + \frac{q_{u,0}/\sqrt{2}}{u}.$$
(5.151)

As in the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ case, the Abelian charges at each center must be chosen with the same criteria as in the corresponding single-center case. This means, in particular, that

the Abelian charges at u = 0, $p_u^1, q_{u,0}$ must be non-vanishing. p_u^2 may need to be activated, depending on the branch we are considering. At r = 0, for $s \neq 0$ we get exactly the same possibilities, but, for s = 0 there are two possibilities:

- 1. $p_r^1, q_{r,0}, p_r^2$ non-vanishing. We find a black hole at r = 0 in the + branch.
- 2. $p_r^1 = q_{r,0} = p_r^2 = 0$. e^{-2U} is a complicated *d*-dependent constant in the r = 0 limit and we get a global monopole.

Here we find an important difference with the single-center case, due to the fact that $\Phi^a \Phi^a$ is a finite constant in the $r \to 0$ limit instead of going to zero as r^2 : there is no solution with $p_r^1 q_{r,0} \neq 0$ and $p_r^2 = 0$. In order to have such a global monopole solution with $p^1 q_0 \neq 0$ and $p^2 = 0$ in equilibrium with the monopole at u = 0 one may try to place those charges at the point at which $\Phi^a \Phi^a = 0$, but the resulting solution may not be well defined there because the limit of the metric function depends on the direction from which we approach that point.

The entropy of the solution is the sum of the entropies of both centers (vanishing for global monopoles). As in the $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^3$ case, the monopole at each center does contribute to the center entropy (except for global monopoles). The contributions of the monopole and anti-monopole to the mass cancel each other:

$$M = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\chi_{\infty}}{|\Im \mathfrak{m}\tau_{\infty}|} |p_u^1 + p_r^1| + \frac{1}{2\chi_{\infty}} |q_{u,0} + q_{r,0}| \pm \frac{1}{2} \frac{|\Im \mathfrak{m}\tau_{\infty}\Im \mathfrak{m}Z_{\infty}^2|}{\chi_{\infty}} |p_u^2 + p_r^2|.$$
(5.152)

5.4 Conclusions

In this chapter we have discussed the construction of supersymmetric multi-object solutions in $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 EYM theories, specifically in the so-called $\overline{\mathbb{CP}}^{n\geq 3}$ and ST[2, n] models. These models were chosen due to their workability, the fact that they allow for a SU(2) gauging and (in the second case) for their stringy origin. Starting with a deformation of the solutions to the SU(2) Bogomol'nyi equation found by Cherkis and Durcan that adds to the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole *Protogenov hair*, we have been able to construct *bona fide* two-center solutions. These solutions describe a Dirac monopole embedded in SU(2) in the presence of either a global monopole (the supergravity solution corresponding to the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole) or a non-Abelian black hole (a supergravity solution with an 't Hooft-Polyakov-Protogenov monopole). In order to make the comparison with the single-object case easier, we included a detailed discussion of the embeddings of the spherically symmetric solutions to the SU(2) Bogomol'nyi equations into the two models, and expressed the whole solution in terms of charges and moduli of the physical fields.

The constructed solutions are all static. It would be very interesting to study dyonic solutions and to see how this interplays with the Denef constraint; the stumbling block in this respect is not so much the Bogomol'nyi equation as the equation (5.20); for the moment the only general solution we know of is to take $\mathcal{I}_{\Lambda} \sim \mathcal{I}^{\Lambda}$ in the gauged directions, but this automatically solves the Denef constraint. The only case for which we can find non-trivial dyonic solutions is for the multi-Wu-Yang solutions, or if you like the $s \to \infty$ limit of the deformed Cherkis and Durcan's solution; we refrain from discussing these solutions here as, due to gauge invariance, even taking into account the singular gauge transformation, the restriction coming from the Denef constraint is basically the one corresponding to the Abelian theory.

A natural question that follows from the results presented here and in Refs. [244, 245,319] is whether we could use a charge k SU(2) monopole to construct globally regular solutions; the answer is yes: observe that the construction of globally regular solutions in section (5.2) hinges exclusively but crucially on the fact that the used monopole solution is regular and is such that $\Phi^a \Phi^a \leq \lim_{|\vec{x}|\to\infty} \Phi^a \Phi^a$. A charge-k monopole may be rather difficult to construct but the regularity is guaranteed and also the last needed ingredient is known to be satisfied: indeed, using the Bogomol'nyi equation (5.32) one can show that

$$\partial_{\underline{m}}\partial_{\underline{m}} \Phi^{a} \Phi^{a} = F^{a}{}_{\underline{m}\underline{m}} F^{a}{}_{\underline{m}\underline{m}} \ge 0.$$
(5.153)

This equation together with the Hopf maximum principle and the regularity, implies that the function $\Phi^a \Phi^a$ is bounded from above by its value on the sphere at infinity, which is exactly what one needs.

As was said in the introduction, the creation and study of non-Abelian solutions to d = 4 supergravity theories is in its infancy and this holds doubly so for the higher dimensional theories. One possible reason is that the structure of supersymmetric solutions to higher supergravities (see *e.g.* Refs. [43, 114]) is more entangled than the one given in the recipe in section 5.1.2. For example, naively one would expect that Kronheimer's link of monopoles on \mathbb{R}^3 to instantons on GH-spaces, would carry over to the supersymmetric solutions as in d = 4 the base space is \mathbb{R}^3 and that in d = 5 must be hyper-Kähler; *i.e.* one would expect the instanton equation to show up in the recipe for cooking up 5-dimensional supersymmetric solutions. Perhaps it does, but it definitely is not obvious where and how it is making its appearance in such a clear-cut manner as in d = 4.

The 4- and 5-dimensional EYMH theories are, however, related by dimensional reduction/oxidation, whence the solutions to the cubic models presented in here could be oxidized to 5-dimensions and can be studied with the hope of unraveling the structure of 5-dimensional supersymmetric solutions.

6 Non-extremal branes

This chapter is based on

Pablo Bueno, Tomas Ortín and C. S. Shahbazi, "Non-extremal branes", Phys. Lett. **B743** (2015), 301 – 305. [arXiv:1412.5547 [hep-th]] [93].

Supergravity branes have played a rôle of outermost importance in String Theory since they were discovered to be the macroscopic counterparts of many String Theory microscopic extended objects, during the second String Revolution [367]. However, strictly speaking, this correspondence is limited to the extremal cases, which have been thoroughly studied in the literature. Much less attention has been paid to non-extremal Supergravity branes (which are regular in general, in contrast to the extremal ones), since they do not obey first order differential equations and its String Theory interpretation is less clear. In this chapter we are interested in further understanding the structure of general nonextremal Supergravity branes and its behaviour under *electric-magnetic* duality.

In reference [153], a generalization of the FGK-formalism [173] to an arbitrary number of space-time dimensions d and worldvolume dimensions (p+1) was presented. The d-dimensional class of theories considered in [153] describes gravity coupled to a given number of scalars ϕ^i , $i = 1, \ldots, n_{\phi}$, and (p+1)-forms $A^{\Lambda}_{(p+1)}$, $\Lambda = 1, \ldots, n_A$, and are given by the following, two-derivative, action

$$S = \int d^d x \sqrt{|\mathbf{g}|} \left\{ R + \mathcal{G}_{ij}(\phi) \partial_\mu \phi^i \partial^\mu \phi^j + 4 \frac{(-1)^p}{(\mathbf{p}+2)!} I_{\Lambda\Omega}(\phi) F^{\Lambda}_{(\mathbf{p}+2)} \cdot F^{\Omega}_{(\mathbf{p}+2)} \right\}, \tag{6.1}$$

where $F_{(p+2)}^{\Lambda} = (p+2)dA_{(p+1)}^{\Lambda}$ are the (p+2)-form field strengths and the scalar dependent, negative definite, matrix $I_{\Lambda\Omega}(\phi)$ describes the couplings of scalars ϕ^i to the (p+1)-forms $A_{(p+1)}^{\Lambda}$. The generic space-time metric considered in [153] was

$$ds_{(d)}^{2} = e^{\frac{2}{p+1}U} \left[W^{\frac{p}{p+1}} dt^{2} - W^{-\frac{1}{p+1}} d\vec{z}_{(p)}^{2} \right] - e^{-\frac{2}{\tilde{p}+1}U} \gamma_{(\tilde{p}+3)} , \qquad (6.2)$$

$$\gamma_{(\tilde{p}+3)} = \mathcal{X}^{\frac{2}{\tilde{p}+1}} \left[\mathcal{X}^2 \frac{d\rho^2}{(\tilde{p}+1)^2} + d\Omega_{(\tilde{p}+2)}^2 \right], \qquad (6.3)$$

where $\mathcal{X} \equiv \left(\frac{\omega/2}{\sinh\left(\frac{\omega}{2}\rho\right)}\right)$, $\vec{z}_{(p)} \equiv (z^1, \ldots, z^p)$ are spatial worldvolume coordinates and $d = p + \tilde{p} + 4$ so \tilde{p} is the number of spatial dimensions of the dual brane. $d\Omega^2_{(\tilde{p}+2)}$ stands for the round metric on the $(\tilde{p}+2)$ -sphere of unit radius, and ω is a constant that corresponds to the *non-extremality* parameter of the black-brane solution. In other words, the black-brane is extremal if and only if $\omega = 0$.

Assuming the space-time background (6.2) and that all the fields of the theory depend exclusively on the radial coordinate ρ , the equations of motion of (6.1) are equivalent to the following set of ordinary differential equations [153]

$$\ddot{U} + e^{2U} V_{\rm BB} = 0, \qquad (6.4)$$

$$\ddot{\phi}^{i} + \Gamma_{jk}{}^{i} \dot{\phi}^{j} \dot{\phi}^{k} + \frac{d-2}{2(\tilde{p}+1)(p+1)} e^{2U} \partial^{i} V_{BB} = 0, \qquad (6.5)$$

$$(\dot{U})^2 + \frac{(p+1)(\tilde{p}+1)}{d-2} \mathcal{G}_{ij} \dot{\phi}^i \dot{\phi}^j + e^{2U} V_{BB} = c^2, \qquad (6.6)$$

where $V_{\rm BB}$ stands for the so-called *black-brane* potential

$$V_{\rm BB}(\phi,q) \equiv 2\alpha^2 \frac{2(p+1)(\tilde{p}+1)}{(d-2)} \left(I^{-1}\right)^{\Lambda\Omega} q_{\Lambda} q_{\Omega} , \qquad (6.7)$$

and c^2 is a real semi-definite positive constant given by

$$c^{2} \equiv \frac{(p+1)(\tilde{p}+2)}{4(d-2)}\omega^{2} - \frac{(\tilde{p}+1)p}{4(d-2)}\gamma^{2}, \qquad (6.8)$$

and γ is another constant whose origin will be clear in a moment. Notice that the system of differential equations above only involves the metric factor U and the scalar fields ϕ^i , since the (p+1)-forms can be eliminated in terms of the corresponding charges q_{Λ} , $\Lambda = 1, \ldots, n_A$, by explicitly integrating the Maxwell equations.

Remarkably enough, it turns out that W can also be explicitly integrated yielding

$$W = e^{\gamma \rho} \,, \tag{6.9}$$

where γ is the (integration) constant which appears in (6.8).

In [153] it was argued that in order to have a regular black-brane solution, we must have $\gamma = \omega$ and therefore $c^2 = \frac{\omega^2}{4}$.

To sum up, in reference [153] it was found that the above ansatz corresponds to a black-brane solution (not necessarily regular) of the theories defined by the generic action (6.1) if equations (7.68), (7.72) and (6.6) are satisfied.

6.1 Electromagnetic dual solutions

It can be seen that the FGK system of equations is completely fixed once we know the following data: the Riemannian metric \mathcal{G}_{ij} of the non-linear sigma model, the number p of spatial dimensions of the brane and the matrix $I_{\Lambda\Omega}$ describing the couplings of the scalars and the (p+1)-forms. Actually, the FGK-system is invariant under the interchange

$$p \leftrightarrow \tilde{p}$$
, (6.10)

which however does not leave invariant the space-time metric, which represents now the metric of a \tilde{p} brane. A \tilde{p} brane naturally couples to a $(\tilde{p} + 1)$ -form, that is, to the

¹In the ansatz at hand, the event horizon (if any) will correspond to $\rho \to +\infty$, whereas spatial infinity will be at $\rho \to 0^+$. In order for the worldvolume metric to be regular in the near horizon limit, $e^U \propto e^{\frac{\omega\rho}{2}}$ and $W \sim e^{\omega\rho}$, which fixes $\gamma = \omega$.

magnetic duals of the electric (p+1)-forms $A^{\Lambda}_{(p+1)}$. Therefore, in order to properly perform the interchange (6.10) we also have to change the electric matrix I_{el} of couplings to the magnetic I_{mag} one. Schematically the transformation is

$$p \leftrightarrow \tilde{p}, \qquad I_{el} \leftrightarrow I_{mag}.$$
 (6.11)

The only term in the FGK-system that depends on $I_{\Lambda\Omega}$ is the black-brane potential V_{BB} . Therefore, if

$$\left(I^{-1}\right)_{el}^{\Lambda\Omega}q_{\Lambda}q_{\Omega} = \left(I^{-1}\right)_{mag}^{\Lambda\Omega}q_{\Lambda}'q_{\Omega}', \qquad (6.12)$$

where $q'_{\Lambda} = A^{\Omega}_{\Lambda}q_{\Omega}$, $A \in \text{Gl}(n_A, \mathbb{R})$, then the FGK-system is invariant under the transformation (6.11), up to a redefinition of the charges, and therefore with the same solution of the FGK-system we can construct two space-time solutions, the electric-brane solution and the magnetic-brane solution. In order to see when condition (6.12) holds, we have to change from electric variables $A^{\Lambda}_{(p+1)}$ to the magnetic ones $\tilde{A}_{(\tilde{p}+1)\Lambda}$ in the action (6.1). The equations of motion and the Bianchi identities for the electric fields $A^{\Lambda}_{(p+1)}$ are

$$d\left(I_{\Lambda\Omega} * F^{\Omega}_{(p+2)}\right) = 0, \qquad dF^{\Lambda}_{(p+2)} = 0.$$
 (6.13)

Now we define

$$G_{(\tilde{p}+2)\Lambda} = I_{\Lambda\Omega} * F^{\Omega}_{(p+2)}.$$
(6.14)

and thus the equations of motion for the electric vector fields can be written as a Bianchi identity for $G_{(\tilde{p}+2)\Lambda}$

$$dG_{(\tilde{p}+2)\Lambda} = 0 \Rightarrow G_{(\tilde{p}+2)\Lambda} = d\tilde{A}_{(\tilde{p}+1)\Lambda} \text{ locally}.$$
(6.15)

Equation (6.14) can be inverted as follows

$$F_{(p+2)}^{\Lambda} = (-1)^{(d-1)+(p+2)(\tilde{p}+2)} \left(I^{-1}\right)^{\Lambda\Omega} * G_{(\tilde{p}+2)\Omega}$$
(6.16)

Substituting equation (6.16) in equation (6.1), we deduce that

$$I_{mag} = I_{el}^{-1} \,. \tag{6.17}$$

Given equation (6.17) and equation (6.12) we obtain that a sufficient condition to obtain the same FGK-system for electric and magnetic branes is that there exists a matrix $A \in$ $Gl(n_A, \mathbb{R})$ such that the following *self-duality* condition holds

$$I^{-1} = AIA^T \,. \tag{6.18}$$

Without invoking supersymmetry we can say little more beyond equation (6.18), since the couplings in the action (6.1) are in principle arbitrary aside from some regularity conditions. Supersymmetry, however, constrains the couplings and therefore it is easier to analyze when equation (6.18) is satisfied.

Supergravity non-linear sigma models are constrainted by supersymmetry and related to the couplings of the (p+1)-forms and the scalars of the theory. Let us now consider the general situation of an extended ungauged Supergravity, where the scalar manifold is a homogeneous space of the form

$$\mathcal{M}_S = \frac{G}{H} \,, \tag{6.19}$$

and the matrix I of the couplings between the (p+1)-forms and the scalars is a coset representative, namely $I \in \frac{G}{H}$. The coset element I must be taken in a particular representation, namely I is in the representation R(G) that acts on the charges of the corresponding electric p-forms of the theory. This is the standard situation happening in an extended Supergravity in diverse dimensions. From the self-duality condition (6.18) we are interested in coset representatives I such that there exists a matrix $A \in Gl(n_A, \mathbb{R})$ satisfying

$$I^{-1} = AIA^T \,. \tag{6.20}$$

There is a sufficient condition on G such that the self-duality condition (6.20) is implied. Let us assume that the Lie group leaves invariant a bilinear form $\mathcal{B} \in V^* \otimes V^*$, where V is the n_A -dimensional representation vector space of G, or in other words, $q_{\Lambda} \in V$. The condition of G leaving invariant \mathcal{B} can be rewritten as follows

$$R^T \mathcal{B}R = \mathcal{B}, \qquad R \in R(G),$$
(6.21)

where R(G) is the corresponding representation of G as automorphisms of V. Now, the self-duality condition does not have to be satisfied by an arbitrary element in G but for an element in G/H which, in the representation R(G) must be symmetric in order to be an admissible I^{-2} . Assuming then that $R^T = R$ we can rewrite (6.21) as follows

$$R^{-1} = \mathcal{B}^{-1}R\mathcal{B}, \qquad R \in R(G), \qquad (6.22)$$

and therefore if

$$\mathcal{B}^T = \mathcal{B}^{-1} \,, \tag{6.23}$$

then equation (6.20) is satisfied and the corresponding FGK model is self-dual, meaning that the system of differential equations to be solved for the electric p-brane and the corresponding magnetic \tilde{p} -brane is exactly the same.

There are several Supergravities where condition (6.23) holds. Just to name a few: Type-IIB Supergravity, where $G = \mathrm{Sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$, $H = \mathrm{SO}(2)$ so $\mathcal{B} = \mathrm{antidiag}(1,-1)$; ninedimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity, where $G = \mathrm{Sl}(2,\mathbb{R}) \times \mathrm{O}(1,1)$ and $H = \mathrm{O}(2)$, quotienting only the first factor and $\mathcal{B} = \mathrm{antidiag}(1,-1) \times \mathrm{diag}(1,-1)$; four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 8$ Supergravity, where $G = \mathrm{E}_{7(7)}$ acting on the **56** irrep. on the charges, $H = \mathrm{SU}(8)/\mathbb{Z}_2$ and \mathcal{B} is the symplectic form in the **56**-dimensional vector space; four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 6$ Supergravity, with $G = \mathrm{SO}^*(12)$, $H = \mathrm{U}(6)$ and \mathcal{B} is the identity matrix, etc.

6.2 The (p,q)-black-string of Type-IIB Supergravity

Let us see how this works in an particular example, namely the (p, q)-black-strings and (p, q)-5-black branes of Type-IIB Supergravity. First, we will use the effective FGK variables to construct the non-extremal (p, q)-black-string, new in the literature, and then, we will show how in the FGK framework this solution is actually the same as the non-extremal (p, q)-5-black-brane, also new. Before getting started, let us review the basic properties of the extremal (p, q)-string of Schwarz [382].

From the stringy perspective, a (extremal) (p,q)-string is a bound state of Type-IIB String Theory composed of p *D-strings* (*D1s*), charged under the RR two-form $C_{(2)}$,

²Even if it is non-symmetric, when contracting with $F^{\Lambda}_{(p+2)}$ in (6.1) only the symmetric part survives.

and q fundamental strings (F1s), with charge under the NS-NS two-form B. Type-IIB Supergravity is invariant under a global $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ symmetry, so all the states of the theory are accomodated in multiplets of such group. In particular any state can be generated from another one living in the same multiplet by applying a $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ transformation. This is the case for the D1 and F1 solutions, which are related to each other via this IIB S-duality. Similarly, we can generate a (p,q)-string starting from one of them, and performing a general enough $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ transformation. This was done for the first time by Schwarz [382], who also gave the corresponding Supergravity version of the solution. In fact, from the Supergravity perspective, all these states correspond to extremal black strings charged under one or both two-forms. All these solutions are nevertheless singular, given that the corresponding black-string singularities are naked. As we will see, this behavior is cured in the non-extremal case, and we will be able to construct a regular non-extremal (p, q)-black-string solution.

The relevant truncated Type-IIB Supergravity Lagrangian is

$$S = \int d^{10}x \sqrt{|\mathbf{g}|} \left[R + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial_{\mu} \tau \partial^{\mu} \bar{\tau}}{(\Im m \tau)^2} + \frac{1}{2 \cdot 3!} \mathcal{H}^T \mathcal{M}^{-1} \mathcal{H} \right]$$
(6.24)

where $\mathcal{H} \equiv d\mathfrak{B}$, with $\mathfrak{B}^T \equiv (C_{(2)}, B)$ and $\mathcal{M} \equiv \frac{1}{\Im \mathfrak{m} \tau} \begin{pmatrix} |\tau|^2 & \Re \mathfrak{e} \tau \\ \Re \mathfrak{e} \tau & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ with $\Im \mathfrak{m} \tau > 0$ is the coset representative of the space $\operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})/\operatorname{SO}(2)$ parametrized by the axidilaton $\tau \equiv C_{(0)} + i e^{-\Phi}$. Since black strings in ten dimensions have p = 1 and $\tilde{p} = 5$, let us set ³

$$d = 10, \quad p = 1, \quad \tilde{p} = 5$$
 (6.25)

in the FGK effective action (6.1). Now, the key point to notice is that the action (6.24) is a particular case of (6.1), by taking $n_{\phi} = 2$, $n_A = 2$ and making the following identifications

$$\phi^{1} = C_{(0)}, \ \phi^{2} = e^{-\Phi}, \ \mathcal{G}_{ij} = e^{2\Phi} \frac{\delta_{ij}}{2}, \ I(\phi) \equiv -\frac{1}{8} \mathcal{M}^{-1},$$
(6.26)

where i, j = 1, 2 and $\tau = C_{(0)} + ie^{-\Phi}$. We thus obtain that the black-brane potential for this truncation of Type-IIB Supergravity is given by

$$-V_{\rm BB}(\phi,q) = \mathcal{M}^{\Lambda\Omega} q_{\Lambda} q_{\Omega} = e^{\Phi} \left(|\tau|^2 p^2 + q^2 + 2pqC_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (6.27)$$

where $\Lambda, \Omega = 1, 2$ and we have defined $\alpha^2 = \frac{1}{2^{4}\cdot 3}$ and $q_1 \equiv p, q_2 \equiv q$. Therefore, in order to obtain the black-string solutions of the theory (6.24) we just have to solve the system of ordinary differential equations given by (7.68), (7.72) and (6.6) assuming equations (6.25), (6.26) and (6.27). Notice that \mathcal{M} is definite positive and therefore $V_{\text{BB}}(\phi, q)$ in (6.27) is negative definite.

In reference [153], it was shown that for regular extremal black-brane solutions, the value ϕ_H of the scalars at the black-brane horizon obeys

$$\partial_i V_{\rm BB}(\phi_H, q) = 0, \qquad i = 1, \dots, n_{\phi}.$$
 (6.28)

The solutions ϕ_H of equation (6.28) are the so-called black-brane attractors, and generalize to black-brane solutions the popular concept of black-hole attractor. Notice that equation

³There should be no confusion about the p that denotes the number of spatial dimensions of a given brane and the p in the (p,q)-strings, which corresponds to its charge under $C_{(2)}$.

(6.28) completely fixes the value of the scalars at the horizon in terms of the charges, as long as there are no *flat directions*. Taking the black-brane potential as in (6.27), one easily finds that (6.28) has no solutions for the (p,q)-black-string system, meaning that there does not exist any extremal regular black-string solution of Type-IIB Supergravity with non-trivial scalars.

The most general extremal solution of this kind was constructed by Schwarz in [382]. It is given, in standard coordinates by

$$ds_E^2 = H^{-\frac{3}{4}} \left[dt^2 - dz^2 \right] - H^{\frac{1}{4}} d\vec{x}^2 , \qquad (6.29)$$
$$\mathfrak{B}_{tz} = \mathfrak{a} \left(H^{-1} - 1 \right) , \ \mathcal{M} = \mathfrak{a} \mathfrak{a}^T H^{-\frac{1}{2}} + \mathfrak{b} \mathfrak{b}^T H^{\frac{1}{2}} ,$$

where

$$H = 1 + \frac{h}{r^6}, (6.30)$$

 $r^2 \equiv \vec{x}^2$ and $\mathfrak{a}^T = (a_1, a_2)$ and $\mathfrak{b}^T = (b_1, b_2)$ are two constant vectors to be expressed in terms of the physical parameters of the solution and subject to the constraint $\mathfrak{a}^T \eta \mathfrak{b} = a_1 b_2 - a_2 b_1 = 1$. The relation between \mathcal{M} and H can be inverted to obtain the expression for the axidilaton, which reads

$$\tau = \frac{a_1 a_2 + b_1 b_2 H}{a_2^2 + b_2^2 H} + \frac{i\sqrt{H}}{a_2^2 + b_2^2 H}.$$
(6.31)

It is not difficult to recover the D1 and F1 solutions from the (p, q)-black-string one by setting $C_{(0)} = 0$ and q = 0 or p = 0 respectively in each case.

The standard coordinates can be related to the FGK ones through the change $r = \rho^{-\frac{1}{6}}$. It is straightforward to check that equations (7.68), (7.72) and (6.6) with c = 0 are satisfied by Schwarz's (p,q)-black-string (6.29)⁴. We find that the singular extremal (p,q)-black-string can be generalized to a regular non-extremal solution, given by

$$ds_{E}^{2} = H^{-\frac{3}{4}} \left[W dt^{2} - dz^{2} \right] - H^{\frac{1}{4}} \left[W^{-1} dr^{2} + r^{2} d\Omega_{(7)}^{2} \right], \qquad (6.32)$$

$$\mathfrak{B}_{tz} = \pm \mathfrak{a} \left(H^{-1} - 1 \right), \quad \tau = \frac{a_{1}a_{2} + b_{1}b_{2}H}{a_{2}^{2} + b_{2}^{2}H} + \frac{i\sqrt{H}}{a_{2}^{2} + b_{2}^{2}H}, \qquad H = 1 + \frac{h}{r^{6}}, \quad W = 1 + \frac{2c}{r^{6}}, \quad h = c + \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \sqrt{|V_{BB\infty}| + \frac{3c^{2}}{4}},$$

$$\begin{aligned} a_1 &= \frac{\left(q \, C_{(0)\infty} + p |\tau_{\infty}|^2\right) e^{\Phi_{\infty}}}{\sqrt{|V_{BB\infty}|}} , \ b_1 &= -\frac{q}{\sqrt{|V_{BB\infty}|}} \\ a_2 &= \frac{\left(q + p \, C_{(0)\infty}\right) e^{\Phi_{\infty}}}{\sqrt{|V_{BB\infty}|}} , \ b_2 &= \frac{p}{\sqrt{|V_{BB\infty}|}} , \\ V_{BB\infty} &\equiv -e^{\Phi_{\infty}} \left(q^2 + 2pqC_{(0)\infty} + p^2 |\tau_{\infty}|^2\right) , \end{aligned}$$

where we have expressed all the parameters of the solution in terms of the corresponding physical quantities (charges q and asymptotic values of the axion and dilaton). The FGK

⁴In particular, the relation between $U(\rho)$ and H(r) is given by $H(r)^{-\frac{3}{4}} = e^{U(\rho)}$.
variables in which this solution was obtained are related to the standard ones by the change of variables

$$r^{6} = \frac{2c}{e^{2c\rho} - 1}, \ H(r)^{-3/4} = e^{U(\rho)}e^{-c\rho}.$$
 (6.33)

It can be easily seen that the general non-extremal solution we have found reduces to all the known solutions, namely, the non-extremal D1-brane by taking $C_{(0)} = 0$, q = 0; the non-extremal F1-string by setting $C_{(0)} = 0$, p = 0; and Schwarz's extremal (p, q)-string by taking the $c \to 0$ limit. This non-extremal (p, q)-black-string possesses the same metric as the non-extremal D1 and F1, and an axidilaton with both real an imaginary parts having the same expression as Schwarz's extremal (p, q)-string (6.29) (although everything depends now also on the non-extremality parameter $c = \omega/2$).

As we explained before, the FGK equations (7.68), (7.72) and (6.6) are blind under electric-magnetic duality for a broad class of bosonic actions. That is indeed the case of the action (6.24). Indeed, all the equations of motion of the FGK-formalism coming from (6.24) are invariant under the interchange $p \leftrightarrow \tilde{p}$, $I_{el} \leftrightarrow I_{mag}$. The only subtlety appears in the black-brane potential. Since $\mathcal{M}^{-1} = \eta^T \mathcal{M} \eta$, this goes from

$$-V_{BB}^{(C_{(2)},B)} = \mathfrak{q}^{T} \mathcal{M} \mathfrak{q} = e^{\Phi} \left(|\tau|^{2} p^{2} + q^{2} + 2pqC_{(0)} \right), \qquad (6.34)$$

in the *electric* version of the action, to

$$-V_{BB}^{(C_{(6)},B^{(6)})} = \mathfrak{q}_5^T \mathcal{M}\mathfrak{q}_5 = e^{\Phi} \left(|\tau|^2 p_5^2 + q_5^2 + 2p_5 q_5 C_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (6.35)$$

in the magnetic one, provided that we define the charges q_5 as

$$\mathbf{q}_5 = (p_5, q_5)^T \equiv \eta \mathbf{q} = (q, -p)^T, \ \eta = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.36)

Hence, in the effective FGK variables, pairs consisting of a black string and a 5black-brane solving the equations of motion of the corresponding ten-dimensional action appear as a single solution. This corresponds in general to a black string of charges (p,q)under $(C_{(2)}, B)$ and a 5-black-brane with charges (q, -p) under $(C_{(6)}, B^{(6)})$. Also, the fact that both black-brane potentials are equivalent implies that no regular 5-black-brane extremal objects exist.

The known 5-brane solutions of Type-IIB Supergravity correspond to the nonextremal *D5-brane*, the non-extremal *S5* and the analogous of Schwarz's extremal blackstring, the (p, q)-5-brane of Lu and Roy [307]. Using the very same solution of the FGK system (6.32) it is straightforward to construct the non-extremal (p, q)-5-brane, which can be easily seen to reduce to the known cases just mentioned.

6.3 Double-extremal black-branes

As we have explained, there is a black-brane attractor mechanism at work for extremal black-branes ($\omega = 0$), which fixes the scalars at the horizon as the critical points ϕ_H of the black-brane potential. Indeed, assuming regularity of the scalars at the horizon as well as a regular Riemannian scalar metric, the value of the scalars at the horizon ϕ_H for an extremal black-brane solution satisfies (6.28). We will use now the FGK-formalism for black-branes to prove the existence of a universal ⁵ black-brane solution with constant scalars, and a

⁵In the sense that it will have the same expression for any theory of the form (6.1).

universal near-horizon behaviour, if condition (6.28) is satisfied. In this case, however, such condition will appear as a constraint from imposing the scalars to be constant (often referred to as *double-extremality*) and not from requiring the non-extremality parameter c to vanish. Indeed, for constant scalars, the FGK system of equations reduces to

$$\ddot{U} + e^{2U} V_{\rm BB} = 0, \qquad (6.37)$$

$$\partial_i V_{\rm BB} = 0, \qquad (6.38)$$

$$(\dot{U})^2 + e^{2U}V_{\rm BB} = c^2. aga{6.39}$$

Note that equations (6.37), (6.38) and (6.39) do not depend on the number p of spatial dimensions of the brane. Notice also that $V_{\rm BB}(q)$ will be now a constant constructed from the product of the constant $n_A \times n_A$ kinetic matrix $(I^{-1})^{\Lambda\Omega}$ and the charge vectors q_{Λ} , see (6.7). Thus, a double-extremal black brane will in general be charged under the n_A (p+1)-forms $A^{\Lambda}_{(p+1)}$ present in the theory.

Equation (6.38) can be automatically solved if the black-brane potential has at least one critical point, something that must be analyzed in a case by case basis and that we will assume henceforth. Equation (6.37) is the derivative of equation (6.39), and thus we are left with a single equation. This was to be expected, provided there is only one variable left to be integrated, namely U. Equation (6.39) can be explicitly integrated and the solution is given by

$$e^{-2U} = \frac{|V_{\rm BB}|\sinh^2(c\rho + s)}{c^2}, \qquad (6.40)$$

where s is an integration constant. Normalizing the metric to obtain Minkowski space-time at spatial infinity fixes s to be given by

$$s = \operatorname{arcsinh}\left(\frac{c}{\sqrt{|V_{\mathrm{BB}}|}}\right).$$
 (6.41)

Therefore, inserting equation (6.40) into the general metric (6.2) we obtain a complete $(p_1, p_2, ..., p_{n_A})$ -p-black-brane solution with constant scalars which solves the theory (6.1). The metric factor e^{-2U} is well defined for $\rho \in [0, +\infty)$ and therefore the solution contains a horizon at $\rho \to +\infty$ and is regular. Taking the extremal limit $c \to 0$ we obtain

$$e^{-2U} = \left(1 + \sqrt{|V_{\rm BB}|}\rho\right)^2,$$
 (6.42)

which corresponds to a regular extremal universal black-brane solution. We can obtain now the near-horizon geometry of the extremal solution simply by taking the limit $\rho \to +\infty$ in the general extremal metric where now U is given by equation (6.42). Making the change of coordinates $\rho = r^{p+1}$ and relabeling \vec{z} and t we can rewrite the final result as follows

$$\lim_{\rho \to \infty} ds_{(d)}^2 = |V_{\rm BB}|^{\frac{1}{\tilde{p}+1}} \left[\frac{(p+1)^2}{(\tilde{p}+1)^2} \frac{1}{r^2} \left[dt^2 - d\vec{z}_{(p)}^2 - dr^2 \right] + d\Omega_{(\tilde{p}+2)}^2 \right], \tag{6.43}$$

which corresponds to the space $\operatorname{AdS}_{(2+p)} \times S^{\tilde{p}+2}$. Notice that the near-horizon geometry (6.43) is itself a solution of the equations of motion, and corresponds again to a universal solution with constant scalars. Let us remind the reader that in order for both the universal black-brane solution, or the near-horizon solution to exist, the only requirement is that the n_{ϕ} scalars present in the theory can be consistently chosen to be constant. This is equivalent to requiring the black-brane potential to have a critical point.

A simple case in which we can easily construct the double-extremal solution corresponds to $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 5 supergravity coupled to one vector multiplet. A model of this theory gets completely determined by specifying a completely symmetric tensor C_{IJK} (see, e.g. [153], for details), which in this case reads $C_{011} = 1/3$. The black-brane potential of the model reads

$$-V_{\rm BB} = \frac{1}{3} \left[\left(p^0 \right)^2 e^{-2\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\phi} + 2 \left(p^1 \right)^2 e^{\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\phi} \right], \qquad (6.44)$$

being ϕ the only scalar of the theory, and p^0 , p^1 the charges under the 2-forms $B_{0\mu\nu}$ and $B_{1\mu\nu}$ dual to the graviphoton and the 1-form of the vector multiplet respectively [153]. Now, (6.44) has a critical point for

$$\phi_h = \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \log\left(\left|\frac{p^0}{p^1}\right|\right) \,, \tag{6.45}$$

at which

$$-V_{\rm BB}(\phi_h, p) = \left[|p^0|(p^1)^2\right]^{2/3}.$$
 (6.46)

Therefore, the double-extremal black string of this model is given by

$$e^{-2U} = \frac{\left[|p^0|(p^1)^2\right]^{2/3}\sinh^2\left(c\rho + s\right)}{c^2},$$
(6.47)

with

$$s = \operatorname{arcsinh}\left(\frac{c}{[|p^0|(p^1)^2]^{1/3}}\right).$$
 (6.48)

Lifshitz-like solutions with hyperscaling violation in supergravity

This chapter is based on

Pablo Bueno, Wissam Chemissany, Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortín and C. S. Shahbazi, "Lifshitz-like solutions with hyperscaling violation in ungauged supergravity", JHEP 1301 (2013) 189. [arXiv:1209.4047 [hep-th]]. [88].

> Pablo Bueno, Wissam Chemissany and C. S. Shahbazi, "On hvLif-like solutions in gauged Supergravity", Eur. Phys. J. C (2014) **74:2684**. [arXiv:1212.4826 [hep-th]]. [87].

7.1 HvLf solutions in ungauged supergravity

The gauge/gravity duality [219, 311, 423] has proven to be an outstandingly successful and fruitful framework for probing the physics of strongly coupled field theories. The paradigmatic AdS/CFT correspondence, which established the physical equivalence between d = 4, $\mathcal{N} = 4$ Super-Yang-Mills and type-IIB String Theory on AdS₅×S⁵ [311] has been extended over the years in a variety of ways in the hope of accounting for the physics of more realistic quantum field theories, such as QCD and condensed matter systems (see, e.g., [1,116,229,369] for reviews on these subjects).

One such extension consists of considering systems in which, albeit scaling symmetry is respected, space and time do not scale in the same way, so conformal (and Lorentz) invariance is broken. This is the case of the so-called Lifshitz fixed points, characterized by a *dynamical critical exponent z*, which determines the anisotropic scaling in the time direction t

$$t \to \lambda^z t, \, x_i \to \lambda x_i, \, i = 1, ..., d \,, \tag{7.1}$$

being x_i the *d* spatial dimensions of the (d+1)-spacetime in which the field theory under consideration is defined. The class of (d+2)-dimensional dual spacetime geometries with the appropriate symmetries can be written, in some coordinate system, as [261, 287, 410]

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{L^{2}}{r^{2z}}dt^{2} + \frac{L^{2}}{r^{2}}\left[dr^{2} + d\vec{x}_{(d)}^{2}\right], \qquad (7.2)$$

which reduces to AdS_{d+2} in the Poincaré patch for z = 1. Embedding solutions of this kind (and others which asymptote to them) into gravity and String Theory models and studying their properties in the holographic framework has been subject of study in numerous previous works (see, e.g. [24, 60, 125, 134, 163, 213, 217, 225, 230]), and remains an active area of research.

A further generalization can be achieved by considering the following family of spacetime metrics [131]

$$ds^{2} = L^{2} r^{\frac{2(\theta-d)}{d}} \left[-r^{-2(z-1)} dt^{2} + dr^{2} + d\vec{x}_{(d)}^{2} \right].$$
(7.3)

These geometries (which are conformally Lifshitz) include, in addition to z, another exponent, customarily named θ , and are characterized by the following transformation rules under rescalings of the coordinates

$$t \to \lambda^z t, x_i \to \lambda x_i, r \to \lambda r, ds^2 \to \lambda^{\frac{2\theta}{d}} ds^2.$$
 (7.4)

A system whose thermal entropy scales as $S_{\text{th.}} \sim T^d$ is said to possess a hyperscaling behaviour. When the dynamical exponent is present, this scaling gets modified to $S_{\text{th.}} \sim T^{\frac{d}{z}}$. It can be seen that in field theories with the kind of scaling defined by (7.4), thermal entropy scales in turn as $S_{\text{th.}} \sim T^{\frac{d-\theta}{z}}$ [213, 246], and so, from the thermodynamic point of view, $d - \theta$ acts as the effective number of space-like dimensions of the system [246]. The fact that $S_{\text{th.}}$ does not scale with its naive power of the temperature corresponds therefore to a violation of the hyperscaling behaviour [178, 246] (the hyperscaling case being obviously $\theta = 0$)¹, and the above class of metrics has been consequently named hyperscaling-violating Lifshitz metrics (hvLf in short). Although the $r^{\frac{2\theta}{d}}$ factor spoils dimensional analysis in (7.3), this can be easily restored by including an additional scale r_F : $r^{\frac{2\theta}{d}} \to (r/r_F)^{\frac{2\theta}{d}}$, which we will often fix to 1 henceforth.

So far, hvLf metrics (7.3) with $\theta \neq 0$ have only been found in solutions to Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton-type effective actions of the form $[6,98,131,146,165,166,179,199,203,250,274,286,350,360]^2$,

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G_N} \int \sqrt{|g|} \left\{ R + \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi - Z(\phi) F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} - 2\Lambda - V(\phi) \right\} .$$
(7.5)

In the first part of this chapter, we are going to show how to construct systematically solutions of ungauged supergravity (theories which do not fit, in general, in the action (7.5)) whose metrics are, or approach in certain limits, hvLf metrics with certain values of z and θ . The first of our constructions makes use of the FGK formalism originally developed to study static, spherically symmetric, asymptotically flat, black hole solutions of 4-dimensional ungauged supergravity theories [173], and we start by reviewing this formalism in Section 7.2. We will then generalize the FGK formalism to metrics which are not spherically symmetric. The main result is that there are (at least) two cases in which the equations of motion of the metric function and scalar fields are identical to those of the spherically symmetric one. Thus, one can use the solutions of the standard black hole case and construct solutions with entirely different spacetime metrics.

In section 7.3 we study the behaviour of the new solutions in the neighborhood of the values of the radial coordinate corresponding, in the original solution, to the inner and outer horizons, spatial infinity and the curvature singularity. We will find hvLf metrics in

¹From the holographic perspective, this would correspond to the entropy of a black brane whose spacetime metric asymptotes to one of these solutions [250].

 $^{^{2}}$ Although in some cases these actions are embedded in string theory or supergravity [9, 162, 220, 343, 361]

some of these limits. In Section 7.4 we investigate how hvLf metrics arise in other limits of more standard metrics and propose other procedures to construct, in particular, supersymmetric hvLf spacetimes by *smearing* extremal supersymmetric black hole solutions of 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity. In Section 7.3 we briefly discuss the generalization of these results to higher dimensions. A brief discussion of our results can be found in Section ?? and the appendix contains a summary of properties of hvLf metrics.

7.2 The generalized FGK formalism

Following Ref. [173] we consider the action

$$I = \int d^4x \sqrt{|g|} \left\{ R + \mathcal{G}_{ij}(\phi) \partial_\mu \phi^i \partial^\mu \phi^j + +2\Im \mathcal{M}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Lambda}{}_{\mu\nu} F^{\Sigma\,\mu\nu} - 2\Re \mathcal{M}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Lambda}{}_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\Sigma\,\mu\nu} \right\}$$
(7.6)

where $\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ is the complex scalar-dependent (*period*) matrix. The bosonic sector of any ungauged supergravity theory in 4 dimensions can be put in this form. The number of scalars labeled by i, j, \cdots and of vector field labeled by Λ, Σ, \cdots , the scalar metric \mathcal{G}_{ij} and the period matrix $\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}$ depend on the particular theory under consideration.

Since we want to obtain static solutions, we consider the metric

$$ds^{2} = e^{2U}dt^{2} - e^{-2U}\gamma_{mn}dx^{\underline{m}}dx^{\underline{n}}, \qquad (7.7)$$

where $\gamma_{\underline{mn}}$ is a 3-dimensional (*transverse*) Riemannian metric to be specified later. Using Eq. (7.7) and the assumption of staticity of all the fields, we perform a dimensional reduction over time in the equations of motion that follow from the above general action. We obtain a set of reduced equations of motion that we can write in the form³

$$\nabla_{\underline{m}} \left(\mathcal{G}_{AB} \partial^{\underline{m}} \tilde{\phi}^B \right) - \frac{1}{2} \partial_A \mathcal{G}_{BC} \partial_{\underline{m}} \tilde{\phi}^B \partial^{\underline{m}} \tilde{\phi}^C = 0.$$
(7.8)

$$R_{\underline{mn}} + \mathcal{G}_{AB} \partial_{\underline{m}} \tilde{\phi}^A \partial_{\underline{n}} \tilde{\phi}^B = 0.$$
(7.9)

$$\partial_{[\underline{m}}\psi^{\Lambda}\partial_{\underline{n}]}\chi_{\Lambda} = 0, \qquad (7.10)$$

where all the tensor quantities refer to the 3-dimensional metric $\gamma_{\underline{mn}}$ and we have defined the metric \mathcal{G}_{AB}

$$\mathcal{G}_{AB} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 2 & & \\ & \mathcal{G}_{ij} & \\ & & 4e^{-2U}\mathcal{M}_{MN} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (7.11)$$

in the extended manifold of coordinates $\tilde{\phi}^A = (U, \phi^i, \psi^\Lambda, \chi_\Lambda)$, where

$$(\mathcal{M}_{MN}) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} (\mathfrak{I} + \mathfrak{R}\mathfrak{I}^{-1}\mathfrak{R})_{\Lambda\Sigma} & -(\mathfrak{R}\mathfrak{I}^{-1})_{\Lambda}{}^{\Sigma} \\ -(\mathfrak{I}^{-1}\mathfrak{R})^{\Lambda}{}_{\Sigma} & (\mathfrak{I}^{-1})^{\Lambda\Sigma} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathfrak{R}_{\Lambda\Sigma} \equiv \mathfrak{Re}\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}, \quad \mathfrak{I}_{\Lambda\Sigma} \equiv \mathfrak{Sm}\mathcal{N}_{\Lambda\Sigma}.$$

$$(7.12)$$

Eqs. (7.8) and (7.9) can be obtained from a three-dimensional effective action

$$I = \int d^3x \sqrt{|\gamma|} \left\{ R + \mathcal{G}_{AB} \partial_{\underline{m}} \tilde{\phi}^A \partial^{\underline{m}} \tilde{\phi}^B \right\} , \qquad (7.13)$$

³See Ref. [173] for more details on this reduction.

but we still need to add the constraint Eq. (7.10).

If we now decide to consider spherically-symmetric transverse metrics only, as it is appropriate to describe single, static black holes, we can choose, as in Ref. [173]

$$\gamma_{\underline{mn}} dx^{\underline{m}} dx^{\underline{n}} = \frac{d\tau^2}{W_{-1}^4} + \frac{d\Omega_{-1}^2}{W_{-1}^2}, \qquad (7.14)$$

where W_{-1} is a function of the (inverse) radial coordinate τ to be determined and

$$d\Omega_{-1}^2 \equiv d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta \, d\phi^2 \,, \tag{7.15}$$

is the metric of the round 2-sphere of unit radius. With this choice, Eq. (7.10) is automatically solved, the equation of $W_{-1}(\tau)$ can be integrated completely, giving

$$W_{-1}(\tau) = \frac{\sinh(r_0\tau)}{r_0},$$
(7.16)

and we are left with just

$$\frac{d}{d\tau} \left(\mathcal{G}_{AB} \frac{d\tilde{\phi}^B}{d\tau} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \partial_A \mathcal{G}_{BC} \frac{d\tilde{\phi}^B}{d\tau} \frac{d\tilde{\phi}^C}{d\tau} = 0, \qquad (7.17)$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{BC}\frac{d\phi^B}{d\tau}\frac{d\phi^C}{d\tau} = 2r_0^2. \qquad (7.18)$$

The integration constant r_0 is the *non-extremality parameter*: when r_0 vanishes, the metric describes extremal black holes (if the solution satisfies the necessary regularity conditions).

The electrostatic and magnetostatic potentials $\psi^{\Lambda}, \chi_{\Lambda}$ only appear through their τ -derivatives. The associated conserved quantities are the magnetic and electric charges p^{Λ}, q_{Λ} and can be used to eliminate completely the potentials. The remaining equations of motion can be put in the convenient form

$$U'' + e^{2U}V_{\rm bh} = 0, \qquad (7.19)$$

$$(U')^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{G}_{ij}\phi^{i}\phi^{j} + e^{2U}V_{\rm bh} = r_{0}^{2}, \qquad (7.20)$$

$$(\mathcal{G}_{ij}\phi^{j\prime})' - \frac{1}{2}\partial_i\mathcal{G}_{jk}\phi^{j\prime}\phi^{k\prime} + e^{2U}\partial_iV_{\rm bh} = 0, \qquad (7.21)$$

in which the primes indicate differentiation with respect to τ and the so-called *black-hole* potential $V_{\rm bh}$ is given by⁴

$$-V_{\rm bh}(\phi,\mathcal{Q}) \equiv -\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{Q}^M \mathcal{Q}^N \mathcal{M}_{MN}, \qquad (\mathcal{Q}^M) \equiv \begin{pmatrix} p^\Lambda \\ q_\Lambda \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.22)

Eqs. (7.19) and (7.21) can be derived from the effective action

$$I_{\rm eff}[U,\phi^i] = \int d\tau \left\{ (U')^2 + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{G}_{ij} \phi^{i\prime} \phi^{j\prime} - e^{2U} V_{\rm bh} \right\} \,. \tag{7.23}$$

 $^{^{4}}$ As in Ref. [190], we adopt the sign of the black-hole potential opposite to most of the literature on black-hole attractors, conforming instead to the conventions of Lagrangian mechanics.

Eq. (7.20) is nothing but the conservation of the Hamiltonian (due to absence of explicit τ -dependence of the Lagrangian) but with a particular value of the integration constant (r_0^2) .

A fair number of solutions of this system for different theories of 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity coupled to vector supermultiplets are known (see *e.g.* Ref. [190, 331]). They describe single, charged, static, spherically-symmetric, asymptotically-flat, non-extremal black holes which generalize the Reissner-Nordström solution and have two horizons that coincide when the non-extremality parameter r_0 vanishes. The metric covers the exterior of the outer (event) horizon when the (*inverse*) radial coordinate⁵ τ takes values in the interval $(-\infty, 0)$, whose limits are, respectively, the event horizon and spatial infinity. The interior of the inner (Cauchy) horizon corresponds to the interval $(\tau_s, +\infty)$, whose limits are, respectively, the singularity and the inner horizon.

We may also be interested in spacetime metrics which are not spherically symmetric, in which case we have to use a different transverse metric. In principle, these metrics are not appropriate to describe isolated, static black holes but here we are ultimately interested in Lifshitz metrics with a transverse metric invariant under the 2-dimensional Euclidean group, Thus, we can take, for instance, the following simple generalization of the spherically-symmetric transverse metric Eq. (7.14):

$$\gamma_{\underline{mn}} dx^{\underline{m}} dx^{\underline{n}} = \frac{d\tau^2}{W_{\kappa}^4} + \frac{d\Omega_{\kappa}^2}{W_{\kappa}^2}, \qquad (7.24)$$

where W_{κ} is a function of τ and $d\Omega_{\kappa}^2$ is the metric of the 2-dimensional symmetric space of curvature κ and unit radius:

$$d\Omega_{-1}^2 \equiv d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta \, d\phi^2 \,, \tag{7.25}$$

$$d\Omega_{+1}^2 \equiv d\theta^2 + \sinh^2\theta \, d\phi^2 \,, \tag{7.26}$$

$$d\Omega_0^2 \equiv d\theta^2 + d\phi^2. \tag{7.27}$$

In these three cases the equation for $W_{\kappa}(\tau)$ can be integrated and the results are

$$W_{-1} = \frac{\sinh r_0 \tau}{r_0}, \qquad (7.28)$$

$$W_1 = \frac{\cosh r_0 \tau}{r_0} \,, \tag{7.29}$$

$$W_0^{\pm} = a e^{\mp r_0 \tau} , \qquad (7.30)$$

where a is a real arbitrary constant with dimensions of inverse length.

It turns out that if we follow now for the $\kappa = 0, +1$ cases the procedure described above for the $\kappa = -1$ case we arrive to exactly the same system of equations (7.19)-(7.21) and, therefore, to the same effective action Eq. (7.83). It follows that all the solutions for (U, ϕ^i) obtained in the spherically-symmetric case $\kappa = -1$ are also solutions for the

⁵Observe that τ has dimensions of inverse length, since r_0 has, conventionally, dimensions of length.

 $\kappa = 0, +1$ cases as well. In other words: every solution of the system of equations (7.19)-(7.21) provides us with four different solutions of the original theory, by simply using the four different transverse metrics.

Since, as mentioned above, there exists a number of solutions of those equations that describe single, static, asymptotically-flat non-extremal black holes when we take $\kappa = -1$ [190, 324, 331], we can simply take those solutions and study them setting $\kappa = 0$ or +1 in the transverse metric. Observe that one integration constant has been fixed to normalized the metric at spatial infinity, something we may not need to do in the $\kappa = 0, +1$ cases, but the normalization could be changed at any moment, if necessary.

In what follows we are going to study the asymptotic behaviour of generic solutions (U, ϕ^i) , normalized to describe single, static, asymptotically-flat non-extremal black holes for $\kappa = -1$ when we take the transverse metric with $\kappa = 0$.

7.3 Solutions with Lifshitz-like asymptotics

Since we are going to use the metric functions e^{-2U} corresponding to charged, sphericallysymmetric, asymptotically-flat, non-extremal black-hole solutions, we start by reviewing their asymptotic behaviors at the outer (+) and inner (-) horizons⁶ (placed, respectively, at $\tau = -\infty$ and $\tau = +\infty$) and at spatial infinity $\tau = 0$.

• The standard normalization of these asymptotically-flat black holes requires that

$$\lim_{\tau \to 0^{-}} e^{-2U} = 1.$$
 (7.31)

• When τ approaches the two horizons, $\tau \to \mp \infty$, the metric function behaves as

$$e^{-2U} \sim \frac{S_{\pm}}{4\pi r_0^2} e^{\pm 2r_0 \tau},$$
(7.32)

where S_{\pm} (resp. S_{\pm}) is the entropy of the outer (resp. inner) horizon, which is assumed to be non-vanishing (which is equivalent to require regularity of the blackhole solution). If we use the spherically-symmetric transverse metric the spacetime metric approaches in these limits a product of a Rindler metric and a 2-sphere of area $4S_{\pm}$. Studying the Rindler metric by conventional methods one finds that the temperatures of the horizons T_{\pm} obey the Smarr-like relation [204]

$$r_0 = 2S_{\pm}T_{\pm} \,. \tag{7.33}$$

• e^{-2U} vanishes for some value of $\tau_{\rm s} \in (0, +\infty)$ at which the physical singularity of the black-hole spacetime lies. We may also want to study the behaviour of e^{-2U} near this value of τ but we do not know of any general result on this respect. We will have to study each particular case separately.

To find new solutions, we are going to plug black-hole metric functions in the general static metric Eq. (7.7) with the transverse metric Eq. (7.24) with $\kappa = 0$, *i.e.* with Eq. (7.27) and Eq. (7.30). It is convenient to set $a = 1/r_0$ so no new length scale is introduced in the metric, which takes two possible forms:

$$ds_{(\pm)}^2 = e^{2U} dt^2 - e^{-2U} \left[e^{\pm 4r_0\tau} r_0^4 d\tau^2 + e^{\pm 2r_0\tau} r_0^2 \left(d\theta^2 + d\phi^2 \right) \right] .$$
(7.34)

⁶Uncharged, static black holes only have outer horizon. The discussion of the behaviour of the metric function in the interior of the inner horizon does not apply to them.

Asymptotic behaviour of $ds_{(-)}^2$: Using the general properties of the metric function e^{-2U} described above it is easy to see that in the limit $\tau \to -\infty$ this metric behaves as

$$ds_{(-)}^{2} \sim \frac{4\pi r_{0}^{2}}{S_{+}} e^{2r_{0}\tau} dt^{2} - \frac{S_{+}}{4\pi r_{0}^{2}} e^{-2r_{0}\tau} \left[e^{-4r_{0}\tau} r_{0}^{4} d\tau^{2} + e^{-2r_{0}\tau} r_{0}^{2} \left(d\theta^{2} + d\phi^{2} \right) \right] .$$
(7.35)

The change of coordinates

$$r \equiv e^{-r_0 \tau}, \qquad \tilde{t} \equiv \frac{4\pi r_0^2}{S_+} t/r_0, \qquad x^1 \equiv \theta, \qquad x^2 \equiv \phi, \qquad (7.36)$$

brings the metric to the form

$$ds_{(-)}^2 \sim \frac{S_+}{4\pi} r^4 \left[r^{-6} d\tilde{t}^2 - dr^2 - dx^i dx^i \right] , \qquad (7.37)$$

which is a hvLf metric of the form Eq. (7.3) with z = 4, $\theta = 6$ and radius

$$\ell \sim r_0 \,, \tag{7.38}$$

up to dimensionless factors (functions of the quotient S_+/r_0^2); observe that this asymptotic hvLf space lies in the class of Ricci flat hvLf spaces in Eq. (E.8).

The metric $ds_{(-)}^2$ is regular at $\tau = 0$. Spatial infinity is not there because the radial distance between points with $\tau = 0$ and points with $\tau < 0$ is finite and not infinite, as in the black-hole case. For τ equal to a certain τ_s , $e^{-2U} = 0$ and the metric will be singular, as in the black-hole case. Finally, in the $\tau \to +\infty$ limit the metric is the product of Rindler spacetime times \mathbb{R}^2 , which can be understood as a flat event horizon with the same temperature as that of the inner horizon of the associated black-hole solution.

Asymptotic behaviour of $ds_{(+)}^2$: The analysis is completely analogous to the previous case: in the limit $\tau \to -\infty$ we find a flat event horizon whose temperature is that of the outer horizon of the associated black hole, there is a singularity at $\tau = \tau_s$ and a hyperscaling Lifshitz metric in the $\tau \to +\infty$ limit. The Lifshitz radius is, once again, $\ell = r_0$.

7.3.1 Examples

The Schwarzschild black hole: This is the only uncharged, static, spherically-symmetric, black-hole solution of the class of theories we are considering and has only one horizon (the event horizon) at (conventionally) $\tau \to -\infty$ in these coordinates, which only cover the exterior. The metric function for the Schwarzschild black hole in these coordinates is

$$e^{-2U} = e^{2M\tau} \,, \tag{7.39}$$

The spacetime metric $ds_{(-)}^2$ constructed with the Schwarzschild metric function takes the explicit form

$$ds_{(-)}^2 = e^{-2M\tau} dt^2 - e^{-2M\tau} M^4 d\tau^2 - M^2 \left(d\theta^2 + d\phi^2 \right) \,. \tag{7.40}$$

In the coordinates

$$e^{-M\tau}M \equiv r, \qquad (7.41)$$

it reads

$$ds_{(-)}^2 = r^2 d(t/M)^2 - dr^2 - M^2 \left(d\theta^2 + d\phi^2 \right) \,. \tag{7.42}$$

which is the product of a 2-dimensional Rindler spacetime $(\mathcal{R}i^2)$ with \mathbb{R}^2 . The temperature of the flat horizon would be that of the Schwarzschild black hole $T \sim M^{-1}$. Observe that this is not just the asymptotic behaviour of the metric: the metric is everywhere identically $\mathcal{R}i^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$. As is well-known, this metric is just a wedge of the Minkowski spacetime which can be recovered by analytical extension of this metric.

Observe that the above metric makes sense for $\tau \in (-\infty, +\infty)$ or $r \in (0, +\infty)$ since as discussed above, there is not spatial infinity at $\tau = 0$.

The metric $ds_{(+)}^2$ is in this case

$$ds_{(+)}^2 = e^{-2M\tau} dt^2 - e^{6M\tau} M^4 d\tau^2 - e^{4M\tau} M^2 \left(d\theta^2 + d\phi^2 \right) , \qquad (7.43)$$

and, in the coordinates

$$e^{M\tau} \equiv r \,, \tag{7.44}$$

it takes the form

$$ds_{(+)}^2 = r^{-2}d(t/M)^2 - r^4M^2dr^2 - r^4M^2\left(d\theta^2 + d\phi^2\right) = M^2r^4\left\{r^{-6}dt^2 - dr^2 - d\theta^2 - d\phi^2\right\},$$
(7.45)

which is the $z = 4, \theta = 6, \ell \sim M$ hvLf metric everywhere in the spacetime, and not just asymptotically. Yet again, this metric is defined for all values of τ or for all $r \in (0, +\infty)$.

The Reissner-Nordström black hole: The embedding of the Reissner-Nordström black hole in pure 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity (the supersymmetrization of the Einstein-Maxwell theory). The metric function of this solution in the τ coordinates is [190]

$$e^{-2U} = \left[\cosh r_0 \tau - \frac{M}{r_0} \sinh r_0 \tau\right]^2, \qquad r_0^2 \equiv M^2 - |\mathcal{Z}|^2, \qquad (7.46)$$

where

$$\mathcal{Z} = \frac{1}{2}p - iq, \qquad (7.47)$$

is the central charge of pure 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity in the chosen conventions.

It is evident that the asymptotic behaviour of the metrics $ds_{(\pm)}^2$ fits in the general case discussed above. Having the explicit form of the metric, we can also study the behaviour of the spacetime metric near the singularity at τ_s at which $e^{-2U}(\tau_s) = 0$. It is, however, easier to do it in the coordinates in which the metric function has the standard form

$$e^{-2U} = \frac{r^2}{(r-r_+)(r-r_-)}, \qquad r_{\pm} = M \pm r_0.$$
 (7.48)

The coordinate transformation that relates these two forms of the metric function is

$$r = -\left[\cosh r_0 \tau - \frac{M}{r_0} \sinh r_0 \tau\right] \left[\frac{\sinh r_0 \tau}{r_0}\right]^{-1}.$$
(7.49)

If we make this coordinate transformation in the full $ds_{(+)}^2$ metrics, they take the form

$$ds_{(\pm)}^2 = \frac{(r-r_+)(r-r_-)}{r^2} dt^2 - \frac{r_0^4 r^2}{(r-r_{\pm})(r-r_{\mp})^5} dr^2 - \frac{r_0^2 r^2}{(r-r_{\mp})^2} (d\theta^2 + d\phi^2) \,. \tag{7.50}$$

According to the general discussion, we should find the singularity in the extension of the metric beyond $\tau = 0$ to positive values of τ . This corresponds in these coordinates to values of r "beyond $r = +\infty$ ". Thus, we define the coordinate $u \equiv 1/r$ which overlaps with r for u > 0 and extends the metric for $u \leq 0$. In these coordinates the metric takes the form

$$ds_{(\pm)}^2 = (1 - r_{\pm}u)(1 - r_{-}u)dt^2 - \frac{r_0^4}{(1 - r_{\pm}u)(1 - r_{\mp}u)^5}dr^2 - \frac{r_0^2}{(1 - r_{\mp}u)^2}(d\theta^2 + d\phi^2), \quad (7.51)$$

and, in the $u \to -\infty$ limit it approaches the metric

$$ds_{(\pm)}^2 = r_+ r_- u^2 dt^2 - \frac{r_0^4}{r_\pm r_{\mp}^5 u^6} du^2 - \frac{r_0^2}{r_{\mp}^2 u^2} (d\theta^2 + d\phi^2) , \qquad (7.52)$$

which can be put in the hvLf form with $z = 3, \theta = 4$ (which implies $C(\theta, z) = 0$) with the coordinate change $r' \equiv 1/u$ using rescaled the coordinates $\tilde{t} \equiv r_{\pm}t/r_0^2$, $\rho \equiv r'/r_{\mp}$, $x^1 \equiv \sqrt{r_{\pm}r_{-}}/r_0\theta$, $x^2 \equiv \sqrt{r_{\pm}r_{-}}/r_0\phi$.

Observe that the two consecutive coordinate changes r = 1/u, u = 1/r' mean that we can get the same result taking the limit of the metric when r approaches r = 0 (which corresponds to the value $\tau = \tau_s$) "from the left". In fact, the same result is obtained if we take the near-singularity limit from the right.

Summarizing, the interior of the inner horizon region $r < r_{-}$ has, therefore, two boundaries, at $r = r_{-}$ and at r = 0. When the metric approaches $r = r_{-}$ from the left, the metric $ds^2_{(+)}$ approaches a hvLf metric with z = 4 and $\theta = 6$ and the metric $ds^2_{(-)}$ approaches $\mathcal{R}i^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, as we have seen before. When r approaches r = 0 the metric approaches a hvLf metric with $z = 3, \theta = 4$.

The fact that a hvLf metric can describe the near-singularity limit of a metric that has been obtained as a deformation of a regular black-hole metric is very suggestive. Observe that the deformed metric Eq. (7.50) differs from the standard Reissner-Nordström metric in factors of $(r - r_{\pm})$, which are irrelevant in the $r \to 0$ limit, and in the 2-dimensional metric $d\Omega_{\kappa}^2$ which has $\kappa = -1$ for the standard, spherically symmetric Reissner-Nordström black hole. In the next section we are going to see that there is a limit of the Reissner-Nordström black hole in which $d\Omega_{-1}^2$ approaches $d\Omega_0^2$. The nearsingularity limit of this Reissner-Nordström black hole will be described by a hvLf metric with $z = 3, \theta = 4$.

7.4 More hvLf metrics

In this subsection we want to discuss some other ways of obtaining hvLf spacetimes.

7.4.1 hvLf spaces from limiting procedures

A 2-sphere looks locally (in small enough patches) like a plane. Thus, we can flatten $d\Omega_{-1}^2$ by looking at a small neighborhood of $\theta = \pi/2$ and we can study near-horizon and near-singularity limits of standard, spherically-symmetric, black-hole solutions. The near-horizon limits will give, obviously, $\mathcal{R}i^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ metrics (or $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ metrics in the extremal cases).

Let us consider the near-singularity limit of the Reissner-Nordström black hole in a small patch around $\theta = \pi/2$:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{(r-r_{+})(r-r_{-})}{r^{2}}dt^{2} - \frac{r^{2}}{(r-r_{+})(r-r_{-})}dr^{2} - r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + d\phi^{2})$$

$$\sim \frac{r_{+}r_{-}}{r^{2}}dt^{2} - \frac{r^{2}}{r_{+}r_{-}}dr^{2} - r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + d\phi^{2}), \qquad (7.53)$$

which can can be put in the hvLf form with z = 3, $\theta = 4$ and $\ell = \sqrt{r_+r_-}$ with the coordinate change $r/\sqrt{r_+r_-} \to r$, $t/\sqrt{r_+r_-} \to t$.

We can also take the near-singularity limit of the Schwarzschild metric with negative mass in a neighborhood of $\theta=\pi/2$

$$ds^{2} = \left(1 + \frac{2|M|}{r}\right) dt^{2} - \left(1 + \frac{2|M|}{r}\right)^{-1} dr^{2} - r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + d\phi^{2})$$

$$\sim \frac{2|M|}{r} dt^{2} - \frac{r}{2|M|} dr^{2} - r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + d\phi^{2}), \qquad (7.54)$$

which can be put in the hvLf form with z = 4, $\theta = 6$ and $\ell = |M|/2$ with the coordinate change $2r/|M| \to \rho^2$, $4t/|M| \to t$.

7.4.2 Supersymmetric hvLf spaces from smearing

As was mentioned briefly in Section 7.2, the extremal limit $(r_0 \rightarrow 0)$ of the 4-dimensional metric describes a single static black hole and the natural question, one we have been ignoring, is what happens in the case $\kappa = 0$.

The first thing that changes is the asymptotic behaviour of e^{-2U} , which for an extremal black hole reads

$$\lim_{\tau \to -\infty} e^{-2U} = \frac{S}{\pi} \tau^2 , \qquad (7.55)$$

where S is the entropy of the black hole. The second thing is that the extremal limit of W_{κ}^{\pm} is just the constant a which has the dimension of inverse length, whence the 4-dimensional metric becomes

$$ds_0^2 = e^{2U} dt^2 - e^{-2U} \left[d(a^{-2}\tau)^2 + d\vec{x}^2 \right] , \qquad (7.56)$$

where we have defined $x^1 = \theta/a$ and $x^2 = \phi/a$. It is straightforward to see that in the region $\tau \to -\infty$ this leads to a hvLf space with $\theta = 4$ and z = 3. Similarly to what happens in the Schwarzschild black hole case in Section 7.3.1, one can see that the extremal RN black hole of electrical charge q, which has $e^{-U} = 1 - \frac{|q|}{\sqrt{2}}\tau$, is this asymptotic hvLf.

Now we are going to see that this solution is just a particular case of a very wide class of solutions with hvLf asymptotics.

One of the most interesting features of the extremal RN black hole is that it is supersymmetric in pure 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity. As is well known, the most general supersymmetric static solution of this theory can be written, using Cartesian coordinates in the transverse space $\vec{y}_3 \equiv (y^1, y^2, y^3)$ as

$$ds_{susy}^2 = e^{2U} dt^2 - e^{-2U} d\vec{y}_3^2 , \qquad (7.57)$$

where the metric function has the form⁷

$$e^{-2U} = \frac{1}{2} (H^0)^2 + 2(H_0)^2, \qquad (7.58)$$

where H_0 and H^0 are two real harmonic functions in the flat transverse space which satisfy the staticity constraint

$$H^{0}\partial_{m}H_{0} - H_{0}\partial_{m}H^{0} = 0, m = 1, 2, 3.$$
(7.59)

In these coordinates, the standard, spherically symmetric ($\kappa = -1$), purely electric extremal RN black hole corresponds to the choice of harmonic functions

$$H^0 = 0, \qquad H_0 = 1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{|q|}{|\vec{y}_3|}.$$
 (7.60)

However, other choices (usually discarded when one is only interested in black holes) are possible and are also supersymmetric. For instance, one can consider harmonic functions that depend on only one of the transverse coordinates, say $y^3 \equiv \rho$. This corresponds, physically, to the smearing of the spherically-symmetric solution in the (y^1, y^2) plane and, mathematically, to the substitution of the factor 1/r by ρ in all the harmonic functions of the spherically-symmetric solution. The staticity constraint Eq. (7.59) is automatically satisfied is it was in the spherically-symmetric solution.

From the the extremal RN solution, this choice gives the new *smeared* solution

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{2}(H_{0})^{-2}dt^{2} - 2(H_{0})^{2} \left[d\rho^{2} + dy^{i}dy^{i}\right] , \qquad H_{0} = 1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}|q|\rho , \qquad (7.61)$$

and this solution is identical to the $\kappa = 0$ solution in Eq. (7.56)⁸ with $\tau = -\rho$. Furthermore, the $z \to \infty$ limit, which gives the $\theta = 3$, z = 4 hvLf space corresponds to the choice

$$H_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |q| \rho \,, \tag{7.62}$$

and, therefore, it is an exact, supersymmetric solution.

Once this connection between hvLf metrics and smeared supersymmetric black holes of 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity has been established, we can systematically construct supersymmetric hvLf metrics using the well-known systematic procedure to construct all the supersymmetric black hole solutions of any 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity coupled to vector supermultiplets [37, 159, 301, 320] and choosing harmonic functions that depend on only one coordinate in transverse space. The $\rho \to \infty$ limit is the same in all the cases (namely a $\theta = 3$, z = 4 hvLf spacetime), provided that the original, spherically-symmetric solution has a regular near-horizon limit. The scalar fields, which have non-trivial profiles in the smeared solutions, become constant in the $\rho \to \infty$ limits, just as they do in the black-hole near-horizon limits.

There are, however, more possibilities, if we start from supersymmetric black holes with singular horizon. A good example is provided by the supersymmetric D0-D4 black

⁷We use the conventions of Ref. [190].

⁸Observe that, in the non-extremal case, we cannot view the $\kappa = 0$ solutions as the smearing of $\kappa = -1$ solutions.

holes embedded in the STU model $[35, 49, 164]^9$. After the smearing, the three complex scalars Z^i , i = 1, 2, 3 and metric function of these solutions are given by

$$Z^{i} = -4ie^{2U}H_{0}H^{i}, (7.63)$$

$$e^{-2U} = 4\sqrt{H_0 H^1 H^2 H^3}, \qquad (7.64)$$

where the four harmonic functions H_0, H^1, H^2, H^3 are

$$H_{0} = s_{0} \left\{ a_{0} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{|q_{0}|}{|\vec{y}_{3}|} \right\},$$

$$H^{i} = s^{(i)} \left\{ a^{(i)} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{|p^{(i)}|}{|\vec{y}_{3}|} \right\},$$
(7.65)

where a_0, a^i are constants related to the asymptotic $(r \to \infty)$ values of the scalars, q_0, p^i are electric and magnetic charges and s_0, s^i are the signs of those charges. Only two sets of signs of charges lead to supersymmetric and regular black holes: all charges positive or negative. In particular, none of these charges can vanish.

The associated smeared solutions are given by Eqs. (7.63) and (7.64) with the harmonic functions given by

$$H_0 = s_0 \{a_0 + b_0 \rho\},$$

$$H^i = s^{(i)} \{a^{(i)} + b^{(i)} \rho\}.$$
(7.66)

The constants b_0, b^i , which we can take to be positive, are related to electric and magnetic fluxes. The staticity condition Eq. (7.59) is satisfied for any values of the constants and, in particular, we can take any number of them to vanish.

When all the b_0, b^i constants are different from zero, we can take all the a_0, a^i to vanish or take the $\rho \to \infty$ limit. In both cases $e^{-2U} = 4\sqrt{b_0 b^1 b^2 b^3} \rho^2$ and we get a $\theta = 3$, z = 4 hvLf spacetime with constant scalars.

When one of them (b_0 , for instance) vanishes we must keep $a_0 \neq 0$, and we get

$$Z^{i} = -i \frac{a_{0}b^{i}}{\sqrt{a_{0}b^{1}b^{2}b^{3}}} \rho^{-1/2}, \qquad e^{-2U} = 4\sqrt{a_{0}b^{1}b^{2}b^{3}}\rho^{7/2}$$
(7.67)

which is a $\theta = 7/2$, z = 5/2 hvLf spacetime, now with non-trivial scalars. Other choices of vanishing constant b lead to different scalar profiles by the same θ and z.

It is easy to see that, for $n = 0, \dots, 4$ non-vanishing constants b, one gets a hvLf spacetime with $\theta = 2 + n/2$ and z = 1 + n/2 and various scalar profiles. Perhaps not surprisingly $C_{(\theta,z)} = (4-n)/n$ and only vanishes for n = 4.

7.4.3 Higher dimensional generalization

In ref. [321] the FGK formalism was Generalised to higher dimensional cases, and it is only natural to consider the higher dimensional generalizations of the results presented in the

⁹Again, we use the notation and conventions of Ref. [190] where the details can be found.

foregoing sections, starting off by the ones in Section 7.2: the D-dimensional generalization of the FGK metric reads

$$ds^{2} = e^{2U}dt^{2} - e^{-\frac{2}{d-1}U} \left[\frac{d\rho^{2}}{(d-1)^{2} W_{\kappa}^{2d/(d-1)}} + \frac{\mathsf{h}_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j}}{W_{\kappa}^{2/(d-1)}} \right],$$
(7.68)

where h is the metric of a *d*-dimensional Riemannian Einstein space; this metric is normalized such that

$$R(h)_{ij} = (d-1) \kappa h_{ij} .$$
(7.69)

The normalization is such that a *d*-sphere with the round metric has $\kappa = -1$.

A so-so calculation then shows that the conditions for the resulting FGK equations of motion to be κ as well as W_{κ} independent, are

$$W_{\kappa} \ddot{W}_{\kappa} - \dot{W}_{\kappa}^2 = \kappa \quad \text{and} \quad \ddot{W}_{\kappa} = \mathcal{B}^2 W_{\kappa};$$

$$(7.70)$$

 \mathcal{B} plays the rôle of the *D*-dimensional non-extremality constant which on dimensional grounds can be written as r_0^{d-1} . The solutions to the conditions (7.70) are

$$W_{-1} = \frac{\sinh(\mathcal{B}\rho)}{\mathcal{B}}$$
, $W_0^{\pm} = a e^{\mp \mathcal{B}\rho}$ and $W_1 = \frac{\cosh(\mathcal{B}\rho)}{\mathcal{B}}$. (7.71)

By looking at the, in general, fractional powers of W that appear in the metric (7.68), we see that in contradistinction to the 4-dimensional case, the putative horizon lies at $\rho \to \infty$ which means that the near-horizon behaviour for a non-extremal black hole implies

$$\lim_{\rho \to \infty} e^U \sim e^{-\mathcal{B}\rho} . \tag{7.72}$$

The above means that given a solution to a *D*-dimensional FGK system, we can as before deform the $\kappa = -1$ solution as in Section 7.2, and obtain new solutions with properties similar to the ones encountered in the foregoing sections. For example, concerning the $\rho \to \infty$ behaviour of the metric we see that

The W_0^+ case: In this case the $\rho \to \infty$ spacetime is hvLf with

$$\theta = \frac{d(d+1)}{d-1} \quad \text{and} \quad z = \frac{2d}{d-1},$$
(7.73)

which, as one can see from Eq. (E.8), corresponds to the Ricci flat hvLf spaces.

The W_0^- **case:** Together with the condition (7.72), we see that the resulting $\rho \to \infty$ spacetime is a Rindler wedge times \mathbb{R}^d .

In the $\kappa = -1$ case, the validity of the ρ -coordinate, *i.e.* $\rho \in [0, \infty)$ is principally determined by W_{-1} and one imposes conditions on e^U in order to obtain metrics describing the spacetime outside the outer horizon. In particular, the zero of W_{-1} at $\rho = 0$, together with the regularity of e^U there, allows for the identification of $\rho = 0$ with asymptotic spacetime. W_0 is, however, an all-together different beast and the naive validity of the coordinate, *i.e.* $\rho \in [0, \infty)$, can be extended till one encounters a zero or a pole in e^U ; the former signaling a horizon, the latter a singularity. Let us illustrate this point with The 5-dimensional STU model: The FGK equations for the 5-dimensional STU model are completely separable, whence the full analytical solution is known. The general solution satisfying Eq. (7.72) and having constant scalars in the limit $\rho \to \infty$ is given by (see *e.g.* [323, 331])

$$e^{-3U} = \frac{|\mathbf{q}_1 \mathbf{q}_2 \mathbf{q}_3|}{\mathcal{B}^3} \sinh(\alpha_1 + \mathcal{B}\rho) \sinh(\alpha_2 + \mathcal{B}\rho) \sinh(\alpha_3 + \mathcal{B}\rho) , \qquad (7.74)$$

where the q are the electrical charges and the α 's are some real constants; in the $\kappa = -1$ case they are chosen such that $U(\rho = 0) = 1$ and one obtains a Minkowski space with the regular normalization. In the $\kappa = 0$ case, however, the point $\rho = 0$ is not asymptotic and there is therefore no need to impose said condition on the α 's. In fact, let $0 < \alpha_1 \leq \alpha_2 \leq \alpha_3$, then we can extend the definition of ρ to the point $\rho_s = -\alpha_1/\beta$, where we have added a subscript to highlight the fact that at that point we're facing a curvature singularity.

As in Section 7.3.1 we can consider the near-singularity metric: in general we will find a hvLf space and the characteristic parameters (θ, z) will depend on the order of the zero of e^{-3U} in Eq. (7.74). Denoting this number by **p**, whence **p** = 1, 2 or 3,¹⁰ we see that the near-singularity hvLf is given by

$$\theta = 3 + \frac{\mathsf{p}}{2}$$
, $z = 1 + \frac{\mathsf{p}}{2}$ whence $C_{(\theta,z)} = \frac{2(3-\mathsf{p})}{\mathsf{p}} \ge 0$, (7.75)

and, furthermore, the null energy condition (E.7) is always satisfied.

In higher dimensions we can also construct hvLf solutions by smearing extremal, supersymmetric black-hole solutions. The procedure is entirely similar to the one followed in four dimensions.

In a higher-dimensional context, it is natural to consider the following brane-like generalization of the hvLf metric (7.3)

$$ds_{d+2}^{2} = \ell^{2} r^{-2(d-\theta)/d} \left[r^{-2(z-1)} \left(dt^{2} - dy^{a} dy^{a} \right) - dr^{2} - dx^{i} dx^{i} \right], \quad a = 1, \cdots, p, \quad i = 1, \cdots d$$
(7.76)

The p = 0 case is the original hvLf metric and a metric with d = 0 and $p \neq 0$ can be rewritten as a $p = 0, d \neq 0$ by a coordinate change.

It should come as no surprise that we can obtain metrics of this kind by smearing extremal supersymmetric p-brane metrics. As an example, consider the 10-dimensional Dp-brane solutions in the Einstein frame

$$ds^{2} = H^{\frac{p-7}{8}} [dt^{2} - d\vec{y}_{p}^{2}] - H^{\frac{p+1}{8}} d\vec{x}_{8-p}^{2},$$

$$C_{(p+1)ty^{1}\cdots y^{p}} = \pm e^{-\phi_{0}} (H^{-1} - 1), \qquad (7.77)$$

$$e^{-2\phi} = e^{-2\phi_{0}} H^{\frac{p-3}{2}}.$$

In all cases, we can take¹¹

$$H \sim \rho \,, \tag{7.78}$$

¹⁰ To wit: $\mathbf{p} = 1$ implies $\alpha_2 > \alpha_1$, $\mathbf{p} = 2$ means $\alpha_3 > \alpha_2 = \alpha_1$ and $\mathbf{p} = 3$ means $\alpha_3 = \alpha_2 = \alpha_1$. Let us in passing observe that the case $\mathbf{p} = 3$ corresponds to the deformation of the 5-dimensional Reissner-Nordström black hole.

¹¹In the p = 8 case there is no smearing involved, since there is only one transverse dimension.

and put the metric in the form

$$ds^{2} \sim \rho^{\frac{p+1}{8}} \left\{ \rho^{-1} [dt^{2} - d\vec{y}_{p}^{2}] - d\rho^{2} - d\vec{x}_{8-p}^{2} \right\},$$

$$C_{(p+1)ty^{1}\cdots y^{p}} = \sim \rho^{-1},$$

$$e^{-2\phi} \sim \rho^{\frac{p-3}{2}},$$
(7.79)

which is of the above form with p = p, z = 3/2 and $\theta = (8 - p)(p + 17)/16$ for p < 8. The case p = 0 (the D0-brane) is a standard hvLf metric with d = 8, $\theta = 8.5$ and z = 3/2, which satisfies the null energy condition (E.7) but does not avoid the null curvature singularity in the IR region ($\rho \to \infty$). The string coupling constant reads $e^{\phi} = r^{3/4}$, which goes to zero in the UV. The case p = 8, after a change of coordinates $\rho \equiv \rho^{3/2}$ is also a standard hvLf metric (p = 0) with d = 8, $\theta = 25/3$ and z = 1 which also satisfies the null energy condition (E.7) but is singular in the IR region ($r \to \infty$).

7.5 HvLf solutions in gauged supergravity

Let us now extend the previous analysis to a general class of gravity theories coupled to scalars and vectors, up to two derivatives, in the presence of a scalar potential, in principle arbitrary. We will focus later on 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity in the presence of Fayet-Iliopoulos terms.

In section (7.6) we dimensionally reduce the general action of gravity coupled to an arbitrary number of scalars and vectors in the presence of a scalar potential assuming a general static background which naturally fits the anisotropic scaling properties which correspond to hvLf-like solutions. In section (7.7) we adapt the general formalism to the Einstein-Maxwell-Dilaton system. In section (7.8) we focus on 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity in the presence of Fayet-Iliopoulos terms (which produce the appearence of a scalar potential in the corresponding supergravity), were we exploit the symplectic structure of the theory in order to obtain further results. We also embed a particular truncation of the t^3 -model in Type-IIB String Theory compactified on a Sasaki-Einstein manifold times S^1 . In section (7.9) we perform an analysis of the properties of purely hvLfsolutions for the general class of theories considered. In addition, we provide a general recip to obtain hvLf-like solutions of a particular class of Einstein-Maxwell-Dilaton systems, reducing the problem to the resolution of an algebraic equation. We apply the procedure to obtain explicit solutions, some of them embedded in String Theory.

7.6 The general theory

We are interested in Lifshitz-like solutions with hyperscaling violation (hvLf of the fourdimensional action

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{|g|} \left\{ R + \mathcal{G}_{ij} \partial_\mu \phi^i \partial^\mu \phi^j + 2I_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^\Lambda{}_{\mu\nu} F^{\Sigma\,\mu\nu} - 2R_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^\Lambda{}_{\mu\nu} \star F^{\Sigma\,\mu\nu} - V(\phi) \right\},$$
(7.80)

that generalizes the action considered in Ref. [173, 190] by including a generic scalar potential $V(\phi)$. We will take care of the constraints imposed by $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry on the field content, the kinetic matrices $(I_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi) < 0, R_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi))$, the scalar metric $\mathcal{G}_{ij}(\phi)$ and the scalar potential $V(\phi)$ later on.

The idea now is to dimensionally reduce the action (7.80) using an appropriate ansatz for the metric. Since hvLf solutions are in particular static, a first step is to constrain the form of the metric to be

$$ds^{2} = e^{2U}dt^{2} - e^{-2U}\gamma_{\underline{m}\,\underline{n}}dx^{\underline{m}}dx^{\underline{m}}, \quad \underline{m}, \underline{n} = 1, \dots, 3,$$

$$(7.81)$$

A sensible choice for γ , that fits the anisotropic scaling properties that we look for in a hvLf solution, is given by

$$\gamma = \gamma_{\underline{m}\,\underline{n}} dx^{\underline{m}} dx^{\underline{m}} = e^{2W} \left(dr^2 + \delta_{ab} dx^a dx^b \right), \quad a, b = 1, 2, \qquad (7.82)$$

where e^W is an undetermined function of the "radial" coordinate r. We now proceed to dimensionally reduce the lagrangian (7.80) with the choice of metric given by Eqs. (7.81) and (7.82).

Assuming that all the fields are static, only depend on r, and following the same steps as in Refs. $[173, 321]^{12}$, one arrives to a set of equations of motion for the variables U(r), W(r), $\phi^i(r)$ that can be derived from the following effective action $(' = \frac{d}{dr})$

$$S = \int dr \, e^W \left\{ 2U'^2 - 2W'^2 + \mathcal{G}_{ij} \phi^{i\prime} \phi^{j\prime} - 2e^{2(U-W)} V_{\rm bh} + e^{-2(U-W)} V \right\} \,, \tag{7.83}$$

if we set the value of the Hamiltonian (which is conserved, due to the lack of explicit r-dependence of the Lagrangian) to zero, that is:

$$2U'^{2} - 2W'^{2} + \mathcal{G}_{ij}\phi^{i\prime}\phi^{j\prime} + 2e^{2(U-W)}V_{\rm bh} - e^{-2(U-W)}V = 0.$$
(7.84)

The one-dimensional effective equations of motion are given by

$$e^{-W} \left[e^{W} U' \right]' + e^{2(U-W)} V_{\rm bh} + \frac{1}{2} e^{-2(U-W)} V = 0, \quad (7.85)$$

$$e^{-W} \left[e^{W} \right]'' + e^{-2(U-W)} V = 0, \quad (7.86)$$

$$e^{-W} \left[e^{W} \mathcal{G}_{ij} \phi^{j'} \right]' - \frac{1}{2} \partial_i \mathcal{G}_{jk} \phi^{j'} \phi^{k'} + e^{2(U-W)} \partial_i V_{\rm bh} - \frac{1}{2} e^{-2(U-W)} \partial_i V = 0, \quad (7.87)$$

to which we have to add the Hamiltonian constraint (7.84). The kinetic term for the scalars, as well as the scalar potential $V(\phi)$ and the black hole potential $V_{bh}(\phi, Q)$, can be solely expressed in terms of U and W, i.e.,

$$V = -e^{2U-2W} [W'' + W'^{2}] ,$$

$$V_{\rm bh}(\phi, Q) = -\frac{1}{2}e^{2W-2U} [2U'' + 2U'W' - W'' - W'^{2}] ,$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij}\phi^{i}\phi^{j} = -2 [-U'' - U'W' + U'^{2} + W''] .$$
(7.88)

Eqs. (7.88) are useful in order to obtain, given a particular metric, the behavior of different quantities, like $V(\phi)$ and $V_{\rm bh}(\phi, Q)$, or ϕ^i for models with small enough number of scalars, in terms of the coordinate r. Of course, only metrics compatible with the equations of motion will yield consistent results.

¹²A related procedure, used to obtain non-extremal AdS_4 black hole solutions can be found in [284] and [285]. For related Refs. about solutions in gauged Supergravity see [28, 29].

7.6.1 Constant scalars: generalities

For constant scalars ϕ^i , the potential $V(\phi)$ and the black hole potential $V_{bh}(\phi, Q)$ become constant quantities, the former playing the role of a cosmological constant and the latter of a *generalized* squared charge, magnetic and electric. In the case of constant scalars, Eq. (7.87) is not identically satisfied, but it becomes the following constraint

$$e^{4(U-W)}\partial_i V_{\rm bh} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_i V.$$
(7.89)

We have two different options in order to fulfil Eq. (7.89).

Constant scalars as *double* critical points: $\partial_i V_{bh} = 0$, $\partial_i V = 0$. Of course, the system of equations given by

$$\partial_i V_{\rm bh} = 0, \quad \partial_i V = 0, \tag{7.90}$$

is overdetermined. However, let's assume that a consistent solution to (7.90) exists and is given by

$$\phi^{i} = \phi^{i}_{c} \left(\mathcal{Q}, \phi_{\infty} \right) \,, \tag{7.91}$$

i.e., the values of the scalars are fixed in terms of the electric and magnetic charges, and we have included a dependence on ϕ_{∞} to formally consider the existence of flat directions. We will see later on that, in fact, Eq. (7.90) happens in 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity. The equations of motion reduce to

$$e^{-W} \left[e^{W} U' \right]' + e^{2(U-W)} V_{\rm bh} + \frac{1}{2} e^{-2(U-W)} V = 0, \qquad (7.92)$$

$$e^{-W} \left[e^{W} \right]'' + e^{-2(U-W)} V = 0, \qquad (7.93)$$

together with the hamiltonian constraint

$$2U'^{2} - 2W'^{2} + 2e^{2(U-W)}V_{\rm bh} - e^{-2(U-W)}V = 0.$$
(7.94)

Metric functions identified: $e^U = \beta e^W$, $\beta \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and $2\beta^4 \partial_i V_{bh} = \partial_i V(\phi)$. In this case, the equations of motion imply

$$2\beta^4 \partial_i V_{\rm bh} = \partial_i V \,, \quad 2\beta^4 V_{\rm bh} = V \,. \tag{7.95}$$

Assuming Eqs. (7.95), there is a unique solution, which is precisely $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$. Eqs. (7.95) can be understood as necessary and sufficient conditions for a gravity theory coupled to scalars and vector fields, up to two derivatives, to contain an $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ solution. Therefore, given a particular theory of such kind, with a specific potential $V(\phi)$ and black hole potential $V_{\rm bh}(\phi)$, one only has to impose Eqs. (7.95) in order to check the existence of an $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ solution. The parameter β can be always found to be

$$\beta^4 = \frac{V}{2V_{\rm bh}},\tag{7.96}$$

and we are left with

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_i \log V_{\rm bh} = \partial_i \log V \,. \tag{7.97}$$

Eq. (7.97) is a system of n_v equations for at least n_v variables (the n_v constant scalars), and hence in general it will be compatible and the theory will contain an $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ solution. Only in pathological cases the system (7.97) will be incompatible and the theory will fail to contain an $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$ solution.

7.7 The Einstein-Maxwell-Dilaton model

Before we discuss the possible embeddings of Eq. (7.80) in gauged Supergravity and String Theory, let's consider the Einstein-Maxwell-Dilaton (E.M.D.) system, whose action is characterized by the following choices, to be made in Eq. (7.80)

$$F^{\Lambda\,\mu\nu} = F^{\mu\nu}, \quad I_{\Lambda\Sigma} = I = \frac{Z(\phi)}{2} < 0, \quad R_{\Lambda\Sigma} = R = 0, \quad \phi^i = \phi, \quad G_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (7.98)

Hence, the E.M.D. action reads

$$S_{EMD} = \int d^4x \sqrt{|g|} \left\{ R + \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi + Z(\phi) F^2 - V(\phi) \right\}, \qquad (7.99)$$

i.e., we consider a single vector field and a single scalar field. Moreover, the coupling given by R is taken to be zero, which greatly simplifies the black hole potential $V_{\rm bh}(\phi, \mathcal{Q})$, which is therefore given by

$$V_{\rm bh}(\phi, \mathcal{Q}) = \frac{1}{4} \left[Z(\phi) p^2 + Z(\phi)^{-1} q^2 \right] , \qquad (7.100)$$

where q and p are the electric and magnetic charges, respectively. The equations of motion take the form

$$e^{-W} \left[e^{W} U' \right]' + e^{2(U-W)} \frac{1}{4} \left[Zp^2 + Z^{-1}q^2 \right] + \frac{1}{2} e^{-2(U-W)} V = 0, \qquad (7.101)$$

$$e^{-W} \left[e^{W} \right]'' + e^{-2(U-W)} V = 0,$$
 (7.102)

$$e^{-W} \left[e^{W} \phi' \right]' + e^{2(U-W)} \frac{\partial_{\phi} Z}{2} \left[p^2 - \frac{q^2}{Z^2} \right] - e^{-2(U-W)} \partial_{\phi} V = 0, \qquad (7.103)$$

and the hamiltonian constraint reads

$$2U'^{2} - 2W'^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\phi'^{2} + \frac{e^{2(U-W)}}{2} \left[Zp^{2} + Z^{-1}q^{2}\right] - e^{-2(U-W)}V = 0.$$
 (7.104)

For non-constant scalars, Eq. (7.103) is automatically satisfied if

$$V = -e^{2(U-W)} \left[W'^2 + W'' \right], \qquad (7.105)$$

$$\phi'^2 = 4 \left[-U'^2 + U'W' + U'' - W'' \right],$$
 (7.106)

and ${\cal Z}$ is such that

$$Z = \frac{1}{p^2} \left[\Upsilon \pm \sqrt{\Upsilon^2 - p^2 q^2} \right], \text{ if } p, \ q \neq 0,$$
 (7.107)

$$Z = \frac{2\Upsilon}{p^2} \text{ if } q = 0, \ p \neq 0$$
 (7.108)

$$Z = \frac{q^2}{2\Upsilon} \text{ if } p = 0,$$
 (7.109)

where

$$\Upsilon = 2V_{\rm bh} = e^{2(W-U)} \left[-2U'W' + {W'}^2 - 2U'' + W'' \right].$$
(7.110)

Theories with conventional and sensible matter have to satisfy the null-energy condition (NEC) $n_{\mu}n_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu} \geq 0$, where n_{μ} is an arbitrary null vector and $T^{\mu\nu}$ is the correspondent energy-momentum tensor. This condition translates, for the E.M.D. case, into the following constraints

$$\Upsilon \le 0, \ {\phi'}^2 \ge 0. \tag{7.111}$$

Hence, it is equivalent to the requirement of a semi-negative definite black hole potential, and a semi-positive definite kinetic term for the scalar field, compatible with the condition $Z(\phi)$.

Another coordinate system: A-B-f coordinates.

There is another system of coordinates which we will use along these sections, and that will be useful for different purposes. It is related to the U-W system of coordinates by the following identifications:

$$\left(\frac{dr}{d\tilde{r}}\right)^2 = f^{-1}(\tilde{r}), \quad e^{2U} = e^{2(A(\tilde{r}) + B(\tilde{r}))} f(\tilde{r}), \quad e^{2W} = e^{4A(\tilde{r}) + 2B(\tilde{r})} f(\tilde{r}), \quad (7.112)$$

giving rise to the metric

$$ds_{f}^{2} = \ell^{2} e^{2A(\tilde{r})} \left[e^{2B(\tilde{r})} f(\tilde{r}) dt^{2} - \frac{d\tilde{r}^{2}}{f(\tilde{r})} - \delta_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j} \right],$$
(7.113)

which has proven to be useful (see e.g. [250], [162]) in order to obtain solutions exhibiting hvLf asymptotics when $f(\tilde{r})$ is a function of \tilde{r} that obeys

$$f(\tilde{r}_h) = 0, \quad \tilde{r}_h \in \mathbb{R}^+ \qquad \lim_{\tilde{r} \to \tilde{r}_0} f(\tilde{r}) = 1.$$
 (7.114)

The equations of motion (7.101), (7.102) and (7.103) can be rewritten accordingly as¹³

$$e^{-2A-B}\left[e^{2A+B}f\left[A'+B'+\frac{f'}{2f}\right]\right]' + e^{-2A}\frac{1}{4}\left[Zp^2 + Z^{-1}q^2\right] + \frac{1}{2}e^{2A}V(\phi) = (7.115)$$

$$e^{-2A-B} \left[f^{1/2} \left[e^{2A+B} f^{1/2} \right]' \right]' + e^{2A} V(\phi) = (7.116)$$

$$e^{-2A-B} \left[e^{2A+B} f \phi' \right]' + e^{-2A} \frac{\partial_{\phi} Z}{2} \left[p^2 - Z^{-2} q^2 \right] - e^{2A} \partial_{\phi} V(\phi) = (7,117)$$

where $' = \frac{d}{d\tilde{r}}$. The Hamiltonian constraint is given by

$$-2f\left[3A'^{2} + 2A'\left[B' + \frac{f'}{2f}\right]\right] + \frac{f}{2}\phi'^{2} + \frac{e^{-2A}}{2}\left[Zp^{2} + Z^{-1}q^{2}\right] - e^{2A}V(\phi) = 0. \quad (7.118)$$

Again, for non-constant dilaton this set of equations is equivalent to^{14}

$$V = \frac{e^{-2A}}{2} \left[-3f'[2A' + B'] - 2f \left[2A'' + \left[2A' + B' \right]^2 + B'' \right] - f'' \right], \quad (7.119)$$

$$\phi'^2 = 4 \left[-A'' + A'B' + {A'}^2 \right], \qquad (7.120)$$

$$\Upsilon = -\frac{e^{2A}}{2} \left[f' \left[2A' + 3B' \right] + 2f \left[2A'B' + B'' + B'^2 \right] + f'' \right].$$
(7.121)

 13 From now on, we will use always the symbol "r" to denote the "radial" coordinate, independently of which coordinate system we use, which will be specified by other means.

¹⁴Eqs. (7.107), (7.108), (7.109) hold.

7.8 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity with F.I. terms

The action (7.80) has great generality and basically covers any possible theory of gravity coupled to abelian vector fields and scalars up to two derivatives. However, in order to embed our results in String Theory, it is convenient to focus on the bosonic sector of 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity, which is a particular case of (7.80). More precisely, we are going to consider gauged 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ in the presence of n_v abelian vector multiplets, where the gauge group is contained in the *R*-symmetry group of automorphisms of the supersymmetry algebra. Normally one refers to this theory as 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity with Fayet-Iliopoulos terms (from now on, $\mathcal{N} = 2$ FI to abridge) [14]. The general lagrangian of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ FI is given by

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{|g|} \left\{ R + 2\mathcal{G}_{ij^*} \partial_\mu z^i \partial^\mu z^{*j^*} + 2\Im \mathcal{M}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Lambda\,\mu\nu} F^{\Sigma}{}_{\mu\nu} - 2\Re \mathcal{M}_{\Lambda\Sigma} F^{\Lambda\,\mu\nu*} F^{\Sigma}{}_{\mu\nu} - V_{\rm fi}(z, z^*) \right\} .$$

$$(7.122)$$

The indices $i, j, \ldots = 1, \ldots, n_v$ run over the scalar fields and the indices $\Lambda, \Sigma, \ldots = 0, \ldots, n_v$ over the 1-form fields. The scalar potential generated by the F.I. terms reads

$$V_{\rm fi}(z,z^*) = -3|\mathcal{Z}_g|^2 + \mathcal{G}^{ij^*} \mathfrak{D}_i \mathcal{Z}_g \mathfrak{D}_{j^*} \mathcal{Z}_g^*, \quad \mathfrak{D}_i \mathcal{Z}_g = \partial_i \mathcal{Z}_g + \frac{1}{2} \partial_i \mathcal{K} \mathcal{Z}_g, \qquad (7.123)$$

where \mathcal{K} is the Kähler potential, \mathcal{Z}_g is given by¹⁵

$$\mathcal{Z}_g \equiv \mathcal{Z}_g \left(z, z^* \right) = g_M \mathcal{V}^M = \mathcal{V}^M g^N \Omega_{MN} = -g^\Lambda \mathcal{M}_\Lambda + g_\Lambda \mathcal{L}^\Lambda \,, \tag{7.124}$$

and the g^M is a symplectic vector related to the embedding tensor θ_M , that selects the combination of vectors that gauges $U(1) \subset R$ -symmetry group, as follows¹⁶

$$g_M = g\theta_M \,, \tag{7.125}$$

g being the gauge coupling constant. The corresponding one-dimensional effective action and the hamiltonian constraint are given, respectively, by

$$S = \int dr \, e^{W} \left\{ U'^{2} - W'^{2} + \mathcal{G}_{ij^{*}} z^{j^{*}\prime} - e^{2(U-W)} V_{\rm bh} + \frac{1}{2} e^{-2(U-W)} V_{\rm fl} \right\}, \qquad (7.126)$$

$$U'^{2} - W'^{2} + \mathcal{G}_{ij^{*}} z^{i'} z^{j^{*}'} + e^{2(U-W)} V_{\rm bh} - \frac{1}{2} e^{-2(U-W)} V_{\rm fi} = 0.$$
 (7.127)

The black-hole potential takes the simple form

$$-V_{\rm bh}(z, z^*, \mathcal{Q}) = |\mathcal{Z}|^2 + \mathcal{G}^{ij^*} \mathfrak{D}_i \mathcal{Z} \mathfrak{D}_{j^*} \mathcal{Z}^* , \qquad (7.128)$$

where

$$\mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{Z}(z, z^*, \mathcal{Q}) \equiv \langle \mathcal{V} \mid \mathcal{Q} \rangle = -\mathcal{V}^M \mathcal{Q}^N \Omega_{MN} = p^\Lambda \mathcal{M}_\Lambda - q_\Lambda \mathcal{L}^\Lambda \,, \tag{7.129}$$

is the *central charge* of the theory.

 $^{^{15}}$ We assume the conventions of [320].

¹⁶Supergravity gaugings are originally electric, breaking therefore the symplectic covariance present in the ungauged case. The embedding tensor formalism allows to formally keep the theory simplectically covariant by introducing magnetic and electric gaugings.

Constant scalars and supersymmetric attractors. In section (7.6) we studied the case of constant scalars in the general theory (7.80). We found that, besides the solution $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^2$, there was another possible solution, if Eq. (7.90) holds. We will see now how this is always possible in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ FI. The general theory of the attractor mechanism in ungauged 4-dimensional Supergravity proves that, for extremal black holes, the value of the scalars at the horizon is fixed in terms of the charges \mathcal{Q}^M , and given by the so called *critical points* or *attractors*, *i.e.*, solutions to the system

$$\partial_i V_{\rm bh} \left(\mathcal{Q}, \phi \right)_{|_{\phi_c}} = 0. \tag{7.130}$$

There might be some residual dependence in the value at infinity if the potential has flat directions. If the scalars are constant, they have to be given again by (7.130) in the extremal as well as in the non-extremal case. It can be proven that there is always a class of attractors, called supersymmetric, which obey

$$\partial_i \left| \mathcal{Z} \right|_{\phi_c} = 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{D}_i \mathcal{Z}_{\phi_c} = 0,$$

$$(7.131)$$

and therefore, given the definitions (7.123) and (7.128), they also obey (7.90) if $\mathcal{Q}^M \sim g^M$. Hence, setting the scalars to constant values given by the supersymmetric attractor points of the black hole potential is always a consistent truncation, provided that g^M is identified with \mathcal{Q}^M , which besides fixes the value of the black hole potential and the scalar potential exclusively in terms of the charges.

7.8.1 The t^3 -model

In this section we consider a particular $\mathcal{N} = 2$ FI model which can be embedded in String Theory. In particular we start from Type-IIB String Theory compactified on a Sasaki-Einstein manifold to five dimensions. This theory can be consistently truncated as to yield pure $\mathcal{N} = 1$, d = 5 Supergravity with Fayet-Iliopoulos terms, which, due to the absence of scalars, introduce a cosmological constant. Further compactification on S^1 gives us the desired four dimensional theory, which is defined by [124, 125, 202, 299]

$$n_v = 1, \quad F(\mathcal{X}) = -\frac{(\mathcal{X}^1)^3}{\mathcal{X}^0}, \quad g^0 = g^1 = g_0 = 0 \Rightarrow V_{\text{fi}}(t, t^*) = \frac{-\beta^2}{\Im m t},$$
 (7.132)

where $\beta^2 = g_1^2/3$, and we have defined the inhomogeneous coordinate on the Special Kähler manifold SU(1, 1)/U(1), by

$$t = \frac{\mathcal{X}^1}{\mathcal{X}^0}.\tag{7.133}$$

This theory is known as the t^3 -model, and although the String Theory embedding requires the gauging specified in Eq. (7.132), we are going to study it in full generality, particularizing only at the end.

The canonically normalized symplectic section \mathcal{V} is, in a certain gauge,

$$\mathcal{V} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\t\\t^3\\-3t^2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (7.134)$$

where the Kähler potential is

$$\mathcal{K} = -\log\left[i(t-t^*)^3\right].$$
 (7.135)

As a consequence, the Kähler metric reads

$$\mathcal{G}_{tt^*} = \frac{3}{4} \frac{1}{(\Im m t)^2}, \qquad (7.136)$$

and the central charge

$$\mathcal{Z} = \frac{p^0 t^3 - 3t^2 p^1 - q_0 - q_1 t}{2\sqrt{2\Im m t^3}} \,. \tag{7.137}$$

The period matrix \mathcal{N}_{IJ} is, in turn, given by

$$\operatorname{Re}\mathcal{N}_{IJ} = \begin{pmatrix} -2\Re^3 & 3\Re^2 \\ 3\Re^2 & -6\Re \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \operatorname{Im}\mathcal{N}_{IJ} = \begin{pmatrix} -(\Im^3 + 3\Re^2\Im) & 3\Re\Im \\ 3\Re\Im & -3\Im \end{pmatrix}, \quad (7.138)$$

where we use the notation: $\Re \equiv \Re et$, $\Im \equiv \Im mt$. The general expressions of $V_{\rm bh}$ and $V_{\rm fi}$, which can be obtained using Eqs. (7.123), (7.124), (7.128) and (7.129) read

$$V_{\rm bh} = -\frac{1}{6\Im^3} \left[3\Im^6 p^{0^2} + 9\Im^4 \left[p^1 - p^0 \Re \right]^2 + \Im^2 \left[q_1 + 6p^1 \Re - 3p^0 \Re^2 \right]^2 \right]^2$$
(7.139)
+3 $\left[q_0 + \Re \left[q_1 + 3p^1 \Re - p^0 \Re^2 \right] \right]^2$,
$$V_{\rm fi} = -\frac{1}{3\Im} \left[g_1^2 + 3g_1 \left[g^1 \Re + g^0 \left[\Im^2 + \Re^2 \right] \right] + 9 \left[g_0 \left[-g^1 + g^0 \Re \right] + g^{1^2} \left[\Im^2 + \Re^2 \right] \right] \right].$$
(7.140)

Let's consider the truncation $\Re et = 0$. In order to satisfy all the original equations of motion (those with $\Re et$ arbitrary) in such a case, we must impose the additional constraints

$$\partial_{\Re} V_{\rm bh}(\Re = 0) = \partial_{\Re} V_{\rm fi}(\Re = 0) = 0. \tag{7.141}$$

These conditions explicitly read

$$3\Im p^0 p^1 - 2\frac{p^1 q_1}{\Im} - \frac{q_0 q_1}{\Im^3} = 0, (7.142)$$

$$3g_0g^0 + g_1g^1 = 0, (7.143)$$

and are satisfied (without loss of generality in the functional form of the potentials) if we make

$$p^1 = q_1 = 0; \quad g_0 = g^1 = 0 \lor g^0 = g_1 = 0.$$
 (7.144)

Thus, setting $\Re et$ to zero in a consistent manner notably simplifies the expressions for the potentials

$$V_{\rm bh} = -\frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{q_0^2}{\Im^3} + p^{0^2} \Im^3 \right], \qquad (7.145)$$

$$V_{\rm fi}^{I} = -\left[\frac{g_1^2}{3\Im} + g_1 g^0 \Im\right], \ V_{\rm fi}^{II} = -\left[-\frac{3g_0 g^1}{\Im} + 3g^{12} \Im\right]$$
(7.146)

The action is, making the redefinition $t \equiv \Re + i e^{-\frac{\phi}{\sqrt{3}}}$, given by

$$S_{\Re=0}^{I} = \int d^{4}x \sqrt{|g|} \left\{ R + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu}\phi \partial^{\mu}\phi - 2e^{-\sqrt{3}\phi} \left(F^{0}\right)^{2} + \frac{g_{1}^{2}}{3}e^{\frac{\phi}{\sqrt{3}}} + g_{1}g^{0}e^{-\frac{\phi}{\sqrt{3}}} \right\}, \quad (7.147)$$

$$S_{\Re=0}^{II} = \int d^4x \sqrt{|g|} \left\{ R + \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi - 2e^{-\sqrt{3}\phi} \left(F^0\right)^2 - 3g_0 g^1 e^{\frac{\phi}{\sqrt{3}}} + 3g^{12} e^{-\frac{\phi}{\sqrt{3}}} \right\}, \quad (7.148)$$

where we have already set A^1_{μ} to zero, in order to make the truncation consistent with the corresponding equation of motion.

Embedding the t^3 -model system in the E.M.D. As it can be trivially verified, we have just obtained the action (7.99) with

$$Z(\phi) = -2e^{-\sqrt{3}\phi}, \quad q^2 = 4q_0^2, \quad p^2 = p^{0^2}, \tag{7.149}$$

and the scalar potential of the E.M.D. system (Eq. (7.182)) given by

$$V(\phi) = c_1 e^{-\frac{\phi}{\sqrt{3}}} + c_2 e^{+\frac{\phi}{\sqrt{3}}}; \quad c_1^I = -g_1 g^0, \quad c_1^{II} = -3g^{12}, \quad c_2^I = -\frac{g_1^2}{3}, \quad c_2^{II} = 3g_0 g^1.$$
(7.150)

Hence, we find that our axion-free t^3 -system with those particular choices of Z and V gets embedded in the E.M.D. model and, for $g^0 = g^1 = g_0 = 0$, also in String Theory in the way explained at the beginning of this section. In such a case, Eq. (7.147) clearly becomes

$$S_{ST} = \int d^4x \sqrt{|g|} \left\{ R + \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi - 2e^{-\sqrt{3}\phi} \left(F^0\right)^2 + \frac{g_1^2}{3} e^{\frac{\phi}{\sqrt{3}}} \right\}.$$
 (7.151)

7.9 hvLf solutions

In this section we are going to construct (purely and asymptotically) hvLf solutions to Eq. (7.80). After establishing some results on the properties of the solutions corresponding to the pure hvLf case in the general set-up of Eq. (7.88), we focus on the E.M.D. system, obtaining the hvLf solutions allowed by the embedding of our *axion-free* Supergravity model in this system. Then, we provide a recipe to construct asymptotically hvLf solutions to these theories in the presence of constant and non-constant dilaton fields.

7.9.1 Purely *hvLf* solutions: general remarks

The hvLf metric in four dimensions, given by

$$ds^{2} = \ell^{2} r^{\theta - 2} \left(r^{-2(z-1)} dt^{2} - dr^{2} - \delta_{ij} dx^{i} dx^{j} \right) , \qquad (7.152)$$

is recovered in our set-up for specific values of U(r) and W(r), namely

$$e^{2U(r)} = \ell^2 r^{\theta - 2z}, \quad e^{2W(r)} = \ell^4 r^{2(\theta - z - 1)}.$$
 (7.153)

For purely hvLf solutions, the equations of motion can be further simplified by direct substitution of (7.153)

$$(\theta - 2z)(\theta - z - 2) + 2r^{4-\theta}\ell^{-2}V_{\rm bh} + r^{\theta}\ell^{2}V = (70154)$$
$$(\theta - z - 1)(\theta - z - 2) + r^{\theta}\ell^{2}V = (70155)$$
$$r^{-2(\theta - z - 1)}\left(r^{2(\theta - z - 1)}\mathcal{G}_{ij}\phi^{j\prime}\right)' - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{i}\mathcal{G}_{jk}\phi^{j\prime}\phi^{k\prime} + r^{2-\theta}\ell^{-2}\partial_{i}V_{\rm bh} - \frac{1}{2}r^{\theta - 2}\ell^{2}\partial_{i}V = (70156)$$

The Hamiltonian constraint reads

$$(2-\theta)(3\theta-4z-2) + 2r^2 \mathcal{G}_{ij} \phi^{i\prime} \phi^{j\prime} + 4r^{4-\theta} \ell^{-2} V_{\rm bh} - 2r^{\theta} \ell^2 V = 0.$$
 (7.157)

Eqs. (7.88) can be also adapted to the purely hvLf case. We find

$$V = -\ell^{-2} \mathcal{X}_{(\theta,z)} r^{-\theta}, \quad V_{\rm bh}(\phi, \mathcal{Q}) = \frac{1}{2} \ell^2 \mathcal{Y}_{(\theta,z)} r^{\theta-4}, \quad \mathcal{G}_{ij} \dot{\phi}^i \dot{\phi}^j = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{W}_{(\theta,z)} r^{-2}, \quad (7.158)$$

where

$$\mathcal{X}_{(\theta,z)} = (\theta - z - 2)(\theta - z - 1),$$
 (7.159)

$$\mathcal{Y}_{(\theta,z)} = (\theta - z - 2)(z - 1),$$
(7.160)

$$\mathcal{W}_{(\theta,z)} = (\theta - 2)(\theta - 2z + 2).$$
(7.161)

Eqs. (7.154)-(7.157) are the general equations of motion that need to be solved in order to find a hvLf solution to any theory that belongs to the class defined by Eq. (7.80). Likewise, Eq. (7.158) provides the behaviour of the black hole potential and the scalar potential, in terms of the variable r, for any hvLf solution consistent with the equations of motion. \mathcal{G}_{ij} is positive-definite, therefore

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij}\phi^{i\prime}\phi^{j\prime} \ge 0 \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{W}_{(\theta,z)} \ge 0, \qquad \mathcal{G}_{ij}\phi^{i\prime}\phi^{j\prime} = 0 \Leftrightarrow \phi^{i\prime} = 0 \forall i, \qquad (7.162)$$

and hence we can establish the following result: all the scalar fields of any purely hvLf solution of any theory describable by Eq. (7.80) are constant *iff* $\theta = 2$, or $z = 1 + \theta/2$. In addition, $V_{\rm bh}$ is, in our conventions, a negative definite function, hence $V_{\rm bh} \leq 0 \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{Y}_{(\theta,z)} \leq 0$. These two conditions on the sign of $\mathcal{W}_{(\theta,z)}$ and $\mathcal{Y}_{(\theta,z)}$ are equivalent to imposing the null-energy condition (NEC) to our purely hvLf solutions, as we commented before, and define a region of acceptable solutions in the (θ, z) -plane, as we shall see.

It is possible to stablish some general results for the hvLf solutions of any theory describable by Eq. (7.80) attending to the vanishing of V, $V_{\rm bh}$ and/or $\mathcal{G}_{ij}\dot{\phi}^i\dot{\phi}^j$. Let's proceed.

1. $\theta = 2$

In this situation $\mathcal{G}_{ij}\dot{\phi}^i\dot{\phi}^j=0$, and

$$V = -\ell^{-2}z(z-1)r^{-2}, \qquad (7.163)$$

$$V_{\rm bh} = -\frac{1}{2}\ell^2 z(z-1)r^{-2}.$$
 (7.164)

The NEC imposes $z \in (-\infty, 0] \cup [1, +\infty)$, and we have the two special cases: $\theta = 2$, z = 0 (which corresponds to Rindler spacetime) and $\theta = 2$, z = 1 (which is Minkowski space-time) for which $V = V_{\rm bh} = 0$ as well.

2.
$$z = 1 + \frac{\theta}{2}$$

We have again $\mathcal{G}_{ij}\dot{\phi}^i\dot{\phi}^j=0$, and

$$V = -\ell^{-2} \left(\frac{\theta}{2} - 3\right) \left(\frac{\theta}{2} - 2\right) r^{-\theta}, \qquad (7.165)$$

$$V_{\rm bh} = -\frac{1}{2}\ell^2 \left(\frac{\theta}{2} - 3\right) \frac{\theta}{2} r^{\theta - 4}.$$
 (7.166)

The NEC translates into $\theta \in [0, 6]$, and we have three more special cases: the Ricci flat one: $\theta = 6$, z = 4 corresponding to $V = V_{\rm bh} = 0$ (this is a particular case of the general formalism developed in [88] for ungauged 4-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supergravity); $\theta = 4$, z = 3, which corresponds to V = 0, $V_{\rm bh} = -\ell^2$ (also in agreement with the results of [88]); and $\theta = 0$, z = 1, which is nothing but the AdS_4 space-time in a conformally flat representation, and the only solution with vanishing black hole potential, and constant (non-zero) scalar potential compatible with the equations: $V_{\rm bh} = 0$, $V \equiv \Lambda = -\ell^{-2} 6$.

3. $z = 1, \ \theta \neq 2, \ z \neq 1 + \frac{\theta}{2}$ We have $V_{\rm bh} = 0$, whereas

$$V = -\ell^{-2} (\theta - 3) (\theta - 2) r^{-\theta}, \qquad (7.167)$$

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij}\dot{\phi}^{i}\dot{\phi}^{j} = \frac{1}{2}(\theta - 2)\theta \ r^{-2}.$$
(7.168)

The NEC becomes now $\theta \in (-\infty, 0] \cup [2, \infty)$, and we have the limit case $\theta = 3$, z = 1 which will be a particular case of the family considered in the next paragraph.

4. $z = \theta - 2, \ \theta \neq 2, \ z \neq 1 + \frac{\theta}{2}$ This situation imposes $V = V_{\rm bh} = 0$, whereas

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij}\dot{\phi}^{i}\dot{\phi}^{j} = \frac{1}{2}(\theta - 2)(6 - \theta) r^{-2}.$$
(7.169)

The NEC reads $\theta \in [2, 6]$. These will be solutions of the Einstein-Dilaton system for $\mathcal{G}_{ij} = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{ij}, i = 1$, and

$$\phi = \phi_0 + \sqrt{(\theta - 2)(6 - \theta)} \log r.$$
(7.170)

5. $z = \theta - 1, \ \theta \neq 2, \ z \neq 1 + \frac{\theta}{2}$ We have now V = 0, while

$$V_{\rm bh} = -\frac{1}{2}\ell^2 \left(\theta - 2\right) \frac{\theta}{2} r^{\theta - 4}.$$
 (7.171)

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij}\dot{\phi}^{i}\dot{\phi}^{j} = \frac{1}{2}(\theta - 2)(4 - \theta) r^{-2}, \qquad (7.172)$$

and the NEC becomes $\theta \in [2, 4]$.

Another particularly interesting case corresponds to the Einstein-Maxwell system with a cosmological constant: $\mathcal{G}_{ij}\dot{\phi}^i\dot{\phi}^j = 0, V \equiv \Lambda$. However, this could only be realized for $\theta = 0, z = 1$, which imposes the vanishing of $V_{\rm bh}$. Hence, there is no purely hvLf solution (for non-vanishing vector fields) for such model.

Purely hvLf in the E.M.D.

If we particularize now to the E.M.D. system, we find

$$V = -\ell^{-2} \mathcal{X}_{(\theta,z)} r^{-\theta}, \qquad (7.173)$$

$$\Upsilon = 2V_{\rm bh} = \ell^2 \mathcal{Y}_{(z,\theta)} r^{\theta-4}, \qquad (7.174)$$

$$\phi = \phi_0 + \sqrt{\mathcal{W}_{(z,\theta)}} \log(r) \Rightarrow r = e^{\frac{\phi}{\sqrt{z}}}.$$
(7.175)



Figure 7.1: Purely hvLf (θ, z) plane. Red lines correspond to $\mathcal{G}_{ij}\dot{\phi}^i\dot{\phi}^j = 0$, the blue ones to $V_{\rm bh} = 0$, and those in green to V = 0. The shaded regions represent solutions which satisfy the NEC.

Therefore, V and $V_{\rm bh}$ written as functions of ϕ , must take the form

$$V(\phi) = -\ell^2 \mathcal{X} e^{-\frac{\theta \phi}{\sqrt{z}}}, \qquad (7.176)$$

$$V_{\rm bh}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \ell^2 \mathcal{Y} e^{\frac{(\theta-4)\phi}{\sqrt{z}}}.$$
(7.177)

This means, on the one hand, that any E.M.D. theory susceptible of containing hvLf solutions has a scalar potential which depends on ϕ through one single exponential (becoming a constant when $\theta = 0$, $\theta = 2$ or $z = 1 + \theta/2$ ($\phi = \phi_0$ in the last two cases)) [64]. On the other hand, the gauge coupling function is constant for $\theta = 4$, and again if $\phi = \phi_0$.

t^3 -model

Let's see now what the situation is for the truncation of the t^3 -model considered in the previous section. In this case, $V^{I,II} = c_1 e^{-\phi/\sqrt{3}} + c_2 e^{\phi/\sqrt{3}}$ with $c_2 = 0 \Rightarrow c_1 = 0$ in the case I, and $c_1 = 0 \Rightarrow c_2 = 0$ in the case II. Since we can only keep one of the exponentials (in order to match V with Eq. (7.176)), the only possibility is setting $g^0 = 0$ ($c_1 = 0$) in the case I (which leaves us with the String Theory embedded model), and g_0 ($c_2 = 0$) in the case II. In both situations, $Z(\phi) = -2 e^{-\sqrt{3}\phi}$. In I there exists one only solution,

which is magnetic, and corresponds to $\theta = -2$, z = 3/2, $g_1^2 = 297/(4\ell^2)$ and $p^2 = 11\ell^2/4$. On the other hand, case II admits one only solution (magnetic as well) for $\theta = 1$, z = 3, $g^{1^2} = 4/\ell^2$, and $p^2 = 8\ell^2$. Both solutions satisfy the NEC, as it was desirable, and have a running dilaton given by Eq. (7.175) with $\mathcal{Z} = 12$ and $\mathcal{Z} = 3$ respectively.

7.9.2 Asymptotically hvLf in the E.M.D.

Non-constant scalar field

In order to construct new solutions with hvLf asymptotics, we switch now to A-B-f variables. The required form for A and B is

$$e^{2A} = r^{\theta-2}, \ e^{2B} = r^{-2(z-1)}.$$
 (7.178)

With this election, Eq. (7.120) can be directly integrated, yielding

$$\phi = \phi_0 + \sqrt{(\theta - 2)(\theta + 2 - 2z)} \log(r).$$
(7.179)

 Υ and V, in turn, become¹⁷

$$V = \frac{1}{2}r^{-\theta} \left[\left[1 - \theta + z \right] \left[2 \left[\theta - 2 - z \right] f + 3rf' \right] - r^2 f'' \right],$$
(7.180)

$$\Upsilon = r^{\theta - 4} \left[f \left[(\theta - 2 - z)(z - 1) \right] - \frac{r}{2} \left[(1 + \theta - 3z)f' + rf'' \right] \right].$$
(7.181)

In order to tackle the problem of constructing asymptotically hvLf metrics, and taking into account the form of $V(\phi)$ and $Z(\phi)$ for our *axion-free* model (and others present in the literature), we can start by considering these functions to have the generic form

$$V(\phi) = c_1 e^{-s_1 \phi} + c_2 e^{s_2 \phi} + c_3, \qquad (7.182)$$

$$Z(\phi) = d_1 e^{-t_1 \phi} + d_2 e^{t_2 \phi} + d_3.$$
(7.183)

The form of $V(\phi)$ is motivated by the expression of $V_{\rm fi}$ appearing in the axion-free t^3 model, as well as in other String Theory truncations present in the literature (see, e.g. [148], [213]). On the other hand, additional terms to the single-exponential gauge coupling have been introduced to mimic the quantum corrections appearing from String Theory (see, e.g. [227]), in an attempt to cure the logarithmic behavior of the dilaton, which blows up in the deep IR, pointing out the non-negligibility of quantum corrections in this regime. The expressions for $V(\phi)$ and $Z(\phi)$ can be introduced in Eqs. (7.180) and (7.107), (7.108) or (7.109) (depending on whether we are searching for electric, magnetic or dyonic solutions) using Eq. (7.181). Once this is done, we are left with two second-order differential equations for f(r) which can in general be converted into a first order equation plus a constraint that remains to be fulfilled. Obtaining the general solution in the presence of so many arbitrary parameters (c_1 , c_2 , c_3 , d_1 , d_2 , d_3 , s_1 , s_2 , t_1 , t_2 , z and θ) seems not to be possible and therefore we are forced to consider further simplifications, keeping in mind that the procedure does work for other set-ups in which $Z(\phi)$ and $V(\phi)$ are given by a different choice of the parameters in (7.182) and (7.183). Taking into account the form

¹⁷Recall that Z is given in term of Υ in Eqs. (7.107), (7.108) and (7.109) depending on the case

of the potentials obtained in the *axion-free* t^3 model, let's assume $s_1 = s_2$, $d_2 = d_3 = 0$ (we allow t_1 to be positive or negative)

$$V(\phi) = c_1 e^{-s_1 \phi} + c_2 e^{s_1 \phi} + c_3, \qquad (7.184)$$

$$Z(\phi) = d_1 e^{-t_1 \phi}. (7.185)$$

The general form of the blackening factor, valid in all cases (electric, magnetic and dyonic), reads

$$f(r) = \frac{c_3 r^{\theta}}{D_3} + \frac{c_2 r^{\theta + s_1 \Delta}}{D_2} + \frac{c_1 r^{\theta - s_1 \Delta}}{D_1} + \frac{d_1 p^2 r^{4 - \theta - t_1 \Delta}}{2D_p} + \frac{q^2 r^{4 - \theta + t_1 \Delta}}{2d_1 D_q} + K r^{2 - \theta + z} , \quad (7.186)$$

where $\Delta = \sqrt{(\theta - 2)(\theta - 2z + 2)}$, K is an integration constant, and

$$D_1 = (\theta - 2)(2 - 2\theta + s_1 \Delta + z), \qquad (7.187)$$

$$D_2 = (\theta - 2)(2 - 2\theta - s_1 \Delta + z), \qquad (7.188)$$

$$D_3 = (\theta - 2)(2 - 2\theta + z), \tag{7.189}$$

$$D_p = (\theta - 2)(2 - t_1 \Delta - z), \qquad (7.190)$$

$$D_q = (\theta - 2)(2 + t_1 \Delta - z). \tag{7.191}$$

As we said, there is an additional (non trivial) constraint to be satisfied

$$f''(r) - 2r^{\theta-2} \left[-c_3 - c_1 r^{-s1\Delta} - c_2 r^{s_1\Delta} - \frac{1}{2} r^{-\theta} (\theta - z - 1) \left[2(-2 + \theta - z) f(r) + 3r f'(r) \right] \right] = 0$$
(7.192)

At this point, there are several ways to construct solutions. On the one hand, it is possible to impose values to z and θ and find the corresponding potentials admitting solutions for particular blackening factors. On the other hand, it is possible to fix the coefficients in the exponents of Z and V and find the blackening factors allowed by Eq. (7.192). We will proceed along the lines of the second possibility, looking for solutions embedded in the Supergravity t^3 model. Before doing so, let's consider the general case in which the exponents in $Z(\phi)$ and $V(\phi)$ are such that $s_1 = \theta/\Delta$, $t_1 = (4-\theta)/\Delta$, and $c_2 = q = 0$. The result is a family of solutions for arbitrary values of z and θ determined by

$$c_1 = \frac{d_1 p^2 (\theta - z - 1)}{2(1 - z)},$$
(7.193)

$$f(r) = \frac{d_1 p^2}{2(1-z)(z-\theta+2)} \left[1 - Kr^{2+z-\theta} \right],$$
(7.194)

which is well known (see, e.g. [162], [213], [131])

$$f(r) \sim 1 - Kr^{2+z-\theta}$$
. (7.195)

The same family can also be found for electric solutions setting $s_1 = \theta/\Delta$, $t_1 = (\theta - 4)/\Delta$, and $c_1 = p = 0$. In that case, the solution is given by

$$c_1 = \frac{q^2(\theta - 1 - z)}{2d_1(1 - z)},\tag{7.196}$$

$$f(r) = \frac{q^2}{2d_1(1-z)(z-\theta+2)} \left[1 - Kr^{2+z-\theta}\right].$$
(7.197)

t^3 -model

1. Magnetic solutions. As we saw, a consistent truncation of the t^3 -model can be embedded in the E.M.D. system for $s_1 = 1/\sqrt{3}$, $t_1 = \sqrt{3}$, $c_3 = 0$. It turns out that setting q = 0, it is possible to construct two families of solutions which, in the appropriate cases, asymptote to the purely hvLf ones constructed in the previous subsection. The first one is determined by

$$c_1 = 0, \ \theta = 2\left(1 - \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{3}}\right), \ c_2 = Ap^2,$$
 (7.198)

where A is a constant depending on z and θ . The blackening factor is given by

$$f(r) = Cp^2 r^{\left(2 - \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{3}}\right)} + Kr^{\left(\frac{2\Delta}{\sqrt{3}} + z\right)},\tag{7.199}$$

where C is another z, θ -dependent constant. Needless to say, the metric will not, in general, asymptote to a hvLf (with exponents z, θ) as $r \to 0$ except for particular values of θ and z. However, if we choose $\theta = -2$, z = 3/2, $c_2 = -9p^2$, we find

$$f(r) = \frac{4p^2}{11} \left[1 - Kr^{\frac{11}{2}} \right].$$
 (7.200)

The second family is characterized by

$$c_2 = 0, \ \theta = \left(2 - \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{3}}\right), \ c_1 = Ap^2,$$
 (7.201)

where A is another constant, and the blackening factor reads

$$f(r) = Cp^2 r^{\left(2 - \frac{2\Delta}{\sqrt{3}}\right)} + Kr^{\left(\frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{3}} + z\right)}.$$
(7.202)

If we set $\theta = 1$, z = 3, it becomes

$$f(r) = \frac{p^2}{8} \left[1 - Kr^4 \right]$$
(7.203)

which, as we will see in a moment, is a particular a case of a dyonic solution admitted by the model.

2. Electric solutions. Similarly, we can construct two families of electric solutions. The first one is characterized by

$$c_1 = 0, \ \theta = \left(2 + \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{3}}\right), \ c_2 = Aq^2,$$
 (7.204)

where, once more, A is a constant depending on z and θ . The blackening factor is given by

$$f(r) = Cq^2 r^{\left(2 + \frac{2\Delta}{\sqrt{3}}\right)} + Kr^{\left(-\frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{3}} + z\right)},$$
(7.205)

whereas for the second

$$c_1 = Aq^2, \ \theta = 2\left(1 + \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{3}}\right), \ c_2 = 0,$$
 (7.206)

$$f(r) = Cq^2 r^{\left(2 + \frac{\Delta}{\sqrt{3}}\right)} + Kr^{\left(-\frac{2\Delta}{\sqrt{3}} + z\right)}.$$
 (7.207)

In contradistinction to the magnetic cases, for no values of (θ, z) the above solutions take the form of Eq. (7.195). This is obviously connected to the fact that no purely hvLf electric solutions exist in this model for non-constant dilaton and scalar potential, as we saw before.

3. Dyonic solutions. It is possible to show that a dyonic solution does exist for $\theta = 1$, z = 3, $c_2 = 0$, and $c_1 = -3p^2/2$, with a blackening factor given by

$$f(r) = \frac{p^2}{8} \left[1 - Kr^4 + \frac{q^2}{p^2} r^6 \right].$$
 (7.208)

The corresponding metric Eq.(7.113) reads (after the redefinitions $dR^2 = 8dr^2/p^2$, $dT^2 = 8dt^2/p^2$)

$$ds_f^2 = \frac{L^2}{R} \left\{ \left[1 - KR^4 + \frac{p^4 q^2}{512} R^6 \right] \frac{dT^2}{R^4} - \frac{dR^2}{\left[1 - KR^4 + \frac{p^4 q^2}{512} R^6 \right]} - d\vec{x}^2 \right\}.$$
 (7.209)

It asymptotes to a hvLf as $R \to 0$ with $\theta = 1$, z = 3, and to a different one as $R \to \infty$ with $\theta = 5/2$, z = 3/2 as it can be seen by taking the limit in the previous expression, and defining $\rho \sim R^{-2}$

$$ds_f^2 \stackrel{R \to +\infty}{\sim} \frac{L^2}{R} \left[R^2 dT^2 - \frac{dR^2}{R^6} - d\vec{x}^2 \right],$$
 (7.210)

$$ds_f^2 \overset{[R \to +\infty, \ R^{-2} = \rho]}{\sim} L^2 \rho^{1/2} \left[\frac{dT^2}{\rho} - d\rho^2 - d\vec{x}^2 \right],$$
 (7.211)

which corresponds to $\theta = 5/2$, z = 3/2. The value of K can be fixed in a way such that $\exists R_h \in \mathbb{R}^+ / f(R_h) = 0$, or chosen to get a positive-definite metric in the whole spacetime.

In the previous section, we constructed two consistent truncations of this model (which we called "I" and "II"). The first one is such that $c_2 = 0 \Rightarrow c_1 = 0$, and hence the solution can be embedded in that model only for a vanishing $V_{\rm fi}$ and magnetic charge. For the second, in turn, we get the conditions $g_0 = 0$, $(g^1)^2 = p^2/2$. It is interesting to investigate how the solution gets modified by turning off the electric or the magnetic charge. Obviously, setting q = 0 does not change the $R \to 0$ behavior, but does change the $R \to +\infty$ one. In such a case, the metric becomes

$$ds_f^2 \stackrel{[R \to +\infty, R^{-1} = \rho]}{\sim} \rho \left[dT^2 - d\rho^2 - d\vec{x}^2 \right], \qquad (7.212)$$

which is conformal to Minkowski, and corresponds to a hvLf with $\theta = 3$, z = 1. On the other hand, restoring q and setting p = 0, imposes the vanishing of $V_{\rm fi}$, and the solution is $\theta = 3$, z = 1 as $R \to 0$, and again $\theta = 5/2$, z = 3/2 as $R \to +\infty$.

It turns out that there exists another dyonic solution for $\theta = 5/2$, $z = 3/2^{18}$. This is somehow "dual" to the previous one, as it presents the same IR and UV behavior but with both regimes interchanged. It is characterized by $c_1 = 0$, $c_2 = -\frac{3q^2}{8}$, and

$$f(r) = 2p^2 \left[1 - Kr + \frac{q^2}{16p^2} r^3 \right].$$
(7.213)

In our "I" truncation, $c_2^I = -g_1^2/3 \Rightarrow g_1^2 = 9q^2/8$. Making the redefinitions $dR^2 = dr^2/(2p^2)$, $dT^2 = \sqrt{2}pdt^2$, it reads

$$ds_f^2 = L^2 R^{1/2} \left\{ \left[1 - KR + \frac{pq^2}{4\sqrt{2}} R^3 \right] \frac{dT^2}{R} - \frac{dR^2}{\left[1 - KR + \frac{pq^2}{4\sqrt{2}} R^3 \right]} - d\vec{x}^2 \right\}.$$
 (7.214)

As $R \to +\infty$, this becomes

$$ds_f^2 \stackrel{[UV, R=\rho^{-2}]}{\sim} \frac{L^2}{\rho} \left[\frac{dT^2}{\rho^4} - d\rho^2 - d\vec{x}^2 \right], \qquad (7.215)$$

up to constants, which corresponds to a hvLf with $\theta = 1$, z = 3.

Constant scalar field

Let's consider now the case of a constant scalar field, $\phi' = 0$. As explained in section 7.6, we consider

$$\partial_{\phi} V_{\rm bh} = \partial_{\phi} V = 0. \tag{7.216}$$

In this case, the potential and the coupling become constant and we can write $V = \Lambda$, $Z = -Z_0^2$. When Z and V are given by Eqs. (7.183) and (7.182), Eq. (7.216) translates into

$$\partial_{\phi} V_{\rm bh}(\phi=0) = \partial_{\phi} Z\left(p^2 - \frac{q^2}{Z^2}\right)|_{\phi=0} = \left(-t_1 d_1 + t_2 d_2\right) \left(p^2 - \frac{q^2}{(d_1 + d_2)^2}\right) = 0, \quad (7.217)$$

$$\partial_{\phi} V(\phi = 0) = (s_2 c_2 - s_1 c_1) = 0, \qquad (7.218)$$

where we have imposed $\phi = 0$ to be a critical point of the potentials. We choose to fulfill the first condition demanding $(d_1 + d_2)^2 = q^2/p^2$ which, when $d_1 = 0$, reads $d_2 = -|q/p|$. On the other hand, the second condition is $s_1c_1 = s_2c_2$, that becomes $c_1 = c_2$ when both exponents $(s_1 \text{ and } s_2)$ coincide. After imposing these constraints, V and Z become

$$V = c_2 \left(\frac{s_2}{s_1} + 1\right) + c_3 \equiv \Lambda(= 2c_2 + c_3 \text{ if } s_2 = s_1), \tag{7.219}$$

$$Z = -\left|\frac{q}{p}\right| \equiv -Z_0^2. \tag{7.220}$$

We have two cases: $z = 1 + \theta/2$ and $\theta = 2$ (and the one in the intersection: $z = 2, \theta = 2$).

¹⁸One may wonder why we did not find a purely hvLf for these values of the exponents in the previous subsection. The reason is that for $\theta = 5/2$, z = 3/2 we have $\mathcal{X}_{(\theta,z)} = 0$, which implies the vanishing of $V_{\rm fi}$ in the purely hvLf case. In fact, to recover the pure solution, we have to set $K = q = c_2 = 0$, and since we have already set $c_1 = 0$, this would make $V_{\rm fi} = 0$.

1. $z = 1 + \frac{\theta}{2}$, $\theta \neq 2$. In this situation, it is possible to find a solution which imposes no further constraints on V and V_{bh}. This reads

$$f(r) = -Kr^{3-\theta/2} + \frac{\left[12Z_0^2 r^{4-\theta} - 2\Lambda r^{\theta}\right]}{3(\theta-2)^2}.$$
(7.221)

The case $z = 1, \theta = 0$, in which we expect to recover AdS_4 asymptotically is a particularization of this. The blackening factor reads then

$$f(r) = -\frac{\Lambda}{6} - Kr^3 + Z_0^2 r^4, \qquad (7.222)$$

Assuming a negative cosmological constant, $\Lambda = -|\Lambda|$, this can be rewritten as

$$f(r) = \frac{|\Lambda|}{6} \left[1 - Kr^3 + \frac{6Z_0^2}{|\Lambda|} r^4 \right].$$
 (7.223)

If we define $dT^2 = |\Lambda| dt^2/6$, $dR^2 = 6dr^2/|\Lambda|$, the metric Eq. (7.113) becomes

$$ds_f^2 = \frac{L^2}{R^2} \left\{ \left[1 - KR^3 + \frac{|\Lambda| Z_0^2}{6} R^4 \right] dT^2 - \frac{dR^2}{\left[1 - KR^3 + \frac{|\Lambda| Z_0^2}{6} R^4 \right]} - d\vec{x}^2 \right\}, \quad (7.224)$$

which, of course, asymptotes to AdS_4 as $R \to 0$, and is such that $\exists R_h \in \mathbb{R}^+ / f(R_h) = 0$ for K > 0. Similarly, the metric blows up as $R \to \infty$, behaving as a *hvLf* with $\theta = 4, z = 3$. Indeed,

$$ds_f^2 \stackrel{R \to \infty}{\sim} \frac{L^2}{R^2} \left[R^4 dT^2 - \frac{dR^2}{R^4} - d\vec{x}^2 \right]$$
 (7.225)

up to constants; if we make now the change $\rho \sim 1/R$

$$ds_f^2 \stackrel{\rho \to 0}{\sim} L'^2 \rho^2 \left[\frac{dT^2}{\rho^4} - d\rho^2 - d\vec{x}^2 \right],$$
 (7.226)

we find a hvLf metric with $\theta = 4$, z = 3 as we have said. If we plug these values $\theta = 4$, z = 3 in Eq. (7.221) we find a new solution, which behaves asymptotically as this one (with the *IR* and *UV* regions interchanged). Indeed, its blackening factor reads

$$f(r) = Z_0^2 \left[1 - Kr + \frac{|\Lambda|}{6Z_0^2} r^4 \right], \qquad (7.227)$$

and with the redefinitions $dR^2 = dr^2/Z_0^2$, $dT^2 = dt^2/Z_0^2$

$$ds_f^2 = L^2 R^2 \left\{ \left[1 - KR + \frac{|\Lambda| Z_0^2}{6} R^4 \right] \frac{dT^2}{R^4} - \frac{dR^2}{\left[1 - KR + \frac{|\Lambda| Z_0^2}{6} R^4 \right]} - d\vec{x}^2 \right\} .$$
(7.228)

As $R \to 0$, it becomes a hvLf with $\theta = 4$, z = 3, and as $R \to \infty$,

$$ds_f^2 = L^2 R^2 \left[dT^2 - \frac{dR^2}{R^4} - d\vec{x}^2 \right], \qquad (7.229)$$
which we can rewrite as $(\rho = 1/R)$

$$ds_f^2 = \frac{L'^2}{\rho^2} \left[dT^2 - d\rho^2 - d\vec{x}^2 \right], \qquad (7.230)$$

which is AdS_4 .

2. $\theta = 2$. This case imposes the constraint $Z_0^2 = -\frac{\Lambda}{2}$, and can be solved for any value of z. The general form of f(r), which applies for $z \neq 2$ is now

$$f(r) = \frac{2Z_0^2 r^2}{(z-2)^2} + r^z K_1 + r^{2(z-1)} K_2, \qquad (7.231)$$

whereas for z = 2 we have

$$f(r) = 2r^2 \log(r) \left[K_2 + Z_0^2 \log(r) \right] + K_1 r^2.$$
(7.232)

For example, if we consider the case $\theta = 2$, z = 1, we inmediatly find the asymptotically flat metric (as $r \to 0$)

$$f(r) = 1 - Kr + 2Z_0^2 r^2, (7.233)$$

$$ds_f^2 = l^2 \left\{ dt^2 \left[1 - Kr + 2Z_0^2 r^2 \right] - \frac{dr^2}{\left[1 - Kr + 2Z_0^2 r^2 \right]} - d\vec{x}^2 \right\},$$
(7.234)

for which, once more $\exists r_h \in \mathbb{R}^+ / f(r_h) = 0$ for K > 0. As $r \to \infty$, up to constants, it behaves as

$$ds_f^2 \stackrel{[R \to +\infty]}{\sim} {l'}^2 \left[e^{2R} dt^2 - dR^2 - d\vec{x}^2 \right] , \qquad (7.235)$$

where we defined $R = \log r$. This is nothing but $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}_2$. On the other hand, if we set $\theta = 2, z = 2$, from Eq. (7.232) we find

$$f(r) = 2r^2 \log(r) \left[-K + Z_0^2 \log(r) \right] + r^2 \stackrel{[R=\log r]}{=} e^{2R} \left[1 - KR + 2Z_0^2 R^2 \right], \quad (7.236)$$

$$ds_f^2 = l^2 \left\{ dt^2 \left[1 - KR + 2Z_0^2 R^2 \right] - \frac{dR^2}{\left[1 - KR + 2Z_0^2 R^2 \right]} - d\vec{x}^2 \right\}$$
(7.237)

which is nothing but Eq. (7.234).

7.10 Conclusions

We have started by describing several procedures to construct, from known black-hole and black-brane solutions of any ungauged supergravity theory, non-trivial gravitational solutions whose "near-horizon" and "near-singularity" limits are Lifshitz-like metrics with hyperscaling violation which depend on the physical parameters of the original black-hole solution.

In particular, this shows that hvLf metrics are very generic, and not restricted to particular EMD models as frequently assumed in the previous literature.

Since the new solutions can be constructed from any black-hole solution of any ungauged supergravity, many of them can be easily embedded in String Theory.

In the last sections, we have studied purely hvLf and hvLf-like solutions of the general class of theories defined by the Lagrangian (7.80), which covers any theory of gravity coupled to an arbitrary number of scalars and vector fields up to two derivatives. We have obtained the general effective one-dimensional equations of motion that need to be solved in order to obtain hvLf-like solutions. The general analysis is intended to complete the case-by-case results present in the literature in a unified framework: given a particular kinetic matrix $(I_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi), R_{\Lambda\Sigma}(\phi))$, a scalar metric $\mathcal{G}_{ij}(\phi)$ and a scalar potential $V(\phi)$, the equations of motion of the theory follow trivially by plugging them into (7.85)-(7.87) and the Hamiltonian constraint (7.84). For this broad family of theories, we have discussed the existence and properties of purely hvLf solutions attending to the presence (or absence) of non-constant scalar fields and non-vanishing black hole and scalar potentials.

In the context of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ FI Supergravity, we have studied the t^3 -model, for which we have explicitly constructed two consistent *axion-free* embeddings in the E.M.D. system, one of which is, in turn, embedded in Type-IIB String Theory for a particular choice of embedding tensor θ_M .

In addition, we obtained the general form of the f(r) function (for the set of metrics determined by Eqs. (7.178) and (7.113)), up to a constraint, for a rather general family of (Supergravity inspired) scalar and black-hole potentials, and explicitly constructed some dyonic solutions for the t^3 truncations considered. We have provided a straightforward procedure to construct asymptotically hvLf solutions covered by Eqs. (7.178) and (7.113) for the family of theories specified by Eqs. (7.184), reducing the task to solving a single algebraic constraint given by Eq. (7.192).

We have avoided, on purpose, the term *black hole* to denote the hvLf-like solutions obtained in this chapter. The reason is that, although may of the solutions *look like* black holes, a proof (for example by constructing the corresponding Penrose-Carter diagram) is still missing. Therefore, any results obtained from them implicitly assuming that they do represent a black hole must be interpreted carefully, knowing that those would be yet to be proven statements.

Holographic entanglement entropy in hvLf geometries

This chapter is based on

Pablo Bueno and Pedro F. Ramírez, "Higher-curvature corrections to holographic entanglement entropy in geometries with hyperscaling violation", JHEP 1412 (2014) 078. [arXiv:1408.6380 [hep-th]] [94].

Let us consider again the family of Lifshitz-like metrics with hyperscaling violation defined in the previous chapter. In order to have a clear interpretation of a constant rslice (with $r \to 0$) of the geometry defined by (7.3) as the boundary of the metric, let us consider $\theta < d$ metrics from now on¹. $\theta > d$ would correspond to a negative effective number of spatial dimensions according to the arguments previously explained. Also, when $\theta > 0$, hvLf metrics suffer from a curvature UV-singularity in the Einstein frame: indeed, the Kretschmann invariant scales as $R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \sim r^{-4\ddot{\theta}/d}$. In appearance, this means that hvLf metrics with $\theta < 0$ are completely reliable in the UV, whereas those with $0 < \theta < d$ need to be completed asymptotically, something which is usually performed through the assumption that spacetime is described by (7.3) only above some scale r_F , but asymptotes to some well-behaved solution, such as AdS_{d+2} , as $r \ll r_F$. As explained in [136], this statement is imprecise. The authors argue that hvLf geometries with $\theta \neq 0$ typically require a UV-divergent (linear) dilaton, which allows one to tune the curvature singularity (appearing in the cases in which $0 < \theta < d$) by changing to an appropriate Weyl frame, and completely absorb it in such scalar field. The linear running character of the dilaton is a characteristic feature of general hvLf backgrounds (with $\theta \neq 0$) so one needs to be careful when interpreting the UV physics from the field theory perspective not only for $\theta > 0$, but also for $\theta < 0^2$. We will come back to this in the discussion section.

There are several ways in which holography allows us to study the properties of the dual quantum field theories (QFTs). A prominent example is the computation of *entanglement entropy* (EE), which will be the subject of this chapter.

Entanglement entropy has indeed become an essential tool in fields as diverse as condensed matter [8, 218, 292, 364], quantum information [345, 425], String Theory and quantum gravity [68, 73, 101, 236, 295, 310, 336, 347, 378, 379, 400, 415], and QFT [100, 117, 119, 123, 275, 276, 388].

¹The formulation of the holographic dictionary for hvLf geometries has been addressed in [135, 136].

 $^{^2 \}rm We$ thank Robert C. Myers and Ioannis Papadimitriou for their comments and explanations about this point

As explained in the introduction, the ultraviolet (UV) behaviour of the EE for general (d + 1)-dimensional QFTs is expected to be [119]:

$$S = \frac{k_{d-1}}{\delta^{d-1}} + \dots + \frac{k_1}{\delta} + k_0 \log \frac{l}{\delta} + S_0, \qquad (8.1)$$

where δ is a short distance cutoff, S_0 , k_0 and k_i constants, and l is a characteristic length of A. The coefficient of the leading term is proportional to the *area* of the boundary of A ($k_{d-1} \sim l^{d-1}$), a behaviour which is usually argued to be caused by the entanglement between degrees of freedom living at both sides of ∂A . This is the so-called *area law* [73, 400] of entanglement entropy. When the leading term in EE depends on the characteristic length of A in a different fashion, we speak about a violation of this law. One such kind of violation occurs when the leading contribution to S contains a factor which scales logarithmically with the characteristic length of A (see below). Another example of this happens when the leading term scales with a power of l different from the dimension of ∂A (see, e.g. [333]).

An interesting point to notice is the fact that k_0 is universal in the following sense: if we shift $\delta \to \delta \epsilon$, the coefficients k_i are shifted by $k_i \to k_i \epsilon^{-i}$, whereas k_0 remains the same by virtue of the properties of the logarithm (the shift is absorbed in S_0). As a consequence, k_0 is independent of the regularization prescription (and usually related to the central charge of the underlying QFT in the case of CFTs).

As we have said, although the area law turns out to hold for a vast range of systems, it is well-known that this is not always the case. A paradigmatic example is given by 2D CFTs, where EE scales logarithmically with the length of A, l, and k_0 turns out to be proportional to the central charge of the theory [100, 238]

$$S = \frac{c}{3} \log \frac{l}{\delta} \,. \tag{8.2}$$

In higher dimensional theories, violations of the area law appear in QFTs with Fermi surfaces [326, 407, 426]. In such cases, S acquires a logarithmic dependence on the characteristic length of A

$$S \sim (lk_F)^{(d-1)} \log(lk_F),$$
 (8.3)

being k_F the Fermi momentum³, and the area law is violated. It has been argued that certain QFTs with Fermi surfaces might be holographically engineered by considering the family of hvLf metrics in the case $\theta = d - 1$ [162, 246, 349], as we will review in section 8.2; indeed in these cases, the HEE exhibits a logarithmic violation of the area law (note that the case $\theta = 0$ precisely corresponds to AdS₃). Also, as observed in [162], the leading term in the HEE expression will not respect this *law* for any value of $(d - 1) \le \theta \le d$.

In the context of holography, EE for theories dual to Einstein gravity can be computed through the Ryu-Takayanagi prescription $[379]^4$. According to this, the holographic entanglement entropy (HEE) for a certain region A living in the boundary of some asymptotically AdS_{d+2} spacetime is given by

$$S_{EG} = \underset{m \sim V}{\text{ext}} \left[\frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} \right] \,, \tag{8.4}$$

³Such behaviour comes from the effective 2D CFT which governs the physics of modes at the Fermi surface [385, 407]

⁴Remarkably, this prescription has been recently proven under certain conditions in [296].

where m are codimension-2 bulk surfaces homologous to A with $\partial m = \partial A$, and $\mathcal{A}(m)$ is the d-dimensional volume (*area*) of m. Hence, HEE in theories with an Einstein gravity dual is obtained by extremizing the area functional over all possible bulk surfaces homologous to A whose boundary coincides with ∂A .

The situation changes when we start considering higher-curvature terms in the bulk Lagrangian. In such cases, the Ryu-Takayanagi prescription does not produce the correct answer for the HEE. Actually, (9.8) might be somehow regarded as a generalization of the Bekenstein-Hawking formula for the entropy of black holes [27,39,233], which suggests that the expression for the EE in the presence of higher-derivative gravities might be obtained by applying the same generalization to Wald's formula, which gives the black hole entropy in this class of theories $[420]^5$

$$S_{\text{Wald}} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_{\text{H}} d^2 y \sqrt{h_{\text{H}}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}} \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \epsilon_{\rho\sigma} \,. \tag{8.5}$$

However, in [247] this was shown to be wrong, since this expression would produce incorrect universal terms. Alternative expressions yielding the right terms are known for Lovelock gravities [247, 256, 381] as well as for curvature-squared theories [185, 336]. Remarkably enough, a general formula for any theory involving arbitrary contractions of the Riemann tensor $\mathcal{L}(R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma})$, which seems to satisfy several consistency checks, has been recently proposed by Dong [161] (see also, e.g. [65, 66, 103, 170])). The corresponding expressions would contain a Wald-like term as well as additional terms involving contractions of extrinsic curvatures (which vanish in the case of a Killing horizon) with second derivatives of the Lagrangian with respect to the Riemann tensor.

In this chapter we are going to study the effects of including higher-order curvature terms in the gravity Lagrangian on the HEE formula for hvLf geometries. The motivation for this study is manyfold. On the one hand, studying higher-order gravity Lagrangians in the holographic context is intrinsically interesting, given that such terms generically appear as α' corrections in the appropriate String Theory embedding, corresponding to moving away from the infinitely coupled regime in the dual field theory. Secondly, as we have explained, hvLf geometries have been shown to provide interesting violations of the area law of EE for certain values of θ and, particularly interestingly, logarithmic terms for $\theta = d - 1$, in whose case they have been argued to be intimately related to certain condensed matter systems. A natural question to ask is how the inclusion of highercurvature terms will alter the structure of the HEE and whether these modifications can lead to new logarithmic terms, which might contain universal information about the dual theory (see the discussion about the UV interpretation of hvLf metrics in section 8.3). Also, the expressions for HEE in higher-order Lagrangians which are known at present are restricted to a handful of theories, as explained before, and have not been proven in general. This makes interesting to check how they perform in different situations, probing whether they produce sensible results in the different cases. An example of this is given by Gauss-Bonnet gravity in d = 2 (4-dimensional spacetime). In such case, the HEE (which can be obtained using the so-called Jacobson-Myers (JM) functional [256])⁶ should not change with respect to the Einstein gravity case, since the equations of motion are unchanged in this case, and any remainder of λ_{GB} should be completely removed by including the boundary term prescribed in the JM functional.

⁵In (8.5), \mathcal{L} is the gravity Lagrangian, H stands for the horizon, $h_{\rm H}$ is the induced metric on it and $\epsilon_{\mu\nu}$ is a binormal to H.

 $^{^{6}}$ See section 8.1.

In the next section we study the structure of divergences of HEE for a stripe in the boundary of hvLf metrics when $\theta \leq 0$, for higher-order gravities. We start with curvature-squared, for which the HEE functional is known [185], dealing with the cases of R^2 , Gauss-Bonnet and Ricci². We will find that a single new divergence appears in all cases, and how it cannot become logarithmic for any value of θ except for $\theta = 0$, d = 1, corresponding to the well-known AdS₃ case. However, extending the analysis to highercurvature (*n*th-order) gravities we will find that new logarithmic divergences will show up for

$$\theta = \frac{d(d-1)}{d-2(n-1)},$$
(8.6)

provided d < 2(n-1). We will therefore find that an infinite family of hvLf geometries produces new logarithmic contributions to the HEE formula when these geometries are embedded in higher-curvature gravities. For R^2 gravity we will be able to compute the $\mathcal{O}(\lambda_1)$ correction to the universal constant term as well. Also, in the section devoted to Gauss-Bonnet gravity, we show explicitly that the boundary term in the JM functional exactly cancels the bulk surface contribution when d = 2, as expected.

In section 8.2 we study the case $0 < \theta < d$, for which we consider a UV AdScompletion of the geometry, following the steps of [349]. We will find that (8.6) holds for the appearance of logarithmic contributions to the HEE, with the difference that now d > 2(n-1). However, both conditions together will turn out to restrict the allowed values of $\theta > 0$ to the well-known case of $\theta = d - 1$ [162, 246, 349], corresponding to Einstein gravity.

In section 8.3 we summarize our findings, comment on possible extensions and conclude.

Finally, in appendix D we consider the case in which the anisotropic scaling occurs along a spatial direction instead of time, which can be understood as a double Wick rotation of the standard hvLf geometry [7,154], and analyze how this changes the discussion of the previous sections. New logarithmic terms are found here for some combinations of z, θ and d.

8.1 HEE for hvLf geometries in higher-curvature gravities I: $\theta \leq 0$

• Einstein gravity.

Before considering higher-curvature corrections, let us start reviewing the Einstein gravity result for the HEE of hvLf geometries. We do so here for the class of metrics with $\theta \leq 0$, which we study in this section. Along this chapter we will consider an entangling region A consisting of a multi-dimensional infinite strip s of width l and infinite length $L_S \rightarrow$ $+\infty$ (this length plays the role of an IR cut-off), $s = \{(t_E, r, x_1, x_2, ..., x_d) \text{ s.t.}, t_E = 0, x_1 \in [-l/2, l/2], x_{2,...,d} \in (-L_S/2, +L_S/2)\}$. As explained in the introduction, HEE for field theories dual to Einstein gravities⁷ can be computed using the Ryu-Takayanagi prescription [379]

$$S_{EG} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_m d^d x \sqrt{g_m} \,, \tag{8.7}$$

⁷By this we mean theories with Lagrangians given by $\mathcal{L} = R - 2\Lambda + \mathcal{L}_{other fields}$.

where m is the bulk surface homologous to A, with $\partial m = \partial A$, which extremizes the above functional, and g_m is the determinant of the induced metric on m.

The translational symmetry of the strip along the directions 2, ..., d allows us to parametrize the entangling surface m as $r = h(x_1)$. For our hvLf geometry (1.114), the induced metric on such a surface reads

$$ds_m^2 = L^2 h^{\frac{2(\theta-d)}{d}} \left[\left[1 + \dot{h}^2 \right] dx_1^2 + d\vec{x}_{(d-1)}^2 \right], \qquad (8.8)$$

where $d\vec{x}_{(d-1)}^2 \equiv dx_2^2 + \ldots + dx_d^2$. Using this expression and the fact that *m* must be mirror symmetric with respect to the plane $x_1 = 0$, we find

$$S_{EG} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)}}{2G} \int_0^{l/2} dx_1 \, h^{(\theta-d)} \sqrt{1 + \dot{h}^2} \,, \tag{8.9}$$

The Lagrangian does not depend explicitly on x_1 , so we have a conserved quantity

$$h_*^{(\theta-d)} = \frac{h^{(\theta-d)}}{\sqrt{1+\dot{h}^2}},$$
(8.10)

where h_* is the turning point of the surface, in which $\dot{h}|_{h_*} = 0$. Substituting this expression in (8.9), we find

$$S_{EG} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)} h_*^{(\theta-d+1)}}{2G} \int_{\delta/h_*}^1 \frac{u^{(\theta-d)} du}{\sqrt{1 - u^{2(d-\theta)}}},$$
(8.11)

where we made the change of variable $u = h/h_*$ and introduced the UV cut-off $(h(x_1) \rightarrow \delta) \leftrightarrow (x_1 \rightarrow \pm l/2)$. The turning point is related to the strip width through

$$\frac{l}{2} = \int_0^{l/2} dx_1 = h_* \int_0^1 \frac{u^{(d-\theta)} du}{\sqrt{1 - u^{2(d-\theta)}}} = h_* \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{1+d-\theta}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}.$$
(8.12)

These two integrals allow us to obtain the final expression for the entanglement entropy of the strip

$$S_{EG} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)}}{2G(d-\theta-1)} \left[\delta^{-(d-\theta-1)} - (l/2)^{(\theta-d+1)} \left[\frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{1+d-\theta}{2(d-\theta)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(d-\theta)}\right)} \right]^{(d-\theta)} \right].$$
 (8.13)

This is the beautiful formula found in [162]. As we can see, the scaling behavior of the HEE gets modified with respect to the AdS_{d+2} case [378] by factors with dimensions of $(length)^{\theta}$. In particular, we find a corrected exponent for the divergent term of order

$$\mathfrak{B}_0 \equiv d - \theta - 1. \tag{8.14}$$

Of course, \mathfrak{B}_0 is always positive for $\theta < 0$. One can introduce an intermediate scale r_F as explained in the introduction, which would modify the factors $\delta^{\theta} \to (\delta/r_F)^{\theta}$ and $(l/2)^{\theta} \to (l/(2r_F))^{\theta}$. When $\theta = 0$, we recover the usual AdS_{d+2} expression [378]

$$S_{EG} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)}}{2G(d-1)} \left[\delta^{-(d-1)} - (l/2)^{(1-d)} \left[\frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{1+d}{2d}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2d}\right)} \right]^d \right],$$
(8.15)

which in the limit case of d = 1, corresponding to AdS₃, yields a logarithmic divergence

$$S_{EG} = \frac{L}{2G} \log\left[\frac{l}{\delta}\right].$$
(8.16)

It is well-known that hvLf geometries can produce logarithmic terms in the HEE for $\theta = d-1$. However, given that these cases correspond to metrics with $0 < \theta < d$ for $d \ge 2$, we will review them in section 8.2, along with the corresponding new higher-order terms.

• Higher-curvature corrections to HEE.

We are interested now in considering higher-order curvature corrections to the bulk action and see how they affect the HEE expression for hvLf geometries. In general, the gravitational action will be given by Einstein's gravity plus an (infinite) sum of higher-curvature terms with small coupling constants (otherwise, the semiclassical approximation would not make sense)

$$\mathcal{I}_{g} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^{d+2}x \sqrt{g} \left[R + \frac{d(d+1)}{\tilde{L}^{2}} + \tilde{L}^{2} \left[\lambda_{1}R^{2} + \lambda_{2}R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu} + \lambda_{3}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \right] + \tilde{L}^{4}\mathcal{O}(R^{3}) \right]$$
(8.17)

being \tilde{L} a length scale which would coincide with the AdS_{d+2} radius L for Einstein gravity, but would be different in general otherwise, and $\lambda_{1,2,3,\dots}$ dimensionless couplings.

The next step would correspond now to choose some *matter* content and solve the equations of motion for the corresponding fields trying to determine if our hvLf family of metrics (7.3) can be embedded into the theory. The case of curvature-squared gravity was studied in [350], where the authors consider an EMD system with general curvature-squared corrections. For our purposes, it suffices to recall the fact that hvLf geometries are indeed solutions of the corresponding equations of motion, and are expected to appear as well as solutions to similar EMD gravities with even higher-curvature corrections. Another interesting piece of information we can extract from [350] is the fact that the NEC arising in a general EMD curvature-squared gravity reduces in general to a pair of conditions on (z, θ) and the couplings of the new terms, plus the well-known NEC of the Einstein gravity case [162]

$$(z-1)(z-\theta+d) \ge 0,$$
 (8.18)

$$(d-\theta)(d(z-1)-\theta) \ge 0, \qquad (8.19)$$

which in the case under consideration in this chapter, i.e., $d > \theta$, reduces to the condition $z \ge 1$. From now on, we restrict ourselves to this case, although as we will see, our results would not get modified for z < 1 since z will not appear in the exponents of the different terms in the HEE expressions for our hvLf geometries⁸.

Unfortunately, computing HEE in general higher-curvature gravities is a very hard task at present because Dong's recipe [161] turns out to be difficult to apply in most cases, with some exceptions such as Lovelock [247,256], curvature-squared [185] and f(R)gravities [161, 420]. Nevertheless, making use of the results found in curvature-squared gravity plus some general arguments, which we will discuss in a moment, we will to try to say something about the structure of divergences of the HEE in any higher-curvature gravity for our hvLf geometries.

⁸The situation will change in appendix D, where we will consider a doubly Wick-rotated version of (1.114).

There are two steps one needs to take in order to successfully obtain the HEE expression in any higher-curvature gravity for any background, assuming the HEE functional is known. The first is extremizing such a functional, whereas the second corresponds to evaluating the on-shell integral. The first one is underiably harder in general, since the equations of motion we pretend to solve will usually be of high order in derivatives, and very non-linear. However, we can note the following: in the HEE expression we will find in general a sum of divergent terms coming from the on-shell evaluation of the integral near the boundary, plus a constant term related to the bulk contribution. In geometries in which the higher the order of the curvature term the faster it goes to zero in the UV, we will find an expression consisting of a leading Einstein gravity divergence plus possible subleading divergences coming from the higher-order terms, plus a constant term. The question is now how the fact that the entangling surface is different in higher-order gravities with respect to the Einstein gravity case affects the HEE expression, given that the functional we need to extremize is different. We expect the surface to be significantly different away from the UV, where the new terms become large, producing therefore new corrected constant terms. However, as we approach the boundary, where the divergences are to appear, the higher-order terms will die out, and the shape of the entangling surface should not differ much from the Einstein gravity one. This is analogous to computing the area for different surfaces sharing boundary with the extremal area one, m. The result will of course differ, but the order of the divergences will be the same as the one found for m. Thus, it is reasonable to expect that the new divergent terms (if any) appearing in the HEE expression for higher-curvature terms will be produced from the evaluation of the on-shell integral using the surface which extremizes the area functional of Einstein gravity, without having to find the surface which extremizes the new functional. In other words, the new entangling surface should not change the structure of divergences with respect to the one with extremal area and this has two interesting consequences. First, we can identify the order of the divergences of higher-order gravity terms using the extremal area surface, and second, every new divergence will appear at order $\mathcal{O}(\lambda)$ in the corresponding gravitational coupling. Therefore, any term of order $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$ or higher will appear next to a constant, arising from the bulk contribution to the integral.

At this point it is convenient to stress that the study of the structure of divergences of the HEE is physically motivated by the fact that it allows us to determine the dependence of the different terms with the size of the entangling region. In particular, we can use this to check if the area law holds, unveil the presence of universal terms, etc.

Let us now turn to the real calculations. We are going to study in full detail the case of R^2 gravity, in which we will be able to compute the corrected extremal surface. This will allow us to illustrate how the above argument works, and use it to compute the structure of divergences for general curvature-squared gravities, including the more involved cases of Gauss-Bonnet and Ricci² gravities. We will finish this section showing how the results found for these theories allow us to conjecture the form of all divergences in any higher-order curvature gravity for our hvLf metrics. Let us start with curvature-squared gravities.

8.1.1 R^2 gravity

The most general curvature-squared gravity action can be written in terms of three contractions involving the Riemann tensor. These can be chosen to be

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm curv^2} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^{d+2}x \sqrt{g} \left[R + \frac{d(d+1)}{\tilde{L}^2} + \tilde{L}^2 \left[\lambda_1 R^2 + \lambda_2 R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + \lambda_{GB} \mathcal{X}_4 \right] \right], \quad (8.20)$$

where $\mathcal{X}_4 = R^2 - 4R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu} + R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ is the Gauss-Bonnet term, which in four bulk dimensions corresponds to the Euler density of the spacetime manifold.

In the case of R^2 gravity, the HEE functional⁹ is given by [185]

$$S_{R^2} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_m d^d x \sqrt{g_m} \left[1 + 2\lambda_1 \tilde{L}^2 R \right] \,. \tag{8.21}$$

For our hvLf metrics (1.114) the Ricci scalar reads

$$R = \kappa \frac{r^{-2\theta/d}}{\tilde{L^2}}, \qquad (8.22)$$

where we have defined the constant

$$\kappa \equiv -\frac{2\tilde{L}^2}{L^2} \left[z^2 + zd + \frac{d+1}{2} \left[d - 2\theta - \frac{\theta}{d} (2z - \theta) \right] \right] \,. \tag{8.23}$$

As a curiosity, there are certain combinations of (z, θ) for which κ vanishes, meaning that the R^2 contribution identically vanishes, and does not produce any correction at all with respect to the Einstein gravity result. The corresponding curves for which this happens are shown in Figure 8.1. Leaving this case aside, the expression for the entanglement



Figure 8.1: Curves (θ, z) for which the Ricci scalar of hvLf metrics vanishes. d = 1 is depicted in yellow, whereas darker lines correspond to d = 2, 3, ...

⁹The functional proposed by [185] for the HEE of curvature-squared gravities has been used in several works, including [2, 3, 67].

entropy of the strip becomes, using (9.60)

$$S_{R^2} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)}}{2G} \int_0^{l/2} dx_1 \, h^{(\theta-d)} \sqrt{1 + \dot{h}^2} \left[1 + 2\kappa \lambda_1 h^{-2\theta/d} \right] \,. \tag{8.24}$$

Since the functional does not depend on x_1 explicitly, there is again a first integral which we can use to write the expression for \dot{h} in terms of h. We have

$$\sqrt{1+\dot{h}^2} = \frac{f(h)h^{(\theta-d)}}{f(h_*)h_*^{(\theta-d)}}, \text{ with } f(x) \equiv \left[1+2\kappa\lambda_1 x^{-2\theta/d}\right],$$
(8.25)

where h_* is again the turning point of the surface, characterized by $h|_{h_*} = 0$. We can use this relation to rewrite (8.24) in terms of $u \equiv h/h_*$ as

$$S_{R^2} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)} h_*^{\theta - d + 1}}{2G} \int_{\delta/h_*}^1 du \, \frac{u^{(\theta - d)} f(uh_*)}{\sqrt{1 - u^{2(d-\theta)} \frac{f(h_*)^2}{f(uh_*)^2}}},$$
(8.26)

where we have introduced again an ultraviolet cut-off $h \to \delta$ to account for the divergent terms. Note that despite the intricated appearance of the integrand it is already possible at this level to keep track of those divergences. Indeed we can study its behaviour in the limit $u \to 0$

$$\lim_{u \to 0} \frac{u^{(\theta-d)} f(uh_*)}{\sqrt{1 - u^{2(d-\theta)} \frac{f(h_*)^2}{f(uh_*)^2}}} = u^{(\theta-d)} \left[1 + 2\kappa\lambda_1 (uh_*)^{-2\theta/d} \right] \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(u^{2(d-\theta)}\right) \right], \quad (8.27)$$

so the terms with a negative power in u, and therefore those resulting into divergences, arise from the product $u^{(\theta-d)} \left[1 + 2\kappa\lambda_1(uh_*)^{-2\theta/d}\right]$. This agrees with what we anticipated in our previous discussion: had we taken the Einstein gravity surface (9.60), and computed the HEE integral (8.24), we would have found the same divergent terms. It is also important to stress that this expression is valid for any value of the coupling λ_1 , so if we expanded in powers of λ_1 , the only divergence would appear at order $\mathcal{O}(\lambda_1)$, as anticipated. Taking into account (8.27) we find that the entanglement entropy is of the form

$$S_{R^2} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)}}{2G} \left[\frac{1}{\mathfrak{B}_0} \delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_0} + \frac{2\kappa\lambda_1}{\mathfrak{B}_1} \delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_1} \right] + S_0 \,, \tag{8.28}$$

with

$$\mathfrak{B}_0 \equiv d - \theta - 1, \qquad (8.29)$$

$$\mathfrak{B}_1 \equiv \mathfrak{B}_0 + \frac{2\theta}{d}, \qquad (8.30)$$

and S_0 being a constant term which we will discuss later. As we can see, the inclusion of the R^2 term introduces a new divergence in the HEE. This contribution is not dominant, and the leading divergence is again the Einstein gravity, one as expected. It is also impossible to produce a logarithmic divergence from this term, since this would correspond to $\theta = \frac{d(d-1)}{(d-2)}$, which is larger than 0 for any d > 1. An exception is d = 1, $\theta = 0$, which would correspond to AdS₃, for which both \mathfrak{B}_0 and \mathfrak{B}_1 would be logarithmic. In the special case of Lifshitz geometries, $\theta = 0$, the Ricci scalar is constant and the entanglement entropy diverges as

$$S_{R^2}|_{\theta=0} = (1 + 2\kappa|_{\theta=0}\lambda_1) S_{EG}|_{\theta=0}, \qquad (8.31)$$

where $S_{EG}|_{\theta=0}$ is just the HEE for a strip in AdS_{d+2} (recall that, although $z \neq 1$ in general, the dynamical exponent does not enter into the HEE expression for Einstein gravity), which can be read from (8.13), and

$$\kappa|_{\theta=0} = -\frac{2\tilde{L}^2}{L^2} \left[z^2 + zd + \frac{d(d+1)}{2} \right].$$
(8.32)

As we can see, the dynamical exponent does appear in the HEE formula (through κ) when we consider this curvature-squared contribution, as opposed to the Einstein gravity case¹⁰. However, it does not contribute to the exponents of the divergences, and it will not do so for any higher-curvature gravity, simply because the induced metric on any entangling surface extremizing the corresponding functional will not depend on z in general, given that it only appears in the g_{tt} component of the hvLf metric (1.114). In order to make zappear in the exponents of the HEE terms, we need to consider an anisotropic scaling of a spatial coordinate instead of time. This will be studied in appendix D. The appearance of the new divergence $\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_1}$ is a distinctive feature of hvLf geometries: for AdS or even Lifshitz geometries, the inclusion of additional higher-curvature terms in the bulk action just shifts the coefficient in front of $\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_0}$, without producing any new divergent term.

Coming back to R^2 gravity, in order to extract information about the finite term S_0 in (8.28) we are going to consider the case $\lambda_1 \ll 1$ (which is a reasonable assumption as we are considering the higher-curvature terms to be corrections to the leading Einstein gravity action), so we can Taylor-expand around $\lambda_1 = 0$. We do so in the expression for the entanglement entropy up to order λ_1 and perform the integration afterwards. The result reads

$$S_{0} = -\frac{L^{d}L_{S}^{(d-1)}}{2G} \left\{ \frac{G_{0}h_{*}^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}}{\mathfrak{B}_{0}} + 2\kappa\lambda_{1}h_{*}^{-\mathfrak{B}_{1}} \left[\frac{G_{0}}{(\mathfrak{B}_{0}+1)} + G_{1} \left[\frac{1}{\mathfrak{B}_{1}} - \frac{1}{(\mathfrak{B}_{0}+1)} \right] \right] \right\} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{1}^{2}),$$
(8.33)

where we defined the constants

$$G_0 \equiv \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{\mathfrak{B}_0+2}{2(\mathfrak{B}_0+1)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(\mathfrak{B}_0+1)}\right)}, \quad G_1 \equiv \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{2+2\mathfrak{B}_0-\mathfrak{B}_1}{2(\mathfrak{B}_0+1)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\mathfrak{B}_0-\mathfrak{B}_1}{2(\mathfrak{B}_0+1)}\right)}.$$
(8.34)

The turning point h_* is in this case related to the strip width through

$$\frac{l}{2} = \int_0^{l/2} dx_1 = h_* \int_0^1 \frac{f(h_*)u^{(d-\theta)} du}{f(uh_*)\sqrt{1 - u^{2(d-\theta)} \frac{f(h_*)^2}{f(uh_*)^2}}}.$$
(8.35)

At first order in λ_1 , we can perform the integral and invert the expression to find

$$h_* = \frac{l/2}{G_0} \left[1 + \frac{2\kappa\lambda_1}{(\mathfrak{B}_0 + 1)} \left[\frac{l/2}{G_0} \right]^{(\mathfrak{B}_0 - \mathfrak{B}_1)} \left[1 - \frac{G_1}{G_0} \right] \right].$$
(8.36)

Substitution into (8.33) leads to a kind simplification, and the full entanglement entropy expression at this order is finally given by

$$S_{R^{2}} = \frac{L^{d}L_{S}^{(d-1)}}{2G} \left\{ \frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}}{\mathfrak{B}_{0}} - \frac{(l/2)^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}G_{0}^{\mathfrak{B}_{0}}G_{0}}{\mathfrak{B}_{0}} + 2\kappa\lambda_{1} \left[\frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_{1}}}{\mathfrak{B}_{1}} - \frac{(l/2)^{-\mathfrak{B}_{1}}G_{0}^{\mathfrak{B}_{1}}G_{1}}{\mathfrak{B}_{1}} \right] \right\} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{1}^{2}) .$$
(8.37)

¹⁰The fact that a Lifshitz geometry ($\theta = 0$) produced an unaltered HEE with respect to the AdS case for Einstein gravity was first observed in [397].

This expression is exact at linear order in λ_1 . The Einstein gravity result, given by the first two terms, is corrected by a divergent plus a constant term at first order, plus a constant contribution of order $\mathcal{O}(\lambda_1^2)$.

8.1.2 Gauss-Bonnet gravity

Let us now turn to the case of Gauss-Bonnet gravity. The HEE functional for this theory was proposed in [247] and, as we mentioned, corresponds to a particular case of the JM functional, suitable for Lovelock gravities. Including the boundary term, which we will make use of for d = 2, the expression reads

$$S_{GB} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_{m} d^{d}x \sqrt{g_{m}} \left[1 + 2\lambda_{GB}\tilde{L}^{2}\mathcal{R}_{m} \right] + \frac{\lambda_{GB}\tilde{L}^{2}}{G} \int_{\partial m} d^{d-1}y \sqrt{g_{\partial m}}\mathcal{K} , \qquad (8.38)$$

where \mathcal{R}_m is the Ricci scalar of m, ∂m is the (d-1)-dimensional boundary of m, $h_{\partial m}$ stands for the determinant of the induced metric on ∂m , and \mathcal{K} is the trace of its extrinsic curvature.

In the case of our hvLf geometries, the Ricci scalar of the induced metric on m (9.60) reads

$$\mathcal{R}_m = \frac{(d-1)(d-\theta)h^{-2\theta/d}}{(1+\dot{h}^2)^2 L^2} \left[\left(\dot{h}^2 + \dot{h}^4\right) \left(\frac{(d-2)\theta}{d^2} - 1\right) + \frac{2h\ddot{h}}{d} \right].$$
 (8.39)

As we can see, it identically vanishes for d = 1, which was expectable since the Gauss-Bonnet term \mathcal{X}_4 is identically zero in 3D gravity¹¹.

The way to proceed now is again trying to extremize (8.38) and evaluate the on-shell integral. The simplest case and, at the same time, one of singular interest, is given by d = 2. There, the Gauss-Bonnet contribution reduces to a boundary term, and does not modify the gravitational equations of motion. From the HEE perspective, the integral of the Ricci scalar of a 2D surface embedded in a certain manifold (which is precisely the expression we have here) is proportional to its Euler characteristic, which is a topological quantity, independent of the geometry of m. Therefore, when d = 2 we expect the entangling surface to be the same as in Einstein gravity and the Gauss-Bonnet bulk contribution $\propto \int \mathcal{R}_m$ to be cancelled by the boundary term involving the integral of the extrinsic curvature of ∂m . Let us explicitly show that this is indeed the case for hvLf geometries.

It is straightforward to check that the equations of motion for $h(x_1)$ do not get modified, and we have the very same first integral as in the Einstein gravity case (8.10), which we rewrite here for convenience

$$h_*^{(\theta-2)} = \frac{h^{(\theta-2)}}{\sqrt{1+\dot{h}^2}}.$$
(8.40)

The Ricci scalar on m simplifies to

$$\mathcal{R}_m = \frac{(\theta - 2)}{h_*^{\theta} L^2} \left[u^{-\theta} - (\theta - 1) u^{(4-3\theta)} \right], \qquad (8.41)$$

¹¹The same would occur for $d = \theta$, so no corrections to HEE are produced by this term in such a limit case.

where we have used again $u \equiv h/h_*$. We can now compute the integral involving the bulk terms in (8.38). The result is a sum of the Einstein gravity term (8.13) and the following divergence

$$\frac{1}{4G} \int_{m} d^{d}y \sqrt{g_{m}} \left[2\lambda_{GB} \tilde{L}^{2} \mathcal{R}_{m} \right] = \frac{(2-\theta)\tilde{L}^{2} L_{S} \lambda_{GB}}{2G} \frac{1}{\delta}.$$
(8.42)

Interestingly, the exponent of the divergence does not depend on θ . In order to verify the cancellation of this term with the boundary one, we need to compute the metric induced on ∂m , and the trace of the extrinsic curvature of such boundary understood as an embedding on m. ∂m is characterized by $h \to \delta$, $x_1 = \text{const.}$ We find, after some algebra

$$\sqrt{g_{\partial m}} = L\delta^{\left(\frac{\theta-2}{2}\right)},$$

$$\mathcal{K}_{\partial m} = \frac{(\theta-2)}{2} \frac{\delta^{-\frac{\theta}{2}}}{L},$$
(8.43)

and hence

$$\frac{\lambda_{GB}\tilde{L}^2}{G}\int_0^{L_S} dx_2\sqrt{g_{\partial m}}\mathcal{K} = \frac{(\theta-2)\tilde{L}^2L_S\lambda_{GB}}{2G}\frac{1}{\delta}.$$
(8.44)

As we can see, this contribution exactly cancels the intrinsic curvature contribution of (8.42), as expected.

In the case d > 2 things get much more involved. The functional we pretend to extremize contains derivatives of $h(x_1)$ up to order two, so no first integral is available now. Similarly, although the equations of motion are second-order as well, and not fourth-order as one would expect for a random second-order gravity¹², they turn out to be impossible to treat analytically. However, as we argued before we do not need to obtain the surface extremizing (8.38) in order to obtain the divergent terms in the HEE expression (although we would if we wanted to provide the corresponding corrected constant terms). Indeed, let us use (8.10) to compute the divergences produced by the bulk integral in (8.38). Following the same steps as for R^2 gravity we find¹³

$$S_{GB} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)}}{2G} \left\{ \frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_0}}{\mathfrak{B}_0} - \frac{(l/2)^{-\mathfrak{B}_0} G_0^{\mathfrak{B}_0} G_0}{\mathfrak{B}_0} + \xi \lambda_{GB} \left[\frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_1}}{\mathfrak{B}_1} + c_{1,GB} \right] \right\} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{GB}^2), \quad (8.45)$$

where now

$$\xi \equiv \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{L^2} (d-1)(d-\theta) \,, \tag{8.46}$$

and $c_{1,GB}$ is a constant term that should be computed using the entangling surface extremizing (8.38). As we can see, the expression is completely analogous to the one found for R^2 gravity (8.37): added to the Einstein gravity contribution we find a single divergence of the same order as the one encountered in that case plus a constant correcting the universal term. The fact that the divergences produced by R^2 and Gauss-Bonnet gravities match is not trivial, given that in the first case we are simply adding a term scaling as $\sim u^{-2\theta/d}$ (see (8.24)) to the "1" of Einstein gravity in the HEE integral, whereas for Gauss-Bonnet we find two terms when we substitute $\dot{h}(h)$ and $\ddot{h}(h)$ in (8.39) and (8.38)): one scaling like the R^2 one, plus another one going as $\sim u^{-2\theta/d+2(d-\theta)}$ which, however,

¹²Recall Gauss-Bonnet is a particular Lovelock gravity, which is the most general family of higher-order gravity theories in any dimension with second-order equations of motion.

¹³For the case d = 3, the appearance of \mathfrak{B}_1 in Gauss-Bonnet was anticipated in [290].

does not produce divergences when $\theta \leq 0$. In this case, the dynamical exponent does not appear in the curvature-squared contribution, simply because it does not appear in the pull-back metric on m and, as a consequence, in \mathcal{R}_m . Let us see what happens for our last curvature-squared theory: Ricci-squared gravity.

8.1.3 $R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu}$ gravity

For this theory, the entanglement entropy functional reads [185]

$$S_{\text{Ricci}^2} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_m d^d x \sqrt{g_m} \left[1 + \lambda_2 \tilde{L}^2 \left(R_{(\hat{a})}^{(\hat{a})} - \frac{1}{2} K^{(\hat{a}) 2} \right) \right].$$
(8.47)

In this expression, the first term stands for the contraction of the Ricci tensor associated to the spacetime metric with the two mutually orthogonal unit vectors normal to the entangling surface m, $n_{(\hat{a})}$, $\hat{a} = 1, 2$ according to

$$R_{(\hat{a})}{}^{(\hat{a})} \equiv R_{\mu\nu} n^{\mu}_{(\hat{a})} n^{\nu}_{(\hat{b})} \delta^{(\hat{a})(\hat{b})} \,. \tag{8.48}$$

The second term is the sum of the squares of the two extrinsic curvatures of m

$$K_{\mu\nu}^{(\hat{a})} = \nabla_{\mu} n_{\nu}^{(\hat{a})} \,, \tag{8.49}$$

associated to those two vectors

$$K^{(\hat{a})\ 2} \equiv g^{\mu\nu}g^{\rho\sigma}K^{(\hat{a})}_{\mu\nu}K^{(\hat{b})}_{\rho\sigma}\delta_{(\hat{a})(\hat{b})}.$$
(8.50)

For the hvLf metrics (1.114), the two vectors normal to the entangling surface m associated to our strip are given by

$$n_{(1)} = \frac{r^{z-\theta/d}}{L} \partial_t \,, \ n_{(2)} = \frac{r^{1-\theta/d}}{L\sqrt{1+\dot{h}^2}} \left(\partial_r - \dot{h}\partial_{x_1}\right) \,. \tag{8.51}$$

Making use of this we can evaluate the above expressions to get

$$R_{(\hat{a})}{}^{(\hat{a})} - \frac{1}{2}K^{(\hat{a})}{}^{2} = \frac{h^{-2\theta/d}}{d^{2}L^{2}} \left[d(d+dz-2\theta)(\theta-d-z) + \frac{d\left[\theta^{2} + d((1-z)z-\theta)\right]}{1+\dot{h}^{2}} \right] \\ - \frac{\left[(\theta(d+1) - d(d+z))(1+\dot{h}^{2}) + dh\ddot{h}\right]^{2}}{2\left[1+\dot{h}^{2}\right]^{3}} \right].$$

Following our previous steps, we can make use of (8.10) to determine the divergences in the HEE for this theory. The result is

$$S_{\text{Ricci}^2} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)}}{2G} \left\{ \frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_0}}{\mathfrak{B}_0} - \frac{(l/2)^{-\mathfrak{B}_0} G_0^{\mathfrak{B}_0} G_0}{\mathfrak{B}_0} + \gamma \lambda_2 \left[\frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_1}}{\mathfrak{B}_1} + c_{1,\text{Ricci}^2} \right] \right\} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_2^2) , \quad (8.53)$$

where now

$$\gamma \equiv \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{L^2} \frac{(d+dz-2\theta)(\theta-d-z)}{d} , \qquad (8.54)$$

and c_{1,Ricci^2} is the correction to the constant term at first order in λ_2 . Again, we find the same kind of term as in the two previous cases. In light of this, we conclude that $\mathfrak{B}_1 = 2\theta/d + d - \theta - 1$ is the only new divergent term produced at the level of curvature-squared gravities when $\theta < 0$. As we already said, this means that no additional logarithmic divergences can appear at this order of curvature for this class of metrics.

8.1.4 Higher-curvature gravities and new logarithmic terms

In the previous subsections we have studied the structure of terms of HEE for general curvature-squared gravities in the case of an entangling region A consisting of a strip in the boundary of hvLf metrics with $\theta \leq 0$. The result is that, in spite of the different terms appearing for the distinct HEE functionals in the various curvature-squared theories, we find that one single additional divergent term appears. This might suggest that if we moved on and considered even higher curvature gravities, one single additional divergence would appear at each order in curvature (this would mean, e.g., that the 10 independent curvature-cubed gravities [158], with their different corresponding functionals would give rise to the same single divergent term, and so on). Although this conjecture seems to ask for stronger evidence, it is important to notice that at the curvature-squared gravities level we are already considering the two kinds of terms that are expected to appear in the HEE functional at all orders in curvature [161], namely: contractions of curvature bulk tensors with normal vectors to the entangling surface m, and contractions of extrinsic curvatures of m with bulk tensors. If our conjecture was right, we could extract the divergent term common to all theories at each order in curvature by computing the HEE expression for the simplest higher-order gravity in each order. This is, of course, R^n gravity.

For an \mathbb{R}^n gravity or, more in general, for an $f(\mathbb{R})$ gravity

$$I_{f(R)} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^{d+2}x \sqrt{g} \left[R + \frac{d(d+1)}{\tilde{L}^2} + \lambda_{f(R)} f(R) \right], \qquad (8.55)$$

(where $\lambda_{f(R)}$ is now a dimensionful coupling), the HEE functional is known to be [161]

$$S_{f(R)} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_m d^2 x \sqrt{g_m} \left[1 + \lambda_{f(R)} \frac{df(R)}{dR} \right] , \qquad (8.56)$$

and so for $f(R) = R^n$, $\lambda_{f(R)} = \lambda_{R^n} \tilde{L}^{2(n-1)}$ and

$$S_{R^n} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_m d^2 x \sqrt{g_m} \left[1 + n\lambda_{R^n} \tilde{L}^{2(n-1)} R^{(n-1)} \right].$$
(8.57)

We can actually extremize this functional and find the HEE expressions following exactly the same steps as in the case of R^2 . The result is

$$S_{R^{n}} = \frac{L^{d}L_{S}^{(d-1)}}{2G} \left[\frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}}{\mathfrak{B}_{0}} - \frac{(l/2)^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}G_{0}^{\mathfrak{B}_{0}}G_{0}}{\mathfrak{B}_{0}} + n\kappa^{(n-1)}\lambda_{R^{n}} \left[\frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_{1}}}{\mathfrak{B}_{1}} - \frac{(l/2)^{-\mathfrak{B}_{1}}G_{0}^{\mathfrak{B}_{1}}G_{1}}{\mathfrak{B}_{1}} \right] \right] + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{R^{n}}^{2})$$
(8.58)

where \mathfrak{B}_1 is now given by

$$\mathfrak{B}_1 = \frac{2(n-1)\theta}{d} + d - \theta - 1.$$
(8.59)

 G_0 and G_1 are again given by (8.34) taking the new value of \mathfrak{B}_1 . As we can see, (8.58) includes the $\mathcal{O}(\lambda_{\mathbb{R}^n})$ correction to the universal term as well as a divergence of order \mathfrak{B}_1 . This is always subleading with respect to \mathfrak{B}_0 and, interestingly, it becomes logarithmic when

$$\theta = \frac{d(d-1)}{d-2(n-1)},$$
(8.60)

provided that 2(n-1) > d. This value of θ resembles the $\theta = d-1$ famous result for which a logarithmic divergence is found in the HEE for Einstein gravity (n = 1), as we will review in a moment. However, this new set of divergences is found for $\theta < 0$, whereas the other occurs with $\theta = d - 1 \ge 0$. Obviously, when n = 2, the only possibility is d = 1, which makes $\theta = 0$ and reduces to the AdS₃ case already studied at the beginning of the section. For n > 2, however, the situation is much richer, and we find a plethora of new logarithmic divergences (see Figure 8.2).



Figure 8.2: Values of n and d for which the corresponding \mathbb{R}^n gravities produce terms including a logarithmic dependence on l for certain values of $\theta \leq 0$. The graph extends to the n > 6, d > 6 region in an obvious way.

When (8.60) is satisfied and 2(n-1) > d, the HEE expression becomes

$$S_{R^{n}} = \frac{L^{d}L_{S}^{(d-1)}}{2G} \left[\frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}}{\mathfrak{B}_{0}} - \frac{(l/2)^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}G_{0}^{\mathfrak{B}_{0}}G_{0}}{\mathfrak{B}_{0}} + n\kappa^{(n-1)}\lambda_{R^{n}} \left[\log\left[\frac{l}{\delta}\right] + c_{R^{n}} \right] \right], \quad (8.61)$$

where now

$$\mathfrak{B}_0 = \frac{2(n-1)(d-1)}{2(n-1)-d},$$
(8.62)

and $c_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ is a constant correcting the universal term. Therefore, we see that starting from curvature-cubed gravities, introducing higher-order terms in the gravitational action allows one to find new logarithmic contributions to the HEE for hvLf geometries. In both (8.58) and (8.61) we find a leading divergence whose coefficient scales with the area of the boundary of our entangling region. However, while in (8.58) the coefficient of the subleading term is also proportional to ∂A , in (8.61) we find a different scaling, provided there appears a factor which depends logarithmically on the width of the stripe l.

If our guess is right, (8.58) (and (8.61) when it applies) would be the right expression (swapping κ , λ_{R^n} and so on for the corresponding parameters) for the HEE of a strip in the boundary of a hvLf geometry with $\theta \leq 0$ for any higher-order gravity of *n*-th order in the Riemann tensor.

8.2 HEE for hvLf geometries in higher-curvature gravities II: $0 < \theta < d$

In this section we turn to the case of $0 < \theta < d$, corresponding to hvLf metrics whose curvature invariants diverge in the UV (as $r \to 0$). In order to do so, we follow the steps of [349] and consider these hvLf metrics to be completed asymptotically by an AdS geometry¹⁴. Hence, we will assume them to hold only above certain scale r_F .

Again, HEE for this class of hvLf spacetimes was studied for Einstein gravity, e.g., in [349] and [162]. In order to be consistent with the conventions in [349], whose results we plan to generalize here, let us make a change of coordinates in (1.114)

$$r = R^{\frac{d}{(d-\theta)}}, \qquad (8.63)$$

and let us relabel $R \to r$ so there is no confusion between the radial coordinate and the Ricci scalar. Our hvLf geometries read now

$$ds^{2} = \frac{L^{2}}{r^{2}} \left[-\frac{dt^{2}}{r^{\frac{2d(z-1)}{d-\theta}}} + r^{\frac{2\theta}{d-\theta}} dr^{2} + d\vec{x}_{(d)}^{2} \right].$$
(8.64)

The idea is to start with a metric of the form

$$ds^{2} = \frac{L^{2}}{r^{2}} \left[-f(r)dt^{2} + g(r)dr^{2} + d\vec{x}_{(d)}^{2} \right], \qquad (8.65)$$

and require it to be asymptotically AdS_{d+2} while assuming it to posses some intermediate hvLf-like behaviour

$$g(r) \simeq \left[\frac{r}{r_F}\right]^{\frac{2\theta}{d-\theta}}, (r >> r_F), \qquad (8.66)$$

$$g(r) \simeq 1, (r << r_F),$$

$$f(r) \simeq \left[\frac{r}{r_F}\right]^{\frac{2d(1-z)}{d-\theta}}, (r >> r_F),$$

$$f(r) \simeq 1, (r << r_F).$$

Now, if we parametrize the entangling surface as $x_1 = F(r)$, computing the induced metric to obtain the area-functional is straightforward, and the result reads [349]

$$S_{EG} = \frac{L^d L_S^{d-1}}{2G} \int_{\delta}^{r_*} \frac{dr}{r^d} \sqrt{g(r) + \dot{F}(r)^2} \,. \tag{8.67}$$

 r_* is the turning point now, where $\dot{F}(r)$ diverges. For this functional there is a first integral given by

$$\dot{F} = \frac{r^d}{r_*^d} \sqrt{\frac{g(r)}{1 - r^{2d}/r_*^{2d}}},$$
(8.68)

so in the end we find

$$S_{EG} = \frac{L^d L_S^{d-1}}{2G} \int_{\delta}^{r_*} \frac{dr}{r^d} \sqrt{\frac{g(r)}{1 - r^{2d}/r_*^{2d}}} \,. \tag{8.69}$$

 $^{^{14}}$ See [162] for a different approach, analogous to the one we follow in the previous section.

The turning point is related to the strip width through

$$\frac{l}{2} = \int_0^{r_*} dr \frac{r^d}{r_*^d} \sqrt{\frac{g(r)}{1 - r^{2d}/r_*^{2d}}} \,. \tag{8.70}$$

In order to compute these integrals, we need to specify what the exact functional form of g(r) is. However, we can simplify the issue by assuming the entangling surface to probe deep into the IR, so $r_* >> r_F$ [349]. In such a case, (8.69) and (8.70) can be estimated making use of (8.66), and the result is [349]

$$S_{EG} = \frac{L^d L_S^{d-1}}{2G} \left[\frac{\delta^{-(d-1)}}{(d-1)} + \frac{c}{r_F^{d-1}} \frac{l^{-\mathfrak{B}_0}}{r_F^{-\mathfrak{B}_0}} + \dots \right] , \qquad (8.71)$$

where c is a numerical constant and the dots refer to subleading contributions which we are neglecting in the limit $r_* >> r_F$. Therefore, we find an area-law term, plus a term which depends on the intermediate scale r_F . When $\theta = d - 1$, (8.71) produces a logarithmic dependence on r_F [349],

$$S_{EG} = \frac{L^d L_S^{d-1}}{2G} \left[\frac{\delta^{-(d-1)}}{(d-1)} + \frac{c}{r_F^{d-1}} \log\left[\frac{l}{r_F}\right] + \dots \right].$$
 (8.72)

This expression resembles the EE expression expected for a QFT with a Fermi surface [407, 426]

$$S = \alpha \frac{L_S^{d-1}}{\delta^{d-1}} + \beta L_S^{d-1} k_F^{d-1} \log(lk_F) + \dots, \qquad (8.73)$$

being k_F de Fermi momentum and α , β numerical positive constants. We see that the parameter r_F can be thus interpreted as the Fermi surface scale $r_F \sim k_F^{-1}$.

In order to study the effect of higher-curvature gravities we should repeat the analysis of section 8.1 and start considering curvature-squared gravities one by one. However, taking into account that our approach relies on approximating the spacetime geometry by two different metrics, namely AdS in the UV and hvLf above some scale r_F without specificating its exact form, the calculations for the Gauss-Bonnet and Ricci² terms become rather filthy and obscure the main goal of this section, which is nothing but studying the kind of terms that one should expect from general higher-order gravities. Therefore, let us stick to \mathbb{R}^n gravity, for which we can find the surface extremizing the HEE functional for the general metric (8.65) and make a treatment as rigorous as the one performed in [349] for Einstein gravity. Following previous steps we find the expression for the HEE functional to be

$$S_{R^n} = \frac{L^d L_S^{d-1}}{2G} \int_{\delta}^{r_*} \frac{dr}{r^d} T(r) \sqrt{\frac{g(r)}{1 - \frac{T(r_*)^2}{T(r)^2} \frac{r^{2d}}{r_*^{2d}}}},$$
(8.74)

where

$$T(x) \equiv \left[1 + n\lambda_{R^n} \tilde{L}^{2(n-1)} R^{(n-1)}(x)\right], \qquad (8.75)$$

with the turning point being related to l/2 by

$$\frac{l}{2} = \int_0^{r_*} dr \frac{r^d}{r_*^d} T(r) \sqrt{\frac{g(r)}{1 - \frac{T(r_*)^2}{T(r)^2} \frac{r^{2d}}{r_*^{2d}}}}.$$
(8.76)

It is a tedious but otherwise straightforward calculation to perform the previous on-shell integral and rewrite it in terms of l at order $\mathcal{O}(\lambda_{R^n})^{15}$. The final result is

$$S_{R^{n}} = \frac{L^{d}L_{S}^{d-1}}{2G} \left[\frac{\delta^{-(d-1)}}{(d-1)} (1 + \lambda_{R^{n}}c_{0}) + \frac{c}{r_{F}^{d-1}} \frac{l^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}}{r_{F}^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}} + \frac{c_{1}\lambda_{R^{n}}}{r_{F}^{d-1}} \frac{l^{-\mathfrak{B}_{1}}}{r_{F}^{-\mathfrak{B}_{1}}} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{R^{n}}^{2}) \right], \quad (8.77)$$

where, just as in the $\theta \leq 0$ case

$$\mathfrak{B}_0 \equiv d - \theta - 1, \qquad (8.78)$$

$$\mathfrak{B}_1 \equiv \mathfrak{B}_0 + \frac{2\theta(n-1)}{d}, \qquad (8.79)$$

and c_0 , c_1 are numerical constants. As we can see, the kind of terms appearing here resembles those found for $\theta \leq 0$ geometries. In particular, the term with the power \mathfrak{B}_1 produces a logarithmic term when

$$\theta = \frac{d(d-1)}{d-2(n-1)},$$
(8.80)

as long as d > 2(n-1) and $\theta < d$. This seems to generalize the case $\theta = d-1$ to \mathbb{R}^n gravities for positive values of the hyperscaling violation exponent. However, $\theta < d$ imposes the following constraint on the order of the gravitational theory admitting such a term

$$3 - 2n > 0, (8.81)$$

which of course is only satisfied for n = 1. This reduces to the well-known case of Einstein gravity corresponding to $\theta = d-1$. Therefore, as opposed to the $\theta \leq 0$ case, we do not find additional logarithmic terms in this case for any higher-curvature gravity. Nevertheless, it is not clear that \mathfrak{B}_1 is the only new contribution susceptible of arising in this case for general *n*th-order gravities. Further study in this direction would be desirable.

8.3 Discussion and perspectives

In this chapter we have considered the effects of higher-order gravity Lagrangians on the HEE expression for geometries with hyperscaling violation. Although the cut-off dependence of the HEE In section 8.1 we have argued that for $\theta \leq 0$, in order to extract the structure of terms for general higher-curvature gravities, it suffices to evaluate the corresponding on-shell functionals on the extremal area surface, without having to obtain the new surfaces extremizing those functionals, something that would be nevertheless necessary for obtaining the right corrected constant terms. This argument is explicitly illustrated for R^2 gravity, for which we can actually extremize the new functional and find the first-order correction to the universal term of the HEE. Our results show that for a general curvature-squared gravity, in addition to the Einstein gravity divergence ($\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_0}$, with $\mathfrak{B}_0 = d - \theta - 1$), there appears a single new one, at order $\mathcal{O}(\lambda)$ in the gravitational coupling of the form $\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_1}$, with $\mathfrak{B}_1 = 2\theta/d + d - \theta - 1$.

¹⁵It is interesting to note that expanding in powers of λ_{R^n} and neglecting higher order contributions is right in this case because the term which goes with the coupling in T(r) scales as $\sim 1/r^{2\theta(n-1)/d}$, with a positive exponent for $\theta > 0$, so when we evaluate the integral at $r \to r_* >> r_F$, the term involving λ_{R^n} is small, and the expansion makes sense.

The fact that, in spite of the different structure of the corresponding HEE functionals for R^2 (8.37), Gauss-Bonnet (8.45) and Ricci² (8.53) gravities, we find only one divergence of the same order in all cases led us to conjecture that this result extends to arbitrary *n*th-order gravities, so the divergent term found for R^n , $\mathfrak{B}_1 = 2(n-1)\theta/d + d - \theta - 1$, would be the only one appearing for any other theory of that order in curvature when $\theta \leq 0$. It might be that the result does not extend to $n \geq 3$ and that new divergent terms appear when those *n*th-order Lagrangians differ from the simple R^n case. Even if that were the case, that would imply that we are forgetting new contributions, not that \mathfrak{B}_1 gets substituted by them. Indeed, the on-shell evaluation of the Wald-like term [161]

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}} \epsilon_{\mu\nu} \epsilon_{\rho\sigma} , \text{ with } \epsilon_{\mu\nu} = n_{\mu}^{(\hat{a})} n_{\nu}^{(\hat{b})} \epsilon_{(\hat{a})(\hat{b})} , \qquad (8.82)$$

will always contain at least one term scaling with the (n-1)th power of the Ricci scalar, which is precisely the one giving rise to \mathfrak{B}_1 . Therefore, \mathfrak{B}_1 will always be there for *n*thorder gravities, although in some cases it might be followed by other divergences appearing for $n \geq 3$.

We have observed that the behaviour arising from Einstein gravity gets corrected for higher-order gravities (at least) by the addition of a new divergent term in which the cut-off scales with a different power, depending on θ , but which is also proportional to the area of the entangling region boundary. Area-law usually tells us about local correlations amongst UV degrees of freedom in the boundary theory. Our findings seem to be suggesting that such correlations get significantly modified when the higher-order couplings are turned on, something which happens to be distinctive of general hvLf geometries with respect to the cases of AdS or Lifshitz without hyperscaling violation, for which the structure of divergences remains unchanged ($\theta = 0$ and so $\mathfrak{B}_0 = \mathfrak{B}_1 = d - 1$) and the only difference produced by the inclusion of such terms is a shift on the coefficient in front of $\delta^{-(d-1)}$ (see (8.31) [397]). Nevertheless, it is important to note that, as explained in the introduction, hvLf backgrounds with $\theta \neq 0$ generically suffer from a linearly divergent dilaton in the UV. This obscures the interpretation of the structure of divergences found in the HEE expression in terms of the degrees of freedom of the dual theory (which, to the best of our knowledge, is not known at present for general hvLf backgrounds). The situation is similar to that found for non-conformal branes, where the dual theory is known to be SYM (with $d \neq 4$). In that case, the dilaton, which is related to the YM coupling, also runs in the UV, which means that the theory is either asymptotically free or it needs a UV completion (depending on the dimension). In order to determine what the case is, one needs the exact relation between the dilaton and the coupling. When the YM coupling blows up in the UV, supergravity is not a valid description and S-duality needs to be used. For hvLf metrics, however, the dual theory is not known and the approach taken in the literature is more phenomenological/engineering-like since the supergravity result is taken to define what is meant by the dual theory¹⁶. Either way, comparing the results found in sections 8.1 and 8.2, we see that, regardless of the approach we take in computing HEE for these geometries, to wit: either assuming them to be valid descriptions in the UV (as in [162]), or considering some AdS completion (as in [349]), we find that the structure of the result does not change, and the novelty is always related to the appearance of a new term $\Lambda^{-\mathfrak{B}_1}$, being Λ the scale at which the hvLf geometry is reliable.

¹⁶We thank again Robert C. Myers and Ioannis Papadimitriou for the explanations appearing in this paragraph.

Coming back to our results, as we saw, the new term found becomes logarithmic when d < 2(n-1) for hvLf geometries with

$$\theta = \frac{d(d-1)}{d-2(n-1)},$$
(8.83)

which extends the famous result of $\theta = d - 1$ valid for Einstein gravity to negative values of θ . For Einstein gravity $(n = 1) \mathfrak{B}_0 = \mathfrak{B}_1$ and this becomes the leading divergence, whereas in the rest of cases (n > 1) we have an area-law-like term with the cut-off scaling as $\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_0}$ plus the subleading logarithmic term.

Trying to extend this also to the $0 < \theta < d$ range, we considered the hvLf geometry to be UV-completed by AdS_{d+2} , arising the former above some scale r_F and computed HEE in that case for \mathbb{R}^n gravity. We found that \mathfrak{B}_1 was the only new contribution again. However, for $0 < \theta < d$ we saw that this exponent could not vanish for any n except n = 1, reducing to the well-known case $\theta = d - 1$. In our computation we assume the turning point to probe the IR region, $r_* >> r_F$, in order to be able to approximate the on-shell integrals. It could be that an exact calculation making also use of an exact geometry interpolating between hvLf and AdS in the UV such as the one proposed in [349] gives rise to additional contributions to the HEE when embedded in higher-curvature gravities (and possibly including new logarithmic terms in some cases). Clarifying this possibility and, in general, proving (or refuting) our conjecture on the presence of \mathfrak{B}_1 as the only new divergence for general gravities would be interesting. Of course, this looks like a hard task at present.

As we have seen, the fact that all contributions coming from higher-curvature terms are subleading with respect to the Einstein gravity ones forbids these to produce violations of the area law, although we have shown that in certain cases they would yield universal terms which contain factors scaling logarithmically with the stripe width. Therefore, according to our results, only in the exotic case in which the considered gravitational theories did not include the Einstein gravity term could the HEE exhibit new violations of the area law.

In Figure 8.3 we show the values of n and θ for which \mathbb{R}^n (and general *n*th-order gravities) introduce logarithmic terms for different values of d. The points on the horizontal line n = 1 as well as those on the axis $\theta = 0$ correspond, respectively, to the cases already known in the literature, namely: hvLf with $\theta = d - 1$ and AdS₃, whereas those in the quadrant n > 0, $\theta < 0$ are the new ones (extending infinitely for larger values of n and $-\theta$).



Figure 8.3: Values of n and θ for which \mathbb{R}^n gravities produce logarithmic divergences for different values of d. Orange dots correspond to d = 1 and those in blue to d = 6.

Finally, the results obtained here should be extendable to other entangling regions different from the strip, such as cylinders, *m*-spheres and, ideally, arbitrary entangling regions. In principle, we expect subleading divergences to appear when more *complicated* entangling surfaces are considered. These would be produced by geometric integrals along the entangling surface (see [378] for an account of this for pure AdS_{d+2}). It would be of most interest to investigate how these divergences get modified in hvLf backgrounds. For n-spheres, for example, this has not been accomplished yet (to the best of our knowledge); not even in the simplest case of Einstein gravity.

9 Corner contributions to holographic entanglement entropy

This chapter is based on

Pablo Bueno and Robert C. Myers, "Corner contributions to holographic entanglement entropy", in preparation.

Pablo Bueno, Robert C. Myers and William Witczak-Krempa "Universality of corner entanglement in gapless quantum matter", in preparation.

Entanglement entropy (EE) has emerged as a useful tool in a variety of research areas, including condensed matter physics [8,218,292,364], quantum information [345,425], quantum field theory (QFT) [100,117,119,123,275,276,388] and quantum gravity [68,73, 101,295,310,347,378,379,400,415]. In the context of quantum field theory, we define the EE for a spatial region V as: $S = -\text{Tr}(\rho_V \log \rho_V)$, where ρ_V is the reduced density matrix computed by integrating out the degrees of freedom in the complementary region \overline{V} . The focus of the discussion in this chapter comes from considering the EE for a three-dimensional conformal field theory (CFT), which will have an expansion of the form

$$S_{EE} = c_1 \frac{\mathcal{A}}{\delta} - q \log \left(H/\delta \right) - 2\pi c_0 + \mathcal{O}\left(\delta/H \right) \,, \tag{9.1}$$

where \mathcal{A} , H and δ are, respectively, the perimeter of the entangling surface, some macroscopic length characteristic of the geometry (*e.g.*, we could choose $H = \mathcal{A}$) and a shortdistance cut-off needed to regulate the calculation. Of course, the first term in this expansion is the celebrated 'area law' contribution to the EE [73,400]. However, the dimensionless coefficient c_1 of this linear divergence depends on the details of the regulator and so cannot be used to characterize the underlying CFT. In contrast, in the absence of the logarithmic term (see below), the constant c_0 is a universal constant intrinsic to the CFT and also the geometry of the (smooth) entangling surface.¹ For example, when the latter is a circle, c_0 plays the role of a 'central charge' in the *F*-theorem [121, 257, 277, 340, 341].

Another universal contribution in eq. (9.1) is the one proportional to $\log(H/\delta)$, which arises when the entangling surface (the boundary of the region V) contains cor-

 $^{^{1}}$ Of course, in gapped systems with topological order, this finite contribution would correspond to the topological entanglement entropy [226, 275, 294].

ners $[118, 120, 180, 237]^{2,3}$ — see figure 9.1. Hence the dimensionless coefficient q is a function of the opening angle, *i.e.*, $q = q(\Omega)$. In our discussion, we focus on the contribution of a single corner in the entangling surface. If several corners were present, the coefficient of logarithmic contribution to the EE would simply involve the sum of independent contributions $q(\Omega_i)$ where Ω_i is the opening angle of the *i*'th corner. The form of the function $q(\Omega)$ is constrained by various properties of entanglement entropy [118, 120, 237]: for pure states, the fact that $S_{EE}(V) = S_{EE}(\overline{V})$ requires that $q(\Omega) = q(2\pi - \Omega)$. Further, strong subadditivity imposes

$$q(\Omega) \ge 0$$
, $\partial_{\Omega} q(\Omega) \le 0$ and $\partial_{\Omega}^{2} q(\Omega) \ge \frac{|\partial_{\Omega} q(\Omega)|}{\sin \Omega}$ for $\Omega \le \pi$, (9.2)

i.e., $q(\Omega)$ is a positive convex function on the range $0 \leq \Omega \leq \pi$.



Figure 9.1: (Colour online) A corner in the entangling surface with opening angle Ω .

In fact, the functional form of $q(\Omega)$ is precisely constrained in particular limits. For small opening angles, the function has a pole with

$$\lim_{\Omega \to 0} q(\Omega) \equiv \frac{\kappa}{\Omega} + \cdots .$$
(9.3)

As we will review in appendix F, this form for small angles can be fixed by using a conformal mapping to relate the universal corner contribution to the EE corner to the universal contribution for a narrow strip. Of course, $q(\Omega)$ vanishes when the entangling surface becomes smooth, *i.e.*, $q(\pi) = 0$. Further, we can expect that $q(\Omega)$ is smooth in the vicinity of $\Omega = \pi$ and hence the constraint $q(\Omega) = q(2\pi - \Omega)$ (for pure states) requires that to leading order,

$$q(\Omega) \simeq \sigma (\pi - \Omega)^2 + \cdots,$$
 (9.4)

for $\Omega \sim \pi$. In fact, this constraint will require that $q(\Omega)$ can be represented in a Taylor series with only even powers of $(\pi - \Omega)$ [118]. Hence we may use $q(\Omega)$ in the limits $\Omega \to 0$ and $\Omega \to \pi$ to define two interesting coefficients, κ and σ , which characterize the underlying CFT.

The corner contribution to the entanglement entropy has been studied in a variety of systems: free scalar and fermion field theories [118–120], calculations at a quantum critical point [19], numerical simulations in interacting lattice models [251, 263, 264, 391], interacting scalar field theories [262] and also holographic calculations with Einstein gravity in the bulk [237]. The results obtained in the literature suggest that $q(\Omega)$ contains

²Our discussion focuses on three-dimensional CFT's, however, similar logarithmic contributions may appear in theories which break conformal symmetry [94, 162, 246, 248, 349].

³The generalization to higher-dimensional singular surfaces was performed in [339].

interesting and unambiguous information about the underlying quantum field theory. In particular, it appears to be an interesting measure of the number of degrees of freedom — see, *e.g.*, [118, 120, 262]. By the latter proposition, we would expect that the coefficients, κ and σ , will themselves characterize the number of degrees of freedom in the underlying CFT.⁴ Motivated by this idea, we will take the liberty to refer to these coefficients as 'central charges,' in a certain abuse of notation.

In this chapter, we will study the universal term arising from the presence of corners in the entangling surface for three-dimensional holographic conformal field theories. One of our objectives is to study if the corner charges above have any simple relation to any other known constants, which provide a similar counting of degrees of freedom and might be accessed with more conventional probes of the theory, or if κ and σ are really distinct quantities. As we will discuss below, we can not make a meaningful comparison if the bulk theory corresponds to Einstein gravity. Hence our approach will be to study the corner contributions for a family of extended holographic models which include higher curvature interactions in the bulk gravity theory. Generally, any quantities in the corresponding dual boundary theories, *e.g.*, the corner term, will now depend on the new (dimensionless) gravitational couplings for these higher order terms. This additional dependence on the new couplings allows us to make a nontrivial comparison of κ and σ with various other constants in the boundary CFT's. In particular, we will compare with the coefficients appearing in the universal terms in the EE of a strip and of a disk, in the thermal entropy density, and in the two-point function of the holographic stress tensor.

In fact, beyond the corner charges, the entire functional form of $q(\Omega)$ is characteristic of the underlying CFT. Hence another interesting question to consider is how this function changes with the inclusion of higher curvature interactions in the bulk. In this case, we find that for all of the holographic models studied here, $q(\Omega)$ is only modified by an overall factor but the functional dependence on Ω is not modified by the new gravitational interactions. However, as discussed in section 9.3.1, we do not believe that this behaviour is universal and that the functional form of $q(\Omega)$ will be modified with sufficiently general higher curvature theories in the bulk. One simple consequence of $q(\Omega)$ not being changed here is that the two corner charges are simply related in all of our holographic models, *i.e.*, we will see that $\kappa/\sigma = 4\Gamma(3/4)^4$. Hence we focus most of our discussions on the small angle charge κ in the following.

A final question, which we consider below, is whether our holographic analysis can reveal any features of the corner contribution which are universal to all three-dimensional CFT's. We examine this question briefly in section 9.3.2 by comparing our holographic results with the corner terms in the free QFT's with a conformal scalar and with a massless fermion, as were calculated in [118–120].

Let us now summarize our key results:

The results for the ratios of the corner charge κ with other various coefficients in the dual boundary theory are given in Table 9.1. The most interesting ratio is κ/C_T , the corner charge over the central charge appearing in two-point function of the stress tensor (9.100), which is independent of all of the gravitational couplings. Hence this ratio is universal for the broad class of holographic CFT's studied here.

In fact, as we noted above, the functional form of $q(\Omega)$ is not modified by any of

⁴Refs. [119, 120] discussed σ for this purpose in the context of free field theories.

the higher curvature interactions, except for an overall factor. Given the above result, the entire function $q(\Omega)/C_T$ is universal for the broad class of holographic CFT's studied here. This normalization then provides an interesting way to compare the corner contribution between any general three-dimensional CFT's. Comparing our holographic result with the corresponding free field results,⁵ we see that the free field curves agree with the holographic result remarkably well — see figure 9.6. The free fermion and scalar curves deviate for the holographic result by at most 2.4% and 11%, respectively. Hence we suggest that the holographic expression for $q(\Omega)/C_T$, which is easily evaluated across the full range of $\Omega = 0$ to π , provides a good bench mark with which to compare the analogous results for general three-dimensional CFT's.

The maximum discrepancy between the holographic and free field results for $q(\Omega)/C_T$ occurs as $\Omega \to 0$ but somewhat surprisingly they agree perfectly in the limit $\Omega \to \pi$. That is, the holographic CFT's and the two free field theories exhibit the same ratio

$$\frac{\sigma}{C_T} = \frac{\pi^2}{24} \,. \tag{9.5}$$

Hence we are lead to conjecture that this ratio is in fact a universal constant for general conformal field theories in three dimensions.

The remainder of the chapter is organized as follows: In section 9.1, we first review the holographic calculation of the entanglement entropy for a corner in the boundary of AdS_4 with Einstein gravity in the bulk. Then in section 9.1.1, we study the effects of adding various higher curvature interactions to the bulk gravity theory on the universal corner term. In doing so, we show that the functional form of $q_E(\Omega)$ is universal to all of the theories considered here and evaluate the corner charge κ appearing in each case. In section 9.2, we compare this corner charge in the higher curvature theories with similar quantities appearing in other physical observables, *i.e.*, the coefficients appearing in the universal contribution in the entanglement entropy of a strip and of a disk, in the thermal entropy density and in the two-point correlator of the stress tensor. In section 9.3, we summarize our results. We also discuss the possibility of modifying the shape of the extremal surface in the holographic entanglement entropy in more general higher curvature theories of gravity, and hence modifying the functional form of $q(\Omega)$ in the dual boundary theories. We also comment on the relation between our holographic results and the analogous results obtained for free field theories. In appendix F, we explain the conformal mapping which relates the corner charge κ with the coefficient of the universal term in the entanglement entropy of a strip. In appendix G, we compute the corner contribution for a general f(R)theory and explain in some detail the linearized equations of motion used to compute the two-point function of the stress tensor. Finally in appendix H, we present the integrals used in [118–120] to evaluate the coefficient σ for the free massless scalar and fermion theories and show that when evaluated with sufficient precision that they yield the simple rational values predicted by our conjecture (9.5).

9.1 Corner term in holographic entanglement entropy

In this section we study the corner contribution to the entanglement entropy for holographic CFT's dual to higher curvature theories of gravity. In particular, we will consider

⁵Similar comparisons were made in [120], but without normalizing by the central charge C_T .

bulk actions which contain general curvature-squared interactions and which are functions of Lovelock densities [381]. However, we begin by reviewing the calculation of the corner contribution to holographic entanglement entropy with just Einstein gravity in the bulk, which was originally performed in [237].

The bulk geometry will be four-dimensional Euclidean anti-de Sitter space in Poincaré coordinates 6

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\tilde{L}^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(dz^{2} + dt_{\rm E}^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \rho^{2} d\theta^{2} \right) , \qquad (9.6)$$

which is a solution for Einstein gravity coupled to a negative cosmological constant

$$I_0 = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \left[\frac{6}{L^2} + R \right]$$
(9.7)

as long as we set $\tilde{L} = L$. The dual boundary theory then lives in the flat three-dimensional geometry with metric $d\tilde{s}^2 = dt_{\rm E}^2 + d\rho^2 + \rho^2 d\theta^2$. The region for which we calculate the entanglement entropy will be defined as $V = \{t_{\rm E} = 0, \rho > 0, |\theta| \leq \Omega/2\}$, as illustrated in figure 9.1. Hence the entangling surface ∂V has a corner with opening angle Ω at the origin. Note that in the following, at as well as the usual short-distance cut-off δ , we will also introduce an infrared regulator scale, *i.e.*, $\rho_{max} = H$, to ensure that the entanglement entropy does not diverge.



Figure 9.2: (Colour online) A kink in a constant Euclidean time slice $t_E = 0$ in the boundary of AdS₄.

Now, the corresponding holographic entanglement entropy (HEE) is computed using the Ryu-Takayanagi prescription for the entanglement entropy of conformal field theories dual to Einstein gravity [378, 379].⁷ According to this, the entanglement entropy of a certain region V in our four-dimensional boundary theory is given by

$$S_{EE}(V) = \underset{m \sim V}{\text{ext}} \left[\frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} \right] \,, \tag{9.8}$$

where m are codimension-2 bulk surfaces which are *homologous* to V in the boundary (and in particular $\partial m = \partial V$), and $\mathcal{A}(m)$ denotes the area of m. Figure 9.2 illustrates the extremal bulk surface for the region V defined above.

⁶See appendix C for conventions.

⁷This prescription has been recently proven under certain conditions in [296].

Now following [237], we parametrize the bulk surfaces m as $z = z(\rho, \theta)$ for the present case of corner region V. Further, the scaling symmetry of AdS, along with the fact that there is no other scale in the problem, allow us to limit the ansatz for the extremal surface to $z = \rho h(\theta)$, where $h(\theta)$ is a function satisfying $h \to 0$ as $\theta \to \pm \Omega/2$. With this ansatz, the induced metric on the surface becomes

$$ds_m^2 = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{\rho^2} \left(1 + \frac{1}{h^2} \right) d\rho^2 + \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{h^2} \left(1 + \dot{h}^2 \right) d\theta^2 + \frac{2\tilde{L}^2\dot{h}}{\rho h} d\rho \, d\theta \,. \tag{9.9}$$

where $\dot{h} \equiv dh/d\theta$. The entanglement entropy functional becomes then

$$S_{EE} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_{m} d\theta \, d\rho \, \sqrt{\gamma} = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \int_{\delta/h_0}^{H} \frac{d\rho}{\rho} \int_{0}^{\Omega/2-\epsilon} d\theta \, \frac{\sqrt{1+h^2+\dot{h}^2}}{h^2} \,, \tag{9.10}$$

where γ denotes the determinant of the induced metric (9.128), we have introduced a UV cut-off at $z = \delta$ and $h_0 \equiv h(0)$, which will be the maximum value of $h(\theta)$. As we already mentioned above, the ρ integral is also cut-off as some large distance H. Finally, the angular cut-off ϵ is defined in such that at $z = \delta$, $\rho h(\Omega/2 - \epsilon) = \delta$. Extremizing the above expression yields the equation of motion for $h(\theta)$, which reads

$$\ddot{h}(h+h^3) + h^4 + 3h^2 + 2(\dot{h}^2 + 1) = 0.$$
(9.11)

However, the corresponding 'Hamiltonian' is a conserved quantity, since there is no explicit θ dependence in eq. (9.10). Therefore we find the following first integral

$$\frac{1+h^2}{h^2\sqrt{1+h^2+\dot{h}^2}} = \frac{\sqrt{1+h_0^2}}{h_0^2},$$
(9.12)

where we used $\dot{h}(0) = 0$. We can use eq. (9.12) to replace \dot{h} in terms of h and trade the integral over θ for one over h. After some algebra, eq. (9.10) becomes

$$S_{EE} = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \int_{\delta/h_0}^{H} \frac{d\rho}{\rho} \int_0^{\sqrt{(\rho/\delta)^2 - 1/h_0^2}} dy \sqrt{\frac{1 + h_0^2(1+y^2)}{2 + h_0^2(1+y^2)}}, \qquad (9.13)$$

where we have also substituted $y = \sqrt{1/h^2 - 1/h_0^2}$. Near the boundary $(y \to \infty)$, the integrand behaves as

$$\sqrt{\frac{1+h_0^2(1+y^2)}{2+h_0^2(1+y^2)}} \sim 1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{y^2}\right) \,. \tag{9.14}$$

Therefore, the y integration diverges in the limit that $\delta \to 0$. However, we can isolate this divergence by adding and subtracting one to the integrand. Hence we recast eq. (9.13) as

$$S_{EE} = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \int_{\delta/h_0}^H \frac{d\rho}{\rho} \int_0^\infty dy \left[\sqrt{\frac{1+h_0^2(1+y^2)}{2+h_0^2(1+y^2)}} - 1 \right] + \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \int_{\delta/h_0}^H \frac{d\rho}{\rho} \sqrt{\frac{\rho^2}{\delta^2} - \frac{1}{h_0^2}} \,. \tag{9.15}$$

In the limit that $\delta \to 0$, this expression can be further simplified to produce the final result

$$S_{EE} = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \frac{H}{\delta} - q(\Omega) \log\left(\frac{H}{\delta}\right) - \left(\frac{\pi \tilde{L}^2}{4Gh_0} + q(\Omega)\log(h_0)\right) + \mathcal{O}(\frac{\delta}{H}), \qquad (9.16)$$

where the function $q(\Omega)$ is given by

$$q_E(\Omega) = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \int_0^\infty dy \left[1 - \sqrt{\frac{1 + h_0^2 (1 + y^2)}{2 + h_0^2 (1 + y^2)}} \right].$$
(9.17)

The result in eq. (9.16) has precisely the expected form given in eq. (9.1), *i.e.*, the first term in eq. (9.16) is, of course, the area law contribution, whereas the second is the universal contribution associated with the corner. The last one is the constant term, which does not have a universal character in the present situation.



Figure 9.3: (Colour online) (a) Ω/π as a function of h_0 and (b) $\frac{2G}{\tilde{L}^2}q$ as a function of Ω/π . In the second panel, the dashed lines correspond to the approximate expressions derived in eqs. (9.20) and (9.23) for small opening angles (red) and the smooth limit (orange), respectively.

In eq. (9.17), we have added a subscript 'E' to denote this function as the corner contribution with Einstein gravity in the bulk. The dependence of $q_E(\Omega)$ on the opening angle is implicit on the right-hand side of eq. (9.17) through the dependence of h_0 on Ω . The latter can be determined by evaluating

$$\Omega = \int_{-\Omega/2}^{+\Omega/2} d\theta = \int_{0}^{h_0} dh \, \frac{2h^2\sqrt{1+h_0^2}}{\sqrt{1+h^2}\sqrt{(h_0^2-h^2)(h_0^2+(1+h_0^2)h^2)}} \tag{9.18}$$

and the result is shown in figure 9.3(a). The coefficient of the corner term is then plotted in figure 9.3(b) and we can see that $q_E(\Omega)$ does indeed satisfy all the various constraints explained in the introduction, *e.g.*, see eq. (9.2). For small values of the opening angle, *i.e.*, $\Omega \to 0$, we find

$$\Omega = \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)}h_0 - \frac{\left[3\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2 - \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{5}{4}\right)\right]}{6\sqrt{2\pi}}h_0^3 + \mathcal{O}(h_0^5)\,,\tag{9.19}$$

$$q_E(\Omega) = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2\pi G} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \frac{1}{\Omega} - \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{G} \frac{\pi \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)}{48\sqrt{2} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^3} \Omega + \mathcal{O}(\Omega^3), \qquad (9.20)$$

which is shown as the dashed red line in figure $9.3(b)^8$. Comparing the latter with eq. (9.3), we see that in this holographic model, the universal 'central charge' associated with the small angle limit of the corner contribution is

Einstein gravity :
$$\kappa_E = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2\pi G} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4$$
. (9.21)

Considering the limit of a smooth entangling surface, *i.e.*, $\Omega \to \pi - \varepsilon$, we have

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\pi}{h_0} + \mathcal{O}(h_0) \,, \tag{9.22}$$

$$q_E(\pi - \varepsilon) = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{8\pi G} \,\varepsilon^2 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^4) \,, \tag{9.23}$$

which is shown as the dashed orange line in figure 9.3(b). Comparing this result with eq. (9.4), we see that the universal 'central charge' associated with the limit of a nearly smooth entangling surface in this holographic model is

Einstein gravity :
$$\sigma_E = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{8\pi G}$$
. (9.24)

Another interesting case to consider is a right-angled corner, *i.e.*, $\Omega = \pi/2$, for which we find

$$q_E(\pi/2) \simeq 0.11823 \, \frac{L^2}{G} \simeq 0.32944 \, \kappa_E \simeq 2.9714 \, \sigma_E \,.$$
 (9.25)

This case naturally arises in numerical calculations of entanglement entropy, e.g., [262].

9.1.1 Higher curvature gravity

Having reviewed the calculation for Einstein gravity in the bulk, we now turn to considering the effect of higher curvature interactions in the bulk theory. For such cases, the Ryu-Takayanagi prescription must be generalized, as was first considered in [154, 184, 247]. In particular, the Bekenstein-Hawking formula on the right-hand side of eq. (9.8) must be replaced by a new entropy functional which accounts for the new gravitational interactions. Hence eq. (9.8) is replaced by

$$S_{EE}(V) = \underset{m \sim V}{\operatorname{ext}} S_{\operatorname{grav}}(m) , \qquad (9.26)$$

where the entropy functional S_{grav} depends on the details of the gravitational theory. This is a familiar idea in the context of black hole entropy where the Wald entropy formula

⁸Notice that eq. (9.20) fits the exact $q_E(\Omega)$ curve remarkably well for not so small angles.

[254, 255, 420] extends $\mathcal{A}/(4G)$ with higher curvature corrections. A natural suggestion would be that the HEE should be calculated by extremizing the Wald entropy evaluated on the bulk surfaces m, however, it was shown that this approach would be incorrect since it fails to produce the proper universal contributions to the entanglement entropy [247]. The latter universal terms are properly reproduced in the special case of Lovelock gravity [154, 247] using an alternative entropy functional [256] — see below. More generally the appropriate entropy functional is the Wald entropy plus additional terms involving the extrinsic curvature, which would vanish if evaluated on the Killing horizon of a stationary black hole [103,161,185,336]. There has been an effort to extend the derivation [296] of the Ryu-Takayanagi prescription to higher curvature theories of gravity [21,65,66,103,161,327] and a general formula was proposed for theories involving interactions with contractions of arbitrary powers of the Riemann tensor (but no derivatives of the curvature). While this general expression was shown to satisfy several consistency checks [161], it seems that it must still be further refined for general theories involving cubic and higher powers of the curvature [21, 66, 327]. In any event, the correct entropy functional is known for general curvature-squared gravity in the bulk and we will use this to determine the modifications to the corner contribution in HEE for these theories in section 9.1.1.

To go beyond curvature squared gravity, we turn to the generalized Lovelock theories considered by [381]. In these theories, the Lagrangian is given by an arbitrary functional of extended 'topological' densities, *i.e.*, scalars constructed from the curvature tensor which if integrated over a manifold of the appropriate dimension would yield the Euler characteristic. Hence Lovelock gravity [303, 304] would be the simplest example in which the Lagrangian is a linear functional of these topological densities. Another well-known class of theories which take this form would be f(R) gravity [399] since the Ricci scalar corresponds to the Euler density for two-dimensional manifolds. In studying these generalized Lovelock theories, [381] proposed a formula for the gravitational entropy which satisfied a classical increase theorem for linearized perturbations of Killing horizons. We interpret the fact that their definition applies for at least small deviations away from a Killing horizon, as evidence that it will yield the correct gravitational entropy in the more general context of evaluating HEE. Then applying this prescription allows us to evaluate the modifications to the corner contribution in HEE for a certain class of theories involving cubic and higher powers of the curvature in section 9.1.1.

It is worth stressing that most often we will be working perturbatively in the gravitational couplings for the higher curvature interactions. We will try to make clear when our expressions are valid for general values of the new couplings and when they correspond to perturbative approximations.

Curvature-squared gravity

The bulk action of the most general curvature-squared gravity can be written as

$$I_2 = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \left[\frac{6}{L^2} + R + \lambda_1 L^2 R^2 + \lambda_2 L^2 R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + \lambda_{\rm GB} L^2 \mathcal{X}_4 \right] \,, \tag{9.27}$$

where

$$\mathcal{X}_4 = R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} - 4R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu} + R^2 \tag{9.28}$$

is the Gauss-Bonnet term, i.e., the Euler density for four-dimensional manifolds. Hence the last interaction does not effect the gravitational equations of motion since we are working with four bulk dimensions. However, as we will see, this term still contributes a topological term to the entropy functional. The AdS₄ metric in eq. (9.6) is still a solution of the full equations of motion for any value of λ_1 and λ_2 provided $\tilde{L} = L$.⁹

The expression for the entanglement entropy in this family of theories is given by eq. (9.26) where S_{grav} takes the form [161, 185, 247, 336]

$$S_2 = \frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} + \frac{L^2}{4G} \int_m d^2 y \sqrt{\gamma} \left[2\lambda_1 R + \lambda_2 \left(R^{\hat{a}}_{\ \hat{a}} - \frac{1}{2} K^{\hat{a}} K_{\hat{a}} \right) + 2\lambda_{\rm GB} \mathcal{R} \right] , \qquad (9.29)$$

where γ_{ij} , $K^{\hat{a}}_{ij}$ and \mathcal{R} are, respectively, the induced metric, the second fundamental form and the intrinsic Ricci scalar of the bulk surface m — see appendix C for a complete description of our conventions.¹⁰ Before proceeding with detailed calculations of HEE, let us make some general observations about the expected results.

First, it is worthwhile to note that the gravitational action (9.27) would also include various boundary terms, e.g., see [168, 334], and that similar boundary terms should be expected to appear in the entropy functional (9.29). However, while the addition of such boundary terms may effect the coefficient in the area law contribution to the entanglement entropy (9.1) in the boundary theory, one can infer from the local geometric form of these boundary terms that they will not modify the logarithmic contribution to S_{EE} [247]. Again, the robustness of the logarithmic term here is a reflection of the fact that it is a universal contribution whose value is independent of the precise details of the UV regulator. Of course, since our interest lies in determining the universal corner term $q(\Omega)$, we will ignore any boundary terms that might be added to eq. (9.29).

Next, let us examine the form of the entropy functional in eq. (9.29). The λ_1 and λ_2 terms both contain contributions involving the curvature of the background spacetime geometry. However, since we are evaluating the HEE in empty AdS₄, the latter terms are just constants, *e.g.*, $R = -12/\tilde{L}^2$. Hence the entropy functional is not modified by these terms except for a shift in the overall factor multiplying the area of bulk surface.¹¹

We also note that any surface which extremizes the area, as in eq. (9.8), will satisfy $K^{\hat{a}} = \gamma^{ij} K^{\hat{a}}_{ij} = 0$. Now looking at eq. (9.29), we see that the λ_2 contribution includes a term that is quadratic in $K^{\hat{a}}$. Hence an extremal area surface will also be a saddle point of this term. That is, if we deform away from the extremal area surface by some deformation parameterized by a small parameter ε , then we will have $K^{\hat{a}} \sim \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ and $K^{\hat{a}}K_{\hat{a}} \sim \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$. Therefore extremal area surfaces will also extremize the new contribution (or any other contribution) to the HEE functional that is quadratic in the trace of the extrinsic curvature.¹²

Lastly since we are working with a four-dimensional bulk spacetime, m will be a twodimensional manifold and hence $\int_{m}\sqrt{\gamma} \mathcal{R}$, appearing as λ_{GB} contribution in eq. (9.29), will be proportional to a topological invariant (namely, the Euler characteristic) of m, up to

⁹This result is special to four dimensions. With a higher dimensional bulk, one would generally find $\tilde{L}^2 = L^2/f_{\infty}$ where f_{∞} is a function of all three of the dimensionless couplings, λ_1 , λ_2 and $\lambda_{\rm GB}$.

 $^{^{10}}$ The last term in eq. (9.29) corresponds to a particular case of the Jacobson-Myers entropy functional for Lovelock gravities [256].

¹¹This simple shift may not arise when we are evaluating HEE in more general backgrounds, but this is a general result for backgrounds which are Einstein geometries, *i.e.*, $R_{\mu\nu} = -3/\tilde{L}^2 g_{\mu\nu}$.

¹²The full equations arising from extremizing the new functional will be very non-linear in general and so there may be other saddle points for which $K^{\hat{a}} \neq 0$. However, we will also demand that the bulk surfaces reduce to the corresponding extremal area surfaces in the limit that $\lambda_i \to 0$. Therefore, these new non-linear solutions (if they exist at all) would be discarded since they would not satisfy this condition.

boundary terms. Therefore just as the corresponding interaction in the bulk action (9.27) does not modify the gravitational equations of motion, this term in the HEE functional will not contribute to the equations determining the bulk surface which extremizes eq. (9.29).

Given the above discussion, we conclude that the extremal area surface for any given entangling region in the boundary of pure AdS₄ will also extremize the HEE functional (9.29) for the same calculation of entanglement entropy in the boundary theory dual to curvature-squared gravity. The only effect of the 'higher curvature' corrections in eq. (9.29) will be to change the final entanglement entropy by an overall factor depending on the new couplings, λ_1 , λ_2 and λ_{GB} . In the problem of interest, this indicates that the corner coefficient $q(\Omega)$ will only be changed by this same overall factor. Hence the charge (9.21) is multiplied by an overall factor but the functional dependence of $q(\Omega)$ on the opening angle is precisely the same as compared to Einstein gravity. We note that the above observations actually have broader applicability and that this result will apply to a wide class of theories beyond the special case of curvature-squared gravity — we return to a discussion of this point in section 9.3. Let us now turn to the detailed calculations to see how the different contributions in eq. (9.29) affect the universal corner term in HEE.

R^2 gravity

If we focus on the simplest case of R^2 gravity, *i.e.*, set $\lambda_2 = 0 = \lambda_{\rm GB}$, the gravitational entropy functional reduces to

$$S_2 = \frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} + \frac{L^2 \lambda_1}{2G} \int_m d^2 y \sqrt{\gamma} R = \frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} \left(1 - 24\lambda_1\right), \qquad (9.30)$$

where we substituted $R = -12/L^2$ to produce the last expression. Therefore, as discussed above, the corresponding corner coefficient is simply multiplied by an overall factor relative to the Einstein gravity¹³

$$q(\Omega) = (1 - 24\lambda_1) q_E(\Omega) \tag{9.31}$$

and the corresponding charge becomes

$$\kappa = (1 - 24\lambda_1) \kappa_E. \tag{9.32}$$

$R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu}$ gravity

In the case of $R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu}$ gravity, the HEE functional becomes

$$S_{2} = \frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} + \frac{L^{2}\lambda_{2}}{4G} \int_{m} d^{2}y \sqrt{\gamma} \left(R^{\hat{a}}{}_{\hat{a}} - \frac{1}{2}K^{\hat{a}}K_{\hat{a}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} \left(1 - 6\lambda_{2} \right) - \frac{\lambda_{2}}{8G} \int_{m} d^{2}y \sqrt{\gamma} \frac{\left[2(1 + \dot{h}^{2}) + 3h^{2} + h^{4} + (h + h^{3})\ddot{h} \right]^{2}}{\left(1 + h^{2} + \dot{h}^{2} \right)^{3}}.$$
(9.33)

where the expression in the second line was produced by first substituting $R^{\hat{a}}{}_{\hat{a}} = g^{\perp\mu\nu}R_{\mu\nu} = -6/L^2$ and by evaluating $K^{\hat{a}}K_{\hat{a}}$ for the bulk surface defined by $z = \rho h(\theta)$ — see appendix

¹³As we describe in appendix G, these results can be straightforwardly extended to the case of a general f(R) gravity.

C for details. Varying the above expression will produce a nonlinear differential equation for $h(\theta)$ which, because of the last term, involves third and fourth order derivatives, as well as first and second order derivatives. However, as we explained above, the solution should still be the same extremal area surface which we found with Einstein gravity. The latter occurs because the geometric form of the equation determining the extremal area surface is precisely $K^{\hat{a}} = 0$. Indeed comparing with eq. (9.11), we see that the factor in the numerator of the last term above is precisely the equation determining the profile $h(\theta)$ with Einstein gravity. Because this factor is squared, the profile satisfying eq. (9.11) will also satisfy the full equation of motion coming from eq. (9.33) and further, in evaluating the HEE, the last term will not contribute because this factor simply vanishes. Hence the HEE and in particular, the corner coefficient, is determined by the Bekenstein-Hawking term, as with Einstein gravity but now multiplied by an additional factor. Therefore the charge defined by the corner term as in eq. (9.3) becomes simply

$$\kappa = (1 - 6\lambda_2) \kappa_E. \tag{9.34}$$

Gauss-Bonnet gravity

For pure Gauss-Bonnet gravity, eq. (9.29) reduces to

$$S_2 = \frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} + \frac{L^2 \lambda_{\rm GB}}{2G} \int_m d^2 y \sqrt{\gamma} \mathcal{R} \,. \tag{9.35}$$

Above, we argued that the second term would not affect the profile of the bulk surface nor contribute to the universal corner contribution. With the bulk profile $z = \rho h(\theta)$, it is not difficult to show that the combination $\sqrt{\gamma}\mathcal{R}$ can be written as a total derivative (see appendix C for details)

$$\sqrt{\gamma} \mathcal{R} = \frac{d}{d\theta} \left[\frac{2}{\rho} \frac{\dot{h}}{h\sqrt{1+h^2+\dot{h}^2}} \right].$$
(9.36)

In fact, this is sufficient to conclude that the universal corner contribution will be identical to that in eq. (9.17), as expected.

However, let us examine the contribution of the Gauss-Bonnet term to the HEE in more detail. Using eq. (9.36), this contribution can be written now as

$$\Delta S_{\rm GB} = \frac{L^2 \lambda_{\rm GB}}{2G} \int_m d^2 y \sqrt{\gamma} \,\mathcal{R} = -\frac{L^2 \lambda_{\rm GB}}{G} \int_{\delta/h_0}^H \frac{d\rho}{\rho} \left[\frac{\dot{h}}{h\sqrt{1+h^2+\dot{h}^2}} \right]_{\theta=0}^{\theta=\Omega/2-\epsilon} \,. \tag{9.37}$$

We can make use of eq. (9.12) to replace \dot{h} in terms of h. By doing so, and recalling that $h(\Omega/2 - \epsilon) = \delta/\rho$ and $h(0) = h_0$, the above expression reduces to

$$\Delta S_{\rm GB} = -\frac{L^2 \lambda_{\rm GB}}{G} \frac{H}{\delta} + \mathcal{O}(1) \,. \tag{9.38}$$

Hence, including the Einstein gravity, the final result for the HEE in this case becomes

$$S_{EE} = \frac{L^2}{2G} \frac{H}{\delta} \left(1 - 2\lambda_{\rm GB}\right) - q_E(\Omega) \log\left(\frac{H}{\delta}\right) + \mathcal{O}(1) \,. \tag{9.39}$$

Hence the (nonuniversal) coefficient of the area law term has be modified here but the corner contribution is precisely the same as with just Einstein gravity in the bulk.
It was commented above that the entropy functional (9.29) might be supplemented by boundary terms but that the logarithmic term in the HEE, *i.e.*, the corner contribution, is unaffected by such terms [247]. Gauss-Bonnet gravity provides an illustrative exercise since there is a natural boundary term to be added gravitational entropy functional [247]

$$S_2 = \frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} + \frac{L^2 \lambda_{\rm GB}}{2G} \int_m d^2 y \sqrt{\gamma} \,\mathcal{R} + \frac{L^2 \lambda_{\rm GB}}{G} \int_{\partial m} dy \sqrt{\tilde{\gamma}} \,\mathcal{K}\,, \tag{9.40}$$

where ∂m is the one-dimensional boundary of m at the cut-off surface $z = \delta$. Further $\tilde{\gamma}$ and \mathcal{K} denote the determinant of the induced metric and the trace of the extrinsic curvature, respectively, on this boundary. It is straightforward to evaluate these quantities and to produce the result

$$\Delta S_{\rm GB}' = \frac{L^2 \lambda_{\rm GB}}{G} \int_{\partial m} dy \sqrt{\tilde{\gamma}} \,\mathcal{K} = \frac{L^2 \lambda_{\rm GB}}{G} \int_{\delta/h_0}^H \frac{d\rho}{\delta} = \frac{L^2 \lambda_{\rm GB}}{G} \frac{H}{\delta} + \mathcal{O}(1) \,. \tag{9.41}$$

Adding this contribution to eq. (9.39) leaves

$$S_{EE} = \frac{L^2}{2G} \frac{H}{\delta} - q_E(\Omega) \log\left(\frac{H}{\delta}\right) + \mathcal{O}(1)$$
(9.42)

and we see that with the additional boundary term in eq. (9.40), there is no $\lambda_{\rm GB}$ dependence in either the area law term or the logarithmic contribution in the entanglement entropy. The latter reflects the fact that with the additional boundary term, the Gauss-Bonnet contribution in eq. (9.40) is a purely topological contribution. In any event, as expected, the universal corner contribution remains unaffected by the addition of this boundary term, which implicitly represents a modification of the regulator used to define the entanglement entropy in the dual QFT.

To summarize our results for curvature-squared gravity (9.27) in the bulk, we found that the functional form of $q(\Omega)$ is not modified. Rather the holographic expression only differs from that in the Einstein gravity by some overall factor. Hence the charge defined by the small Ω limit, as in eq. (9.3), becomes

$$\kappa = (1 - 24\lambda_1 - 6\lambda_2) \kappa_E, \qquad (9.43)$$

where the Einstein charge κ_E is given eq. (9.21).

Generalized Lovelock gravity

Recall that Lovelock gravities [303, 304] are the most general higher curvature gravity theories with second-order equations of motion. The corresponding action can be written as

$$I_{\rm LL} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{g} \left[\frac{d(d-1)}{L^2} + R + \sum_{p=2}^{\left\lfloor \frac{d+1}{2} \right\rfloor} \lambda_p L^{2p-2} \mathcal{L}_{2p}(R) \right] , \qquad (9.44)$$

where λ_p are dimensionless couplings and \mathcal{L}_{2p} correspond to the dimensionally extended 2p-dimensional Euler densities

$$\mathcal{L}_{2p}(R) \equiv \frac{1}{2^p} \delta^{\nu_1 \nu_2 \dots \nu_{2p-1} \nu_{2p}}_{\mu_1 \mu_2 \dots \mu_{2p-1} \mu_{2p}} R^{\mu_1 \mu_2}_{\nu_1 \nu_2} \cdots R^{\mu_{2p-1} \mu_{2p-2}}_{\nu_{2p-1} \nu_{2p-2}} .$$
(9.45)

Here $\delta_{\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_{2p-1}\mu_{2p}}^{\nu_1\nu_2...\nu_{2p-1}\mu_{2p}}$ denotes a totally antisymmetric product of 2p Kronecker deltas. Hence when p = (d+1)/2, \mathcal{L}_{2p} is topological and when p > (d+1)/2, \mathcal{L}_{2p} simply vanishes. Of course, the cosmological constant and Einstein terms in eq. (9.44) could be incorporated into the sum as \mathcal{L}_0 and \mathcal{L}_2 , respectively. Recently, there has been renewed interest in these theories in the context of the AdS/CFT correspondence where these theories provide toy models of holographic CFT's in which the central charges differ from one another, *e.g.*, see [?] and the references therein. For this class of theories (9.44), HEE is evaluated with eq. (9.26) using the following entropy functional [154, 247]

$$S_{\rm JM} = \frac{\mathcal{A}(m)}{4G} + \frac{1}{4G} \int_m d^{d-1}y \sqrt{\gamma} \sum_{p=2}^{\lfloor \frac{d+1}{2} \rfloor} p \,\lambda_p \, L^{2p-2} \mathcal{L}_{2p-2}(\mathcal{R}) \,, \tag{9.46}$$

where now $\mathcal{L}_{2p-2}(\mathcal{R})$ is constructed with the intrinsic curvature tensor of the induced metric on m.

Recently, Sarkar and Wall proposed a generalization of the Lovelock theories with an action of the form [381]

$$I_{\rm SW} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{g} f(\mathcal{L}_0, \mathcal{L}_2, \mathcal{L}_4, \cdots, \mathcal{L}_{2k}), \qquad (9.47)$$

where f is some general function of the extended Euler densities up to $k = \lfloor (d+1)/2 \rfloor$ — we will assume that f is a polynomial. Hence these new generalized Lovelock theories might also be seen as an extension of f(R) gravity [399]. In general, the gravitational equations of motion will involve fourth order derivatives of the metric in these new theories. However, the motivation to considering these theories is to examine the second law of black hole thermodynamics in higher curvature theories. In fact, [381] found an expression for the gravitational entropy which satisfies a classical increase theorem for linearized perturbations of Killing horizons

$$S_{\rm SW} = \frac{1}{4G} \int d^{d-1}y \sqrt{\gamma} \sum_{p=1}^{\left\lfloor \frac{d+1}{2} \right\rfloor} p \frac{\partial f}{\partial \mathcal{L}_{2p}(R)} \mathcal{L}_{2p-2}(\mathcal{R}_m) \,. \tag{9.48}$$

Certainly, this expression also reduces to that in eq. (9.46) when f is linear and the action (9.47) is simply the Lovelock action (9.44). We take these facts, in particular, that eq. (9.48) applies for (at least small) deviations away from a Killing horizon, as evidence that it will yield the correct gravitational entropy in the more general context of using eq. (9.26) to evaluate HEE.

Hence we will use the generalized Lovelock theories (9.47) as framework to examine the corner contribution in HEE. Since we are working in a four-dimensional bulk spacetime, all of the \mathcal{L}_{2p} with p = 3, 4, ... will vanish identically. Therefore, we can only construct the new gravity action with powers of the Ricci scalar R and the four-dimensional Euler density \mathcal{X}_4 , given in eq. (9.28). Hence we consider supplementing the standard cosmological constant and Einstein terms in eq. (9.7) with higher curvature interactions of the form

$$\Delta I_{v,w} = \frac{\lambda_{v,w}}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \, L^{2v+4w-2} \, R^v \, \mathcal{X}_4^w \,, \tag{9.49}$$

with integers $v, w \ge 1$. Then using eq. (9.48), the corresponding entropy functional becomes

$$\Delta S_{v,w} = \frac{\lambda_{v,w}}{4G} \int_m d^2 y \sqrt{\gamma} L^{2v+4w-2} \left[v R^{v-1} \mathcal{X}_4^w + 2w R^v \mathcal{X}_4^{w-1} \mathcal{R} \right] . \tag{9.50}$$

Now we are evaluating this expression in a pure AdS_4 background (9.6) and so it may be simplified by substituting $R = -12/\tilde{L}^2$ and $\mathcal{X}_4 = 24/\tilde{L}^4$ to yield

$$\Delta S_{v,w} = (-1)^{v-1} \, 2^{2v+3w-4} \, 3^{v+w-1} \, \frac{\lambda_{v,w}}{G} \, \int_m d^2 y \sqrt{\gamma} \, \left[v - w L^2 \, \mathcal{R} \right] \, f_\infty^{v+2w-1} \,. \tag{9.51}$$

Note the power of $f_{\infty} = L^2/\tilde{L}^2$ appearing in the integrand above. We have kept this factor here to indicate that in general after solving the gravitational equations, one finds that the curvature scale \tilde{L} no longer coincides with the scale L set by the cosmological constant. In particular, we find

$$1 - f_{\infty} + (-1)^{v} 2^{2v+3w-2} 3^{v+w-1} \left(2 - v - 2w\right) \lambda_{v,w} f_{\infty}^{v+2w} = 0.$$
(9.52)

However, note that if we are working perturbatively in the coupling, we have $f_{\infty} = 1 + O(\lambda_{v,w})$.

With the simplifications produced by working in AdS_4 , the modifications to the entropy functional have reduced to a term proportional to the area of the bulk surface and another involving an integral of the intrinsic Ricci scalar over m. Hence at this point, we can turn to our results from the previous subsection where both terms were encountered before. In particular, neither term modifies the profile of the extremal surface in the bulk and further the area term only changes the corner contribution by an overall factor while the term involving \mathcal{R} does not contribute to this universal term at all. More precisely, given the precise results in eq. (9.51), we find that the charge associated with the corner term becomes

$$\kappa = \left[1 - (-1)^{v} \, 2^{2v + 3w - 2} \, 3^{v + w - 1} \, v \, \lambda_{v,w} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{v,w}^{2})\right] \kappa_{E} \,, \tag{9.53}$$

where the result is expressed to leading order in the perturbative expansion in the coupling.

To make this analysis more concrete, let us extend the general curvature-squared theory (9.27) with the generalized Lovelock interactions which are third- and fourth-order in the curvature

$$I = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \left[\frac{6}{L^2} + R + L^2 \left(\lambda_1 R^2 + \lambda_2 R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + \lambda_{\rm GB} \mathcal{X}_4 \right) + L^4 \left(\lambda_{3,0} R^3 + \lambda_{1,1} R \mathcal{X}_4 \right) + L^6 \left(\lambda_{4,0} R^4 + \lambda_{2,1} R^2 \mathcal{X}_4 + \lambda_{0,2} \mathcal{X}_4^2 \right) \right].$$
(9.54)

Then the final expression of the corner coefficient and the corresponding charge take the simple form

$$q(\Omega) = \alpha q_E(\Omega) \quad \text{and} \quad \kappa = \alpha \kappa_E$$

$$(9.55)$$

where to leading order in the dimensionless couplings, the overall coefficient is given by

$$\alpha = 1 - 24\lambda_1 - 6\lambda_2 + 432\lambda_{3,0} + 24\lambda_{1,1} - 6912\lambda_{4,0} - 576\lambda_{2,1} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2).$$
(9.56)

Of course, $q_E(\Omega)$ and κ_E are the corresponding quantities evaluated for Einstein gravity, as given in eqs. (9.17) and (9.21), respectively. The fact that the functional form of $q(\Omega)$ is unchanged results because the higher curvature contributions to the entropy functional studied here do not modify the profile of the extremal surface in the bulk. We do not expect that this behaviour is completely universal and it may be modified in theories with even more general higher curvature interactions. We will come back to this point in the discussion section.

9.2 Comparison with other charges

By considering the limit of a small opening angle in eq. (9.3), we identified a 'central charge' that appears in the entanglement entropy of regions where boundary has corners. When evaluated for holographic CFT's dual to Einstein gravity, the result (9.21) is proportional to the ratio $\tilde{L}^2/G \sim \tilde{L}^2/\ell_{Planck}^2$. The latter ratio is well known to be indicative of the number of degrees of freedom in the boundary theory. However, for Einstein gravity, the same ratio is ubiquitous for physical quantities involving a similar count of degrees of freedom, e.g., the entropy density of a thermal bath. The pervasiveness of L^2/G arises since this is the only dimensionless parameter that is intrinsic to the bulk theory with Einstein gravity. By considering higher curvature theories for the bulk gravity, as in the previous section, we are introducing more dimensionless couplings and we can begin to distinguish the various charges in the boundary theory, e.g., see [85, 247, 335]. Our objective here is to use our holographic results to determine if the corner charge κ should be considered a new and distinct charge or if it is proportional to charge already appearing in other physical quantities. In particular, in the following, we compare κ to the analogous charges appearing in: 1) the entanglement entropy of an infinite strip; 2) the entanglement entropy of a disk; 3) the entropy density of a thermal bath and 4) the two-point function of the stress tensor. Again, with Einstein gravity in the bulk, all of these quantities are proportional to \tilde{L}^2/G . While the same is true (with our conventions) with the higher curvature theories, the additional dimensionless couplings also give each a unique signature, as we will see in the following.

9.2.1 Entanglement entropy for a strip

We begin with the entanglement entropy of an infinite strip. For a general three-dimensional CFT, the result will take the form [119, 338]

$$S_{EE} = c_1 \frac{2H}{\delta} - \tilde{a} \frac{H}{\ell} + \mathcal{O}(\delta)$$
(9.57)

where ℓ is the width of the strip and H is a long distance scale introduced to regulate the length of the strip, *i.e.*, the area of the entangling surface is 2H. The universal coefficient \tilde{a} can be isolated with

$$\tilde{a} = \frac{\ell^2}{H} \frac{\partial S_{EE}}{\partial \ell} \,. \tag{9.58}$$

We will find that $\tilde{a} = \kappa$ in our HEE calculations below. In fact, this result holds for general three-dimensional CFT's and has a simple explanation since there is a conformal transformation that (essentially) relates the corresponding entanglement geometries — see appendix F.

Holographic calculations of the entanglement entropy of a strip were first carried out in [378, 379] with Einstein gravity in the bulk. To start, we write AdS₄ metric as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\tilde{L}^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(dz^{2} + dt_{\rm E}^{2} + dx_{1}^{2} + dx_{2}^{2} \right) \,. \tag{9.59}$$

Let us parameterize the strip in the boundary as the region $B = \{t_E = 0, x_1 \in [-\ell/2, \ell/2]\}$. As noted above, we also introduce an IR regulator by, *e.g.*, making the x_2 direction periodic with period $\Delta x_2 = H$ and with $H \gg \ell$. The translational symmetry along x_2 allows us to parametrize the entangling surface m as $z = h(x_1)$, so the induced metric on the surface becomes

$$ds_m^2 = \frac{L^2}{h^2} \left(\left[1 + \dot{h}^2 \right] dx_1^2 + dx_2^2 \right) \,, \tag{9.60}$$

where $\dot{h} = \partial_{x_1} h$. Focusing on Einstein gravity [237, 378, 379], we look for surfaces m extremizing the area functional, which in this case is given by

$$S_B = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{4G} H \int_{-\ell/2}^{\ell/2} dx_1 \, \frac{1}{h^2} \sqrt{1 + \dot{h}^2} \,. \tag{9.61}$$

Since the integrand does not depend on x_1 explicitly, there is conserved first integral which can be used to write

$$\dot{h} = -\frac{\sqrt{z_*^4 - h^4}}{h^2}, \qquad (9.62)$$

where z_* is the maximal value of z reached by the extremal surface. The latter can be identified in terms of ℓ through

$$\ell = 2 \int_0^{\ell/2} dx_1 = 2 \int_0^{z_*} \frac{h^2 dh}{\sqrt{z_*^4 - h^4}} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^2 z_* \,. \tag{9.63}$$

The final result for the entanglement entropy with Einstein gravity in the bulk is

$$S_B = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \frac{H}{\delta} - \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2\pi G} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \frac{H}{\ell}, \qquad (9.64)$$

Hence the corresponding universal coefficient is

$$\tilde{a}_E = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2\pi G} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \,, \tag{9.65}$$

which exhibits the expected factor of \tilde{L}^2/G , and further comparing with eq. (9.21), we see that $\tilde{a}_E = \kappa_E$.

This calculation of HEE is easily extended to the higher curvature theories considered in section 9.1.1, taking into account the general remarks made there. We use the prescription (9.26) with the generalized entropy functionals for those theories given in eqs. (9.29) and (9.50). However, as we found before, the terms involving the trace of the extrinsic curvature do not contribute, those with the intrinsic Ricci scalar only contribute boundary terms and those involving bulk curvatures only modify the Einstein result by an overall factor. It is straightforward to verify these expectations with explicit calculations and the final result is

$$S_B = \beta \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \frac{H}{\delta} - \alpha \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2\pi G} \Gamma \left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \frac{H}{\ell}, \qquad (9.66)$$

where α is precisely the same factor given in eq. (9.56). The coefficient β appearing in the area law term is another function of the couplings λ_i , which is not needed here but does not coincide with α in general.¹⁴ Hence the final result for the universal coefficient is

$$\tilde{a} = \alpha \, \tilde{a}_E \,, \tag{9.67}$$

and so we find that $\tilde{a} = \kappa$ in all of these examples. As noted above, this is in fact a general result for three-dimensional CFT's.

 $^{^{14} \}mathrm{In}$ fact, the same factor β appears below in the HEE calculation for a disk.

9.2.2 Entanglement entropy for a disk

For a general three-dimensional CFT, the entanglement entropy of a disk will take the form [122, 222]

$$S_{EE} = c_1 \frac{2\pi R}{\delta} - 2\pi c_0 + \mathcal{O}(\delta)$$
(9.68)

where R is the radius of the disk. The universal coefficient c_0 can be isolated here by evaluating [297]

$$\tilde{a} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(R \frac{\partial S_{EE}}{\partial R} - S_{EE} \right) \,. \tag{9.69}$$

Of course, in this case, the universal constant c_0 plays the an important role as the central charge in the *F*-theorem, *i.e.*, it decreases monotonically in renormalization group flows [121, 257, 277, 340, 341].

The HEE for a disk was first calculated for Einstein gravity using eq. (9.8) in [378, 379]. However, this calculation was later extended to general higher curvature theories of gravity in the bulk [122, 341]. Making use of a conformal transformation in the boundary CFT, the problem of calculating the entanglement entropy for a disk can be mapped to the question of evaluating the thermal entropy of the CFT in a particular curved background. The latter can then be evaluated as the Wald entropy of the corresponding horizon in bulk spacetime with a general gravitational theory in the bulk. The horizon actually appears as an 'observer' horizon upon transforming the bulk AdS geometry to AdS-Rindler coordinates and the extremal area surface in the standard calculation coincides with the bifurcation surface of this horizon, *e.g.*, see [172].

Our calculations of HEE for the disk followed the prescription outlined in section 9.1.1, using eq. (9.26) with the entropy functionals in eqs. (9.29) and (9.50). Using the AdS₄ metric in eq. (9.6), let us parameterize the disk in the boundary as the region $D = \{t_{\rm E} = 0, \rho \leq R\}$. We write the profile of the bulk surface m as $z = h(\rho)$ with no dependence on θ because of the rotational symmetry of the disk. The induced metric on m then becomes

$$ds_m^2 = \frac{L^2}{h^2} \left(\left[1 + \dot{h}^2 \right] d\rho^2 + \rho^2 d\theta^2 \right) \,, \tag{9.70}$$

where $\dot{h} = \partial_{\theta} h$. The extremal area surface becomes the hemisphere [378, 379]

$$\rho^2 + z^2 = R^2 \quad \text{with } z \ge 0.$$
(9.71)

Now in general, the entropy functional for higher curvature theories can be written as the Wald entropy plus terms which are at least quadratic in the extrinsic curvature [103,161]. However, one can readily verify that the extrinsic curvature of the above bulk surface (9.71) vanishes and hence any extrinsic curvature terms will vanish to first order if we make variations of this surface. Since the Wald entropy only involves bulk curvatures, this entropy reduces to the area functional multiplied by an extra overall factor, as in the previous section. Hence eq. (9.71) still remains the extremal surface when calculating the HEE of a disk for any general higher curvature theory in the bulk. Hence with eqs. (9.29) and (9.50) for the theories in section 9.1.1, evaluating the HEE yields

$$S_D = \beta \, \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \, \frac{R}{\delta} - \beta \, \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \,, \tag{9.72}$$

where 15

$$\beta = 1 - 24\lambda_1 - 6\lambda_2 - 2\lambda_{\rm GB} + 432\lambda_{3,0} + 48\lambda_{1,1} - 6912\lambda_{4,0} - 864\lambda_{2,1} - 96\lambda_{0,2} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2) \,. \tag{9.73}$$

Hence the universal charge for the corresponding holographic CFT's becomes

$$c_0 = \beta \, c_{0,E} = \beta \, \frac{\dot{L}^2}{4\pi G} \,, \tag{9.74}$$

where $c_{0,E}$ denotes the result for Einstein gravity, *i.e.*, $c_{0,E} = \tilde{L}^2/(4\pi G)$. Note that with Einstein gravity, the ratio of the universal charges for the corner and the disk is relatively simple, *i.e.*,

$$\frac{\kappa_E}{c_{0,E}} = 2\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \,. \tag{9.75}$$

However, comparing eqs. (9.67) and (9.74), as well as eqs. (9.56) and (9.73), we see that there is no simple relation between κ and c_0 in the general theories. In particular, we have

$$\frac{\kappa}{c_0} = 2\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \left(1 - 2\lambda_{\rm GB} - 24\lambda_{1,1} + 288\lambda_{2,1} + 96\lambda_{0,2} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)\right)$$
(9.76)

and so this ratio depends on the precise value of the gravitational couplings in the higher curvature theories.

9.2.3 Thermal entropy

Another quantity which might be used to characterize the number of degrees of freedom in a system is the thermal entropy. For a three-dimensional CFT, the thermal entropy density takes the form

$$s = c_S T^2$$
. (9.77)

The coefficient c_s is another interesting 'central charge' which is readily calculable in a holographic setting. Of course, the thermal bath in the boundary theory is dual to a planar AdS₄ black hole and we need only calculate the entropy density of the event horizon. For Einstein gravity, the black hole solution can be written as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\tilde{L}^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(\frac{dz^{2}}{f(z)} - f(z)dt^{2} + dx_{1}^{2} + dx_{2}^{2} \right) \quad \text{with } f(z) \equiv 1 - \frac{z^{3}}{z_{\rm H}^{3}}, \tag{9.78}$$

where $z = z_{\rm H}$ is the position of the event horizon. The Hawking temperature is given by $T = 3/(4\pi z_{\rm H})$ and the horizon entropy is given by the Bekenstein-Hawking formula, which yields

$$S_{\text{thermal}} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_{z=z_{\text{H}}} \sqrt{h} \, d^2 x = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{4G \, z_{\text{H}}^2} \, V_2 \,, \tag{9.79}$$

where $V_2 \equiv \int dx_1 dx_2$. Now dividing by the spatial volume V_2 yields the entropy density and substituting the temperature for $z_{\rm H}$ produces an expression of the expected form given in eq. (9.77). The corresponding central charge is

$$c_{S,E} = \frac{4\pi^2}{9} \frac{\dot{L}^2}{G} \,. \tag{9.80}$$

$$\beta = 1 + (v + w)(-1)^{v-1} 2^{2v+3w-2} 3^{v+w-1} \lambda_{v,w} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{v,w}^2)$$

 $^{^{15}}$ For a general theory with action (9.49), the corresponding expression is

Here again, we see the ubiquitous factor of \tilde{L}^2/G and hence the ratio with the corner charge yields a fixed numerical factor, *i.e.*,

$$\frac{\kappa_E}{c_{S,E}} = \frac{9}{8\pi^3} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \,. \tag{9.81}$$

Curvature-squared gravity

Just as with empty AdS_4 , the black hole metric (9.78) is also a solution of the general curvature-squared gravity for any value of the parameters λ_1 , λ_2 and λ_{GB} provided $\tilde{L}^2 = L^2$. Hence the only difference from the above calculations is that the horizon entropy is now given by the Wald entropy formula [254, 255, 420]. Alternatively, we can use the generalized entropy functional in eq. (9.29) since the two expressions only differ by terms involving the extrinsic curvature and the latter vanishes on the event horizon of the AdS₄ black hole. We find, in agreement with [393]

$$s = (1 - 24\lambda_1 - 6\lambda_2) \frac{4\pi^2 \tilde{L}^2}{9 G} T^2$$
(9.82)

and therefore the corresponding central charge becomes

$$c_S = \gamma_2 c_{S,E}$$
 with $\gamma_2 = 1 - 24\lambda_1 - 6\lambda_2$. (9.83)

Comparing to eq. (9.43), we see that for curvature-squared gravity, the thermal entropy charge is modified by the same overall factor that appears in the corresponding corner charge. Hence for this family of holographic theories, the ratio of these two charges remains unchanged from the numerical factor (9.81) that appears with Einstein gravity.

Generalized Lovelock gravity

The black hole metric in eq. (9.78) is no longer a solution of the equations of motion for general theories of the form (9.49). Hence in order to explore how the thermal entropy gets modified here, we must first correct the black hole solution to linear order in the coupling $\lambda_{v,w}$. We parametrize the modified solution as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\tilde{L}^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(\frac{dz^{2}}{f(z) \left[1 + \lambda_{v,w} f_{2}(z) \right]} - f(z) \left[1 + \lambda_{v,w} f_{1}(z) \right] dt^{2} + dx_{1}^{2} + dx_{2}^{2} \right), \qquad (9.84)$$

where $f_1(z)$ and $f_2(z)$ are two nonsingular functions to be determined. This ansatz was chosen so that the position of the horizon remains at $z = z_{\rm H}$. In order to obtain $f_1(z)$ and $f_2(z)$, we substitute the above metric into the Einstein action (9.7) modified by the addition of a higher curvature interaction as in eq. (9.49) and expand to second order in the coupling $\lambda_{v,w}$.¹⁶ From the second order action, we determine the linearized equations of motion for $f_1(z)$ and $f_2(z)$ and then solve them with the boundary conditions that both functions decay as $z \to 0$ and remain nonsingular at $z = z_{\rm H}$. Below we describe the solution and the results for the thermal entropy for each of the generalized Lovelock interactions up to quartic order in the curvatures, shown in eq. (9.54).

¹⁶Since we are working perturbatively in $\lambda_{v,w}$, it is sufficient to consider each higher curvature interaction (9.49) separately. Of course, the first order variations by $f_1(z)$ and $f_2(z)$ vanish identically here because to leading order, the metric solves the Einstein equations of motion.

In general, the Hawking temperature of the solution will be given by

$$T = \frac{3}{4\pi z_{\rm H}} \left(1 + \frac{f_1(z_{\rm H}) + f_2(z_{\rm H})}{2} \lambda_{v,w} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{v,w}^2) \right) \,, \tag{9.85}$$

as one can easily check.

a) R^3 and R^4 gravity

For these two particular theories, as well as any theory with only R^v interactions (*i.e.*, w = 0), the original AdS₄ black hole solution (9.78) does not get corrected at any order in the couplings $\lambda_{v,0}$, *i.e.*, $f_1(z) = f_2(z) = 0$. The uncorrected black hole solves the equations of motion of these theories provided the curvature scale satisfies eq. (9.52), which was also required for the pure AdS₄ metric (9.6) to be a solution in the new theory. Note that for v = 3 and 4, we find the constraints $1 - f_{\infty} + 144\lambda_{3,0}f_{\infty}^3 = 0$ and $1 - f_{\infty} - 3456\lambda_{4,0}f_{\infty}^4 = 0$, respectively.

The horizon entropy is computed using the expression in eq. (9.48). However, since the Ricci scalar of the Schwarzschild-AdS₄ background equals that of the pure AdS₄ solution, the corrected thermal entropy for these theories differs from the Einstein gravity result by just a overall constant factor which is precisely the same as the $\lambda_{3,0}$ and $\lambda_{4,0}$ contributions to α in eq. (9.56). That is, we find

$$s = \gamma_a c_{s,E} T^2$$
 with $\gamma_a = 1 + 432\lambda_{3,0} - 6912\lambda_{4,0} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$. (9.86)

b) $R \mathcal{X}_4$ gravity

For this theory, the AdS curvature is given by $1 - f_{\infty} + 24\lambda_{1,1}f_{\infty}^3 = 0$ — recall that $f_{\infty} \equiv L^2/\tilde{L}^2$. The planar black hole (9.78) no longer solves the equations of motion and so we proceed as described above to find the corrected solution to first order in the coupling. The two functions f_1 and f_2 are

$$f_{1}(z) = -\frac{18z^{3}(z^{3} + z_{\rm H}^{3})}{z_{\rm H}^{6}}, \qquad (9.87)$$

$$f_{2}(z) = \frac{6z^{3}(11z^{3} - 3z_{\rm H}^{3})}{z_{\rm H}^{6}}.$$

With the new metric, the Hawking temperature becomes

$$T_{1,1} = \frac{3}{4\pi z_{\rm H}} \left(1 + 6\lambda_{1,1} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{1,1}^2) \right) \,. \tag{9.88}$$

Using eq. (9.50), the thermal entropy then becomes

$$s = \gamma_b c_{s,E} T^2$$
 with $\gamma_b = 1 + 24\lambda_{1,1} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{1,1}^2)$. (9.89)

We note that γ_b again agrees with the analogous factor appearing in the corner coefficient (9.53) for v = 1 = w.

We stress that, as opposed to the theories with w = 0, the on-shell Gauss-Bonnet term \mathcal{X}_4 is no longer the same in the black hole background as in the pure AdS₄ solution (hence eq. (9.50) no longer reduces down to eq. (9.51)). Computing the horizon entropy as a function of the horizon position yields

$$s = (1 + 36\lambda_{1,1} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{1,1}^2))\frac{\tilde{L}^2}{4\pi G z_{\rm H}^2}.$$
(9.90)

It is only when we express the entropy density as a function of the physical temperature (9.88) that we cover the factor γ_b in eq. (9.89). Actually, it is possible to show that different parametrizations of the corrected solution give rise to different expressions for $s(z_{\rm H})$ and $T(z_{\rm H})$, which nevertheless conspire to produce the same physical result when the entropy density is written in terms of the temperature.

c) $R^2 \mathcal{X}_4$ gravity

In this case, the curvature scale is determined by $1 - f_{\infty} - 576\lambda_{2,1}f_{\infty}^4 = 0$, and the functions parameterizing the corrected black hole (9.84) are

$$f_{1}(z) = \frac{432z^{3}(z^{3} + z_{\rm H}^{3})}{z_{\rm H}^{6}}, \qquad (9.91)$$

$$f_{2}(z) = \frac{-144z^{3}(11z^{3} - 3z_{\rm H}^{3})}{z_{\rm H}^{6}}.$$

Further, the Hawking temperature becomes

$$T = \frac{3}{4\pi z_{\rm H}} \left(1 - 144\lambda_{2,1} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{2,1}^2) \right) , \qquad (9.92)$$

while the entropy density is given by

$$s = \gamma_c c_{s,E} T^2$$
 with $\gamma_c = 1 - 576\lambda_{2,1} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{2,1}^2)$. (9.93)

Here again, γ_c agrees with the analogous factor appearing in the corner coefficient (9.53) for v = 2 and w = 1.

d) \mathcal{X}_4^2 gravity

The last nontrivial interaction at fourth order in curvature corresponds to the square of the Gauss-Bonnet density, \mathcal{X}_4^2 . To begin, let us note that interactions of the form \mathcal{X}_4^w with $w \geq 2$ are not topological and do modify the gravitational equations of motion in four dimensions. It is only the linear term, *i.e.*, w = 1 (and v = 0), which leaves the equations of motion unchanged.

Now in this case, we have $1-f_\infty-96\lambda_{2,1}f_\infty^4=0$ and

$$f_{1}(z) = \frac{8z^{3}(11z^{6} + z^{3}z_{\rm H}^{3} + z_{\rm H}^{6})}{z_{\rm H}^{9}}, \qquad (9.94)$$

$$f_{2}(z) = \frac{8z^{3}(67z^{6} - 83z^{3}z_{\rm H}^{3} + z_{\rm H}^{6})}{z_{\rm H}^{9}}.$$

The Hawking temperature is given by

$$T = \frac{3}{4\pi z_{\rm H}} \left(1 - 8\lambda_{0,2} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{0,2}^2) \right) \,, \tag{9.95}$$

and the thermal entropy density becomes

$$s = \gamma_d c_{s,E} T^2$$
, with $\gamma_d = 1 + 16\lambda_{0,2} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{0,2}^2)$. (9.96)

Here, the factor γ_d receives a correction which is first order in $\lambda_{0,2}$ while the corresponding factor in the corner coefficient does not, *e.g.*, see eq. (9.56). Hence, we have found the first example for which the agreement is broken between the charges defined by the thermal entropy density and by the corner contribution of the entanglement entropy.

Gathering together all of the first order contributions from the new interactions appearing in the fourth-order action (9.54), we have that the thermal entropy density in the dual boundary theory takes the expected form (9.77) where the corresponding charge takes the form

$$c_S = \gamma \ c_{S,E} \tag{9.97}$$

where the Einstein result $c_{S,E}$ is given in eq. (9.80) and

$$\gamma = 1 - 24\lambda_1 - 6\lambda_2 + 432\lambda_{3,0} + 24\lambda_{1,1} - 6912\lambda_{4,0} - 576\lambda_{2,1} + 16\lambda_{0,2} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2) .$$
(9.98)

Comparing with eqs. (9.55) and (9.56) for the corner contribution of the entanglement entropy in the same theories, we see

$$\frac{\kappa}{c_s} = \frac{9}{8\pi^3} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \left(1 - 16\lambda_{0,2} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)\right) \,. \tag{9.99}$$

That is, the ratio κ/c_s is independent of most of the additional dimensionless couplings in eq. (9.54) and it would still be given by the same numerical factor found for Einstein gravity in eq. (9.81) for the class of theories with $\lambda_{0,2} = 0$.

9.2.4 Stress tensor two-point function

Let us now turn to the two-point function for the stress tensor, which is particularly interesting since it defines a central charge for CFT's in any spacetime dimension. Evaluated in the vacuum, the functional form of this two-point correlator is completely fixed by conformal symmetry and energy conservation and for a *d*-dimensional CFT, it takes the form $[169, 356]^{17}$

$$\langle T_{ab}(x) T_{cd}(0) \rangle = \frac{C_T}{x^{2d}} \mathcal{I}_{ab,cd}(x) , \qquad (9.100)$$

where

$$\mathcal{I}_{ab,cd}(x) \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(I_{ac}(x) \, I_{db}(x) + I_{ad}(x) \, I_{cb}(x) \right) - \frac{1}{d} \, \delta_{ab} \, \delta_{cd} \tag{9.101}$$

and

$$I_{ab}(x) \equiv \delta_{ab} - 2\frac{x_a x_b}{x^2}.$$
 (9.102)

Below we will focus on d = 3 but as remarked above, the above expressions provide a definition of C_T for CFT's in any spacetime dimension. In particular, eq. (9.100) is the standard definition of the central charge c in two-dimensional CFT's, *i.e.*, $C_T = c$, while

¹⁷Note that in this section unhatted indices from the beginning of the Latin alphabet run over the d-dimensional boundary of AdS_{d+1} .

for four dimensions, $C_T = 40 c/\pi^4$ where c is the coefficient of the Weyl-squared term in the trace anomaly.

Of course, in a holographic framework, the stress tensor is dual to the normalizable mode of the metric [219, 423] and so evaluating eq. (9.100) requires determining the two-point boundary correlator of the gravitons in the AdS vacuum. This is a standard calculation in the context of Einstein gravity [85, 298] and one finds for three boundary dimensions

$$C_{T,E} = \frac{3}{\pi^3} \frac{L^2}{G} \,. \tag{9.103}$$

Once again, we see the ubiquitous factor of \tilde{L}^2/G and comparing with the corner coefficient (9.21), we have

$$\frac{\kappa_E}{C_{T,E}} = \frac{\pi^2}{6} \, \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \,. \tag{9.104}$$

In order to investigate how the two-point function (or equivalently the graviton propagator) is modified by the introduction of higher curvature terms in the bulk, let us first recall that generically these new interactions will result in the appearance of higherorder derivatives in the gravitiational equations of motion. Hence the metric will contain additional propagating degrees of freedom beyond the usual massless spin-two graviton. Therefore in a holographic context, the metric will also couple both to the stress tensor and some new tensor operator, which is generically *nonunitary*.¹⁸ We can understand the latter, *i.e.*, that generically the new operator generates negative norm states in the boundary CFT, with the following analogy from [341]: Consider a massless scalar field in flat space whose equation of motion has been corrected with a fourth-order term,

$$\left(\Box + \frac{\lambda}{M^2} \,\Box^2\right)\phi = 0\,, \qquad (9.105)$$

where M^2 is some high energy scale and λ , the dimensionless coupling of the higher derivative interaction in the action. Then, the propagator for this field will read

$$\frac{1}{q^2 - \lambda q^4/M^2} = \frac{1}{q^2} - \frac{1}{q^2 - M^2/\lambda} \,. \tag{9.106}$$

Here the $q^2 = 0$ pole will correspond to the usual massless mode, whereas that at $q^2 = M^2/\lambda$ is related to a new massive degree of freedom. Regardless of the sign of λ , the sign of the second term in the propagator above will be negative and so the extra mode is a ghost. Of course, if we are working perturbatively in λ , these new degrees of freedom appear at very high energy scales. Hence if we should restrict our attention to energies much less than $M/\lambda^{1/2}$, the new scalar ghost will not go on-shell. In the holographic context, the additional ghost modes create negative norm states in the bulk theory and so they must be dual to new nonunitary operators in the boundary theory. Further, let us note that the curvature scale plays the role of the mass above, *i.e.*, $L^2 \sim 1/M^2$, and so we can expect that the conformal dimension of these operators to be set by the inverse of the gravitational couplings, *i.e.*, $\Delta^2 \sim 1/\lambda$. Hence if we consider the CFT on the background $R \times S^{d-1}$, the new operator would again be associated with high energy states.

¹⁸Of course, this is a typical feature of holographic theories with higher curvature interactions in the bulk, but it can be evaded in special cases. For example, f(R) gravity can be re-expressed as Einstein gravity coupled to a scalar field [399]. Hence in this case, the additional CFT operator will be a scalar, which can be unitary in the appropriate circumstances.

The above example also highlights that in a perturbative framework, the extra degrees of freedom are highly in the vicinity of the physical pole. Hence our strategy in studying the graviton propagator will be to organize the linearized gravitational equations of motion which make this suppression manifest and allow us to easily identify the proper kinetic term of the physical modes. In general, writing out the linearized equations of motion for the graviton would be a very complex task but it can simplified here in two ways, as discussed in [337]. First, we are interested in the holographic version of eq. (9.100)which is evaluated in the vacuum and so we need only study the metric fluctuations in the AdS₄ background. That is, we consider a perturbed metric: $g_{\mu\nu} = \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}$, where $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$ is the AdS₄ metric (and $h_{\mu\nu} \ll 1$ for all $\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$). In particular then, the background curvature tensor takes the form $\bar{R}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\sigma\rho} = -1/\tilde{L}^2 (\delta^{\mu}{}_{\sigma} \delta^{\nu}{}_{\rho} - \delta^{\mu}{}_{\rho} \delta^{\nu}{}_{\sigma})$, which greatly simplifies the form of the linearized equations of motion. That is, they can be expressed entirely in terms of covariant derivatives acting on $h_{\mu\nu}$. In order to further simplify the resulting expressions, which are still rather involved in general, we can use diffeomorphism invariance to choose a convenient gauge. In the following, we restrict ourselves to a transverse traceless gauge,¹⁹ *i.e.*, $\bar{\nabla}^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = 0$ and $\bar{g}^{\mu\nu}h_{\mu\nu} = 0$.

With these choices, the linearized Einstein equations become

$$G^{L}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{2} \left[\bar{\Box} + \frac{2}{\tilde{L}^2} \right] h_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (9.107)$$

where $G^L_{\mu\nu}$ denotes the linearized Einstein tensor. We have included the stress tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$ for some additional matter fields to the right-hand side because in the following, it will be important to establish the normalization of Newton's constant, or alternatively of the graviton kinetic term. The linearized equation which results from our complete fourth-order gravity (9.54) turns out to read²⁰

$$-\frac{\alpha}{2}\left[\bar{\Box} + \frac{2}{\tilde{L}^2}\right]h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{\lambda_2 L^2}{2}\left[\bar{\Box} + \frac{2}{\tilde{L}^2}\right]^2 h_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (9.108)$$

where α is precisely the constant given by eq. (9.56). Interestingly, none of the higher-order terms considered, except for the $R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu}$ interaction, produce fourth-order derivatives contributions to the linearized equation for the physical graviton $h_{\mu\nu}$ in the AdS₄ background in this gauge, which is a rather striking phenomenom.²¹ It would be certainly interesting to classify the families of higher-order gravities for which this behavior is encountered at each order in curvature. We will not pursue such a goal here.

The left-hand side of eq. (9.108) is organized in a way which makes obvious the suppression of the second term in the vicinity of the physical pole, *i.e.*, for $(\bar{\Box}+2/\tilde{L}^2)h_{\mu\nu}\simeq 0$. However, the higher curvature terms still make their presence felt through the appearance of α which modifies the coefficient of the leading Einstein-like term. As commented above, one can interpret this new coefficient as modifying the normalization of Newton's constant,

¹⁹Let us comment that in the perturbative framework discussed here, the physical degrees of freedom still correspond to a massless spin-two graviton and so this gauge can still be applied here. Note that the traceless condition eliminates the possibility of identifying new scalar degrees of freedom, *e.g.*, as appear in f(R) gravity — see footnote 18. However, these modes are regarded as unphysical with our current perturbative perspective.

²⁰This result agrees with that found in [393] for four-dimensional curvature-squared gravities.

²¹In appendix G, we perform the detailed calculation in a general gauge for f(R) gravity, in which the same structure is found, and show how the fourth-order terms go away in this gauge.

i.e., $G_{\text{eff}} = G/\alpha$ or as having modified the normalization of the graviton kinetic term. In any event, the net effect is to modify the previous holographic calculation of the two-point correlator for Einstein gravity by an overall factor of α . Hence in the higher curvature theory (9.54), we reproduce the desired expression in eq. (9.100) where the central charge is now given by

$$C_T = \alpha C_{T,E} = \alpha \frac{3}{\pi^3} \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{G},$$
 (9.109)

where again, α is precisely the same constant given by eq. (9.56). Of course, we could also write this expression as $C_T = 3\tilde{L}^2/(\pi^2 G_{\text{eff}})$, *i.e.*, the general result has the same form as that for the Einstein theory except that G is replaced by G_{eff} . Therefore, the correction to the central charge appearing in the two-point correlator of the stress tensor (9.100) matches that appearing in the universal corner term. Hence all of the higher curvature theories considered here yield the same ratio (9.104) as in the Einstein theory, *i.e.*,

$$\frac{\kappa}{C_T} = \frac{\pi^2}{6} \, \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \simeq 3.7092 \,. \tag{9.110}$$

One might hope that this is a universal result extending beyond holography. However, in the discussion section below, we will show that this result does not hold in simple free field theories.

9.3 Discussion

In this chapter, we have studied the universal term arising from the presence of corners in the entangling surface for three-dimensional holographic conformal field theories. In general, this coefficient of the logarithmic term in eq. (9.1) is a function of the opening angle at the corner $q(\Omega)$. As we will discuss below, the precise form of this function depends on the details of the underlying CFT, however, as explained in the introduction, this function is constrained to behave as $q(\Omega) \simeq \kappa/\Omega$ in the limit of small opening angles and as $q(\Omega) \simeq \sigma (\Omega - \pi)^2$ in the limit of a nearly smooth entangling surface. Hence, eqs. (9.3) and (9.4) define two coefficients, κ and σ , which can be used to characterize different CFT's. Motivated by the idea that the corner contribution provides a useful measure of the number of degrees of freedom in the underlying theory, we referred to these constants as 'central charges.' In our holographic calculations, we found that the overall form of $q(\Omega)$ did not change and so the two charges were simply related in all of holographic models, *i.e.*, $\kappa/\sigma = 4\Gamma(3/4)^4$. Hence we focus on the small angle charge κ in the following discussion. In particular, one goal was to see if this corner charge had a simple relation to any other known 'charges,' which provide a similar counting of degrees of freedom and might be accessed with more conventional probes of the theory, or if κ is really a distinct quantity.

Our approach was to study κ for an extended holographic model involving higher curvature interactions in the bulk gravity theory, as described in section 9.1. In particular, we evaluated the corner term for an entangling surface with a sharp corner on the boundary of AdS₄, using holographic entanglement entropy (9.26). The final result,

$$\kappa = \alpha \kappa_E$$
, with $\alpha = 1 - 24\lambda_1 - 6\lambda_2 + 432\lambda_{3,0} + 24\lambda_{1,1} - 6912\lambda_{4,0} - 576\lambda_{2,1} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2)$, (9.111)
and
 \tilde{z}_2

$$\kappa_E = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2\pi G} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^4 \,, \tag{9.112}$$

gives κ for the broad class of gravitational theories described by the action (9.54). Our general result is proportional to \tilde{L}^2/G (*i.e.*, the AdS scale squared over Newton's constant) but it is also a function of the eight dimensionless couplings appearing in the action (9.54). Next, in section 9.2, we evaluated several charges appearing in different physical quantities within the same holographic framework. In particular, we studied the analogous charges appearing in the universal terms in the EE of a strip and of a disk, in the thermal entropy density, and in the two-point function of the holographic stress tensor. All of these charges, as well as κ , are simply proportional to L^2/G with Einstein gravity in the bulk and so they can not be distinguished from one another in the corresponding holographic CFT's. However, these charges also become dependent on the additional gravitational couplings with higher curvature gravity in the bulk. Our calculations were perturbative in the λ_i and hence the results are only linear in these couplings. However, this still allowed us to distinguish the various different charges in the boundary CFT. Hence, this extended holographic model provides an interesting framework to investigate our goal stated above. namely, to determine if the corner charge can be considered distinct or if it has a simple relation to another known central charge.

Of course, we do not have a top-down construction where the action (9.54) emerges as the low energy effective action for, *e.g.*, some string theory compactification. Rather our perspective is that such extended holographic models provide an interesting framework to test general properties of CFT's, *i.e.*, if there are certain properties common to all CFT's then they should be satisfied by the holographic CFT's defined by these models. This approach has found success in a number of interesting contexts, such as the discovery of the F-theorem [340, 341]. Below, we also look to test a simple conjecture, motivated by our holographic results, with calculations for free massless quantum field theories.

Another caveat in our analysis is that for the generalized Lovelock theories (9.47), the appropriate gravitational entropy functional to use in evaluating the HEE (9.26) is given by eq. (9.48). Recall that present evidence [21, 66, 327] suggests that the general formula for the entropy functional proposed in [161] must be further refined for higher curvature theories involving cubic and higher powers of the curvature. However, we argued that the use of eq. (9.48) is well motivated by the somewhat complementary analysis of [381] examining the second law of black hole thermodynamics in these higher curvature theories. However, it would be useful to verify this more directly when a fuller understanding of HEE in higher curvature theories emerges.

A summary of the ratios corresponding to the different charges computed in this chapter with respect to κ can be found in Table 9.1.

Constant	Ratio
Strip HEE	$\kappa/\tilde{a} = 1$
Disk HEE	$\kappa/c_{0} = 2\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^{4} \left(1 - 2\lambda_{\rm GB} - 24\lambda_{1,1} + 288\lambda_{2,1} + 96\lambda_{0,2} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2})\right)$
Thermal entropy	$\kappa/c_S = rac{9}{8\pi^3} \Gamma\left(rac{3}{4} ight)^4 \left(1 - 16\lambda_{0,2} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^2) ight)$
$\langle T_{ab}(x)T_{cd}(0)\rangle$	$\kappa/C_T = rac{\pi^2}{6} \Gamma\left(rac{3}{4} ight)^4$

Chapter 9. Corner contributions to holographic entanglement entropy

Table 9.1: Ratios comparing the corner charge κ with similar physical coefficients.

We have seen that our holographic calculations yield $\kappa = \tilde{a}$, where the latter is the coefficient of the universal term in the EE of a strip, as defined in eq. (9.58). However, this is a universal result that is expected to hold for any CFT on the basis of a conformal mapping which relates the two entanglement entropy calculations — see appendix F. Hence this result can be considered a check of our holographic calculations.

On the other hand, the charge c_0 corresponding to the universal constant in the EE of a disk is a distinct charge. Of course, the latter is the central charge which decreases monotonically in RG flows, according to the *F*-theorem [121,257,277,340,341]. The independence of these two charges is illustrated by eq. (9.76), which shows that the ratio κ/c_0 depends on $\lambda_{\rm GB}$, $\lambda_{1,1}$, $\lambda_{2,1}$ and $\lambda_{0,2}$. Hence these two charges depend on the details of the corresponding boundary theories in different ways. Alternatively, the ratio is independent of the remaining four gravitational couplings, λ_1 , λ_2 , $\lambda_{3,0}$ and $\lambda_{4,0}$. Hence there are also broad classes of theories with the same ratio κ/c_0 but it is not a universal feature common to all CFT's.

The thermal entropy density for the holographic theories was calculated as the entropy density of the corresponding AdS_4 planar black hole. In this case, eq. (9.99) shows that κ/c_s is not universal but only depends on $\lambda_{0,2}$, the coupling for the $(\mathcal{X}_4)^2$ interaction in eq. (9.54). However, the fact that this particular example produces a mismatch suggests that this ratio will also depend on other new couplings for more general higher curvature theories. In fact, our findings seem to suggest that the generalized Lovelock theories with w = 0 or 1 and arbitrary v will respect the agreement between the charges, whereas those with $w \ge 2$ will not. We have explicitly verified that this is the case for v = 1 and $w = 2^{.22}$

Eq. (9.110) shows that the ratio κ/C_T is the same for all of the holographic theories which we studied, where C_T is the central charge appearing in the two-point function (9.100) of the stress tensor. Hence eq. (9.110) matches the result (9.104) for Einstein gravity with $\kappa/C_T = \pi^2 \Gamma(\frac{3}{4})^4/6$, at least to first order in the gravitational couplings. It is natural to conjecture that this ratio is a universal quantity for all CFT's, even beyond holography. Some further suggestive results can be found in [339], which studied singular entangling surfaces in holographic models in higher dimensions. In particular, the holographic model examined there had Gauss-Bonnet gravity in the bullk and it was found that for an entangling surface with a conical singularity, C_T controls the coefficient for the universal contribution in the limit of a small opening angle. We will test this simple conjecture below with massless free field theories finding that this result does not hold in those simple field theories.

To close let us observe that a consequence of our results is that C_T and c_S are found to disagree in general for holographic CFT's. Supporting evidence of this disagreement for general holographic theories can be found in [341], where it was shown that these two

²²That is, κ/c_s depends on $\lambda_{1,2}$ but κ/C_T still takes the standard Einstein value (9.104).

charges are not the same for quasi-topological gravity [335, 337].

9.3.1 Shape of the extremal surface

In our holographic investigation of the corner contribution, we found that none of the higher curvature interactions which we studied led to any modification in the functional form of $q(\Omega)$. Rather it remained exactly the same as in Einstein gravity, *i.e.*, $q(\Omega) = \alpha q_E(\Omega)$ where the constant α is given in eq. (9.56). This result is related to the fact that all of the corresponding entropy functionals were extremized by extremal area surfaces in the AdS₄ background, just as in Einstein gravity. Further our discussion in section 9.1.1 suggests that this result is not simply a consequence of working to first order in a perturbative treatment of the gravitational couplings. Hence one may wonder whether this is a general feature of HEE in the AdS₄ vacuum for any higher curvature theory of gravity in the bulk. However, we argue that the latter is, in fact, *not* a universal result.

First we observe that the curvature tensor takes the simple form

$$R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = -\frac{1}{\tilde{L}^2} \left(g_{\mu\rho} \, g_{\nu\sigma} - g_{\mu\sigma} \, g_{\nu\rho} \right) \tag{9.113}$$

in the AdS_4 background. Hence as in the examples in section 9.1.1, the terms in the entropy functional constructed with background curvatures will reduce to an integral of some constant over the bulk surface m, *i.e.*, they multiply the Bekenstein-Hawking contribution by some constant factor. Similarly, any terms involving a mixture of background curvatures and extrinsic curvatures will reduce to an integral of some scalar constructed purely from extrinsic curvatures (and possibly derivatives of the extrinsic curvatures). Therefore, we should consider whether in general such extrinsic curvature terms can lead to modifications in the shape of m — and functional corrections to $q(\Omega)$, as a consequence. Of course, the intuitive answer, which we confirm below, is that a sufficiently complicated contraction of extrinsic curvatures will have a nontrivial effect on the shape of m.

Following the discussion in section 9.1.1, we first observe that any term which contains two or more factors of the trace of the extrinsic curvature, e.g., $\hat{K^{\hat{a}}}K^{\hat{a}ij}K^{\hat{b}}_{ij}K^{\hat{b}}$, will always leave the extremal area surface unchanged. The reason is simply that $K^{\hat{a}} = 0$ is the equation of motion determining the profile on an extremal area surface. Hence, the variation of a term with two or more factors of $K^{\hat{a}}$ will produce terms which still contain this factor and so will vanish on any extremal area surface. On the other hand, one might guess that if the term $K_{ij}^{\hat{a}} K^{\hat{a}ij}$ appears in the entropy functional that it will modify the shape of the bulk surface, but we argue that in fact it also leaves the extremal area surface unchanged. This term is actually produced by a curvature squared interaction of the form $R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ [185,336]. However, this term can be easily rewritten as a linear combination of R^2 , $R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu}$ and \mathcal{X}_4 interactions, *i.e.*, see eq. (9.28). For a pure AdS₄ background, we have argued in section 9.1.1 that extremal area surfaces always extremize the entropy functionals corresponding to each of these three interactions, so the same must be true with $K_{ij}^{\hat{a}}K^{\hat{a}ij}$. However, we find that terms of the form $\left(K_{ij}^{\hat{a}}K^{\hat{a}ij}\right)^n$ with $n \ge 2$ are not extremized by the extremal area surface and so we expect contributions of this kind (if they appear in the HEE formula) will modify the functional form of $q_E(\Omega)$. Similarly, cyclic contractions of extrinsic curvatures, e.g., $K_{k_1k_2}^{\hat{a}}K^{\hat{a}k_2k_3}\dots K^{\hat{d}k_{n-1}k_n}K_{k_n}^{\hat{d}k_1}$, would also modify the profile of the bulk surface so they would also change the functional form of the corner function.

Hence it is relatively simple to find terms which, if they appear in the gravitational entropy functional, would modify the profile of the bulk surface in the calculation of HEE. Hence the general expression for the universal corner term for arbitrary high curvature theories might be expected to take the form

$$S_{\text{corner}} = -q(\Omega) \log\left(\frac{H}{\delta}\right)$$
, where $q(\Omega) = \alpha q_E(\Omega) + r(\Omega)$, (9.114)

where $r(\Omega)$ would be a new function of the opening angle which would depend on some gravitational couplings. If we consider the higher curvature terms as small corrections to Einstein gravity, as for the perturbative calculations in this chapter, it should be clear that $r(\Omega)$ would be highly suppressed with respect to the $q_E(\Omega)$ contribution, since it would only start appearing with interactions that are cubic or higher-order in the curvature. On the other hand, as explained in appendix F, even if such functions correct the functional form of $q_E(\Omega)$ for certain higher-order gravities, the small angle behavior of $q(\Omega)$ is still constrained to take the form

$$\lim_{\Omega \to 0} q(\Omega) = \lim_{\Omega \to 0} \left(\alpha \, q_E(\Omega) + r(\Omega) \right) = \frac{\kappa}{\Omega} + \cdots \,. \tag{9.115}$$

Further, as explained in the introduction, we will have

$$\lim_{\Omega \to \pi} q(\Omega) = \lim_{\Omega \to \pi} \left(\alpha \, q_E(\Omega) + r(\Omega) \right) = \sigma \, (\pi - \Omega)^2 + \cdots \,, \tag{9.116}$$

in the limit of a nearly smooth entangling curve. That is, eqs. (9.3) and (9.4) will still define the universal corner charges, κ and σ , for any holographic theory irrespective of the details of the entropy functional. However, let us note that for Einstein gravity and for all of the holographic theories studied here, these charges are simply related by $\kappa_E/\sigma_E = 4\Gamma(3/4)^4$. In general high curvature theories where the corner term is modified as in eq. (9.114), there will be no reason to expect that this simple relation still holds for these two charges.

Of course, we are not at present able to provide an explicit example of a higher curvature interaction which contributes such an 'interesting' extrinsic curvature term to the graviational entropy functional. However, in this regard, we are simply restricted by the current limitations in understanding how to construct the entropy functional given a particular interaction in the bulk action [21, 66, 327]. Still we do see no reason why these more complicated extrinsic curvature terms can not be produced by sufficiently complicated higher curvature interactions.

9.3.2 Comparison with QFT calculations

The holographic calculations performed here are expected to produce $q(\Omega)$ for certain strongly coupled three-dimensional CFT's dual to our bulk gravity theories. On the other hand, similar field theoretical results are also available for a wide range values of Ω in the case of a free scalar and a free fermion [118–120].²³ Further, it was argued [118,346] that the holographic result for the corner contribution $q_E(\Omega)$ with Einstein gravity qualitatively agrees with these free field results. Given how dissimilar the underlying field theories are in this comparison, even a qualitative agreement may seem somewhat surprising. However,

²³Most other results in the literature, e.g., see [251, 262–264, 391], are given only for a particular value of the opening angle, *i.e.*, for $\Omega = \pi/2$ which is easily studied on a square lattice.

recall that the behaviour of $q(\Omega)$ is fixed on general grounds both for small angles and for $\Omega \simeq \pi$, *i.e.*, see eqs. (9.3) and (9.4), respectively. Further, given the universal form of $q_E(\Omega)$ at least for the broad range of holographic theories considered in this chapter, we find it interesting here to make a quantitative comparison of $q(\Omega)$ for the holographic and free field theories. In order to make such a comparison, we must start by normalizing $q(\Omega)$ for the various theories. A convenient choice is to consider $q(\Omega)/\kappa$ which will then approach $1/\Omega$ for small angles for any field theory. For all of the holographic theories which we studied, we will have $q_E(\Omega)/\kappa_E$ since the common factor of α in eq. (9.55) cancels in the ratio. Of course, $q_E(\Omega)$ is determined numerically by evaluating the integrals in eqs. (9.17) and (9.18), while κ_E is given by eq. (9.21). The corresponding charges for the free field theories were determined in [118–120] as

$$\kappa_{\text{scalar}} \simeq 0.0397 \quad \text{and} \quad \kappa_{\text{fermion}} \simeq 0.0722 \,.$$
 (9.117)

Now the free field results shown in figures 9.4 and 9.5 represent Taylor expansions of $q(\Omega)$ around $\Omega = \pi$ to fourteenth order, which were obtained in [119, 120]. These expansions give a reliable enough approximation for values of the opening angle which are not too small. In particular, the figures also show the lattice results obtained for $q(\Omega)$ at $\Omega = \pi/4$, $\pi/2$ and $3\pi/4$ in [118] using the numerical method developed in [363].



Figure 9.4: (Colour online) We show q/κ for AdS/CFT (orange), a free scalar (blue), a free fermion (red) and the lattice points (squares) obtained numerically for three values of Ω [118]. We also include the black dashed curve giving the $1/\Omega$ behavior which all of the functions will approach for small angles.

In figures 9.4 and 9.5 we see, first of all, how the Taylor expansions for the free theories are in good agreement with the corresponding lattice results. Hence the red and blue lines in these figures can be reasonably trusted at least for angles larger than $\pi/4$. As we see in figure 9.5, the holographic function $q_E(\Omega)/\kappa_E$ turns out to agree with the corresponding free fermion result within a 2% over this whole range where the results are



Figure 9.5: (Colour online) We show $(q/\kappa)_{\text{free}}/(q/\kappa)_{\text{holo}}$ both for the free scalar (blue), the free fermion (red) and the corresponding lattice results (squares). We also show the interpolated curves obtained using the 14 coefficients of the Taylor expansions around $\Omega = \pi$ as well as the coefficients κ in the small opening angle expansions (dashed blue and red). The black dashed line would correspond to the value for which the ratios are equal. Both theories will in fact approach the black square at the end of this line, *i.e.*, at $\Omega = 0$.

reliable. Similarly, the function for the free scalar deviates from the holographic result by no more than 11% in this range. In the small angle region, the three corner contributions normalized by κ in figure 9.4 will all approach $1/\Omega$ (shown as the black dashed line). Of course, we only see the latter behaviour is realized for the holographic result, for which we have the exact function over the whole range of Ω . The exact curves for the free scalar (fermion) would lie somewhere in between the black and the blue (red) curves in the intermediate region and so these curves will tend to lie slightly above those obtained with the Taylor series expansion around $\Omega = \pi$. Hence the exact results for the free fields would be in even better agreement with the holographic curve than we have estimated above. Figure 9.5 is also useful to determine a better estimate of where the Taylor expansions stop being reliable. Focusing on the lattice results in this figure, one might expect that the ratios $(q/\kappa)_{\rm free}/(q/\kappa)_{\rm holo}$ for both the scalar and the fermion will decrease monotonically for increasing Ω over the full range from $\Omega = 0$ to π . This would indicate that the expansions are starting to fail in the vicinity where their slopes become zero, *i.e.*, around $\Omega/\pi \sim 0.35$ for the fermion and $\Omega/\pi \sim 0.27$ in the case of the scalar.

As we have seen, the ratio κ/C_T equals the Einstein gravity result (9.104) for all the higher curvature theories considered here — at least, for perturbative calculations to linear order in the additional gravitational couplings. However, we might ask if this result applies quite generally for any three-dimensional CFT. Given that for the free field theories, we have at our disposal the values of κ in eq. (9.117), it is interesting to compare these corner charges to the corresponding values of C_T , which can be found in [356]:

$$C_{T, \text{ scalar}} = \frac{3}{32\pi^2}, \qquad C_{T, \text{ fermion}} = \frac{3}{16\pi^2}.$$
 (9.118)

Hence the ratios become:

$$\frac{\kappa}{C_T}\Big|_{\text{holo}} \simeq 3.7092\,, \qquad \frac{\kappa}{C_T}\Big|_{\text{scalar}} \simeq 4.17945\,, \qquad \frac{\kappa}{C_T}\Big|_{\text{fermion}} \simeq 3.8005\,. \tag{9.119}$$

All of these ratios are rather close to each other but we do not have precise agreement. In particular, the fermion result differs from the holographic one by approximately 2.4% whereas the scalar ratio is off by approximately 11%. Of course, an open question which remains is whether this ratio is a universal quantity for all holographic theories, however, we can only begin to address this question when a better understanding is established for holographic entanglement entropy in general higher curvature theories.

In fact, it was not only the ratio κ/C_T but rather the entire function $q(\Omega)/C_T$ which was universal for all our higher curvature theories. Hence, even though we found that the universality of κ/C_T did not extend beyond holographic CFT's, we may ask more broadly if there are any features of the corner contribution which are universal for general threedimensional CFT's. Hence in figure 9.6, we plot $(q(\Omega)/C_T)_{\text{free}}/(q(\Omega)/C_T)_{\text{holo}}$ for the free scalar (blue) and the free fermion (red). The figure also includes the corresponding lattice points²⁴ as well as the points at $\Omega/\pi = 0$, which correspond to $(\kappa/C_T)_{\text{free}}/(\kappa/C_T)_{\text{holo}}$. As can be expected from figures 9.4 and 9.5, we see that in general the corner contribution evolves slightly differently for the three cases as Ω runs from 0 to π . The ratios plotted in figure 9.6 are essentially the same in figure 9.5 except that we have changed the normalization by considering $q(\Omega)/C_T$ rather than $q(\Omega)/\kappa$. Hence again, the both ratios in the new figure seem to be monotionically decreasing starting from $(\kappa/C_T)_{\text{free}}/(\kappa/C_T)_{\text{holo}}$ at $\Omega = 0$ — see eq. (9.119). The remarkable feature in figure 9.6 is that both curves seem to reach precisely 1 at $\Omega = \pi$. That is, it appears that the ratio σ/C_T is equal for the two field theories and for our holographic theories!

Recall that we argued the behavior of $q(\Omega)$ was constrained for general CFT's near $\Omega = \pi$ and eq. (9.4) defined the charge σ with $q(\Omega) \simeq \sigma (\pi - \Omega)^2 + \cdots$. In particular, we found in eq. (9.23) that for Einstein gravity

$$\sigma_{\rm E} = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{8\pi G} \,, \tag{9.120}$$

and so given the universal form of $q(\Omega)$ for all our holographic theories in eq. (9.55), we have

$$\sigma = \alpha \, \sigma_E \,, \tag{9.121}$$

with α given again by eq. (9.56). Further in all of our holographic theories, we also have a fixed ratio:

$$\frac{\sigma}{C_T} = \frac{\sigma_E}{C_{T,E}} = \frac{\pi^2}{24} \simeq 0.411234 . \tag{9.122}$$

We can easily compare this result with the ratio σ/C_T for the free conformal scalar and the massless fermion, since σ is simply the first coefficient in the Taylor expansions presented

 $^{^{24}}$ Although, the Taylor expansions and the lattice points seem to differ here, they are actually in good agreement and it is just that the vertical scale has been expanded here. In particular, the disagreement is less than approximately 2.5% in all cases.



Figure 9.6: (Colour online) We show $(q/C_T)_{\text{free}}/(q/C_T)_{\text{holo}}$ both for the free scalar (blue), the free fermion (red) and the lattice points (squares). We also include the interpolated curves obtained using the 14 coefficients of the Taylor expansions around $\Omega = \pi$ as well as the coefficients κ in the small opening angle expansions (dashed blue and red). The black dashed line would correspond to the value for which the ratios equal 1. The dots in blue and red at $\Omega = 0$ correspond to the small angle values of the ratios, namely $(\kappa/C_T)_{\text{free}}/(\kappa/C_T)_{\text{holo}}$.

in [118-120], and the corresponding values are

$$\sigma_{\rm scalar} \simeq 0.0039063$$
, and $\sigma_{\rm fermion} \simeq 0.0078125$. (9.123)

Hence using the values of C_T given in eq. (9.118), the desired ratios become

$$\frac{\sigma}{C_T}\Big|_{\text{scalar}} \simeq 0.411235 , \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\sigma}{C_T}\Big|_{\text{fermion}} \simeq 0.411235 . \quad (9.124)$$

Hence as expected from figure 9.6, the free field ratios show a striking agreement with the holographic result, *i.e.*, they agree with a precision of at least 0.0003%! We might keep in mind that while the free field values for C_T in eq. (9.118) are exact, the corresponding values of σ in eq. (9.123) are only the approximate results of a numerical computation [118–120]. Hence the precision of the agreement between eqs. (9.122) and (9.124) is as good as could be expected.

We are emboldened then to conjecture that the ratio σ/C_T is in fact a universal constant for all three-dimensional CFT's, *i.e.*,

$$\frac{\sigma}{C_T} = \frac{\pi^2}{24} \tag{9.125}$$

for general conformal field theories in three dimensions. This conjecture can be used to predict the exact values of σ_{scalar} and σ_{fermion} ,

$$\sigma_{\text{scalar}} = \frac{1}{256}$$
, and $\sigma_{\text{fermion}} = \frac{1}{128}$. (9.126)

Of course, these values match the results shown in eq. (9.117) within the accuracy limits set by the calculations in [118–120]. However, we can do even better by going back to the original free field computations and evaluating the required integrals with an improved accuracy. The required calculations are described in appendix H and we find that the agreement between our prediction for σ_{scalar} and σ_{fermion} , given by eq. (9.126), and the previous calculations for the free field results can be extended to an accuracy of one part in 10¹². We emphasize the required integrals (H.2) and (H.3) are extremely complicated and they are not even similar. Yet they seem to conspire to produce the simple rational numbers (9.126) predicted by holography. We feel this is striking evidence in favour of our new conjecture above!

9.4 Conventions and notation

In this chapter, Greek indices run over the entire AdS_4 background, whereas Latin letters from the *second* half of the alphabet i, j, \ldots represent directions along the entangling surface m. m is a (co)dimension-two bulk surface with a pair of independent orthonormal vectors orthogonal to it $n_{\hat{a}}^{\mu}$ ($\hat{a} = \hat{1}, \hat{2}$), where the hatted indices from the beginning of the Latin alphabet denote tangent indices in the transverse space, so that $\delta_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = n_{\hat{a}}^{\mu}n_{\hat{b}}^{\nu}g_{\mu\nu}$. Tangent vectors to m are defined in the usual way as $t_i^{\mu} \equiv \partial x^{\mu}/\partial y^i$, being x^{μ} and y^i coordinates in the full AdS₄ background and along the surface, respectively. The corresponding induced metric on the surface is thus given by $\gamma_{ij} \equiv t_i^{\mu}t_j^{\nu}g_{\mu\nu}$ (and its determinant det $\gamma_{ij} \equiv \gamma$), whereas the extrinsic curvatures associated to the two normal vectors $n_{\hat{a}}^{\mu}$ read $K_{\hat{a}j}^{\hat{a}} \equiv$ $t_i^{\mu}t_j^{\nu}\nabla_{\mu}n_{\nu}^{\hat{a}}$, being ∇_{μ} the covariant derivative compatible with $g_{\mu\nu}$. Also, we will denote by $K^{\hat{a}}$ the trace of each extrinsic curvature defined through $K^{\hat{a}} \equiv \gamma^{ij}K_{ij}^{\hat{a}}$. Finally, by $K^{\hat{a}^2}$ we mean the sum of the squares of the two extrinsic curvatures: $K^{\hat{a}^2} \equiv K^{\hat{a}}K^{\hat{b}}\delta_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$. The transverse metric can be defined as $g_{\mu\nu}^{\perp} \equiv n_{\hat{a}}^{\mu}n_{\hat{b}}^{\nu}\delta^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$, and allows us to project bulk tensors in the transverse directions, *e.g.*, $R^{\hat{a}} \equiv g^{\perp\mu\nu}R_{\mu\nu}$.

We write Euclidean AdS_4 in Poincaré coordinates as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\tilde{L}^{2}}{z^{2}} \left(dz^{2} + dt_{\rm E}^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \rho^{2} d\theta^{2} \right) \,. \tag{9.127}$$

The induced metric on surfaces m parametrized as $t_E = 0$, $z - \rho h(\theta) = 0$, such as the ones suitable for the kink, reads

$$ds_m^2 = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{\rho^2} \left(1 + \frac{1}{h^2} \right) d\rho^2 + \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{h^2} \left(1 + \dot{h}^2 \right) d\theta^2 + \frac{2\tilde{L}^2\dot{h}}{\rho h} d\rho \,d\theta \,, \tag{9.128}$$

where $\dot{h}(\theta) \equiv \partial_{\theta} h$. From this one finds

$$\sqrt{\gamma} = \frac{\tilde{L}^2}{\rho h^2} \sqrt{1 + h^2 + \dot{h}^2} \,. \tag{9.129}$$

The resulting orthonormal vectors orthogonal to the surface read

$$n_{\hat{1}} = \frac{z}{\tilde{L}} \partial_t , \qquad (9.130)$$

$$n_{\hat{2}} = \frac{z}{\tilde{L}\sqrt{1+h^2+\dot{h}^2}} \left(\partial_z - h\,\partial_\rho - \frac{\dot{h}}{\rho}\,\partial_\theta\right). \tag{9.131}$$

For our pure AdS_4 background, we find the following expression for the projection of the Ricci tensor appearing in eq. (9.29)

$$R^{\hat{a}}_{\hat{a}} = g^{\perp\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu} = -6/\tilde{L}^2 \,. \tag{9.132}$$

The extrinsic curvature associated to $n_{\hat{1}}$ vanishes, whereas the one corresponding to $n_{\hat{2}}$ turns out to read

$$K_{ij}^{\hat{2}} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{\tilde{L}(h^{2}+1)}{\rho^{2}h^{2}\sqrt{h^{2}+\dot{h}^{2}+1}} & -\frac{\tilde{L}\dot{h}}{\rho h\sqrt{h^{2}+\dot{h}^{2}+1}} \\ -\frac{\tilde{L}\dot{h}}{\rho h\sqrt{h^{2}+\dot{h}^{2}+1}} & -\frac{\tilde{L}(h^{2}+\ddot{h}h+\dot{h}^{2}+1)}{h^{2}\sqrt{h(\theta)^{2}+\dot{h}^{2}+1}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(9.133)

From this we can easily obtain the contraction appearing in eq. (9.29)

$$K^{\hat{a}^2} = \frac{\left[2 + 3h^2 + h^4 + 2\dot{h}^2 + h(1 + h^2)\ddot{h}\right]^2}{\tilde{L}^2 \left(1 + h^2 + \dot{h}^2\right)^3}.$$
(9.134)

Finally, the Ricci scalar of the entangling surface reads

$$\mathcal{R} = \frac{2(-(1+2h^2)\dot{h}^2 - \dot{h}^4 + (h+h^3)\ddot{h})}{\tilde{L}^2(1+h^2 + \dot{h}^2)^2} \,. \tag{9.135}$$

From this and eq. (9.129), it is not difficult to check that the product $\sqrt{\gamma}\mathcal{R}$ is a total derivative. Indeed, we find

$$\sqrt{\gamma}\mathcal{R} = \frac{2(-(1+2h^2)\dot{h}^2 - \dot{h}^4 + (h+h^3)\ddot{h})}{\rho h^2 (1+h^2 + \dot{h}^2)^{3/2}} = \frac{d}{d\theta} \left[\frac{2}{\rho} \frac{\dot{h}}{h\sqrt{1+h^2 + \dot{h}^2}}\right].$$
 (9.136)

A

Generating solutions of cubic models

A.1 Generating new solutions via duality

As mentioned in Section 2.6.5, a necessary and sufficient condition for a solution to be generating is that all the $Sl(2; \mathbb{R})$ invariants of the theory are independent when evaluated on the charges and moduli of that solution [16,61,62,149]. In this appendix we are going to study whether or not and why the solution considered in that section is a generating one. We start by stating some general properties which we, then, apply to the (toy) axidilaton model and then to the t^3 model.

There are in general 5 independent invariants that characterize each $\mathcal{N} = 2$ symmetric supergravity model. They are [126]:

$$i_1 = |\mathcal{Z}|^2, \tag{A.1}$$

$$i_2 = \mathcal{G}^{ij^*} \mathcal{Z}_i \mathcal{Z}_{j^*}^*, \qquad (A.2)$$

$$i_3 = -\frac{1}{3} \Re \mathfrak{e} \left[\mathcal{Z} \mathcal{N}_3(\mathcal{Z}^*) \right] , \qquad (A.3)$$

$$i_4 = \frac{1}{3} \Im \mathfrak{m} \left[\mathcal{Z} \mathcal{N}_3(\mathcal{Z}^*) \right], \qquad (A.4)$$

$$i_5 = \mathcal{G}^{ij^*} \mathcal{C}_{ijk} \mathcal{C}^*_{i^*j^*k^*} \mathcal{G}^{jl^*} \mathcal{G}^{km^*} \mathcal{G}^{j^*l} \mathcal{G}^{k^*m} \mathcal{Z}^*_{l^*} \mathcal{Z}^*_{m^*} \mathcal{Z}_l \mathcal{Z}_m, \qquad (A.5)$$

where \mathcal{Z} is the central charge, \mathcal{G}^{ij^*} the inverse Kähler metric,

$$\mathcal{Z}_i \equiv \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{Z} \,, \tag{A.6}$$

are the "matter" central charges,

$$\mathcal{C}_{ijk} \equiv \mathcal{D}_i \mathcal{V}_M \mathcal{D}_j \mathcal{D}_k \mathcal{V}^M \,, \tag{A.7}$$

and

$$\mathcal{N}_3(\mathcal{Z}^*) \equiv \mathcal{C}_{ijk} \mathcal{G}^{il^*} \mathcal{G}^{jm^*} \mathcal{G}^{kn^*} \mathcal{Z}_{l^*}^* \mathcal{Z}_{m^*}^* \mathcal{Z}_{n^*}^* .$$
(A.8)

All these invariants are function of the charges and the scalars but their combination

$$J_4(\mathcal{Q}) = (i_1 - i_2)^2 + 4i_4 - i_5, \qquad (A.9)$$

depends quartically on the charges only. Sometimes it is advantageous to work with $J_4(\mathcal{Q})$ instead of i_5 .

A.1.1 2-charge generating solutions of the axidilaton model

The minimal number of non-vanishing charges that are necessary for an extremal, supersymmetric¹, black hole of axidilaton theory to be regular is two. Taking into account the form of the Hesse potential Eq. (2.77) and of the axidilaton Eq. (2.78), it is easy to see that there are only two possible non-singular 2-charge configurations, namely $(p^0, p^1, 0, 0)^T$ and $(0, 0, q_0, q_1)^T$.

In this model, the tensor C_{ijk} vanishes identically, and so does $\mathcal{N}_3(\mathcal{Z}^*)$ and the invariants i_3, i_4, i_5 . The model is characterized by the two invariants i_1 and i_2 , which are, respectively, the squares of the absolute values of the true and fake central charges at infinity

$$i_1 = |\mathcal{Z}(\lambda_\infty, \mathcal{Q})|^2, \qquad i_2 = |\hat{\mathcal{Z}}(\lambda_\infty, \mathcal{Q})|^2,$$
(A.10)

and both are independent for any 2-charge solution (for $\Re \mathfrak{e} \lambda_{\infty} = 0$ or not) and, in principle, it should be a generating solution. However, depending on our choice of harmonic functions, the regular solutions with two charges may have a vanishing $\Re \mathfrak{e} \lambda_{\infty}$ and the subgroup of $\mathrm{Sl}(2;\mathbb{R})$ that generates a non-vanishing $\Re \mathfrak{e} \lambda_{\infty}$, which consists of matrices of the form $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & \beta \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ do not leave invariant the 2-charge configurations. Therefore, the $\mathrm{Sl}(2;\mathbb{R})$ orbit of the regular 2-charge configurations may not cover the full parameter space.

It is interesting to see how the impossibility of generating a solution containing the maximal number of independent parameters arises in practice in this simple case, starting from a configuration characterized by the charges $(0, 0, \hat{q}_0, \hat{q}_1)^T$ and the moduli $\hat{\lambda}_{\infty} = i\Im \mathfrak{m} \hat{\lambda}_{\infty}$ (we reserve the unhatted symbols for the final charges and moduli). This solution is determined by two harmonic functions:

$$(\hat{H}^{M}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{s}{\sqrt{2}} \left\{ (\Im \mathfrak{m} \, \hat{\lambda}_{\infty})^{1/2} - |\hat{q}_{0}|\tau \right\} \\ \frac{s}{\sqrt{2}} \left\{ (\Im \mathfrak{m} \, \hat{\lambda}_{\infty})^{-1/2} - |\hat{q}_{1}|\tau \right\} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.11)$$

where

$$s \equiv \operatorname{sgn}(\hat{q}_0) = \operatorname{sgn}(\hat{q}_1) \,. \tag{A.12}$$

¹The discussion can also be held for the non-supersymmetric solutions to this model, reaching the same conclusions.

The Sl(2; \mathbb{R}) rotated solution will depend on the original physical parameters \hat{q}_0 , \hat{q}_1 , $\Im \mathfrak{m} \lambda_{\infty}$ plus the parameters of the Sl(2; \mathbb{R}) transformation a, b, c, d (only 3 of which are independent). We have to determine \hat{q}_0 , \hat{q}_1 , $\Im \mathfrak{m} \lambda_{\infty}$, a, b, c, d in terms of the final physical parameters to write the rotated solution in terms of its own physical parameters only.

 $Sl(2;\mathbb{R})$ acts on the charge vector through the matrix Eq. (2.57) so

$$\begin{pmatrix} p^{0} \\ p^{1} \\ q_{0} \\ q_{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} d & -c \\ a & b \\ -b & a \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \hat{q}_{0} \\ \hat{q}_{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -c\hat{q}_{0} \\ b\hat{q}_{1} \\ a\hat{q}_{0} \\ d\hat{q}_{1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.13)

From these relations we determine a, b, c, d in terms of the final and original charges:

$$a = q_0/\hat{q}_0, \quad b = p^1/\hat{q}_1, \quad c = -p^0/\hat{q}_0, \quad d = q_1/\hat{q}_1.$$
 (A.14)

On the other hand, from the transformation rule Eq. (2.48) we get

$$\Re \mathfrak{e} \,\lambda_{\infty} = \frac{bd + ac(\Im \mathfrak{m} \,\hat{\lambda}_{\infty})^2}{d^2 + c^2(\Im \mathfrak{m} \,\hat{\lambda}_{\infty})^2}, \qquad \Im \mathfrak{m} \,\lambda_{\infty} = \frac{\Im \mathfrak{m} \,\hat{\lambda}_{\infty}}{d^2 + c^2(\Im \mathfrak{m} \,\hat{\lambda}_{\infty})^2}, \qquad (A.15)$$

and replacing in these relations the transformation parameters a, b, c, d by the values in Eq. (A.14), we get 2 equations that relate the 3 original to the 6 final physical parameters:

$$p^{0}q_{0}(\hat{q}_{1})^{2}(\Im\mathfrak{m}\,\hat{\lambda}_{\infty})^{2} + \frac{\Re\mathfrak{e}\,\lambda_{\infty}}{\Im\mathfrak{m}\,\lambda_{\infty}}(\hat{q}_{0}\hat{q}_{1})^{2}\Im\mathfrak{m}\,\hat{\lambda}_{\infty} - p^{1}q_{1}(\hat{q}_{0})^{2} = 0\,, \qquad (A.16)$$

$$\Im \mathfrak{m} \,\lambda_{\infty}(p^{0})^{2}(\hat{q}_{1})^{2}(\Im \mathfrak{m} \,\hat{\lambda}_{\infty})^{2} - (\hat{q}_{0}\hat{q}_{1})^{2}\Im \mathfrak{m} \,\hat{\lambda}_{\infty} + \Im \mathfrak{m} \,\lambda_{\infty}(q_{1})^{2}(\hat{q}_{0})^{2} = 0\,. \tag{A.17}$$

The invariance of W implies that

$$\hat{q}_0 \hat{q}_1 = p^0 p^1 + q_0 q_1 \,, \tag{A.18}$$

and allows us to eliminate \hat{q}_1 from the above two equations. We can solve (A.16) and (A.17) for $\Im \mathfrak{m} \hat{\lambda}_{\infty}$ as a function of the 6 final physical parameters and \hat{q}_0 and, for both equations, we find $\Im \mathfrak{m} \hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_0^{-2}$ as a function of those 6 parameters:

$$\Im \mathfrak{m} \, \hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_0^{-2} = f_1(\mathcal{Q}, \lambda_{\infty}) \,, \qquad \Im \mathfrak{m} \, \hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_0^{-2} = f_2(\mathcal{Q}, \lambda_{\infty}) \,. \tag{A.19}$$

The consistency condition $f_1(\mathcal{Q}, \lambda_{\infty}) = f_2(\mathcal{Q}, \lambda_{\infty})$ determines one of the two final real moduli as a complicated function of the final charges. In other words: the final solution cannot have 6 independent physical parameters, which implies that the original solution is not a generating solution.

On top of this, there seems to be another problem: we cannot solve separately the 3 original physical parameters in terms of the 6 final ones. "Fortunately" only the combination $\Im \hat{\pi} \hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_0^{-2}$ appears in the rotated solution or, equivalently, in the H^M variables. Using Eqs. (A.13,A.14) and (A.18) we find the these are given by

$$H^{M} = A^{M} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \mathcal{Q}^{M} \tau, \qquad \begin{pmatrix} A^{0} \\ A^{1} \\ A_{0} \\ A_{1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{s}{\sqrt{2}} p^{0} (\Im \mathfrak{m} \, \hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_{0}^{-2})^{1/2} \\ \frac{s}{\sqrt{2}} p^{1} (p^{0} p^{1} + q_{0} q_{1})^{-1} (\Im \mathfrak{m} \, \hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_{0}^{-2})^{-1/2} \\ \frac{s}{\sqrt{2}} q_{1} (p^{0} p^{1} + q_{0} q_{1})^{-1} (\Im \mathfrak{m} \, \hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_{0}^{-2})^{-1/2} \\ \frac{s}{\sqrt{2}} q_{1} (p^{0} p^{1} + q_{0} q_{1})^{-1} (\Im \mathfrak{m} \, \hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_{0}^{-2})^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.20)

In the supersymmetric case we know that we can construct a new solution which has, on top of the two non-trivial harmonic functions, two constant ones. If we write all of them in the form

$$\hat{H}^{M} = \hat{A}^{M} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\hat{\mathcal{Q}}^{M}\tau,$$
 (A.21)

then $(\hat{\mathcal{Q}}^M)^T = (0, 0, \hat{q}_0, \hat{q}_1)^T$ and, according to the general results of Ref. [191],

$$(\hat{A}^{M}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\Im\mathfrak{m}\,\hat{\lambda}_{\infty}}} \Im\mathfrak{m} \left\{ \frac{\hat{q}_{1}\hat{\lambda}_{\infty}^{*} - i\hat{q}_{0}}{|\hat{q}_{1}\hat{\lambda}_{\infty}^{*} - i\hat{q}_{0}|} \begin{pmatrix} i\\ \hat{\lambda}_{\infty}\\ -i\hat{\lambda}_{\infty}\\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$
 (A.22)

This solution has two independent charges at any generic point in moduli space and should be a generating solution. The difference with the previous case is that, instead of the Eqs. (A.15), we can invert (2.48) and use Eqs. (A.14) and (A.18) to get two independent real equations that do not lead to constraints in the final physical parameters:

$$\hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_0^{-2} = \frac{1}{(p^0 p^1 + q_0 q_1)} \frac{q_1 \lambda_{\infty} - p^1}{p^0 \lambda_{\infty} + q_0}.$$
(A.23)

The only combinations of the 4 original physical parameters that appear in the rotated solution are precisely the real and imaginary parts of $\hat{\lambda}_{\infty} \hat{q}_0^{-2}$ and we obtain a solution with 6 independent physical parameters.

A.1.2 2-charge solutions of the t^3 model

Again, the minimal number of non-vanishing charges that a regular, extremal, black hole of this model can have is two. A choice of charge vector that leads to regular supersymmetric and non-supersymmetric black holes is $(0, p^1, q_0, 0)^T$. In the supersymmetric case, the coefficient of $-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\tau$ in H^M (that we call attractor in the context of this formalism) is given by

$$(B^M) = (\mathcal{Q}^M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ p^1 \\ q_0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (A.24)$$

and in the non-supersymmetric one, by

$$(B^M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ p^1 \\ -q_0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.25)

In order to see if these charge configurations lead to generating solutions, we study the values of the invariants. For cubic models with prepotential of the form

$$\mathcal{F} = \frac{1}{3!} d_{ijk} \frac{\mathcal{X}^i \mathcal{X}^j \mathcal{X}^k}{\mathcal{X}^0} \,, \tag{A.26}$$

one has $C_{ijk} = e^{\mathcal{K}} d_{ijk}$. The prepotential of the t^3 model is given in Eq. (2.163) and has $d_{111} = -5$ so $C_{ttt} = \frac{3}{4} (\Im \mathfrak{m} t)^{-3}$. For this model it can be proven that only three invariants are independent and that the other two can be written as a their combination. Specifically, one finds that [128]

$$i_4 = -\sqrt{\frac{4}{27}i_2^3i_1 - i_3^2}, \qquad (A.27)$$

$$i_5 = \frac{3}{4}i_2^2,$$
 (A.28)

and we can take, as independent basis of invariants i_1, i_2 and i_3 (which we can replace by J_4).

Now let us evaluate these invariants for the solutions with charge vector $(0, p^1, q_0, 0)^T$. The result is

$$i_1 = \frac{3}{20(\Im \mathfrak{m} t_{\infty})^3} \left| -\frac{5}{2} p^1 t_{\infty}^2 - q_0 \right|^2, \qquad (A.29)$$

$$i_2 = \frac{1}{20(\Im \mathfrak{m} t_{\infty})^3} \left| -\frac{5}{2} p^1 t_{\infty} (t_{\infty} + 2t_{\infty}^*) - 3q_0 \right|^2, \qquad (A.30)$$

$$i_{3} = -\frac{1}{75(\Im\mathfrak{m} t_{\infty})^{6}} \Re \mathfrak{e} \left\{ -\frac{i}{8} \left(-\frac{5}{2} p^{1} t_{\infty}^{2} - q_{0} \right) \left[-\frac{5}{2} p^{1} t_{\infty} (t_{\infty} + 2t_{\infty}^{*}) - 3q_{0} \right]^{3} \right\} , (A.31)$$

and it is easy to see that if $\Re \mathfrak{e} t_{\infty} = 0$ (the *axion-free* case) they simplify to

$$i_1 = \frac{3}{20(\Im \mathfrak{m} t_{\infty})^3} \left[\frac{5}{2} p^1 (\Im \mathfrak{m} t_{\infty})^2 - q_0 \right]^2, \qquad (A.32)$$

$$i_2 = \frac{1}{20(\Im \mathfrak{m} t_{\infty})^3} \left[\frac{5}{2} p^1 (\Im \mathfrak{m} t_{\infty})^2 + 3q_0 \right]^2, \qquad (A.33)$$

$$i_3 = 0,$$
 (A.34)

We see then that in the axion-free case only two invariant are independent and according to the argument in [61] the solutions cannot be seed (generating) solutions.

It is necessary to have $\Re \mathfrak{e} \ t \neq 0$ for the three invariants $i_1, i_2, i_3 \neq 0$ to be independent from each other and the two-charge solution to be a generating solution.

B Special functions

B.1 The Lambert W function

The Lambert W function W(z) was firstly introduced by Johann Heinrich Lambert in 1758 [291]. Along its history, it has found numerous applications in different areas of physics (mostly during the 20th century) [20, 51, 99, 144, 147, 197, 308, 314, 344, 383, 398].

W(z) is defined (implicitly) through the equation

$$z = W(z)e^{W(z)}, \quad \forall z \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(B.1)

Since $f(z) = ze^z$ is not injective, W(z) is not uniquely defined, and W(z) stands for the whole set of branches solving (B.1). For $W : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, W(x) has two branches $W_0(x)$ and $W_{-1}(x)$ defined respectively in the intervals $x \in [-1/e, +\infty)$ and $x \in [-1/e, 0)$ (See Figure 3). Both functions coincide in the branching point x = -1/e, where $W_0(-1/e) = W_{-1}(-1/e) = -1$. Therefore, the defining equation $x = W(x)e^{W(x)}$ admits two different solutions in the interval $x \in [-1/e, 0)$.



Figure B.1: The two real branches of W(x).

The derivative of W(z) reads

$$\frac{dW(z)}{dz} = \frac{W(z)}{z(1+W(z))}, \quad \forall z \notin \{0, -1/e\}; \quad \frac{dW(z)}{dz}\Big|_{z=0} = 1, \quad (B.2)$$

and is not defined for z = -1/e (the function is not differentiable there). At that point one finds

$$\lim_{x \to -1/e} \frac{dW_0(x)}{dx} = \infty, \quad \lim_{x \to -1/e} \frac{dW_{-1}(x)}{dx} = -\infty.$$
(B.3)

B.2 The Exponential Integral function

The Exponential Integral Ei[z], $z \in \mathbb{C}$ is a special function on the complex plane. For real non-zero values x it is defined as follows

$$Ei(x) = -\int_{-x}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-t}}{t} dt$$
. (B.4)

We only need the Exponential Integral function evaluated in the real numbers since in our solutions it appears only with a real argument, although in the definition of the prepotential (4.2) it appears with an argument that can be in general complex.



Figure B.2: The Exponential Integral function on the real axis.

Ei(x) is negative for $x \in (-\infty, c)$, where $c \sim 0,375$, zero in x = c and positive for x > c. In addition, $\lim_{x\to 0} Ei(x) = -\infty$.

SU(2) Yang-Mills solutions

C.1 The SU(2) Lorentzian meron

A Lorentzian meron is a classical solution to the pure SU(2) (Lorentzian) Yang-Mills theory such that the 1-form gauge field A defining it, is proportional to a pure-gauge configuration, which in our conventions would be $\frac{1}{g}dUU^{-1}$ where $U(x) \in SU(2)$. In Ref. [113] U(x) was chosen to be of the hedgehog form

$$U \equiv 2\frac{x^m}{r}\delta_m^a T_a \,, \qquad U^{\dagger} = U^{-1} = -U \,, \ \Rightarrow U^2 = -\mathbb{1}_{2 \times 2} \,. \tag{C.1}$$

and it was shown that A solves the Yang-Mills equations if the proportionality coefficient is 1/2, that is

$$A = \frac{1}{2g} dU U^{-1} = -\frac{1}{gr^2} \varepsilon^a{}_{mn} x^m dx^n T_a \,. \tag{C.2}$$

As we will see, this gauge field is nothing but the gauge field of the Wu-Yang SU(2) monopole given in Eq. (C.15).

Since the field strength of a pure gauge configuration vanishes, we find that F(A) can be written in these two specially simple ways which we will use in Appendix C.3:

$$F(A) = \frac{1}{2}dA = g[A, A] = \star_{(3)}d\frac{1}{2gr}U, \qquad (C.3)$$

Now we can write the non-Abelian field strength F(A) in terms of F(B), where F(B) is the field strengths of the Dirac monopole of unit charge Eq. (C.6) that we will review in the next section

$$F(A) = F(B)U,$$
 $F(B) = \star_{(3)} d\frac{1}{2qr},$ (C.4)

and the energy-momentum tensor of A in terms of that of B

$$T_{\mu\nu}(A) = -\frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}[F_{\mu\rho}(A)F_{\nu}{}^{\rho}(A) - \frac{1}{4}\eta_{\mu\nu}F^{2}(A)] = F_{\mu\rho}(B)F_{\nu}{}^{\rho}(B) - \frac{1}{4}\eta_{\mu\nu}F^{2}(B) = T_{\mu\nu}(B).$$
(C.5)

C.2 The Wu-Yang SU(2) monopole

The Wu-Yang SU(2) monopole [428] is a solution of the SU(2) Yang-Mills theory that can be obtained from the embedding of the Dirac monopole in SU(2) via a singular gauge transformation (see, *e.g.* Ref. [390] and references therein). To fix our conventions, it is convenient to start by reviewing the Wu-Yang construction of the Dirac monopole [427].

C.2.1 The Dirac monopole

The U(1) field of the Dirac monopole, that we will denote by B is defined to satisfy the Dirac monopole equation¹, which can be written in several forms:

$$F(B) \equiv dB = \star_{(3)} d\frac{1}{2gr} = -\frac{1}{2g} d\Omega^2, \qquad 2\partial_{[m} B_{n]} = -\frac{1}{2g} \varepsilon_{mnp} \frac{x^p}{r^3}, \qquad (C.6)$$

where $d\Omega^2$ is the volume 2-form of the round 2-sphere of unit radius

$$d\Omega^2 = -\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{mnp}\frac{x^m}{r}d\frac{x^n}{r}\wedge d\frac{x^p}{r} = \sin\theta d\theta \wedge d\varphi.$$
 (C.7)

The value of the magnetic charge has been set to g^{-1} and it is the minimal charge allowed if the unit of electric charge is g.

The above equation does not admit a global regular solution.

$$B^{(\pm)} = -\frac{1}{2g} (\cos \theta \mp 1) d\varphi, \qquad (C.8)$$

are local solutions regular everywhere except on the negative (resp. positive) z axis (the Dirac strings). A globally regular solution can be constructed by using B^{\pm} in the upper (lower) hemisphere and using the gauge transformation

$$B^{(+)} - B^{(-)} = -d\left(\frac{1}{g}\varphi\right),$$
 (C.9)

to relate them in the overlap region. If the gauge group is U(1) where the radius of the circle is the inverse coupling constant 1/g, the gauge transformation parameter can have a periodicity $2\pi n/g$ with $n \in \mathbb{N}$. This is the well-known Abelian Wu-Yang monopole construction [427]. In our case, since the period of φ is 2π , we get $2\pi/g$, which is the smallest value allowed p = 1/g. The solution that describes the monopole of charge n times the minimum is n times this one p = n/g.

It is useful to have the expression of $B^{(\pm)}$ in Cartesian coordinates:

$$B^{(\pm)} = \frac{1}{2g} \frac{\left[(0, 0, \pm 1) \times (x^1, x^2, x^3) \right] \cdot d\vec{x}}{r^2 (r \pm x^3)} , \qquad (C.10)$$

in which the singularity at $r = \pm x^3$ becomes evident. In this form, one can easily change the position of the monopole from the origin to some other point x_0^m and the position of the Dirac string from the half line that starts from the origin in the direction $-(0, 0, \pm 1)$ to

¹This equation is just the Abelian version of the Bogomol'nyi equation.

the half line that starts at the monopole's position x_0^m hand has the direction s^m relative to that point:

$$B^{(s)} = \frac{1}{2g} \left(1 - \frac{s^m}{s} \frac{u^m}{u} \right)^{-1} \varepsilon_{mnp} \frac{s^m}{s} \frac{u^n}{u} d\frac{u^p}{u}, \qquad (C.11)$$

with

$$u^m \equiv x^m - x_0^m, \quad u^2 \equiv u^m u^m, \quad s^2 \equiv s^m s^m.$$
 (C.12)

C.2.2 From the Dirac monopole to the Wu-Yang SU(2) monopole

Let us consider the Abelian $B^{(+)}$ solution in Eq. (C.8) and let us embed it in SU(2) as the 3rd component of the gauge field

$$A^{(+)} \equiv 2B^{(+)}T_3, \qquad F(A^{(+)}) = 2F(B)T_3.$$
 (C.13)

The SU(2) gauge transformation (which is evidently singular along the negative z axis and makes the whole Dirac string singularity, but the endpoint at the coordinate origin, disappear)

$$U^{(+)} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(1+\frac{z}{r})}} \left[1 + \frac{z}{r} + 2\left(\frac{x}{r}T_2 - \frac{y}{r}T_1\right) \right], \qquad (C.14)$$

relates the gauged field $A^{(+)}$ to

$$A = \frac{1}{g} \varepsilon^a{}_{mn} dx^m \frac{x^n}{r^2} T_a , \qquad A^{(+)} = U^{(+)} A (U^{(+)})^{-1} + \frac{1}{g} dU^{(+)} (U^{(+)})^{-1} , \qquad (C.15)$$

which is the gauge field of the Wu-Yang SU(2) monopole. As we have mentioned in the previous appendix, this is also the gauge field of the Lorentzian meron Eq. (C.2). The gauge transformation also relates T_3 to \mathcal{U} in Eq. (C.1) and the Abelian vector

$$U^{(+)}U(U^{(+)})^{-1} = 2T_3.$$
 (C.16)

The fact that the Lorentzian meron is the Wu-Yang monopole, which is related by a gauge transformation to the Dirac monopole makes the relation Eq. (C.5) trivial.

This construction can be generalized to more general positions of the Dirac string: if we consider embedding of the Dirac monopole solution $B^{(s)}$ in Eq. (C.11) into SU(2)

$$A^{(s)} \equiv -2B^{(s)} \frac{s^m}{s} \delta_m{}^a T_a , \qquad (C.17)$$

it is easy to see that the gauge transformation

$$U^{(s)} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\left(1 - \frac{s^m}{s} \frac{u^m}{u}\right)}} \left[1 - \frac{s^m}{s} \frac{u^m}{u} - 2\varepsilon_{mn}^a \frac{s^m}{s} \frac{u^n}{u} T_a\right], \qquad (C.18)$$

relates it to the same Wu-Yang monopole field Eq. (C.15)

$$A^{(s)} = U^{(s)}A(U^{(s)})^{-1} + \frac{1}{g}dU^{(s)}(U^{(s)})^{-1}.$$
 (C.19)

C.3 The SU(2) Skyrme model

In this appendix we are going to show that the Lorentzian meron (Wu-Yang monopole) is also associated to a solution of the equations of motion of the SU(2) Skyrme model [392] written in the form [112]

$$S_{\text{Skyrme}} = -\frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \left\{ \frac{1}{2} R_{\mu} R^{\mu} + \frac{\lambda}{16} S_{\mu\nu} S^{\mu\nu} \right\} \,, \tag{C.20}$$

where

$$R_{\mu} \equiv V^{-1} \partial_{\mu} V, \qquad S_{\mu\nu} \equiv [R_{\mu}, R_{\nu}], \qquad V(x) \in \mathrm{SU}(2). \tag{C.21}$$

The equations of motion are

$$\partial_{\mu}R^{\mu} + \frac{\lambda}{4}\partial_{\mu}[R_{\nu}, F^{\mu\nu}] = 0. \qquad (C.22)$$

If we take $V = U^{-1}$ (U given by Eq. (C.1)), then we can write R = 2gA where A is Lorentzian meron's gauge field Eq. (C.2) and

$$\partial_{\mu} R^{i\,\mu} = -2g \partial_{m} A^{i}{}_{m} = 0,$$

$$\partial_{\mu} [R_{\nu}, F^{\mu\nu}]^{i} \sim \partial_{m} \left(\frac{A^{i}{}_{m}}{r^{2}}\right) = 0.$$
(C.23)

C.4 Higher-charge Lorentzian merons and Wu-Yang monopoles

The construction of a Lorentzian meron can be generalized by using a generalization of the unit outward-pointing vector x^m/r denoted by ξ^m and defined by [22]

$$(\xi^m) \equiv \frac{1}{r} \left(\frac{\Im \mathfrak{m}(x^2 + ix^1)^n}{\rho^{n-1}}, \frac{\Re \mathfrak{e}(x^2 + ix^1)^n}{\rho^{n-1}}, x^3 \right), \qquad \rho^2 \equiv (x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2, \qquad (C.24)$$

or, in spherical coordinates,

$$(\xi^m) \equiv (\sin\theta \sin n\varphi, \sin\theta \cos n\varphi, \cos\theta) , \qquad (C.25)$$

and which reduces to x^m/r for n = 1. The essential properties of ξ^m are

$$d\xi^m \wedge d\xi^n = -n\varepsilon_{mnp}\xi^p d\Omega^2, \qquad (C.26)$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{mnp}\xi^m d\xi^n \wedge d\xi^p = nd\Omega^2 = \star_{(3)}d\frac{n}{r}, \qquad (C.27)$$
The generalization of the meron solution is constructed in terms of the generalization SU(2) matrix in Eq. (C.1)

$$U_{(n)} \equiv 2\xi^m \delta^a_m T_a , \qquad U^{\dagger}_{(n)} = U^{-1}_{(n)} = -U_{(n)} , \qquad (C.28)$$

and takes the form

$$A \equiv \frac{1}{2g} dU_{(n)} U_{(n)}^{-1} \,. \tag{C.29}$$

The field strength is given by

$$F(A_{(n)}) = \frac{1}{2}dA = g[A, A] = \star_{(3)}d\frac{n}{2gr}U_{(n)}, \qquad (C.30)$$

and can be related to that of a Dirac monopole of charge p = n/g

$$F(B_{(n)}) = \star_{(3)} d\frac{n}{2gr}, \quad F(A_{(n)}) = F(B_{(n)}) U_{(n)}, \quad (C.31)$$

which is given by the expressions studied at the beginning. The energy-momentum tensor of A is also equal to that of the Abelian monopole of charge n/g B. These fields can also be related to the embedding of the charge n/g Dirac monopole into SU(2) with a generalization of the gauge transformation Eq. (C.18)

$$U_{(n)}^{(s)} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\left(1 - \frac{s^m}{s}\xi^m\right)}} \left[1 - \frac{s^m}{s}\xi^m - 2\varepsilon_{mn}\frac{s^m}{s}\xi^n T_a\right], \qquad (C.32)$$

relates it to the meron gauge field:

$$U_{(n)}^{(s)}U_{(n)}(U_{(n)}^{(s)})^{-1} = -2\frac{s^m}{s}\delta_m{}^aT_a, \qquad U_{(n)}^{(s)}A_{(n)}(U_{(n)}^{(s)})^{-1} + \frac{1}{g}dU_{(n)}^{(s)}(U_{(n)}^{(s)})^{-1} = nB_{(n)}^{(s)}2\frac{s^m}{s}\delta_m{}^aT_a$$
(C.33)

To check that this gauge field solves the Yang-Mills equations of motion we first stress that, with the above connection, $U_{(n)}$ is a covariantly-constant adjoint field. Then, auxiliary the adjoint Higgs field

$$\Phi_{(n)} \equiv \left(-\frac{\mu}{2g} + \frac{n}{2gr}\right) U_{(n)}, \qquad (C.34)$$

satisfies

$$D\Phi_{(n)} = d\frac{n}{2gr} U_{(n)} , \qquad (C.35)$$

and the pair $A_{(n)}, \Phi_{(n)}$ satisfies the Bogomol'nyi equations (5.32) and, as a consequence the equations of motion of the Yang-Mills-Higgs system. The last equation implies that $\Phi_{(n)}$ and $D\Phi_{(n)}$ commute so the Higgs current vanishes and $A_{(n)}$ also solves the sourceless Yang-Mills equations. Appendix C. SU(2) Yang-Mills solutions

D

HEE for a doubly-Wick-rotated hvLf geometry

In this appendix we study HEE for a class of geometries for which the anisotropic scaling occurs along one of the spatial dimensions instead of time [7, 154]

$$ds^{2} = L^{2} r^{\frac{2\theta}{d}} \left(-\frac{dt^{2}}{r^{2}} + \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} + \frac{d\vec{x}_{(d-1)}^{2}}{r^{2}} + \frac{dy^{2}}{r^{2z}} \right).$$
(D.1)

This can be understood as obtained through a double Wick rotation of the usual hvLf metric (7.3). Indeed we just have to apply the following transformation to it

$$t \to iy, x_d \to it,$$
 (D.2)

where x_d stands for the *d*th spatial coordinate. This makes the geometry covariant under the following transformations

$$y \to \lambda^z t, t \to \lambda t, x_i \to \lambda x_i, i = 1, ..., d - 1.$$
 (D.3)

HEE in the framework of Einstein gravity has been already studied for this geometry in [7,154]. Here we are going to extend the study to the case of \mathbb{R}^n gravity to illustrate how the result changes with respect to the usual hvLf case. The motivation to consider such a perversion is to make the dynamical exponent z appear in the exponents of the divergent terms in the HEE expression. This indeed results in the production of new divergences, which become logarithmic in a certain subset of the parameter space.

The region at the boundary for which we compute the entanglement entropy is the same as in the rest of the article, with the particularity that now we have anisotropic spatial scaling. We consider the strip to extend infinitely (up to the IR cut-off $L_S \to \infty$) along the special scaling coordinate, so $s = \{(t_E, r, x_1, x_2, ..., x_{d-1}, y) \text{ s.t.}, t_E = 0, x_{d-1} \in [-l/2, l/2], x_{1,...,d-2} \in (-L_S/2, +L_S/2), y \in (-L_S/2, +L_S/2)\}$. The procedure used here is the same as that of section (8.1), so we will skip redundant discussions.

The HEE functional is

$$S_{R^n} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_m d^2 y \sqrt{g_m} \left[1 + n\lambda_{R^n} \tilde{L}^{2(n-1)} R^{n-1} \right] \,. \tag{D.4}$$

The Ricci scalar for (D.1) is the same as that for (7.3), that is, $R = \kappa r^{-2\theta/d}/\tilde{L^2}$. We can parametrize the entangling surface m as $x_{d-1} = h(r)$, so that the metric induced in such surface is

$$ds_m^2 = L^2 r^{\frac{2\theta}{d}} \left[\frac{dy^2}{r^{2z}} + \left(1 + \dot{h}^2 \right) \frac{dr^2}{r^2} + \frac{d\vec{x}_{d-2}^2}{r^2} \right],$$
(D.5)

The expression for the entanglement entropy becomes

$$S_{R^{n}} = \frac{L^{d}L_{S}^{(d-1)}}{2G} \int_{\delta}^{r_{*}} dr \sqrt{1 + \dot{h}^{2}} f(r) r^{(\theta - d - z + 1)}, \text{ with } f(x) \equiv \left[1 + n\kappa^{(n-1)}\lambda_{R^{n}} x^{-2\theta(n-1)/d}\right]$$
(D.6)

 r_* being the turning point of the surface, where $\dot{h}|_{r_*} = \infty$. The functional has a first integral associated to h, so we can express \dot{h} in terms of h. By doing so and after some rearrangement we find

$$S_{R^n} = \frac{L^d L_S^{(d-1)} r_*^{\theta - d - z + 2}}{2G} \int_{\delta/r_*}^1 du \frac{u^{(\theta - d - z + 1)} f(uh_*)}{\sqrt{1 - u^{2(d - \theta + z - 1)} \frac{f(r_*)^2}{f(ur_*)^2}}}.$$
 (D.7)

We need $d - \theta + z - 1 > 0$ for the perturbative analysis to be consistent. Under this condition the expression looks exactly like the one in section 8.1 after promoting $(d - \theta) \rightarrow (d - \theta + z - 1)$. This implies the following result for the HEE

$$S_{R^{n}} = \frac{L^{d}L_{S}^{(d-1)}}{2G} \left\{ \frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}}{\mathfrak{B}_{0}} - \frac{(l/2)^{-\mathfrak{B}_{0}}G_{0}^{\mathfrak{B}_{0}}G_{0}}{\mathfrak{B}_{0}} + n\kappa^{(n-1)}\lambda_{R^{n}} \left[\frac{\delta^{-\mathfrak{B}_{1}}}{\mathfrak{B}_{1}} - \frac{(l/2)^{-\mathfrak{B}_{1}}G_{0}^{\mathfrak{B}_{1}}G_{1}}{\mathfrak{B}_{1}} \right] \right\} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda_{R^{n}}^{2}),$$
(D.8)

with

$$\mathfrak{B}_0 \equiv d - \theta + z - 2, \tag{D.9}$$

$$\mathfrak{B}_1 \equiv \mathfrak{B}_0 + \frac{2\theta(n-1)}{d}, \qquad (D.10)$$

$$G_0 \equiv \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{\mathfrak{B}_0+2}{2(\mathfrak{B}_0+1)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(\mathfrak{B}_0+1)}\right)}, \quad G_1 \equiv \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{2+2\mathfrak{B}_0-\mathfrak{B}_1}{2(\mathfrak{B}_0+1)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1+\mathfrak{B}_0-\mathfrak{B}_1}{2(\mathfrak{B}_0+1)}\right)}.$$
 (D.11)

The divergence with \mathfrak{B}_1 becomes logarithmic when

$$\theta = \frac{d(d+z-2)}{d-2(n-1)},$$
 (D.12)

which gives a broad range of possibilities. However, we still need to take into account the NEC, which are different with respect to those for the standard hvLf case. For Einstein gravity, this is computed as $G_{\mu\nu}N^{\mu}N^{\nu} \ge 0$, N^{μ} being appropriate null vectors and $G_{\mu\nu}$ the Einstein tensor. For higher-curvature gravities, we will find additional conditions involving the couplings of the theory, which we assume to be susceptible of being satisfied by tuning those. For this metric a convenient null vector is

$$N^{r} = \frac{s_{r}}{L} r^{1-\theta/d}, N^{i} = \frac{s_{i}}{L} r^{1-\theta/d}, N^{y} = \frac{s_{y}}{L} r^{z-\theta/d},$$
(D.13)

$$N^{t} = \frac{\sqrt{\sum s_{i}^{2} + s_{r}^{2} + s_{y}^{2}}}{L} r^{1-\theta/d}.$$
 (D.14)

with the s_{μ} being positive constants. The NEC produces two inequalities

$$d(z-1)z + \theta(d-\theta) \leq 0, \qquad (D.15)$$

$$(z-1)(z+d-\theta) \leq 0.$$
 (D.16)

After some algebra, one can see that these limit the allowed values of z to lie in the interval

$$\frac{1 - \sqrt{1 + 4\theta \frac{\theta - d}{d}}}{2} \le z \le 1.$$
 (D.17)

So for each dimension d and each order in curvature n, any metric with z satisfying (D.17) will give rise to a logarithmic contribution as long as (D.12) is satisfied.

F

Some properties of the hvLf metrics

The hvLf metric (7.3) is spatially homogeneous and covariant under the scale transformations

$$x_i \to \lambda x_i , t \to \lambda^z t , r \to \lambda r , ds_{d+2}^2 \to \lambda^{2\theta/d} ds_{d+2}^2 ,$$
 (E.1)

where λ is a dimensionless parameter. Observe that this means that the Lifshitz radius ℓ is only defined up to dimensionless factors. The Ricci tensors of metrics (7.3) are given by

$$R_{tt} = \frac{(dz-\theta)(d+z-\theta)}{dr^{2z}}$$
(E.2)

$$R_{rr} = \frac{(d+z)\theta - d(z^2 + d)}{dr^2}$$
(E.3)

$$R_{ij} = \frac{(\theta - d)(d + z - \theta)}{dr^2} \delta_{ij}.$$
 (E.4)

This geometry generically suffers from a null curvature singularity at $r = \infty$ except for a specific set of parameter values. The singularity exists even though all curvature invariants remain finite. The tidal forces diverge as [385]

$$C_{(\theta,z)}r^{2C_{(\theta,z)}+d}, \qquad C_{(\theta,z)} = \frac{d(z-1)-\theta}{d-\theta}$$
(E.5)

where we have restricted to $C_{(\theta,z)} > 0$ for which the singularity is a null curvature singularity as surfaces of constant r become null as r goes to infinity. We distinguish several cases:

- For $\theta = 0$ we simply get the result in [240] which is appropriate for Lifshitz scaling. Ways for resolving the null curvature singularities have been presented in [26,227].
- The case of $\theta = 0$ and z = 1 is the non-singular result of pure AdS.
- There are non-singular results for

$$C_{(\theta,z)} = 0$$
, or $C_{(\theta,z)} + 1 \le 0$. (E.6)

The null energy condition in the bulk gives the conditions

$$C_{(\theta,z)} \ge 0,$$
 $(z-1)(d+z-\theta) \ge 0,$ (E.7)

which rules out the non-singular condition $C_{(\theta,z)} + 1 \leq 0$ and leaves the condition $C_{(\theta,z)} = 0$.

There is a class of Ricci-flat hvLf spaces: they are characterized by

$$\theta = \frac{d(d+1)}{d-1} \quad \text{and} \quad z = \frac{2d}{d-1} \quad \longrightarrow \quad C_{(\theta,z)} = 0.$$
(E.8)

These spaces always solve the null energy condition and are regular in the IR interior $(r \to \infty)$.

From the kink to the strip

As we used in the main text, the small angle limit of $q(\Omega)$ defines a universal charge κ , which can be used to distinguish different CFT's. The form of eq. (9.3) is fixed for general theories due to the existence of a conformal map relating the corner geometry to a strip. This mapping is discussed in detail in Appendix A of [339] and we only review the salient points here. As a consequence of this mapping, the expressions for the universal terms in the entanglement entropy match for both geometries, at least in the limit of small Ω or a narrow strip width. However, as we will see below, this mapping does not fix the form of $q(\Omega)$ over the entire range of the opening angle.

Let us now describe the conformal mapping: Let the CFT be defined in the background geometry which is simply \mathbb{R}^3 , with the coordinates used in section 9.1,

$$ds^{2} = dt_{E}^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \rho^{2} d\theta^{2} .$$
 (F.1)

If we make the coordinate transformation, $t_E = r \cos \xi$ and $\rho = r \sin \xi$, the line element above becomes

$$ds^{2} = dr^{2} + r^{2} \left(d\xi^{2} + \sin^{2}\xi \, d\theta^{2} \right) \,. \tag{F.2}$$

Next we make the coordinate change $r = L e^{Y/L}$ and remove the overall factor $e^{2Y/L}$ with a Weyl transformation, to find the geometry

$$ds^{2} = dY^{2} + L^{2} \left(d\xi^{2} + \sin^{2}\xi \, d\theta^{2} \right) \,, \tag{F.3}$$

with $Y \in (-\infty, +\infty)$. Of course, this conformal transformation is the usual exponential map which takes \mathbb{R}^3 to $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$.

The corner region for which we calculated the entanglement entropy in section 9.1 was defined in the original coordinates (F.1) as $V = \{t_E = 0, \rho > 0, |\theta| \le \Omega/2\}$ and so in terms of the polar coordinates (F.2), this region becomes $V = \{r > 0, \xi = \pi/2, |\theta| \le \Omega/2\}$. Finally in the cylindrical background (F.3), the corner region is mapped to an infinite strip: $V = \{Y \in (-\infty, +\infty), \xi = \pi/2, |\theta| \le \Omega/2\}$. In this geometry, the density matrix would be represented by a path integral of the CFT over the cylinder with open boundary conditions imposed along the strip, *i.e.*, on surfaces just above and below $\xi = \pi/2$, along the entire length of Y and in the range $|\theta| \le \Omega/2$. Hence the entire entanglement entropy (9.1), including both the universal and nonuniversal contributions, for the corner geometry in \mathbb{R}^3 is readily related to that for the strip in the cylinder geometry $\mathbb{R} \times S^2$, as discussed in [339]. However, we would like instead to related the entanglement entropy of the corner region to that of a strip in flat space \mathbb{R}^3 , as was discussed in section 9.2.1. This is where the limit of small opening angle becomes important. When $\Omega \ll 1$, the separation between both sides of the strip is much smaller than the size of the sphere and the local radius of curvature, *i.e.*, $\ell \equiv L \Omega \ll L$. Hence the latter scale is negligible and to leading order the entanglement entropy resembles that for a strip in flat space, *i.e.*,

$$S_{EE} = c_1 \frac{2(Y_+ - Y_-)}{\delta} - \tilde{a} \frac{Y_+ - Y_-}{\ell} + \mathcal{O}(\delta/L, \ell/L)$$
(F.4)

where Y_+ and Y_- is regulator scales introduced to cut-off the length of the strip in the positive and negative Y directions [339] — compare to eq. (9.57). Given the preceding transformations, we see that the universal contribution (proportional to \tilde{a}) is mapped to

$$S_{\text{univ}} = -\frac{\tilde{a}}{\Omega} \log\left(\frac{\rho_{max}}{\rho_{min}}\right) = -\frac{\tilde{a}}{\Omega} \log\left(\frac{H}{\delta}\right) \,, \tag{F.5}$$

where we have made the natural substitutions: $\rho_{max} = H$ and $\rho_{min} = \delta$. We emphasize that this expression only applies for $\Omega \ll 1$ and hence we have recovered eq. (9.3) for the corner contribution with $\kappa = \tilde{a}$.

Let us add that the coordinate transformation in the bulk geometry implementing the conformal mapping between the two boundary metrics (F.1) and (F.3) can be found as follows: The AdS_4 geometry can be described as a hyperbola embedded in the fivedimensional Minkowski space

$$ds^{2} = -dU^{2} + dV^{2} + dR^{2} + R^{2} d\Omega_{2}^{2}.$$
 (F.6)

 AdS_4 is defined now as the subspace

$$-U^2 + V^2 + R^2 = -L^2. (F.7)$$

This constraint can be solved writing R = rL/z, $U + V = L^2/z$, $U - V = z + r^2/z$, and the induced metric on the hyperbola reduces to the Poincaré coordinates on AdS₄, given in eq. (9.6). On the other hand, the constraint (F.7) is also satisfied by $U = \sqrt{R^2 + L^2} \cosh(Y/L)$, $V = \sqrt{R^2 + L^2} \sinh(Y/L)$, in which case the induced metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dR^{2}}{1 + \frac{R^{2}}{L^{2}}} + \left(1 + \frac{R^{2}}{L^{2}}\right)dY^{2} + R^{2}\left(d\xi^{2} + \sin^{2}\xi \,d\theta^{2}\right), \qquad (F.8)$$

which is the AdS_4 geometry in global coordinates. Stripping off a scale factor of R^2/L^2 at large radius, the resulting boundary metric matches that in eq. (F.3). These bulk coordinates can be used to compute the HEE for the kink in essentially the same way as the calculation of section 9.1.

Central charges in f(R) gravity

We paraeterize our general f(R) gravity action [399] as

$$I_{f(R)} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \left[\frac{6}{L^2} + R + \hat{\lambda} f(R) \right] \,, \tag{G.1}$$

where we have made the cosmological constant and the Einstein term explict. We have also introduced a dimensionless coupling $\hat{\lambda}$ as a useful device to indicate the combined strength of the higher curvature contributions in the following. The function f(R) can be a general function of the Ricci scalar, which has a Taylor series expansion beginning at order R^2 or higher. Our perspective is that f(R) is parameterized by various dimensionless couplings and the necessary dimensions are provided by the cosmological constant scale L. For example, we would incorporate the three Ricci scalar terms in the action (9.54) as

$$\hat{\lambda} f(R) = L^2 \lambda_1 R^2 + L^4 \lambda_{3,0} R^3 + L^6 \lambda_{4,0} R^4.$$
(G.2)

In this simple class of theories, the gravitational entropy functional is simply given by the Wald entropy [372, 381], *i.e.*,

$$S_{f(R)} = \frac{1}{4G} \int_{m} d^2 y \sqrt{\gamma} \left[1 + \hat{\lambda} f'(R) \right] , \qquad (G.3)$$

where $f'(R) = \partial f(R) / \partial R$. For our pure AdS₄ background, f'(R) will be just a constant, with $R = \bar{R} = -12/\tilde{L}^2$ where

$$\frac{1}{L^2} = \frac{1}{\tilde{L}^2} \left[1 - \hat{\lambda} f' \left(-\frac{12}{\tilde{L}^2} \right) \right] - \frac{\hat{\lambda}}{6} f \left(-\frac{12}{\tilde{L}^2} \right) \,. \tag{G.4}$$

Hence determining the HEE will amount to finding the extremal area surface and evaluating eq. (9.8) with an additional overall coefficient of

$$\hat{\alpha} = 1 + \hat{\lambda} f'(\bar{R}) \,. \tag{G.5}$$

Hence with a corner in the boundary entangling surface, the expression for the HEE will be a trivial generalization of eq. (9.16) with

$$S_{f(R)} = \hat{\alpha} \left[\frac{\tilde{L}^2}{2G} \frac{H}{\delta} - q_E(\Omega) \log\left(\frac{H}{\delta}\right) + \mathcal{O}(1) \right].$$
(G.6)

However, we emphasize that the same overall factor (G.5) will appear in front of the entanglement entropy for any entangling surface and, in particular, for the circle. Further,

it can be shown that the planar black hole solution (9.78) to the (four-dimensional) Einstein equations will also be a solution of the f(R) Lagrangian. Hence the thermal entropy, which is computed by evaluating the horizon entropy using the same Wald formula (G.6), will produce the Einstein gravity result (9.79) up to an overall factor given precisely by $\alpha_{f(R)}$. Hence for this class of theories, the ratios κ/c_0 and κ/c_s will match those in Einstein gravity, as given in eqs. (9.75) and (9.81), respectively. Note that these results apply even when the strength of the gravitational couplings is large, *i.e.*, the fact that these ratios do not change is not restricted to linear order in perturbative calculations.

In order to see what happens with the two-point function (9.100) of the stress tensor, we can follow the steps of section (9.2.4) in order to find the linearized equations of motion for the massless spin-two graviton in the AdS₄ background. A remarkable fact about our previous linearized equations (9.108) was that none of the theories considered except that with an $R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu}$ interaction produced terms involving higher-order derivatives acting on $h_{\mu\nu}$ after we imposed the transverse traceless gauge. That is, in general, these theories do produce fourth-order derivatives of $h_{\mu\nu}$ in the linearized equations, but nevertheless these contributions all vanish, with the exception of the λ_2 term, after we set $\bar{\nabla}^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = 0 = h \equiv \bar{g}^{\mu\nu}h_{\mu\nu}$. As an illustrative exercise, we explicitly demonstrate how this works in the case of f(R) gravity, where the same behavior is encountered. The full linearized equations arising from eq. (G.1) read

$$R^{L}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}R^{L} + \left[\frac{6}{\tilde{L}^{2}} - \frac{3}{L^{2}}\right]h_{\mu\nu} + \hat{\lambda}\mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (G.7)$$

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu} \equiv f'(\bar{R})R^{L}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}f(\bar{R})h_{\mu\nu} + f''(\bar{R})\left[\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}\bar{\Box} - \bar{\nabla}_{\mu}\bar{\nabla}_{\nu} - \frac{3}{\tilde{L}^{2}}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}\right]R^{L} - \frac{1}{2}f'(\bar{R})\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}R^{L}, \quad (G.8)$$

and where the linearized Ricci tensor and Ricci scalar can be written as

$$R^{L}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{4}{\tilde{L}^{2}}h_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{\tilde{L}^{2}}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}h + \frac{1}{2}\left(\bar{\nabla}_{\mu}\bar{\nabla}_{\sigma}h_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} + \bar{\nabla}_{\nu}\bar{\nabla}_{\sigma}h_{\mu}{}^{\sigma} - \bar{\Box}h_{\mu\nu} - \bar{\nabla}_{\mu}\bar{\nabla}_{\nu}h\right),$$

$$R^{L} \equiv \bar{g}^{\mu\nu}R^{L}_{\mu\nu} - h^{\mu\nu}\bar{R}_{\mu\nu} = \bar{\nabla}^{\mu}\bar{\nabla}^{\nu}h_{\mu\nu} - \bar{\Box}h + \frac{3}{\tilde{L}^{2}}h.$$
(G.9)

As we can see, these equations involve fourth-order derivatives of the perturbation and its trace. However, in the transverse traceless gauge, it is straightforward to see that R^L vanishes and hence the fourth-order terms, which all appear in $\mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu}$, also vanish. The equations (G.7) are then notably simpler and after some massaging,¹ they yield the result:

$$-\frac{\hat{\alpha}}{2}\left[\bar{\Box} + \frac{2}{\tilde{L}^2}\right]h_{\mu\nu} = \hat{\alpha}\,G^L_{\mu\nu} = 0\,,\qquad(G.10)$$

where $G^L_{\mu\nu}$ is again the linearized Einstein tensor in this gauge, as in eq. (9.107), and $\hat{\alpha}$ is defined in eq. (G.5). Hence with this exercise, we see all the fourth-order terms explicitly disappear from the linearized equations. Further, we can see the same overall constant (G.5) will appear here in C_T , as appeared in the corner contribution above. Therefore the ratio κ/C_T is again unchanged from the Einstein value (9.104) in the holographic CFT's dual to f(R) gravity.

¹In particular, one needs to use eq. (G.4) in order to obtain eq. (G.10).

When we impose the transverse traceless gauge, we are implicitly eliminating any new degrees of freedom and focusing entirely on the physical spin-two graviton. We can relax this condition here to see that f(R) gravity introduces an additional scalar degree of freedom. In particular, the trace of the metric perturbation becomes a propagating massive scalar field. In order to find its equation, we can take the trace of the full linearized equations (G.7) without any gauge fixing. The result is

$$-\left[\hat{\alpha} + \frac{12\hat{\lambda}}{\tilde{L}^2}f''(\bar{R})\right] \left[\bar{\nabla}^{\mu}\bar{\nabla}^{\nu}h_{\mu\nu} + \frac{3h}{\tilde{L}^2}\right]$$

$$+\bar{\Box}h\left[\hat{\alpha} + \frac{21\hat{\lambda}}{\tilde{L}^2}f''(\bar{R})\right] + 3\hat{\lambda}f''(\bar{R})\left[\bar{\Box}\bar{\nabla}^{\mu}\bar{\nabla}^{\nu}h_{\mu\nu} - \bar{\Box}^2h\right] = 0.$$
(G.11)

At this point, it is convenient to choose the gauge condition,

$$\bar{\nabla}^{\mu}h_{\mu\nu} = \bar{\nabla}_{\nu}h\,,\tag{G.12}$$

because this choice actually eliminates the fourth-order derivatives in the previous equation. The remaining second-order equation then simplifies to

$$3\hat{\lambda} f''(\bar{R}) \,\bar{\Box} h - \left[\hat{\alpha} + \frac{12\hat{\lambda}}{\tilde{L}^2} f''(\bar{R})\right] h = 0, \qquad (G.13)$$

which corresponds to the equation of motion for a massive scalar field, as long as $f''(\bar{R}) \neq 0$. That is, the trace h has become a dynamical degree of freedom in this case. On the other hand, if $f''(\bar{R}) = 0$ (e.g., as in Einstein gravity), the above equation is not dynamical and would simply impose the tracelessness condition h = 0. That is, the spin-two graviton would be the only propagating degree of freedome in this case.

We should also consider the traceless part of the metric perturbation, *i.e.*,

$$\hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} h \,. \tag{G.14}$$

with the gauge condition (G.12). Combining this choice of gauge with eqs. (G.7) and (G.13), we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[\bar{\nabla}_{\mu} \bar{\nabla}_{\nu} h - \frac{1}{4} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} \bar{\Box} h \right] \left[\hat{\alpha} - \frac{6\hat{\lambda}}{\tilde{L}^2} f''(\bar{R}) \right] - \frac{\hat{\alpha}}{2} \left[\bar{\Box} + \frac{2}{\tilde{L}^2} \right] \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
 (G.15)

which is an equation for the massive spin-2 field $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$ alone. However, this is not an homogenous equation. We can nevertheless define a new traceless tensor satisfying an equation of the type of eq. (G.10). This is given by²

$$t_{\mu\nu} \equiv \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} - \left[\frac{3\hat{\lambda}f''(\bar{R})}{\hat{\alpha}}\right] \left[\bar{\nabla}_{\mu}\bar{\nabla}_{\nu}h - \frac{1}{4}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}\bar{\Box}h\right].$$
 (G.16)

Indeed, using (G.20) and (G.14), it can be shown that this tensor satisfies

$$-\frac{\hat{\alpha}}{2}\left[\bar{\Box} + \frac{2}{\tilde{L}^2}\right]t_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
(G.17)

 $^{^{2}}$ The procedure followed here for determining the physical spin-2 field closely follows [393], where the analysis was done for curvature-squared gravities.

So $t_{\mu\nu}$ represents the physical massless spin-2 graviton coupling to the holographic stress tensor. Note that eq. (G.21) is trivial whenever $f''(\bar{R}) = 0$ (like in Einstein gravity), so in that case, the traceless part of $\hat{h}_{\mu\nu}$ already corresponds to the massless mode.

It is interesting to consider the scalar degree of freedom more explicitly. Hence let us consider the case of R^2 gravity, for which we write $\hat{\lambda} f(R) = \lambda_1 L^2 R^2$. Hence we have $\hat{\lambda} f'(\bar{R}) = 2\lambda_1 L^2 \bar{R} = -24\lambda_1 L^2 / \tilde{L}^2$ and $\hat{\lambda} f''(\bar{R}) = 2\lambda_1 L^2$. Further, as noted in section 9.1.1, the solution of eq. (G.4) is simply $\tilde{L} = L$. Combining these expressions in eq. (G.13) then yields

$$\left[\lambda_1 \,\bar{\Box} - \frac{1}{6L^2}\right] h = 0 \,, \tag{G.18}$$

and hence h obeys the standard equation of motion for a free scalar with mass: $m^2 = 1/(6\lambda_1 L^2)$. Using the standard holographic dictionary [219, 311, 423], h is dual to a scalar operator in the three-dimensional boundary CFT with

$$\Delta = \frac{3}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{9}{4} + \frac{1}{6\lambda_1}} \,. \tag{G.19}$$

Hence if λ_1 is small and positive, h corresponds to a highly irrelevant operator with $\Delta \simeq 1/\sqrt{6\lambda_1}$ and with positive norm. If λ_1 is small and negative, Δ becomes imaginary indicating that the standard AdS/CFT dictionary is breaking down. In this limit, h is a ghost-like scalar with a tachyonic mass which exceeds the Breitenloner-Freedman bound [82,82]. Hence the bulk theory would be inherently unstable if we tried to interpret the corresponding R^2 gravity as a complete theory rather than as an effective low energy theory.

On the other hand, eqs. (G.20) and (G.21) reduce, for R^2 gravity, to

$$\frac{1}{2} \left[\bar{\nabla}_{\mu} \bar{\nabla}_{\nu} h - \frac{1}{4} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} \bar{\Box} h \right] \left[1 - 36\lambda_1 \right] - \frac{1 - 24\lambda_1}{2} \left[\bar{\Box} + \frac{2}{\tilde{L}^2} \right] \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} = 0 , \qquad (G.20)$$

and

$$t_{\mu\nu} \equiv \hat{h}_{\mu\nu} - \left[\frac{6\lambda_1}{1 - 24\lambda_1}\right] \left[\bar{\nabla}_{\mu}\bar{\nabla}_{\nu}h - \frac{1}{4}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}\bar{\Box}h\right].$$
(G.21)

in agreement with the results obtained in [306, 393].

Free field calculation of σ

In [119], the computation of the first fourteen coefficients corresponding to the Taylor expansion of $q(\Omega)$ around $\Omega = \pi$ was made using the techniques of quantum field theory for a free scalar and a free Dirac field.

As we saw in the discussion section, the ratio σ/C_T corresponding to the coefficient σ of the first term in such expansion $(q(\Omega) = \sigma \cdot (\Omega - \pi)^2 + \mathcal{O}(\Omega - \pi)^4)$ and the charge in front of the stress tensor two-point function, C_T — see eq. (9.100), appears to satisfy a universal relation of the form

$$\frac{\sigma}{C_T} = \frac{\pi^2}{24} \,. \tag{H.1}$$

This result has been obtained using holographic techniques in the previous sections, and turns out to hold for all the higher-order theories we have considered in this paper. In addition, the numbers obtained using the numerical results in [119] for σ_{scalar} and σ_{fermion} and those for $C_{T\text{scalar}}$ and $C_{T\text{fermion}}$ given in [356] satisfy eq. (H.1) both for the scalar and the fermion with an accuracy better than ~ 0.0003%. While the results obtained in [356] — see eq. (9.118), are exact, the values of σ_{scalar} and σ_{fermion} can only be computed in field theory numerically. In particular, they can be obtained by evaluation of the following monstruous integrals¹

$$\sigma_{\text{scalar}} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{1/2}^{+\infty} dm \int_{0}^{+\infty} db \left[-4\pi (1-a)a H m \mu \operatorname{sech}^{2}(\pi b) \right], \quad (\text{H.2})$$

$$\sigma_{\text{fermion}} = -4 \int_{1/2}^{+\infty} dm \int_{0}^{+\infty} db \left[m \,\mu \,H \,a(1-a)\pi \,\text{cosech}^2(b\pi) \right]$$
(H.3)
+
$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} db \int_{1/2}^{+\infty} dm \left[F \,m \,\text{cosech}^2(b\pi) \right] ,$$

where

$$h \equiv \frac{2\left((a-1)a+m^{2}\right)\sin^{2}(\pi a)}{m^{2}\left(\cos(2\pi a)+\cos\left(\pi\sqrt{1-4m^{2}}\right)\right)},$$

$$c \equiv \frac{\pi 2^{2a-1}(1-a)a\sec\left(\frac{1}{2}\pi\left(2a+\sqrt{1-4m^{2}}\right)\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\left(-2a+\sqrt{1-4m^{2}}+3\right)\right)}{m\Gamma(2-a)^{2}\Gamma\left(a+\frac{1}{2}\left(\sqrt{1-4m^{2}}-1\right)\right)},$$
(H.4)

 $^{^{1}}$ We wish to thank Horacio Casini for sending us these integrals, which are the ones originally used in [119].

$$\begin{split} X_{1} &\equiv \frac{2^{-2a}\Gamma(-a)\left(-\frac{1}{2}\pi\sinh\left(\frac{\pi\mu}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2}i\cosh\left(\frac{\pi\mu}{2}\right)\left(\psi^{(0)}\left(a + \frac{i\mu}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right) - \psi^{(0)}\left(a - \frac{i\mu}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right)\right)}{\mu\Gamma(a+1)\Gamma\left(-a - \frac{i\mu}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(-a + \frac{i\mu}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)\left(\cos(2\pi a) + \cosh(\pi\mu)\right)} \\ X_{2} &\equiv X_{1} \text{ with } a \text{ replaced by } (1-a), \\ T &\equiv \sqrt{h(a^{2} - a + (h+1)m^{2})}, \\ H &\equiv -\frac{8\pi(a-1)ac^{2}X_{1}T + 8\pi(a-1)ahX_{2}T - hc}{16hc\pi(a-1)a}, \\ F &\equiv -\frac{F_{1}}{F_{2}}, \\ F_{1} &\equiv a^{2}\left(8\pi c^{2}\left(m^{2} + 1\right)X_{1}T + 8\pi h\left(m^{2} + 1\right)X_{2}T - ch\right) - 16\pi a^{3}T\left(c^{2}X_{1} + hX_{2}\right) \\ &+ a\left(-8\pi c^{2}m^{2}X_{1}T - 8\pi hm^{2}X_{2}T + ch\right) + 8\pi a^{4}T\left(c^{2}X_{1} + hX_{2}\right) - ch(h+1)m^{2}, \\ F_{2} &\equiv \frac{8ch\left(a^{2} - a + m^{2}\right)^{2}}{(2a-1)\mu}, \\ \mu &\equiv \sqrt{4m^{2} - 1}, \\ a &\equiv bi + \frac{1}{2} \text{ (for the scalar)}, \\ a &\equiv bi \text{ (for the fermion)}. \end{split}$$

Notice that (H.3) and (H.2) look very different and without further insights there is a priori no reason to believe they should produce the same result (as they appear to do up to a factor 2).

We can compute integrals (H.2) and (H.3) numerically with arbitrary precision (although the computation time scales notably as we increase the precision). Our results show that both (H.2) and (H.3) exactly produce the results predicted assuming that σ/C_T is a universal constat given by eq. (H.1), *i.e.*,

$$\sigma_{\text{scalar}} = \frac{1}{256} = 0.00390625, \qquad \sigma_{\text{fermion}} = \frac{1}{128} = 0.0078125.$$
 (H.5)

We have checked this is the case for a precision of \sim one part in $10^{12}.$ In particular, we find

$$\sigma_{\text{scalar}} = 0.0039062500000(5), \qquad \sigma_{\text{fermion}} = 0.0078125000000(7), \qquad (\text{H.6})$$

where the numbers in brackets are out of the accuracy ranges.

Resumen

Esta tesis está dedicada al estudio de varios aspectos relacionados con la supergravedad, los agujeros negros, y la holografía, áreas que juegan un papel crucial en el desarrollo actual de la física teórica de altas energías.

Por un lado, los límites de baja energía de las diversas teorías de cuerdas se corresponden con teorías de supergravedad, lo que teniendo en cuenta las propiedades sorprendentemente buenas (casi todas ellas al menos) de estas como candidatas a unificar la gravedad y las demás interacciones en un marco único, hace a estas últimas dignas de estudio. Por otro lado, si la supersimetría es una simetría fundamental de la naturaleza, lo que podría solucionar en mayor o menor medida varios de los problemas más fundamentales de la física, cierta teoría de supergravedad ha de ser adecuada para describir la física de nuestro universo, en un cierto rango de energías.

Los agujeros negros prometen jugar un papel esencial en la compresión de la naturaleza cuántica de la gravedad. Por un lado, desde el punto de vista semiclásico, los agujeros negros satisfacen las leyes de la termodinámica (y las magnitudes emergentes involucradas están codificadas en diversos objetos relacionados con la geometría de los mismos), lo que pide a gritos una interpretación microscópica de los mismos. Por otro lado, de acuerdo con la imagen clásica, los agujeros negros contienen regiones del espaciotiempo en las que las leyes de la gravedad y la mecánica cuántica son igualmente importantes, por lo que una descripción conjunta de la física en esas regiones se hace necesaria. Es en el contexto de la teoría de cuerdas en el que la descripción microscópica de la termodinámica de ciertas soluciones supersimétricas de tipo agujero negro ha sido llevada a cabo con éxito, lo que sin duda es una prueba altamente no trivial superada por la teoría de cuerdas. Desafortunadamente, este cálculo no ha podido ser extendido a soluciones no extremas, que por otro lado son la mayoría, siendo las extremas, o las supersimetrícas en particular, casos límite de las anteriores. Mucho menos se sabe de las solutionces no extremas, incluso desde el punto de vista de supegravedad.

La palabra holografía hace referencia a la existencia de una descripción físicamente equivalente de un cierto sistema en términos de una teoría en una dimensión menor. La correspondencia AdS/CFT nos proporciona la primera realización del principio holográfico, y un marco perfecto para realizar numerosos cálculos correspondientes a ciertas teorías cuánticas de campos en el regimen de acoplamiento fuerte, que es bastante inaccesible con los métodos usuales. Por otro lado, nos proporciona una puerta fascinante hacia el entendimiento de la naturaleza cuántica de la gravedad y el espaciotiempo.

En esta tesis recopilamos los resultados obtenidos en [87–96]. En [89–91, 95, 96] desarrollamos nuevos métodos para la obtención de soluciones de tipo agujero negro (muchas de las cuales obtenemos explícitamente) en teorías de supergravedad $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 y teoría de cuerdas, así como otras conteniendo regiones de tipo hvLf en [87,88]. Así mismo, desarrollamos un método para la obtención de branas negras en teorías generales, y construimos la *cuerda*-(p, q) no extrema de la teoría de cuerdas tipo-IIB [93]. Además, exploramos la entropía de entrelazamiento holográfica para teorías de alto orden en curvatura para geometrías de tipo hvLf [91], así como la contribución del término universal a la entropía de entrelazamiento holográfica para superficies de entrelazamiento que contienen singularidades geométricas [92].

Conclusiones

En el capítulo 2 [90] hemos mostrado cómo el formalismo H-FGK puede utilizarse para simplificar la obtención de soluciones de tipo agujero negro en teorías de supergravedad $\mathcal{N} = 2, d = 4$. Esto es posible gracias a que cualquier solución queda determinada completamente por las H^M , que son funciones que transforman linealmente bajo el grupo de dualidad de la teoría, y que pueden construirse como una combinación lineal de vectores equivariantes. Además, mostramos cómo el formalismo permite conocer en qué casos las H^M han de contener términos no armónicos a través del cálculo del rango de una matriz. Mostramos explícitamente cómo esta técninca puede utilizarse en ciertos modelos de supergravedad.

En el capítulo 3 [89,95] definimos el concepto de agujero negro cuántico o cuerdoso en el contexto de la teoría de cuerdas tipo-IIA compactificada a d = 4 en una variedad de tipo Calabi-Yau. En concreto, consideramos una truncación consistente de la teoría que deja de estar bien definida en el límite en el que la corrección perturbativa en α' se anula, y construimos nuevas soluciones de tipo agujero negro genuinamente cuánticos no extremas y con escalares no constantes. Además, consideramos la misma truncación en presencia de la contribución no perturbativa (en α') dominante en el prepotencial de la teoría efectiva, y construimos la primera solución supersimétrica de tipo agujero negro de este tipo. De forma sorprendente, esta solución viene dada en términos de una función bivaluada en los números reales, lo que sugiere la posibilidad de producir una violación de las conjeturas de unicidad usualmente asumidas en la literatura de supergravedad. Mostramos que, no obstante, solo una de las ramas es consistente en el contexto de teoría de cuerdas.

En el capítulo 4 [96] motivados por el último resultado de 3, construimos una teoría de supergravedad altamente no simétrica que admite soluciones de tipo agujero negro regulares que vienen dadas en términos de dicha función bivaluada, y que pueden construirse de forma tal que los valores asintóticos de los escalares así como las cargas de ambas soluciones son iguales. De esta forma, mostramos que la conjetura de no-pelo no funciona completamente en el contexto de supergravedad $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4. Argumentamos, no obstante, que las soluciones responsables de la violación podrían tener problemas de estabilidad.

En el capítulo 5 [91] consideramos la teoría de supergravedad $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 acoplada a multipletes SU(2) no abelianos, y construimos las primeras soluciones de tipo agujero negro y monopolos globales con varios centros de la misma.

En el capítulo 6 [93] desarrollamos un formalismo que permite construir automáticamente, dada una solución de tipo brana negra de una cierta teoría altamente genérica, la brana dual electromagnética de la misma. Ilustramos el formalismo construyendo la *cuerda* (p,q)no extrema de la teoría de cuerdas tipo-IIB así como su dual 5-brana (p,q). En el capítulo 7 [87,88] demostramos que se pueden construir soluciones asintóticamente hvLf (en distintos límites) a partir de soluciones de tipo agujero negro en teorías de supergravedad $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 no gaugeada. Así mismo, hacemos un estudio pormenorizado de la existencia de soluciones de este tipo en una clase genérica de teorías que contiene a cualquier supergravedad $\mathcal{N} = 2$, d = 4 gaugeada con términos Fayet-Iliopoulos U(1), y construimos soluciones explícitas para un modelo concreto.

En el capítulo 8 [94] estudiamos la entropía de entrelazamiento holográfica para geometrías de tipo hvLf. Además de calcular la forma genérica de esta para teorías de curvatura superior generales y obtener los términos universales en algunas de ellas, encontramos que para ciertos valores del parámetro θ se producen nuevas contribuciones logarítmicas a la misma, lo que generaliza el resultado conocido para la gravedad de Einstein.

Por último, en el capítulo 9 [92] estudiamos la contribución a la entropía de entrelazamiento holográfica producida por la presencia de una singularidad geométrica en la superficie de entrelazamiento. Además de extender los resultados conocidos para la gravedad de Einstein y realizar diversas comparaciones con resultados de teoría cuántica de campos, estudiamos los efectos sobre este término de la introducción de términos de curvatura superior en la acción de gravedad. En particular, demostramos que es posible definir dos cargas, $\kappa \neq \sigma$, que contienen información no trivial y bien definida sobre la teoría en cuestión (para teorías generales). Comparamos estas cargas con otras obtenidas para otros observables físicos. De forma reseñable, encontramos que los cocientes κ/C_T y σ/C_T , donde C_T es la constante análoga que aparece en la expresión de la función a dos puntos del tensor de energía momento holográfico, se mantienen constante para todas las teorías de orden superior consideradas, lo que nos lleva a conjeturar que estas cantidades podrían ser universales para teorías holográficas generales. Comparando este resultado con los correspondientes a un escalar y un fermión libre respectivamente, cuyos valores solo se conocen aproximadamente, encontramos que el cociente σ/C_T se mantiene igual en todos los casos. Esto nos lleva a proponer que $\sigma/C_T = \pi^2/24$ es un resultado universal para teorías de campos conformes generales. Además, utilizamos este resultado para mejorar los resultados de campos libres para σ (apéndice H), que podemos calcular exactamente utilizando el resultado holográfico. Nuestro hallazgo explica también por qué los valores σ_{scalar} y σ_{fermion} parecen diferir (y de hecho difieren) en un factor 2 exactamente.

Bibliography

- Ofer Aharony, Steven S. Gubser, Juan Martin Maldacena, Hirosi Ooguri, and Yaron Oz. Large N field theories, string theory and gravity. *Phys.Rept.*, 323:183–386, 2000.
- [2] Mohsen Alishahiha, Amin Faraji Astaneh, and M. Reza Mohammadi Mozaffar. Entanglement Entropy for Logarithmic Conformal Field Theory. *Phys. Rev.*, D89(6):065023, 2014.
- [3] Mohsen Alishahiha, Amin Faraji Astaneh, and M. Reza Mohammadi Mozaffar. Holographic Entanglement Entropy for 4D Conformal Gravity. *JHEP*, 1402:008, 2014.
- [4] Mohsen Alishahiha, Amin Faraji Astaneh, and M. Reza Mohammadi Mozaffar. Thermalization in backgrounds with hyperscaling violating factor. *Phys.Rev.*, D90(4):046004, 2014.
- [5] Mohsen Alishahiha, M. Reza Mohammadi Mozaffar, and Mohammad Reza Tanhayi. Evolution of Holographic n-partite Information. 2014.
- [6] Mohsen Alishahiha, Eoin O Colgain, and Hossein Yavartanoo. Charged Black Branes with Hyperscaling Violating Factor. JHEP, 1211:137, 2012.
- [7] Mohsen Alishahiha and Hossein Yavartanoo. On Holography with Hyperscaling Violation. JHEP, 1211:034, 2012.
- [8] L. Amico, R. Fazio, A. Osterloh, and V. Vedral. Entanglement in many-body systems. *Reviews of Modern Physics*, 80:517–576, April 2008.
- [9] Martin Ammon, Matthias Kaminski, and Andreas Karch. Hyperscaling-Violation on Probe D-Branes. JHEP, 1211:028, 2012.
- [10] Andres Anabalon. Exact Black Holes and Universality in the Backreaction of nonlinear Sigma Models with a potential in (A)dS4. JHEP, 1206:127, 2012.
- [11] Andres Anabalon. Exact Hairy Black Holes. Springer Proc. Phys., 157:3–10, 2014.
- [12] Andres Anabalon, Dumitru Astefanesei, and Robert Mann. Exact asymptotically flat charged hairy black holes with a dilaton potential. JHEP, 1310:184, 2013.
- [13] Andres Anabalon, Fabrizio Canfora, Alex Giacomini, and Julio Oliva. Black Holes with Primary Hair in gauged N=8 Supergravity. JHEP, 1206:010, 2012.
- [14] L. Andrianopoli, M. Bertolini, Anna Ceresole, R. D'Auria, S. Ferrara, et al. N=2 supergravity and N=2 superYang-Mills theory on general scalar manifolds: Symplectic covariance, gaugings and the momentum map. J.Geom.Phys., 23:111–189, 1997.
- [15] L. Andrianopoli, R. D'Auria, E. Orazi, and M. Trigiante. First Order Description of D=4 static Black Holes and the Hamilton-Jacobi equation. *Nucl. Phys.*, B833:1–16, 2010.
- [16] Laura Andrianopoli, Ricardo D'Auria, Sergio Ferrara, Pietro Fre, and Mario Trigiante. E(7)(7) duality, BPS black hole evolution and fixed scalars. *Nucl. Phys.*, B509:463–518, 1998.

- [17] Laura Andrianopoli, Riccardo D'Auria, Sergio Ferrara, Alessio Marrani, and Mario Trigiante. Two-Centered Magical Charge Orbits. JHEP, 1104:041, 2011.
- [18] Laura Andrianopoli, Riccardo D'Auria, Emanuele Orazi, and Mario Trigiante. First order description of black holes in moduli space. JHEP, 0711:032, 2007.
- [19] E. Ardonne, P. Fendley, and E. Fradkin. Topological order and conformal quantum critical points. Annals of Physics, 310:493–551, April 2004.
- [20] A. Ashoorioon, Achim Kempf, and Robert B. Mann. Minimum length cutoff in inflation and uniqueness of the action. *Phys.Rev.*, D71:023503, 2005.
- [21] Amin Faraji Astaneh, Alexander Patrushev, and Sergey N. Solodukhin. Entropy discrepancy and total derivatives in trace anomaly. 2014.
- [22] F.A. Bais. SO(3) Monopoles and Dyons with Multiple Magnetic Charge. *Phys.Lett.*, B64:465, 1976.
- [23] Ioannis Bakas. Solitons of axion dilaton gravity. *Phys.Rev.*, D54:6424–6434, 1996.
- [24] Koushik Balasubramanian and K. Narayan. Lifshitz spacetimes from AdS null and cosmological solutions. JHEP, 1008:014, 2010.
- [25] Vijay Balasubramanian, Borun D. Chowdhury, Bartlomiej Czech, Jan de Boer, and Michal P. Heller. Bulk curves from boundary data in holography. *Phys.Rev.*, D89(8):086004, 2014.
- [26] Ning Bao, Xi Dong, Sarah Harrison, and Eva Silverstein. The Benefits of Stress: Resolution of the Lifshitz Singularity. *Phys. Rev.*, D86:106008, 2012.
- [27] James M. Bardeen, B. Carter, and S.W. Hawking. The Four laws of black hole mechanics. *Commun.Math.Phys.*, 31:161–170, 1973.
- [28] Susanne Barisch, Gabriel Lopes Cardoso, Michael Haack, Suresh Nampuri, and Niels A. Obers. Nernst branes in gauged supergravity. JHEP, 1111:090, 2011.
- [29] Susanne Barisch-Dick, Gabriel Lopes Cardoso, Michael Haack, and Suresh Nampuri. Extremal black brane solutions in five-dimensional gauged supergravity. *JHEP*, 1302:103, 2013.
- [30] R. Bartnik and J. Mckinnon. Particle Like Solutions of the Einstein Yang-Mills Equations. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 61:141–144, 1988.
- [31] Brandon Bates and Frederik Denef. Exact solutions for supersymmetric stationary black hole composites. *JHEP*, 1111:127, 2011.
- [32] Victor V. Batyrev. Dual polyhedra and mirror symmetry for Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces in toric varieties. J.Alg.Geom., 3:493–545, 1994.
- [33] K. Becker, M. Becker, and J.H. Schwarz. String theory and M-theory: A modern introduction. 2007.
- [34] Klaus Behrndt and Ingo Gaida. Subleading contributions from instanton corrections in N=2 supersymmetric black hole entropy. *Phys.Lett.*, B401:263–267, 1997.

- [35] Klaus Behrndt, Renata Kallosh, Joachim Rahmfeld, Marina Shmakova, and Wing Kai Wong. STU black holes and string triality. *Phys. Rev.*, D54:6293–6301, 1996.
- [36] Klaus Behrndt, Gabriel Lopes Cardoso, and Ingo Gaida. Quantum N=2 supersymmetric black holes in the S-T model. Nucl. Phys., B506:267–292, 1997.
- [37] Klaus Behrndt, Dieter Lust, and Wafie A. Sabra. Stationary solutions of N=2 supergravity. Nucl. Phys., B510:264–288, 1998.
- [38] Jacob D. Bekenstein. Nonexistence of baryon number for static black holes. *Phys. Rev.*, D5:1239–1246, 1972.
- [39] Jacob D. Bekenstein. Black holes and entropy. Phys. Rev., D7:2333–2346, 1973.
- [40] Jacob D. Bekenstein. Generalized second law of thermodynamics in black hole physics. *Phys. Rev.*, D9:3292–3300, 1974.
- [41] J.D. Bekenstein. Novel 'no scalar hair' theorem for black holes. *Phys.Rev.*, D51:6608–6611, 1995.
- [42] Jorge Bellorin, Patrick Meessen, and Tomas Ortin. Supersymmetry, attractors and cosmic censorship. Nucl. Phys., B762:229–255, 2007.
- [43] Jorge Bellorin and Tomas Ortin. Characterization of all the supersymmetric solutions of gauged N=1, d=5 supergravity. JHEP, 0708:096, 2007.
- [44] S. Bellucci, S. Ferrara, A. Marrani, and A. Shcherbakov. Splitting of Attractors in 1-modulus Quantum Corrected Special Geometry. JHEP, 0802:088, 2008.
- [45] S. Bellucci, S. Ferrara, A. Marrani, and A. Shcherbakov. Quantum Lift of Non-BPS Flat Directions. *Phys.Lett.*, B672:77–81, 2009.
- [46] Stefano Bellucci, Sergio Ferrara, Renata Kallosh, and Alessio Marrani. Extremal Black Hole and Flux Vacua Attractors. *Lect.Notes Phys.*, 755:115–191, 2008.
- [47] Stefano Bellucci, Sergio Ferrara, and Alessio Marrani. Supersymmetric mechanics. Vol. 2: The attractor mechanism and space time singularities. *Lect.Notes Phys.*, 701:pp.1–225, 2006.
- [48] Stefano Bellucci, Sergio Ferrara, and Alessio Marrani. Attractors in Black. Fortsch.Phys., 56:761–785, 2008.
- [49] Stefano Bellucci, Sergio Ferrara, Alessio Marrani, and Armen Yeranyan. stu Black Holes Unveiled. *Entropy*, 10:507, 2008.
- [50] Stefano Bellucci, Alessio Marrani, and Raju Roychowdhury. On Quantum Special Kaehler Geometry. Int.J.Mod.Phys., A25:1891–1935, 2010.
- [51] Yu.O. Belyakova and A.V. Nesterenko. A nonperturbative model for the strong running coupling within potential approach. *Int.J. Mod. Phys.*, A26:981–993, 2011.
- [52] Iosif Bena, Gianguido Dall'Agata, Stefano Giusto, Clement Ruef, and Nicholas P. Warner. Non-BPS Black Rings and Black Holes in Taub-NUT. *JHEP*, 0906:015, 2009.

- [53] Iosif Bena, Stefano Giusto, Clement Ruef, and Nicholas P. Warner. Multi-Center non-BPS Black Holes: the Solution. JHEP, 0911:032, 2009.
- [54] Iosif Bena and C.S. Shahbazi. Regular 3-charge 4D black holes and their microscopic description. JHEP, 1501:156, 2015.
- [55] E. Bergshoeff, W. Chemissany, A. Ploegh, M. Trigiante, and T. Van Riet. Generating Geodesic Flows and Supergravity Solutions. *Nucl. Phys.*, B812:343–401, 2009.
- [56] Eric Bergshoeff, Harm Jan Boonstra, and Tomas Ortin. S duality and dyonic p-brane solutions in type II string theory. *Phys. Rev.*, D53:7206–7212, 1996.
- [57] Eric Bergshoeff, Renata Kallosh, and Tomas Ortin. Stationary axion / dilaton solutions and supersymmetry. Nucl. Phys., B478:156–180, 1996.
- [58] Z. Bern, J.J. Carrasco, Lance J. Dixon, H. Johansson, and R. Roiban. The Ultraviolet Behavior of N=8 Supergravity at Four Loops. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 103:081301, 2009.
- [59] Z. Bern, J.J. Carrasco, Lance J. Dixon, Henrik Johansson, D.A. Kosower, et al. Three-Loop Superfiniteness of N=8 Supergravity. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 98:161303, 2007.
- [60] Gaetano Bertoldi, Benjamin A. Burrington, and Amanda W. Peet. Thermal behavior of charged dilatonic black branes in AdS and UV completions of Lifshitz-like geometries. *Phys.Rev.*, D82:106013, 2010.
- [61] M. Bertolini, P. Fre, and M. Trigiante. The Generating solution of regular N=8 BPS black holes. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 16:2987–3004, 1999.
- [62] M. Bertolini, M. Trigiante, and P. Fre. N=8 BPS black holes preserving 1/8 supersymmetry. Class. Quant. Grav., 16:1519–1543, 1999.
- [63] Arthur L. Besse. Einstein Manifolds. 1987.
- [64] Jyotirmoy Bhattacharya, Sera Cremonini, and Annamaria Sinkovics. On the IR completion of geometries with hyperscaling violation. JHEP, 1302:147, 2013.
- [65] Arpan Bhattacharyya, Apratim Kaviraj, and Aninda Sinha. Entanglement entropy in higher derivative holography. *JHEP*, 1308:012, 2013.
- [66] Arpan Bhattacharyya and Menika Sharma. On entanglement entropy functionals in higher derivative gravity theories. *JHEP*, 1410:130, 2014.
- [67] Arpan Bhattacharyya, Menika Sharma, and Aninda Sinha. On generalized gravitational entropy, squashed cones and holography. JHEP, 1401:021, 2014.
- [68] Eugenio Bianchi and Robert C. Myers. On the Architecture of Spacetime Geometry. Class.Quant.Grav., 31(21):214002, 2014.
- [69] G.D. Birkhoff. Relativity and Modern Physics, p.253, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, 1923.
- [70] P. Bizon and O.T. Popp. No hair theorem for spherical monopoles and dyons in SU(2) Einstein Yang-Mills theory. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 9:193–205, 1992.

- [71] Chris D.A. Blair and Sergey A. Cherkis. One Monopole with k Singularities. JHEP, 1011:127, 2010.
- [72] E.B. Bogomolny. Stability of Classical Solutions. Sov. J. Nucl. Phys., 24:449, 1976.
- [73] Luca Bombelli, Rabinder K. Koul, Joohan Lee, and Rafael D. Sorkin. A Quantum Source of Entropy for Black Holes. *Phys. Rev.*, D34:373–383, 1986.
- [74] Guillaume Bossard and Stefanos Katmadas. Duality covariant non-BPS first order systems. JHEP, 1209:100, 2012.
- [75] Guillaume Bossard, Yann Michel, and Boris Pioline. Extremal black holes, nilpotent orbits and the true fake superpotential. *JHEP*, 1001:038, 2010.
- [76] Guillaume Bossard, Hermann Nicolai, and K.S. Stelle. Universal BPS structure of stationary supergravity solutions. *JHEP*, 0907:003, 2009.
- [77] Guillaume Bossard and Clement Ruef. Interacting non-BPS black holes. Gen. Rel. Grav., 44:21–66, 2012.
- [78] Volker Braun. On Free Quotients of Complete Intersection Calabi-Yau Manifolds. JHEP, 1104:005, 2011.
- [79] Volker Braun, Philip Candelas, and Rhys Davies. A Three-Generation Calabi-Yau Manifold with Small Hodge Numbers. *Fortsch.Phys.*, 58:467–502, 2010.
- [80] J.C. Breckenridge, D.A. Lowe, Robert C. Myers, A.W. Peet, A. Strominger, et al. Macroscopic and microscopic entropy of near extremal spinning black holes. *Phys.Lett.*, B381:423–426, 1996.
- [81] J.C. Breckenridge, Robert C. Myers, A.W. Peet, and C. Vafa. D-branes and spinning black holes. *Phys.Lett.*, B391:93–98, 1997.
- [82] Peter Breitenlohner and Daniel Z. Freedman. Positive Energy in anti-De Sitter Backgrounds and Gauged Extended Supergravity. *Phys.Lett.*, B115:197, 1982.
- [83] Peter Breitenlohner, Dieter Maison, and Gary W. Gibbons. Four-Dimensional Black Holes from Kaluza-Klein Theories. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 120:295, 1988.
- [84] Mauro Brigante, Hong Liu, Robert C. Myers, Stephen Shenker, and Sho Yaida. Viscosity Bound Violation in Higher Derivative Gravity. *Phys.Rev.*, D77:126006, 2008.
- [85] Alex Buchel, Jorge Escobedo, Robert C. Myers, Miguel F. Paulos, Aninda Sinha, et al. Holographic GB gravity in arbitrary dimensions. JHEP, 1003:111, 2010.
- [86] Alex Buchel, Robert C. Myers, Miguel F. Paulos, and Aninda Sinha. Universal holographic hydrodynamics at finite coupling. *Phys.Lett.*, B669:364–370, 2008.
- [87] Pablo Bueno, W. Chemissany, and C.S. Shahbazi. On hvLif-like solutions in gauged Supergravity. Eur.Phys.J., C74(1):2684, 2014.
- [88] Pablo Bueno, Wissam Chemissany, Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortin, and C.S. Shahbazi. Lifshitz-like Solutions with Hyperscaling Violation in Ungauged Supergravity. *JHEP*, 1301:189, 2013.

- [89] Pablo Bueno, Rhys Davies, and C.S. Shahbazi. Quantum Black Holes in Type-IIA String Theory. JHEP, 1301:089, 2013.
- [90] Pablo Bueno, Pietro Galli, Patrick Meessen, and Tomas Ortin. Black holes and equivariant charge vectors in N=2,d=4 supergravity. *JHEP*, 1309:010, 2013.
- [91] Pablo Bueno, Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortin, and Pedro F. Ramirez. $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Einstein-Yang-Mills' static two-center solutions. *JHEP*, 1412:093, 2014.
- [92] Pablo Bueno and Robert C. Myers. Corner contributions to holographic entanglement entropy. *In preparation*.
- [93] Pablo Bueno, Tomas Ortin, and C.S. Shahbazi. Non-extremal branes. Physics Letters B, 743(0):301 – 305, 2015.
- [94] Pablo Bueno and Pedro F. Ramirez. Higher-curvature corrections to holographic entanglement entropy in geometries with hyperscaling violation. *JHEP*, 1412:078, 2014.
- [95] Pablo Bueno and C.S. Shahbazi. Non-perturbative black holes in Type-IIA String Theory vs. the No-Hair conjecture. 2013.
- [96] Pablo Bueno and C.S. Shahbazi. The violation of the No-Hair Conjecture in fourdimensional ungauged Supergravity. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 31:145005, 2014.
- [97] Sergio L. Cacciatori and Dietmar Klemm. Supersymmetric AdS(4) black holes and attractors. JHEP, 1001:085, 2010.
- [98] Mariano Cadoni, Giuseppe D'Appollonio, and Paolo Pani. Phase transitions between Reissner-Nordstrom and dilatonic black holes in 4D AdS spacetime. JHEP, 1003:100, 2010.
- [99] J. M. Caillol. Some applications of the Lambert W function to classical statistical mechanics. Journal of Physics A Mathematical General, 36:10431–10442, October 2003.
- [100] Pasquale Calabrese and John L. Cardy. Entanglement entropy and quantum field theory. J.Stat.Mech., 0406:P06002, 2004.
- [101] Jr. Callan, Curtis G. and Frank Wilczek. On geometric entropy. *Phys.Lett.*, B333:55– 61, 1994.
- [102] Xián O. Camanho, José D. Edelstein, and José M. Sánchez De Santos. Lovelock theory and the AdS/CFT correspondence. *Gen. Rel. Grav.*, 46:1637, 2014.
- [103] Joan Camps. Generalized entropy and higher derivative Gravity. JHEP, 1403:070, 2014.
- [104] P. Candelas, A.M. Dale, C.A. Lutken, and R. Schimmrigk. Complete Intersection Calabi-Yau Manifolds. Nucl. Phys., B298:493, 1988.
- [105] P. Candelas, E. Derrick, and L. Parkes. Generalized Calabi-Yau manifolds and the mirror of a rigid manifold. *Nucl. Phys.*, B407:115–154, 1993.

- [106] P. Candelas, Gary T. Horowitz, Andrew Strominger, and Edward Witten. Vacuum Configurations for Superstrings. *Nucl. Phys.*, B258:46–74, 1985.
- [107] Philip Candelas and Andrei Constantin. Completing the Web of Z_3 Quotients of Complete Intersection Calabi-Yau Manifolds. Fortsch. Phys., 60:345–369, 2012.
- [108] Philip Candelas and Rhys Davies. New Calabi-Yau Manifolds with Small Hodge Numbers. Fortsch. Phys., 58:383–466, 2010.
- [109] Philip Candelas and Xenia de la Ossa. Moduli Space of Calabi-Yau Manifolds. Nucl. Phys., B355:455–481, 1991.
- [110] Philip Candelas, Xenia C. De La Ossa, Paul S. Green, and Linda Parkes. A Pair of Calabi-Yau manifolds as an exactly soluble superconformal theory. *Nucl. Phys.*, B359:21–74, 1991.
- [111] Philip Candelas, Xenia C. De la Ossa, Paul S. Green, and Linda Parkes. An Exactly soluble superconformal theory from a mirror pair of Calabi-Yau manifolds. *Phys.Lett.*, B258:118–126, 1991.
- [112] Fabrizio Canfora. Nonlinear superposition law and Skyrme crystals. Phys. Rev., D88(6):065028, 2013.
- [113] Fabrizio Canfora, Francisco Correa, Alex Giacomini, and Julio Oliva. Exact meron Black Holes in four dimensional SU(2) Einstein-Yang-Mills theory. *Phys.Lett.*, B722:364–371, 2013.
- [114] Marco Cariglia and Oisin A.P. Mac Conamhna. The General form of supersymmetric solutions of N=(1,0) U(1) and SU(2) gauged supergravities in six-dimensions. *Class.Quant.Grav.*, 21:3171–3196, 2004.
- [115] B. Carter. Axisymmetric Black Hole Has Only Two Degrees of Freedom. Phys. Rev. Lett., 26:331–333, 1971.
- [116] Jorge Casalderrey-Solana, Hong Liu, David Mateos, Krishna Rajagopal, and Urs Achim Wiedemann. Gauge/String Duality, Hot QCD and Heavy Ion Collisions. 2011.
- [117] H. Casini and M. Huerta. A Finite entanglement entropy and the c-theorem. *Phys.Lett.*, B600:142–150, 2004.
- [118] H. Casini and M. Huerta. Universal terms for the entanglement entropy in 2+1 dimensions. Nucl. Phys., B764:183–201, 2007.
- [119] H. Casini and M. Huerta. Entanglement entropy in free quantum field theory. J.Phys., A42:504007, 2009.
- [120] H. Casini, M. Huerta, and L. Leitao. Entanglement entropy for a Dirac fermion in three dimensions: Vertex contribution. *Nucl. Phys.*, B814:594–609, 2009.
- [121] H. Casini and Marina Huerta. On the RG running of the entanglement entropy of a circle. *Phys.Rev.*, D85:125016, 2012.

- [122] Horacio Casini, Marina Huerta, and Robert C. Myers. Towards a derivation of holographic entanglement entropy. JHEP, 1105:036, 2011.
- [123] Horacio Casini, Marina Huerta, and Jose Alejandro Rosabal. Remarks on entanglement entropy for gauge fields. *Phys. Rev.*, D89(8):085012, 2014.
- [124] Davide Cassani, Gianguido Dall'Agata, and Anton F. Faedo. Type IIB supergravity on squashed Sasaki-Einstein manifolds. JHEP, 1005:094, 2010.
- [125] Davide Cassani and Anton F. Faedo. Constructing Lifshitz solutions from AdS. JHEP, 1105:013, 2011.
- [126] Bianca L. Cerchiai, Sergio Ferrara, Alessio Marrani, and Bruno Zumino. Duality, Entropy and ADM Mass in Supergravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D79:125010, 2009.
- [127] Anna Ceresole and Gianguido Dall'Agata. Flow Equations for Non-BPS Extremal Black Holes. JHEP, 0703:110, 2007.
- [128] Anna Ceresole, Gianguido Dall'Agata, Sergio Ferrara, and Armen Yeranyan. First order flows for N=2 extremal black holes and duality invariants. *Nucl.Phys.*, B824:239–253, 2010.
- [129] Anna Ceresole, R. D'Auria, S. Ferrara, and Antoine Van Proeyen. Duality transformations in supersymmetric Yang-Mills theories coupled to supergravity. *Nucl. Phys.*, B444:92–124, 1995.
- [130] Ali H. Chamseddine and Mikhail S. Volkov. NonAbelian BPS monopoles in N=4 gauged supergravity. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 79:3343–3346, 1997.
- [131] Christos Charmousis, Blaise Gouteraux, Bom Soo Kim, Elias Kiritsis, and Rene Meyer. Effective Holographic Theories for low-temperature condensed matter systems. JHEP, 1011:151, 2010.
- [132] W. Chemissany, P. Fre, J. Rosseel, A.S. Sorin, M. Trigiante, et al. Black holes in supergravity and integrability. *JHEP*, 1009:080, 2010.
- [133] W. Chemissany, J. Rosseel, M. Trigiante, and T. Van Riet. The Full integration of black hole solutions to symmetric supergravity theories. *Nucl. Phys.*, B830:391–413, 2010.
- [134] Wissam Chemissany and Jelle Hartong. From D3-Branes to Lifshitz Space-Times. Class. Quant. Grav., 28:195011, 2011.
- [135] Wissam Chemissany and Ioannis Papadimitriou. Generalized dilatation operator method for non-relativistic holography. *Phys.Lett.*, B737:272–276, 2014.
- [136] Wissam Chemissany and Ioannis Papadimitriou. Lifshitz holography: The whole shebang. JHEP, 1501:052, 2015.
- [137] Wissam Chemissany, Jan Rosseel, and Thomas Van Riet. Black holes as generalised Toda molecules. Nucl. Phys., B843:413–428, 2011.
- [138] Sergey A. Cherkis and Brian Durcan. The 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole in the presence of an 't Hooft operator. *Phys.Lett.*, B671:123–127, 2009.

- [139] Samuele Chimento and Dietmar Klemm. Multicentered black holes with a negative cosmological constant. *Phys.Rev.*, D89(2):024037, 2014.
- [140] Piotr T. Chrusciel, Harvey S. Reall, and Paul Tod. On Israel-Wilson-Perjes black holes. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 23:2519–2540, 2006.
- [141] Gerard Clement and Dmitri V. Galtsov. Stationary BPS solutions to dilaton axion gravity. Phys. Rev., D54:6136–6152, 1996.
- [142] Sidney R. Coleman and J. Mandula. All Possible Symmetries of the S Matrix. *Phys. Rev.*, 159:1251–1256, 1967.
- [143] Sidney R. Coleman, John Preskill, and Frank Wilczek. Quantum hair on black holes. Nucl. Phys., B378:175–246, 1992.
- [144] R. M. Corless, D. J. Jeffrey, and S. R. Valluri. Some Applications of the Lambert W Function to Physics. *Can. J. Phys.* 78, pages 823, 831, 2000.
- [145] Ben Craps, Frederik Roose, Walter Troost, and Antoine Van Proeyen. What is special Kahler geometry? Nucl. Phys., B503:565–613, 1997.
- [146] Sera Cremonini and Annamaria Sinkovics. Spatially Modulated Instabilities of Geometries with Hyperscaling Violation. JHEP, 1401:099, 2014.
- [147] Gorazd Cvetic and Igor Kondrashuk. Explicit solutions for effective four- and fiveloop QCD running coupling. JHEP, 1112:019, 2011.
- [148] Mirjam Cvetic, M.J. Duff, P. Hoxha, James T. Liu, Hong Lu, et al. Embedding AdS black holes in ten-dimensions and eleven-dimensions. *Nucl. Phys.*, B558:96–126, 1999.
- [149] Mirjam Cvetic and Christopher M. Hull. Black holes and U duality. Nucl. Phys., B480:296–316, 1996.
- [150] Rhys Davies. Quotients of the conifold in compact Calabi-Yau threefolds, and new topological transitions. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 14:965–990, 2010.
- [151] Rhys Davies. Hyperconifold Transitions, Mirror Symmetry, and String Theory. Nucl. Phys., B850:214–231, 2011.
- [152] Rhys Davies. The Expanding Zoo of Calabi-Yau Threefolds. Adv. High Energy Phys., 2011:901898, 2011.
- [153] Antonio de Antonio Martin, Tomas Ortin, and C.S. Shahbazi. The FGK formalism for black p-branes in d dimensions. *JHEP*, 1205:045, 2012.
- [154] Jan de Boer, Manuela Kulaxizi, and Andrei Parnachev. Holographic Entanglement Entropy in Lovelock Gravities. JHEP, 1107:109, 2011.
- [155] B. de Wit, P.G. Lauwers, R. Philippe, S.Q. Su, and Antoine Van Proeyen. Gauge and Matter Fields Coupled to N=2 Supergravity. *Phys.Lett.*, B134:37, 1984.
- [156] B. de Wit and Antoine Van Proeyen. Special geometry, cubic polynomials and homogeneous quaternionic spaces. *Commun.Math.Phys.*, 149:307–334, 1992.

- [157] B. de Wit, F. Vanderseypen, and Antoine Van Proeyen. Symmetry structure of special geometries. Nucl. Phys., B400:463–524, 1993.
- [158] Yves Decanini and Antoine Folacci. Irreducible forms for the metric variations of the action terms of sixth-order gravity and approximated stress-energy tensor. *Class.Quant.Grav.*, 24:4777–4799, 2007.
- [159] Frederik Denef. Supergravity flows and D-brane stability. JHEP, 0008:050, 2000.
- [160] Stanley Deser. Absence of Static Solutions in Source-Free Yang-Mills Theory. *Phys.Lett.*, B64:463, 1976.
- [161] Xi Dong. Holographic Entanglement Entropy for General Higher Derivative Gravity. JHEP, 1401:044, 2014.
- [162] Xi Dong, Sarah Harrison, Shamit Kachru, Gonzalo Torroba, and Huajia Wang. Aspects of holography for theories with hyperscaling violation. *JHEP*, 1206:041, 2012.
- [163] Aristomenis Donos and Jerome P. Gauntlett. Lifshitz Solutions of D=10 and D=11 supergravity. JHEP, 1012:002, 2010.
- [164] M.J. Duff, James T. Liu, and J. Rahmfeld. Four-dimensional string-stringtriality. Nucl. Phys., B459:125–159, 1996.
- [165] Mohammad Edalati and Juan F. Pedraza. Aspects of Current Correlators in Holographic Theories with Hyperscaling Violation. *Phys. Rev.*, D88:086004, 2013.
- [166] Mohammad Edalati, Juan F. Pedraza, and Walter Tangarife Garcia. Quantum Fluctuations in Holographic Theories with Hyperscaling Violation. *Phys.Rev.*, D87(4):046001, 2013.
- [167] Albert Einstein. The Foundation of the General Theory of Relativity. Annalen Phys., 49:769–822, 1916.
- [168] Roberto Emparan, Clifford V. Johnson, and Robert C. Myers. Surface terms as counterterms in the AdS / CFT correspondence. *Phys. Rev.*, D60:104001, 1999.
- [169] J. Erdmenger and H. Osborn. Conserved currents and the energy momentum tensor in conformally invariant theories for general dimensions. *Nucl. Phys.*, B483:431–474, 1997.
- [170] Johanna Erdmenger, Mario Flory, and Charlotte Sleight. Conditions on holographic entangling surfaces in higher curvature gravity. JHEP, 1406:104, 2014.
- [171] A.A. Ershov and D.V. Galtsov. Nonexistence of regular monopoles and dyons in the SU(2) Einstein Yang-Mills theory. *Phys.Lett.*, A150:159–162, 1990.
- [172] Thomas Faulkner, Monica Guica, Thomas Hartman, Robert C. Myers, and Mark Van Raamsdonk. Gravitation from Entanglement in Holographic CFTs. JHEP, 1403:051, 2014.
- [173] Sergio Ferrara, Gary W. Gibbons, and Renata Kallosh. Black holes and critical points in moduli space. Nucl. Phys., B500:75–93, 1997.

- [174] Sergio Ferrara, Kuniko Hayakawa, and Alessio Marrani. Lectures on Attractors and Black Holes. Fortsch. Phys., 56:993–1046, 2008.
- [175] Sergio Ferrara and Renata Kallosh. Supersymmetry and attractors. Phys. Rev., D54:1514–1524, 1996.
- [176] Sergio Ferrara and Alessio Marrani. Black Hole Attractors in Extended Supergravity. AIP Conf. Proc., 957:58–68, 2007.
- [177] Sergio Ferrara and Alessio Marrani. On the Moduli Space of non-BPS Attractors for N=2 Symmetric Manifolds. *Phys.Lett.*, B652:111–117, 2007.
- [178] Daniel S. Fisher. Scaling and critical slowing down in random-field Ising systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 56:416–419, 1986.
- [179] Piermarco Fonda, Lasse Franti, Ville Keränen, Esko Keski-Vakkuri, Larus Thorlacius, et al. Holographic thermalization with Lifshitz scaling and hyperscaling violation. JHEP, 1408:051, 2014.
- [180] Eduardo Fradkin and Joel E. Moore. Entanglement entropy of 2D conformal quantum critical points: hearing the shape of a quantum drum. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 97:050404, 2006.
- [181] Pietro Fre and Alexander S. Sorin. Extremal Multicenter Black Holes: Nilpotent Orbits and Tits Satake Universality Classes. JHEP, 1301:003, 2013.
- [182] Pietro Fre, Alexander S. Sorin, and Mario Trigiante. Integrability of Supergravity Black Holes and New Tensor Classifiers of Regular and Nilpotent Orbits. *JHEP*, 1204:015, 2012.
- [183] Daniel Z. Freedman and Antoine Van Proeyen. Supergravity. 2012.
- [184] Dmitri V. Fursaev. Proof of the holographic formula for entanglement entropy. JHEP, 0609:018, 2006.
- [185] Dmitri V. Fursaev, Alexander Patrushev, and Sergey N. Solodukhin. Distributional Geometry of Squashed Cones. *Phys.Rev.*, D88(4):044054, 2013.
- [186] Mary K. Gaillard and Bruno Zumino. Duality Rotations for Interacting Fields. Nucl. Phys., B193:221, 1981.
- [187] Pietro Galli, Kevin Goldstein, Stefanos Katmadas, and Jan Perz. First-order flows and stabilisation equations for non-BPS extremal black holes. JHEP, 1106:070, 2011.
- [188] Pietro Galli, Kevin Goldstein, and Jan Perz. On anharmonic stabilisation equations for black holes. JHEP, 1303:036, 2013.
- [189] Pietro Galli, Patrick Meessen, and Tomas Ortin. The Freudenthal gauge symmetry of the black holes of N=2,d=4 supergravity. *JHEP*, 1305:011, 2013.
- [190] Pietro Galli, Tomas Ortin, Jan Perz, and Carlos S. Shahbazi. Non-extremal black holes of N=2, d=4 supergravity. JHEP, 1107:041, 2011.

- [191] Pietro Galli, Tomas Ortin, Jan Perz, and C.S. Shahbazi. Black hole solutions of N = 2, d = 4 supergravity with a quantum correction, in the H-FGK formalism. *JHEP*, 1304:157, 2013.
- [192] Pietro Galli and Jan Perz. Non-supersymmetric extremal multicenter black holes with superpotentials. JHEP, 1002:102, 2010.
- [193] D.V. Galtsov and A.A. Ershov. Nonabelian Baldness of Colored Black Holes. *Phys.Lett.*, A138:160–164, 1989.
- [194] D.V. Galtsov and O.V. Kechkin. Ehlers-Harrison type transformations in dilaton axion gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D50:7394–7399, 1994.
- [195] D.V. Galtsov and O.V. Kechkin. U duality and symplectic formulation of dilaton axion gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D54:1656–1666, 1996.
- [196] Hugo García-Compeán, Oscar Loaiza-Brito, Aldo Martínez-Merino, and Roberto Santos-Silva. Half-flat Quantum Hair. Phys. Rev., D89(4):044025, 2014.
- [197] Einan Gardi, Georges Grunberg, and Marek Karliner. Can the QCD running coupling have a causal analyticity structure? JHEP, 9807:007, 1998.
- [198] David Garfinkle, Gary T. Horowitz, and Andrew Strominger. Charged black holes in string theory. *Phys. Rev.*, D43:3140, 1991.
- [199] Jakob Gath, Jelle Hartong, Ricardo Monteiro, and Niels A. Obers. Holographic Models for Theories with Hyperscaling Violation. JHEP, 1304:159, 2013.
- [200] Jerome P. Gauntlett and Jan B. Gutowski. General concentric black rings. Phys. Rev., D71:045002, 2005.
- [201] Jerome P. Gauntlett, Jan B. Gutowski, Christopher M. Hull, Stathis Pakis, and Harvey S. Reall. All supersymmetric solutions of minimal supergravity in fivemensions. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 20:4587–4634, 2003.
- [202] Jerome P. Gauntlett and Oscar Varela. Universal Kaluza-Klein reductions of type IIB to N=4 supergravity in five dimensions. JHEP, 1006:081, 2010.
- [203] Mahdis Ghodrati. Hyperscaling Violating Solution in Coupled Dilaton-Squared Curvature Gravity. Phys. Rev., D90(4):044055, 2014.
- [204] Gary W. Gibbons, Renata Kallosh, and Barak Kol. Moduli, scalar charges, and the first law of black hole thermodynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 77:4992–4995, 1996.
- [205] G.W. Gibbons. Antigravitating Black Hole Solitons with Scalar Hair in N=4 Supergravity. Nucl. Phys., B207:337–349, 1982.
- [206] G.W. Gibbons and D.A. Rasheed. Electric magnetic duality rotations in nonlinear electrodynamics. Nucl. Phys., B454:185–206, 1995.
- [207] Eric G. Gimon, Finn Larsen, and Joan Simon. Black holes in Supergravity: The Non-BPS branch. JHEP, 0801:040, 2008.

- [208] Eric G. Gimon, Finn Larsen, and Joan Simon. Constituent Model of Extremal non-BPS Black Holes. JHEP, 0907:052, 2009.
- [209] Alessandra Gnecchi, Kiril Hristov, Dietmar Klemm, Chiara Toldo, and Owen Vaughan. Rotating black holes in 4d gauged supergravity. JHEP, 1401:127, 2014.
- [210] Kevin Goldstein, Norihiro Iizuka, Rudra P. Jena, and Sandip P. Trivedi. Nonsupersymmetric attractors. *Phys. Rev.*, D72:124021, 2005.
- [211] Kevin Goldstein, Vishnu Jejjala, and Suresh Nampuri. Hot Attractors. JHEP, 1501:075, 2015.
- [212] Yu.A. Golfand and E.P. Likhtman. Extension of the Algebra of Poincare Group Generators and Violation of p Invariance. JETP Lett., 13:323–326, 1971.
- [213] B. Gouteraux and E. Kiritsis. Generalized Holographic Quantum Criticality at Finite Density. JHEP, 1112:036, 2011.
- [214] Michael B. Green, J.H. Schwarz, and Edward Witten. SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 1: INTRODUCTION. Cambridge Monogr. Math. Phys., 1987.
- [215] Michael B. Green, J.H. Schwarz, and Edward Witten. SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 2: LOOP AMPLITUDES, ANOMALIES AND PHENOMENOLOGY. 1987.
- [216] Brian R. Greene, Samir D. Mathur, and Christopher M. O'Neill. Eluding the no hair conjecture: Black holes in spontaneously broken gauge theories. *Phys.Rev.*, D47:2242–2259, 1993.
- [217] Ruth Gregory, Susha L. Parameswaran, Gianmassimo Tasinato, and Ivonne Zavala. Lifshitz solutions in supergravity and string theory. JHEP, 1012:047, 2010.
- [218] Tarun Grover. Entanglement Monotonicity and the Stability of Gauge Theories in Three Spacetime Dimensions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 112(15):151601, 2014.
- [219] S.S. Gubser, Igor R. Klebanov, and Alexander M. Polyakov. Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory. *Phys.Lett.*, B428:105–114, 1998.
- [220] Steven S. Gubser and Fabio D. Rocha. Peculiar properties of a charged dilatonic black hole in AdS₅. *Phys.Rev.*, D81:046001, 2010.
- [221] Murat Gunaydin, Andrew Neitzke, Boris Pioline, and Andrew Waldron. BPS black holes, quantum attractor flows and automorphic forms. *Phys.Rev.*, D73:084019, 2006.
- [222] R. C. Myers H. Casini, M. Huerta and A. Yale. Mutual information and the Ftheorem. in preparation.
- [223] Rudolf Haag, Jan T. Lopuszanski, and Martin Sohnius. All Possible Generators of Supersymmetries of the s Matrix. Nucl. Phys., B88:257, 1975.
- [224] Nick Halmagyi. Static BPS Black Holes in AdS4 with General Dyonic Charges. 2014.

- [225] Nick Halmagyi, Michela Petrini, and Alberto Zaffaroni. Non-Relativistic Solutions of N=2 Gauged Supergravity. JHEP, 1108:041, 2011.
- [226] A. Hamma, R. Ionicioiu, and P. Zanardi. Ground state entanglement and geometric entropy in the Kitaev model [rapid communication]. *Physics Letters A*, 337:22–28, March 2005.
- [227] Sarah Harrison, Shamit Kachru, and Huajia Wang. Resolving Lifshitz Horizons. JHEP, 1402:085, 2014.
- [228] J.B. Hartle and S.W. Hawking. Solutions of the Einstein-Maxwell equations with many black holes. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 26:87–101, 1972.
- [229] Sean A. Hartnoll. Lectures on holographic methods for condensed matter physics. Class. Quant. Grav., 26:224002, 2009.
- [230] Sean A. Hartnoll, Joseph Polchinski, Eva Silverstein, and David Tong. Towards strange metallic holography. JHEP, 1004:120, 2010.
- [231] Jeffrey A. Harvey and James Liu. Magnetic monopoles in N=4 supersymmetric low-energy superstring theory. *Phys.Lett.*, B268:40–46, 1991.
- [232] P. Hasenfratz and Gerard 't Hooft. A Fermion-Boson Puzzle in a Gauge Theory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 36:1119, 1976.
- [233] S.W. Hawking. Gravitational radiation from colliding black holes. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 26:1344–1346, 1971.
- [234] S.W. Hawking. Particle Creation by Black Holes. Commun. Math. Phys., 43:199–220, 1975.
- [235] S.W. Hawking and G.F.R. Ellis. The Large scale structure of space-time. 1973.
- [236] Matthew Headrick, Robert C. Myers, and Jason Wien. Holographic Holes and Differential Entropy. JHEP, 1410:149, 2014.
- [237] Tomoyoshi Hirata and Tadashi Takayanagi. AdS/CFT and strong subadditivity of entanglement entropy. JHEP, 0702:042, 2007.
- [238] Christoph Holzhey, Finn Larsen, and Frank Wilczek. Geometric and renormalized entropy in conformal field theory. Nucl. Phys., B424:443–467, 1994.
- [239] Gary T. Horowitz and Andrew Strominger. Counting states of near extremal black holes. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 77:2368–2371, 1996.
- [240] Gary T. Horowitz and Benson Way. Lifshitz Singularities. Phys. Rev., D85:046008, 2012.
- [241] Kiril Hristov, Stefanos Katmadas, and Valentina Pozzoli. Ungauging black holes and hidden supercharges. JHEP, 1301:110, 2013.
- [242] Kiril Hristov and Stefan Vandoren. Static supersymmetric black holes in AdS₄ with spherical symmetry. JHEP, 1104:047, 2011.
- [243] Mechthild Huebscher, Patrick Meessen, and Tomas Ortin. Supersymmetric solutions of N=2 D=4 sugra: The Whole ungauged shebang. Nucl. Phys., B759:228–248, 2006.
- [244] Mechthild Huebscher, Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortin, and Silvia Vaula. N=2 Einstein-Yang-Mills's BPS solutions. JHEP, 0809:099, 2008.
- [245] Mechthild Huebscher, Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortin, and Silvia Vaula. Supersymmetric N=2 Einstein-Yang-Mills monopoles and covariant attractors. *Phys.Rev.*, D78:065031, 2008.
- [246] Liza Huijse, Subir Sachdev, and Brian Swingle. Hidden Fermi surfaces in compressible states of gauge-gravity duality. *Phys. Rev.*, B85:035121, 2012.
- [247] Ling-Yan Hung, Robert C. Myers, and Michael Smolkin. On Holographic Entanglement Entropy and Higher Curvature Gravity. JHEP, 1104:025, 2011.
- [248] Ling-Yan Hung, Robert C. Myers, and Michael Smolkin. Some Calculable Contributions to Holographic Entanglement Entropy. JHEP, 1108:039, 2011.
- [249] Luis E. Ibanez, F. Marchesano, and R. Rabadan. Getting just the standard model at intersecting branes. JHEP, 0111:002, 2001.
- [250] Norihiro Iizuka, Nilay Kundu, Prithvi Narayan, and Sandip P. Trivedi. Holographic Fermi and Non-Fermi Liquids with Transitions in Dilaton Gravity. *JHEP*, 1201:094, 2012.
- [251] S. Inglis and R. G. Melko. Entanglement at a two-dimensional quantum critical point: a T = 0 projector quantum Monte Carlo study. New Journal of Physics, 15(7):073048, July 2013.
- [252] W. Israel and G.A. Wilson. A class of stationary electromagnetic vacuum fields. J.Math.Phys., 13:865–871, 1972.
- [253] Werner Israel. Event horizons in static electrovac space-times. Commun.Math.Phys., 8:245–260, 1968.
- [254] Vivek Iyer and Robert M. Wald. Some properties of Noether charge and a proposal for dynamical black hole entropy. *Phys.Rev.*, D50:846–864, 1994.
- [255] Ted Jacobson, Gungwon Kang, and Robert C. Myers. On black hole entropy. Phys. Rev., D49:6587–6598, 1994.
- [256] Ted Jacobson and Robert C. Myers. Black hole entropy and higher curvature interactions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 70:3684–3687, 1993.
- [257] Daniel L. Jafferis, Igor R. Klebanov, Silviu S. Pufu, and Benjamin R. Safdi. Towards the F-Theorem: N=2 Field Theories on the Three-Sphere. JHEP, 1106:102, 2011.
- [258] Bert Janssen, Paul Smyth, Thomas Van Riet, and Bert Vercnocke. A First-order formalism for timelike and spacelike brane solutions. JHEP, 0804:007, 2008.
- [259] J.T. Jebsen. Ark. Mat. Ast. Fys. (Stockholm) 15, 18, 1921.

- [260] Clifford V. Johnson, Ramzi R. Khuri, and Robert C. Myers. Entropy of 4-D extremal black holes. *Phys.Lett.*, B378:78–86, 1996.
- [261] Shamit Kachru, Xiao Liu, and Michael Mulligan. Gravity duals of Lifshitz-like fixed points. *Phys. Rev.*, D78:106005, 2008.
- [262] A. B. Kallin, E. M. Stoudenmire, P. Fendley, R. R. P. Singh, and R. G. Melko. Corner contribution to the entanglement entropy of an O(3) quantum critical point in 2+1 dimensions. ArXiv e-prints, January 2014.
- [263] Ann B. Kallin, Matthew B. Hastings, Roger G. Melko, and Rajiv R. P. Singh. Anomalies in the entanglement properties of the square-lattice heisenberg model. *Phys. Rev. B*, 84:165134, Oct 2011.
- [264] Ann B. Kallin, Katharine Hyatt, Rajiv R. P. Singh, and Roger G. Melko. Entanglement at a two-dimensional quantum critical point: A numerical linked-cluster expansion study. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110:135702, Mar 2013.
- [265] Renata Kallosh. An Update on Perturbative N=8 Supergravity. 2014.
- [266] Renata Kallosh, David Kastor, Tomas Ortin, and Tibor Torma. Supersymmetry and stationary solutions in dilaton axion gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D50:6374–6384, 1994.
- [267] Renata Kallosh, Andrei D. Linde, Tomas Ortin, Amanda W. Peet, and Antoine Van Proeyen. Supersymmetry as a cosmic censor. *Phys.Rev.*, D46:5278–5302, 1992.
- [268] Renata Kallosh, Andrei D. Linde, and Marina Shmakova. Supersymmetric multiple basin attractors. JHEP, 9911:010, 1999.
- [269] Renata Kallosh and Tomas Ortin. Charge quantization of axion dilaton black holes. Phys. Rev., D48:742–747, 1993.
- [270] Renata Kallosh and Tomas Ortin. Exact SU(2) x U(1) stringy black holes. Phys. Rev., D50:7123-7127, 1994.
- [271] P. Kanti, N.E. Mavromatos, J. Rizos, K. Tamvakis, and E. Winstanley. Dilatonic black holes in higher curvature string gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D54:5049–5058, 1996.
- [272] David Kastor and Jennie H. Traschen. Cosmological multi black hole solutions. Phys. Rev., D47:5370-5375, 1993.
- [273] Ramzi R. Khuri and Tomas Ortin. A Nonsupersymmetric dyonic extreme Reissner-Nordstrom black hole. *Phys.Lett.*, B373:56–60, 1996.
- [274] Bom Soo Kim. Hyperscaling violation : a unified frame for effective holographic theories. JHEP, 1211:061, 2012.
- [275] Alexei Kitaev and John Preskill. Topological entanglement entropy. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 96:110404, 2006.
- [276] Igor R. Klebanov, David Kutasov, and Arvind Murugan. Entanglement as a probe of confinement. Nucl. Phys., B796:274–293, 2008.

- [277] Igor R. Klebanov, Silviu S. Pufu, and Benjamin R. Safdi. F-Theorem without Supersymmetry. JHEP, 1110:038, 2011.
- [278] Burkhard Kleihaus and Jutta Kunz. A Monopole anti-monopole solution of the SU(2) Yang-Mills-Higgs model. *Phys.Rev.*, D61:025003, 2000.
- [279] Burkhard Kleihaus and Jutta Kunz. Monopole anti-monopole solutions of Einstein-Yang-Mills-Higgs theory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 85:2430–2433, 2000.
- [280] Burkhard Kleihaus, Jutta Kunz, and Kari Myklevoll. Platonic sphalerons. Phys.Lett., B582:187–195, 2004.
- [281] Burkhard Kleihaus, Jutta Kunz, and Kari Myklevoll. Platonic sphalerons in the presence of a dilaton field. *Phys.Lett.*, B605:151–160, 2005.
- [282] Burkhard Kleihaus, Jutta Kunz, Eugen Radu, and Bintoro Subagyo. Axially symmetric static scalar solitons and black holes with scalar hair. *Phys.Lett.*, B725:489–494, 2013.
- [283] Burkhard Kleihaus, Jutta Kunz, and Yasha Shnir. Monopole anti-monopole chains. *Phys.Lett.*, B570:237–243, 2003.
- [284] Dietmar Klemm and Owen Vaughan. Nonextremal black holes in gauged supergravity and the real formulation of special geometry. JHEP, 1301:053, 2013.
- [285] Dietmar Klemm and Owen Vaughan. Nonextremal black holes in gauged supergravity and the real formulation of special geometry II. Class. Quant. Grav., 30:065003, 2013.
- [286] Gino Knodel and James T. Liu. Higher derivative corrections to Lifshitz backgrounds. JHEP, 1310:002, 2013.
- [287] Peter Koroteev and Maxim Libanov. On Existence of Self-Tuning Solutions in Static Braneworlds without Singularities. JHEP, 0802:104, 2008.
- [288] P. Kovtun, Dan T. Son, and Andrei O. Starinets. Viscosity in strongly interacting quantum field theories from black hole physics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 94:111601, 2005.
- [289] Maximilian Kreuzer and Harald Skarke. Complete classification of reflexive polyhedra in four-dimensions. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 4:1209–1230, 2002.
- [290] Manuela Kulaxizi, Andrei Parnachev, and Koenraad Schalm. On Holographic Entanglement Entropy of Charged Matter. JHEP, 1210:098, 2012.
- [291] J. H. Lambert. Observationes variae in mathesin puram. Acta Helveticae physicomathematico-anatomico-botanico-medica, pages 128, 168, 1758.
- [292] J. I. Latorre, E. Rico, and G. Vidal. Ground state entanglement in quantum spin chains. eprint arXiv:quant-ph/0304098, April 2003.
- [293] Ki-Myeong Lee, V.P. Nair, and Erick J. Weinberg. Black holes in magnetic monopoles. *Phys. Rev.*, D45:2751–2761, 1992.

- [294] M. Levin and X.-G. Wen. Detecting Topological Order in a Ground State Wave Function. *Physical Review Letters*, 96(11):110405, March 2006.
- [295] Aitor Lewkowycz. Holographic Entanglement Entropy and Confinement. JHEP, 1205:032, 2012.
- [296] Aitor Lewkowycz and Juan Maldacena. Generalized gravitational entropy. JHEP, 1308:090, 2013.
- [297] Hong Liu and Mark Mezei. A Refinement of entanglement entropy and the number of degrees of freedom. JHEP, 1304:162, 2013.
- [298] Hong Liu and Arkady A. Tseytlin. D = 4 superYang-Mills, D = 5 gauged supergravity, and D = 4 conformal supergravity. Nucl. Phys., B533:88–108, 1998.
- [299] James T. Liu, Phillip Szepietowski, and Zhichen Zhao. Consistent massive truncations of IIB supergravity on Sasaki-Einstein manifolds. *Phys.Rev.*, D81:124028, 2010.
- [300] Gabriel Lopes Cardoso, Anna Ceresole, Gianguido Dall'Agata, Johannes M. Oberreuter, and Jan Perz. First-order flow equations for extremal black holes in very special geometry. *JHEP*, 0710:063, 2007.
- [301] Gabriel Lopes Cardoso, Bernard de Wit, Jurg Kappeli, and Thomas Mohaupt. Stationary BPS solutions in N=2 supergravity with R**2 interactions. JHEP, 0012:019, 2000.
- [302] Gabriel Lopes Cardoso, Bernard de Wit, and Thomas Mohaupt. Macroscopic entropy formulae and nonholomorphic corrections for supersymmetric black holes. *Nucl.Phys.*, B567:87–110, 2000.
- [303] D. Lovelock. The Einstein tensor and its generalizations. J.Math.Phys., 12:498–501, 1971.
- [304] David Lovelock. Divergence-free tensorial concomitants. aequationes mathematicae, 4(1-2):127–138, 1970.
- [305] Ernesto Lozano-Tellechea and Tomas Ortin. The General, duality invariant family of nonBPS black hole solutions of N=4, D = 4 supergravity. *Nucl. Phys.*, B569:435–450, 2000.
- [306] H. Lu and C.N. Pope. Critical Gravity in Four Dimensions. Phys. Rev. Lett., 106:181302, 2011.
- [307] J.X. Lu and Shibaji Roy. An SL(2,Z) multiplet of type IIB super five-branes. *Phys.Lett.*, B428:289–296, 1998.
- [308] B.A. Magradze. The Gluon propagator in analytic perturbation theory. Conf. Proc., C980518:158–169, 1999.
- [309] S.D. Majumdar. A class of exact solutions of Einstein's field equations. *Phys. Rev.*, 72:390–398, 1947.

- [310] Juan Maldacena and Leonard Susskind. Cool horizons for entangled black holes. Fortsch.Phys., 61:781–811, 2013.
- [311] Juan Martin Maldacena. The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity. Int.J. Theor. Phys., 38:1113–1133, 1999.
- [312] Juan Martin Maldacena and Andrew Strominger. Statistical entropy of fourdimensional extremal black holes. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 77:428–429, 1996.
- [313] Juan Martin Maldacena, Andrew Strominger, and Edward Witten. Black hole entropy in M theory. JHEP, 9712:002, 1997.
- [314] Robert B. Mann and T. Ohta. Exact solution for the metric and the motion of two bodies in (1+1)-dimensional gravity. *Phys.Rev.*, D55:4723–4747, 1997.
- [315] Alessio Marrani, Emanuele Orazi, and Fabio Riccioni. Exceptional Reductions. J.Phys., A44:155207, 2011.
- [316] N.E. Mavromatos. Eluding the no hair conjecture for black holes. 1995.
- [317] Pawel O. Mazur. Black hole uniqueness theorems. 2000.
- [318] P.O. Mazur. PROOF OF UNIQUENESS OF THE KERR-NEWMAN BLACK HOLE SOLUTION. J.Phys., A15:3173–3180, 1982.
- [319] Patrick Meessen. Supersymmetric coloured/hairy black holes. Phys.Lett., B665:388– 391, 2008.
- [320] Patrick Meessen and Tomas Ortin. The Supersymmetric configurations of N=2, D=4 supergravity coupled to vector supermultiplets. Nucl. Phys., B749:291–324, 2006.
- [321] Patrick Meessen and Tomas Ortin. Non-Extremal Black Holes of N=2,d=5 Supergravity. *Phys.Lett.*, B707:178–183, 2012.
- [322] Patrick Meessen and Tomas Ortin. Supersymmetric solutions to gauged N=2 d=4 sugra: the full timelike shebang. Nucl. Phys., B863:65–89, 2012.
- [323] Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortin, Jan Perz, and C. S. Shahbazi. Black holes and black strings of N=2, d=5 supergravity in the H-FGK formalism. *JHEP*, 1209:001, 2012.
- [324] Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortin, Jan Perz, and C. S. Shahbazi. H-FGK formalism for black-hole solutions of N=2, d=4 and d=5 supergravity. *Phys.Lett.*, B709:260–265, 2012.
- [325] Patrick Meessen, Tomas Ortin, and Silvia Vaula. All the timelike supersymmetric solutions of all ungauged d=4 supergravities. *JHEP*, 1011:072, 2010.
- [326] Max A. Metlitski and Subir Sachdev. Quantum phase transitions of metals in two spatial dimensions: I. Ising-nematic order. *Phys.Rev.*, B82:075127, 2010.
- [327] Rong-Xin Miao and Wu-zhong Guo. Holographic Entanglement Entropy for the Most General Higher Derivative Gravity. 2014.
- [328] Christopher M. Miller, Koenraad Schalm, and Erick J. Weinberg. Nonextremal black holes are BPS. *Phys. Rev.*, D76:044001, 2007.

- [329] T. Mohaupt and O. Vaughan. Non-extremal Black Holes, Harmonic Functions, and Attractor Equations. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 27:235008, 2010.
- [330] Thomas Mohaupt. Black hole entropy, special geometry and strings. Fortsch. Phys., 49:3–161, 2001.
- [331] Thomas Mohaupt and Owen Vaughan. The Hesse potential, the c-map and black hole solutions. JHEP, 1207:163, 2012.
- [332] Thomas Mohaupt and Kirk Waite. Instantons, black holes and harmonic functions. JHEP, 0910:058, 2009.
- [333] R. Movassagh and P. W. Shor. Power law violation of the area law in quantum spin chains. ArXiv e-prints, August 2014.
- [334] Robert C. Myers. Higher Derivative Gravity, Surface Terms and String Theory. Phys. Rev., D36:392, 1987.
- [335] Robert C. Myers, Miguel F. Paulos, and Aninda Sinha. Holographic studies of quasi-topological gravity. JHEP, 1008:035, 2010.
- [336] Robert C. Myers, Razieh Pourhasan, and Michael Smolkin. On Spacetime Entanglement. JHEP, 1306:013, 2013.
- [337] Robert C. Myers and Brandon Robinson. Black Holes in Quasi-topological Gravity. JHEP, 1008:067, 2010.
- [338] Robert C. Myers and Ajay Singh. Comments on Holographic Entanglement Entropy and RG Flows. JHEP, 1204:122, 2012.
- [339] Robert C. Myers and Ajay Singh. Entanglement Entropy for Singular Surfaces. JHEP, 1209:013, 2012.
- [340] Robert C. Myers and Aninda Sinha. Seeing a c-theorem with holography. Phys. Rev., D82:046006, 2010.
- [341] Robert C. Myers and Aninda Sinha. Holographic c-theorems in arbitrary dimensions. JHEP, 1101:125, 2011.
- [342] W. Nahm. THE CONSTRUCTION OF ALL SELFDUAL MULTI MONOPOLES BY THE ADHM METHOD. (TALK). 1982.
- [343] K. Narayan. On Lifshitz scaling and hyperscaling violation in string theory. *Phys. Rev.*, D85:106006, 2012.
- [344] A.V. Nesterenko. Analytic invariant charge in QCD. Int.J.Mod.Phys., A18:5475– 5520, 2003.
- [345] M. A. Nielsen and I. L. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge Univ. Press., Cambridge, 2000.
- [346] Tatsuma Nishioka, Shinsei Ryu, and Tadashi Takayanagi. Holographic Entanglement Entropy: An Overview. J.Phys., A42:504008, 2009.

- [347] Tatsuma Nishioka and Tadashi Takayanagi. AdS Bubbles, Entropy and Closed String Tachyons. JHEP, 0701:090, 2007.
- [348] Masahiro Nozaki, Shinsei Ryu, and Tadashi Takayanagi. Holographic Geometry of Entanglement Renormalization in Quantum Field Theories. *JHEP*, 1210:193, 2012.
- [349] Noriaki Ogawa, Tadashi Takayanagi, and Tomonori Ugajin. Holographic Fermi Surfaces and Entanglement Entropy. JHEP, 1201:125, 2012.
- [350] Daniel K. O'Keeffe and Amanda W. Peet. Electric hyperscaling violating solutions in Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton gravity with R² corrections. Phys. Rev., D90(2):026004, 2014.
- [351] Tomas Ortin. Electric magnetic duality and supersymmetry in stringy black holes. Phys. Rev., D47:3136–3143, 1993.
- [352] Tomas Ortin. Nonsupersymmetric (but) extreme black holes, scalar hair and other open problems. 1997.
- [353] Tomas Ortin. Gravity and strings. 2004.
- [354] Tomas Ortin. Supersymmetric solutions of 4-dimensional supergravities. AIP Conf.Proc., 1318:175–186, 2010.
- [355] Tomas Ortín. A Simple Derivation of Supersymmetric Extremal Black Hole Attractors. *Phys.Lett.*, B700:261–264, 2011.
- [356] H. Osborn and A.C. Petkou. Implications of conformal invariance in field theories for general dimensions. *Annals Phys.*, 231:311–362, 1994.
- [357] H. Panagopoulos. Multi Monopoles in Arbitrary Gauge Groups and the Complete SU(2) Two Monopole System. *Phys.Rev.*, D28:380, 1983.
- [358] A. Papapetrou. A Static solution of the equations of the gravitational field for an arbitrary charge distribution. *Proc.Roy.Irish Acad. (Sect.A)*, A51:191–204, 1947.
- [359] Zoltan Perjes. Solutions of the coupled Einstein Maxwell equations representing the fields of spinning sources. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 27:1668, 1971.
- [360] Eric Perlmutter. Domain Wall Holography for Finite Temperature Scaling Solutions. JHEP, 1102:013, 2011.
- [361] Eric Perlmutter. Hyperscaling violation from supergravity. JHEP, 1206:165, 2012.
- [362] Jan Perz, Paul Smyth, Thomas Van Riet, and Bert Vercnocke. First-order flow equations for extremal and non-extremal black holes. *JHEP*, 0903:150, 2009.
- [363] I. Peschel. LETTER TO THE EDITOR: Calculation of reduced density matrices from correlation functions. *Journal of Physics A Mathematical General*, 36:L205– L208, April 2003.
- [364] M. B. Plenio, J. Eisert, J. Dreißig, and M. Cramer. Entropy, Entanglement, and Area: Analytical Results for Harmonic Lattice Systems. *Physical Review Letters*, 94(6):060503, February 2005.

- [365] J. Polchinski. String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string. 1998.
- [366] J. Polchinski. String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond. 1998.
- [367] Joseph Polchinski. Dirichlet Branes and Ramond-Ramond charges. Phys. Rev. Lett., 75:4724–4727, 1995.
- [368] Joseph Polchinski. The Cosmological Constant and the String Landscape. pages 216–236, 2006.
- [369] Joseph Polchinski. Introduction to Gauge/Gravity Duality. pages 3–46, 2010.
- [370] Alexander M. Polyakov. Particle Spectrum in the Quantum Field Theory. JETP Lett., 20:194–195, 1974.
- [371] Alexander D. Popov. On explicit point multi-monopoles in SU(2) gauge theory. J.Math.Phys., 46:073506, 2005.
- [372] Razieh Pourhasan. Spacetime entanglement with f(R) gravity. JHEP, 1406:004, 2014.
- [373] M.K. Prasad and Charles M. Sommerfield. An Exact Classical Solution for the 't Hooft Monopole and the Julia-Zee Dyon. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 35:760–762, 1975.
- [374] A.P. Protogenov. Exact Classical Solutions of Yang-Mills Sourceless Equations. *Phys.Lett.*, B67:62–64, 1977.
- [375] Fernando Quevedo, Sven Krippendorf, and Oliver Schlotterer. Cambridge Lectures on Supersymmetry and Extra Dimensions. 2010.
- [376] Lisa Randall and Raman Sundrum. An Alternative to compactification. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 83:4690–4693, 1999.
- [377] Marek Rogatko. Uniqueness Theorem for Stationary Axisymmetric Black Holes in Einstein-Maxwell-axion-dilaton Gravity. *Phys. Rev.*, D82:044017, 2010.
- [378] Shinsei Ryu and Tadashi Takayanagi. Aspects of Holographic Entanglement Entropy. JHEP, 0608:045, 2006.
- [379] Shinsei Ryu and Tadashi Takayanagi. Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from AdS/CFT. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 96:181602, 2006.
- [380] A. Salam and E. Sezgin. SUPERGRAVITIES IN DIVERSE DIMENSIONS. VOL. 1, 2. 1989.
- [381] Sudipta Sarkar and Aron C. Wall. Generalized second law at linear order for actions that are functions of Lovelock densities. *Phys.Rev.*, D88:044017, 2013.
- [382] John H. Schwarz. An SL(2,Z) multiplet of type IIB superstrings. *Phys.Lett.*, B360:13–18, 1995.
- [383] T. C. Scott and R. B. Mann. General Relativity and Quantum Mechanics: Towards a Generalization of the Lambert W Function. ArXiv Mathematical Physics e-prints, July 2006.

- [384] Ashoke Sen. Black hole entropy function and the attractor mechanism in higher derivative gravity. *JHEP*, 0509:038, 2005.
- [385] Edgar Shaghoulian. Holographic Entanglement Entropy and Fermi Surfaces. JHEP, 1205:065, 2012.
- [386] Carlos Shahbazi. Black Holes in Supergravity with Applications to String Theory. 2013.
- [387] Alfred D. Shapere, Sandip Trivedi, and Frank Wilczek. Dual dilaton dyons. Mod.Phys.Lett., A6:2677–2686, 1991.
- [388] Noburo Shiba and Tadashi Takayanagi. Volume Law for the Entanglement Entropy in Non-local QFTs. JHEP, 1402:033, 2014.
- [389] Marina Shmakova. Calabi-Yau black holes. Phys. Rev., D56:540–544, 1997.
- [390] Ya.M. Shnir. Magnetic monopoles. 2005.
- [391] Rajiv R. P. Singh, Roger G. Melko, and Jaan Oitmaa. Thermodynamic singularities in the entanglement entropy at a two-dimensional quantum critical point. *Phys. Rev. B*, 86:075106, Aug 2012.
- [392] T.H.R. Skyrme. A Unified Field Theory of Mesons and Baryons. Nucl. Phys., 31:556– 569, 1962.
- [393] Jelena Smolic and Marika Taylor. Higher derivative effects for 4d AdS gravity. JHEP, 1306:096, 2013.
- [394] J.A. Smoller and A.G. Wasserman. Existence of infinitely many smooth, static, global solutions of the Einstein / Yang-Mills equations. *Commun.Math.Phys.*, 151:303–325, 1993.
- [395] J.A. Smoller and A.G. Wasserman. Regular solutions of the Einstein Yang-Mills equations. J.Math.Phys., 36:4301–4323, 1995.
- [396] J.A. Smoller, A.G. Wasserman, Shing-Tung Yau, and J.B. McLeod. Smooth static solutions of the Einstein Yang-Mills equations. *Commun.Math.Phys.*, 143:115–147, 1991.
- [397] Sergey N. Solodukhin. Entanglement Entropy in Non-Relativistic Field Theories. JHEP, 1004:101, 2010.
- [398] H. Sonoda. Solving RG equations with the Lambert W function. 2013.
- [399] Thomas P. Sotiriou and Valerio Faraoni. f(R) Theories Of Gravity. Rev. Mod. Phys., 82:451–497, 2010.
- [400] Mark Srednicki. Entropy and area. Phys. Rev. Lett., 71:666–669, 1993.
- [401] A. Strominger and Edward Witten. New Manifolds for Superstring Compactification. Commun.Math.Phys., 101:341, 1985.
- [402] Andrew Strominger. SPECIAL GEOMETRY. Commun. Math. Phys., 133:163–180, 1990.

- [403] Andrew Strominger and Cumrun Vafa. Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy. *Phys.Lett.*, B379:99–104, 1996.
- [404] Leonard Susskind. The World as a hologram. J.Math.Phys., 36:6377–6396, 1995.
- [405] Leonard Susskind. ER=EPR, GHZ, and the Consistency of Quantum Measurements. 2014.
- [406] Paul M. Sutcliffe. BPS monopoles. Int.J.Mod.Phys., A12:4663–4706, 1997.
- [407] Brian Swingle. Entanglement Entropy and the Fermi Surface. August 2009.
- [408] G. 't Hooft. Magnetic monopoles in unified gauge theories. Nuclear Physics B, 79:276–284, September 1974.
- [409] Gerard 't Hooft. Dimensional reduction in quantum gravity. pages 0284–296, 1993.
- [410] Marika Taylor. Non-relativistic holography. 2008.
- [411] K.p. Tod. All Metrics Admitting Supercovariantly Constant Spinors. Phys.Lett., B121:241-244, 1983.
- [412] Chiara Toldo and Stefan Vandoren. Static nonextremal AdS4 black hole solutions. JHEP, 1209:048, 2012.
- [413] Mario Trigiante. Dual gauged supergravities. 2007.
- [414] Prasanta K. Tripathy and Sandip P. Trivedi. Non-supersymmetric attractors in string theory. JHEP, 0603:022, 2006.
- [415] Mark Van Raamsdonk. Comments on quantum gravity and entanglement. 2009.
- [416] Mikhail A. Vasiliev. Consistent equation for interacting gauge fields of all spins in (3+1)-dimensions. *Phys.Lett.*, B243:378–382, 1990.
- [417] Mikhail S. Volkov and Dmitri V. Gal'tsov. Gravitating nonAbelian solitons and black holes with Yang-Mills fields. *Phys.Rept.*, 319:1–83, 1999.
- [418] M.S. Volkov and D.V. Galtsov. NonAbelian Einstein Yang-Mills black holes. JETP Lett., 50:346–350, 1989.
- [419] Robert M. Wald. General Relativity. 1984.
- [420] Robert M. Wald. Black hole entropy is the Noether charge. Phys. Rev., D48:3427– 3431, 1993.
- [421] Robert M. Wald. The thermodynamics of black holes. *Living Rev. Rel.*, 4:6, 2001.
- [422] E. Winstanley and N.E. Mavromatos. Instability of hairy black holes in spontaneously broken Einstein Yang-Mills Higgs systems. *Phys.Lett.*, B352:242–246, 1995.
- [423] Edward Witten. Anti-de Sitter space and holography. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 2:253– 291, 1998.
- [424] Edward Witten. Anti-de Sitter space, thermal phase transition, and confinement in gauge theories. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 2:505–532, 1998.

- [425] M. M. Wolf, F. Verstraete, M. B. Hastings, and J. I. Cirac. Area Laws in Quantum Systems: Mutual Information and Correlations. *Physical Review Letters*, 100(7):070502, February 2008.
- [426] Michael M. Wolf. Violation of the entropic area law for Fermions. *Phys.Rev.Lett.*, 96:010404, 2006.
- [427] Tai Tsun Wu and Chen Ning Yang. Concept of Nonintegrable Phase Factors and Global Formulation of Gauge Fields. *Phys.Rev.*, D12:3845–3857, 1975.
- [428] T.T. Wu and Chen-Ning Yang. SOME SOLUTIONS OF THE CLASSICAL ISO-TOPIC GAUGE FIELD EQUATIONS. 1967.
- [429] P.B. Yasskin. Solutions for Gravity Coupled to Massless Gauge Fields. Phys. Rev., D12:2212–2217, 1975.